Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice

Nirmal K. Ganguly Surinder K. Jindal Shyam Biswal Peter J. Barnes Ruby Pawankar *Editors*

Studies on Respiratory Disorders

💥 Humana Press

Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice

Editor-in-Chief Donald Armstrong

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/8145

Note from the Editor-in-Chief

All books in this series illustrate point-of-care testing and critically evaluate the potential of antioxidant supplementation in various medical disorders associated with oxidative stress. Future volumes will be updated as warranted by emerging new technology, or from studies reporting clinical trials.

Donald Armstrong Editor-in-Chief Nirmal K. Ganguly • Surinder K. Jindal Shyam Biswal • Peter J. Barnes Ruby Pawankar Editors

Studies on Respiratory Disorders

💥 Humana Press

Editors Nirmal K. Ganguly Department of Biotechnology National Institute of Immunology New Delhi, India

Shyam Biswal Department of Medicine and Oncology Johns Hopkins College of Medicine Baltimore, MD, USA

Ruby Pawankar Division of Allergy Department of Pediatrics Nippon Medical School Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, Japan Surinder K. Jindal Department of Pulmonary Medicine Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research Chandigarh. India

Peter J. Barnes National Heart & Lung Institute Imperial College London London, UK

 ISSN 2197-7224
 ISSN 2197-7232 (electronic)

 ISBN 978-1-4939-0496-9
 ISBN 978-1-4939-0497-6 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6
 Springer New York Heidelberg Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2014933268

© Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Humana Press is a brand of Springer Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

Oxygen species constitute an important vehicle of damage in disease pathogenesis including several respiratory diseases. Although the information has been available for more than four decades, it had been difficult to attribute a specific role to oxidative stress in a cause-and-effect relationship. In respiratory medicine, some of the earlier studies had focused on pulmonary infections, including tuberculosis. Advances in the study of volatile organic components in the expired air have made it possible to examine some of the hitherto not understood mechanisms in different pulmonary diseases, particularly the airway disorders. We now recognize the wide spread involvement of oxygen species as well as of nitrogen-free radicals in airway diseases, such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Numerous reports have appeared in the last two decades which demonstrate an imbalance of oxidant–antioxidant mechanisms in many other respiratory disorders such as the interstitial lung diseases, granulomatous disorders (e.g. sarcoidosis), asbestosis, muscle dysfunction, pulmonary hypertension, and thoracic cancers.

It is the therapeutic potential of antioxidant drugs in the management of diseases which has made the subject as particularly interesting to the clinicians. Unfortunately, we do not yet have a drug known for its proven therapeutic efficacy for almost any disorder. Numerous drugs are under investigation for possible supplemental roles in therapy of different disorders. One hopes for rapid development of drugs which, in addition to the primary therapy, will be able to act on specific target species for disease arrest and/or reversal.

We have written this monograph with a dual purpose—first to review the existing and up-to-date knowledge on oxidative stress in different respiratory diseases, and secondly to sensitize the clinicians to continue to look to a broader scene of pathogenetic spectrum of diseases for expansion of the therapeutic armamentarium. We do hope that this monograph shall help not only the specialist pulmonologists but all others who are interested and engaged in the subject of oxidative damage.

Chandigarh, India New Delhi, India Surinder K. Jindal Nirmal K. Ganguly

Contents

1	Introduction to Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Therapy in Respiratory Disorder			
	Francesco Galli, Massimo Conese, Luigi Maiuri, Roberto Gambari, Desirée Bartolini, Marta Piroddi, Silvia Ciffolilli, and Giulio Cabrini			
2	Reactive Oxygen and Nitrogen Species: General Considerations Veena Dhawan	27		
3	Role of Exhaled Biomarkers, Volatiles, and Breath Condensate Yan Liang and Lou Ann S. Brown			
4	Volatile Organic Compounds as Exhaled Biomarkers of Inflammation and Oxidative Stress in Respiratory Diseases F.J. van Schooten, A.W. Boots, A. Smolinska, and J.W. Dallinga	67		
5	Pulmonary Infections—Oxidant Injury and Role of Antioxidants Bidyalaxmi Devi Leishangthem, Ruchi Rastogi, and Archana Bhatnagar	85		
6	Oxidative Stress in Tuberculosis Indu Verma, Surinder K. Jindal, and Nirmal K. Ganguly	101		
7	Oxidative Stress in COPD Peter J. Barnes	115		
8	Oxidative Injury Caused by Cigarette Smoking and Air Pollution Andrew J. Ghio	131		

9	Air Pollution and Oxidative Stress in Allergic Airway Diseases Ruby Pawankar, Chika Ozu, Miyuki Hayashi, and Shingo Yamanishi	151		
10	Pulmonary Fibrosis and Oxidative Stress Corrine R. Kliment and Tim D. Oury	163		
11	Oxidative Stress in Sarcoidosis Sahajal Dhooria and Dheeraj Gupta	191		
12	Asbestos Fibers: Mechanisms of Injury Daniel E. Banks, Michael J. Morris, and Surinder K. Jindal			
13	Oxidative Stress and Respiratory Muscle Dysfunction	225		
14	Oxidative Stress and Lung Cancer. Aditya Jindal and Navneet Singh	245		
15	Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and Oxidative Stress Izabela Chrobak, Christina Mallarino Haeger, Marcy E. Maracle, and Laura E. Fredenburgh	259		
16	Role of Oxidants and Antioxidants in Pediatric Respiratory Disorders Meenu Singh and Anil Chauhan	327		
17	Oxidative Stress and Respiratory Diseases: The Critical Role of Nrf2 Thomas E. Sussan and Shyam Biswal	335		
18	Development of Novel Antioxidants Subhabrata Moitra, Sneha Limaye, and Bill Brashier	349		
19	Ayurvedic and Other Antioxidant Mimics Samir Malhotra and Amritpal Singh	369		
Abo	out the Editors	381		
Ind	ex	385		

Contributors

Daniel E. Banks Department of Medicine, Uniformed Services University of Health Sciences, Fort Sam Houston, TX, USA

Peter J. Barnes Airway Disease Section, National Heart & Lung Institute, Imperial College London, London, UK

Desirée Bartolini Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy

Archana Bhatnagar Department of Biochemistry, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India

Shyam Biswal Department of Environmental Health Sciences, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA

A.W. Boots Department of Toxicology, Nutrition and Toxicology Research Institute Maastricht (NUTRIM), Maastricht University Medical Centre, Maastricht, The Netherlands

Bill Brashier Chest Research Foundation, Pune, Maharashtra, India

Lou Ann S. Brown Division of Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Emory University, Emory and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta Center for Developmental Lung Biology, Atlanta, GA, USA

Giulio Cabrini Department of Pathology and Diagnostics, University Hospital of Verona, Verona, Italy

Anil Chauhan Department of Pediatrics, Advanced Pediatric Center, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

Izabela Chrobak Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Lovelace Respiratory Research Institute, Albuquerque, NM, New Mexico

Silvia Ciffolilli Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy

Massimo Conese Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Foggia, Foggia, Italy

J.W. Dallinga Department of Toxicology, Nutrition and Toxicology Research Institute Maastricht (NUTRIM), Maastricht University Medical Centre, Maastricht, The Netherlands

Veena Dhawan Department of Experimental Medicine and Biotechnology, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

Sahajal Dhooria Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh, India

Laura E. Fredenburgh Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Francesco Galli Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy

Roberto Gambari Department of Life Sciences and Biotechnology, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy

Nirmal K. Ganguly Department of Biotechnology, National Institute of Immunology, New Delhi, India

Andrew J. Ghio Human Studies Facility, Chapel Hill, NC, USA

Dheeraj Gupta Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

Christina Mallarino Haeger Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Miyuki Hayashi Department of Pediatrics, Nippon Medical School, Tokyo, Japan

Aditya Jindal Jindal Chest Clinics, Chandigarh, India

Surinder K. Jindal Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

Corrine R. Kliment Department of Internal Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard University, Boston, MA, USA

Bidyalaxmi Devi Leishangthem Department of Biochemistry, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India

Yan Liang Division of Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Emory University, Emory and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta Center for Developmental Lung Biology, Atlanta, GA, USA

Sneha Limaye Chest Research Foundation, Pune, Maharashtra, India

Luigi Maiuri Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Foggia, Foggia, Italy

European Institute for Research in Cystic Fibrosis, Milan, Italy

Samir Malhotra Department of Pharmacology, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

Marcy E. Maracle McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

Kazuto Matsunaga Third Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Wakayama Medical University, Wakayama, Japan

Yoshiaki Minakata Third Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Wakayama Medical University, Wakayama, Japan

Subhabrata Moitra Chest Research Foundation, Pune, Maharashtra, India

Michael J. Morris Pulmonary/Critical Care Service, Brooke Army Medical Center, Fort Sam Houston, TX, USA

Tim D. Oury Department of Pathology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Chika Ozu Ozu ENT Clinic, Shizuoka, Japan

Ruby Pawankar Division of Allergy, Department of Pediatrics, Nippon Medical School, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, Japan

Marta Piroddi Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy

Ruchi Rastogi Department of Biochemistry, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India

F.J. van Schooten Department of Toxicology, Nutrition and Toxicology Research Institute Maastricht (NUTRIM), Maastricht University Medical Centre, Maastricht, The Netherlands

Amritpal Singh Ayurvedic Consultant, Mohali, Punjab, India

Formerly at Ayurvedic College, Chandigarh, India

Meenu Singh Department of Pediatrics Advanced Pediatric Center, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

Navneet Singh Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

A. Smolinska Department of Toxicology, Nutrition and Toxicology Research Institute Maastricht (NUTRIM), Maastricht University Medical Centre, Maastricht, The Netherlands

Thomas E. Sussan Department of Environmental Health Sciences, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA

Indu Verma Department of Biochemistry, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

Shingo Yamanishi Department of Pediatrics, Nippon Medical School, Tokyo, Japan

Chapter 1 Introduction to Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Therapy in Respiratory Disorder

Francesco Galli, Massimo Conese, Luigi Maiuri, Roberto Gambari, Desirée Bartolini, Marta Piroddi, Silvia Ciffolilli, and Giulio Cabrini

1.1 Reactive Oxygen Species and Oxidative Stress: A Definition

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) is the collective term for all highly reactive forms derived from the chemistry of molecular oxygen encompassing also N, S, and Cl containing forms and many others that include derivatives of biomolecule oxidation such as lipid hydroperoxides, reactive carbonyls, and radical intermediates of amino acid species. (reviewed in [119]). ROS have long been the subject of toxicology studies aimed at defining their role as dangerous molecules causing oxidative harms to various components of cells and body fluids. In fact, the chemistry of free radicals originating from radiation chemistry at the early beginning of the last century, developed into biology and medicine as the chemistry of oxidative stress. The term was first used in the title of a publication by Beutler and his coworkers in 1970 [139]

M. Conese Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Foggia, Foggia, Italy

L. Maiuri

Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Foggia, Foggia, Italy

European Institute for Research in Cystic Fibrosis, Milan, Italy

R. Gambari

Department of Life Sciences and Biotechnology, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy

G. Cabrini

For the "Working Group on Inflammation in Cystic Fibrosis" of the Italian Society for Cystic Fibrosis and the Italian Cystic Fibrosis Research Foundation.

F. Galli (🖂) • D. Bartolini • M. Piroddi • S. Ciffolilli

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy e-mail: francesco.galli@unipg.it

Department of Pathology and Diagnostics, University Hospital of Verona, Verona, Italy e-mail: giulio.cabrini@univr.it

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_1, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

who were studying oxidative pathways associated with glutathione metabolism of the red blood cell, but for a first attempt to provide a definition to such a toxicology condition, we have to wait since 1985 when Helmut Sies in his book "Oxidative stress" [174] clearly depicted the nature of harmful toxicants for ROS involved in biological processes, highlighting their potential to produce cellular damage if not properly counteracted by the homeostatic intervention of antioxidant and detoxification defense systems.

In the later years, a more comprehensive interpretation of the biochemistry and toxicology of ROS has been provided also fostering a revision of the concept of oxidative stress. Actually the chemistry of ROS is not always negative, being for instance involved in the host defense response and cell killing activity of phagocytes; under physiological conditions, ROS are steadily formed during a number of biochemical reactions as redox active intermediates of the cellular metabolism playing a key role as signaling molecules (reviewed in [154]) and possibly as pacesetters of metabolic rate and lifespan of living organisms [119].

1.1.1 Cellular ROS

It is generally accepted that H_2O_2 is the predominant intracellular ROS with physiological role in redox signaling [17, 158], but challenging cells in culture with a high level of H_2O_2 (i.e., 1 mM) can easily lead to extensive damage and even cell death. In contrast, it has been known that moderate levels of H_2O_2 can increase cell proliferation and that the flux of intracellular H_2O_2 is consistently elevated in various cancer cell lines [178, 185, 188]. The O–O linkage of H_2O_2 , although weak compared to that of dioxygen (O₂), renders the molecule relatively stable compared to radical species, allowing H_2O_2 time to encounter and react with specific targets that it oxidizes at discrete sites [46]. By contrast, the propensity of the more reactive radical species, O_2^{--} , to become quickly dismuted, spontaneously and enzymatically, to H_2O_2 , as well as its lack of diffusibility, limits its range of targets to those within the immediate vicinity of the O_2^{--} source [65].

 O_2 ⁻⁻ is slow to react with negatively-charged molecules, which does confer some specificity [80]. From a signaling perspective, 'OH is unsuitable as a result of the high oxidation rate constant that it has for most biomolecules, which is approximately equal to its rate of diffusion, resulting in highly nonspecific oxidation [80]. The lack of enzymatic-removal of the peroxyl and alkoxyl radicals, as well as their aggressive reactivity, means that their reactions with proteins are more likely to occur as irreversible oxidation events, leading to degradation of the damaged protein (reviewed in [17, 61, 62] and references therein). 1O_2 seldom occurs intracellularly and so is unlikely to contribute to physiological signal transduction, whereas HOCl, which is produced by myeloperoxidase (MPO) enzymes within neutrophils, is an established bactericidal agent that has also been proposed to function as signaling mediator in immune cells [132, 171].

1.1.2 ROS as Signaling Molecules: The "Redox Hypothesis" of Oxidative Stress

Cellular ROS such as the superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) , H_2O_2 , and NOx as peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) are all redox players of metabolic pathways which are capable of initiating the signaling of a broad variety of cellular processes that are regulated by redox-sensitive components, such as proliferation and survival (MAP kinases, PI3 kinase, PTEN, and protein tyrosine phosphatases), ROS homeostasis, and antioxidant gene regulation (thioredoxin, peroxiredoxin, Ref-1, and Nrf-2), mitochondrial oxidative stress, apoptosis (Bcl2/Bax, cardiolipin/cyt c), and aging (p66Shc), iron homeostasis through iron–sulfur cluster proteins (IRE-IRP), ATM-regulated DNA damage response, and receptor activation (e.g., α IIb β 3 integrin in platelet activation) (reviewed in [17, 22, 84, 136, 140, 143]).

The signaling function of ROS has been described in diverse physiological conditions such as those activated in hypoxic microenvironments [20]. The molecular response to hypoxia requires fast-acting mechanisms acting within a wide range of partial pressures of O_2 [147]. Intracellular O_2 sensing is an evolutionary conserved feature, and the best characterized molecular responses to hypoxia are umpired through transcriptional activation [12]. The transcription factor, hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1), is an important mediator of these adaptive responses, and its activation by hypoxia involves O_2 -dependent posttranslational modifications and nuclear translocation [50, 87, 157, 175]. Through the induction of the expression of its target genes, HIF-1 coordinately regulates tissue O_2 delivery and energy metabolism [12]. Other transcription factors such as nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) are also redox sensitive and are activated in pro-oxidant and hypoxic conditions [157, 181].

The redox state of thiol systems forms basis of the signaling effect of ROS (extensively reviewed in [9, 193]) and is controlled through thioredoxin (Trx) and glutathione (GSH)-dependent reactions. Trx and GSH systems are maintained under stable, but non-equilibrium conditions, due to continuous oxidation of cell thiols at a rate of about 0.5 % of the total thiol pool per minute. Both radical and non-radical oxidants, the latter includes peroxides, aldehydes, quinones, and epoxides, are generated enzymatically from both endogenous and exogenous precursors and can modify these thiols. As a mean to avoid this, cells are equipped with a complex machinery of H_2O_2 and thiol-regulating enzymes such as that of the peroxiredoxin (Prx)/sulfiredoxin system and that of thioredoxin–thioredoxin reductase/ nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) system and glutaredoxins (reviewed in [9, 154, 158, 193]).

In redox signaling pathways, ROS effector proteins generally have a highly reactive Cys residue, of which oxidation changes the protein function, so as to activate signal transmission to downstream targets [192]. Among the ROS effectors, protein phosphatases, Trx and Prx family proteins own special domains/motifs to preserve the reactivity of Cys (redox-active Cys) and use them to react to ROS [71, 78, 96, 158].

Starting from such an exquisite signaling role of ROS, a complementary hypothesis for oxidative stress in disease has been proposed, which is termed the

"redox hypothesis" [152]. In this respect, oxidative stress can occur as a consequence of disruption of H_2O_2 regulating systems and thiol redox circuits, which normally function in cell signaling and physiological regulation. Because of the non-equilibrium conditions in the thiol pathways, aberrant generation of such a burden of oxidants at rates comparable to normal oxidation may be sufficient to disrupt function.

1.2 ROS: The Damage and the Response

1.2.1 ROS and Oxidative Damage

ROS are generated as xenobiotics or endobiotics in a number of processes of relevance to human toxicology. Exogenous ROS can be inhaled for instance during smoking or by the exposure to air pollution, ozone, and other toxicants. As far as endogenous processes are concerned, the exposure to physiological or noxious stimuli can activate different ROS-generating enzymes of specialized cells such as some leukocyte subsets and epithelial cells. These include NOX, Dual oxidase (Duox), MPO, inducible NO synthase (iNOS), and others, which ultimately can produce ROS at different extents [17].

One of the strongest ROS-generating process is that occurring as part of the cellmediated immunity in the host response to pathogens. Activated neutrophils and in general phagocytes, give origin to the so called "respiratory burst" [199], that is a sudden and potent generation of ROS addressed to operate the bacterial killing. In the airways, the level of this response can assume abnormal proportions in the case of extended lesions that are observed, for instance, in the recurrent pulmonary infections of cystic fibrosis (CF) patients [62]. In these subjects, such an inflammatory environment may further exacerbate by the concomitance of the genetic defect that impairs the local feedback of the inflammatory response also weakening immunehomeostatic events at the systemic level. Uncontrolled inflammation is a wellrecognized cause of oxidative stress and degeneration in the surroundings of a lesion. Here, the exposure to high levels of ROS produces cellular damage and even death by apoptosis or necrosis.

Depending on the type (molecular nature and intensity) and spatial distribution of the injurious event, such a ROS-generating machinery can lead to either acute or chronic and diffused events of toxicity. One of the most severe example of oxidative stress associated with acute inflammation is that of sepsis associated with multi-organ failure [62], while a typical condition of oxidative stress associated with chronic of micro-inflammation and molecular degeneration of tissues and eventually of the entire organism, is that which is observed in diabetic and kidney disease patients [98, 101], as well as in autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and LES [172], and neurodegenerative diseases [28].

According to the free radical theory of aging, a sustained exposure to high levels of ROS by chronic inflammation is believed to produce the cumulative damage of cells and tissues, which is thought to be responsible for accelerated aging and age-related disorders [119]. The rate of production of ROS and inflammatory mediators in the setting of a chronic lesion can be even slightly higher than that observed during normal cellular metabolism, but its consistency over time and the presence of an altered distribution through redox pathways, can be at the origin of damages to subcellular components in the cytosolic and plasmalemma as well as in critical organelles such as mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum, and nucleus. This may lead to a vicious cycle of ROS leakage essentially from mitochondria and peroxisomes, which ultimately can impair the physiological signaling of cellular ROS through redox-sensitive pathways described in the previous section.

1.2.2 ROS as Mediators of Tissue Reprogramming, Adaptation, and Repair

The exposure to damaging levels of ROS can result in a series of compensatory and adaptive responses that include the transcriptional activation of detoxification, antioxidant, and repair genes. For instance, cellular stresses due to ischemia/ reperfusion injury or chronic exposure to fibrotic "initiators" (toxins, elevated glucose levels, etc.) increases expression of enzymes that generate ROS (NADPH oxidases (NOXs), NOX proteins, etc.) with concomitant reductions in ROS scavengers, such as glutathione peroxidase (GPx), catalase, and manganese/zinc superoxide dismutases (SODs) [205]. Increased oxidative state and a downstream redoxdependent genomic re-programming then affects cellular growth and starts processes of repair [31]. In various organ systems such as pulmonary, renal, and cardiovascular, NOX isoforms and their constituent subunit complexes play a key role in tissue reprogramming and adaptation. NOX proteins are multi-subunit enzymes that catalyze the reduction of oxygen using NADPH. ROS, generated by NOX, impact different signaling pathways that contribute to the pathophysiology of chronic lesions [18, 183]. The mechanisms of these responses and that of ROS generation vary depending on the specific collection of NOX isoenzymes expressed in different cell types or organs. These enzymes control, for instance stromal myofibroblast differentiation and fate, and are effectors of normal and pathologic tissue repair [15, 74, 75] impacting on the expression of critical fibrogenic genes. NOX expression is up-regulated in several models of induced fibrosis [43, 48, 98]. The potent pro-fibrogenic factor TGF-Blactivates NOX4 and mediates myofibroblast recruitment in the kidney and bleomycin-injured lung and in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [5, 25, 27].

In respiratory diseases, there is an increased expression of multiple inflammatory proteins in the respiratory tract, including cytokines, chemokines, and adhesion molecules. Chemokines have been shown to regulate inflammation and immune cell differentiation. Moreover, many of the known inflammatory target proteins, such as matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), and

cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2), are associated with airway and lung inflammation in response to various stimuli [110, 180]. Injurious environmental stimuli can access the lung through either the airways or the pulmonary and systemic circulations. The time course and intensity of responses by resident and circulating cells may be regulated by various inflammatory components of cell signaling, including Src family kinases (SFKs), protein kinase C (PKC) [1], growth factor tyrosine kinase receptors, NADPH/ROS [180], PI3K/Akt, MAPKs, NF- κ B, activator protein-1 (AP-1), and other signaling molecules. These regulate both key inflammatory signaling transduction pathways and target proteins involved in airway and lung inflammation.

1.2.3 Antioxidants and Antioxidant Therapy

Constitutive and inducible antioxidant and detoxification genes are available as a line of defense against oxidative stress of tissues and body fluids, and this is at least in part implemented by exogenous antioxidants introduced with the diet [61]. Actually, malnourished cystic fibrosis subjects are believed to have a higher risk of exposure to oxidative stress by the chronic inflammation of the airways [62, 81].

The exposure of tissues to increasing fluxes of ROS, is associated with a compensatory response of cells thus training inducible components of the defense systems [205]. This hormetic effect of ROS is produced for instance in muscular workout by the exposure to sub-maximal conditions of oxidative stress [118].

The largest clinical trials carried out in the last decade have clearly demonstrated that acting with exogenous antioxidants to counteract the pathogenic effects of oxidative stress in chronic diseases remains a chimera [62]. Antioxidant therapy and specific nutritional intervention (e.g., use of antioxidant supplements of functional foods) can be recommended only in the case of proven malnutrition or severe inflammation and exposure to oxidative stress as a generic measure of prevention. This could be the case of most severe respiratory syndromes, particularly of cystic fibrosis that show a combination of severe nutritional and immune-inflammatory symptoms in the presence of increased biomarkers of oxidative stress.

1.2.4 Noncoding RNAs: Emerging Mediators and Possible Therapeutic Agents in Oxidative Stress

Besides the direct effects of ROS on redox-sensitive transcription factors and regulatory proteins described in the previous sections, other levels of control by these species on cell functions are emerging that include for instance translational regulation by noncoding RNAs. MicroRNAs (miRNAs, miRs) are a family of small (19–25 nucleotides in length) noncoding RNAs that regulate gene expression by sequenceselective targeting of mRNAs, leading to a translational repression or mRNA

degradation, depending on the degree of complementarity between miRNAs and the target mRNA sequences [73, 184]. Since their discovery and first characterization, the number of miRNA sequences deposited in the miRBase databases is growing [94, 179] and tools to screen them as individual or pathway-associated entities and to interpret their functions, are now available and in continuous implementation [2]. Considering that a single miRNA can target several mRNAs and a single mRNA might contain in the 3' UTR sequence several signals for miRNA recognition, it is calculated that at least 10-40 % of human mRNAs are a target for miRNAs [4, 176]. Hence, great interest is concentrated on the identification of validated targets of miRNAs. This specific field of miRNA research has confirmed that the complex networks constituted by miRNAs and RNA targets coding for structural and regulatory proteins lead to the control of highly regulated biological functions, such as differentiation, cell cycle, and apoptosis [73, 184]. Low expression of a given miRNA is expected to be linked with a potential expression of target mRNAs. Conversely, high expression of miRNAs is expected to induce low expression of biological functions of the target mRNAs.

With respect to oxidative stress, recently available publications (Table 1.1) strongly suggest that several miRNAs are induced by oxidative stress [1, 11, 39, 40, 62, 70, 113, 117, 131, 170, 180, 185, 189]. These oxidative stress-responsive miRNAs may play a role linking the imbalanced redox state with deregulated expression of critical genes. Although in its infancy, research on oxidative stress-responsive miRNAs and their regulation of target genes may provide new insights in understanding disorders also disclosing innovative therapeutic strategies (miRNA therapeutics).

In order to identify putative miRNAs involved in oxidative stress, different authors have induced an oxidative stress to cellular systems and followed changes of expression of miRNAs and associated target mRNAs. Analysis of miRNA profiles revealed down-regulation of miR-150, miR-142-5p, miR-122, and upregulation of miR-34c, miR-34b-5p, and miR-29b. Moreover, several papers, in addition to the identification of the oxidative-stress-modulated miRNAs, also reported the target mRNA(s), allowing a more complete dissection of the loops linking oxidative-stress-miRNA-target gene alterations-biological functions. For instance, miR743a, miR-335, miR-34a, miR-200c, miR-145, miR-205, miR-320, Let-7, miR-23, miR144, and miR-451 have been identified as miRNAs involved in oxidative stress. In addition to the implications concerning basic science, these results are of great interest with respect to possible future therapeutic strategies based on mimicking miRNA activity or targeting miRNAs, depending on the role of the considered miRNA. In fact, the so called "miRNA replacement therapy" or "miRNA targeting therapeutic" approaches have been recently the object of several reviews and, in the case of oximiRNAs, might lead to a control of oxidative stress. For instance, if a miRNA is down-regulated in conditions of oxidative stress, the miRNA replacement approach leads to antioxidant effects; conversely, if a miRNA is up-regulated following oxidative stress, its targeting by specific antagomiR might reverse its induced oxidative damage.

(oximiRNAs)
n oxidative stress
involved ir
of microRNAs
ed examples o
.1 Select

Table 1.1 Selected examples of n	nicroRNAs involve	d in oxidative stress (oximiRNAs)		
Experimental system	microRNA	Target mRNA/pathway	Biological effects	References
Mouse hippocampal HT22 line	miR-743a	Malate dehydrogenase (mdh)	Negative regulation of <i>mdh2</i> at posttranscrip- tional level by directly targeting the <i>mdh2</i> 3' UTR	[189]
Primary mesangial cells of renal glomeruli from male Wistar rats	miR-335 and miR-34a	Superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2) and thioredoxin reductase 2 (Txnrd2)	Contribution to renal aging by inhibition of intracellular pathways involving the mitochondrial antioxidative enzymes SOD2 and Txnrd2	[11]
Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) exposed to H ₂ O ₂	miR-200c	ZEB1 (zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1)	Induction of endothelial cell apoptosis and senescence	[113]
Cardiomyocytes exposed to H ₂ O ₂	miR-145	Bnip3 (Bcl2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa-interacting protein 3)	Protection of cardiomyocytes from hydrogen peroxide H ₂ O ₂ -induced apoptosis through targeting the mitochondrial pathway	[62]
Renal tubular cells	miR-205	3' UTR of the prolyl hydroxylase 1 (PHD1/ EGLN2) mRNA	Modulation of both intracellular ROS levels and ER stress state	[131]
Human lung adenocarcincoma	miR-320	Conserved sites of the PFKm (phosphofructokinase, muscle) 3' UTR	Control of mitochondrial oxidative stress, a central mechanism in the up-regulation of glycolysis of cancer	[180]
Human hepatocytes	Let-7	Bach1, a heme-dependent transcription factor	Enhancement of heme oxygenase activity	[40]
Human retinal pigment epithelial (RPE) cells	miR-23	3' UTR of Fas mRNA	Protection of RPE cells against oxidative damage caused by H ₂ O ₂ induced Fas up-regulation	Ξ
Erythrocytes from sickle cell disease patients; K562 cells	miR-144	NRF2 (nuclear factor- erythroid 2-related factor 2)	Increased sensitivity to H ₂ O ₂ -induced oxidative stress through NRF2 inhibition	[170]
GIE and GIE-ER4 erythroid cells	miR-451	14-3-3zeta, a phospho-serine/ threonine-binding protein	Facilitation of FoxO3-regulated antioxidant enzymes, protecting against erythroid oxidant stress	[117]

F. Galli et al.

1.3 Chronic Pulmonary Diseases and Biomarkers of Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress has been implicated in the pathogenesis of various lung disorders such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), acute lung injury, pulmonary fibrosis, pulmonary hypertension, and lung cancer [53, 142]. Here we introduce the role of oxidative stress in the lung disease of three paradigmatic respiratory diseases of both acquired (COPD and asthma) and genetic (cystic fibrosis) nature.

Bronchial asthma and COPD are currently global health problems with a major economic and social impact. Presently, their diagnosis, staging, and monitoring are based on spirometric measures, such as forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁) and forced vital capacity (FVC) [30]. However, since spirometric measures do require long follow-up periods to determine whether interventions tested in clinical trials obtain clinical relevant changes in patient status, surrogate outcome measures capable of predicting long-term responses have been intensely sought for, such as those based on the evaluation of oxidative stress.

1.3.1 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Current diagnosis of COPD includes an assessment of smoking and/or occupational exposures, a history of cough, sputum and dyspnea, and a measure of airflow obstruction by means of spirometry [30]. The interaction of host factors with the environment generates the pathologic triad of COPD: persistent inflammation, protease-antiprotease imbalance, and oxidative stress [59]. The inflammatory response of lungs affected by COPD is characterized by a massive infiltration of polymorphonuclear neutrophils. Chronic cigarette smoking and wood smoke inhalation expose the respiratory tree and lungs to ROS, resulting in oxidative stress and injury. This triggers the production of other ROS and lipid peroxidation and subsequent pulmonary inflammation [148]. The oxidant burden in the lungs is further enhanced by the release of ROS from alveolar macrophages and sequestered neutrophils in the lung. Moreover, the oxidative burden to the lungs of individuals with COPD is compounded by alterations in the antioxidant defenses [59]. Smoking also exposes various components of the blood in the pulmonary microvasculature, i.e., red cells, plasma, and leukocytes, to an increased oxidant burden of ROS, either directly by diffusion into the blood or indirectly from the ROS generated from activated inflammatory cells in the lung and/or peripheral leukocytes [134, 150]. Consequently, oxidative stress is increased in the lungs of patients with COPD compared to healthy subjects, and also compared to smokers without COPD [112].

Lipid peroxidation products are elevated in sputum [42, 88], exhaled breath condensate (EBC) [42, 91, 129], and plasma [189] of patients with stable COPD. Markers of oxidative stress are increased even further during exacerbation of

COPD [49] and in patients with very severe form of this disease [93]. Patients with COPD exacerbation had the highest levels of 8-isoprostane (8-iso-PGF_{2a}), a widely used marker of peroxidation of arachidonic acid, in the induced sputum and EBC as compared to nonsmokers, healthy smokers, and symptomatic smokers [120]. These results are consistent with a study showing that the levels of 8-isoprostane were higher in the EBC of patients with COPD exacerbations compared to healthy nonsmoking subjects [23].

At the same time, the antioxidant mechanisms are attenuated in these patients, as indicated by reduced levels of glutathione (GSH) in the lungs [54], lowered GPx activity in erythrocytes, [55] and lower antioxidant capacity in plasma during exacerbations of COPD [149]. However, Rahman et al. failed to document any relationship between plasma antioxidant capacity and spirometric variables [151]. The antioxidant capacity in plasma would be less valuable in relation to the measurement of airway obstruction, due to high intraindividual variability in oxidative stress in plasma caused by smoking. There seems to be less variability in antioxidative enzymes measured in erythrocytes, and indeed a significant relationship between GPx activity in erythrocytes and pulmonary function in patients with COPD has been found [83, 90]. Nadeem et al. observed significant differences between the severity of COPD, as assessed by GOLD criteria and the oxidant/antioxidant status [134, 144]. Thus, stage III COPD patients had lower plasma antioxidant capacity and higher levels of total blood GSH as compared to stage II of COPD. Furthermore, plasma ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) had positive whereas total blood GSH had a significant negative correlation with the severity of airway obstruction, suggesting that the extracellular antioxidant decrease as the severity increases whereas major intracellular redox buffer increases to compensate this deficit in the extracellular milieu. In the study by Gumral et al., the levels of erythrocyte malondialdehyde (MDA), a measure of lipid peroxidation, were significantly higher in the exacerbation period of COPD patients than in the stable period, and this was paralleled by an increase in GPx and glutathione reductase (GRd) activities, as well as by a depression in serum melatonin levels, in the exacerbation period [68]. Overall, these findings confirm that exacerbation is associated with elevated levels of oxidative stress, which may contribute to its pathogenesis. Finally, it has been suggested that there is an association between systemic inflammation and systemic oxidative stress reflected by erythrocytic GPx in patients with acute exacerbations of COPD [187].

According to the analysis made by Comandini et al., 8-isoprostane is the only biomarker of response to tobacco smoke exposure associated with COPD activity, which is expressed at higher levels in healthy smokers than in nonsmokers and at higher levels in COPD than in healthy smokers [35]. On the other hand, SOD is a biomarker negatively associated with COPD and/or tobacco smoke exposure, while MPO and eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) are variably associated with COPD and/or tobacco smoke (Table 1.2). Moreover, erythrocyte SOD activity is elevated in COPD exacerbation compared with stable COPD [68]. Also, in patients with COPD associated with wood smoke exposure and tobacco smoking in the previous 10 years, an inverse correlation between plasma MDA and SOD with FEV₁ was found,

Lung disease	Sample	Biomarker	Outcome
COPD	EBC	8-Isoprostane	Increased levels
			Increased in exacerbation
	Serum	SOD	Lower levels
			Increased in exacerbations
	Eo, Neu	MPO, EPO	Variably associated
Asthma	EBC	8-Isoprostane	Increased levels
			Increased in exacerbation
		MDA	Increased in exacerbation
	Serum	SOD	Lower levels and activity
	Eo, Neu	MPO, EPO	Increased levels
	Urine	3-Bromotyrosine	Increased levels
Cystic fibrosis	Plasma/urine	8-Isoprostane	Increased levels
			Increased in exacerbations
	BAL, plasma	GSH	Lowered levels
	Plasma	Fat-soluble vitamins	Lowered levels
		Vitamin C	Normal to low levels
			Decline with age

 Table 1.2
 Most relevant biomarkers of oxidative stress in respiratory diseases

Abbreviations: BAL bronchoalveolar lavage, *EBC* exhaled breath condensate, *Eo* eosinophils, *EPO* eosinophil peroxidase, *GSH* reduced form of glutathione, *MDA* malondialdehyde, *MPO* myeloper-oxidase, *Neu* neutrophils, *SOD* superoxide dismutase

indicating that the disease progressed and oxidative stress continued even after smoke cessation [126]. Similarly, the decline in symptoms, despite persistent neutrophilic airway inflammation and oxidative stress (8-isoprostane in induced sputum), was observed in COPD patients 3 months after the cessation of smoking [103]. This finding suggests that clinical improvement does not necessarily correlate with objective assessment of disease or that these biomarkers may not be the best ones in regard to clinical relevance in COPD and/or that the mechanisms of COPD are still poorly known. Furthermore, these results raise the questions whether some of these markers may be predictive of which patient goes on to develop further lung damage and in which patient the disease processes may be arrested.

None of the biomarkers of oxidative stress has been studied in response to therapy (corticosteroids) or in longitudinal studies in order to assess their robustness and predictivity of acute exacerbations. As recently reviewed by Fischer et al., an association between genetic polymorphisms and surrogate biomarkers of oxidative stress and inflammation appear to exist in relationship with the susceptibility of COPD, but not of disease severity and progression [59].

1.3.2 Allergic Asthma

Allergic asthma is a chronic inflammatory airway disease determined by repeated exposure to allergens. Eosinophils represent the major inflammatory cell type infiltrating the airways, although neutrophils massively invade the lungs in corticosteroid-resistant form of severe asthma [15]. The ROS produced by these leukocytes likely play an important role in the pathophysiology of asthma because several of the characteristic changes in the airways can be produced by the action of ROS [14]. ROS cause tissue damage, constriction of smooth muscles, increase in vascular permeability, mediator release, and bronchoconstriction [36, 167].

Increased oxidative stress in asthma has been studied in plasma [76, 133, 150, 203], BAL [204], EBC [16, 41, 60, 141, 196], and urine [56, 197]. In addition, EPO and MPO are increased in peripheral blood, induced sputum, and BAL fluid of patients with asthma [3, 115, 127]. On the other hand, changes in antioxidant defenses have been reported, mainly in plasma [133, 150], lung cells [182], BAL [85, 203], and induced sputum [19].

EBC has proven to be a useful biological sample for assessing oxidative stress in asthma and linking oxidative stress and asthma pathophysiology [105]. An inverse correlation between H₂O₂, FEV₁, peak expiratory flow (PEF), and metacholine hyperresponsiveness has been reported [6, 79, 104]. These studies also showed that H₂O₂ levels in stable asthmatic patients treated with inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) were lower compared with steroid-naïve patients and similar to normal subjects [6, 79, 104]. Finally, in two randomized double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trials, ICS and the oral administration of the lipid extract of New Zealand greenlipped mussel significantly decreased H_2O_2 levels [7, 57], whereas montelukast had no effect on H₂O₂ [169]. The EBC levels of 8-isoprostane increase in asthma in association with its severity [128, 168], and exhaled 8-isoprostane were found to be increased in relation with asthma exacerbation frequency [13, 86] (Table 1.2). ICS seem to have no effect on 8-isoprostane levels [125, 128, 172, 206], with two studies reporting a positive effect in specific conditions (exacerbation and aspirin sensitivity) but with 8-isoprostane levels still remaining higher than normal after treatment [8, 13]. Finally, a leukotriene receptor antagonist showed no effect on 8-isoprostane concentration in EBC of children with asthma [130].

MDA levels in EBC increased during asthma exacerbations whereas GSH levels decreased. After steroid treatment, MDA levels decreased whereas GSH levels increased [41]. In a study evaluating aldehydes [(MDA), acrolein, *n*-hexanal (C6), *n*-heptanal (C7), *n*-nonanal (C9), 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE), and 4-hydroxyhexenal (HHE)] in EBC and induced sputum in asthmatics, no significant correlation between each other was observed, indicating that the two samples must be evaluated independently [42].

Children with asthma have increased plasma levels of MDA and lower than normal levels of GSH. Furthermore, the higher MDA and lower GSH levels correlated with the severity of asthma [69]. SOD activity, but not Mn-SOD or Cu/Zn-SOD protein, was lower in asthmatic serum as compared with control, and activity loss was significantly related to airflow limitation. Further, serum SOD activity demonstrated an inverse correlation with circulating levels of 3-bromotyrosine, a posttranslational modification of proteins produced by the EPO system of eosinophils [39, 40]. Levels of plasma GPx and SOD and of reduced glutathione, ascorbic acid, α -tocopherol, lycopene, and β -carotene were significantly lower in children with asthma as compared with healthy controls [164]. Serum SOD activity is related to asthma lung function, and its relationship appears to be unique to asthma since serum antioxidant capacity in COPDs is unrelated to airflow limitation [37, 39, 40, 145, 149].

Lipid peroxidation as well as antioxidant enzyme activities in erythrocytes was studied in patients with asthmatic exacerbation and in stable period [68]. MDA levels were significantly higher, whereas GPx and GRd activities, and catalase activity were lower and higher, respectively, in exacerbation periods than in the stable period. Levels of melatonin, a potent-free radical scavenger, were depressed during the exacerbation periods. Accordingly, serum ROS levels were significantly higher in patients with acute exacerbation of asthma than in patients with stable asthma or healthy subjects [177].

SOD activity is significantly lower in epithelial lining fluid and airway epithelial cells in asthmatic patients compared with those in the healthy controls, and the airway reactivity is inversely related to SOD activity [38–40]. Lower SOD activity may be partly due to the increased oxidative and nitrative stress in the asthmatic airway and serves as a sensitive marker of airway redox and asthma severity [36]. In addition to lower SOD activity, Cu/Zn-SOD protein is decreased in cells recovered by BAL and by bronchial brushing in asthmatic patients compared to healthy subjects [182]. Oxidation and nitration of Mn-SOD are also present in the asthmatic airway, correlating with the severity of asthma [39, 40]. Catalase activity in BAL fluid is lower in patients with asthma as compared with those in healthy controls, due to nitration and oxidation of the enzyme [64]. Thus, as in COPD, the loss of antioxidant activity reflects the oxidant stress in the airway.

There are little data on the correlation of biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress with the clinical picture of asthma, disease progression, and therapeutic response, thus their diagnostic value should be evaluated further [51]. However, recent data point out to the usefulness of bromotyrosine, a noninvasive marker of eosinophil-catalyzed protein oxidation. Asthmatic children with high baseline levels of urinary bromotyrosine were 18.1-fold more likely to have inadequately controlled asthma and 4.0-fold more likely to have an asthma exacerbation over the ensuing 6 weeks [198].

In summary, the stable end-products of the ROS-mediated reactive pathways may be used as reliable markers of oxidative stress in patients with asthma (Table 1.2). Identification of noninvasive biomarkers of oxidative stress in patients with asthma will be critical for enabling assessment of treatment outcomes [36].

1.3.3 Cystic Fibrosis

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a lethal autosomal recessive disorder caused by mutations in the CF Transmembrane Conductance Regulator (*CFTR*) gene located on the chromosome 7. The CFTR protein is mainly expressed in the apical membrane of epithelial cells lining the airway mucosa and submucosal glands, acting not only as a

chloride channel, but also as a regulator of transport of other molecules, including GSH. The redox unbalance in the CF lungs has been attributed to different causes [29, 62]. An abnormal generation of ROS by airway epithelial cells, determined by CFTR-related intrinsic defects, is compounded by a sustained neutrophil activation by recurrent infections. A constitutive defect of glutathione metabolism together with a lowered intake and absorption of fat-soluble antioxidant vitamins contribute to a defective antioxidant protection, which is believed to exacerbate stress indices along with the progression of clinical status [10, 81, 203]. Besides targeting different biomolecules to damage epithelial cells and extracellular fluid components of the airways, oxidants can contribute to the pathophysiology of CF by exacerbating inflammation [26, 32], and being synergic in the induction of mucins with neutrophil elastase [58].

Many indices of oxidative stress, including the levels of protein oxidation and lipid peroxidation products, have been studied in CF plasma [10, 34, 100, 202], buccal mucosal cells [10], EBC [10, 109, 129, 159, 160], and BAL [33, 72].

Several studies have tested whether markers of oxidative stress may reflect the onset, severity, and response to therapy for an acute exacerbation (Table 1.2). For example, the levels of 8-isoprostane in the EBC negatively correlated with the respiratory function [129]. Robroeks et al. found that the presence of CF was best indicated by 8-isoprostane and nitrite in EBC, similarly as during an acute exacerbation [159]. In a following study aimed at investigating the relationship between lung function, structural lung changes, and noninvasive biomarkers, FVC was significantly predicted by H_2O_2 , while total lung capacity was significantly predicted by 8-isoprostane, nitrate, and H_2O_2 in EBC [160]. Overall, these studies indicated that noninvasive biomarkers of oxidative stress may help in the follow-up of CF patients.

Biomarkers of oxidative stress are increased in patients with an acute exacerbation, but not in stable condition, as compared with those in healthy controls [121, 122, 155, 202]. However, not all the biomarkers are useful in this context. Breath isoprene, a volatile product of lipid peroxidation, was significantly lower in patients during exacerbation than in controls and increased to normal values following treatment [122]. The treatment of an acute exacerbation with antibiotic therapy brings to a diminished oxidative stress at the systemic level [121, 122, 153], but not at the pulmonary level [155, 202], indicating the potential for more targeted antioxidant supplementation in CF (see below). Breath hydrogen peroxide levels are not elevated in stable CF patients as compared with healthy controls [77]. However, it has been shown that CF patients with an acute pulmonary exacerbation have abnormally high concentration of H₂O₂ in exhaled air, which decrease during intravenous antibiotic treatment [82], suggesting that appropriate biomarkers should be investigated accordingly to the lung compartment under study. Interestingly, in CF patients with infective exacerbations, treatment with intravenous antibiotics resulted in increased plasma levels of antioxidants, with a parallel decrease in lipid oxidation [153].

As regards the antioxidants (Table 1.2), significantly reduced GSH levels are present in the BAL fluid of adult CF patients [161], and low levels of GSH have been observed in plasma [161] and blood neutrophils [186], suggesting altered

systemic GSH homeostasis in CF. Interestingly, the GSH content in sputum samples is higher in CF patients than in healthy subjects [44], indicating a disparity in GSH levels between the lower and the upper respiratory tracts.

Exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and a diminished bile acid pool cause malabsorption of fat-soluble antioxidants such as tocopherols, carotenoids, and coenzyme Q10 (Co-Q10), which are believed to contribute to the oxidative stress of CF (Table 1.2). Levels of plasma carotenoids such as β -carotene, β -cryptoxanthin, and total lycopene were significantly lower in CF patients as compared to those in healthy controls, and this was accompanied by higher susceptibility to lipid peroxidation [10, 99, 156, 163, 200]. The levels of α -tocopherol and vitamin C in plasma, buccal mucosal cells, and EBC decreased significantly with age in association with a decreased respiratory function as well as with an increased oxidative stress markers, such as protein carbonyls, thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBA), and 8-isoprostane [10]. In a longitudinal study, persistently low levels of Co-Q10 were found more prevalent in patients with pancreatic insufficiency [97].

Levels of plasma vitamin C have been found decreased or normal as compared to healthy controls, nevertheless age- and disease-related decline of this hydrosoluble antioxidant was reported in CF patients [10]. CF children are reported to have lowered blood selenium and erythrocyte selenium-dependent GPx activity [137], normal plasma selenium, and lowered erythrocyte GPx activity [201], and even normal levels of these two parameters [102]. Plasma oligoelements, in particular, zinc, appear to be in the normal range at baseline [137, 190, 191, 203]. Neve et al. found that plasma zinc concentrations were significantly lower in patients with moderate-to-severe growth retardation and with severe pulmonary disease as compared to patients without growth failure and with moderate pulmonary disease, whereas erythrocyte zinc and copper levels were higher than normal [137]. These results suggest a compensatory up-regulation of the erythrocyte Cu/Zn-SOD by the exposure of erythroid precursor cells to ROS and/or other CF-derived stressors. These findings have to be confirmed by further studies.

A lower level of erythrocyte SOD activity was found by Best et al., whereas Wood et al. found that the activity of erythrocyte SOD and plasma 8-isoprostane were in the normal range at baseline [21, 203].

Some pilot studies investigating the effect of GSH inhalation or that of oral GSH prodrug *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) were able to demonstrate increased GSH levels in the epithelial lining fluid in association with improved lung function [24, 45, 66, 162, 183, 186, 195]. However, indices of oxidative damage were found to be unaffected by aerosolized GSH treatment [66, 67]. Both aerosol and oral formulations are still under investigation as for safety, tolerability, and efficacy [62, 135].

Supplementation with single or combined antioxidants produces poor responsiveness in CF as concerning oxidative stress biomarkers. For example, supplementation of vitamin C together with other antioxidants as vitamin E did not significantly affect the levels of plasma 8-isoprostane and erythrocyte SOD activity [203]. This failure may depend on the dose of the supplement, since for vitamin E, unlike vitamin C, successful high-dose treatment appears to lower oxidative stress markers, such as TBA-MDA complexes, and to correct the total antioxidant capacity of plasma [163]. In another study, β -carotene supplementation was observed to decrease MDA concentrations in plasma and to enhance the resistance of low-density lipoproteins to oxidation [200]. More recently, the use of a CF-tailored multivitamin formulation (commercial name AquaDEKs®) resulted in the normalization of β -carotene levels but with minor improvements on respiratory and growth parameters and with no increase of urinary 8-isoprostane levels [166]. In another study, this multivitamin preparation normalized MDA levels in plasma and increased SOD activity and sulfhydryl groups in erythrocytes [165], indicating that larger randomized controlled trials are deserved.

1.3.3.1 The Emerging Role of Oxidative Stress and Autophagy in Cystic Fibrosis Lung Disease

Cellular homeostasis is deranged in CF airways as a result of increased intracellular levels of ROS, induced by defective CFTR function. Increased ROS levels induce posttranslational changes of tissue transglutaminase (TG2), a multifunctional protein [138] that can function as a rheostat of posttranslational network in CF epithelial cells [106]. In the presence of high Ca²⁺ levels, TG2 works as a cross-linking enzyme, catalyzing several posttranslational modifications of target proteins. TG2 is up-regulated in CF epithelial cells at the transcriptional and even more at the posttranscriptional levels [114]. Indeed, TG2 undergoes a posttranslational modification, the small ubiquitin like-modifier SUMOvlation, as the result of ROS-induced increase of the SUMO E3 ligase protein inhibitor of activated STAT (PIAS)y [106] which can orchestrate SUMO modifications in response to either oxidative or genotoxic stress [111]. SUMOylation is a key player of the posttranslational network as it regulates transcription, nuclear translocation, stress responses, and chromatin structure and influences intracellular localization, stability, and function of modified proteins [63, 123, 146]. SUMOylation of lysines in TG2 (SUMO consensus sequence: ψ_{kxE}) is incompatible with the ubiquitination of these residues, leading to the inhibition of TG2 ubiquitination, thereby preventing its proteasomal degradation. High TG2 levels can in turn sustain ROS, as TG2 may stimulate the activity of the mitochondrial respiratory chains [116].

These ROS-mediated posttranslational changes of TG2 protein, induced by defective CFTR function, can switch off the posttranslational regulatory mechanisms and may have functional implications in epithelial homeostasis. Sustained TG2 activation leads to cross-linking, increased ubiquitination, and functional sequestration of TG2 substrates, among which are the gamma forms of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR γ) and IkBa [47, 114, 142], thus favoring inflammation in CF airways [106]. TG2-mediated protein cross-linking may lead to proteasome overload [52] favoring protein aggregation; in fact, misfolded or post-translationally modified proteins that cannot be degraded by the proteasome machinery, are stocked in the cytoplasm in the form of aggresomes [89, 173]. Therefore, the proteostasis of CF epithelia is affected by a combination of genetic defects (resulting from the misfolded CFTR protein) and posttranslational alterations (mediated by ROS/TG2 axis).

Such an impaired redox balance in CF airways compromises the ability of CF cells to re-establish homeostasis in response to stress, either constitutive or induced by bacterial challenges. Indeed, it inhibits the activation of autophagy, a mechanism that cells adopt in response to stress. Autophagy is pivotal in promoting cellular clearance of protein aggregates and removal of ROS sources, such as damaged mitochondria [89, 92, 95, 124]. Thus, autophagy machinery should have been highly activated in CF environment. By contrast, human and mouse CF airways exhibit a pronounced defect in autophagy, as indicated by reduced autophagosome formation together with accumulation of sequestosome 1 (p62/SQSTM1), a major autophagic substrate. In CF airways, autophagy is impaired in spite of the normal expression of major autophagy genes [107], as sustained TG2 activation results in cross-linking of Beclin 1 (BECN1), a major player of autophagosome formation. This dislodges type III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PtdIns3K, also known as hVps34, a protein that belongs to the BECN1 interactome) away from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), thus impairing the generation of phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate (PtdIns3P) [194], that is pivotal in both autophagosome formation and endosomal trafficking. Therefore, ROS-mediated TG2 activation generates a vicious feed-forward loop that impairs the regulation of proteostasis and sustains inflammation in human and mouse CF airways.

A defective autophagic response to bacterial infection has also been reported in murine CF macrophages. Reduced autophagosome formation in CF macrophages promotes Burkholderia cenocepacia survival and hypersecretion of IL-1b [1].

Targeting ROS by means of a catalase-SOD mimetic (EUK-134) or the enforced Mn-SOD expression, or inhibiting TG2 by cystamine (or by its reduced form of cysteamine), can rescue autophagy, restore proteostasis, and control airway inflammation in CF [107].

Both EUK-134 and cystamine also favor F508del-CFTR trafficking to the epithelial surface in CF cell lines, in primary brushed nasal epithelial cells from F508del-CFTR homozygous patients and in lungs from F508del-CFTR homozygous mice [107, 108]. These treatments also stabilize a functional rescued F508del-CFTR at the plasma membrane of airway epithelial cells and their effects extend well beyond drug washout. Indeed, the ROS/TG2-mediated inhibition of autophagy, consequent to functional depletion of CFTR, favors CHIP-mediated CFTR ubiquitination at the plasma membrane, thus diverting CFTR recycling to lysosomal degradation [194]. This indicates that targeting oxidative stress in CF epithelia can either favor F508del-CFTR trafficking or prevent CFTR plasma membrane disposal [108, 194]. These evidences may have relevant implication in CFTR-repairing therapies [5], to restore autophagy, by means of ROS-modulators or TG2 inhibitors, can favor the beneficial action of CFTR potentiators in F508del-CFTR homozygous patients [108, 194].

The "anti-inflammatory" effects of both EUK-134 and cystamine also extend well beyond drug withdrawal unless CFTR is inhibited or depleted during the washout period [108, 194]. This indicates their anti-inflammatory properties rely on their ability to rescue and stabilize a functional CFTR at the epithelial surface. Altogether, these findings might open a new scenario in the design of new anti-inflammatory strategies for CF patients. Acknowledgments The authors are grateful to the Italian Society for Cystic Fibrosis and the Italian Cystic Fibrosis Research Foundation for support, and all the other members of the Italian Working Group on Inflammation in Cystic Fibrosis (Alessandra Bragonzi, Elena Bravo, Salvatore Cuzzocrea, Maria Cristina Dechecchi, Alessandra De Alessandri, Virgilio Evangelista, Vincenzina Lucidi, Antonietta Lambiase, Antonio Manca, Paola Melotti, Laura Minicucci, Andrea Motta, Donatella Pietraforte, Alfonso Pompella, Serena Quattrucci, Roberta Rizzo, Roberto Rizzo, Mario Romano, Claudio Sorio, Riccardina Tesse) for helpful discussions.

References

- Abdulrahman BA, Khweek AA et al (2011) Autophagy stimulation by rapamycin suppresses lung inflammation and infection by Burkholderia cenocepacia in a model of cystic fibrosis. Autophagy 7(11):1359–1370
- Albertini MC, Olivieri F et al (2011) Predicting microRNA modulation in human prostate cancer using a simple String IDentifier (SID1.0). J Biomed Inform 44(4):615–620
- 3. Aldridge RE, Chan T et al (2002) Eosinophil peroxidase produces hypobromous acid in the airways of stable asthmatics. Free Radic Biol Med 33(6):847–856
- Alvarez-Garcia I, Miska EA (2005) MicroRNA functions in animal development and human disease. Development 132(21):4653–4662
- Amaral MD (2011) Targeting CFTR: how to treat cystic fibrosis by CFTR-repairing therapies. Curr Drug Targets 12(5):683–693
- Antczak A, Nowak D et al (1997) Increased hydrogen peroxide and thiobarbituric acid-reactive products in expired breath condensate of asthmatic patients. Eur Respir J 10(6):1235–1241
- Antczak A, Kurmanowska Z et al (2000) Inhaled glucocorticosteroids decrease hydrogen peroxide level in expired air condensate in asthmatic patients. Respir Med 94(5):416–421
- 8. Antczak A, Montuschi P et al (2002) Increased exhaled cysteinyl-leukotrienes and 8-isoprostane in aspirin-induced asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166(3):301–306
- 9. Antelmann H, Helmann JD (2011) Thiol-based redox switches and gene regulation. Antioxid Redox Signal 14(6):1049–1063
- Back EI, Frindt C et al (2004) Antioxidant deficiency in cystic fibrosis: when is the right time to take action? Am J Clin Nutr 80(2):374–384
- 11. Bai XY, Ma Y et al (2011) miR-335 and miR-34a promote renal senescence by suppressing mitochondrial antioxidative enzymes. J Am Soc Nephrol 22(7):1252–1261
- Baragetti I, Furiani S et al (2006) Role of vitamin E-coated membrane in reducing advanced glycation end products in hemodialysis patients: a pilot study. Blood Purif 24(4):369–376
- Baraldi E, Carraro S et al (2003) Cysteinyl leukotrienes and 8-isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate of children with asthma exacerbations. Thorax 58(6):505–509
- Barnes PJ (2004) Mediators of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Pharmacol Rev 56(4):515–548
- 15. Barnes PJ (2011) Pathophysiology of allergic inflammation. Immunol Rev 242(1):31-50
- Barreto M, Villa MP et al (2009) 8-Isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate and exerciseinduced bronchoconstriction in asthmatic children and adolescents. Chest 135(1):66–73
- 17. Bartosz G (2009) Reactive oxygen species: destroyers or messengers? Biochem Pharmacol 77(8):1303–1315
- 18. Bedard K, Krause KH (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87(1):245–313
- Beier J, Beeh KM et al (2004) Increased concentrations of glutathione in induced sputum of patients with mild or moderate allergic asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 92(4): 459–463
- 20. Beinert T, Binder D et al (1999) Increased levels of vascular endothelial growth factor in bronchoalveolar lavage of patients with bronchial carcinoma effect of tumour activity and oxidative stress due to radio-chemotherapy? Eur J Med Res 4(8):328–334

- 1 Introduction to Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Therapy in Respiratory Disorder
- Best K, McCoy K et al (2004) Copper enzyme activities in cystic fibrosis before and after copper supplementation plus or minus zinc. Metabolism 53(1):37–41
- 22. Betti M, Minelli A et al (2006) Antiproliferative effects of tocopherols (vitamin E) on murine glioma C6 cells: homologue-specific control of PKC/ERK and cyclin signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 41(3):464–472
- Biernacki WA, Kharitonov SA et al (2003) Increased leukotriene B4 and 8-isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate of patients with exacerbations of COPD. Thorax 58(4):294–298
- 24. Bishop C, Hudson VM et al (2005) A pilot study of the effect of inhaled buffered reduced glutathione on the clinical status of patients with cystic fibrosis. Chest 127(1):308–317
- 25. Bocchino M, Agnese S et al (2010) Reactive oxygen species are required for maintenance and differentiation of primary lung fibroblasts in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. PLoS One 5(11):e14003
- 26. Boncoeur E, Criq VS et al (2008) Oxidative stress induces extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 mitogen-activated protein kinase in cystic fibrosis lung epithelial cells: potential mechanism for excessive IL-8 expression. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 40(3):432–446
- 27. Bondi CD, McKeon RM et al (2008) MT1 melatonin receptor internalization underlies melatonin-induced morphologic changes in Chinese hamster ovary cells and these processes are dependent on Gi proteins, MEK 1/2 and microtubule modulation. J Pineal Res 44(3):288–298
- 28. Calabrese V, Scapagnini G et al (2003) Redox regulation of heat shock protein expression in aging and neurodegenerative disorders associated with oxidative stress: a nutritional approach. Amino Acids 25(3–4):437–444
- 29. Cantin AM, White TB et al (2007) Antioxidants in cystic fibrosis. Conclusions from the CF antioxidant workshop, Bethesda, Maryland, November 11–12, 2003. Free Radic Biol Med 42(1):15–31
- 30. Celli BR, MacNee W (2004) Standards for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with COPD: a summary of the ATS/ERS position paper. Eur Respir J 23(6):932–946
- 31. Chan EC, Jiang F et al (2009) Regulation of cell proliferation by NADPH oxidase-mediated signaling: potential roles in tissue repair, regenerative medicine and tissue engineering. Pharmacol Ther 122(2):97–108
- 32. Chen J, Kinter M et al (2008) Dysfunction of Nrf-2 in CF epithelia leads to excess intracellular H2O2 and inflammatory cytokine production. PLoS One 3(10):e3367
- Cohen HN, Hay ID et al (1982) Serum immunoreactive melatonin in boys with delayed puberty. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 17(5):517–521
- Collins CE, Quaggiotto P et al (1999) Elevated plasma levels of F2 alpha isoprostane in cystic fibrosis. Lipids 34(6):551–556
- Comandini A, Rogliani P et al (2009) Biomarkers of lung damage associated with tobacco smoke in induced sputum. Respir Med 103(11):1592–1613
- Comhair SA, Erzurum SC (2010) Redox control of asthma: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal 12(1):93–124
- 37. Comhair SA, Lewis MJ et al (1999) Increased glutathione and glutathione peroxidase in lungs of individuals with chronic beryllium disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159(6):1824–1829
- Comhair SA, Bhathena PR et al (2000) Rapid loss of superoxide dismutase activity during antigen-induced asthmatic response. Lancet 355(9204):624
- Comhair SA, Ricci KS et al (2005) Correlation of systemic superoxide dismutase deficiency to airflow obstruction in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172(3):306–313
- 40. Comhair SA, Xu W et al (2005) Superoxide dismutase inactivation in pathophysiology of asthmatic airway remodeling and reactivity. Am J Pathol 166(3):663–674
- Corradi M, Folesani G et al (2003) Aldehydes and glutathione in exhaled breath condensate of children with asthma exacerbation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167(3):395–399
- 42. Corradi M, Pignatti P et al (2004) Comparison between exhaled and sputum oxidative stress biomarkers in chronic airway inflammation. Eur Respir J 24(6):1011–1017
- Crestani B, Besnard V et al (2011) Signalling pathways from NADPH oxidase-4 to idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 43(8):1086–1089

- 44. Dauletbaev N, Viel K et al (2004) Glutathione and glutathione peroxidase in sputum samples of adult patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 3(2):119–124
- 45. Dauletbaev N, Fischer P et al (2009) A phase II study on safety and efficacy of high-dose N-acetylcysteine in patients with cystic fibrosis. Eur J Med Res 14(8):352–358
- 46. Davies MJ (2005) The oxidative environment and protein damage. Biochim Biophys Acta 1703(2):93–109
- Daynes RA, Jones DC (2002) Emerging roles of PPARs in inflammation and immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2(10):748–759
- 48. De Minicis S, Brenner DA (2007) NOX in liver fibrosis. Arch Biochem Biophys 462(2): 266–272
- 49. Dekhuijzen PN, Aben KK et al (1996) Increased exhalation of hydrogen peroxide in patients with stable and unstable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154(3 Pt 1):813–816
- 50. Diebold I, Petry A et al (2010) The NADPH oxidase subunit NOX4 is a new target gene of the hypoxia-inducible factor-1. Mol Biol Cell 21(12):2087–2096
- Dodig S, Richter D et al (2011) Inflammatory markers in childhood asthma. Clin Chem Lab Med 49(4):587–599
- Dohm CP, Kermer P et al (2008) Aggregopathy in neurodegenerative diseases: mechanisms and therapeutic implication. Neurodegener Dis 5(6):321–338
- Domej W, Foldes-Papp Z et al (2006) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and oxidative stress. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 7(2):117–123
- Drost EM, Skwarski KM et al (2005) Oxidative stress and airway inflammation in severe exacerbations of COPD. Thorax 60(4):293–300
- Duthie GG, Arthur JR et al (1991) Effects of smoking and vitamin E on blood antioxidant status. Am J Clin Nutr 53(4 Suppl):1061S–1063S
- 56. Dworski R, Roberts LJ 2nd et al (2001) Assessment of oxidant stress in allergic asthma by measurement of the major urinary metabolite of F2-isoprostane, 15-F2t-IsoP (8-iso-PGF2alpha). Clin Exp Allergy 31(3):387–390
- 57. Emelyanov A, Fedoseev G et al (2002) Treatment of asthma with lipid extract of New Zealand green-lipped mussel: a randomised clinical trial. Eur Respir J 20(3):596–600
- Fischer B, Voynow J (2000) Neutrophil elastase induces MUC5AC messenger RNA expression by an oxidant-dependent mechanism. Chest 117(5 Suppl 1):317S–320S
- 59. Fischer BM, Pavlisko E et al (2011) Pathogenic triad in COPD: oxidative stress, proteaseantiprotease imbalance, and inflammation. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 6:413–421
- 60. Formanek W, Inci D et al (2002) Elevated nitrite in breath condensates of children with respiratory disease. Eur Respir J 19(3):487–491
- 61. Galli F, Piroddi M et al (2005) Oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species. Contrib Nephrol 149:240–260
- Galli F, Battistoni A et al (2012) Oxidative stress and antioxidant therapy in cystic fibrosis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1822(5):690–713
- Geiss-Friedlander R, Melchior F (2007) Concepts in sumoylation: a decade on. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8(12):947–956
- 64. Ghosh S, Janocha AJ et al (2006) Nitrotyrosine proteome survey in asthma identifies oxidative mechanism of catalase inactivation. J Immunol 176(9):5587–5597
- Giannoni E, Taddei ML et al (2010) Src redox regulation: again in the front line. Free Radic Biol Med 49(4):516–527
- 66. Griese M, Ramakers J et al (2004) Improvement of alveolar glutathione and lung function but not oxidative state in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169(7):822–828
- 67. Griese M, Kappler M et al (2013) Inhalation treatment with glutathione in patients with cystic fibrosis: a randomized clinical trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 188(1):83–89
- 68. Gumral N, Naziroglu M et al (2009) Antioxidant enzymes and melatonin levels in patients with bronchial asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease during stable and exacerbation periods. Cell Biochem Funct 27(5):276–283
- Guven A, Yavuz O et al (2006) Effects of melatonin on streptozotocin-induced diabetic liver injury in rats. Acta Histochem 108(2):85–93

- Halappanavar S, Wu D et al (2011) Pulmonary gene and microRNA expression changes in mice exposed to benzo(a)pyrene by oral gavage. Toxicology 285(3):133–141
- Hanifin JP, Stewart KT et al (2006) High-intensity red light suppresses melatonin. Chronobiol Int 23(1–2):251–268
- Hartl D, Starosta V et al (2005) Inhaled glutathione decreases PGE2 and increases lymphocytes in cystic fibrosis lungs. Free Radic Biol Med 39(4):463–472
- He L, Hannon GJ (2004) MicroRNAs: small RNAs with a big role in gene regulation. Nat Rev Genet 5(7):522–531
- Hecker L, Vittal R et al (2009) NADPH oxidase-4 mediates myofibroblast activation and fibrogenic responses to lung injury. Nat Med 15(9):1077–1081
- Hecker L, Cheng J et al (2012) Targeting NOX enzymes in pulmonary fibrosis. Cell Mol Life Sci 69(14):2365–2371
- 76. Heidenfelder B, Johnson M et al (2010) Increased plasma reactive oxidant levels and their relationship to blood cells, total IgE, and allergen-specific IgE levels in asthmatic children. J Asthma 47(1):106–111
- Ho LP, Faccenda J et al (1999) Expired hydrogen peroxide in breath condensate of cystic fibrosis patients. Eur Respir J 13(1):103–106
- Holmgren A, Lu J (2010) Thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase: current research with special reference to human disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 396(1):120–124
- Horvath I, Donnelly LE et al (1998) Combined use of exhaled hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide in monitoring asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158(4):1042–1046
- 80. Imlay JA (2003) Pathways of oxidative damage. Annu Rev Microbiol 57:395-418
- Iuliano L, Monticolo R et al (2009) Association of cholesterol oxidation and abnormalities in fatty acid metabolism in cystic fibrosis. Am J Clin Nutr 90(3):477–484
- Jobsis Q, Raatgeep HC et al (2000) Hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide in exhaled air of children with cystic fibrosis during antibiotic treatment. Eur Respir J 16(1):95–100
- Joppa P, Petrasova D et al (2007) Oxidative stress in patients with COPD and pulmonary hypertension. Wien Klin Wochenschr 119(13–14):428–434
- Junttila MR, Li SP et al (2008) Phosphatase-mediated crosstalk between MAPK signaling pathways in the regulation of cell survival. FASEB J 22(4):954–965
- Kelly TL, Neri DF et al (1999) Nonentrained circadian rhythms of melatonin in submariners scheduled to an 18-hour day. J Biol Rhythms 14(3):190–196
- 86. Keskin O, Balaban S et al (2012) Relationship between exhaled leukotriene and 8-isoprostane levels and asthma severity, asthma control level, and asthma control test score. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). doi:10.1016/j.aller.2012.09.003; pii:S0301-0546(12)00277-7
- Kim EJ, Yoo YG et al (2008) Transcriptional activation of HIF-1 by RORalpha and its role in hypoxia signaling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28(10):1796–1802
- Kinnula VL, Ilumets H et al (2007) 8-Isoprostane as a marker of oxidative stress in nonsymptomatic cigarette smokers and COPD. Eur Respir J 29(1):51–55
- Kirkin V, McEwan DG et al (2009) A role for ubiquitin in selective autophagy. Mol Cell 34(3):259–269
- Kluchova Z, Petrasova D et al (2007) The association between oxidative stress and obstructive lung impairment in patients with COPD. Physiol Res 56(1):51–56
- 91. Ko FW, Lau CY et al (2006) Exhaled breath condensate levels of 8-isoprostane, growth related oncogene alpha and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Med 100(4):630–638
- 92. Korolchuk VI, Mansilla A et al (2009) Autophagy inhibition compromises degradation of ubiquitin-proteasome pathway substrates. Mol Cell 33(4):517–527
- Kostikas K, Papatheodorou G et al (2003) Oxidative stress in expired breath condensate of patients with COPD. Chest 124(4):1373–1380
- Kozomara A, Griffiths-Jones S (2010) miRBase: integrating microRNA annotation and deepsequencing data. Nucleic Acids Res 39(Database issue):D152–D157
- 95. Kroemer G, Marino G et al (2010) Autophagy and the integrated stress response. Mol Cell 40(2):280–293

- 96. Kurooka H, Kato K et al (1997) Cloning and characterization of the nucleoredoxin gene that encodes a novel nuclear protein related to thioredoxin. Genomics 39(3):331–339
- 97. Laguna TA, Sontag MK et al (2008) Decreased total serum coenzyme-Q10 concentrations: a longitudinal study in children with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr 153(3):402–407
- Lambeth JD (2007) Nox enzymes, ROS, and chronic disease: an example of antagonistic pleiotropy. Free Radic Biol Med 43(3):332–347
- 99. Lepage G, Champagne J et al (1996) Supplementation with carotenoids corrects increased lipid peroxidation in children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Clin Nutr 64(1):87–93
- 100. Lezo A, Biasi F et al (2013) Oxidative stress in stable cystic fibrosis patients: do we need higher antioxidant plasma levels? J Cyst Fibros 12(1):35–41
- 101. Libetta C, Sepe V et al (2011) Oxidative stress and inflammation: implications in uremia and hemodialysis. Clin Biochem 44(14–15):1189–1198
- Lloyd-Still JD, Ganther HE (1980) Selenium and glutathione peroxidase levels in cystic fibrosis. Pediatrics 65(5):1010–1012
- 103. Louhelainen N, Rytila P et al (2009) Persistence of oxidant and protease burden in the airways after smoking cessation. BMC Pulm Med 9:25
- 104. Loukides S, Bouros D et al (2002) The relationships among hydrogen peroxide in expired breath condensate, airway inflammation, and asthma severity. Chest 121(2):338–346
- 105. Loukides S, Kontogianni K et al (2011) Exhaled breath condensate in asthma: from bench to bedside. Curr Med Chem 18(10):1432–1443
- Luciani A, Villella VR et al (2009) SUMOylation of tissue transglutaminase as link between oxidative stress and inflammation. J Immunol 183(4):2775–2784
- 107. Luciani A, Villella VR et al (2010) Defective CFTR induces aggresome formation and lung inflammation in cystic fibrosis through ROS-mediated autophagy inhibition. Nat Cell Biol 12(9):863–875
- 108. Luciani A, Villella VR et al (2012) Targeting autophagy as a novel strategy for facilitating the therapeutic action of potentiators on DeltaF508 cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. Autophagy 8(11):1657–1672
- 109. Lucidi V, Ciabattoni G et al (2008) Exhaled 8-isoprostane and prostaglandin E(2) in patients with stable and unstable cystic fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 45(6):913–919
- 110. Luo SF, Chang CC et al (2009) Activation of ROS/NF-kappaB and Ca2+/CaM kinase II are necessary for VCAM-1 induction in IL-1beta-treated human tracheal smooth muscle cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 237(1):8–21
- 111. Mabb AM, Wuerzberger-Davis SM et al (2006) PIASy mediates NEMO sumoylation and NF-kappaB activation in response to genotoxic stress. Nat Cell Biol 8(9):986–993
- 112. MacNee W (2005) Pulmonary and systemic oxidant/antioxidant imbalance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2(1):50–60
- 113. Magenta A, Cencioni C et al (2011) miR-200c is upregulated by oxidative stress and induces endothelial cell apoptosis and senescence via ZEB1 inhibition. Cell Death Differ 18(10): 1628–1639
- 114. Maiuri L, Luciani A et al (2008) Tissue transglutaminase activation modulates inflammation in cystic fibrosis via PPARgamma down-regulation. J Immunol 180(11):7697–7705
- 115. Mak JC, Leung HC et al (2004) Systemic oxidative and antioxidative status in Chinese patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 114(2):260–264
- 116. Malorni W, Farrace MG et al (2008) Type 2 transglutaminase in neurodegenerative diseases: the mitochondrial connection. Curr Pharm Des 14(3):278–288
- 117. Mao L, Yuan L et al (2010) Inhibition of breast cancer cell invasion by melatonin is mediated through regulation of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. Breast Cancer Res 12(6):R107
- 118. Margaritis I, Rousseau AS (2008) Does physical exercise modify antioxidant requirements? Nutr Res Rev 21(1):3–12
- Marshall KA, Reiter RJ et al (1996) Evaluation of the antioxidant activity of melatonin in vitro. Free Radic Biol Med 21(3):307–315

- 120. Mazur W, Stark H et al (2009) Comparison of 8-isoprostane and interleukin-8 in induced sputum and exhaled breath condensate from asymptomatic and symptomatic smokers. Respiration 78(2):209–216
- 121. McGrath LT, Mallon P et al (1999) Oxidative stress during acute respiratory exacerbations in cystic fibrosis. Thorax 54(6):518–523
- 122. McGrath LT, Patrick R et al (2000) Breath isoprene during acute respiratory exacerbation in cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J 16(6):1065–1069
- 123. Meulmeester E, Melchior F (2008) Cell biology: SUMO. Nature 452(7188):709-711
- 124. Mizushima N, Levine B et al (2008) Autophagy fights disease through cellular self-digestion. Nature 451(7182):1069–1075
- 125. Mondino C, Ciabattoni G et al (2004) Effects of inhaled corticosteroids on exhaled leukotrienes and prostanoids in asthmatic children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 114(4):761–767
- 126. Montano M, Cisneros J et al (2010) Malondialdehyde and superoxide dismutase correlate with FEV(1) in patients with COPD associated with wood smoke exposure and tobacco smoking. Inhal Toxicol 22(10):868–874
- 127. Monteseirin J, Bonilla I et al (2001) Elevated secretion of myeloperoxidase by neutrophils from asthmatic patients: the effect of immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 107(4):623–626
- 128. Montuschi P, Corradi M et al (1999) Increased 8-isoprostane, a marker of oxidative stress, in exhaled condensate of asthma patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160(1):216–220
- Montuschi P, Kharitonov SA et al (2000) Exhaled 8-isoprostane as a new non-invasive biomarker of oxidative stress in cystic fibrosis. Thorax 55(3):205–209
- Montuschi P, Mondino C et al (2006) Effects of a leukotriene receptor antagonist on exhaled leukotriene E4 and prostanoids in children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 118(2): 347–353
- 131. Muratsu-Ikeda S, Nangaku M et al (2012) Downregulation of miR-205 modulates cell susceptibility to oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stresses in renal tubular cells. PLoS One 7(7):e41462
- 132. Mutze S, Hebling U et al (2003) Myeloperoxidase-derived hypochlorous acid antagonizes the oxidative stress-mediated activation of iron regulatory protein 1. J Biol Chem 278(42): 40542–40549
- 133. Nadeem A, Chhabra SK et al (2003) Increased oxidative stress and altered levels of antioxidants in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111(1):72–78
- 134. Nadeem A, Raj HG et al (2005) Increased oxidative stress and altered levels of antioxidants in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Inflammation 29(1):23–32
- 135. Nash EF, Stephenson A et al (2009) Nebulized and oral thiol derivatives for pulmonary disease in cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1): CD007168
- 136. Neumann CA, Cao J et al (2009) Peroxiredoxin 1 and its role in cell signaling. Cell Cycle 8(24):4072–4078
- 137. Neve J, Van Geffel R et al (1983) Plasma and erythrocyte zinc, copper and selenium in cystic fibrosis. Acta Paediatr Scand 72(3):437–440
- Nurminskaya MV, Belkin AM (2012) Cellular functions of tissue transglutaminase. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 294:1–97
- 139. Paniker NV, Srivastava SK et al (1970) Glutathione metabolism of the red cells. Effect of glutathione reductase deficiency on the stimulation of hexose monophosphate shunt under oxidative stress. Biochim Biophys Acta 215(3):456–460
- 140. Pantano C, Reynaert NL et al (2006) Redox-sensitive kinases of the nuclear factor-kappaB signaling pathway. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(9–10):1791–1806
- 141. Paredi P, Kharitonov SA et al (2000) Elevation of exhaled ethane concentration in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162(4 Pt 1):1450–1454
- 142. Park HS, Kim SR et al (2009) Impact of oxidative stress on lung diseases. Respirology 14(1):27–38
- 143. Paulsen CE, Carroll KS (2010) Orchestrating redox signaling networks through regulatory cysteine switches. ACS Chem Biol 5(1):47–62
- 144. Pauwels RA, Buist AS et al (2001) Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLBI/WHO Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) Workshop summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163(5):1256–1276
- 145. Perrin-Nadif R, Auburtin G et al (1996) Blood antioxidant enzymes as markers of exposure or effect in coal miners. Occup Environ Med 53(1):41–45
- 146. Pignone AM, Rosso AD et al (2006) Melatonin is a safe and effective treatment for chronic pulmonary and extrapulmonary sarcoidosis. J Pineal Res 41(2):95–100
- 147. Rabbani ZN, Mi J et al (2010) Hypoxia inducible factor 1alpha signaling in fractionated radiation-induced lung injury: role of oxidative stress and tissue hypoxia. Radiat Res 173(2):165–174
- 148. Rahman I, Adcock IM (2006) Oxidative stress and redox regulation of lung inflammation in COPD. Eur Respir J 28(1):219–242
- Rahman I, MacNee W (2000) Oxidative stress and regulation of glutathione in lung inflammation. Eur Respir J 16(3):534–554
- 150. Rahman I, Morrison D et al (1996) Systemic oxidative stress in asthma, COPD, and smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154(4 Pt 1):1055–1060
- 151. Rahman I, Swarska E et al (2000) Is there any relationship between plasma antioxidant capacity and lung function in smokers and in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease? Thorax 55(3):189–193
- 152. Ramracheya RD, Muller DS et al (2008) Function and expression of melatonin receptors on human pancreatic islets. J Pineal Res 44(3):273–279
- 153. Range SP, Dunster C et al (1999) Treatment of pulmonary exacerbations of cystic fibrosis leads to improved antioxidant status. Eur Respir J 13(3):560–564
- 154. Ray PD, Huang BW et al (2012) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) homeostasis and redox regulation in cellular signaling. Cell Signal 24(5):981–990
- 155. Reid DW, Misso N et al (2007) Oxidative stress and lipid-derived inflammatory mediators during acute exacerbations of cystic fibrosis. Respirology 12(1):63–69
- 156. Renner S, Rath R et al (2001) Effects of beta-carotene supplementation for six months on clinical and laboratory parameters in patients with cystic fibrosis. Thorax 56(1):48–52
- 157. Reynaert NL, van der Vliet A et al (2006) Dynamic redox control of NF-kappaB through glutaredoxin-regulated S-glutathionylation of inhibitory kappaB kinase beta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(35):13086–13091
- 158. Rhee SG, Kang SW et al (2005) Intracellular messenger function of hydrogen peroxide and its regulation by peroxiredoxins. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17(2):183–189
- 159. Robroeks CM, Rosias PP et al (2008) Biomarkers in exhaled breath condensate indicate presence and severity of cystic fibrosis in children. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 19(7):652–659
- Robroeks CM, Roozeboom MH et al (2010) Structural lung changes, lung function, and noninvasive inflammatory markers in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 21(3):493–500
- 161. Roum JH, Buhl R et al (1993) Systemic deficiency of glutathione in cystic fibrosis. J Appl Physiol 75(6):2419–2424
- 162. Roum JH, Borok Z et al (1999) Glutathione aerosol suppresses lung epithelial surface inflammatory cell-derived oxidants in cystic fibrosis. J Appl Physiol 87(1):438–443
- 163. Rust P, Eichler I et al (2000) Long-term oral beta-carotene supplementation in patients with cystic fibrosis—effects on antioxidative status and pulmonary function. Ann Nutr Metab 44(1):30–37
- 164. Sackesen C, Ercan H et al (2008) A comprehensive evaluation of the enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant systems in childhood asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122(1):78–85
- 165. Sadowska-Woda I, Rachel M et al (2011) Nutritional supplement attenuates selected oxidative stress markers in pediatric patients with cystic fibrosis. Nutr Res 31(7):509–518
- 166. Sagel SD, Sontag MK et al (2011) Effect of an antioxidant-rich multivitamin supplement in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 10(1):31–36
- 167. Sahiner UM, Birben E et al (2011) Oxidative stress in asthma. World Allergy Organ J 4(10):151–158

- 168. Samitas K, Chorianopoulos D et al (2009) Exhaled cysteinyl-leukotrienes and 8-isoprostane in patients with asthma and their relation to clinical severity. Respir Med 103(5):750–756
- 169. Sandrini A, Ferreira IM et al (2003) Effect of montelukast on exhaled nitric oxide and nonvolatile markers of inflammation in mild asthma. Chest 124(4):1334–1340
- 170. Sangokoya C, Telen MJ et al (2010) microRNA miR-144 modulates oxidative stress tolerance and associates with anemia severity in sickle cell disease. Blood 116(20):4338–4348
- 171. Schieven GL, de Fex H et al (2002) Hypochlorous acid activates tyrosine phosphorylation signal pathways leading to calcium signaling and TNFalpha production. Antioxid Redox Signal 4(3):501–507
- 172. Shahid SK, Kharitonov SA et al (2005) Exhaled 8-isoprostane in childhood asthma. Respir Res 6:79
- 173. Shinohara K, Uchiyama M et al (2000) Menstrual changes in sleep, rectal temperature and melatonin rhythms in a subject with premenstrual syndrome. Neurosci Lett 281(2–3): 159–162
- 174. Sies H (1985) Oxidative stress. Academic, London
- 175. Sluimer JC, Gasc JM et al (2008) Hypoxia, hypoxia-inducible transcription factor, and macrophages in human atherosclerotic plaques are correlated with intraplaque angiogenesis. J Am Coll Cardiol 51(13):1258–1265
- 176. Sontheimer EJ, Carthew RW (2005) Silence from within: endogenous siRNAs and miRNAs. Cell 122(1):9–12
- 177. Suzuki S, Matsukura S et al (2008) Increase in reactive oxygen metabolite level in acute exacerbations of asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 146(Suppl 1):67–72
- 178. Szatrowski TP, Nathan CF (1991) Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. Cancer Res 51(3):794–798
- 179. Taccioli C, Fabbri E et al (2009) UCbase & miRfunc: a database of ultraconserved sequences and microRNA function. Nucleic Acids Res 37(Database issue):D41–D48
- Tang H, Lee M et al (2012) Oxidative stress-responsive microRNA-320 regulates glycolysis in diverse biological systems. FASEB J 26(11):4710–4721
- 181. Textorius O, Nilsson SE (1987) Effects of intraocular irrigation with melatonin on the c-wave of the direct current electroretinogram and on the standing potential of the eye in albino rabbits. Doc Ophthalmol 65(1):97–111
- 182. Thomas JN, Smith-Sonneborn J (1997) Supplemental melatonin increases clonal lifespan in the protozoan Paramecium tetraurelia. J Pineal Res 23(3):123–130
- 183. Thomson E, Brennan S et al (2010) Identifying peroxidases and their oxidants in the early pathology of cystic fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 49(9):1354–1360
- 184. Thor PJ, Krolczyk G et al (2007) Melatonin and serotonin effects on gastrointestinal motility. J Physiol Pharmacol 58(Suppl 6):97–103
- 185. Thulasingam S, Massilamany C et al (2011) miR-27b*, an oxidative stress-responsive microRNA modulates nuclear factor-kB pathway in RAW 264.7 cells. Mol Cell Biochem 352(1–2):181–188
- 186. Tirouvanziam R, Conrad CK et al (2006) High-dose oral N-acetylcysteine, a glutathione prodrug, modulates inflammation in cystic fibrosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(12): 4628–4633
- 187. Tkacova R, Kluchova Z et al (2007) Systemic inflammation and systemic oxidative stress in patients with acute exacerbations of COPD. Respir Med 101(8):1670–1676
- 188. Toledano MB, Planson AG et al (2010) Reining in H(2)O(2) for safe signaling. Cell 140(4):454–456
- 189. Tsukagoshi H, Shimizu Y et al (2000) Evidence of oxidative stress in asthma and COPD: potential inhibitory effect of theophylline. Respir Med 94(6):584–588
- 190. Van Biervliet S, Van Biervliet JP et al (2006) Serum zinc in patients with cystic fibrosis at diagnosis and after one year of therapy. Biol Trace Elem Res 112(3):205–211
- 191. Van Biervliet S, Van Biervliet JP et al (2007) Serum zinc concentrations in cystic fibrosis patients aged above 4 years: a cross-sectional evaluation. Biol Trace Elem Res 119(1): 19–26

- 192. van Montfort RL, Congreve M et al (2003) Oxidation state of the active-site cysteine in protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B. Nature 423(6941):773–777
- 193. Vazquez-Torres A (2012) Redox active thiol sensors of oxidative and nitrosative stress. Antioxid Redox Signal 17(9):1201–1214
- 194. Villella VR, Esposito S et al (2013) Disease-relevant proteostasis regulation of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator. Cell Death Differ 20(8):1101–1115
- 195. Visca A, Bishop CT et al (2008) Improvement in clinical markers in CF patients using a reduced glutathione regimen: an uncontrolled, observational study. J Cyst Fibros 7(5): 433–436
- 196. Vlasic Z, Dodig S et al (2009) Iron and ferritin concentrations in exhaled breath condensate of children with asthma. J Asthma 46(1):81–85
- 197. Wedes SH, Khatri SB et al (2009) Noninvasive markers of airway inflammation in asthma. Clin Transl Sci 2(2):112–117
- 198. Wedes SH, Wu W et al (2011) Urinary bromotyrosine measures asthma control and predicts asthma exacerbations in children. J Pediatr 159(2):248–255 e1
- 199. Wetterberg L, Hayes DK et al (1987) Circadian rhythm of melatonin in the brain of the face fly, Musca autumnalis De Geer. Chronobiologia 14(4):377–381
- 200. Winklhofer-Roob BM, Puhl H et al (1995) Enhanced resistance to oxidation of low density lipoproteins and decreased lipid peroxide formation during beta-carotene supplementation in cystic fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 18(5):849–859
- 201. Winklhofer-Roob BM, Tiran B et al (1998) Effects of pancreatic enzyme preparations on erythrocyte glutathione peroxidase activities and plasma selenium concentrations in cystic fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 25(2):242–249
- 202. Wood LG, Fitzgerald DA et al (2002) Increased plasma fatty acid concentrations after respiratory exacerbations are associated with elevated oxidative stress in cystic fibrosis patients. Am J Clin Nutr 75(4):668–675
- 203. Wood LG, Gibson PG et al (2003) Biomarkers of lipid peroxidation, airway inflammation and asthma. Eur Respir J 21(1):177–186
- 204. Wu W, Samoszuk MK et al (2000) Eosinophils generate brominating oxidants in allergen-induced asthma. J Clin Invest 105(10):1455–1463
- 205. Yu D, dos Santos CO et al (2010) miR-451 protects against erythroid oxidant stress by repressing 14-3-3zeta. Genes Dev 24(15):1620–1633
- 206. Zanconato S, Carraro S et al (2004) Leukotrienes and 8-isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate of children with stable and unstable asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113(2): 257–263

Chapter 2 Reactive Oxygen and Nitrogen Species: General Considerations

Veena Dhawan

2.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress is defined as a natural physiological process in the biological systems where the presence of free oxygen radicals overpowers the radical scavenging mechanisms, thus creating an imbalance between the oxidants and the antioxidants. Historically, recognition of the presence of free radicals in the living cells was first demonstrated in 1954 [1]. Soon thereafter, a therapy based on free radicals and radiation chemistry was proposed for ageing [2]. Numerous studies in literature have shown that free radicals are involved in the etiology of several human diseases, as well as in ageing [3]. Harman described free radicals as "Pandora's box of evils which account for cellular damage, mutagenesis, cancer and degenerative diseases" [2]. Based on the volume of research on this subject, it is believed that the cross talk between various risk factors converges on a final common pathway of oxidative stress through which they exert their deleterious effects in causing various diseases.

Oxidative stress represents a state of increased levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), also termed as "oxygen-derived species" or "oxidants." The function is controlled physiologically by concentration of oxygen, signal transduction, and maintenance of redox homeostasis. The science of redox regulation is a rapidly growing field of research that has impact on almost every discipline involving biological systems which have not only adapted to the coexistence of damaging free radicals but also developed mechanisms of using free radicals to their advantage. Numerous data exist in the literature that both ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are produced in a well-regulated manner to help maintain homeostasis at the cellular level in the normal healthy tissues, play an important role as second messengers, and regulate cellular function by modulating signaling pathways [3].

V. Dhawan (🖂)

Department of Experimental Medicine and Biotechnology, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India e-mail: veena447@gmail.com

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_2, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

Overproduction of ROS, as well as the deficiency of enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant defense mechanism creates an imbalance in the equilibration of prooxidant/ antioxidant status which governs a wide array of diverse disorders. ROS elicit and regulate divergent effects on cellular functions, e.g., cell growth and differentiation, growth factor signaling, mitogenic responses, modulation of extracellular matrix production and breakdown apoptosis, inactivation of nitric oxide (NO), oxygen sensing, and stimulation of proinflammatory genes and many kinases [4].

2.2 Free Radicals

A free radical is defined as a molecule that contains one or more unpaired electrons in a single orbit. Molecular oxygen has two and nitric oxide (NO[•]) has one unpaired electron which can exist independently and thus justify their free radical characters. A chemical reaction shall involve the transfer of one single electron. Any related reactive species that leads to free radical generation or other species that result from free radical reactions can also be included in this category. Cells use oxygen to generate energy and form free radicals as a result of ATP production by the mitochondria [5]. Free radicals become a part of the propagative chain reaction whereby they combine with other radicals to form other more damaging species, unless the chain is terminated by chain breaking antioxidants to form a species which is nontoxic [5]. All organisms possess inherent cellular defenses to overcome oxidative stress that are collectively termed as antioxidants. Free radicals have very short life, e.g., in milli-, micro-, or nanoseconds, and readily react with lipids, DNA, and proteins causing damage and form harmful products such as lipid peroxides and other lipid adducts. The consequent protein damage results in loss of enzyme activity, while DNA damage can result in mutagenesis and carcinogenesis [6].

2.3 Generation of ROS

Oxygen is essential to aerobic life but, paradoxically, it can be toxic even at atmospheric concentrations. ROS/RNS are formed as byproducts of normal metabolism in aerobic organisms. ROS is a broader term; it includes many reactive species, e.g., superoxide (O_2^{\bullet}), hydroxyl (OH[•]), peroxyl (ROO[•]), alkyl radical, alkoxyl (RO[•]) radicals, singlet oxygen (O) and semiquinone radical (HQ[•]), and ozone (O_3) (Table 2.1). Hydroxyl radicals are formed in the presence of metals and hydrogen peroxide (Fenton reaction); peroxynitrite might play a small role in hydroxyl radical formation. In this process, certain non-radicals are also produced that are either oxidizing agents or easily converted into radicals, such as HOCl, ozone, H_2O_2 , and lipid peroxides with no unpaired electrons. H_2O_2 and lipid peroxides also serve as a source of highly reactive 'OH, ROO[•], and RO[•] radicals. $O_2^{-\bullet}$ reacts quickly with very few molecules, whereas hydroxyl radical OH[•] has an extremely high rate of reactivity [7].

Table 2.1 Different types of ROS and RNS produced in the cell	Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)				
	Radicals: $O_2^{}$ OH ⁻ RO ₂ ⁻	Radicals:Non-R $D_2^{-^*}$ SuperoxideOH^-HydroxylRO_3^{-^*}Peroxyl	on-Radi O ₂)Cl ⁻	dicals: Hydrogen peroxide Hypochlorous acid Ozone Singlet oxygen	
	RO [.] HO ₂ .	Alkoxyl Hydroperoxyl	0	2 100 ⁻	Peroxynitrite
	Reactive Nitrogen Species (RNS)				
	Radicals NO [·] NO ₂ ·	Nitric Oxide Nitrogen dioxide		on-Radi NOO ⁻ DONO OA NO ₂ O ₄ NO ₂ O ₂ O ² O ⁺ O ₂ Cl	cals: Peroxynitrite Alkyl peroxynitrites Dinitrogen trioxide Dinitrogen tetroxide Nitrous acid Nitronium anion Nitroxyl anion Nitroxyl cation Nitryl chloride

2.4 Sources of Reactive Oxygen Species

Normal metabolic processes in all the aerobic conditions constitute a major source of ROS. The cellular sources include the electron transport chain of mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum [8]. ROS are produced by all cell types, e.g., the neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, and the cytotoxic lymphocytes, and can be formed by the action of many enzymes. The important enzymatic sources responsible for ROS production include NAD(P)H oxidase, xanthine oxidase (XO), and uncoupled form of nitric oxide synthase (NOS). The other enzyme sources are myeloperoxidase (MPO), aldehyde oxidase, cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase, dehydrogenase, tryptophan dioxygenase, and flavoprotein dehydrogenase [9].

In nonphagocytic cells, a variety of cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1, and interferon (IFN)- γ are shown to generate ROS essential for their signaling by binding to cytokine receptors. Several growth factors are capable of generating ROS by binding to different receptors in nonphagocytic cells and initiate mitogenic signaling. Depending on their isoforms, they either inhibit or activate NADPH oxidase activity for H_2O_2 production [10, 11]. All receptor serine/threenine kinases in mammalian cells belong to the TGF- β superfamily. TGF- β 1 is shown to stimulate ROS production in a variety of cell types [12].

A number of stimuli, e.g., angiotensin II (Ang II), serotonin, 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), bradykinin, thrombin, and endothelin (ET), are shown to generate ROS in different cells by binding to G protein-coupled receptors. Neurotransmitters, by binding to ion channel-linked receptors, mediate rapid synaptic signaling. Relatively little is known about ROS signaling by ion channel-linked receptors [10, 13] (Fig. 2.1).



Sources of ROS Endogenous sources of ROS and RNS

Fig. 2.1 Various endogenous sources of ROS and RNS in the cell

2.5 NAD(P)H Oxidase

NAD(P)H oxidase is a membrane-bound enzyme complex which represents a major source of O_2^{--} in the body. It is present in various cells, e.g., the endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, monocytes, and macrophages [14]. Although NAD(P) H oxidases were originally considered as enzymes expressed only in the phagocytic cells, the recent evidence indicates that there is an entire family of NAD(P)H oxidases. The new homologs are now designated the Nox family of NAD(P)H oxidases. The family includes seven members such as Nox1, Nox2 (gp91phox), Nox3, Nox4, Nox5, Duox1, and Duox2 [6, 14]. They are expressed in many tissues and mediate diverse biological functions. The NAD(P)H oxidase found in neutrophils has five subunits: p22phox, p47phox (or NOXO1), p67phox (or NOXA1), and p40phox (phox stands for *ph*agocyte *ox*idase), and the catalytic subunit gp91phox (or its homologs, Nox1 and Nox4) also termed Nox2. In quiescent cells, NAD(P)H oxidase exists in an unassembled state, i.e., p22phox and gp91phox are present in the membrane whereas p47phox, p67phox, and p40phox exist in the cytosol.

A number of stimuli activate NAD(P)H oxidase whereby p47phox becomes phosphorylated and the cytosolic subunits form a complex that translocates to the membrane and convert the oxidase into an assembled and active form which transfers electrons from the substrate to O_2 , forming O_2^{-1} [15]. Therapy based on free radicals and radiation chemistry was proposed for ageing [2]. In the first step one electron is added to the molecular oxygen in a univalent reduction to generate superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) using NADPH or NADH as the electron donor:

$$2O_2 + NAD(P)H \rightarrow 2O_2^{-} + NAD(P)^+ + H^+$$
.

Superoxide anion can be generated both enzymatically, e.g., during the NADPH phagocytic oxidase reaction in neutrophils, and nonenzymatically in the mitochondrial respiratory chain.

2.6 Regulation of NAD(P)H Oxidase Activity

The mechanism behind interaction of NAD(P)H oxidase subunits in cells and how they generate O_2 is not fully understood. Plentiful evidence exists that Nox enzymes are crucial for normal biological responses and contribute to the pathophysiology of several diseases, yet their regulation and function remain unclear. NAD(P)H oxidase responds to the stimuli of many growth factors, cytokines, mechanical forces, metabolic factors, and G protein-coupled receptor agonists. Ang II is the most potent regulator of NAD(P)H oxidase that activates NAD(P)H oxidase through stimulation of various signaling pathways and through transcriptional regulation of oxidase subunits [16].

2.7 Xanthine Oxidase

Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR) is another important enzymatic source of ROS which belongs to metalloflavoprotein family [17]. XOR (EC 1.17.1.4) catalyzes the oxidation of hypoxanthine and xanthine to form uric acid. XOR is shown to exist in two forms: xanthine oxidase (XO) and xanthine dehydrogenase (XDH). The enzyme catalyzes the reduction of O_2 , leading to the formation of superoxide (O_2^{-}) and H_2O_2 ; it is proposed as a central mechanism of oxidative injury.

Principle reaction catalyzed by xanthine oxidase (XO) is the oxidation of xanthine into uric acid:

$$XO + H_2O + O_2 \rightarrow Uric acid + H_2O_2$$
.

This process is accompanied by production of superoxide:

$$XO + O_2 \rightarrow XO^{-1} + O_2^{-1}$$

The concentration of circulating XOR is low under physiological conditions, but it increases dramatically in certain diseases. Most of the circulating XOR form exists in the oxidase form. Once in circulation, XOR has the ability to initiate oxidative damage in remote organs with intrinsically low XOR content. XO can generate nitric oxide (NO[•]) by catalyzing the reduction of nitrate to nitrite and nitrite to NO[•] in the presence of NADH as an electron donor. NO[•] or ONOO[–] has been proposed as feedback inhibitor of XO via disruption of the critical molybdenum (Mo) center of the enzyme. The Mo cofactor or sulfate moieties in the XOR protein are critical components which are responsible for transcriptional and posttranslational regulations of XOR activity [6, 18]. H₂O₂ has also been shown to inhibit XOR activity by deactivating the Mo center. Phosphorylation has also been cited as a mechanism of posttranslational modification of XOR.

Commercially available allopurinol and metabolite oxypurinol are the nonselective inhibitors of XOR that prevent oxidation of xanthine to uric acid. Febuxostat is also shown to inhibit the oxidized and reduced forms of XOR selectively without affecting other enzymes of purine and pyrimidine metabolism [19].

2.8 Generation of Reactive Nitrogen Species

RNS is a collective term that includes nitric oxide radical (NO[•]), peroxynitrite (ONOO[–]), nitrogen dioxide radical (NO₂[•]), and other oxides of nitrogen and products arising when NO[•] reacts with O₂^{•–}, RO[•], and H[•]NO[•] [20]. NO[•] was initially discovered in 1980 as a vasodilating substance secreted by the endothelium, termed as EDRF [21]. Subsequently, this factor was termed as NO[•]. In 1992, NO[•] was chosen as "molecule of the year" [22]. In 1998 Furchgott, Ignarro, and Murad were awarded the Nobel Prize in Physiology and Medicine for their discovery of NO[•] as a signaling molecule in the cardiovascular system [23–25].

NO[•] plays significant role in cellular signaling, vasodilation, and immune response. It is a highly reactive small uncharged molecule containing one unpaired electron, therefore considered a free radical. It has a half-life of 15 s and can readily diffuse across the membrane due to its uncharged state. Endogenous NO[•] is formed in the biological tissues via the action of NOS where L-arginine and oxygen are converted into NO[•] and citrulline via a five-electron oxidative process. The reaction requires the presence of many cofactors such as FAD, FMN, NADPH, tetrahydrobiopterin, and heme [26, 27].

2.9 Nitric Oxide Synthase

Conversion of L-arginine to L-citrulline and nitric oxide is carried out by NOS but under uncoupling conditions, these enzymes also produce superoxide:

```
NOS + L-Arginine + O_2^{-} + NADPH \rightarrow NO<sup>•</sup> + Citrulline + NADP<sup>+</sup>.
```

NOS (Fe (II) heme) $+ O_2^{\bullet-} \rightarrow NOS$ (Fe (III) heme) $+ O^{\bullet-}$.

There are three known isoforms of NOS with different activities; two of the NOS forms are constitutively expressed in neuronal cells (nNOS) or in the endothelial cells (eNOS) [28, 29]. These constitutively expressed NOS isoforms are regulated via calcium levels. As the intracellular calcium levels increase, calcium forms a complex with calmodulin (a calcium binding protein) which then binds to NOS and causes its activation. Activated NOS synthesizes small amounts of NO[•] till calcium levels decrease. This intermittent production of NO[•] is responsible for transmission of signals and is sufficient to maintain a basal vasodilator tone [30–32]. NO[•] as a vasodilator has been shown to inhibit leukocyte interaction with the endothelium, inhibit platelet aggregation and cell adhesion, and control cell proliferation [33]. In oxidative stress conditions, NO[•] is consumed, thereby causing various problems.

Another isoform of NOS which is subject to regulation by inflammatory mediators is expressed in macrophages, and is termed as iNOS [34]. iNOS is independent of calcium and calmodulin ions. Once activated, it generates large amounts of NO[•] for as long as the inflammatory stimulus is present and kills or inhibits pathogens. All the NOS are homologous and have different regulation controls and activities. iNOS is regulated by phosphorylation/dephosphorylation via protein kinases; in its phosphorylated form, the activity is decreased. eNOS can also be regulated via phosphorylation/dephosphorylation. iNOS can also bind calmodulin, though calcium has little effect on its activity. In contrast to other signaling molecules which act through receptors, NO[•] diffuses out of the cell where it is produced and diffuses in target cells to transmit signals and interact with its molecular target, e.g., proteins, nucleic acids, and other free radicals like superoxide [35].

NO[•] is shown to act through cyclic GMP (cGMP, a second messenger). By binding to iron in heme group of GC, it activates the enzyme whereby cGMP is produced which further activates other cellular processes [36]. NO[•] causes auto-ADP ribosylation, i.e., ribosylation of a target without enzyme catalysis, e.g., by ADP ribosylation of glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, therefore inhibiting ATP production [37].

NO has also been shown to inhibit the activity of a number of enzymes including xanthine oxide, gluthathione peroxidase, cytochrome c oxidase, and NADPH oxidase. NO interacts with proteins by binding to iron, present as heme group or as an iron sulfur complex in enzymes, and either activates or deactivates the enzyme. O₂ - plays a critical role in NO -induced toxicity where O₂ - and NO can combine in a radical-radical reaction which is extremely fast and form toxic product peroxynitrite. Peroxynitrite is a potent oxidant produced in various inflammatory and pathological conditions that can attack a wide variety of biological molecules. ONOO directly attacks sulfhydryl groups in various target molecules [37] and also reacts by either one- or two-electron oxidation reactions [38]. Peroxynitrous acid (HOONO), which has OH--like properties, is formed by reacting with nitric acid, and has oxidant properties.

2.10 Antioxidant Defenses

"Antioxidants" can be defined as those substances that neutralize free radicals or their actions [39]. These are present in low concentrations and significantly prevent oxidation of that substrate. To counteract deleterious effects of oxidative stress, nature has endowed each cell with adequate protective antioxidant defenses which can be broadly categorized into enzymatic or nonenzymatic antioxidants based on their action in intracellular and extracellular compartments. Enzymatic antioxidants include superoxide dismutase (SOD) which catalyzes the dismutation of O_2^{-} into H_2O_2 and O_2 . SOD exists in three isoforms in mammalians, i.e., copper/zinc SOD (SOD1), mitochondrial SOD (Mn SOD, SOD2), and extracellular SOD (ecSOD, SOD3) [40, 41]. Glutathione peroxidase reduces H_2O_2 and lipid peroxides to water and lipid alcohols and in turn oxidizes glutathione to glutathione disulfide. Catalase catalyzes the conversion of H_2O_2 to water and molecular oxygen, and protects the cells from harmful effects of H_2O_2 produced within the cell. This enzyme is highly effective during augmented oxidative stress, as reduced levels of glutathione or glutathione peroxidase are available. Reduced glutathione plays a major role in the regulation of the intracellular redox state of the cells as it is a major source of reducing equivalents [42]. Thioredoxin reductase is responsible for thiol-dependent reductive processes in the cell [43]. Glutathione S-transferase and H₂O₂ can form spontaneously or can be formed by dismutation of O_2 - catalyzed by SOD: $2O_2^{-}+2H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2+O_2$. Thioredoxins are low molecular weight proteins that contain a conserved dithiol motif which is responsible for a variety of biological functions. Sulfur switches are shown as sensors in redox signaling pathways which control and integrate metabolic pathways. Three major redox controls responsible for regulation of these switches are thioredoxins, GSH/GSsL, and Cys/Cyss [44].

The nonenzymatic category of antioxidant defenses includes low molecular weight molecules, e.g., glutathione, uric acid, vitamin A (retinoids), carotenoids particularly beta carotene with a high-antioxidant activity as it quenches free radicals, and α -tocopherol (vitamin E), a fat-soluble and free radical chain breaking antioxidant which, due to the presence of hydroxyl (–OH) group in its structure, is an effective hydrogen donor. Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) acts as a hydrogen donor and reverses oxidation, and can act both as an antioxidant and as a prooxidant. Fruits and vegetables in the diet are main source of vitamin C and other nonenzymatic antioxidants, e.g., flavonoids and related polyphenols. The concentration of these antioxidants is low and varies depending on their location. Bilirubin, lipoic acid, albumin, ferritin, ceruloplasmin, and transferrin also show antioxidant properties and can indirectly reduce or inhibit generation of reactive species (Table 2.2).

2.11 ROS/RNS Signaling

Data from different studies clearly demonstrate that reactive species act as second messengers and play a critical role in immune function and signal transduction thereby affecting cellular homeostasis [45]. ROS act as signaling molecules when

Table 2.2 Enzymatic and	Enzymatic antioxidants	Nonenzymatic antioxidants
nonenzymatic antioxidants that protect against ROS/ RNS generation	Thioredoxin (Trx)	Vitamins C, E, A
	Peroxiredoxins (Prx)	Thiols
	Glutaredoxin (Grx)	β-Carotene
	Glutathione peroxidase (Gpx)	Polyphenols
	Reduced glutathione (GSH)	NAC
	Oxidized glutathione (GSSG)	Zinc, selenium
	Glutathione reductase (GR)	Glutathione
	Extracellular glutathione peroxidase (eGPx)	Uric acid
	Catalase	Lycopene
	Peroxidase	Allyl sulfide
	Superoxide dismutase	Indoles
		Gallic acid
		Hesperitin
		Catechin
		Chrysin

present in low concentration, and promote cell proliferation and cell survival, whereas an increased concentration activates NF- κ B and AP-1 [46, 47]. At extremely high levels or persistent cellular ROS, these are shown to promote cell death. Redox system regulates ROS-mediated signaling via direct oxidative modification of redox-sensitive signaling proteins. Multiple layers of regulation are reported at the level of signaling pathways [48]. Their actions are mediated through oxidative/ nitrosative reactions. These molecules may attack cysteine residues on proteins via oxidative/nitrosative modifications and alter many proteins, e.g., transcription factors, kinases, and phosphatases, which in turn may affect downstream signaling cascades and alter cellular fate. In the presence of a transition metal, such as iron, hydrogen peroxide can be converted to the highly reactive hydroxyl ion which amplifies oxidative stress and its consequences [49].

Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) is a TF shown to regulate cellular metabolism and cell survival under hypoxic stress. By binding to hypoxia response element (HRE) in the promoter of many genes, HIF1 α results in activation and suppression of several genes involved in metabolism, e.g., cell survival/death, angiogenesis, and invasion/metastasis [50]. HIF1 α is regulated by oxygen requiring hydrolyzing enzymes and is also regulated via feedback regulation under hypoxia by increased expression of its own regulators. Increased ROS/RNS generation is shown to stabilize HIF1 α via increased generation of OH[•] radical from H₂O₂, by direct oxidative modification and by activating multiple signaling pathways which may render HIF1 α inactive. Use of antioxidants has been shown to decrease HIF α activity [51].

One of the important signaling pathways involved in ROS regulation is that of serine/threonine AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) that contributes to the control of energy metabolism [52]. Silencing AMPK α 1, a predominant catalytic subunit of enzyme in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), was shown to inhibit cell proliferation and ROS accumulation [53]. *MAPK and SAPKs*: MAPKs operate in a cascade fashion; the family includes ERK1/2, JNK, p38, ERK3/4, and BMK1/ERK5 pathways. The JNK and p38 kinase pathways are also known as SAPKs [54].

Several studies demonstrate that NF- $k\beta$, a redox-sensitive TF, can be activated or inhibited in response to OS and is regulated via redox-mediated mechanism at multiple levels of activation pathways. AP-1 is a transcription factor involved in control of cell growth and apoptosis. MAPKs are shown to regulate AP-1, JNK, ERK, and p38 kinase pathways [55]. Redox-mediated regulation of AP-1 has been demonstrated at level of transcription and translation. Oxidative stress is shown to promote AP-1 activity by inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDAC), by activating MAPK pathways [56]. NO[•] is also shown to modulate AP-1 through S-glutathionylation. Both experimental and human studies have provided sufficient evidence to show that OS can activate MAP kinase via Ras pathway. As far as SAPK pathways are concerned, they are differentially regulated depending on dose and duration of the stimuli and type of oxidative modification, and are regulated at multiple levels [57].

Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K/Akt pathway): Signal transduction via PI3 kinase plays an important role in the regulation of cell growth, proliferation, survival, and motility. Depending on the type and duration of ROS, PI3K signaling is activated or inhibited, thus modulating cell survival pathways. Activation of PI3K/ Akt pathways is tightly kept in check by phosphatases. ROS are shown to activate or inhibit this pathway mainly through oxidative modification of CDPs) which results in sustained activation of PI3K/Akt signaling, whereas redox modification of kinases results in down-regulating PI3K/Akt signaling [58, 59]. Oxidative modifications of ubiquitin-proteosome or other proteases can also affect turnover of signaling proteins [60].

Nrf2–Keap 1 axis: An Nrf2–Keap 1 axis (NF-E2-related factor 2 protein) has been implicated in respiratory disorders and oxidative stress and ROS are shown to activate Nrf2 pathway. ROS disrupt Nrf2–Keap 1 association, whereby Keap 1 dissociates from Nrf2 and Nrf2 translocates to the nucleus from cytosol and binds antioxidant response element (ARE) in the regulatory region of many genes. Reports in Nrf2-deficient mice using microarray-based assays have suggested that Nrf2 modulates transcription of multiple genes whose protein products function as antioxidants, heat shock proteins, glutathione synthesis enzymes, proteasomes, and phase-2 detoxification enzymes [61, 62]. All these proteins are known to play a very crucial role in maintenance of cellular homeostasis against an onslaught of oxidative stress. Nrf2 has been implicated in protection against oxidative damage-induced injury, hyperoxia, nitrosative stress, ER stress, and exogenous prooxidants. The absence of Nrf2 is shown to promote apoptosis and modulate cell survival processes [63].

Recent reports also suggest a novel role of redox regulation in chromatin remodeling which affects death/survival signals at transcriptional levels. Posttranslational modifications of signaling proteins are also regulated through redox-mediated mechanism. There is a lot of cross talk at the level of redox regulation which, through modulation of signaling proteins, may affect cell survival mechanisms, transcription, and signal transduction (Fig. 2.2).



Fig. 2.2 Role of ROS and RNS in tissue damage. Inflammation begins with a reaction to an irritant or infection that is characterized by movement of fluid and white blood cells into extravascular tissue. This is followed by cell proliferation and involves tissue repair and regeneration. Generation of free radicals, e.g., ROS and RNS, follows leading to lipids, protein, and DNA damage via activation of transcription factors through signal transduction pathways such as MAPK and PKC leading to inflammation. Prolonged stimuli cause ROS:antioxidant imbalance and affect cell survival in terms of apoptosis and cell death

2.12 Respiratory System

Oxygen is essential to life, but at concentrations exceeding physiological limits, it may be hazardous to the cells. Lungs are directly exposed to very high oxygen concentration and thus are prone to high risk of developing oxidative stress. A variety of ROS/RNS are generated by inflammatory pulmonary cells. The ROS are produced in bulk from activated macrophages in a process known as "respiratory burst" which acts as a first line of defense against environmental triggers/pathogens. Apart from their role as a part of host defense in aerobic organisms, they play a different role independent of host defense. Neutrophils, eosinophils, alveolar macrophages, and epithelial cells and bronchial epithelial cells are the source of ROS/RNS in the lungs. There is also an array of antioxidant defenses present in the lung tissue and epithelial lining fluid to counteract onslaught of oxidative stress resulting in cellular adaptive and protective responses. ROS/RNS usually exert their action at the cellular level through signaling mechanisms which involves genetic regulation. Thus an oxidant: antioxidant imbalance can lead to a variety of respiratory diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), asthma, and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF).

ROS cause damage to the lipids, protein, and DNA resulting in lung injury and induce a variety of cellular responses, e.g., extracellular matrix remodeling in blood

vessels, increased mucus secretion, and alveolar repair responses. Atmospheric aerosols produced due to air pollution containing hazardous agents, e.g., diesel exhaust, soot, polycyclic aromatic compounds, mineral dusts, ozone, nitrogen dioxides, ultraviolet and ionizing radiation, and tobacco smoke, are the other factors which can damage biological molecules and initiate a cascade of events in the respiratory system. Allergenic proteins upon exposure to O_3 and NO_2 get sufficiently oxygenated and nitrated and thus form toxic products leading to inflammation and cellular damage.

The evidence is further strengthened by extensive amount of data available from both in vivo and in vitro studies as well as from studies using experimental animal models which support the view that ROS and RNS are important in maintaining respiratory homeostasis.

2.13 Pharmacological Inhibitors of ROS and RNS in Experimental/Clinical Trials

Redox system is involved in the maintenance of cellular homeostasis; alterations in redox homeostasis can promote cell death or cell survival depending on the type and duration of exposure to stimuli. Functional status of cellular antioxidant and redox-sensitive survival signaling pathways can significantly modulate the cell fate. Therefore, redox-based therapeutic/preventive strategies should be evolved which may maintain redox homeostasis to modulate redox-sensitive factors which govern cell fate.

Despite the extensively reported evidence, the pharmacological strategies to overcome the deleterious effects of the ROS and RNS have not been successful in clinical trials. There is a need to prove whether antioxidant therapy can prevent or overcome the damaging effects of ROS in life threatening situations. The compounds must be tested for their safety, toxicity, selectivity, bioavailability, and therapeutic efficacy. Combination therapy with these agents can also be tried to achieve synergistic clinical effects. A complete understanding of the molecular mechanisms of ROS/RNS, as well as epidemiological and randomized clinical trials in humans is needed before a drug can be routinely prescribed and used.

ROS and RNS induce DNA damage which activates PARP (poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase). Development of PARP inhibitors can be explored for therapy of the respiratory disorders. Neutralization of peroxynitrites and pharmacological inhibition of MMPs and PARP are promising new approaches in the experimental therapy [64]. Inhaled apocynin was shown to decrease ROS concentration in exhaled breath condensate (EBC) in mild asthmatics. In a completed clinical trial, effect of inhaled apocynin on ROS and NOS generation was demonstrated in 13 bronchial asthma and COPD patients. In comparison to placebo, H₂O₂ and NO₂ were shown to reduce in EBC of COPD subjects in response to nebulized apocynin, and showed no adverse side effects [65]. In an in vivo placebo-controlled crossover study in different age group of healthy subjects, fermented papaya preparation (FPP) supplementation

was shown to augment SOD, a potent enzymatic scavenger of O_2 [66]. In a mice model of ventilator-induced lung injury, amifostin preconditioning was reported to attenuate oxidative stress in the lung by scavenging ROS and RNS and by augmenting enzymatic antioxidants, and was proposed as a promising strategy for critically ill patients on extended mechanical ventilation [67, 68].

Erdosteine is a mucolytic agent for chronic pulmonary diseases and possesses antioxidant properties. Experimental data demonstrate beneficial effects of this drug, by reducing OFR generation and increasing enzymatic antioxidant cellular defenses [69]. Albumin and furosemide therapy has also been proposed to be beneficial in hypoproteinemic subjects with acute lung injury (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), though data on outcome are lacking [70]. Therapies with GSH and its analogues have been used in clinical trials but did not demonstrate a positive outcome, and rather shown to result in generation of undesirable toxic products [71].

Many studies have been undertaken with inhibitors of major ROS generating enzymes which show promising results. Use of natural ROS scavengers and treatments with exogenous antioxidants are reported to attenuate deleterious effects of ROS. *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC), melatonin, resveratrol, vitamin C, mitochondriatargeted antioxidants such as mitoQ and mito vitamin E, lipoic acid, selenium (Se), and GSNO (a physiologic metabolite of GSH and NO[•]) have been developed and utilized for the prevention of oxidative stress in several diseases [72–76]. Thioredoxin has also been proposed as an attractive therapeutic approach for preventing and/or treating cardiopulmonary disorders [77]. NO[•] prodrug JS-K has also been considered as a therapeutic option [78]. In cystic fibrosis, MPO has been shown to act as a phagocyte oxidase blocking NO[•] bioavailability and is considered a potential therapeutic target [79].

In addition to pharmacological interventions, the data from several epidemiologic and observational studies suggest a positive association between antioxidant vitamin status and indicators of airway obstruction and pulmonary function [80, 81]. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials examining the role of iNO for treatment of ARDS or ALI in children and adults reported inconsistent results and prevented assessment of all outcomes [82]. Based on multiple in vitro and animal model studies, no specific pharmacologic approach for ARDS has been successfully validated in clinical trials [83]. GSH depletion in lung epithelial lining fluid has also been noted in COPD, IPF, and ARDS [84]. Two clinical trials with aerosolized buffered GSH in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients have shown promising results [85].

Published evidence from randomized clinical trials do not support the use of iNO in infants with hypoxemic respiratory failure despite its role in treatment of several diseases in neonates [86]. In very ill-ventilated preterm infants, iNO as a rescue therapy had failed, and increased the risk of severe IVH. Multiple pharma-cological interventions such as with corticosteroids, prostaglandins, NO[•], prostacyclin (PGI₂), surfactants, cisofylline, NAC, and fish oil have not shown any improvement in survival in ARDS [87, 88]. Low dose of iNO also did not demonstrate any substantial impact on duration of ventilator support or on death rate. iNO therapy was shown to improve oxygenation in patients with ALI or ARDS but was not

shown to reduce mortality [89]; rather it was proposed to be harmful [90]. The same effect was reported for iNO use in patients of acute chest syndrome with sickle cell disease [91].

Antioxidants are used as chemopreventive agents in models of cancer, but use of beta carotene and vitamin A in lung cancer prevention trials showed no chemopreventive effects, and rather increased the risk of lung cancer incidence and mortality in smokers. Targeting redox-sensitive signaling inhibitor molecules at signal transduction, transcription, or functional levels, inhibitors, mimetics, activators, and antisense nucleotides may be of potential therapeutic utility. In this regard, NF- κ B and Nrf2 are particularly attractive targets as they are shown to regulate transcriptional expression of multiple antioxidant genes. Curcumin as NF- κ B inhibitor, isothiocyanates as Nrf2 activator, and compounds activating Nrf2 via PI3K and PKC signaling have also been used [92].

NSAIDs have also been tried as cyclooxygenase inhibitors because of their free radical scavenging effect against an array of ROS and RNS. By inhibiting MPO, they are also shown to inhibit HOCl formation [93]. Hydroxytyrosol (HT), a phenolic compound present in olive oil, demonstrated strong antioxidant activity in porcine pulmonary artery endothelial cells (VECS). The mechanism of action of HT was shown via suppression of ROS and catalase expression through phosphorylation of AMPK pathway and by activating FOXO3a [94].

Studies using vitamin A and carotenoids have demonstrated beneficial effects in various diseases such as diarrhea, ischemic heart disease, immunological disorders, acute respiratory infections, and bronchial asthma. Reports on supplementation of exogenous antioxidants in several clinical trials have yielded controversial and mixed results due to lack of quality-controlled trials [95, 96].

Selenium supplementation was shown to increase GPx activity in a randomized placebo-controlled trial on oral Se supplementation on antioxidant levels in COPD patients [97]. Similarly, in a double-blind placebo-controlled trial using effect of 1-year supplementation with 200 IU/day vitamin E on the incidence and duration of respiratory infections in 617 elderly persons, a nonsignificant reduction in the duration of cold was observed [98]. Evidence from randomized and controlled studies suggested that the use of specialized nutritional formula containing eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) + gamma linoleic acid and elevated antioxidants might offer physiologic and anti-inflammatory effects over standard formulas [99].

A randomized controlled clinical trial was conducted in 137 asthmatic adults to investigate the effects of a high-antioxidant diet (with lycopene), compared with that of a low-antioxidant diet (without lycopene) supplementation, for 14 weeks [100]. Increased fruit and vegetable intake resulted in improved clinical asthma outcomes. Antioxidant manipulation was shown to modify clinical outcomes of asthma; antioxidant withdrawal was associated with aggravation of inflammation, lung function, and symptoms of asthma [101].

eNOS derivatives play an important role in modulating pulmonary vascular tone and attenuating pulmonary hypertension. iNOS is also shown to contribute to the pathology of ALI and ARDS. Thus, L-arginine–NO[•]–cGMP pathway can serve as an important pharmacological target in the treatment of pulmonary vascular diseases [102].

Melatonin, a hormone with antioxidant properties, has been shown to provide significant protective effects with a remarkable safety profile in newborns which harbor increased oxidative stress. Also, long-term melatonin therapy in children and adults has not shown any significant complications. Similarly, none of the animal studies with maternal melatonin therapy or postnatal melatonin therapy have resulted in any side effects [103].

Acetylcysteine and carbocysteine have limited efficacy, and reported to be safe in children with upper and lower respiratory tract infections (ARTIs) without chronic bronchopulmonary diseases [104]. Nebulized or oral thiol derivatives administered to patient with cystic fibrosis were demonstrated to be ineffective [105]. In clinical trials on ARDS in ICU patients with impaired oxygenation, enteral administration of fish oil, antioxidants, and physiological amounts of arginine was found to improve oxygenation and clinical outcomes [106].

The various observations underscore the importance of controlled clinical trials for evaluation of benefits and risks of effective therapies. Several promising therapies are being currently investigated for the treatment of ARDS, and include use of exogenous surfactants, antioxidants, immunomodulating agents, HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors such as statins and β 2-adrenergic receptor agonists and prostacyclin. Reports reveal that a single pharmacotherapy may not be effective [107].

Several explanations have been suggested by investigators for the failure of convincing evidence from antioxidant trials [108, 109]: (a) the cells employ homeostatic mechanisms to restrict the total allowable antioxidant activity; supplementation of antioxidants exogenously may decrease the rate of synthesis or uptake of antioxidants, so that total antioxidant potential remains unaltered; (b) the amount of antioxidant is insufficient and is not targeted to the site of excessive ROS production. In addition, it is plausible that complete removal of oxidants may lead to altered cellular signaling mechanisms, hence worse outcomes. Further, the potential of exogenous antioxidants in terms of relative specificity and efficiency to reduce each reactive species could be different. It was further emphasized that injury causing oxidants must be identified.

2.14 Methods of Detection of Markers

The presence of oxidative stress in the biological systems can be determined by markers/metabolites of oxidative stress, antioxidants (both enzymatic and nonenzymatic) in blood, urine, and tissue samples. In practice, the analytical measurement of oxidative stress markers is difficult due to the short half-life (in seconds) of such compounds. This can be determined biochemically. A variety of methods have been employed for the determination of free radicals and oxidative stress metabolites [110].

Electron spin resonance (ESR) spectroscopy, or electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectroscopy, is the only analytical approach that enables direct detection of free radicals, such as NO[•], superoxide, and hydroxyl radical. It is also able to detect

free radical-derived species, e.g., ascorbyl radical, tocopheroxyl radical, and heme-nitrosyl complexes with limited sensitivity [111].

Lipid peroxides, i.e., malondialdehyde (MDA), or other lipid adducts are determined as a measure of the cellular oxidant status; however, the method is nonspecific [112]. F2-isoprostanes, particularly, 8-iso-PGF2alpha, is shown to be a specific and reliable indicator of in vivo oxidative stress. This marker is also not affected by diet, and can be easily detected in the urine [113]. Recently, a d-ROM test has been developed to determine reactive oxygen metabolites (ROM) in the blood that determines mainly stable lipid hydroperoxides in the serum. Redox state of the GSH/ GSSG pool in tissue and/or plasma as an indicator of oxidative stress in vivo can also be determined spectrophotometrically [114].

NO[•] is extremely difficult to measure due to the short half-life and a very low concentration in biological fluids, and can be directly analyzed by NO analyzer. In routine practice, a simple spectrophotometric method is used to determine stable metabolites of NO[•], e.g., nitrite (NO_2^-) and nitrate (NO_3^-) as indirect measures of NO production in vivo. These metabolites can also be determined by using mass spectrometry, gas and liquid chromatography, and electrophoretic methods. Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), an endogenous NOS inhibitor, can also be determined by ELISA, HPLC, liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry (LC–MS), and GC–MS [115–117].

The antioxidants both enzymatic and nonenzymatic can easily be determined using spectrophotometric assays, commercially available enzymatic kits, and HPLC-based techniques. The total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in the plasma can also be determined by FRAP assay [118–120].

EBC is a novel noninvasive source of aerosol particles of exhaled breath which reflects consumption of airway lining fluid [121]. EBC has been used for determination of a large number of biomarkers or footprints of the presence of ROS/RNS activity in the lungs such as lipid peroxides, isoprostanes (8-iso PGF2 α), H₂O₂, NO[•] and NO[•] metabolites, nitrated proteins such as nitrotyrosine and nitrosothiols, and DNA damage biomarker, e.g., 8-OH deoxyguanosine, cytokines, peptides, and cysteinyl leukotrienes. EBC can be used for an early assessment of airway inflammation and oxidative stress in respiratory disorders, thus is useful for making differential diagnosis of the airway disease and for monitoring the course of therapy. Increased levels of these biomarkers have been observed in smokers; patients of bronchitis, asthma, COPD, cystic fibrosis, and bronchiectasis; and in the presence of alteration of bronchomotor tone and pulmonary surfactant activity [87].

Future research should be directed in identifying potential biomarkers or genetic markers to facilitate diagnosis and to initiate use of novel cell-based therapies, e.g., mesenchymal stem cells which may reduce lung injury and facilitate repair.

Acknowledgement I gratefully acknowledge the help of my students Vivek Singh Malik, Harsimran Sidhu, and Divya Kapoor for their valuable support extended in preparation of the manuscript.

Conflict of Interest Author declares no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Commoner B, Townsend J, Pake GE (1954) Free radicals in biological materials. Nature 174:689–691
- Harman D (1956) Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. J Gerontol 11:298–300
- 3. Harman D (1981) The aging process. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78:7124-7128
- 4. Dröge W (2002) Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev 82:47–95
- Halliwell B (1994) Free radicals, antioxidants, and human disease: curiosity, cause, or consequence? Lancet 344(8924):721–724
- Dupont GP, Huecksteadt TP (1992) Regulation of xanthine dehydrogenase and xanthine oxidase activity and gene expression in cultured rat pulmonary endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 89(1):197–202
- Forman H, Fukuto JM, Miller T et al (2008) The chemistry of cell signaling by reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and 4-hydroxynonenal. Arch Biochem Biophys 477(2):183–195
- 8. Fridovich I (1987) The biology of oxygen radicals. Science 201:875-880
- Gielis JF, Lin JY, Wingler K et al (2011) Pathogenetic role of eNOS uncoupling in cardiopulmonary disorders. Free Radic Biol Med 50(7):765–776
- Crapo JD (2003) Oxidative stress as an initiator of cytokine release and cell damage. Eur Respir J 22(suppl 44):4s–6s
- Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J et al (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39(1):44–84
- 12. Jain M, Stephaine R, Elena A et al (2013) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species regulate TGF-beta signaling. J Biol Chem 288(2):770–777
- Tabima DM, Shiella F, Mark T et al (2012) Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in pulmonary hypertension. Free Radic Biol Med 52(9):1970–1986
- Miyano KS, Takeya R et al (2005) Molecular composition and regulation of the Nox family NAD(P)H oxidases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 338(1):677–686
- Boveris T (1980) Generation of superoxide anion by the NADH dehydrogenase of bovine heart mitochondria. Biochem J 191(2):421–427
- Crosswhite P, Sun Z (2010) Nitric oxide, oxidative stress and inflammation in pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Hypertens 28(2):201–212
- Nishino T, Okamoto K, Eger BT et al (2008) Mammalian xanthine oxidoreductase mechanism of transition from xanthine dehydrogenase to xanthine oxidase. FEBS J 275(13): 3278–3289
- Harrison R (2004) Physiological roles of xanthine oxidoreductase. Drug Metab Rev 36(2): 363–375
- Takano Y, Hase-Aoki K, Horiuchi H et al (2005) Selectivity of febuxostat, a novel non-purine inhibitor of xanthine oxidase/xanthine dehydrogenase. Life Sci 76(16):1835–1847
- Palmer RM, Rees DD, Ashton DS et al (1980) L-arginine is the physiological precursor for the formation of nitric oxide in endothelium-dependent relaxation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 153(3):1251–1256
- Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV (1980) The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature 288:373–376
- 22. Culotta E, Koshland DE Jr (1992) NO news is good news. Science 258(5090):1862-1864
- Furchgott RF, Jothianandan D (1991) Endothelium-dependent and -independent vasodilation involving cyclic GMP: relaxation induced by nitric oxide, carbon monoxide and light. Blood Vessels 28:52–61
- Ignarro LJ (1990) Biosynthesis and metabolism of endothelium-derived nitric oxide. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 30:535–560
- 25. Arnold WP, Mittal CK, Katsuki S, Murad F (1977) Nitric oxide activates guanylatecyclase and increases guanosine 3':5'-cyclic monophosphate levels in various tissue preparations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74:83203–83207

- White KA, Marletta MA (1992) Nitric oxide synthase is a cytochrome P-450 type hemoprotein. Biochemistry 31(29):6627–6631
- 27. McMillan K, Bredt DS, Hirsch DJ et al (1992) Cloned, expressed rat cerebellar nitric oxide synthase contains stoichiometric amounts of heme, which binds carbon monoxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89(23):11141–11145
- Bredt DS, Hwang PM, Glatt CE, Lowenstein C, Reed RR, Snyder SH (1991) Cloned and expressed nitric oxide synthase structurally resembles cytochrome P-450 reductase. Nature 351(6329):714–718
- Marsden S, Chappert KT, Chen HS et al (1992) Molecular cloning and characterization of human endothelial nitric oxide synthase. FEBS Lett 307:287–293
- Bredt DS (1990) Isolation of nitric oxide synthetase, a calmodulin-requiring enzyme. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(2):682–685
- Long CJ (1985) The release of endothelium-derived relaxant factor is calcium dependent. Blood Vessels 22:205–208
- 32. Busse R (1990) Calcium-dependent nitric oxide synthesis in endothelial cytosol is mediated by calmodulin. FEBS J 265(1–2):133–136
- Radomski MW, Palmer RM, Moncada S (1987) The anti-aggregating properties of vascular endothelium: interactions between prostacyclin and nitric oxide. Br J Pharmacol 92(3): 639–646
- Stamler JS, Singel DJ, Loscalzo J (1992) Biochemistry of nitric oxide and its redox-activated forms. Science 258:1898–1902
- 35. Ignarro LJ, Kadowitz PJ (1985) The pharmacological and physiological role of cyclic GMP in vascular smooth muscle relaxation. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 25:171–191
- Michel T, Li GK, Busconi L (1993) Phosphorylation and subcellular translocation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:6252–6256
- Brüne B, Lapetina EG (1989) Activation of a cytosolic ADP-ribosyltransferase by nitric oxide-generating agents. J Biol Chem 264:8455–8458
- Carr AC et al (2000) Oxidation of Idl by myeloperoxidase and reactive nitrogen species reaction pathways and antioxidant protection. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:1716–1723
- 39. Li JX (1999) Antioxidants and oxidative stress in exercise. Exp Biol Med 222(3):283-292
- Datta K, Sinha S, Chattopadhyay P (2000) Reactive oxygen species in health and disease. Natl Med J India 13(6):304–310
- Faraci FM, Didion SP (2004) Vascular protection superoxide dismutase isoforms in the vessel wall. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24:1367–1373
- 42. Schafer FQ, Buettner GR (2001) Redox environment of the cell as viewed through the redox state of the glutathione disulfide/glutathione couple. Free Radic Biol Med 30(11): 1191–1336
- Arrigo AP (1999) Gene expression and the thiol redox state. Free Radic Biol Med 27(9–10): 915–1134
- 44. Trachootham D, Lu W, Ogasawara MA (2008) Redox regulation of cell survival. Antioxid Redox Signal 10(8):1343–1374
- Lander HM (1997) An essential role for free radicals and derived species in signal transduction. FASEB J 11:118–124
- 46. Kabe Y et al (2005) Redox regulation of NF-κB activation: distinct redox regulation between the cytoplasm and the nucleus. Antioxid Redox Signal 7(3–4):395–403
- Pantano C, Reynaert NL, van der Vliet A et al (2006) Redox-sensitive kinases of the nuclear factor-kappa B signaling pathway. Antioxid Redox Signal 8:1791–1806
- 48. Shaulian E (2002) AP-1 as a regulator of cell life and death. Nat Cell Biol 4:E131–E136
- 49. Forman HJ, Fukuto M, Tom M et al (2008) The chemistry of cell signaling by reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and 4-hydroxynonenal. Arch Biochem Biophys 477(2):183–195
- 50. Schaur RJ (2003) Basic aspects of the biochemical reactivity of 4-hydroxynonenal. Mol Aspects Med 24(4–5):149–159
- 51. Turrens JF (2003) Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J Physiol 552: 335-344

- 52. Irrcher I, Ljubicic V, Hood DA (2009) Interactions between ROS and AMP kinase activity in the regulation of PGC-1α transcription in skeletal muscle cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 296(1):C116–C123
- Colombo SL, Moncada S (2009) AMPKalpha1 regulates the antioxidant status of vascular endothelial cells. Biochem J 421(2):163–169
- 54. Torres M (2003) Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in redox signaling. Front Biosci 8:d369–d391
- 55. Knebel A, Rahmsdorf HJ, Ullrich A et al (1996) Dephosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinases as target of regulation by radiation, oxidants or alkylating agents. EMBO J 15: 5314–5325
- 56. Yu C, Friday BB, Lai JP et al (2007) Abrogation of MAPK and Akt signaling by AEE788 synergistically potentiates histone deacetylase inhibitor-induced apoptosis through reactive oxygen species generation. Clin Cancer Res 13(4):1140–1148
- 57. Warren JR, Zee R et al (2001) Cellular thiols and reactive oxygen species in drug-induced apoptosis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 296(1):1–6
- Salmeen A, Barford D (2005) Functions and mechanisms of redox regulation of cysteinebased phosphatases. Antioxid Redox Signal 7(5–6):560–577
- Pelicano H, Xu RH, Du M, Feng L et al (2006) Mitochondrial respiration defects in cancer cells cause activation of Akt survival pathway through a redox-mediated mechanism. J Cell Biol 175(6):913–923
- Poppek D, Grune T (2006) Proteasomal defense of oxidative protein modifications. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(1–2):173–184
- 61. Toledano MB (2009) The guardian recruits cops: the p53-p21 axis delegates prosurvival duties to the Keap1-Nrf2 stress pathway. Mol Cell 34(6):637–639
- Thimmulappa R, Kim H, Srisuma S et al (2002) Identification of Nrf2-regulated genes induced by the chemopreventive agent sulforaphane by oligonucleotide microarray. Cancer Res 62(18):5196–5203
- Stępkowski TM, Kruszewski MK (2011) Molecular cross-talk between the NRF2/KEAP1 signaling pathway, autophagy, and apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 50(9):1186–1195
- 64. Szabo C (2003) Multiple pathways of peroxynitrite cytotoxicity. Toxicol Lett 140–141: 105–112
- 65. Marotta F, Naito Y, Jain S et al (2012) Is there a potential application of a fermented nutraceutical in acute respiratory illnesses? An in-vivo placebo-controlled, cross-over clinical study in different age groups of healthy subjects. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 26(2): 285–294
- 66. Fu P, Birukova AA, Xing J et al (2009) Amifostine reduces lung vascular permeability via suppression of inflammatory signaling. Eur Respir J 33:612–624
- Fu P, Murley JS, Grdina DJ et al (2011) Induction of cellular antioxidant defense by amifostine improves ventilator-induced lung injury. Crit Care Med 39(12):2711–2721
- Moretti M (2007) Pharmacology and clinical efficacy of erdosteine in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Expert Rev Respir Med 1(3):307–316
- 69. Martin GS, Robert J, Arthur P et al (2002) Albumin and furosemide therapy in hypoproteinemic patients with acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 30:2175–2182
- Biswas SK, Rahman I (2009) Environmental toxicity, redox signaling and lung inflammation: the role of glutathione. Mol Aspects Med 30(1–2):60–76
- Radomska-Leśniewska DM (2012) N-acetylcysteine as an anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory drug and its some clinical applications. Cent Eur J Immunol 37(1):57–66
- 72. Korkmaz A, Reiter RJ, Topal T et al (2009) Melatonin: an established antioxidant worthy of use in clinical trials. Mol Med 15(1–2):43–50
- 73. Xie XH, Zang N, Li SM et al (2012) Resveratrol Inhibits respiratory syncytial virus-induced IL-6 production, decreases viral replication, and downregulates TRIF expression in airway epithelial cells. Inflammation 35(4):1392–1401
- Lyzogub VH, Altunina NV, Bondarchuk OM (2011) Application of alpha-lipoic acid in clinical practice. Lik Sprava 7–8:20–28

- 75. Hoffer LJ, Tamayo C, Richardson MA (2000) Vitamin C as cancer therapy: an overview. J Orthomol Med 15(4)
- 76. Tao L, Jiao X, Gao E et al (2006) Nitrative inactivation of thioredoxin-1 and its role in postischemic myocardial apoptosis. Circulation 114(13):1395–1402
- 77. Edes K, Cassidy P, Shami PJ et al (2010) JS-K, a nitric oxide prodrug, has enhanced cytotoxicity in colon cancer cells with knockdown of Thioredoxin Reductase 1. PLoS One 5(1):e8786
- Vasu VT, de Cruz SJ, Houghton JS et al (2011) Evaluation of thiol-based antioxidant therapeutics in cystic fibrosis sputum: focus on myeloperoxidase. Free Radic Res 45(2):165–176
- Schünemann HJ, Freudenheim JL, Grant BJ (2001) Epidemiologic evidence linking antioxidant vitamins to pulmonary function and airway obstruction. Epidemiol Rev 23(2):248–267
- Smit HA (2001) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma and protective effects of food intake: from hypothesis to evidence? Respir Res 2:261–264
- Sun B (2012) Inhaled nitric oxide and neonatal brain damage: experimental and clinical evidences. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 25(suppl 1):51–54
- Fan E, VillarJ SJS (2013) Novel approaches to minimize ventilator-induced lung injury. BMC Med 11:85
- Day BJ (2005) Glutathione: a radical treatment for cystic fibrosis lung disease? Chest 127(1): 12–14
- Hudson VM (2004) New insights into the pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis: pivotal role of glutathione system dysfunction and implications for therapy. Treat Respir Med 3(6):353–363
- 85. Afshari A, Brok J, Moller AM et al (2011) Inhaled nitric oxide for acute respiratory distress syndrome and acute lung injury in adults and children: a systematic review with metaanalysis and trial sequential analysis. Anesth Analg 112(6):1411–1421
- Cortes GA, Marini JJ (2012) Update: adjuncts to mechanical ventilation. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 25(2):156–163
- Bushianthan A (2011) Acute respiratory distress syndrome and acute lung injury. Postgrad Med J 87(1031):612–622
- Donohue PK, Maureen M, Wilson RF et al (2011) Inhaled nitric oxide in preterm infants: a systematic review. Pediatrics 127(2):e414–e422
- Al Hajeri A, Serjeant GR, Fedorowicz Z (2008) Inhaled nitric oxide for acute chest syndrome in people with sickle cell disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1, CD006957
- Mahmmoud YA (2007) Modulation of protein kinase C by curcumin; inhibition and activation switched by calcium ions. Br J Pharmacol 150(2):200–208
- Pekoe G, Van Dyke K, Mengoli H et al (1982) Comparison of the effects of antioxidant nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs against myeloperoxidase and hypochlorous acid luminolenhanced chemiluminescence. Agents Actions 12(1–2):232–238
- 92. Zrelli H, Matsuoka M, Kitazaki S et al (2011) Hydroxytyrosol reduces intracellular reactive oxygen species levels in vascular endothelial cells by upregulating catalase expression through the AMPK-FOXO3 a pathway. Eur J Pharmacol 660(2–3):275–282
- Kinnula VL (2005) Focus on antioxidant enzymes and antioxidant strategies in smoking related airway diseases. Thorax 60:693–700
- 94. Shinde A, Ganu J, Naik P (2012) Effect of free radicals & antioxidants on oxidative stress: a review. J Dent Allied Sci 1(2):63–66
- Leo MA, Heunks PN, Dekhuijzen R (2000) Respiratory muscle function and free radicals: from cell to COPD. Thorax 55:704–716
- 96. Meydani SN, Han SN, Hamer DH (2004) Vitamin E and respiratory infection in the elderly. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1031:214–222
- 97. DeMichele SJ et al (2006) A nutritional strategy to improve oxygenation and decrease morbidity in patients who have acute respiratory distress syndrome. Respir Care Clin N Am 12(4):547–566
- DeMichele SJ, Wood SM, Wennberg AK (2012) Manipulating antioxidant intake in asthma: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 96(3):534–543
- 99. Stephent T (2008) Pathogenesis of Asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 38(6):872-897

- 100. Tonelli AR, Haserodt S, Aytekin M (2013) Nitric oxide deficiency in pulmonary hypertension: Pathobiology and implications for therapy. Pulm Circ 3(1):20–30
- 101. Gitto E, Pellegrino S, Gitto P et al (2009) Oxidative stress of the newborn in the pre- and postnatal period and the clinical utility of melatonin. J Pineal Res 46(2):128–139
- 102. Duijvestijn YC, Mourdi N, Smucny J et al (2009) Acetylcysteine and carbocysteine for acute upper and lower respiratory tract infections in paediatric patients without chronic bronchopulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1, CD003124
- 103. Nash EF, Stephenson A, Ratjen F et al (2009) Nebulized and oral thiol derivatives for pulmonary disease in cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1, CD007168
- 104. Singer P, Shapiro H (2009) Enteral omega-3 in acute respiratory distress syndrome. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 12(2):123–128
- 105. Bosma KJ, Taneja R, Lewis JF (2010) Pharmacotherapy for prevention and treatment of acute respiratory distress syndrome: current and experimental approaches. Drugs 70(10): 1255–1282
- 106. Mitev D, Gradeva H, Stoyanova Z et al (2010) Evaluation of thiol compounds and lipid peroxidative products in plasma of patients with COPD. Trakia J Sci 8(suppl 2):306–314
- 107. Smit HA (2001) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma and protective effects of food intake: from hypothesis to evidence? Respir Res 2:261–264
- 108. Tarpey MM, Wink DA, Grisham MB (2004) Methods for detection of reactive metabolites of oxygen and nitrogen: in vitro and in vivo considerations. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 286(3):R431–R444
- 109. Dambrova M, Baumane L, Kalvinsh I et al (2000) Improved method for EPR detection of DEPMPO-superoxide radicals by liquid nitrogen freezing. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 275:895–898
- Esterbauer H, Cheeseman KH (1990) Determination of aldehydic lipid peroxidation products: malonaldehyde and 4-hydroxynoneal. Methods Enzymol 186:407–421
- 111. Roberts LJ, Morrow JD (2000) Measurement of F(2)-isoprostanes as an index of oxidative stress *in vivo*. Free Radic Biol Med 28:505–513
- 112. Aberti A, Bolognini L, Carratelli M et al (1997) Assessing oxidative stress with the D-Romstest. Some mechanistic consideration. Proceedings of the SFRR summer meeting, Padua, pp 82–83
- 113. Camera E, Picardo M (2002) Analytical methods to investigate glutathione and related compounds in biological and pathological processes. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 781(1–2):181–206
- 114. Tsikas D (2005) Methods of quantitative analysis of the nitric oxide metabolites nitrite and nitrate in human biological fluids. Free Radic Res 39(8):797–815
- 115. Everett SA, Dennis MF, Tozer GM et al (1995) Nitric oxide in biological fluids: analysis of nitrite and nitrate by high-performance ion chromatography. J Chromatogr A 706(1–2): 437–442
- 116. Schwedhelm E (2005) Quantification of ADMA: analytical approaches. Vasc Med 10 (suppl 1):S89–S95
- 117. Siroka R, Trefil L, Rajdl D et al (2007) Asymmetric dimethylarginine—comparison of HPLC and ELISA methods. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 850(1–2):586–587
- 118. Benzie IFF, Strain JJ (1996) The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. Anal Biochem 239:70–76
- 119. Said TM, Kattal N, Sharma RK et al (2003) Enhanced chemiluminescence assay vs. colorimetric assay for measurement of the total antioxidant capacity of human seminal plasma. J Androl 24(5):676–680
- 120. Skiepko R, Zietkowski Z, Tomasiak MM et al (2006) Exhaled breath condensate in the assessment of airway inflammation. Przegl Lek 63(12):1321–1325
- 121. Gokhan M, Kevin W, Robbins R et al (2001) Collection and analysis of exhaled breath condensate in humans. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:731–737

Chapter 3 Role of Exhaled Biomarkers, Volatiles, and Breath Condensate

Yan Liang and Lou Ann S. Brown

Abbreviations

AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ALF	Airway lining fluid
CO	Carbon monoxide
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COX	Cyclooxygenases
Cys	Cysteine
eNose	Electronic nose
ELISA	Enzyme immunoassay
EBC	Exhaled breath condensate
FeNO	Fractional exhaled nitric oxide
GC/MS	Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry
GSH	Glutathione
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
5-LO	5-Lipoxygenases
LC/MS	Liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry
NO	Nitric oxide
PLA2	Phospholipase A2
ONOO-	Peroxynitrite
RIA	Radioimmunoassay
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
VOCs	Volatile organic compounds

Y. Liang • L.A.S. Brown, Ph.D. (🖂)

Division of Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Emory University, Emory and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta Center for Developmental Lung Biology, 2015 Uppergate Drive, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA e-mail: lbrow03@emory.edu

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_3, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

3.1 Introduction

Since the 1960s, a simple breath test has been used as a tool to estimate ethanol concentrations in blood and the capacity to drive safely. Over the past 20 years, the further developments and miniaturization of gas chromatography with mass spectrometry analytical technologies have expanded breath analysis towards the development of fingerprints for specific diseases or respiratory pathogens. During exhalation, a chemically complex mixture is released that comprises volatile organic compounds (VOCs), condensed water vapor, and micro-droplets aerosolized from the fluid that covers the alveoli, bronchi, and mouth (Fig. 3.1a). In the VOCs, there are over 3,000 compounds inhaled or absorbed from the environment or produced during cellular metabolic processes [1]. When the exhaled breath is chilled, the exhaled breath condensate (EBC) can be collected, comprising variable-sized particles or droplets that are aerosolized from the airway lining fluid (ALF), distilled water that condenses from gas phase, and water-soluble volatiles that are exhaled and absorbed into the condensing breath (Fig. 3.1b) [2–5]. Since both the VOCs



Fig. 3.1 Nonvolatile and volatile components in exhaled breath. In the exhaled breath, the gases nitric oxide (NO) and carbon monoxide (CO) as well as volatile organic compounds (VOCs) which are related to various metabolic processes within the body are readily detectable (**a**). When the stream of exhaled breath is chilled, the exhaled breath condensate (EBC) contains nonvolatile components mainly from the airway lining fluid. Water vapor is rapidly diffused from the lining fluid on the surface of the airway (bronchi) and airspace (alveolar) into the expiratory flow. The turbulence at the surface of the lining fluids generated during exhalation coupled with the raining out of the water vapor results in variable-sized droplets that are aerosolized from the lining fluid (**b**). These droplets reflect the alveolar and airway lining fluids which can be sampled in the condensate when the exhaled breath is chilled (**b**)

and EBC can be safely and easily collected from spontaneously breathing subjects or mechanically ventilated patients, it provides an opportunity for noninvasive assessment of different biomarkers. Once the signature profiles are identified and their predictive values validated, the profiles can be easily and noninvasively used to characterize phenotypes and improve accurate diagnoses and management decisions, monitor disease states, and determine therapeutic effectiveness.

3.2 Exhaled Volatile Biomarkers

Although the composition of the rich mixture depends on the health status of the individual, breath contains numerous gases and VOCs in trace amounts in the parts per billion to trillion range. The gases of current interest include nitric oxide (NO) and carbon monoxide (CO). The VOCs include hydrocarbons, alcohols, ketones, aldehydes, esters, and or heterocycles. Although relevant volatile biomarkers need to be identified before their possible clinical application can be determined, it is important to determine if the source of the compound of interest is endogenous and from metabolic processes. Alternatively, the potential biomarker may be due to an exogenous source such as the ambient air, a chemical modification of the immediate environment, or in response to a prior exposure. Exogenous VOCs penetrating the body as a result of environmental exposure can also be used to quantify the body burden. Although the lung constitutes its own microenvironment, the comparisons of blood, room air, and breath levels in parallel will help determine if the source of the volatile compound of interest is endogenous or exogenous. For collecting the breath, the Tedlar bags have been suggested to be superior over bags made with other polymers in terms of background emission, species stability, and reusability [6]. The important factors affecting sample integrity appear to be the degree to which the bag was filled and the molecular weight of the volatile where molecular masses greater than 90 exhibited losses of 20-40 %.

3.2.1 Exhaled Nitric Oxide

Nitric oxide (NO) is produced in our body from L-arginine by nitric oxide synthase to form L-citrulline. NO is an important cellular signalling molecule, which functions in modulating vascular tone, insulin secretion, airway tone, angiogenesis, and peristalsis [7–10]. Fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FeNO) is easily detectable by a chemiluminescence-based analysis in which the NO in a single breath exhalation reacts with ozone to form nitrogen dioxide in an excited state. When this excited state of nitric dioxide returns to its ground state, it emits light in quantities that are proportional to the amount of exhaled NO. There are three known isoforms of nitric oxide synthase, but the inducible isoform is the major contributor of increased FeNO in the exhaled breath because expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase,

upregulated by a wide range of inflammatory cytokines, is thought to be a surrogate marker of ongoing eosinophilic airway inflammation. However, factors such as age, atopy, medication use, therapy adherence, and airway infections also contribute to FeNO generation.

Elevation of FeNO has been used in the diagnosis of asthma in both adults and children. Despite initial enthusiasm, FeNO as a noninvasive marker of airway inflammation and the clinical usefulness of FeNO as a measure of asthma control are still debated. Tailoring asthma treatment based on FeNO measurements did not decrease asthma exacerbations or lead to better asthma control [11]. However, the heterogeneity of poorly controlled asthma between individuals limits the utility of FeNO alone as a biomarker of inflammation, but it may still be a valuable marker in asthma management when paired with multiple biomarkers for diagnosis and management. When asthma management was also guided by FeNO measurement, there was no improvement in the symptom-free days, but there were fewer asthma exacerbations associated with an increased leukotriene receptor antagonist use and an augmentation of the inhaled corticosteroid doses [12].

3.2.2 Exhaled Carbon Monoxide

Carbon monoxide (CO) is a low molecular weight gas that is a ubiquitous environmental product of organic combustion but is also produced endogenously during heme degradation catalyzed by heme oxygenase. Under stressful conditions, the intracellular CO levels increase in response to upregulation of heme oxygenase and have been proposed to be a key mediator of oxidative damage resulting from peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) production [13]. CO also has a very important biological activity as a signalling molecule with marked protective actions namely against apoptosis and endothelial oxidative damage [14]. In the absence of high background exposure, elevated CO levels in the breath can be detected with an electrochemical gas sensor. Similar to exhaled NO, exhaled CO has been evaluated as a candidate breath biomarker of pathophysiological states, including smoking status, and inflammatory diseases of the lung and other organs. Exhaled CO values have been evaluated as potential indicators of inflammation in asthma, stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and exacerbations, cystic fibrosis, lung cancer, or during surgery or critical care. However, the utility of exhaled CO as a marker of inflammation and its potential value for diagnostic assessment remain unclear [15].

3.2.3 Exhaled Volatile Organic Compounds

Various metabolic processes within the body produce VOCs, which are released into the blood and will be passed on to the airway once the blood reaches the lungs. VOCs can also be taken up as pollutants from the environment by inhalation or ingestion. VOCs include hydrocarbons, alcohols, ketones, aldehydes, and esters. The occurrence of inflammation and/or oxidative stress can result in unique VOC patterns, which are different from the healthy state. In a systematic literature search, patterns of exhaled VOCs have been applied to a broad range of patients, including subjects with severe disease and children [16]. This analysis concluded that profiles of VOCs are potentially able to accurately diagnose various pulmonary diseases but further standardization and validation of the diverse techniques need to be mastered before VOCs can be applied into clinical practice. Another potential use is based on the ingestion of isotopically labeled precursors and following exhalation of isotopically labeled metabolites.

In metabolomic analysis of breath of asthmatic and healthy children, a panel of eight candidate markers (1-(methylsulfanyl)propane, ethylbenzene, 1,4-dichlorobenzene, 4-isopropenyl-1-methylcyclohexene, 2-octenal, octadecyne, 1-isopropyl-3-methylbenzene, and 1,7-dimethylnaphthalene) were found to differentiate [17]. In other studies, asthma patients were differentiated from healthy controls based on their "breath-prints" but these studies were less successful in distinguishing mild asthmatics from severe asthmatics [18]. A set of 15 VOCs were also used to discriminate asthmatic patients from controls, classify patients according to inflammatory sputum phenotype, and asthma control [19]. Although FeNO and lung function were not predictive of asthma exacerbations, a panel of seven VOCs provided correct classification, sensitivity, and specificity [20]. In a study of recurrent wheezing in preschool children, analysis of VOCs by gas chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry detected 913 different VOCs [21]. Using a panel of 28 VOCs, 73 % of the preschool children with recurrent wheezing were correctly classified. For COPD patients, their profile of exhaled VOCs as detected by an "electronic nose" (eNose; polymer-based gas sensor arrays) could be distinguished from that of asthmatic patients and correlated with the presence of eosinophils and neutrophils as well as myeloperoxidase in induced sputum [22].

More recently, VOC biomarkers and biomarker profiles associated with infections have evolved [23]. For *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, four VOCs have been used to detect infection: methyl phenyl-acetate, methyl nicotinate, methyl p-anisate, and o-phenylanisole [24]. In other studies, a field-deployable, pulsed discharge helium ionization detector was used to detect VOCs due to mycobacterial volatiles in breath samples from tuberculosis patients [25]. In studies with infected mice, secondary electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry was used to characterize the breath profile of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* lung infections [26]. In patients with prolonged chemotherapy-induced neutropenia, eNose technology was used to detect a VOC profile characteristic of pulmonary invasive aspergillosis [27].

However, tongue biofilms also contain anaerobic bacteria that can contribute to the VOC profile breath requiring further research to identify the major source of different VOCs associated with systemic disease or metabolic disorders in the body [28].

For lung cancer, analysis of VOCs by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) identified some alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, and hydrocarbons as potential biomarkers that differentiate between normal subjects and cancer patients [29–31].

Using solid-phase microextraction and GC/MS analysis of breath, 42 VOCs were recognized as potential lung cancer biomarkers to be used in the development of a diagnostic panel, particular when incorporated with patient data and smoking histories [32, 33]. When exhaled breath was collected over packed polymer Tenax tubes and analyzed by GC/MS, 18 VOCs were significantly altered in the breath profile of lung cancer subjects when compared to controls [34]. For patients with cystic fibrosis and primary ciliary dyskinesia, VOC analysis by eNose showed that there were significantly different breath profiles when compared to healthy controls or each other [35]. The VOC profiles were also different when patients with and without exacerbations were compared. Metabolomic analysis of VOCs in exhaled breath also discriminated between cystic fibrosis patients and controls but also between those patients with or without *Pseudomonas* colonization [36]. Patients living with transplanted lungs can also be discriminated from healthy subjects by exhaled VOC profile using the eNose [37]. However, plasma level of tacrolimus showed significant relationship with the VOC profile of lung-transplanted patients further highlighting that medications may have profound influence on the VOC profile.

Analysis of breath VOC profiles not associated with pulmonary manifestations has also been pursued. In addition to alcohol use, correlations between analyses of urine, serum, and breath profiles demonstrated that breath VOCs were also useful for identification of the use of other substances of abuse including methadone, amphetamine, methamphetamine, 6-acetylmorphine, morphine, benzoylecgonine, cocaine, diazepam, oxazepam, alprazolam, buprenorphine, and tetrahydrocannabinol [38]. Breath VOCs were evaluated in patients with end-stage renal disease for monitoring and therapy initiation under hemodialysis and increases were observed in exhaled concentrations of isoprene similar to that observed in serum at the end of hemodialysis [39]. In contrast, exhaled pentane increased at the onset of hemodialysis but returned to baseline levels afterwards. Exhaled acetone concentrations were significantly lower in diabetic patients when compared to non-diabetics. In patients after kidney transplantation, proton-transfer-reaction triple-quadrupole tandem mass spectrometry suggested that a C7-ketone and a branched C7-aldehyde were good biomarkers to monitor these patients [40]. Breath VOC analysis by protontransfer-reaction time-of-flight mass spectrometry was also able to distinguish cirrhotic patients from healthy subjects and to discriminate those with well-compensated liver disease from those at more advanced severity stage [41].

3.3 Exhaled Breath Condensate

The EBC is collected from exhaled breath, usually through a cooling or freezing process [2, 4, 5, 42] and has been increasingly studied as a noninvasive research method for sampling the alveolar and airway space and recognized as another promising source of biomarkers [43, 44]. In order to generate a reproducible volume of EBC and sampling of the ALF, the recommended method is tidal breathing where the volume of air that is inhaled or exhaled is included in a single breath [45]. In EBC sample collection, pre-condensation conditions, such as ambient air and

environment temperature, should be recorded; the condenser's design, material, surface area, and cooling temperature should be well adjusted; and the subject's conditions, such as medications, tobacco smoking, food and drinks, and exercise, can have significant effects on EBC collection, and should be recorded and adjusted.

One principal contributor to EBC is the variable-sized particles or droplets that are aerosolized from the ALF which presumably reflect the ALF itself [5, 44, 46]. Droplet formation within the lungs during exhalation is largely in the airways where turbulence is encountered. The second principal contributor to EBC is distilled water that condenses from the gas phase but substantially dilutes the aerosolized ALF. The third component comprises water-soluble volatiles that are exhaled and absorbed into the condensing breath. These water-soluble volatile constituents are found in substantially higher concentrations and are therefore more readily assayed than the nonvolatile compounds. In the EBC, the condensing vapor phase water dilutes the components of the ALF by 20-fold to 30,000-fold. It needs to be pointed out that the dilution of these nonvolatile biomarkers by water vapor can vary dramatically and, to date, there is no gold standard for assessing the dilution of ALF biomarkers in the EBC [2, 44, 47, 48]. However, dilution factors that have been used include urea, cations, total protein concentration, or the conductivity of lyophilized EBC [42, 44, 49]. In addition to dilution, the ALF profile can be further altered by gross or microscopic salivary contamination. However, the ratios between various nonvolatile compounds in EBC are substantially different than the ratios in saliva suggesting that the ALF is a dominant source of EBC constituents. EBC can also be collected during mechanical ventilation but the condensate volumes are dependent on the ventilation volumes and the humidification of the inspiratory gas [50-52]. Although the concentrations of the different analytes will improve by decreasing the humidity of the ventilator gases, this may not be well tolerated by the patient. Substances measured in EBC include mediators of oxidative stress and inflammation such as arachidonic acid derivatives, reactive oxygen/nitrogen species, reduced and oxidized glutathione (GSH), adenosine, ammonia, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), isoprostanes, leukotrienes, prostanoids, peptides, and inflammatory cytokines. Although the EBC has great potential as a source of biomarkers in many lung diseases, the low concentrations of compounds within the EBC present challenges in the standardization of sample collection and analysis. Validation is needed to confirm that the EBC analyte truly represents that present in the ALF, is reproducible, has normal values, and provides information for the underlying inflammatory process and the response to treatment.

3.3.1 EBC pH

EBC pH was considered as a promising biomarker of EBC because it is held in a narrow range, is controlled by lower airway source fluid [53], and its acidification has been reported in asthma, COPD, and cystic fibrosis [54–60]. The airway acidification may be an adjunct marker of airway inflammation and can result from gastro-esophageal reflux, inhaling acidic aerosols or acidifying gases, and

from direct acid formation due to disorders at the airway epithelial surface [61, 62]. In cystic fibrosis, the lack of functional cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) causes airway epithelial Toll-like receptor 5 and subsequent NF-KB signalling which leads to decreased transport of the antioxidant GSH and HCO₃⁻ which increases the oxidation and acidity of the airway surface liquid [60]. Since many enzymes are pH sensitive, altered airway pH can cause a broad range of effects such as increasing the activity of inducible nitric synthase enzyme which induces the production of NO from L-arginine [62].

The measurement of EBC pH or airway acidification is very challenging and complicated by poor reproducibility [57, 63]. The pH of raw EBC samples is unstable and is profoundly affected by carbon dioxide, the major volatile component of EBC. One strategy is to deaerate and remove carbon dioxide from the EBC with an inert (carbon dioxide-free) gas such as argon or nitrogen. However, even after 20 min of deaeration, EBC samples may still contain an unpredictable and unstable amount of carbon dioxide, which may bias pH readings. To improve the reproducibility of pH readings and standardize the carbon dioxide effect on EBC pH, a carbon dioxide gas standardization method was developed [64, 65]. In this method, carbon dioxide is bubbled into an EBC sample in short intervals of 1 s each which causes a rapid but stepwise increase of the carbon dioxide partial pressure in the EBC sample. After each bubbling period, EBC pH and carbon dioxide partial pressure are measured simultaneously using a blood gas analyzer and a correlation plot between the EBC pH and carbon dioxide partial pressure generated. This correlation allows the calculation of pH at a carbon dioxide partial pressure of 5.33 kPa, the physiological partial pressure of carbon dioxide in the alveoli. Although more reliable and convenient methods need to be developed for EBC pH measurement, this method currently provides the most reproducible EBC pH values.

3.3.2 Arachidonic Acid Derivatives in the EBC

Arachidonic acid is a polyunsaturated omega-6 fatty acid present in the phospholipids of cell membranes that is metabolized through multiple pathways by multiple cell types. In addition to their sensitivity to arachidonic acid metabolites, airway epithelial cells have abundant arachidonic acid and novel cyclooxygenases (COX) and lipoxygenases [66]. Arachidonate metabolites can also be generated and have potent biologic effects on other airway cells including leukocytes, smooth muscle, nerves, mucus glands, and platelets. Because of the transcellular feature of arachidonic acid metabolism and function, ALF is the critical medium for these actions because it contains significant amounts of arachidonic acid and its derivatives. Methods used to detect arachidonic acid derivatives in the EBC include GC/MS, liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (LC/MS), radioimmunoassay (RIA), and enzyme immunoassay (ELISA).

Arachidonic acid can be released by the activation of enzyme phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and further metabolized by COX, 5-lipoxygenases (5-LO), and cytochrome

P450 to form other biologically active compounds prostaglandins, thromboxanes, and leukotrienes [67-70]. Although leukotrienes are mainly synthesized in leukocytes, non-leukocytes can take up leukocyte-derived leukotrienes through transcellular biosynthesis [71]. As immune modulating lipid mediators, leukotrienes can promote constriction of airway smooth muscle, increase microvascular permeability, stimulate mucus secretion, decrease mucociliary clearance, and increase recruitment of T cells, eosinophils, and mast cells in the airway [72, 73]. 8-Isoprostane, a prostaglandin-F2-like compound, belongs to the F2 isoprostane class and is produced in vivo by the free radical-catalyzed peroxidation of arachidonic acid [74]. Elevated EBC concentrations of arachidonate metabolites such as 8-isoprostane, leukotrienes, and prostanoids have been correlated with parameters of oxidative stress, respiratory infections, and inflammation [75-77]. Increased concentrations of 8-isoprostane in the EBC have been demonstrated in multiple lung diseases such as asthma [78, 79], COPD [80, 81], interstitial lung disease [82], and cystic fibrosis [83, 84]. In children with recurrent wheezing episodes, LTB4, LTE4, and nitrites were higher in the EBC when compared to healthy controls [85]. Elevated leukotrienes and prostanoids in the EBC have also been correlated with parameters of inflammation in the lungs [75–77]. Changes in the EBC may reflect sustained changes or acute changes. In response to a pollen nasal allergen challenge with allergic rhinitis, the concentrations of 8-isoprostane and cysteinyl-leukotrienes increased within 2 h of the challenge and remained elevated at 24 h [86].

3.3.3 Oxygen and Nitrogen Reactive Species and Redox-Relevant Molecules in EBC

Investigations of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are among the many interests of EBC biomarkers for several lung diseases. Formation of multiple RNS starts with NO and NO metabolites have been measured extensively in the EBC from subjects with a variety of pulmonary diseases including asthma, COPD, and cystic fibrosis [4, 87-89]. NO can also rapidly react with superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) to form highly reactive ONOO⁻ which can cause the nitrosation of either tyrosine or tyrosine residues in proteins to form 3-nitrotyrosine. Nitrotyrosine can then be measured in the EBC by enzyme immune assays or HPLC and mass spectrometry [90-92]. NO can also react with thiols, such as cysteine (Cys), GSH, or protein thiol residues, to produce S-nitrosothiols which can be measured by a colorimetric assay [93]. The end-products of NO metabolism are nitrite (NO_2^{-}) and nitrate (NO_3^{-}) which can be reliably measured in the EBC by colorimetric, fluorometric, and chemiluminescent assays as well as ion, gas, or liquid chromatography [94, 95]. Although the measurement of NO-related redox products is relatively straightforward, the regulation of NO metabolites in different airway diseases is not yet fully understood and is not always consistent. For example, elevated nitrate/nitrite contents are found in asthmatic patients, which is postulated to be associated with increased NO metabolism due to increased expression of inducible

NO synthase [96]. In contrast, nitrate/nitrite levels are not elevated in the EBC from COPD patients despite inflammation [97, 98]. However, increased 3-nitrotyrosine levels were observed in the EBC of both asthmatic and COPD patients. Since 3-nitrotyrosine is produced from ONOO⁻, this suggests increased RNS stress in both of these airway inflammation diseases. When compared to controls, the EBC from patients with idiopathic diffuse parenchymal lung disease had increased 3-nitrotyrosine as well as 8-isoprostane [99].

The ROS H_2O_2 can be released from both inflammatory and structural cells including neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages, and epithelial cells and is measurable in the EBC [4, 88]. However, H_2O_2 is unstable in the EBC and samples should be freshly collected or rapidly frozen after collection. Common methods used to measure H_2O_2 include spectrophotometric, fluorometric, or chemiluminescent assays and a concentration of ~200 nM is associated with different pulmonary pathologies [100, 101]. H_2O_2 and other ROS can result in the metabolism of polyunsaturated lipids to form the stable by-product malondialdehyde [102, 103] which has been measured by HPLC methods to be in a 10 nM concentration range in the EBC [104, 105]. Increasing reactive oxygen and nitrogen species or their derivatives in the EBC have all been used as indicators of oxidative stress or inflammation in the respiratory tract.

In addition to ROS/RNS, the ALF also contains significant antioxidant compounds such as Cys and GSH. Although the GSH concentration in the bronchoalveolar lining fluid is in the micromolar range, the GSH concentration in the EBC is in the nanomolar range suggesting an \sim 1,000 dilution of GSH in the EBC pool when compared to the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid [106-108]. GSH is unique among thiol-based antioxidants in that it is only a tripeptide composed of glutamate, Cys, and glycine. Furthermore, GSH has the ability to scavenge both reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. Upon oxidation of two GSH moieties, two hydrogens are donated to form the GSH disulfide (GSSG). GSH reductase then reduces the GSSG back to GSH using NADPH as the electron donor. When compared to healthy children, GSH was decreased while the lipid peroxidation product malondialdehyde level was higher in the EBC of children with asthma, indicating a pulmonary imbalance in the level of oxidants and antioxidants in children with asthma [109]. When subjects with or without an alcohol use disorder were compared, both the lavage fluid and the EBC demonstrated an ~80 % decrease in GSH, increased GSSG, and oxidation of the thiol/disulfide redox potential by ~40 mV [106, 107]. This suggests that changes in the EBC can be representative of physiological changes in the ALF.

3.3.4 Other EBC Analytes

EBC proteins are another group of biomarkers monitored in airway diseases and systematic cytokine profiling may be useful in diagnosis and the decision tree for determination of therapeutic treatments. In the EBC, the cytokines IL-1 β , IL-2,

IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-17, IFN- γ , TGF- β , and TNF- α have been reported to be in the ~50 pg/mL range [110–112]. Assuming an estimated ALF cytokine level in the order of 50 ng/mL, the dilution of different cytokines in the EBC 10⁻³ is generally accepted [47, 113]. However, cytokine detection in EBC is often at the lower limits of detection for ELISAs and these values are further complicated by the absence of a gold standard for dilution of the EBC to the bronchoalveolar lavage.

Cytokines can also be grouped based on the type of T-lymphocytes with which they are associated. For cytokine analysis, a shift in the ratio of Th1/Th2 T-lymphocytes and cytokines is usually accompanied by varied immune response in pathological pulmonary conditions. Examples of such approach have been reported in determining IFN-y(Th1)/IL-4(Th2) ratio [111, 114]. Systematic approaches, such as proteomic analysis of EBC, have been previously used and may provide a more detailed overall view about cytokine profile in the EBC. However, EBC is challenging for proteomic studies because of low protein concentrations. Proteome analysis of low-abundance proteins depends on the complexity of the protein mixture, the power of the resolution, and the sensitivity of the separation and identification methods. Although proteomic analysis has been used with EBC, the majority of the proteins detected were keratins, a family of fibrous structural proteins present in the outer layer of human skin [115-118]. To detect lowabundance EBC cytokines present in the pg/mL range, advanced techniques such as immunoaffinity depletion and selective target enrichment may be required for proteomic analysis [119, 120]. In proteomic analysis of EBC from non-smokers plus healthy smokers, COPD without emphysema, and subjects with pulmonary emphysema associated with $\alpha(1)$ -antitrypsin deficiency, profile analysis by LC-MS/MS identified several potential biomarkers that distinguished those with lung disease [121]. In this analysis, distinguishing features included several inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-12, IL-15, IFN- α and - γ , and TNF- α); Type I and II cytokeratins; two isoforms of surfactant protein A; Calgranulin A and B, and α 1-antitrypsin.

Another common biomarker monitored in the EBC by mass spectrometry is adenosine and adenosine monophosphate (AMP). In a study of cystic fibrosis and children with asthma compared to controls, the EBC AMP-to-urea ratio was elevated in cystic fibrosis patients and the adenosine-to-urea ratio was elevated in asthma [122]. Furthermore, changes in the EBC purine-to-urea ratios correlated with changes in percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 s after cystic fibrosis, the ratio of adenosine to urea in the EBC correlated with sputum neutrophil elastase and correlated with the percentage predicted of forced expiratory volume in 1 s in longitudinal, multivariate models [123]. In COPD patients, a similar increase in the EBC adenosine-to-urea ratio was observed with the highest ratios in the most severely affected cohort [124]. In a cross-sectional study of asthmatic children with non-severe asthma and severe asthma, metabolomic profiling of the EBC revealed that the compounds that discriminated between group included adenosine as well as retinoic acid and vitamin D [125].

3.4 Conclusion

Because it contains many potential biomarkers and the collection technique is noninvasive and well accepted by subjects, analyses of exhaled breath or its condensate represent exciting new approaches for investigating lung diseases as well as other pathologies. The potential to collect the sample remotely also provides new opportunities to monitor exposure, the development of pathologies, or therapeutic strategies. However, the key limitation for both the breath and its corresponding condensate as important diagnostic tools is the low concentration range. The measurement of multiple substances concurrently and determination of their ratios would avoid potential artifacts due to correction for dilution. Contamination from the ambient air at the site of collection or that previously inhaled from the surrounding microenvironment is also an ongoing confounding influence that must be taken into account. In addition, the kinetics of uptake and elimination of environmental factors may be different for each compound and further complicate data interpretation [126]. Thus, the steps of identifying the biomarker and validating its application, choosing the appropriate sensor technology, and determining the appropriate normalization factor must be established for each potential biomarker. Since analytes in the breath and condensate may change quickly, developing the most appropriate techniques for collecting the breath or condensate sample is essential. Ideally, the analytical methods should be robust enough to detect small concentration changes in a specific breath or condensate analyte and provide consistent results over time. In addition to the methodological issues, the establishment of different biomarkers as the gold standard for the different pathologies is also made difficult by the significant overlap between the classifications of different lung pathologies and the inability to distinguish between them.

Currently, efforts to address methodological issues include standardization of sample collection and validation of analytical techniques. To establish the reproducibility of analyte measurements in the breath or condensate, more sensitive assays and new molecular detection techniques are necessary. The eNose is gaining in popularity for the analysis of VOCs because it provides a rapid response and is relatively inexpensive. However, additional studies are needed to validate clinical-relevant VOC patterns and profiles, longitudinally assess changes in these profiles, and assess the corresponding influence of different treatment strategies on the profile. The role of technologies such as selected metabolomics and proteomics is emerging and the development of breath or condensate profiles for a particular pathology may prove to be useful in screening and diagnosing lung diseases. The most useful breath and condensate profiles will evolve into robust predictors when system biology approaches are used and analyzed in light of the patient data. Systematic analysis of breath and condensate profiles should provide multicomponent markers with high discriminatory power and the concurrent measure of multiple analytes should limit detection bias and provide patterns of biomarkers that allow investigators to discriminate between different phenotypes within a particular pathology [125]. The development of discriminatory metabolomic and proteomic profiles should also enhance our mechanistic understanding of the disease mechanisms.
References

- Phillips M, Herrera J, Krishnan S, Zain M, Greenberg J, Cataneo RN (1999) Variation in volatile organic compounds in the breath of normal humans. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 729:75–88
- Horvath I, Hunt J, Barnes PJ, Alving K, Antczak A, Baraldi E et al (2005) Exhaled breath condensate: methodological recommendations and unresolved questions. Eur Respir J 26: 523–548
- 3. Hunt J (2007) Exhaled breath condensate: an overview. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 27:587–596
- Montuschi P (2007) Analysis of exhaled breath condensate in respiratory medicine: methodological aspects and potential clinical applications. Ther Adv Respir Dis 1:5–23
- Davis MD, Montpetit A, Hunt J (2012) Exhaled breath condensate: an overview. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 32:363–375
- 6. Mochalski P, King J, Unterkofler K, Amann A (2013) Stability of selected volatile breath constituents in Tedlar, Kynar and Flexfilm sampling bags. Analyst 138:1405–1418
- Nakamura T, Tu S, Akhtar MW, Sunico CR, Okamoto S, Lipton SA (2013) Aberrant protein s-nitrosylation in neurodegenerative diseases. Neuron 78:596–614
- 8. Mangiapane H (2012) Cardiovascular disease and diabetes. Adv Exp Med Biol 771:219-228
- Toda N, Nakanishi S, Tanabe S (2013) Aldosterone affects blood flow and vascular tone regulated by endothelium-derived NO: therapeutic implications. Br J Pharmacol 168:519–533
- Grasemann H, Ratjen F (2012) Nitric oxide and L-arginine deficiency in cystic fibrosis. Curr Pharm Des 18:726–736
- Petsky HL, Cates CJ, Li A, Kynaston JA, Turner C, Chang AB (2009) Tailored interventions based on exhaled nitric oxide versus clinical symptoms for asthma in children and adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev: CD006340
- Peirsman EJ, Carvelli TJ, Hage PY, Hanssens LS, Pattyn L, Raes MM et al (2013) Exhaled nitric oxide in childhood allergic asthma management a randomized controlled trial. Pediatr Pulmonol. doi: 10.1002/ppul.22873. [Epub ahead of print]
- 13. Girvan HM, Munro AW (2013) Heme sensor proteins. J Biol Chem 288:13194-13203
- Rochette L, Cottin Y, Zeller M, Vergely C (2013) Carbon monoxide: mechanisms of action and potential clinical implications. Pharmacol Ther 137:133–152
- 15. Ryter SW, Choi AM (2013) Carbon monoxide in exhaled breath testing and therapeutics. J Breath Res 7:017111
- 16. van de Kant KD, van der Sande LJ, Jobsis Q, van Schayck OC, Dompeling E (2012) Clinical use of exhaled volatile organic compounds in pulmonary diseases: a systematic review. Respir Res 13:117
- Gahleitner F, Guallar-Hoyas C, Beardsmore CS, Pandya HC, Thomas CP (2013) Metabolomics pilot study to identify volatile organic compound markers of childhood asthma in exhaled breath. Bioanalysis 5:2239–2247
- Dragonieri S, Schot R, Mertens BJ, Le Cessie S, Gauw SA, Spanevello A et al (2007) An electronic nose in the discrimination of patients with asthma and controls. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120:856–862
- 19. Ibrahim B, Basanta M, Cadden P, Singh D, Douce D, Woodcock A et al (2011) Non-invasive phenotyping using exhaled volatile organic compounds in asthma. Thorax 66:804–809
- Robroeks CM, van Berkel JJ, Jobsis Q, van Schooten FJ, Dallinga JW, Wouters EF et al (2013) Exhaled volatile organic compounds predict exacerbations of childhood asthma in a 1-year prospective study. Eur Respir J 42:98–106
- van de Kant KD, van Berkel JJ, Jobsis Q, Lima Passos V, Klaassen EM, van der Sande L et al (2013) Exhaled breath profiling in diagnosing wheezy preschool children. Eur Respir J 41: 183–188
- 22. Fens N, Zwinderman AH, van der Schee MP, de Nijs SB, Dijkers E, Roldaan AC et al (2009) Exhaled breath profiling enables discrimination of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180:1076–1082

- Sethi S, Nanda R, Chakraborty T (2013) Clinical application of volatile organic compound analysis for detecting infectious diseases. Clin Microbiol Rev 26:462–475
- Scott-Thomas A, Epton M, Chambers S (2013) Validating a breath collection and analysis system for the new tuberculosis breath test. J Breath Res 7:037108
- 25. Manginell RP, Pimentel AS, Mowry CD, Mangan MA, Moorman MW, Allen A et al (2013) Diagnostic potential of the pulsed discharged helium ionization detector (PDHID) for pathogenic Mycobacterial volatile biomarkers. J Breath Res 7:037107
- 26. Zhu J, Jimenez-Diaz J, Bean HD, Daphtary NA, Aliyeva MI, Lundblad LK et al (2013) Robust detection of P. aeruginosa and S. aureus acute lung infections by secondary electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry (SESI-MS) breathprinting: from initial infection to clearance. J Breath Res 7:037106
- 27. de Heer K, van der Schee MP, Zwinderman K, van den Berk IA, Visser CE, van Oers R et al (2013) Electronic nose technology for detection of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis in prolonged chemotherapy-induced neutropenia: a proof-of-principle study. J Clin Microbiol 51: 1490–1495
- Khalid TY, Saad S, Greenman J, de Lacy Costello B, Probert CS, Ratcliffe NM (2013) Volatiles from oral anaerobes confounding breath biomarker discovery. J Breath Res 7:017114
- 29. Bajtarevic A, Ager C, Pienz M, Klieber M, Schwarz K, Ligor M et al (2009) Noninvasive detection of lung cancer by analysis of exhaled breath. BMC Cancer 9:348
- 30. Ligor M, Ligor T, Bajtarevic A, Ager C, Pienz M, Klieber M et al (2009) Determination of volatile organic compounds in exhaled breath of patients with lung cancer using solid phase microextraction and gas chromatography mass spectrometry. Clin Chem Lab Med 47: 550–560
- 31. Phillips M, Altorki N, Austin JH, Cameron RB, Cataneo RN, Greenberg J et al (2007) Prediction of lung cancer using volatile biomarkers in breath. Cancer Biomark 3:95–109
- 32. Ulanowska A, Kowalkowski T, Trawinska E, Buszewski B (2011) The application of statistical methods using VOCs to identify patients with lung cancer. J Breath Res 5:046008
- Buszewski B, Ulanowska A, Kowalkowski T, Cieslinski K (2012) Investigation of lung cancer biomarkers by hyphenated separation techniques and chemometrics. Clin Chem Lab Med 50:573–581
- 34. Subramaniam S, Thakur RK, Yadav VK, Nanda R, Chowdhury S, Agrawal A (2013) Lung cancer biomarkers: state of the art. J Carcinog 12:3
- 35. Paff T, van der Schee MP, Daniels JM, Pals G, Postmus PE, Sterk PJ et al (2013) Exhaled molecular profiles in the assessment of cystic fibrosis and primary ciliary dyskinesia. J Cyst Fibros 12:454–460
- 36. Robroeks CM, van Berkel JJ, Dallinga JW, Jobsis Q, Zimmermann LJ, Hendriks HJ et al (2010) Metabolomics of volatile organic compounds in cystic fibrosis patients and controls. Pediatr Res 68:75–80
- 37. Kovacs D, Bikov A, Losonczy G, Murakozy G, Horvath I (2013) Follow up of lung transplant recipients using an electronic nose. J Breath Res 7:017117
- Beck O, Stephanson N, Sandqvist S, Franck J (2013) Detection of drugs of abuse in exhaled breath using a device for rapid collection: comparison with plasma, urine and self-reporting in 47 drug users. J Breath Res 7:026006
- Goerl T, Kischkel S, Sawacki A, Fuchs P, Miekisch W, Schubert JK (2013) Volatile breath biomarkers for patient monitoring during haemodialysis. J Breath Res 7:017116
- 40. Kohl I, Beauchamp J, Cakar-Beck F, Herbig J, Dunkl J, Tietje O et al (2013) First observation of a potential non-invasive breath gas biomarker for kidney function. J Breath Res 7:017110
- 41. Morisco F, Aprea E, Lembo V, Fogliano V, Vitaglione P, Mazzone G et al (2013) Rapid "breath-print" of liver cirrhosis by proton transfer reaction time-of-flight mass spectrometry. A pilot study. PLoS One 8:e59658
- 42. Hunt J (2007) Exhaled breath condensate—an overview. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 27:587 (9 pp)

3 Role of Exhaled Biomarkers, Volatiles, and Breath Condensate

- 43. Effros RM, Casaburi R, Porszasz J, Morales EM, Rehan V (2012) Exhaled breath condensates: analyzing the expiratory plume. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 185:803–804
- 44. Effros RM, Biller J, Foss B, Hoagland K, Dunning MB, Castillo D et al (2003) A simple method for estimating respiratory solute dilution in exhaled breath condensates. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 168:1500–1505
- 45. Hüttmann E-M, Greulich T, Hattesohl A, Schmid S, Noeske S, Herr C et al (2011) Comparison of two devices and two breathing patterns for exhaled breath condensate sampling. PLoS One 6:e27467
- 46. Effros RM, Bosbous M, Foss B, Shaker R, Biller J (2003) Exhaled breath condensates: a potential novel technique for detecting aspiration. Am J Med 115(Suppl 3A):137S–143S
- 47. Effros RM, Hoagland KW, Bosbous M, Castillo D, Foss B, Dunning M et al (2002) Dilution of respiratory solutes in exhaled condensates. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165:663–669
- Zacharasiewicz A, Wilson N, Bush A (2003) Dilution of respiratory solutes in exhaled condensates. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:802
- 49. Effros RM, Peterson B, Casaburi R, Su J, Dunning M, Torday J et al (2005) Epithelial lining fluid solute concentrations in chronic obstructive lung disease patients and normal subjects. J Appl Physiol 99:1286–1292
- Carter SR, Davis CS, Kovacs EJ (2012) Exhaled breath condensate collection in the mechanically ventilated patient. Respir Med 106:601–613
- Roca O, Gomez-Olles S, Cruz MJ, Munoz X, Griffiths MJ, Masclans JR (2010) Mechanical ventilation induces changes in exhaled breath condensate of patients without lung injury. Respir Med 104:822–828
- Roca O, Gomez-Olles S, Cruz MJ, Munoz X, Griffiths MJ, Masclans JR (2008) Effects of salbutamol on exhaled breath condensate biomarkers in acute lung injury: prospective analysis. Crit Care 12:R72
- 53. Vaughan J, Ngamtrakulpanit L, Pajewski TN, Turner R, Nguyen TA, Smith A et al (2003) Exhaled breath condensate pH is a robust and reproducible assay of airway acidity. Eur Respir J 22:889–894
- 54. Harding SM (2004) Gastroesophageal reflux as an asthma trigger: acid stress. Chest 126: 1398–1399
- 55. Ricciardolo FL, Rado V, Fabbri LM, Sterk PJ, Maria GUD, Geppetti P (1999) Bronchoconstriction induced by citric acid inhalation in guinea pigs: role of tachykinins, bradykinin, and nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159:557–562
- 56. Zhao J, Shimizu Y, Dobashi K, Kawata T, Ono A, Yanagitani N et al (2008) The relationship between oxidative stress and acid stress in adult patients with mild asthma. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 18:41–45
- Hunt JF, Fang K, Malik R, Snyder A, Malhotra N, Platts-Mills TAE et al (2000) Endogenous airway acidification implications for asthma pathophysiology. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:694–699
- Antus B, Barta I, Csiszer E, Kelemen K (2012) Exhaled breath condensate pH in patients with cystic fibrosis. Inflamm Res 61:1141–1147
- 59. MacNee W, Rennard SI, Hunt JF, Edwards LD, Miller BE, Locantore NW et al (2011) Evaluation of exhaled breath condensate pH as a biomarker for COPD. Respir Med 105:1037–1045
- Machen TE (2006) Innate immune response in CF airway epithelia: hyperinflammatory. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 291:C218–C230
- 61. Hunt JF, Gaston B (2008) Airway acidification and gastroesophageal reflux. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 8:79–84
- Hunt J (2006) Airway acidification: interactions with nitrogen oxides and airway inflammation. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 6:47–52
- Effros RM (2001) Endogenous airway acidification: implications for asthma pathology. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163:293–294

- 64. Lin J-L, Bonnichsen MH, Thomas PS (2011) Standardization of exhaled breath condensate: effects of different de-aeration protocols on pH and H2O2 concentrations. J Breath Res 5:011001 (5 pp)
- 65. Antus B, Barta I, Kullmann T, Lazar Z, Valyon M, Horvath I et al (2010) Assessment of exhaled breath condensate pH in exacerbations of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182:1492–1497
- 66. Holtzman MJ (1992) Arachidonic acid metabolism in airway epithelial cells. Annu Rev Physiol 54:303–329
- 67. Tesfaigzi Y, Kluger M, Kozak W (2001) Clinical and cellular effects of cytochrome P-450 modulators. Respir Physiol 128:79–87
- Farooque SP, Lee TH (2009) Aspirin-sensitive respiratory disease. Annu Rev Physiol 71: 465–487
- Spector AA (2009) Arachidonic acid cytochrome P450 epoxygenase pathway. J Lipid Res 50:S52–S56
- Zordoky BNM, El-Kadi AOS (2010) Effect of cytochrome P450 polymorphism on arachidonic acid metabolism and their impact on cardiovascular diseases. Pharmacol Ther 125: 446–463
- Folco G, Murphy RC (2006) Eicosanoid transcellular biosynthesis: from cell-cell interactions to in vivo tissue responses. Pharmacol Rev 58:375–388
- 72. Peters-Golden M, Henderson WR (2007) Leukotrienes. N Engl J Med 357:1841-1854
- Busse WW (1998) Leukotrienes and inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:S210–S213
- 74. Morrow JD, Hill KE, Burk RF, Nammour TM, Badr KF, Roberts LJ II (1990) A series of prostaglandin F2-like compounds are produced in vivo in humans by a non-cyclooxygenase, free radical-catalyzed mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:9383–9387
- 75. Tsuburai T, Mita H, Tsurikisawa N, Oshikata C, Ono E, Fukutomi Y et al (2008) Relationship between cysteinyl leukotriene in exhaled breath condensate and the severity of asthma in adult asthmatics in Japan. Jpn J Allergol 57:121–129
- Montuschi P, Kharitonov SA, Ciabattoni G, Barnes PJ (2003) Exhaled leukotrienes and prostaglandins in COPD. Thorax 58:585–588
- Malerba M, Montuschi P (2012) Non-invasive biomarkers of lung inflammation in smoking subjects. Curr Med Chem 19:187–196
- Baraldi E, Ghiro L, Piovan V, Carraro S, Ciabattoni G, Barnes PJ et al (2003) Increased exhaled 8-isoprostane in childhood asthma. Chest 124:25–31
- Antczak A, Montuschi P, Kharitonov S, Gorski P, Barnes PJ (2002) Increased exhaled cysteinyl-leukotrienes and 8-isoprostane in aspirin-induced asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:301–306
- Makrisa D, Paraskakisa E, Korakasd P, Karagiannakisd E, Sourvinosc G, Siafakasa NM et al (2008) Exhaled breath condensate 8-isoprostane, clinical parameters, radiological indices and airway inflammation in COPD. Respiration 75:138–144
- Kinnula VL, Ilumets H, Myllärniemi M, Sovijärvi A, Rytilä P (2007) 8-Isoprostane as a marker of oxidative stress in nonsymptomatic cigarette smokers and COPD. Eur Respir J 29: 51–55
- Montuschi P, Ciabattoni G, Paredi P, Pantelidis P, du Bois RM, Kharitonov SA et al (1998) 8-Isoprostane as a biomarker of oxidative stress in interstitial lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158:1524–1527
- Latzin P, Beck-Ripp J, Hartl D, Bartenstein A, Noss J, Griese M (2007) 8-Isoprostane in nasally exhaled breath condensate in different pediatric lung diseases. Eur J Med Res 12: 21–25
- 84. Montuschi P, Kharitonov SA, Ciabattoni G, Corradi M, van Rensen L, Geddes DM et al (2000) Exhaled 8-isoprostane as a new non-invasive biomarker of oxidative stress in cystic fibrosis. Thorax 55:205–209
- Caballero S, Martorell A, Escribano A, Belda J (2013) Markers of airway inflammation in the exhaled breath condensate of preschool wheezers. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 23:7–13

- Serrano CD, Valero A, Bartra J, Roca-Ferrer J, Munoz-Cano R, Sanchez-Lopez J et al (2012) Nasal and bronchial inflammation after nasal allergen challenge: assessment using noninvasive methods. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 22:351–356
- Ojoo JC, Mulrennan SA, Kastelik JA, Morice AH, Redington AE (2005) Exhaled breath condensate pH and exhaled nitric oxide in allergic asthma and in cystic fibrosis. Thorax 60:22–26
- Montuschi P, Barnes PJ (2002) Analysis of exhaled breath condensate for monitoring airway inflammation. Trends Pharmacol Sci 23:232–237
- Donnelly LE (2010) Exhaled breath condensate: nitric oxide-related compounds. Eur Respir Soc Monogr 49:207–216
- 90. Balint B, Kharitonov SA, Hanazawa T, Donnelly LE, Shah PL, Hodson ME et al (2001) Increased nitrotyrosine in exhaled breath condensate in cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J 17: 1201–1207
- Lärstad M, Söderling A-S, Caidahl K, Olin A-C (2005) Selective quantification of free 3-nitrotyrosine in exhaled breath condensate in asthma using gas chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. Nitric Oxide 13:134–144
- 92. Conventz A, Musiol A, Brodowsky C, Müller-Lux A, Dewes P, Kraus T et al (2007) Simultaneous determination of 3-nitrotyrosine, tyrosine, hydroxyproline and proline in exhaled breath condensate by hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B 860:78–85
- Corradi M, Montuschi P, Connelly LE, Pesci A, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2001) Increased nitrosothiols in exhaled breath condensate in inflammatory airway diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163:854–858
- 94. Chladkova J, Kremova I, Chladek J, Cap P, Micuda S, Hanzalkova Y (2006) Validation of nitrite and nitrate measurements in exhaled breath condensate. Respiration 73:173–179
- 95. Marteus H, Törnberg DC, Weitzberg E, Schedin U, Alving K (2004) Origin of nitrite and nitrate in nasal and exhaled breath condensate and relation to nitric oxide formation. Thorax 60:219–225
- 96. Ganas K, Loukides S, Papatheodorou G, Panagou P, Kalogeropoulos N (2001) Total nitrite/ nitrate in expired breath condensate of patients with asthma. Respir Med 95:649–654
- Corradi M, Pesci A, Casana R, Alinovi R, Goldoni M, Vettori MV et al (2003) Nitrate in exhaled breath condensate of patients with different airway diseases. Nitric Oxide 8:26–30
- Liu J, Sandrini A, Thurston MC, Yates DH, Thomas PS (2007) Nitric oxide and exhaled breath nitrite/nitrates in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. Respiration 74: 617–623
- 99. Chow S, Thomas PS, Malouf M, Yates DH (2012) Exhaled breath condensate (EBC) biomarkers in pulmonary fibrosis. J Breath Res 6:016004
- Brooks W, Lash H, Kettle A, Epton M (2005) Optimising hydrogen peroxide measurement in exhaled breath condensate. Redox Rep 11:78–84
- 101. Loukides S, Bakakos P, Kostikas K (2010) Exhaled breath condensate: hydrogen peroxide. Eur Respir Soc Monogr 49:162–172
- 102. Bartoli ML, Novelli F, Costa F, Malagrinò L, Melosini L, Bacci E et al (2011) Malondialdehyde in exhaled breath condensate as a marker of oxidative stress in different pulmonary diseases. Mediators Inflamm 2011:891752 (7 pp)
- 103. Romieu I, Barraza-Villarreal A, Escamilla-Nuñez C, Almstrand A-C, Diaz-Sanchez D, Sly PD et al (2008) Exhaled breath malondialdehyde as a marker of effect of exposure to air pollution in children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 121:903–909
- Celik M, Tuncer A, Soyer OU, Sackesen C, Besler HT, Kalayci O (2012) Oxidative stress in the airways of children with asthma and allergic rhinitis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 23:556–561
- 105. Lärstad M, Ljungkvist G, Olin AC, Torén K (2002) Determination of malondialdehyde in breath condensate by high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 766:107–114
- 106. Yeh MY, Burnham EL, Moss M, Brown LA (2007) Chronic alcoholism alters systemic and pulmonary glutathione redox status. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176:270–276

- 107. Yeh MY, Burnham EL, Moss M, Brown LAS (2008) Non-invasive evaluation of pulmonary glutathione in the exhaled breath condensate of otherwise healthy alcoholics. Respir Med 102:248–255
- 108. Moss M, Guidot DM, Wong-Lambertina M, Ten Hoor T, Perez RL, Brown LAS (2000) The effects of chronic alcohol abuse on pulmonary glutathione homeostasis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:414–419
- 109. Corradi M, Folesani G, Andreoli R, Manini P, Bodini A, Piacentini G et al (2003) Aldehydes and glutathione in exhaled breath condensate of children with asthma exacerbation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:395–399
- 110. Matsunaga K, Yanagisawa S, Ichikawa T, Ueshima K, Akamatsu K, Hirano T et al (2006) Airway cytokine expression measured by means of protein array in exhaled breath condensate: correlation with physiologic properties in asthmatic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 18:84–90
- 111. Robroeks CM, Jöbsis Q, Damoiseaux JG, Heijmans PH, Rosias PP, Hendriks HJ et al (2006) Cytokines in exhaled breath condensate of children with asthma and cystic fibrosis. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 96:349–355
- 112. Sack U, Scheibe R, Wötzel M, Hammerschmidt S, Kuhn H, Emmrich F et al (2006) Multiplex analysis of cytokines in exhaled breath condensate. Cytometry A 69A:169–172
- 113. Gessner C, Scheibe R, Wötzel M, Hammerschmidt S, Kuhn H, Engelmann L et al (2005) Exhaled breath condensate cytokine patterns in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Med 99:1229–1240
- 114. Shahid SK, Kharitonov SA, Wilson NM, Bush A, Barnes PJ (2002) Increased interleukin-4 and decreased interferon-γ in exhaled breath condensate of children with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165:1290–1293
- 115. Conrad DH, Goyette J, Thomas PS (2008) Proteomics as a method for early detection of cancer: a review of proteomics, exhaled breath condensate, and lung cancer screening. J Gen Intern Med 23:78–84
- 116. Cheng Z, Lewis CR, Thomas PS, Raftery MJ (2011) Comparative proteomics analysis of exhaled breath condensate in lung cancer patients. J Canc Ther 2:1–8
- 117. Bloemen K, Hooyberghs J, Desager K, Witters E, Schoeters G (2009) Non-invasive biomarker sampling and analysis of the exhaled breath proteome. Proteomics Clin Appl 3:498–504
- 118. Dompeling E, Jöbsis Q (2011) Proteomics of exhaled breath condensate: a realistic approach in children with asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 41:299–301
- 119. Shi T, Su D, Liu T, Tang K, Camp DG II, Qian W-J et al (2012) Advancing the sensitivity of selected reaction monitoring-based targeted quantitative proteomics. Proteomics 12:1074–1092
- 120. Brand J, Haslberger T, Zolg W, Pestlin G, Palme S (2006) Depletion efficiency and recovery of trace markers from a multiparameter immunodepletion column. Proteomics 6:3236–3242
- 121. Fumagalli M, Ferrari F, Luisetti M, Stolk J, Hiemstra PS, Capuano D et al (2012) Profiling the proteome of exhaled breath condensate in healthy smokers and COPD patients by LC-MS/ MS. Int J Mol Sci 13:13894–13910
- 122. Esther CR Jr, Boysen G, Olsen BM, Collins LB, Ghio AJ, Swenberg JW et al (2009) Mass spectrometric analysis of biomarkers and dilution markers in exhaled breath condensate reveals elevated purines in asthma and cystic fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 296:L987–L993
- 123. Esther CR Jr, Olsen BM, Lin FC, Fine J, Boucher RC (2013) Exhaled breath condensate adenosine tracks lung function changes in cystic fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 304:L504–L509
- 124. Esther CR Jr, Lazaar AL, Bordonali E, Qaqish B, Boucher RC (2011) Elevated airway purines in COPD. Chest 140:954–960
- 125. Carraro S, Giordano G, Reniero F, Carpi D, Stocchero M, Sterk PJ et al (2013) Asthma severity in childhood and metabolomic profiling of breath condensate. Allergy 68:110–117
- 126. Pleil JD, Stiegel MA, Risby TH (2013) Clinical breath analysis: discriminating between human endogenous compounds and exogenous (environmental) chemical confounders. J Breath Res 7:017107

Chapter 4 Volatile Organic Compounds as Exhaled Biomarkers of Inflammation and Oxidative Stress in Respiratory Diseases

F.J. van Schooten, A.W. Boots, A. Smolinska, and J.W. Dallinga

4.1 Introduction

Since ancient times, it is known that the odor of a subject's breath provides important information regarding health status as it reflects the (patho) physiological processes occurring in the body [1]. Every health care taker recognizes the sweet acetone smell of the breath of an uncontrolled diabetes patient or the fishy odor present in the breath of people suffering from a liver disease [2]. These smells are produced by excreted volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and these are a promising potential in facilitating noninvasive clinical diagnostics. It is therefore not surprising that the field of VOCs analysis in exhaled air analysis has developed rapidly over the last few decades and great advances have been made with respect to the technical and statistical analytical aspects. All together, these developments have led to the discovery of new biomarkers in exhaled air that may identify diseases and characterize their underlying biochemical processes.

4.1.1 The Usefulness of VOCs as Biomarker

In order to apply exhaled VOCs as a potential and valid biomarker of disease, certain characteristics should be met including (1) high sensitivity and specificity, (2) fastness and accuracy, (3) methodological simplicity, (4) interpretive simplicity, (5) thorough validation, and (6) pathophysiological link to disease [3].

F.J. van Schooten, Ph.D. (\boxtimes) • A.W. Boots, Ph.D. • A. Smolinska, Ph.D. • J.W. Dallinga, Ph.D. Department of Toxicology, Nutrition and Toxicology Research Institute Maastricht (NUTRIM), Maastricht University Medical Centre, P.O. Box 616, 6200 MD Maastricht,

The Netherlands

e-mail: f.vanschooten@maastrichtuniversity.nl; a.boots@maastrichtuniversity.nl; a.smolinska@maastrichtuniversity.nl; j.dallinga@maastrichtuniversity.nl

An ideal biomarker of disease should recognize an illness already at an early stage and distinguish it from any other illness within a short processing time. Although current advances in sampling and analyzing techniques have already enabled fast breath sampling, their translation into ready-to-use clinical devices has not yet taken place [3]. However, unique VOC profiles have already been shown to discriminate healthy persons from patients suffering from a variety of pulmonary diseases with high sensitivity and specificity (see also Sect. 4.1.2) [4–10].

Characteristics 3 and 4 imply that ideal biomarkers should excel in simplicity in a methodological and interpretive way. Methodological simplicity of breathomics is guaranteed by the combination of its noninvasive character with a low degree of discomfort for the patient and a high clinical accessibility [11, 12]. However, the generated volatile biomarkers do not yet yield easy-to-interpret results as their validation and clinical usefulness are still hampered by the multiplicity of approaches regarding breath sampling, analysis, and normalization [3, 12].

Characteristic 5 implies validation of biomarkers outside the study population they were initially selected in [18]. The usefulness of unique VOC profiles as a biomarker for a variety of diseases including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) has already been shown using such validation [4, 6].

Finally (characteristic 6), a good biomarker should display a clear mechanistic relationship with the disease it was designed for. Unfortunately, this is a difficult requirement to meet within breathomics as compounds originating in breath may become biochemically altered before excretion. In other words, their volatile characteristics do not necessarily reflect the primary processes underlying the disease. Nevertheless, already more than half of the VOCs included in the discriminating profiles designed for asthma, cystic fibrosis (CF) were identified as products formed during oxidative stress, a process discussed in Sect. 4.1.3.1.

4.1.2 VOC Profiling with Relation to Pulmonary Disorders

Applying a single VOC as biomarker is a priori hampered in its use since it is not expected that one compound has enough information to describe the complex and heterogeneous processes including chronic diseases. Consequently, it is anticipated that the pathological processes are the best grasped by studying not individual compounds but by exploring the total amount of exhaled VOCs called the volatome [3]. Certain profiles of VOCs within the volatome give a more sensitive and specific discrimination between various conditions due to its reflection of changing environmental exposures and the formation of compounds during biochemical processes. Recent studies applying volatome analysis have revealed that distinct VOC profiles are capable of discriminating healthy controls from pulmonary patients with a high sensitivity and specificity [4, 7, 8, 10]. Our group has shown that correct classification of asthmatic children and CF patients was possible with high sensitivity and specificity using a VOC profile of only eight and ten VOCs, respectively [4, 5]. For the smoking-related disease COPD, six VOCs were needed to discriminate patients

from healthy controls with 100 % sensitivity and 81 % specificity [6]. Various independent research groups have shown that a combination of VOCs can correctly classify patients with lung cancer with a sensitivity and specificity ranging from, respectively, 71 % to 100 % and 80 % to 100 % [9, 13–15]. Finally, patients suffering from pulmonary tuberculosis can be distinguished from healthy controls with 96 % sensitivity and 79 % specificity using a unique exhaled VOC profile [10].

4.1.3 Oxidative Stress and Inflammation

VOCs represent important endogenous processes including oxidative stress and inflammation. Until now, breathomics is hardly used to study damaging endogenous processes that underlie a variety of (chronic) diseases. However, a few studies have already demonstrated that breathomics can be used to identify the presence of oxidative stress and inflammation.

4.1.3.1 VOCs and Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress is defined as an imbalance between the formation of highly reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the protection against these species by antioxidants [16]. Oxidative stress may result in increased oxidative damage and has been associated with the pathophysiology of various chronic diseases including sarcoidosis [17], idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [18], and COPD [19]. A key process resulting from oxidative stress is lipid peroxidation, i.e., the oxidation of fatty acids present in, for example, cell membranes [20]. Volatile products formed during lipid peroxidation include ethane, pentane, hexanal, octanal, nonanal, propanol, and butanol [21, 22]. Some of these VOCs are reported to be elevated in the breath of COPD compared to controls [23, 24]. However, the analysis of single compounds derived from lipid peroxidation in exhaled air is hampered by a relatively low sensitivity and specificity [3]. Our group currently attempts to investigate the availability and significance of these compounds as markers of oxidative stress in the headspace of in vitro systems mimicking this process (Boots et al. unpublished results).

4.1.3.2 VOCs and Inflammation

Most chronic diseases are characterized by inflammation, a process designed to protect the host against damage inflicted by exogenous sources [25]. Since inflammation and ROS are tightly intertwined and capable of inducing one another, VOCs representative for inflammatory processes are often compounds generated during oxidative processes [20, 25]. Additionally, inflammation is associated with typical inflammatory volatiles including nitric oxide (NO), nitrate, and sulphur-containing compounds [26].

Since all organisms generate VOCs as part of their normal metabolism, it implicates that breathomics can also be applied to examine the production of volatile compounds by specific bacteria. Indeed, certain infections are for a long time known to be accompanied by a distinct smell in vivo as well as in vitro [26, 27] and recent studies have shown the usefulness of VOC analysis in evaluating bacterial growth in both in vitro cultures and human samples [28, 29]. This application of VOC profiling encloses the potential of developing a marker of the presence or absence of specific microbes in both environmental and clinical settings [27].

4.2 Breath Sampling

Exhaled air comprises a mixture of dead space air and alveolar air. The dead space air consists of roughly 150 mL air from the upper airway where no gaseous exchange between blood and breath air is facilitated [8, 30]. Its composition strongly resembles the inhaled air. Alveolar air originates from the lower airways where gaseous exchange between blood and breath takes place, resulting in a mixture of inhaled breath and endogenous compounds. Therefore, the concentration of the endogenous compounds is relatively high in alveolar air compared to dead space air.

In principle, there are three ways to sample exhaled air: (a) upper airway collection by sampling dead space air only, (b) lower airway collection by sampling alveolar air only, and (c) mixed air collection by sampling whole breath (mixture of dead space air and alveolar air) [31]. Some breath tests, including nitric oxide (NO) measurements, mainly use the dead space air since their compounds of interest (e.g., NO) are directly released into both the dead space and the alveolar air. Endogenous produced VOCs are ideally measured in alveolar air or in mixed air, its concentration being slightly higher in alveolar than in mixed air, depending on the fraction of dead space air present in mixed air. Whether this dilution may constitute a problem mainly depends on the sensitivity of the analytical instruments used. Whereas for electronic noses the concentration of VOCs may be an issue, in GC-MS a dilution of 10-20 % is no issue at all. An advantage of sampling whole air is that it is technically the easiest and therefore less sensitive for mistakes. It increases the ease of use for the physician and decreases the degree of discomfort for the patient. The most reliable way to separate alveolar from dead space air is to apply a CO₂-controlled valve that uses the end-tidal CO₂ concentration as a marker for the transition of dead space into alveolar air [32].

Sampling may be performed online as well as offline. Online sampling requires that the analytical instrument is brought to the patient (or other way around), which is not to be a problem when handheld devices are used, but may become a burden when larger instruments are applied. Offline sampling, as required for instance for GC–MS analyses, gives delayed results. On the other hand offline sampling, for example collecting exhaled breath in polycarbonate bags followed by transfer of the samples to carbon sorption tubes is an established way to concentrate the samples and it allows the analysis of the sample to be executed under well-defined laboratory conditions. When measuring a high number of samples collected during a prolonged

period of time, it is possible to perform the measurements in a short period of time, thus diminishing the instrumental variation. Moreover, results of a GC–MS analysis may be available after 60 min, when required.

4.2.1 Technologies to Analyze Breath for VOCs

4.2.1.1 Electronic Nose

Recent advances in the field of chemical sensors have facilitated the development of these nonselective sensors, better known as electronic noses or E-noses. E-noses contain a series of nonspecific sensors capable of binding or reacting with VOCs present in complex gas mixtures. Various sensor principles can be applied including polymer-based sensors and metal-oxide-semiconductor (MOSFET) devices. Polymer-based sensors demonstrate volume changes upon contact with exhaled VOCs, thereby changing the conductance of the polymer [32]. MOSFET devices are transistors used for amplifying or switching electronic signals, based on the principle that VOCs upon entering the device will be charged either positively or negatively, affecting the electric field of the sensor [33]. Ultimately, both sensor principles rely on internal changes due to their interaction with molecules from gaseous mixtures, thereby generating a specific profile called a breath-print. These breath-prints represent the total mixture of exhaled VOCs present in breath and can be used to develop pattern-recognition algorithms for various exposures or chronic diseases [34-38]. The main drawback of the E-nose is that the sensors implemented are not selective for single VOCs and are not capable of analyzing (identifying) individual components. Furthermore, a large number of VOCs can act on a single sensor, resulting in low sensitivity and specificity with regard to classification or prediction of the analyzed gas mixtures.

4.2.1.2 Proton Transfer Reaction Mass Spectrometry

Determining the content of complex gas mixtures such as breath with proton transfer-reaction mass spectrometry (PTR-MS) is based on chemical ionization of the target molecules by a proton-transfer reaction with H_3O^+ [39, 40]. The thus generated protonated molecular ions of the components are mass-detected [41]. An advantage of this technique is that samples can be easily analyzed as no preconcentration or separation processes are necessary, as is often the case for other analysis techniques [31]. It is suitable for real-time measurements, which is of special importance in situations where rapid and sudden changes of VOC concentrations are expected [42]. Unfortunately, PTR-MS is also a limited technique that is restricted to detect compounds with a proton affinity higher than that of water [41, 43]. Moreover, PTR-MS cannot differentiate isomeric and isobaric ions since they are all detected at the same nominal mass.

4.2.1.3 Selected Ion Flow Tube Mass Spectrometry

Selected ion flow tube mass spectrometry (SIFT-MS) is an analytical technique for the simultaneous real-time quantification of several gases. This method is based on the formation of reactant ions (precursors) by electron impact or microwave discharge in a carrier gas in a separate ionization region. In short, the exhaled gases are led through a flow tube where they react with a precursor ion, usually H_3O^+ , NO^+ , or O_2^+ [31]. The ions produced during this reaction can be mass-dependently detected [44]. Main advantage of this technology is the very short response time of 20 ms, which enables real-time measurements and a high sensitivity [44]. However, in analogy with PTR-MS, SIFT-MS does also not allow identification of the whole breath-print as it can only detect gases for which positive precursor ions are selected [45]. Moreover, using only mass-to-charge ratios of chemically ionized molecular ions to identify specific VOCs present in breath remains very difficult. Therefore, this method is not suitable for pinpointing specific VOCs and/or underlying metabolic processes to exposure or disease status.

4.2.1.4 Ion Mobility Spectrometry

The ion mobility spectrometry (IMS) technique separates (molecular) ions according to their mobility as they move through the so-called drift tube filled with a purified gas such as air or nitrogen [46, 47]. As the different ions present in the sample are forced through the tube by means of an applied electric field, they will display different velocities based on their characteristics. Separating the ions can further be optimized by changing the drift length, drift gas, electric field strength, temperature, and pressure [46, 47]. Combining this technique with gas chromatography improves its applicability.

4.2.2 Gas Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry

The most commonly applied methodology to date to accurately measure trace gases in complex mixtures such as exhaled air is based on gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS) [6, 48]. This method comprises a gas chromatograph (GC) that separates the different compounds in the mixture and a mass spectrometer (MS) that not only detects the separated volatile compounds but also identifies them based on their total mass spectrum. Various detectors are used of which the time-of-flight (TOF) spectrometer is the most widely applied [31, 46, 49]. GC–MS is proven to be highly sensitive and robust, two characteristics known to add to a high degree of reproducibility [31, 46]. Figure 4.1 displays a classic example of a chromatogram (here called breathogram) obtained via GC–MS analysis of exhaled air.

GC-TOF-MS is at present the only technique that can not only detect specific VOCs linked to exposure or disease status but is also able to identify these VOCs.



Fig. 4.1 An example of a breathogram recorded via GC–MS with some names of VOCs. The area-under-peak is related to the concentration of the compound presented by this peak

Consequently, the GC-TOF-MS method is currently state-of-the-art, capable of pinpointing specific volatile biomarkers to underlying metabolic processes that might contribute to damage related to exposure or disease. Therefore, it has been suggested that only the GC-TOF-MS method will be able to assist in the diagnosis of exposures and diseases in the near future as it is shown to be an excellent screening tool for new biomarkers [4–6, 31, 50]. This major advantage outweighs the minor drawbacks of this method, including the fact that it is rather time-consuming and cannot take place in situ [42].

4.3 Data (Pre-)processing and Analysis of GC–MS Data

4.3.1 Pre-processing of Raw Breathomics Data

In order to obtain breathomics data usable for multivariate statistical analysis (MSA), the raw data produced by GC–MS have to be properly pre-processed. The main aim of data pre-processing is to remove experimental artifacts and inter-sample variations which usually obscure the biologically meaningful changes and/or lower the power of statistical analysis. Pre-processing of breathomics data involves at least three successive steps: noise reduction, background (baseline) correction, and alignment [8, 30].

Noise reduction is usually the first step of data pre-processing. It minimizes the degree of high frequency noise generated by the detector or other instrumental noise sources. It can be achieved by applying transform functions such as wavelets or Fourier transformations [51].

Distortion in the baseline may affect not only statistical analysis but also alignment and quantification of the compounds. Therefore, proper baseline correction is important. It is usually done in an automated manner. Multiple methods have been proposed based on different types of polynomial-fitting algorithms [52], asymmetric least squares (ALS) [53], B-splines, B-splines with penalization (i.e., P-splines) [54] or the use of orthogonal basis of the background spectra [55].

The last step of pre-processing is alignment, i.e., removing the shifts in peak positions by rectifying the retention times across all samples. Nowadays many methods and packages are commercially or freely available for spectral alignment, including Dynamic Time Warping (the oldest warping techniques), Parametric Time Warping [56], Correlation Optimized Warping (COW) [57], MetAlign [58–60], MZmine [61], Isotope Cluster-Based Compound Matching [62], and PyMS [63]. The differences are mainly technical.

4.3.2 Normalization and Scaling

An intermediate step between data pre-processing and MSA is normalization and scaling. Normalization of the individual peaks in breathomics data aims to remove the overall variations between measured samples (i.e., chromatograms), the so-called size effect. Normalization usually involves a multiplication of each measured sample by a constant. Different ways of computing this constant exist [64–66]. Scaling of breathomics data may be useful and/or necessary, since the amount of compounds in exhaled breath can vary in many orders of magnitude. Moreover, the higher the abundance of a compound, the larger the variations are exhibited by this compound. Thus it is important to scale the compound levels before MSA to avoid spurious influence of high abundance compounds. This is particularly true in nontargeted analysis. An overview of different scaling methods can be found elsewhere [67].

4.3.3 Multivariate Analysis (Supervised, Unsupervised)

After data pre-processing, the MSA is performed to find trends in breathomics data and to extract only that information that is relevant to study possible biomarkers in the exhaled air. A proper MSA requires a good statistical validation [68] as well as trustworthy biological interpretation of the results. Typically, most of the multivariate statistical methods used in the -omics field, such as genomics, proteomics, and metabolomics, can also be utilized in breathomics. Generally, all multivariate

statistical methods can be divided in unsupervised and supervised algorithms. Typically, unsupervised methods are used as first step in MSA. They include the Principal Component Analysis [69, 70] and Hierarchical Cluster Analysis [70]. Unsupervised analysis is performed to explore and visualize the data. Moreover it allows finding trends, detecting outliers, and clustering the input data into classes based on statistical properties of the data only. It permits a simplified representation of the information in the breathomics data. In unsupervised statistical methods a priori knowledge (e.g., class information such as sick and healthy) is not used in the learning procedure of the algorithm. This way it is often not possible to find a specific pattern related to a given class of, for example, the diseased patients. Furthermore, due to highly complex breathomics data, unsupervised methods are very often not powerful to extract class-related information (e.g., disease related). Therefore, an unsupervised approach is very often followed by supervised learning methods such as partial least squares discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) [71], discriminant analysis [72, 73], random forests [74], or support vector machines [75, 76]. In supervised techniques a priori knowledge, e.g., class information, is provided as a dummy variable with group membership (i.e., healthy and disease) for each sample. A very important part of supervised learning is validation. In order to avoid the risk of overfitting (i.e., that the statistical model is too closely fitted to the data) the data should be divided in a training set (used for constructing the statistical model), a validation set (utilized to tune the statistical model), and an independent test set (used to assess the performances of the statistical model). Validation by an independent test set delivers the means to establish a reliable predictive performance of the statistical model and ensures that selected VOCs of interest are indeed truly descriptive of the underlying exposure or disease studied [68].

4.4 Future of VOCs Profiling in Pulmonary Disorders

4.4.1 Current Issues of VOCs Profiling in Monitoring Disease

As indicated in the introduction, recent studies have proven that distinct VOC profiles can discriminate healthy controls from patients suffering from inflammatory lung diseases with high sensitivity and specificity [4–6]. Regarding lung cancer, a combination of VOCs can differentiate patients from healthy controls and diseased controls with high sensitivities and specificities [9, 13–15, 77–79]. Moreover, it has recently been observed that exhaled VOC markers are able to distinguish patients with pulmonary tuberculosis from healthy controls [10] and from non-tuberculosis diseased controls [80]. Interestingly, pilot studies have revealed that breathomics can also be used to diagnose non-pulmonary diseases, including breast, ovarian, and hepatocellular cancer, and coronary heart diseases, with fair sensitivity and specificity [13–15, 77, 81, 82]. Also inflammatory conditions and cancer from internal organs as liver and the gastrointestinal tract can be monitored [83, 84]. Breathomics is recently shown to be useful in assessing occupational or environmental exposures [85, 86]. The profiling of VOCs already fits the biomarker prerequisite of displaying a rather noninvasive character that combines a low degree of discomfort for the patient with a high clinical accessibility [11, 12]. Biomarkers should be thoroughly validated before being clinically applied to determine the real value of their predictive and/or discriminatory capacities. By performing such a validation test in one or more separate validation set(s), the real value of specific biomarkers can be evaluated outside the test set in which they were initially selected [87]. However, the current differences used by research groups in breath sampling and analysis hamper interlaboratory validation and thus clinical usefulness of volatile biomarkers [12].

4.4.2 Biochemical Background of VOCs and Changes in Relation to Disease

A good disease biomarker relates to the biochemical or molecular processes underlying the disease it was designed for. Until now, this relationship has merely been the focus in studies exploring the use of individual VOCs to predict or classify various diseases. Especially products of lipid peroxidation have been considered as possible volatile biomarkers. For instance, higher exhaled pentane levels are reported in patients with acute asthma [86], cystic fibrosis [24], acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS, [88]), ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP, [89]), obstructive sleep apnoea [86], and lung cancer [82, 90]. Other volatile lipid peroxidation products studied as possible biomarkers include ethane, hexanal, octanal, nonanal, propanol, and butanol [81, 86, 90, 91]. Interestingly, more than half of the number of VOCs included in the discriminating profiles designed for asthma, CF, and COPD by our group were identified as hydrocarbons and/or possible lipid peroxidation products as well [4–6]. Moreover, due to their low solubility in blood, lipid peroxidation products such as ethane and pentane are exhaled within a few lung passages and can therefore serve not only as a pulmonary but also a systemic marker of inflammation and oxidative stress [8, 91]. For instance, ethane and/or pentane are enhanced excreted in the breath of patients with sepsis, systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), ischemic heart disease, myocardial infarction, cardiopulmonary bypass, and allograft rejection following organ transplantation [92-96].

Ideally, a biomarker should not only be linked to exposure or disease in general, but also to different stages of the disease including development, severity, and progression. Interestingly, this has already been shown for exhaled ethane as this VOC is higher not only in asthmatics compared to healthy controls but also severe compared to mild asthma [97]. Moreover, a recent study by Phillips et al. suggests that VOC patterns can be used to distinguish between active and nonactive

pulmonary tuberculosis albeit with a relatively low accuracy ranging from 65 to 85 % [98]. However, associating volatile biomarkers with the physiology of either exposure or disease is still in its infancy due to the fact that the (patho) physiological meaning of specific VOCs is often not known yet. Consequently, more research regarding the exact identity and biological role of individual VOCs is needed. Unfortunately, this area of research is hampered because compounds originating in breath can very well be biochemically altered before their excretion, implying that the volatiles detected do not necessarily display a direct relation to exposure or disease. Therefore, more studies in clinical as well as in vitro settings are necessary to elucidate the biochemical origin, physiological meaning, and exhalation kinetics of selected VOCs. Nevertheless, even without this mechanistic knowledge, volatile compounds can already be valuable as a predictive tool in a clinical setting.

4.4.3 Potential Future Applications

Until now, breathomics has merely been applied for diagnostic purposes and a future goal lies within the development of easy-to-use devices for the point-of-care use that can detect volatile biomarkers specific for various diseases.

Interestingly, recent developments have been made regarding the screening for lung cancer as it was shown that low-dose CT scanning could significantly reduce lung cancer mortality [99, 100]. Since there are some difficulties in generalizing these results to the community, it has once again been suggested to combine this screening method with other new testing techniques such as VOC measurement to develop a successful screening algorithm for lung cancer [99].

The analysis of exhaled air, however, encloses far more intriguing promises including elucidation of the (clinical and pathological) heterogeneity observed in several chronic diseases, the determination of the pathogens responsible for occurring (respiratory) infections and monitoring of the treatment efficacy.

4.4.4 Respiratory Infections

The occurrence of detrimental respiratory tract infections embodies a great burden not only for patients and the health care system but also for the economy [94, 95]. Especially the sudden worsening of symptoms also referred to as acute exacerbations (AE), in various chronic lung diseases including COPD and CF is known to largely depend on such microbial infections. Fast treatment of exacerbations is often hampered by a poor standardization of both the definition and detection of AE in most lung diseases [101, 102]. Recognizing AE appears to be difficult for both the patients and care takers as exacerbation profiles vary enormously between individuals. Current diagnostics include clinical criteria such as changes in symptoms and lung function but they often occur when an exacerbation is already manifested. Additionally, sputum induction or bronchoscopy accompanied by sampling broncho-alveolar lavage fluid (BALF) can be applied for qualitative and quantitative laboratory microbiological analysis in order to detect the exact microbial cause [103–105]. However, the usefulness of these techniques is seriously diminished by their invasiveness and by the long-duration of more than 48 h before results become available. To date it is still not possible to predict or quickly diagnose the occurrence and microbial cause of an exacerbation and thus prevent severe lung damage and deterioration in the long term. Therefore, there is an urgent need for noninvasive fast diagnostic tools that will contribute to a rapid diagnosis of AE in general and of the underlying microorganism(s) in particular, enabling an earlier start of appropriate antibiotic therapy and a more favorable health outcome. Analysis of exhaled air, combined with the adequate interpretation of selected VOC levels, might provide such a new diagnostic tool for early identification and closer monitoring of patients with high-risk profiles for AE. Monitoring high-risk patients and early identification of the worsening of pulmonary symptoms might allow adequate therapeutic interventions with oral antibiotics and/or physiotherapy to prevent AE and thus improve the quality of life in these patients [106, 107].

4.5 Summary and Perspective

In conclusion, it can be stated that breath analysis holds the promise to be of huge interest in clinical practice. It has already been proven that for some diseases breath profiles function as quality biomarkers and thus serve as a sensitive and noninvasive methodology. However, large (prospective) cohort studies are necessary in order to validate such selected biomarkers. Future research regarding more specific and highly sensitive sensors may provide the means for these biomarkers to be highly cost effective and very simple to use [35, 38]. At present, a wide range of sensors is under research including metal-oxide sensors and polymer-based sensors. Both sensors are capable of registering the absorption of specific VOCs by means of either resistance or acoustic variations. At present, such sensors are already capable of accurately detecting low concentrations of volatiles and are under development to be used as bedside tests. At the same time, parallel approaches comprise the detection of disease-related VOCs by means of miniaturized GCs coupled to highly sensitive and specific detectors such as the MS. Improved sensitivity and specificity followed by implementation of these technologies into small "foolproof" handheld devices in combination with an easy-to-apply breath collection procedure and advanced signal processing modules might introduce breathomics right into clinical practice.

Conflict of Interest Statement On behalf of all authors I declare that none of us has any relevant financial interests or conflicts related to this manuscript. (Volatile organic compounds as exhaled biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress in respiratory diseases.)

4 Volatile Organic Compounds as Exhaled Biomarkers of Inflammation and Oxidative... 79

References

- Ma W, Liu X, Pawliszyn J (2006) Analysis of human breath with micro extraction techniques and continuous monitoring of carbon dioxide concentration. Anal Bioanal Chem 385:1398–1408
- 2. Libardoni M, Stevens PT, Waite JH, Sacks R (2006) Analysis of human breath samples with a multi-bed sorption trap and comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography (GC×GC). J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 842:13–21
- Boots AW, Van Berkel JJ, Dallinga JW, Smolinska A, Wouters EF, Van Schooten FJ (2012) The versatile use of exhaled volatile organic compounds in human health and disease. J Breath Res 6:027108
- 4. Dallinga JW, Robroeks CM, Van Berkel JJ, Moonen EJ, Godschalk RW, Jobsis Q, Dompeling E, Wouters EF, Van Schooten FJ (2010) Volatile organic compounds in exhaled breath as a diagnostic tool for asthma in children. Clin Exp Allergy 40:68–76
- Robroeks CM, Van Berkel JJ, Dallinga JW, Jobsis Q, Zimmermann LJ, Hendriks HJ, Wouters MF, Van der Grinten CP, Van de Kant KD, Van Schooten FJ, Dompeling E (2010) Metabolomics of volatile organic compounds in cystic fibrosis patients and controls. Pediatr Res 68:75–80
- Van Berkel JJ, Dallinga JW, Moller GM, Godschalk RW, Moonen EJ, Wouters EF, Van Schooten FJ (2010) A profile of volatile organic compounds in breath discriminates COPD patients from controls. Respir Med 104:557–563
- Basanta M, Jarvis RM, Xu Y, Blackburn G, Tal-Singer R, Woodcock A, Singh D, Goodacre R, Thomas CL, Fowler SJ (2010) Non-invasive metabolomic analysis of breath using differential mobility spectrometry in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and healthy smokers. Analyst 135:315–320
- Miekisch W, Schubert JK, Noeldge-Schomburg GF (2004) Diagnostic potential of breath analysis-focus on volatile organic compounds. Clin Chim Acta 347:25–39
- Montuschi P, Santonico M, Mondino C, Pennazza G, Mantini G, Martinelli E, Capuano R, Ciabattoni G, Paolesse R, Di Natale C, Barnes PJ, D'Amico A (2010) Diagnostic performance of an electronic nose, fractional exhaled nitric oxide, and lung function testing in asthma. Chest 137:790–796
- Phillips M, Cataneo RN, Condos R, Ring Erickson GA, Greenberg J, La Bombardi V, Munawar MI, Tietje O (2007) Volatile biomarkers of pulmonary tuberculosis in the breath. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 87:44–52
- 11. Modak AS (2011) Barriers to overcome for transition of breath tests from research to routine clinical practice. J Breath Res 5:030202
- 12. Smith T (2011) Breath analysis: clinical research to the end-user market. J Breath Res 5:032001
- Patterson SG, Bayer CW, Hendry RJ, Sellers N, Lee KS, Vidakovic B, Mizaikoff B, Gabram-Mendola SG (2011) Breath analysis by mass spectrometry: a new tool for breast cancer detection? Am Surg 77:747–751
- 14. Phillips M, Cataneo RN, Ditkoff BA, Fisher P, Greenberg J, Gunawardena R, Kwon CS, Tietje O, Wong C (2006) Prediction of breast cancer using volatile biomarkers in the breath. Breast Cancer Res Treat 99:19–21
- Qin T, Liu H, Song Q, Song G, Wang HZ, Pan YY, Xiong FX, Gu KS, Sun GP, Chen ZD (2010) The screening of volatile markers for hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 19:2247–2253
- 16. Magder S (2006) Reactive oxygen species: toxic molecules or spark of life? Crit Care 10:208
- Rothkrantz-Kos S, Drent M, Vuil H, De Boer M, Bast A, Wouters EF, Roos D, Van Dieijen-Visser MP (2002) Decreased redox state in red blood cells from patients with sarcoidosis. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis 19:114–120
- Demedts M, Behr J, Buhl R, Costabel U, Dekhuijzen R, Jansen HM, MacNee W, Thomeer M, Wallaert B, Laurent F, Nicholson AG, Verbeken EK, Verschakelen J, Flower CD, Capron F,

Petruzzelli S, De Vuyst P, Van den Bosch JM, Rodriguez-Becerra E, Corvasce G, Lankhorst I, Sardina M, Montanari M (2005) High-dose acetylcysteine in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med 353:2229–2242

- Boots AW, Haenen GR, Bast A (2003) Oxidant metabolism in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J Suppl 46:14s–27s
- Boots AW, Haenen GR, Bast A (2008) Health effects of quercetin: from antioxidant to nutraceutical. Eur J Pharmacol 585:325–337
- Dillard CJ, Tappel AL (1989) Lipid peroxidation products in biological tissues. Free Radic Biol Med 7:193–196
- 22. Orhan H (2007) Analyses of representative biomarkers of exposure and effect by chromatographic, mass spectrometric, and nuclear magnetic resonance techniques: method development and application in life sciences. J Sep Sci 30:149–174
- Kanoh S, Kobayashi H, Motoyoshi K (2005) Exhaled ethane: an in vivo biomarker of lipid peroxidation in interstitial lung diseases. Chest 128:2387–2392
- 24. Paredi P, Kharitonov SA, Leak D, Shah PL, Cramer D, Hodson ME, Barnes PJ (2000) Exhaled ethane is elevated in cystic fibrosis and correlates with carbon monoxide levels and airway obstruction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:1247–1251
- 25. Parkin J, Cohen B (2001) An overview of the immune system. Lancet 357:1777-1789
- Schulz S, Dickschat JS (2007) Bacterial volatiles: the smell of small organisms. Nat Prod Rep 24:814–842
- Thorn RM, Reynolds DM, Greenman J (2011) Multivariate analysis of bacterial volatile compound profiles for discrimination between selected species and strains in vitro. J Microbiol Methods 84:258–264
- Allardyce RA, Hill AL, Murdoch DR (2006) The rapid evaluation of bacterial growth and antibiotic susceptibility in blood cultures by selected ion flow tube mass spectrometry. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 55:255–261
- 29. Scotter JM, Allardyce RA, Langford VS, Hill A, Murdoch DR (2006) The rapid evaluation of bacterial growth in blood cultures by selected ion flow tube-mass spectrometry (SIFT-MS) and comparison with the BacT/ALERT automated blood culture system. J Microbiol Methods 65:628–631
- 30. Schubert JK, Miekisch W, Geiger K, Noldge-Schomburg GF (2004) Breath analysis in critically ill patients: potential and limitations. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 4:619–629
- Buszewski B, Kesy M, Ligor T, Amann A (2007) Human exhaled air analytics: biomarkers of diseases. Biomed Chromatogr 21:553–566
- 32. Shevade AV, Ryan MA, Homer ML, Manfreda AM, Zhou H, Manatt KS (2003) Molecular modeling of polymer composite-analyte interactions in electronic nose sensors. Sens Actuators B Chem 93:84–91
- Shen G (2008) Fabrication and characterization of metal oxide nanowire sensors. Recent Pat Nanotechnol 2:160–168
- 34. Di Natale C, Macagnano A, Martinelli E, Paolesse R, D'Arcangelo G, Roscioni C, Finazzi-Agro A, D'Amico A (2003) Lung cancer identification by the analysis of breath by means of an array of non-selective gas sensors. Biosens Bioelectron 18:1209–1218
- 35. Dragonieri S, Schot R, Mertens BJ, Le Cessie S, Gauw SA, Spanevello A, Resta O, Willard NP, Vink TJ, Rabe KF, Bel EH, Sterk PJ (2009) An electronic nose in the discrimination of patients with asthma and controls. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120:856–862
- 36. Ehmann R, Boedeker E, Friedrich U, Sagert J, Dippon J, Friedel G, Walles T (2011) Canine scent detection in the diagnosis of lung cancer: revisiting a puzzling phenomenon. Eur Respir J 39:669–676
- 37. Machado RF, Laskowski D, Deffenderfer O, Burch T, Zheng S, Mazzone PJ, Mekhail T, Jennings C, Stoller JK, Pyle J, Duncan J, Dweik RA, Erzurum SC (2005) Detection of lung cancer by sensor array analyses of exhaled breath. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:1286–1291
- 38. Fens N, Zwinderman AH, van der Schee MP, de Nijs SB, Dijkers E, Roldaan AC, Cheung D, Bel EH, Sterk PJ (2009) Exhaled breath profiling enables discrimination of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180:1076–1082

- 4 Volatile Organic Compounds as Exhaled Biomarkers of Inflammation and Oxidative... 81
 - Taucher J, Hansel A, Jordan A, Fall R, Futrell JH, Lindinger W (1997) Detection of isoprene in expired air from human subjects using proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 11:1230–1234
 - Amann A, Tratnig R, Unterkofler K (2007) Detecting ventricular fibrillation by time-delay methods. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 54:174–177
 - Blake RS, Whyte C, Hughes CO, Ellis AM, Monks PS (2004) Demonstration of protontransfer reaction time-of-flight mass spectrometry for real-time analysis of trace volatile organic compounds. Anal Chem 76:3841–3845
 - 42. Schwoebel H, Schubert R, Sklorz M, Kischkel S, Zimmermann R, Schubert JK, Miekisch W (2011) Phase-resolved real-time breath analysis during exercise by means of smart processing of PTR-MS data. Anal Bioanal Chem 401:2079–2091
 - 43. Hewitt CN, Hayward S, Tani A (2003) The application of proton transfer reaction-mass spectrometry (PTR-MS) to the monitoring and analysis of volatile organic compounds in the atmosphere. J Environ Monit 5:1–7
 - Wilson HK, Monster AC (1999) New technologies in the use of exhaled breath analysis for biological monitoring. Occup Environ Med 56:753–757
 - 45. Spanel P, Smith D (2007) Selected ion flow tube mass spectrometry for on-line trace gas analysis in biology and medicine. Eur J Mass Spectrom 13:77–82
- 46. Watson JT, Sparkman OD (2007) Introduction to mass spectrometry: instrumentation, applications and strategies for data interpretation. Wiley, Chichester
- 47. Westhoff M, Litterst P, Freitag L, Urfer W, Bader S, Baumbach JI (2009) Ion mobility spectrometry for the detection of volatile organic compounds in exhaled breath of patients with lung cancer: results of a pilot study. Thorax 64:744–748
- 48. Mieth M, Schubert JK, Groger T, Sabel B, Kischkel S, Fuchs P, Hein D, Zimmermann R, Miekisch W (2010) Automated needle trap heart-cut GC/MS and needle trap comprehensive two-dimensional GC/TOF-MS for breath gas analysis in the clinical environment. Anal Chem 82:2541–2551
- Wiley WC, McLaren IH (1955) Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometer with improved resolution. Rev Sci Instrum 26:1150
- 50. Van Berkel JJ, Dallinga JW, Moller GM, Godschalk RW, Moonen E, Wouters EF, Van Schooten FJ (2008) Development of accurate classification method based on the analysis of volatile organic compounds from human exhaled air. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 861:101–107
- Trygg J, Gabrielsson J, Lundstedt T (2009) Background estimation, denoising, and preprocessing. In: Walczak RTB (ed) Comprehensive chemometrics. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- 52. Ga F, Ruan GH, Mo JY (2006) Baseline correction by improved iterative polynomial fitting with automatic threshold. Chemometr Intell Lab Syst 82:59–65
- 53. Eilers PHC (2003) A perfect smoother. Anal Chem 75:3631–3636
- 54. Eilers PHC, Marx BD (1996) Flexible smoothing with B-splines and penalties. Stat Sci 11:89–102
- 55. Xu ZF, Sun XB, Harrington PD (2011) Baseline correction method using an orthogonal basis for gas chromatography/mass spectrometry data. Anal Chem 83:7464–7471
- Bloemberg TG, Gerretzen J, Wouters HJP, Gloerich J, Van Dael M, Wessels HJCT, Van den Heuvel LP, Eilers PHC, Buydens LMC, Wehrens R (2010) Improved parametric time warping for proteomics. Chemometr Intell Lab Syst 104:65–74
- Nielsen NPV, Carstensen JM, Smedsgaard J (1998) Aligning of single and multiple wavelength chromatographic profiles for chemometric data analysis using correlation optimised warping. J Chromatogr A 805:17–35
- Peters S, Van Velzen E, Janssen HG (2009) Parameter selection for peak alignment in chromatographic sample profiling: objective quality indicators and use of control samples. Anal Bioanal Chem 394:1273–1281
- 59. Lommen A (2009) MetAlign: interface-driven, versatile metabolomics tool for hyphenated full-scan mass spectrometry data preprocessing. Anal Chem 81:3079–3086

- Lommen A, Kools HJ (2012) MetAlign 3.0: performance enhancement by efficient use of advances in computer hardware. Metabolomics 8:719–726
- Pluskal T, Castillo S, Villar-Briones A, Oresic M (2010) MZmine 2: modular framework for processing, visualizing, and analyzing mass spectrometry-based molecular profile data. BMC Bioinformatics 11:395–405
- Wegner A, Sapcariu SC, Weindl D, Hiller K (2013) Isotope cluster-based compound matching in gas chromatography/mass spectrometry for non-targeted metabolomics. Anal Chem 85:4030–4037
- 63. O'Callaghan S, De Souza DP, Isaac A, Wang Q, Hodkinson L, Olshansky M, Erwin T, Appelbe B, Tull DL, Roessner U, Bacic A, McConville MJ, Likic VA (2012) PyMS: a python toolkit for processing of gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC-MS) data. Application and comparative study of selected tools. BMC Bioinformatics 13:115
- 64. Dieterle F, Ross A, Schlotterbeck G, Senn H (2006) Probabilistic quotient normalization as robust method to account for dilution of complex biological mixtures. Application in ¹H NMR metabonomics. Anal Chem 78:4281–4290
- 65. Torgrip RJO, Aberg KM, Alm E, Schuppe-Koistinen I, Lindberg J (2008) A note on normalization of biofluid 1D H-1-NMR data. Metabolomics 4:114–121
- 66. Spraul M, Neidig P, Klauck U, Kessler P, Holmes E, Nicholson EJK, Sweatman BC, Salman SR, Farrant RD, Rahr E, Beddell CR, Lindon JC (1994) Automatic reduction of NMR spectroscopic data for statistical and pattern-recognition classification of samples. J Pharm Biomed Anal 12:1215–1225
- 67. Van den Berg RA, Hoefsloot HCJ, Westerhuis JA, Smilde AK, Van der Werf MJ (2006) Centering, scaling, and transformations: improving the biological information content of metabolomics data. BMC Genomics 7:142
- Westerhuis JA, Hoefsloot HJC, Smit S, Vis DJ, Smilde AK, Van Velzen EJJ, Van Duijnhoven JPM, Van Dorsten FA (2008) Assessment of PLSDA cross validation. Metabolomics 4:81–89
- Pearson K (1901) On lines and planes of closest fit to systems of points in space. Philos Mag A Phys Condens Matter Defects Mech Prop 2:559–572
- Vandeginste BGM, Massart DL, Buydens LMC, Jong SD, Lewi PJ, Smeyers-Verbeke J (1998) Handbook of chemometrics and qualimerics: part A. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Wold S, Sjostrom M, Eriksson L (2001) PLS-regression: a basic tool of chemometrics. Chemometr Intell Lab Syst 58:109–130
- 72. Krzanowski WJ (2000) Principles of multivariate analysis, revisedth edn. Oxford University Press, New York
- 73. Webb A (2002) Statistical pattern recognition. Wiley, New York
- 74. Breiman L (2001) Random forests. Mach Learn 45:5-32
- 75. Vapnik V (1995) The nature of statistical learning theory. Springer, New York
- 76. Vapnik V (1998) Statistical learning theory. Willey, New York
- Phillips M, Cataneo RN, Greenberg J, Grodman R, Salazar M (2003) Breath markers of oxidative stress in patients with unstable angina. Heart Dis 5:95–99
- Han MK, Agusti A, Calverley PM, Celli BM, Criner G, Curtis JL, Fabbri LM, Goldin JG, Jones PW, MacNee W, Make BJ, Rabe KF, Rennard SI, Sciurba FC, Silverman EK, Vestbo J, Washko GR, Wouters EFM, Martinez FJ (2010) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease phenotypes: the future of COPD. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182:598–604
- 79. Shirtcliffe P, Weatherall M, Travers J, Beasley R (2011) The multiple dimensions of airways disease: targeting treatment to clinical phenotypes. Curr Opin Pulm Med 17:72–78
- Kolk AHJ, Van Berkel JJBN, Claassens MM, Walters E, Kuijper S, Dallinga JW, Van Schooten FJ (2012) Breath analysis as a potential diagnostic tool for tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 16:777–782
- Horvath G, Chilo J, Lindblad T (2010) Different volatile signals emitted by human ovarian carcinoma and healthy tissue. Future Oncol 6:1043–1049
- Phillips M (1992) Detection of carbondisulfide in breath and air: a possible new risk factor for coronary artery disease. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64:119–123

- Timms C, Thomas PS, Yates DH (2000) Detection of gastro-oesophageal reflux (GORD) in patients with obstructive lung disease using exhaled breath profiling. J Breath Res 6:016003
- 84. Verdam FJ, Dallinga JW, Driessen A, De Jonge C, Moonen EJC, Van Berkel JBN, Luijk J, Bouvy ND, Buurman WA, Rensen SS, Greve JWM, Van Schooten FJ (2013) Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: a non-invasive diagnosis by analysis of exhaled breath. J Hepatol 58:543–548
- Woolfenden E (2010) Sorbent-based sampling methods for volatile and semi-volatile organic compounds in air: part 2. Sorbent selection and other aspects of optimizing air monitoring methods. J Chromatogr A 1217:2685–2694
- Chang EE, Wei-Chi W, Li-Xuan Z, Hung-Lung C (2010) Health risk assessment of exposure to selected volatile organic compounds emitted from an integrated iron and steel plant. Inhal Toxicol 22:117–125
- Pleil JD, Amann A (2011) The 2011 International Association of Breath Research (IABR) meeting in Parma, Italy: a collection of comments from attendees. J Breath Res 5:049001
- Scholpp J, Schubert JK, Miekisch W, Geiger K (2002) Breath markers and soluble lipid peroxidation markers in critically ill patients. Clin Chem Lab Med 40:587–594
- Schubert JK, Muller WP, Benzing A, Geiger K (1998) Application of a new method for analysis of exhaled gas in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med 24:415–421
- Lakatos PL, Papp M, Rieder F (2011) Serologic antiglycan antibodies in inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol 106:406–412
- Actis GC, Rosina F, Mackay IR (2011) Inflammatory bowel disease: beyond the boundaries of the bowel. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 5:401–410
- 92. Sedghi S, Keshavarzian A, Klamut M, Eiznhamer D, Zarling EJ (1994) Elevated breath ethane levels in active ulcerative colitis: evidence for excessive lipid peroxidation. Am J Gastroenterol 89:2217–2221
- Pelli MA, Trovarelli G, Capodicasa E, De Medio GE, Bassotti G (1999) Breath alkanes determination in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Dis Colon Rectum 42:71–76
- 94. Anzueto A (2010) Impact of exacerbations on COPD. Eur Respir Rev 19:113-118
- Joseph NM, Sistla S, Dutta TK, Badhe AS, Parija SC (2010) Ventilator-associated pneumonia: a review. Eur J Intern Med 21:360–368
- Emerson J, Rosenfeld M, McNamara S, Ramsey B, Gibson RL (2002) Pseudomonas aeruginosa and other predictors of mortality and morbidity in young children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 34:91–100
- 97. Paredi P, Kharitonov SA, Leak D, Ward S, Cramer D, Barnes PJ (2000) Exhaled ethane, a marker of lipid peroxidation, is elevated in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162:369–373
- Phillips M, Basa-Dalay V, Bothamley G, Cataneo RN, Lam PK, Natividad MP, Schmitt P, Wai J (2010) Breath biomarkers of active pulmonary tuberculosis. Tuberculosis 90:145–151
- Tanner NT, Mehta H, Silvestri GA (2012) New testing for lung cancer screening. Oncology 26:176–182
- 100. Marshall HM, Bowman RV, Crossin J, Lau MA, Slaughter RE, Passmore LH, McCaul EM, Courtney DA, Windsor MN, Yang IA, Smith IR, Keir BJ, Hayes TJ, Redmond SJ, Zimmerman PV, Fong KM (2013) Queensland lung cancer screening study: rationale, design and methods. Intern Med J 43:174–182
- Dakin C, Henry RL, Field P, Morton J (2001) Defining an exacerbation of pulmonary disease in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 31:436–442
- 102. Kessler R, Stahl E, Vogelmeier C, Haughney J, Trudeau E, Lofdahl CG, Partridge MR (2006) Patient understanding, detection, and experience of COPD exacerbations: an observational, interview-based study. Chest 130:133–142
- Nicholas B, Djukanovic R (2009) Induced sputum: a window to lung pathology. Biochem Soc Trans 37:868–872
- 104. Ramirez P, Valencia M, Torres A (2007) Broncoalveolar lavage to diagnose respiratory infections. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 28:525–533

- 105. Sykes A, Mallia P, Johnston SL (2007) Diagnosis of pathogens in exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 4:642–646
- 106. Block JK, Vandemheen KL, Tullis E, Fergusson D, Doucette S, Haase D, Berthiaume Y, Brown N, Wilcox P, Bye P, Bell S, Noseworthy M, Pedder L, Freitag A, Paterson N, Aaron SD (2006) Predictors of pulmonary exacerbations in patients with cystic fibrosis infected with multi-resistant bacteria. Thorax 61:969–974
- 107. Vestbo J (2006) Clinical assessment, staging, and epidemiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations. Proc Am Thorac Soc 3:252–256

Chapter 5 Pulmonary Infections—Oxidant Injury and Role of Antioxidants

Bidyalaxmi Devi Leishangthem, Ruchi Rastogi, and Archana Bhatnagar

Infections of the respiratory system caused by infecting microorganisms like bacteria, viruses, fungi, and protozoa may occur through three persuasive routes: tracheobronchial tree, pulmonary vasculature, and via direct spread from infection in the mediastinum, chest wall, or upper abdomen. Once the microbe gains entry into the tissue, the moist, natural aerobic environment of lungs provides a favorable field to flourish, making the respiratory tract susceptible to infections. The micro-organisms, however, need to overcome a large network of pulmonary defenses [1].

5.1 Pulmonary Infection

Some of the bacterial species which cause infection in the lungs are *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Haemophilus influenza*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Pseudomonas* spp., *Acinetobacter* spp., *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Legionelia* spp., and others. Infection is characterized by infiltration with polymorphonuclear neutrophils and histiocytes, as well as by tissue destruction, necrosis, cavitation, and formation of lung abscesses.

Viral infections caused by influenza, parainfluenza, adenovirus, coxsackie, echovirus, varicella, vaccinia, and measles viruses sometimes lead to viral pneumonia. It is characterized by alveolar wall thickening and infiltration of lymphocytes due to secretion of proteinaceous exudative material. Rhinovirus, a small non-enveloped single-stranded RNA virus is also associated with respiratory tract infections. In case of viral lung infection, huge invasion of macrophages and neutrophils generate the reactive oxygen species (ROS) which then become important players in the disease pathogenesis. Fungal infection can be similarly caused by inhalation of

B.D. Leishangthem • R. Rastogi • A. Bhatnagar (🖂)

Department of Biochemistry, Panjab University, Chandigarh 160014, India e-mail: bidyagcg@gmail.com; ruchirastogi01@gmail.com; bhatnagar@pu.ac.in

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_5, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

spores which may later cause latent infection by the conidia. Various forms of fungal infections involving the airways include histoplasmosis, coccidioidomycosis, blastomycosis, cryptococcosis, and aspergillosis. Other organisms like nocardia, candidia, yeast, protozoa, and some tapeworms may also cause respiratory infections.

5.2 Oxidant Injury and Pulmonary Infection

Oxidant injury is caused by the oxygen-derived products, free radicals like superoxide anion, hydrogen peroxide, and hydroxyl radicals which are normally produced inside the cells during cellular processes and electron transport chain. It is highly reactive and may disturb cell structure and function resulting in cell injury and death. There are many enzymes which scavenge these oxygen intermediates. Lungs constitute one of the major target organs of oxygen injury because of maximum exposure of the cells of the airways to oxygen and a large surface area of blood supply [2–4].

The ROS are produced mainly by two organelles of the cell i.e., mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum. ROS are produced not only during molecular reduction of oxygen in electron transport chain but also by other mechanisms like the respiratory burst in phagocytes, damage of cell component by ionizing radiation, and also as byproducts of various enzymes like nitric oxide synthase (NOX), xanthine oxidase (XO), and uncoupled endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS). So ROS has beneficial roles in the physiological function of cells in response to factors such as the shear-stress and immunological defense system, thereby preventing damage from foreign pathogens.

Mitochondrial ROS (mROS) are superoxide molecules derived from oxygen produced at different sites of mitochondria. The mROS on one hand can cause damage to the cell, while on the other hand, can also help in the regulation of physiological functions like adaptation to hypoxia, regulation of autophagy, immunity, differentiation, and longevity of cell. Production of mROS may serve as an alarm of the cell, suggesting a change in the extracellular environment that has been induced by stresses like hypoxia, starvation, infection, and growth factor stimulation. A correlation exists between the gravity of stressor and quantity of mROS induced, implying increased production of mROS to increased stress, leading thereby to cell damage/cell death. Because of the dual role of mROS in the cell, it may be difficult to use them as targets of therapy. The effects of antioxidants on mROS also vary with changes in environmental conditions. The molecular targets of mROS for cellular adaptation during stress in different environmental conditions need further studies [5].

5.3 Oxidative Injury by Microorganisms

Pulmonary oxidant stress is an important characteristic of acute lung injury (ALI) [6]. Reactive oxygen intermediates (ROI) produced by the cells take part in host defense against infections caused by bacteria and fungi. They could bring about

destruction of proteins, deoxyribonucleic acids, and lipids. So, it is important to calibrate the ROI for effective antimicrobial defense while averting inflammation and injury. Production of ROS like superoxide anion, and its derivatives hydrogen peroxide and peroxynitrite, have been found to be associated with lung injury caused by influenza viruses [7]. In the earlier studies, pyran polymer-conjugated superoxide dismutase (SOD) when administered to virus-infected mice brought about reduction in mortality [8]. The peroxynitrates can also cause the oxidation of antioxidants like glutathione reductase, SOD, and glutaredoxin, leading thereby to lung injury. Oxidant injury was also found to be boosted in the mitochondrial membrane with an increment of mitochondrial generation of ROS in tissues distant from the lungs [9]. This study also revealed that oxidant injury and metabolic stress contributed directly to disease development.

5.4 Mycobacteria

Tuberculosis caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) is also found to be associated with oxidative stress. Tuberculosis involves the poor antioxidative defense, damaging the host tissue. Mtb has the ability to survive during the redox status of the host, and also the ability to use protective enzymes like SOD, catalase (KatG), alkyl hydroperoxidase (AhpC), and peroxiredoxins [10]. Mycobacteria induce the production of ROS production by mononuclear and polymorphonuclear phagocytes. Chemotherapy given to patients of pulmonary tuberculosis showed an improvement in the level of oxidative stress [11]. The production of ROS is also associated with the productions of DNA lesions using apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease IV (End) and exonuclease III (XthA), a 39R59 exonuclease [12]. Pulmonary and extra pulmonary tuberculosis are associated with decreased levels of blood glutathione, glutathione peroxidase, and glutathione reductase and negatively correlated with carbonyl protein content [13]. Since γ -glutamylcysteinylglycine or glutathione (GSH) protects against oxidative stress, it may have potential therapeutic implications [14]. Also, ergothioneine (ERG) and mycothiol (MSH), have been reported in protection against oxidative stress in mycobacterium [15].

Mycobacterium tuberculosis is one of the aerobic bacteria which can survive under oxidative stress by various mechanisms. It has the ability to persist inside macrophages of the host. One of the mechanisms is F420-dependent anti-oxidant mechanism. This system in methanogenic archaea acts as an active enzyme cofactor. It has been observed that the F420-deficient mutants (by the inactivation of fbIC gene) are very sensitive to oxidative stress. The *fbiC* gene (Rv1173) encodes an 856-amino-acid polypeptide FO synthase in the F420 biosynthetic pathway. The inhibition of the F420 biosynthesis pathway or Fqr-class proteins may act as a mechanism to potentiate the action of bactericidal agents [16]. To study as to how the mycobacterium is able to evade the host immune system, state-specific models, based on readily available gene expression data, can be created in silico. In such models, the metabolic adaptations of *M. tuberculosis* can be characterized by the

differential gene expression data with a metabolic network model [17]. More molecules are reported to be involved in protection of the microbes against oxidative stress as seen in mycoredoxin-1 and mycothiol deletion strains of *Mycobacterium smegmatis* [18]. The survival of pathogen i.e., *M. tuberculosis* inside the host may also be possible by oxidation-sensing regulator (MosR), a transcriptional repressor by upregulating expression of rv1050 (a putative exported oxidoreductase) [19].

Heme oxygenase-1 (HO1) has a role in cytoprotection and is found to be expressed in large numbers in the plasma of patients with tuberculosis, acute respiratory distress syndrome, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and asthma. The expression of HO-1 therefore has been suggested to be used in prognosis of lung disease [20]. A signal transduction pathway in the Early Secreted Antigenic Target of 6 kDa induction of IL-8 expression in lung epithelial cells which has been identified might be important to understand the innate immune responses to tuberculosis and the pathogenesis of lung injury in tuberculosis [21].

There are reports on the role of serine proteases of the Mtb that provide resistance to acid and oxidative stress. Rv3671c, a putative serine protease is held responsible for persistence of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in the hostile environment of the phagosome [22]. The periplasmic domain of Rv3671c is a functional serine protease of the chymotrypsin family and its activity was found to increase upon oxidation. On similar lines, another periplasmic protease of Mtb might have a special role in imparting resistance to acid and oxidative stress [23]. This transmembrane serine protease MarP is important for pH homeostasis in Mtb.

5.5 Bacteria

Bacterial infection leads to the exposure of bacteria-derived lipopolysaccharides, composed of oligo, polysaccharide, and lipid A endotoxin to the host tissue. Lungs are very sensitive to endotoxins; acute endotoxemia directs accumulation of macro-phages in the target tissues. The macrophages and neutrophils that reach the infected site are activated by LPS releasing reactive oxygen and nitrogen species contributing to injury and organ failure [24].

Pseudomonas aeruginosa causes acute and chronic infections of the human lung, causing tissue injury. A siderophore (iron bound to pyochelin) secreted by the organism to acquire iron, may actually function as an efficient catalyst for hydroxyl radical (HO[•]) formation. Due to exposure of superoxide (O_2^{-}) and H_2O_2 , siderophore can augment injury to pulmonary artery endothelial cells [25]. Therefore, the presence of ferripyochelin at sites of lung infection by *P. aeruginosa* might promote HO[•] mediated damage to airway epithelial cells resulting in tissue injury.

Lung infection caused by *Bordetella pertussis* shows a stimulated innate resistance (StIR) event which is also mediated by the generation of ROS [26].

There is evidence of inflammation and oxidative injury in bronchopulmonary dysplasia, a neonatal chronic lung disease. The inflammation associated with dysplasia is caused by the exposure of bacterial lipopolysaccharides. Bacterial LPS bring about increased expression of cytokines regulated by Nox-dependent signaling pathways [27, 28]. The inflammatory mediators help in attracting neutrophils and macrophages to the lungs to combat infection. Neutrophils, after stimulation produce ROS like hypochlorous acid (HOCl) by the help of myeloperoxidase enzyme. The levels of glutathione sulfonamide (GSA) (fourfold) and other neutrophil oxidant biomarkers (twofold) were reported to be significantly higher in culture positive aspirates. GSA is a stable oxidation product of GSH that is formed by condensation of the amine group of the γ -glutamyl residue with the oxidized cysteine. This has led to the recommendation of GSA as a marker of detection of bacterial growth in lung infection [29].

Nontypeable *Haemophilus influenza* (NTHI) is a major cause of acute sino-pulmonary infections, responsible for exacerbations of COPD. During *H. influenza* infection, many stimuli that include reactive oxidants, bring about induction of Nuclear erythroid factor-2 (Nrf2), a basic leucine transcription factor. It detaches from its inhibitor Keap1 present in the cytosol and moves toward nucleus where it binds at the promoter region of antioxidant response elements (AREs) and help in protection against oxidant injury [30]. Also, during infection, *H. influenza* can withstand the effect of ROS produced by the cells, has various molecular mechanisms to protect from the stress [31].

5.6 Oxidant Injury by Viruses

The involvement of oxidative stress during viral infection has been also reported [32]. The addition of environmental contaminant like cadmium induced oxidative stress leading to imbalance in the redox state with reduction in GSH. However addition of antioxidants like GSH derivative (GSH-C4) or the GSH precursor, *N*-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) result in the inhibition of viral replication as studied in Madin Darby Canine Kidney [33].

Human immune-deficiency virus (HIV) patients are under constant oxidative stress as reflected in alterations in levels of ascorbic acid, tocopherols, carotenoids, selenium, SOD, and glutathione in various tissues. Elevated levels of hydroperoxides and malondialdehyde in serum are also indicative of oxidative stress during HIV infection. The oxidative stress contributes to HIV disease pathogenesis, viral replication, inflammatory response, reduced immune cell proliferation, loss of immune function, apoptosis, chronic weight loss, and increased sensitivity to drug toxicities [34]. A chronic infection with HIV is known to be associated with an incidence of pulmonary complications including hypertension, vasculopathy, lymphocytic alveolitis, and interstitial pneumonitis, not attributed to either opportunistic infections or presence of the virus. A transactivator, Tat (transactivator of transcription) protein is required for expression of full-length of viral genes, and it influences the expression of cellular inflammatory genes. The Tat-dependent transactivation of genesis known to be sensitive to changes in cellular oxidant burden [35].

The HIV-1 transgenic mice demonstrate significant oxidative/nitrosative stress in the lungs upon administration of endotoxin. This suggests that the pulmonary complications in HIV-1 infections could be due to alteration of the lung proteins by oxidative stress [36]. HIV-related proteins and alcohol together cause dysfunction in the lung epithelium. This is a significant observation as the alveolar barrier gets affected and addition of thiol antioxidant results in improvement in transgenic mice [37]. Human immunodeficiency virus 1-infected individuals display systemic oxidative stress and glutathione deficiency. The master transcription factor nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 is known to regulate the expression of antioxidant and phase II-metabolizing enzymes by activating the ARE that protects cells and tissues from oxidative stress [38].

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infects the lower respiratory tract in children. It has been found to generate ROS in vitro and oxidative injury in lungs in vivo [39]. Oxidative stress induced by RSV is due to inhibition of antioxidant enzyme expression leading to an imbalance of ROS production and airway antioxidant defenses [39]. There is an increment in lipid peroxidation products and decrement in GSH/GSSG ratio in RSV infected cells [40]. RSV is also one of the primary causes of lower respiratory tract infections in most parts of the world during the first year of life. Infiltrating lymphocytes present in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) have been observed in mice infected with a lethal dose of influenza A/PR8/34 virus which demonstrated the role of oxidative stress during lung infection [41].

It has been reported that resveratrol treatment reduced the number of infiltrating lymphocytes and RSV lung titers which finally led to reduced inflammation. Furthermore, resveratrol might help to decrease the IFN- γ levels in BALF of RSV-infected mice by attenuating airway responses to methacholine. Resveratrol inhibited the TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β (TRIF) signaling pathway, controlled Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) expressions and also induced M2 receptor expression followed by RSV infection [42]. A significant fall in SOD 1, SOD 3, catalase, and GST expression was found but SOD 2 expression was found to be elevated [40]. It was also observed that there was a decrement in the activity of SOD, catalase, glutathione S-transferase, and glutathione peroxidase in murine lungs and in the airways of children with severe bronchiolitis. It was associated with reduced levels of Nrf2 expression in the lungs of viral infected mice [43].

The role of antioxidants in the RSV infection has been analyzed from the effect of butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA), an antioxidant, in the RSV infected BALB/c mice; a fall in malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxynonenal content in bronchoalveolar lavage of infected mice indicated the reduction in lung oxidative stress. BHA treatment caused a drop in clinical illness and body weight loss with the neutrophil recruitment to the lung and pulmonary cytokine and chemokine production after the infection. Along with these findings, there was a reduction in RSV-induced airway hyper reactivity [44].

Increased production of superoxide, increased activity of xanthine oxidase, oxidized glutathione, malondialdehyde, and decreased production of oxidized glutathione are some of the characteristics associated with respiratory viral infections [33].

Rhinoviruses infection is associated with an increase in levels of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1), an important molecule which is used as receptor for entry in the pulmonary epithelial cells. Increased levels of superoxide formation are associated with increased ICAM-1 expression in rhinovirus infection [45]. An increased involvement of oxidative stress with adenovirus-induced lung infection is reported as the cause of bronchiolitis obliterans in post-transplant patients. The association of post infectious bronchiolitis obliterans with oxidative status in the lungs of children has also been reported [46].

5.7 Sepsis and Pulmonary Infection

Sepsis results from serious infections caused by various pathogenic organisms like bacteria, viruses, and fungi which lead to multiple organ failure. Oxidative stress has been shown to be associated with sepsis. In a comparative study on the effects of oleanolic acid with dexamethasone on inflammation and apoptosis in lung and distal organs in experimental murine sepsis, oleanolic acid was associated with lower induced nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression and higher SOD levels than in the dexamethasone treated group [47]. There are reports on the improved renal and pulmonary function in rats with sepsis, treated with potent antioxidant NAC [48]. ROS elevate vascular barrier dysfunction through Ca²⁺ signaling in the sepsisinduced ALI [49]. Previous studies had also revealed that pulmonary oxidative stress generated in murine sepsis-induced ALI was primarily dependent upon neutrophil iNOS among different isoforms of NOS [50-52]. Similarly in severe viral infections, the level of inducible nitric oxide was found to be higher in mice that were infected with H5N1 and 1918 viruses, in comparison to a seasonal H1N1 virus in lung tissue; the level was moderate in mice that were deficient in iNOS (NOS2^{-/-}) in comparison to wild-type control [51]. Additionally, this study also showed the delay in weight loss and death in 1918 virus-infected mice in contrast to control ones when treated with NOS inhibitor, NG-monomethyl-L-arginine [53].

5.8 Antioxidants in the Therapy of Infections

Antioxidants are substances that inhibit the oxidation of other molecules by terminating the chain reaction of free radicals and removing their intermediates via self oxidation [2]. There are several types of antioxidants such as glutathione, vitamin A, vitamin C, vitamin E, as well as enzymes like catalase, SOD, and various peroxidases. Antioxidant enzymes play an important role in defense against oxidative stress in the lung and in the pathogenesis of chronic respiratory diseases. Extracellular SOD, an important antioxidant enzyme, is found in the lungs, it controls pulmonary inflammation and injury by promoting bacterial phagocytosis [54].

The role of Nrf2-mediated antioxidant system to defend the lungs from oxidative injury and inflammation has also been shown in in vitro and in vivo studies. The in vitro study reports augmentation of NF-κB activation and induction of its target inflammatory gene in Nrf2-deficient macrophages vs. the wild type, when these macrophages were examined with poly (I:C) and/or cigarette smoke extract. There was also an enhancement in antioxidant genes in the lungs of wild-type mice as compared to Nrf2-deficient mice after cigarette smoke exposure in the in vivo study [54]. Mortality was found to be higher in cigarette smoke-exposed Nrf2-deficient mice when these mice were infected with influenza virus [55]. Neu-164 and Neu-107, inhibitors of myeloperoxidase enzyme, exhibiting strong antioxidant activity, were found to reduce acute inflammation and oxidative stress triggered by cigarette smoke-induced inflammatory cells through scavenging the ROS [56]. The drugs ketamine, propofol, and ketofol are routinely used for sedation, but a recent report highlights their role on oxidative stress and anti-inflammatory processes in lung tissue in a rodent model of endotoxemia [57]. In the sepsis (LPS mediated) induced ALI, ketamine infusion led to reduction in the levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, NF- κ B, and COX-2 mRNAs in lung tissue. Propofol was involved in lessening the levels of circulating TNF- α and IL-1 β in lung tissue, whereas it led to augmented nitrate/ nitrite levels. The third drug, Ketofol, reduced the levels of COX-2 mRNA and the nitrate/nitrite level in lung tissue. However, a recent report suggests that the treatment with antioxidants in excess might be deleterious as it may result in greater oxidative stress [58].

5.9 Anti-Oxidants and HIV Infection

HIV-1-related proteins inhibit Nrf2-mediated antioxidant defenses and thereby disrupt the normally tight alveolar epithelial barrier. Nrf2-RNA silencing dampened the activity of Nrf2/ARE, decreased the expression of the tight junction proteins zonula occludens-1, occludin, and claudin-18, increased paracellular permeability of alveolar epithelial monolayers derived from wild-type rats, and therefore reproduced the effects of HIV-1 transgene expression on the epithelial barrier. In contrast, upregulating Nrf2 activity, either by plasmid-mediated overexpression or treatment with the Nrf2 activator sulforaphane, increased the expression of ARE-dependent antioxidants, including NAD(P)H dehydrogenase, quinone 1, and glutathione, improved the expression of tight junction proteins, and restored the ability to form tight barriers in alveolar epithelial cells from HIV-1 transgenic rats. Taken together, these new findings argue that HIV-1-related proteins downregulate Nrf2 expression and/or activity within the alveolar epithelium, which in turn impairs antioxidant defenses and barrier function, thereby rendering the lung susceptible to oxidative stress and injury. Furthermore, this study suggests that activating the Nrf2/ARE pathway with the dietary supplement sulforaphane could augment antioxidant defenses and lung health in HIV-1-infected individuals [38].

5.10 Respiratory Viral Infections

Modulation of ROS production and oxidative stress contributes one of the therapeutic approaches in virus-induced lung infections. Use of small molecules like thiols, polyphenols, and antioxidant mimetics show effects on viral-induced ROS production and oxidative stress. Also, compounds like triterpenoids, sulforaphane, and isothiocyanates, increase endogenous antioxidant enzyme levels in RSV infection by stimulating Nrf2-dependent gene expression [39]. There may also be suppression of excessive superoxide production from NADPH oxidase 2 (Nox2), which is the primary enzymatic source of superoxide in mammalian inflammatory cells, because it markedly alleviates lung injury and virus replication caused by influenza A virus. So Nox2 oxidase inhibitors could be useful for suppression of virus-induced lung disease [8]. Mice lacking a functional phagocyte NADPH oxidase (Cybb tm1 mice) or treated with the metalloporphyrin antioxidant manganese (III) tetrakis (N-ethyl pyridinium-2-yl) porpyhrin (MnTE-2-PyP) show heightened inflammatory infiltrates in their airways in response to pulmonary influenza infection. Raising the resting threshold of lung-resident antigen-presenting cells by modulating homeostatic negative feedback loops may therefore provide generic protection against viral infectious disease, irrespective of the infective strain.

The treatment of lung infections caused by viruses like RSV, and bacteria like Pseudomonas aeruginosa may include resveratrol (3,5,4' trihydroxystilbene) which is a natural polyphenolic compound that has antioxidant property. It helps in the attenuation of inflammatory response in bacteria infected cells. In vitro studies in A549 cells observed that resveratrol treatment significantly reduced ROS generation, human beta-defensin-2 expression, ICAM-1, increased glutathione peroxidase levels (also the markers of apoptosis), suggesting resveratrol as a protective therapeutic agent in lung infection [42, 59]. Long pentraxin 3 (PTX3) is a newly discovered acute phase protein produced at the sites of infection and inflammation by tissue cells, macrophages, monocytes, and dendritic cells. PTX3 plays an important role in preventing infection of certain fungi, bacteria, and viruses in the lung [60]. Another drug, roflumilast is also found to attenuate the RSV infection in human differentiated bronchial epithelial cells [61]. It impeded the damage of ciliated cells and lowered the escalation of MUC5AC, CLCA1, IL-13, IL-6, IL-8, TNFa, and ICAM-1. Furthermore, it also inversed the decrement of Nrf2, HO-1, and GPx mRNA levels [61].

Lung infection caused by H1N1 Influenza A is found to be associated with uncontrolled inflammation and oxidative stress. FABP5 which belongs to the family of fatty acid-binding proteins (FABPs), acts as an anti-inflammatory mediator during lung infection. FABP5 are small, highly conserved, cytoplasmic proteins that bind long-chain fatty acids and other hydrophobic ligands. They increase peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR- γ) activity resulting in reduced inflammation which shows the involvement of FABP5 in controlling the oxidative damage and inflammation during lung infection, making it a future therapeutic drug. Treatment with recombinant human thioredoxin-1 is also found to increase

the survival rate of murine model of influenza pneumonia. So thioredoxin-1 acts as an antioxidant and anti inflammatory molecule.

Interestingly, inhalation of recombinant human catalase (rhCAT) exerted protective effect by improving pathological process and by reducing the viral titer in lungs of mice exposed to influenza H1N1 viral pneumonia. Moreover, rhCAT also improved the serum ROS scavenger capacity [62]. Use of rhCAT had a limitation of its elimination from blood, hence, it was modified by coating with one of the active polymer, polyethylene glycol monomethyl ether (PEGrhCAT). The pharmacokinetics in mice revealed that it had longer half life than native rhCAT, treatment with PEGrhCAT was found to be more effective than with the native form. As the PEGrhCAT caused reduction in viral replication, lung injury levels, and ROS production, the molecule can be used as an adjuvant therapy to promote efficacy of anti viral drugs [63]. The use of hydrogen gas in saline has been used as therapeutic and prophylactic potential for the treatment of injury caused by inflammation and oxidative stress.

5.11 Natural Products as Anti-oxidants

The nutritional status plays a major role to maintain an optimal immune system. The active ingredients of the naturally derived agents may affect various domains suggesting an interdependence of optimal immune system and oxidative stress. Consumption of gold kiwi fruit leads to the reduction of plasma lipid peroxidation in those infected with upper respiratory tract infection symptoms. It may be possibly attributed to the diet-derived antioxidants which control ROS generation [64].

Pretreatment of a heteropolysaccharide, RIWP, isolated from *Radix isatidis* enhanced murine alveolar macrophage survival by inhibiting the production of ROS and lipid peroxidation after stimulation with lipopolysaccharide. Upon treatment, the murine alveolar macrophages exhibited diminished generation of nitric oxide, prostaglandin E2, tumor necrosis factor- α and IL-6, and the mitochondrial membrane potential also returned to normal conditions [65].

There are reports on the therapeutic roles of some Chinese herbal medicine for the treatment of tuberculosis. The effects of *Radix Ranunculi Ternati, Radix Sophorae Flavescentis, Prunella Vulgaris* L., and *Stellera Chamaejasme* L. extracts have been found to have the capability to enhance cell-mediated immune response in a multi-drug resistant tuberculosis model [66]. Kampo (Traditional Japanese Herbal) medicine, Hochuekkito (TJ-41), have been used since they possess a property to inhibit influenza virus replication by the regulation of interferon gamma [69]. The levels of GM-CSF and an antimicrobial peptide, defensin, are found to increase after TJ-41 treatment, so defensin might play a role in inhibiting virus replication [67].

Dioscorin, a Chinese herbal medicine possessing the effective antioxidant and anti-trypsin activities inhibited H_2O_2 , a potent ROS engaged in lung and bronchial epithelium injury. The results of the study also suggested that the inhibition was

relayed by attenuation of H_2O_2 alteration on G2/M cell cycle arrest, induction of I κ B, and reduction of NF- κ B along with the inhibition of IL-8 secretion, and less changes in adhesion molecule expressions in H_2O_2 -injured A549 cells [68].

In addition to the medicinal herbs, Wen-Pi-Tang extract also serves as a natural medicine to cure the lung injury caused by influenza virus. This virus is known to generate the xanthine oxidase (XO) activity of the lungs resulting in a higher level of oxygen-free radicals. Wen-Pi-Tang extract diminished the XO activity [69]. Another Chinese medicinal herb, *Magnolia officinalis* also possesses antioxidant activity [70]. Magnolol, the active compound of this herb, reduced the lipid peroxidation intensity in plasma, liver, and lung of rats with sepsis [70]. A Chinese herbal formula, Qing-Fei-Tang, was found to attenuate the oxygen-free radicals that were generated after stimulation of healthy human leukocytes with opsonized zymosan. It also inhibited the release of slow reacting substance of anaphylaxis from guinea pig lung when challenged with antigen. In addition, this herbal remedy re-established the loss of saturated fatty acids in sputum and showed an improvement in lung inflammation [70].

5.12 Conclusions

Different pathogens which infect the lungs cause pulmonary inflammation and oxidative stress. The activated neutrophils, macrophages, and eosinophils induce the production of singlet oxygen and hydrogen peroxide, which damage the surrounding tissues and enhance production of ROS. In the presence of different infections, the host uses a variety of antioxidants that signal through different pathways, bring about enhanced transcription factor generation leading to control of the infection/inflammation/injury.

The challenge for future research lies to establish the antioxidants which can be used in the most efficient manner for lung infection-associated oxidative stress, and which of the wide range of current oxidative stress markers can we employ? There is an intensive ongoing search for markers which would identify the patients who are most likely to encounter adverse outcomes from various lung infections. There exists an enormous potential for not only the synthetic drugs, but also of natural compounds with reduced side effects as antioxidants.

Conflict of Interest We have no conflicts of interest in the authorship and publication of this article.

References

- 1. Nicod LP (2005) Lung defences: an overview. Eur Respir Rev 14:45-50
- 2. Sies H (1997) Oxidative stress: oxidants and antioxidants. Exp Physiol 82(2):291-295
- Riley DJ, Kerr JS (1985) Oxidant injury of the extracellular matrix: potential role in the pathogenesis of pulmonary emphysema. Lung 163(1):1–13

- Rahman I (2002) Oxidative stress, transcription factors and chromatin remodelling in lung inflammation. Biochem Pharmacol 64(5–6):935–942
- Sena LA, Chandel NS (2012) Physiological roles of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. Mol Cell 48(2):158–167
- Razavi HM, Wang L, Weicker S, Quinlan GJ, Mumby S, McCormack DG, Mehta S (2005) Pulmonary oxidant stress in murine sepsis is due to inflammatory cell nitric oxide. Crit Care Med 33(6):1333–1339
- Selemidis S, Seow HJ, Broughton BR, Vinh A, Bozinovski S, Sobey CG, Drummond GR, Vlahos R (2013) Nox1 oxidase suppresses influenza A virus-induced lung inflammation and oxidative stress. PLoS One 8(4):8
- Vlahos R, Stambas J, Selemidis S (2012) Suppressing production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) for influenza A virus therapy. Trends Pharmacol Sci 33(1):3–8
- Fessel JP, Flynn CR, Robinson LJ, Penner NL, Gladson S, Kang C, Wasserman DH, Hemnes AR, West JD (2013) Hyperoxia synergizes with mutant BMPR2 to cause metabolic stress, oxidant injury, and pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 6:6
- Trivedi A, Singh N, Bhat SA, Gupta P, Kumar A (2012) Redox biology of tuberculosis pathogenesis. Adv Microb Physiol 60:263–324
- Mokondjimobe E, Longo-Mbenza B, Akiana J, Ndalla UO, Dossou-Yovo R, Mboussa J, Parra HJ (2012) Biomarkers of oxidative stress and personalized treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis: emerging role of gamma-glutamyltransferase. Adv Pharmacol Sci 465634(10):7
- Puri RV, Singh N, Gupta RK, Tyagi AK (2013) Endonuclease IV is the major apurinic/ apyrimidinic endonuclease in Mycobacterium tuberculosis and is important for protection against oxidative damage. PLoS One 8(8)
- Dalvi SM, Patil VW, Ramraje NN (2012) The roles of glutathione, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase and the carbonyl protein in pulmonary and extra pulmonary tuberculosis. J Clin Diagn Res 6(9):1462–1465
- Morris D, Khurasany M, Nguyen T, Kim J, Guilford F, Mehta R, Gray D, Saviola B, Venketaraman V (2013) Glutathione and infection. Biochim Biophys Acta 5(49):23
- 15. Sao Emani C, Williams MJ, Wiid IJ, Hiten NF, Viljoen AJ, Pietersen RD, van Helden PD, Baker B (2013) Ergothioneine is a secreted antioxidant in Mycobacterium smegmatis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 57(7):3202–3207
- Gurumurthy M, Rao M, Mukherjee T, Rao SP, Boshoff HI, Dick T, Barry CE III, Manjunatha UH (2013) A novel F(420) -dependent anti-oxidant mechanism protects Mycobacterium tuberculosis against oxidative stress and bactericidal agents. Mol Microbiol 87(4):744–755
- 17. Fang X, Wallqvist A, Reifman J (2012) Modeling phenotypic metabolic adaptations of Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Rv under hypoxia. PLoS Comput Biol 8(9):13
- Van Laer K, Buts L, Foloppe N, Vertommen D, Van Belle K, Wahni K, Roos G, Nilsson L, Mateos LM, Rawat M, van Nuland NA, Messens J (2012) Mycoredoxin-1 is one of the missing links in the oxidative stress defence mechanism of Mycobacteria. Mol Microbiol 86(4): 787–804
- Brugarolas P, Movahedzadeh F, Wang Y, Zhang N, Bartek IL, Gao YN, Voskuil MI, Franzblau SG, He C (2012) The oxidation-sensing regulator (MosR) is a new redox-dependent transcription factor in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Biol Chem 287(45):37703–37712
- 20. Andrade BB, Pavan Kumar N, Mayer-Barber KD, Barber DL, Sridhar R, Rekha VV, Jawahar MS, Nutman TB, Sher A, Babu S (2013) Plasma heme oxygenase-1 levels distinguish latent or successfully treated human tuberculosis from active disease. PLoS One 8(5)
- Boggaram V, Gottipati KR, Wang X, Samten B (2013) Early secreted antigenic target of 6 kDa (ESAT-6) protein of Mycobacterium tuberculosis induces interleukin-8 (IL-8) expression in lung epithelial cells via protein kinase signaling and reactive oxygen species. J Biol Chem 288(35):25500–25511
- 22. Biswas T, Small J, Vandal O, Odaira T, Deng H, Ehrt S, Tsodikov OV (2010) Structural insight into serine protease Rv3671c that protects M. tuberculosis from oxidative and acidic stress. Structure 18(10):1353–1363
5 Pulmonary Infections-Oxidant Injury and Role of Antioxidants

- 23. Small JL, O'Donoghue AJ, Boritsch EC, Tsodikov OV, Knudsen GM, Vandal O, Craik CS, Ehrt S (2013) Substrate specificity of MarP, a periplasmic protease required for resistance to acid and oxidative stress in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Biol Chem 288(18):12489–12499
- Connor AJ, Chen LC, Joseph LB, Laskin JD, Laskin DL (2013) Distinct responses of lung and liver macrophages to acute endotoxemia: role of toll-like receptor 4. Exp Mol Pathol 94(1):216–227
- 25. Britigan BE, Rasmussen GT, Cox CD (1997) Augmentation of oxidant injury to human pulmonary epithelial cells by the Pseudomonas aeruginosa siderophore pyochelin. Infect Immun 65(3):1071–1076
- 26. Zurita E, Moreno G, Errea A, Ormazabal M, Rumbo M, Hozbor D (2013) The stimulated innate resistance event in Bordetella pertussis infection is dependent on reactive oxygen species production. Infect Immun 81(7):2371–2378
- Menden H, Tate E, Hogg N, Sampath V (2013) LPS-mediated endothelial activation in pulmonary endothelial cells: role of Nox2-dependent IKK-beta phosphorylation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 304(6):18
- Leverence JT, Medhora M, Konduri GG, Sampath V (2011) Lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine expression in alveolar epithelial cells: role of PKCzeta-mediated p47phox phosphorylation. Chem Biol Interact 189(1–2):72–81
- 29. Harwood DT, Darlow BA, Cheah FC, McNeill N, Graham P, Winterbourn CC (2011) Biomarkers of neutrophil-mediated glutathione and protein oxidation in tracheal aspirates from preterm infants: association with bacterial infection. Pediatr Res 69(1):28–33
- Lugade AA, Vethanayagam RR, Nasirikenari M, Bogner PN, Segal BH, Thanavala Y (2011) Nrf2 regulates chronic lung inflammation and B-cell responses to nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 45(3):557–565
- Harrison A, Bakaletz LO, Munson RS Jr (2012) Haemophilus influenzae and oxidative stress. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2(40):28
- 32. Schwarz KB (1996) Oxidative stress during viral infection: a review. Free Radic Biol Med 21(5):641–649
- 33. Checconi P, Sgarbanti R, Celestino I, Limongi D, Amatore D, Iuvara A, Alimonti A, Garaci E, Palamara AT, Nencioni L (2013) The environmental pollutant cadmium promotes influenza virus replication in MDCK cells by altering their redox state. Int J Mol Sci 14(2):4148–4162
- 34. Pace GW, Leaf CD (1995) The role of oxidative stress in HIV disease. Free Radic Biol Med 19(4):523–528
- Cota-Gomez A, Flores AC, Ling XF, Varella-Garcia M, Flores SC (2011) HIV-1 Tat increases oxidant burden in the lungs of transgenic mice. Free Radic Biol Med 51(9):1697–1707
- 36. Jacob BA, Porter KM, Elms SC, Cheng PY, Jones DP, Sutliff RL (2006) HIV-1-induced pulmonary oxidative and nitrosative stress: exacerbated response to endotoxin administration in HIV-1 transgenic mouse model. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 291(4):25
- Fan X, Joshi PC, Koval M, Guidot DM (2011) Chronic alcohol ingestion exacerbates lung epithelial barrier dysfunction in HIV-1 transgenic rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 35(10):1866–1875
- 38. Fan X, Staitieh BS, Jensen JS, Mould KJ, Greenberg JA, Joshi PC, Koval M, Guidot DM (2013) Activating the Nrf2-mediated antioxidant response element restores barrier function in the alveolar epithelium of HIV-1 transgenic rats. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 305(3):7
- Garofalo RP, Kolli D, Casola A (2013) Respiratory syncytial virus infection: mechanisms of redox control and novel therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(2):186–217
- Hosakote YM, Liu T, Castro SM, Garofalo RP, Casola A (2009) Respiratory syncytial virus induces oxidative stress by modulating antioxidant enzymes. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 41(3): 348–357
- Buffinton GD, Christen S, Peterhans E, Stocker R (1992) Oxidative stress in lungs of mice infected with influenza A virus. Free Radic Res Commun 16(2):99–110
- 42. Zang N, Xie X, Deng Y, Wu S, Wang L, Peng C, Li S, Ni K, Luo Y, Liu E (2011) Resveratrolmediated gamma interferon reduction prevents airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness in respiratory syncytial virus-infected immunocompromised mice. J Virol 85(24): 13061–13068

- 43. Hosakote YM, Jantzi PD, Esham DL, Spratt H, Kurosky A, Casola A, Garofalo RP (2011) Viral-mediated inhibition of antioxidant enzymes contributes to the pathogenesis of severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183(11):1550–1560
- 44. Castro SM, Guerrero-Plata A, Suarez-Real G, Adegboyega PA, Colasurdo GN, Khan AM, Garofalo RP, Casola A (2006) Antioxidant treatment ameliorates respiratory syncytial virusinduced disease and lung inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174(12):1361–1369
- 45. Ang LT, Tan LY, Chow VT, Sim MK (2012) Des-aspartate-angiotensin I exerts antiviral effects and attenuates ICAM-1 formation in rhinovirus-infected epithelial cells. Eur J Pharmacol 683(1-3):310-315
- Mallol J, Aguirre V, Espinosa V (2011) Increased oxidative stress in children with post infectious bronchiolitis obliterans. Allergol Immunopathol 39(5):253–258
- 47. Santos RS, Silva PL, Oliveira GP, Santos CL, Cruz FF, Assis EF, Castro-Faria-Neto HC, Capelozzi VL, Morales MM, Pelosi P, Gattass CR, Rocco PR (2013) Oleanolic acid improves pulmonary morphofunctional parameters, in experimental sepsis by modulating oxidative and apoptotic processes. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 4(13):00301–00307
- 48. Campos R, Shimizu MH, Volpini RA, de Braganca AC, Andrade L, Lopes FD, Olivo C, Canale D, Seguro AC (2012) N-acetylcysteine prevents pulmonary edema and acute kidney injury in rats with sepsis submitted to mechanical ventilation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 302(7):20
- 49. Gandhirajan RK, Meng S, Chandramoorthy HC, Mallilankaraman K, Mancarella S, Gao H, Razmpour R, Yang XF, Houser SR, Chen J, Koch WJ, Wang H, Soboloff J, Gill DL, Madesh M (2013) Blockade of NOX2 and STIM1 signaling limits lipopolysaccharide-induced vascular inflammation. J Clin Invest 123(2):887–902
- 50. Alfadda AA, Sallam RM (2012) Reactive oxygen species in health and disease. J Biomed Biotechnol 936486(10):8
- Wang L, Taneja R, Razavi HM, Law C, Gillis C, Mehta S (2012) Specific role of neutrophil inducible nitric oxide synthase in murine sepsis-induced lung injury in vivo. Shock 37(5): 539–547
- 52. Lange M, Hamahata A, Traber DL, Esechie A, Jonkam C, Bansal K, Nakano Y, Traber LD, Enkhbaatar P (2010) A murine model of sepsis following smoke inhalation injury. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 391(3):1555–1560
- Perrone LA, Belser JA, Wadford DA, Katz JM, Tumpey TM (2013) Inducible nitric oxide contributes to viral pathogenesis following highly pathogenic influenza virus infection in mice. J Infect Dis 207(10):1576–1584
- 54. Manni ML, Tomai LP, Norris CA, Thomas LM, Kelley EE, Salter RD, Crapo JD, Chang LY, Watkins SC, Piganelli JD, Oury TD (2011) Extracellular superoxide dismutase in macrophages augments bacterial killing by promoting phagocytosis. Am J Pathol 178(6):2752–2759
- 55. Yageta Y, Ishii Y, Morishima Y, Masuko H, Ano S, Yamadori T, Itoh K, Takeuchi K, Yamamoto M, Hizawa N (2011) Role of Nrf2 in host defense against influenza virus in cigarette smoke-exposed mice. J Virol 85(10):4679–4690
- 56. Thatcher TH, Hsiao HM, Pinner E, Laudon M, Pollock SJ, Sime PJ, Phipps RP (2013) Neu-164 and Neu-107, two novel antioxidant and anti-myeloperoxidase compounds, inhibit acute cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 305(2):17
- 57. Gokcinar D, Ergin V, Cumaoglu A, Menevse A, Aricioglu A (2013) Effects of ketamine, propofol, and ketofol on proinflammatory cytokines and markers of oxidative stress in a rat model of endotoxemia-induced acute lung injury. Acta Biochim Pol 11:11
- Downs CA, Helms MN (2013) Regulation of ion transport by oxidants. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 6:6
- 59. Cerqueira AM, Khaper N, Lees SJ, Ulanova M (2013) The antioxidant resveratrol downregulates inflammation in an in-vitro model of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection of lung epithelial cells. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 91(3):248–255
- 60. He X, Han B, Liu M (2007) Long pentraxin 3 in pulmonary infection and acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292(5):2

- Mata M, Martinez I, Melero JA, Tenor H, Cortijo J (2013) Roflumilast inhibits respiratory syncytial virus infection in human differentiated bronchial epithelial cells. PLoS One 8(7)
- 62. Shi XL, Shi ZH, Huang H, Zhu HG, Zhou P, Ju D (2010) Therapeutic effect of recombinant human catalase on H1N1 influenza-induced pneumonia in mice. Inflammation 33(3):166–172
- 63. Shi X, Shi Z, Huang H, Zhu H, Ju D, Zhou P (2013) PEGylated human catalase elicits potent therapeutic effects on H1N1 influenza-induced pneumonia in mice. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 26:26
- 64. Hunter DC, Skinner MA, Wolber FM, Booth CL, Loh JM, Wohlers M, Stevenson LM, Kruger MC (2012) Consumption of gold kiwifruit reduces severity and duration of selected upper respiratory tract infection symptoms and increases plasma vitamin C concentration in healthy older adults. Br J Nutr 108(7):1235–1245
- Du Z, Liu H, Zhang Z, Li P (2013) Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of Radix isatidis polysaccharide in murine alveolar macrophages. Int J Biol Macromol 58:329–335
- 66. Lu J, Ye S, Qin R, Deng Y, Li CP (2013) Effect of Chinese herbal medicine extracts on cell-mediated immunity in a rat model of tuberculosis induced by multiple drug-resistant bacilli. Mol Med Rep 8(1):227–232
- 67. Dan K, Akiyoshi H, Munakata K, Hasegawa H, Watanabe K (2013) A Kampo (traditional Japanese herbal) medicine, Hochuekkito, pretreatment in mice prevented influenza virus replication accompanied with GM-CSF expression and increase in several defensin mRNA levels. Pharmacology 91(5–6):314–321
- 68. Hsu JY, Chu JJ, Chou MC, Chen YW (2013) Dioscorin pre-treatment protects A549 human airway epithelial cells from hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress. Inflammation 11:11
- Yokozawa T, Sekiya M, Cho EJ, Kurokawa M, Shiraki K (2004) Effect of Wen-Pi-Tang extract on lung damage by influenza virus infection. Phytomedicine 11(7–8):625–632
- Kong CW, Tsai K, Chin JH, Chan WL, Hong CY (2000) Magnolol attenuates peroxidative damage and improves survival of rats with sepsis. Shock 13(1):24–28

Chapter 6 Oxidative Stress in Tuberculosis

Indu Verma, Surinder K. Jindal, and Nirmal K. Ganguly

6.1 Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) constitutes a huge global health burden, largely borne by the developing countries. As evidenced by tuberculin skin positivity, one third of the world's population is infected by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb), the causative agent. There were an estimated 8.7 million new cases and 1.4 million deaths from TB, including 0.43 million deaths in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive patients in the year 2011; India alone accounted for about 3.1 million TB prevalence and 0.3 million deaths from TB, including TB with positive HIV infection [83]. It is important to investigate the pathogenesis and immunology of TB to improve the disease management and control strategies. In spite of the numerous advances that have taken place in recent years, the mycobacterium remains enigmatic and continues to pose a challenge.

I. Verma

S.K. Jindal (🖂)

N.K. Ganguly Department of Biotechnology, National Institute of Immunology, Aruna Asaf Ali Road, New Delhi, India e-mail: nkganguly@nii.ac.in

Department of Biochemistry, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India e-mail: induvermabio@gmail.com

Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India e-mail: dr.skjindal@gmail.com

6.2 Pathogenesis and Immunology of Tuberculosis

Tuberculosis, like other infectious diseases, represents a constant state of struggle between the host and the tubercle bacillus. Pathogenesis of TB can be described in various stages starting with the inhalation of Mtb, finally resulting in formation of granulomas which may either liquefy to produce primary TB or contain the Mtb to arrest the further progression [22]. The host cell-mediated immunity (CMI) tends to contain the disease with the help of activated macrophages. On the other hand, Mtb uses various strategies to withstand the potential bactericidal host defences and evolve as a successful pathogen causing active disease. Thus, the relative strengths of these opposing mechanisms finally determine the disease progression or arrest.

TB is controlled almost entirely by CMI involving macrophages whose function is coordinated by T lymphocytes. The activated alveolar macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs) and probably also the alveolar epithelial cells engulf the inhaled mycobacteria; the bacilli keep on replicating in the macrophages and DCs which finally burst to release the mycobacteria. These are engulfed by other macrophages and recruited mononucleus cells from the neighbouring blood vessels. The inflammatory response spreads to the lymph nodes to initiate CMI and the T-cell activation.

The activated immune system is able to control the spread of TB in the majority of infected individuals. Both the innate and adaptive immune systems are involved in this process. The innate immunity consists of a complex interplay of various receptors, macrophages and dendritic cells, natural killer (NK) cells and neutrophils. A large number of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines bridge the innate and adaptive immunity [71]. The adaptive immunity involves CD4+/CD8+ T cells, regulatory T cells and memory T cells [19, 29, 75]. There is some recent evidence to support the role of B cell-mediated humoral immunity in protection against Mtb infection in mice [1, 48].

6.3 Oxidative Stress in Tuberculosis

Granuloma formation in TB represents a component of host defence as it results in the containment of infection thus preventing the spread of tubercle bacilli within the same host as well as between the susceptible hosts. However, intracellular bacilli can be released from the granulomas due to cell death/necrosis caused primarily by oxygen free radicals produced by macrophages and other cells [4, 78, 81]. Oxidative stress results in cellular damage due to the oxidation of amino acid residues on proteins, forming protein carbonyls [16], as well as oxidation of protein [11], ultimately resulting in protein fragmentation [5].

On the other hand, both nitrogen intermediates and oxygen radicals may also play an important role in the suppression of infection through mycobacterial inactivation/killing. The pathogenesis of tuberculosis is finally determined by the balance between various mechanisms, such as (1) the generation of reactive oxygen free radicals to kill the intracellular bacilli, (2) the antioxidant mechanisms employed by mycobacteria to escape the killing by free radicals in phagocytic cells and (3) antioxidant mechanisms by host cells to prevent the tissue damage. This chapter is focused on the mechanism of generation of oxidative stress in TB patients, contribution of oxidative stress to progression/pathogenesis of disease, pathogen and host antioxidant mechanisms and role of antioxidants in the therapy of disease.

Despite the various host antioxidant mechanisms, the accumulation of free radicals results in cellular and systemic oxidative stress [59]. Various studies have reported the increased levels of markers of oxidant-mediated tissue damage in the peripheral circulation of humans with active tuberculosis [62, 63]. Oxidative stress has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of lung fibrosis and lung dysfunction in tuberculosis patients, even following antimicrobial therapy [36, 41]. Besides the elevated levels of various by-products of free radical generation, depletion of various antioxidants, e.g. ascorbic acid and glutathione, has also been reported in TB patients [47, 79], further aggravating the oxidative stress in these patients. These studies clearly show the association between excessive oxidative stress and active TB. Recently, a significant correlation between high oxidant concentration and low concentration of antioxidants with varying bacillary load as well as severity of disease has been shown; it was also suggested that antioxidants supplementation may prove beneficial as well as may help in fast recovery of TB patients [54]. In another study, it has been demonstrated that the oxidative stress index significantly increased in untreated TB patients and decreased in TB patients on anti-tubercular therapy (ATT) with antioxidant supplementation. Hence, oxidative stress index can be considered as a novel marker in TB patients [21].

In vitro, Mtb has been shown to be susceptible to hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) induced damage [53]. This reaction often referred to as 'oxidative burst' is further aggravated by chlorination in macrophages and neutrophils that increases the toxicity of reactive oxygen species (ROS). At low concentrations, ROS are important for normal cellular functions by acting as signalling molecules in immunological response, blood circulation and endocrine functions [32]. During oxidative stress, the excess of ROS causes cell injury by oxidising various macromolecules including proteins, lipids and DNA, thus assuming an important role in the pathogenesis of various diseases [17].

6.3.1 Role of Alveolar Macrophages

Alveolar macrophages represent host's first line of defence against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. In the macrophages, Mtb is exposed to both oxygen-dependent and -independent mechanisms. In oxygen-dependent mechanisms, macrophages use ROS and reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNIs) to kill Mtb. Reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates have been widely reported as major antimicrobial molecules produced by host during tuberculosis [41]. The rapid release of ROS and RNI in response to phagocytic stimuli is referred as respiratory burst/oxidative burst. In

response to these ROS, the host cells mount antioxidant responses. It is the balance between these two opposing responses that maintains cellular homeostasis. The production of ROS in excess of antioxidant capacity of host results in the oxidative stress.

6.4 Hydrogen Peroxide

H₂O₂ produced by macrophages via oxidative burst was the first ROS identified as effector molecule that mediated mycobactericidal effects of mononuclear phagocytic cells [81]. The role of ROS to kill Mtb in human TB is yet to be documented. Various studies have shown that Mtb infection results in macrophage accumulation and H_2O_2 production in lungs and ascitic fluid [68, 74]. The H_2O_2 release was not found to be TB specific and there are contradictory reports regarding the ROSmediated killing of Mtb [13, 20]. Several studies have highlighted the role of oxygen free radicals in host protection as well as various strategies explored by Mtb to avoid ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) [40, 42, 78]. Comparison of murine knockout models lacking active NADPH oxidase (NOX) components with the wild-type strain indicated conflicting data among different laboratories. Different studies have shown that Mtb growth was enhanced in the absence of active NOX [2, 20], whereas in another study, no difference was observed between knockout and wild-type mice in their ability to control Mtb infection [38]. The high incidence of tuberculosis in people with NADH oxidase genetic defect suggests the role of ROS in Mtb persistence [42]. On the contrary, a study in guinea pigs has demonstrated that microbicidal activity of macrophages for various strains of Mtb and *M. bovis* was not related to intensity of H₂O₂ generation and respiratory burst [58]. A possible role of H_2O_2 in intracellular communication during formation/dissociation of granulomas in the BCG-induced granulomatosis has been reported in a recent study [52].

Both systemic and tissue oxidative stress were progressive and correlated with the loss of antioxidant mechanisms, suggesting the benefit of antioxidant treatment of patients with tuberculosis [59]. Thus, it can be stated that besides ROS production by host cells in response to mycobacterial infection, the host as well as the pathogen's antioxidant mechanisms may also play an important role in the pathogenesis of tuberculosis.

6.5 Reactive Nitrogen Intermediates in TB

In response to mycobacterial infection, parallel with O_2 radicals, another major antimicrobial pathway through inducible NO synthase (iNOS or NOS2) leads to increased production of NO [13, 14], which further react with each other to produce highly reactive OONO⁻ free radicals. The results of several studies using murine models provide that NO is capable of killing mycobacteria [13, 14] and that iNOSdeficient mice were highly susceptible to TB infection [38, 46]. The presence of increased iNOS protein and mRNA levels in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) specimens from active pulmonary TB patients also suggests the role for NO in TB [56]. In our own laboratory, we saw a significant depression of the respiratory burst response in the patient group compared to that in healthy controls [39]. On the other hand, the RNIs and citrulline levels were significantly higher before therapy and returned to normal after 3 months of anti-tubercular treatment; supporting their role in the microbicidal activity of activated macrophages [39].

Antimycobacterial effect of macrophages is known in the absence of oxidative burst suggesting the role of other mechanisms. RNIs such as nitric oxide (NO), nitrate radical (NO₂) and nitrate (NO₃) are potent effector molecules of macrophagemediated extracellular and intracellular cytotoxicity against various microorganisms, including the mycobacteria [12]. Their role in human TB infection is however controversial. There are experimental data to suggest the putative antimicrobicidal role of NO and related RNI produced by human macrophages as well as the demonstration of high level expression of nitric oxide synthase in macrophages obtained from BAL fluid of patients of active pulmonary TB [8, 56].

6.5.1 Antioxidant Strategies by Mycobacterium tuberculosis

Mycobacterium tuberculosis, in spite of being an aerobic bacterium, is also an intracellular pathogen that initially resides inside a membrane-bound phagosomal compartment of macrophages—an environment subjected to oxidative and nitrosative stress. However, the mycobacterium has evolved a number of protective mechanisms to cope with oxidative stress, responsible in the pathogenesis of tuberculosis. The presence of various protective enzymes, such as the catalase, superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidase–peroxynitrite reductase complex and thioredoxin–thioredoxin reductase system, causes neutralisation of oxygen and nitrogen free radicals. It has also been shown that the existence of specialised mechanism and pathways, e.g. those involved in DNA repair, protects the Mtb against the damage caused to various macromolecules by oxidative stress [26].

Catalase peroxidise (KatG) is the enzyme system utilised by mycobacteria to detoxify H_2O_2 . *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* has one catalase KatG that has catalase, peroxidase and peroxynitritase activity [45] and has been shown to play a role in the virulence of Mtb. SOD is another protective enzyme which is a metalloprotein and is involved in the dismutation of oxygen free radicals into H_2O_2 and molecular oxygen. There are two different types of SODs in Mtb; SOD A which is an iron containing enzyme (FeSOD) and SOD C, a copper and zinc containing enzyme (CuZnSOD). In various studies, both SOD A and SOD C have been shown to play a role in protecting Mtb against ROS [25, 61]. Deletion of sec A2 gene that encodes a protein required for secretion of SOD A results in enhanced ROS production [65].

Mycothiol is a low-molecular-weight thiol in mycobacteria and functions like glutathione, which is not produced by mycobacteria. Sensitivity of mycothiol (MSH) mutants to oxidative stress suggests the role of mycothiol in maintaining the redox balance in mycobacterial cells in response to oxidative stress [9, 10].

An orthologue for bacterial alkyl hydroperoxidases (AhpC) is encoded by mycobacterial *ahpC* gene [20]. It is a non-heme peroxiredoxin (Prx) utilised to detoxify organic peroxides by reducing them into less reactive alcohol derivatives [85]. Mycobacterial alkyl hydroperoxide reductase (AhpC) has been shown to protect the bacilli against both oxidative and nitrosative stress [50]. Similarly, another Prx system in Mtb is thioredoxin reductase (TPX) that has been shown to be highly effective in protecting the bacilli from host oxidative stress and has been recently shown to be involved in virulence [34]. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is also known to contain two methionine sulphoxide reductases (MSRs) that are involved in the reduction of methionine sulphoxide to methionine and to protect against ROS and RNS [43].

 F_{420} is a redox active enzyme cofactor which derives its name from the intrinsic 420 nm absorption; various F_{420} -dependent enzymes are known to be involved in oxygen detoxification [67]. Various mycobacterial species including *M. leprae* are known to contain F_{420} as well as unique F_{420} -dependent glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (FGD). In *M. smegmatis*, a non-pathogenic mycobacterial strain, FGD has been demonstrated to have a role in combating the oxidative stress [33]. Recently, it has been reported that F_{420} -deficient mutant of Mtb is hypersensitive to oxidative stress as well as bactericidal agents thus confirming the role of F_{420} -dependent antioxidant mechanism in the pathogenesis of tuberculosis by protecting the Mtb against the oxidative stress produced by host cells [31].

6.5.2 Sensing of Oxidative Stress by Mycobacterium tuberculosis

In bacteria, the oxidative/nitrosative stress is sensed by various transcription factors such as OxyR and SoxR. However, in Mtb, the prototypical homologue of SoxR is absent whereas OxyR is non-functional due to a number of mutations [24]. Two-component signal transduction systems are also used by many bacteria to allow them to respond rapidly to changes in their environment. These systems consist of a membrane-bound sensor histidine kinase, which in response to environmental stimulus undergoes auto-phosphorylation on a conserved histidine residue followed by transfer of phosphoryl group to a conserved aspartate residue on the downstream response regulator which is thereby activated as either a positive or a negative transcriptional regulator.

The genome of Mtb has been shown to encode 11 complete pairs of twocomponent signal transduction systems [18]. Some of these sensors, such as hemebased DosS and DosT, are unique to mycobacteria, whereas others, such as the WhiB proteins and anti- σ factor RsrA, are unique to actinobacteria [6]. Recent studies have demonstrated the role of a family of Fe-S cluster containing proteins called WhiB proteins that are putative transcription factors and have been suggested to play a functional role in Mtb similar to OxyR and SoxR in other bacteria [28]. Additionally, the DOS R-S/T two-component heme sensor system implicated in the virulence of Mtb is the most well-characterised signalling system in Mtb that is known to sense various gases including carbon monoxide (CO), nitric oxide (NO) and oxygen (O₂) [40].

6.5.3 Host Antioxidant Mechanisms

The antioxidant capacity of host cells is maintained by various intracellular and circulating proteins/non-protein molecules and phase II detoxification enzymes. The induction of expression of these enzymes requires binding of specific inducers to the antioxidant response element (ARE) that is present in the promoter regions of genes encoding phase II enzymes. The transcriptional activation of ARE-dependent phase II antioxidant enzymes is brought about by a nuclear erythroid 2 p45-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a redox-sensitive transcription factor. Under normal physiological conditions, Nrf2 is present in the cytoplasm whereas it translocates to nucleus under oxidative stress leading to transcriptional activation of phase II antioxidant enzymes including NAD(P)H dehydrogenase quinone I (NOO1) and glutamate-cysteine ligase-an enzyme involved in synthesis of an antioxidant tripeptide glutathione [51, 84]. In extrapulmonary tuberculosis in guinea pigs, there is progressive oxidative stress, particularly due to the defect in host antioxidant defences that can be restored by antioxidant therapy. These investigators also showed that the therapeutic strategies that reduce oxidative stress-mediated tissue damage may prove to be beneficial as adjunct therapy to ATT [59].

The host antioxidant defence mechanism, in response to oxidative stress, could be executed either directly or indirectly by a number of protein/non-protein molecules. In direct activity, the antioxidants scavenge the peroxidants ROS and prevent the initiation of ROS-mediated reactions. These include SOD, catalase, glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and Prxs. GPx and Prx are thiol containing compounds that use glutathione (GSH) and thioredoxin (Trx), respectively, as substrates. Besides these direct enzymatic antioxidants, vitamin C (ascorbic acid), vitamin E (alpha tocopherol), beta carotene and lipoic acid are some of the non-enzymatic antioxidants.

Indirectly, antioxidants facilitate the excretion of oxidised reactive metabolites, e.g. the aldehydes, quinines and peroxides. Alternatively they can also participate in the synthesis of thiol molecules that serve as substrate for various direct antioxidant phase II detoxification enzymes, e.g. glutathione-*S*-transferase, NADPH quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1), glutathione cysteine ligase (GCL), glutathione synthetase (GS), gamma glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT), UDP glucuronyltransferase (UGT), Trx reductase and heme oxygenase. Another non-protein antioxidant is a thiol tripeptide molecule glutathione that is present in both oxidised (GSSG) and reduced (GSH) forms in all mammalian cells and is involved in the maintenance of redox potential by eliminating the free radicals [7]. Earlier it has been reported that in the whole blood of Mtb-infected guinea pigs, reduced-glutathione (GSH) levels were markedly decreased as the infection progressed which was reflected by a significant decrease in the GSH/GSSG ratio [59]. These authors also demonstrated an overall increase in the total glutathione expression in lung lesions which was indicative of the host response to oxidative stress as a consequence of Mtb infection [59].

Heme oxygenase (HO) is a key stress-response enzyme that degrades heme molecules, thereby releasing free iron, carbon monoxide (CO) and biliverdin that have anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties [30, 77]. Increased expression of HO-1 has been observed in the plasma of individuals with a variety of other pulmonary pathologies, including acute respiratory distress syndrome, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma [55]. Epiphanio et al. [27] reported that HO-1 contributes to the establishment of malaria infection by decreasing the host inflammatory response to pre-erythrocytic stages, while Shiloh et al. [70] reported that HO-1 and CO induce the 'dormancy regulon' of Mtb and may contribute to latency in tuberculosis infection. Recently, Andrade et al. [3] reported the increased plasma levels of HO-1 in pulmonary TB patients. Considering the intracellular localisation of HO-1, the increased levels of this enzyme could be derived from injured tissues, thus suggesting the strong association of HO-1 with both bacterial burden and disease severity in the lung. HO-1 levels have been suggested [3] as a potentially useful parameter for distinguishing active from latent or treated pulmonary tuberculosis. A positive correlation between HO-1 levels and plasma IL-10 levels and negative correlation with TNF-levels were also reported [3].

6.6 Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis

Antibiotic resistance has been shown to get accelerated by ROS induced by antibacterial stimulation [82]. In a study on the significance of oxidative DNA damage in drug-resistant *Escherichia coli* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, the ROS damage was suggested to play a critical role [82]. Correlation between resistance to first-line anti-tubercular drugs (in particular isoniazid) and reduced NO susceptibility has been shown in clinical *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates from 50 sputum-smear- and culture-positive patients [35].

In other studies the mutation rate of Mtb in response to oxidative stress was not increased in strains with deficient catalase and peroxidase activity (DIC). Interestingly, however, there were mutations in unusual locations similar to those seen in clinical isoniazid-resistant strains [57].

Mtb engulfed by macrophages are shown to survive and grow by inactivation of ROS and RNIs in the presence of several Mtb gene products [86]. For example, KatG, lipoarabinomannan, SOD proteins and others protect Mtb by one or the other mechanisms [6, 49].

6.6.1 Role of Antioxidants in Therapeutic Strategies for TB

Vitamin C, an essential nutrient for some mammals, has potent antioxidant as well as pro-oxidant properties. There are conflicting reports suggesting either beneficial or nil effect of vitamin C in the treatment of TB [73]. Vitamin C could sterilise Mtb cultures in vitro [60]. Correlation between the high vitamin C content of some medicinal plant extracts and their activity against Mtb has been shown in a recent study [76]. A breakthrough study has reported the pro-oxidant activity of vitamin C against drug-susceptible, multi-drug-resistant (MDR) and extensive drug-resistant (XDR) Mtb [80]. The sterilising effect of vitamin C on Mtb in this study was observed to be mediated by high iron concentration, ROS production and DNA damage. These authors proposed for further studies on the benefits of a high vitamin C diet in TB-treated patients and on the development of bactericidal drugs based on ROS production.

There is a potential role of various food supplements and other products which enhance the activity and production of NO and other free radicals. Arginine-rich food (pea nuts) in a subgroup of HIV+/TB patients showed significantly better cure rate of anti-TB treatment [66]. On the other hand, low initial levels of NO in exhaled air were associated with a poor cure rate. Some of the novel copper complexes, studied for their SOD and antioxidant activities, have been found to promote DNA damage in the presence of oxidants and demonstrate anti-tuberculosis activity [37]. Supplementation of anti-tubercular treatment with micronutrients, vitamin E and selenium was shown to reduce oxidative stress in TB patients [69].

Oxidative stress has been blamed for hepatotoxicity caused by several first-line anti-TB drugs such as INH, rifampicin and pyrazinamide. Herbal drugs like curcumin, silymarin and *N*-acetyl cysteine (NAC) in in vitro model of human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines (HepG2) showed hepato-protective effect during treatment of HepG2 with ATT drugs [72]. Such observations may support the adjuvant role of antioxidant drugs with anti-TB treatment. TB patients show lower iNOS expression and NO production, which however tend to increase during anti-TB treatment [23].

The Nrf2 pathway, which is frequently targeted therapeutically to control inflammatory disease conditions related to oxidative stress, has not been investigated in the context of tuberculosis [15, 44]. Several naturally occurring compounds such as isothiocyanates and thiols have been shown to induce this pathway and increase antioxidant and anti-inflammatory responses. NAC is one such compound that is known to induce Nrf2 translocation and activation of antioxidant gene transcription in treated HepG2 cells [15]. It is an FDA-approved drug that is used in an aerosol form (Mucomyst[®]) as a mucolytic agent in patients with cystic fibrosis or chronic airway disease and is one of the most commonly used ROS scavenger/antioxidant drugs currently used clinically and in preclinical trials [64].

Currently, NAC is being tested in a human clinical trial to counteract oxidantmediated liver toxicity associated with tuberculosis drug therapy. In a recent report, the treatment of Mtb-infected guinea pigs with NAC partially restored blood glutathione concentrations, and serum total antioxidant capacity, while it decreased spleen bacterial counts, lung and spleen lesion burden and the severity of lesion necrosis [59]. These data suggest that the progressive oxidative stress during experimental tuberculosis in guinea pigs is due in part to a defect in host antioxidant defences, which can be partially restored with antioxidant treatment. Therefore, the therapeutic strategies that reduce oxidant-mediated tissue damage may potentially be beneficial as an adjunct to therapy in the treatment and prevention of tuberculosis in humans [59].

In conclusion, the toxic oxygen and nitrogen species are shown to play an important role in the pathogenesis of TB and damage to different organs. There is some evidence to suggest the beneficial use of antioxidants such as vitamin C and NAC in treatment of TB and anti-TB drug toxicity.

References

- 1. Abede F, Bjune G (2009) The protective role of antibody responses during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Clin Exp Immunol 157:235–243
- Adams LB, Dinauer MC, Morgenstern DE, Krahenbuhl JL (1997) Comparison of the roles of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates in the host response to *Mycobacterium tuberculo*sis using transgenic mice. Tuber Lung Dis 78:237–246
- Andrade BB, Pavan KN, Mayer-Barber KD, Barber DL, Sridhar R, Rekha VV, Jawahar MS, Nutman TB, Sher A, Babu S (2013) Plasma heme oxygenase-1 levels distinguish latent or successfully treated human tuberculosis from active disease. PLoS One 8:e62618
- Bedard K, Krause KH (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87:245–313
- Berlett BS, Stadtman ER (1997) Protein oxidation in aging, disease, and oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 272:20313–20316
- 6. Bhat SA, Singh N, Trivedi A, Kansal P, Gupta P, Kumar A (2012) The mechanism of redox sensing in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Free Radic Biol Med 53:1625–1641
- 7. Biswas SK, Rahman I (2009) Environmental toxicity, redox signaling and lung inflammation: the role of glutathione. Mol Aspects Med 30:60–76
- Bonecini-Almeida MG, Chitale S, Boutsikakis I, Geng J, Doo H, He S et al (1998) Induction of in vitro human macrophage anti-Mycobacterium tuberculosis activity requirement for IFN-gamma and primed lymphocytes. J Immunol 160:4490–4499
- Buchmeier NA, Newton GL, Koledin T, Fahey RC (2003) Association of mycothiol with protection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* from toxic oxidants and antibiotics. Mol Microbiol 47(6):1723–1732
- Buchmeier NA, Newton GL, Fahey RC (2006) A mycothiol synthase mutant of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* has an altered thiol-disulfide content and limited tolerance to stress. J Bacteriol 188(17):6245–6252
- 11. Castegna A, Drake J, Pocernich C, Butterfield DA (2003) Protein carbonyl levels—an assessment of protein oxidation. In: Hensley K and Floyd RA (eds) Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology: methods in Biological oxidative stress. Humana Press Inc. Totowa, NJ, pp 161–168
- Chan J, Flynn JL (1999) Nitric oxide in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. In: Fang FC (ed) Nitric oxide and infection. Plenum/Kluwer Academic, New York, pp 281–310
- Chan J, Xing Y, Magliozzo RS, Bloom BR (1992) Killing of virulent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by reactive nitrogen intermediates produced by activated murine macrophages. J Exp Med 175(4):1111–1122

6 Oxidative Stress in Tuberculosis

- Chan J, Tanaka K, Carroll D, Flynn J, Bloom BR (1995) Effects of nitric oxide synthase inhibitors on murine infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Infect Immun 63(2):736–740
- 15. Chen C, Pung D, Leong V, Hebbar V, Shen G, Nair S, Li W, Kong AN (2004) Induction of detoxifying enzymes by garlic organosulfur compounds through transcription factor Nrf2: effect of chemical structure and stress signals. Free Radic Biol Med 37(10):1578–1590
- Chevion M, Berenshtein E, Stadtman ER (2000) Human studies related to protein oxidation: protein carbonyl content as a marker of damage. Free Radic Res 33(108):S99–S108
- 17. Cho HY, Kleeberger SR (2007) Genetic mechanisms of susceptibility to oxidative lung injury in mice. Free Radic Biol Med 42(4):433–445
- Cole ST, Brosch R, Parkhill J, Garnier T, Churcher C et al (1998) Deciphering the biology of Mycobacterium tuberculosis from the complete genome sequence. Nature 393(6685):537–544
- 19. Cooper AM (2009) Cell mediated immune responses in tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 27:393–422
- Cooper AM, Segal BH, Frank AA, Holland SM, Orme IM (2000) Transient loss of resistance to pulmonary tuberculosis in p47 phox-/- mice. Infect Immun 68(3):1231–1234
- Dalvi SM, Patil VW, Ramraje NN (2012) The roles of glutathione, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase and the carbonyl protein in pulmonary and extra pulmonary tuberculosis. J Clin Diagn Res 6(9):1462–1465
- Dannenberg AM Jr, Converse PJ (2011) Pathophysiology and immunology. In: Schlossberg D (ed) Tuberculosis and nontuberculous mycobacterial infections, 6th edn. ASM Press, Washington, DC, pp 29–65
- 23. de Oliveira LR, Peresi E, Tavares FC, Correa CR, Pierine DT, Calvi SA (2012) DNA damage in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients undergoing anti-tuberculosis treatment. Mutat Res 747:82–85
- 24. Deretic V, Philipp W, Dhandayuthapani S, Mudd MH, Curcic R et al (1995) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is a natural mutant with an inactivated oxidative-stress regulatory gene: implications for sensitivity to isoniazid. Mol Microbiol 17(5):889–900
- Edwards KM, Cynamon MH, Voladri RK, Hager CC, DeStefano MS et al (2001) Ironcofactored superoxide dismutase inhibits host responses to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164(12):2213–2219
- Ehrt S, Schnappinger D (2009) Mycobacterial survival strategies in the phagosome: defence against host stresses. Cell Microbiol 11(8):1170–1178
- 27. Epiphanio S, Mikolajczak SA, Gonçalves LA, Pamplona A, Portugal S et al (2008) Heme oxygenase-1 is an anti-inflammatory host factor that promotes murine plasmodium liver infection. Cell Host Microbe 3(5):331–338
- Farhana A, Guidry L, Srivastava A, Singh A, Hondalus MK et al (2010) Reductive stress in microbes: implications for understanding Mycobacterium tuberculosis disease and persistence. Adv Microb Physiol 57:43–117
- 29. Flynn JL, Chan J (2001) Immunology of tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 19:93-129
- Gozzelino R, Jeney V, Soares MP (2010) Mechanisms of cell protection by heme oxygenase-1. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 50:323–354
- Gurumurthy M, Rao M, Mukherjee T, Rao SPS, Boshoff HI et al (2013) A novel F420dependent anti-oxidant mechanism protects *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* against oxidative stress and bactericidal agents. Mol Microbiol 87(4):744–755
- Hancock JT, Desikan R, Neill SJ (2001) Role of reactive oxygen species in cell signalling pathways. Biochem Soc Trans 29(Pt 2):345–350
- 33. Hasan MR, Rahman M, Jaques S, Purwantini E, Daniels L (2010) Glucose 6-phosphate accumulation in mycobacteria: implications for a novel F₄₂₀-dependent anti-oxidant defense system. J Biol Chem 285(25):19135–19144
- 34. Hu Y, Coates ARM (2009) Acute and persistent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infections depend on the thiol peroxidase TPX. PLoS One 4(4):e5150
- 35. Idh J, Mekonnen M, Abate E, Wedajo W, Werngren J, Angeby K, Lerm M, Elias D, Sundqvist T, Aseffa A, Stendahl O, Schon T (2012) Resistance to first-line anti-TB drugs is associated with reduced nitric oxide susceptibility in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. PLoS One 7(6):e39891

- Jack CI, Jackson MJ, Hind CR (1994) Circulating markers of free radical activity in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Tuber Lung Dis 75(2):132–137
- Joseph J, Nagashri K, Janaki GB (2012) Novel metal based anti-tuberculosis agent: synthesis, characterization, catalytic and pharmacological activities of copper complexes. Eur J Med Chem 49:151–163
- 38. Jung YJ, LaCourse R, Ryan L, North RJ (2002) Virulent but not avirulent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* can evade the growth inhibitory action of a T helper 1-dependent, nitric oxide synthase 2-independent defense in mice. J Exp Med 196(7):991–998
- Kumar V, Jindal SK, Ganguly NK (1995) Release of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates from monocytes of patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 55:163–169
- 40. Kumar A, Farhana A, Guidry L, Saini V, Hondalus M et al (2011) Redox homeostasis in mycobacteria: the key to tuberculosis control? Expert Rev Mol Med 13:e39
- Kwiatkowska S, Piasecka G, Zieba M, Piotrowski W, Nowak D (1999) Increased serum concentrations of conjugated dienes and malondialdehyde in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Respir Med 93(4):272–276
- 42. Lee PP, Chan KW, Jiang L, Chen T, Li C et al (2008) Susceptibility to mycobacterial infections in children with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease: a review of 17 patients living in a region endemic for tuberculosis. Pediatr Infect Dis J 27(3):224–230
- 43. Lee WL, Gold B, Darby C, Brot N, Jiang X et al (2009) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* expresses methionine sulphoxide reductases A and B that protect from killing by nitrite and hypochlorite. Mol Microbiol 71(3):583–593
- 44. Li N, Nel AE (2006) Role of the Nrf2-mediated signaling pathway as a negative regulator of inflammation: implications for the impact of particulate pollutants on asthma. Antioxid Redox Signal 8(1–2):88–98
- 45. Li Z, Kelley C, Collins F, Rouse D, Morris S (1998) Expression of katG in Mycobacterium tuberculosis is associated with its growth and persistence in mice and guinea pigs. J Infect Dis 177(4):1030–1035
- 46. MacMicking JD, North RJ, LaCourse R, Mudgett JS, Shah SK et al (1997) Identification of nitric oxide synthase as a protective locus against tuberculosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(10):5243–5248
- Madebo T, Lindtjorn B, Aukrust P, Berge RK (2003) Circulating antioxidants and lipid peroxidation products in untreated tuberculosis patients in Ethiopia. Am J Clin Nutr 78(1):117–122
- Maglione PJ, Chan J (2009) How B cells shape the immune response against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Eur J Immunol 39:676–686
- 49. Manca C, Paul S, Barry CE, Freedman VH, Kaplan G (1999) Mycobacterium tuberculosis catalase and peroxidase activities and resistance to oxidative killing in human monocytes in vitro. Infect Immun 67:74–79
- Master SS, Springer B, Sander P, Boettger EC, Deretic V et al (2002) Oxidative stress response genes in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: role of ahpC in resistance to peroxynitrite and stagespecific survival in macrophages. Microbiology 148(Pt 10):3139–3144
- 51. McWalter GK, Higgins LG, McLellan LI, Henderson CJ, Song L et al (2004) Transcription factor Nrf2 is essential for induction of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1, glutathione s-transferases, and glutamate cysteine ligase by broccoli seeds and isothiocyanates. J Nutr 134(12):3499S–3506S
- 52. Menshchikova E, Zenkov N, Tkachev V, Potapova O, Cherdantseva L et al (2013) Oxidative stress and free-radical oxidation in BCG granulomatosis development. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2013:8
- 53. Mitchison DA, Selkon JB, Lloyd J (1963) Virulence in the guinea-pig, susceptibility to hydrogen peroxide, and catalase activity of isoniazid-sensitive tubercle bacilli from South Indian and British patients. J Pathol Bacteriol 86:377–386
- Mohod K, Dhok A, Kumar S (2011) Status of oxidants and antioxidants in pulmonary tuberculosis with varying bacillary load. J Exp Sci 2(6):35–37
- Morse D, Choi AM (2005) Heme oxygenase-1: from bench to bedside. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172(6):660–670

- 56. Nicholson S, Bonecini-Almeida Mda G, Lapa e Silva JR, Nathan C, Xie QW et al (1996) Inducible nitric oxide synthase in pulmonary alveolar macrophages from patients with tuberculosis. J Exp Med 183(5):2293–2302
- 57. O'Brien S, Jackett PS, Lowrie DB, Andrew PW (1991) Guinea-pig alveolar macrophages kill Mycobacterium tuberculosis in vitro, but killing is independent of susceptibility to hydrogen peroxide or triggering of the respiratory burst. Microb Pathog 10(3):199–207
- 58. O'Sullivan DM, McHugh TB, Gillespie SH (2008) The effect of oxidative stress on the mutation rate of Mycobacterium tuberculosis with impaired catalase/peroxidase function. J Antimicrob Chemother 62:709–712
- 59. Palanisamy GS, Kirk NM, Ackart DF, Shanley CA, Orme IM et al (2011) Evidence for oxidative stress and defective antioxidant response in guinea pigs with tuberculosis. PLoS One 6(10):e26254
- 60. Pichat P, Reveilleau A (1950) Bactericidal action for Koch's bacilli of massive doses of vitamin C; comparison of its action on a certain number of other microbes. Ann Inst Pasteur (Paris) 79(3):342–344
- 61. Piddington DL, Fang FC, Laessig T, Cooper AM, Orme IM et al (2001) Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase of Mycobacterium tuberculosis contributes to survival in activated macrophages that are generating an oxidative burst. Infect Immun 69(8):4980–4987
- 62. Plit ML, Theron AJ, Fickl H, van Rensburg CE, Pendel S et al (1998) Influence of antimicrobial chemotherapy and smoking status on the plasma concentrations of vitamin C, vitamin E, beta-carotene, acute phase reactants, iron and lipid peroxides in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2(7):590–596
- Reddy YN, Murthy SV, Krishna DR, Prabhakar MC (2004) Role of free radicals and antioxidants in tuberculosis patients. Indian J Tuberc 51:213–218
- 64. Ritter C, Andrades ME, Reinke A, Menna-Barreto S, Moreira JC et al (2004) Treatment with N-acetylcysteine plus deferoxamine protects rats against oxidative stress and improves survival in sepsis. Crit Care Med 32(2):342–349
- 65. Romero MM, Balboa L, Basile JI, López B, Ritacco V et al (2012) Clinical isolates of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* differ in their ability to induce respiratory burst and apoptosis in neutrophils as a possible mechanism of immune escape. Clin Dev Immunol 11:152546
- 66. Schon T, Idh J, Westman A, Elias D, Abate E, Diro E, Moges F, Kassu A, Ayele B, Forslund T, Getachew A, Britton S, Stendahl O, Sundqvist T (2011) Effects of a food supplement rich in arginine in patients with smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis—a randomized trial. Tuberculosis 91:370–377
- 67. Seedorf H, Dreisbach A, Hedderich R, Shima S, Thauer RK (2004) F₄₂₀H₂ oxidase (FprA) from *Methanobrevibacter arboriphilus*, a coenzyme F420-dependent enzyme involved in O2 detoxification. Arch Microbiol 182(2–3):126–137
- Selvaraj P, Venkataprasad N, Vijayan VK, Prabhakar R, Narayanan PR (1988) Alveolar macrophages in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Lung India 6:71–74
- 69. Seyedrezazadeh E, Ostadrahimi A, Mahboob S, Assadi Y, Ghaemmagami J, Pourmogaddam M (2008) Effect of vitamin E and selenium supplementation on oxidative stress status in pulmonary tuberculosis patients. Respirology 13:294–298
- Shiloh MU, Manzanillo P, Cox JS (2008) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* senses host-derived carbon monoxide during macrophage infection. Cell Host Microbe 3(5):323–330
- 71. Singh KK, Verma I (2011) Immunology and pathogenesis. In: Jindal SK et al (eds) Textbook of pulmonary and critical care medicine. Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers, New Delhi, pp 528–538
- 72. Singh M, Sasi P, Gupta VH, Rai G, Amarapurkar DN, Wangikar PP (2012) Protective effect of curcumin, silymarin and N-acetylcysteine on antitubercular drug-induced hepatotoxicity assessed in an in vitro model. Hum Exp Toxicol 31:788–797
- 73. Stone I (1972) The healing factor: vitamin C against disease. Grosset and Dunlap, New York
- 74. Swamy R, Acharyalu GS, Balasubramaniam R, Narayanan PR, Prabhakar R (1988) Immunological investigations in tuberculous ascites. Indian J Tuberc 35:3–7
- Talreja J, Bhatnagar A, Jindal SK, Ganguly NK (2003) Influence of Mycobacterium tuberculosis on differential activation of helper T-cells. Clin Exp Immunol 131:292–298

- 76. Taneja NK, Dhingra S, Mittal A, Naresh M, Tyagi JS (2010) Mycobacterium tuberculosis transcriptional adaptation, growth arrest and dormancy phenotype development is triggered by vitamin C. PLoS One 5(5):e10860
- 77. Tenhunen R, Marver HS, Schmid R (1968) The enzymatic conversion of heme to bilirubin by microsomal heme oxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 61(2):748–755
- Trivedi A, Singh N, Bhat SA, Gupta P, Kumar A (2012) Redox biology of tuberculosis pathogenesis. Adv Microb Physiol 60:263–324
- 79. Vijayamalini M, Manoharan S (2004) Lipid peroxidation, vitamins C, E and reduced glutathione levels in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Cell Biochem Funct 22(1):19–22
- 80. Vilcheze C, Hartman T, Weinrick B, Jacobs WR Jr (2013) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is extraordinarily sensitive to killing by a vitamin C-induced Fenton reaction. Nat Commun 4:1881
- Walker L, Lowrie DB (1981) Killing of *Mycobacterium microti* by immunologically activated macrophages. Nature 293(5827):69–71
- Wang ZY, Xiong M, Fu LY, Zhang HY (2013) Oxidative DNA damage is important to the evolution of antibiotic resistance: evidence of mutation bias and its medicinal implications. J Biomol Struct Dyn 31:729–733
- 83. WHO (2012) Global tuberculosis control. WHO report. WHO, Geneva
- Wild AC, Moinova HR, Mulcahy RT (1999) Regulation of γ-glutamylcysteine synthetase subunit gene expression by the transcription factor Nrf2. J Biol Chem 274(47):33627–33636
- Wilson TM, Collins DM (1996) ahpC, a gene involved in isoniazid resistance of the Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex. Mol Microbiol 19(5):1025–1034
- 86. Yuniastuti A (2012) The role and characteristic of antioxidant for redox homeostasis control system in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Int Res J Microbiol 3:416–422

Chapter 7 Oxidative Stress in COPD

Peter J. Barnes

Abbreviations

4HNE	4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal
FEV_1	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second
GSH	Glutathione
GST	Glutathione-S-transferase
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
IL	Interleukin
MDA	Malondialdehyde
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-KB
NOX	NADPH oxidase
Nrf2	Nuclear erythroid-2-related factor 2
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
TGF	Transforming growth factor

7.1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is an increasing global health problem, which is now the third leading cause of death worldwide [55]. It currently affects around 10 % of the population of over 45 years but this rises to 50 % in heavy smokers and it has been estimated that the cumulative lifetime risk of

P.J. Barnes, F.Med.Sci., F.R.S. (🖂)

Airway Disease Section, National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College London, Dovehouse Street, London SW3 6LY, UK e-mail: p.j.barnes@imperial.ac.uk

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_7, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014



Fig. 7.1 The many effects on increased oxidative stress in COPD. Oxidative stress may be increased in COPD by a reduction in the transcription factor Nrf2, activation of NADPH oxidases (NOX), myeloperoxidase (MPO) and reduced superoxide dismutase (SOD), which may be triggered by inflammatory stimuli. Oxidative stress is a key mechanism that drives the development and progression of COPD through activation of the pro-inflammatory transcription factor nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB), p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), generation of autoantibodies to carbonylated proteins, reduced expression of sirtuin-1, DNA damage, reduced histone deacety-lase (HDAC)-2 expression, reduced activity of antiproteases and increased release of transforming growth factor (TGF)- β . Oxidative stress in COPD may be reduced by several approaches (shown in *grey boxes*)

developing is now over 25 % [34]. The increase in COPD globally is greatest in low income countries, where indoor air pollution, such as exposure to biomass smoke, is as common as cigarette smoking as a risk factor [77, 78]. The major aetiological factor driving this disease is likely to be increased oxidative stress in the lungs following long-term exposure to cigarette smoke or the combustion products of biomass fuels [50]. Oxidative stress arises as a result of endogenous antioxidant defences being impaired and/or overwhelmed by the presence of reactive oxygen species (ROS). COPD is characterized by chronic inflammation and fibrosis of the small airways and destruction of the lung parenchyma (emphysema) [39, 58]. A striking feature of COPD is its failure to resolve when exposure to cigarette smoke has stopped [33], which has led to the suggestion that other endogenous factors, such as autoimmunity or persistent infection, may also be driving the disease [4]. Oxidative stress appears to drive many of the pathogenetic mechanisms involved in COPD and its progression (Fig. 7.1).

7.2 Persistent Lung and Systemic Oxidative Stress in COPD

There is evidence for persistent oxidative stress in COPD patients, particularly during acute exacerbations. Alveolar macrophages from COPD patients are more activated and release increased amounts of ROS in the form of superoxide anions and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) [79]. Similarly, activated peripheral blood neutrophils from COPD patients release increased amounts of ROS, particularly during exacerbations [65]. Lung tissue from COPD patients shows increased lipid peroxidation, as measured by 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (4HNE) [73]. There is an increased concentration of the volatile product of lipid peroxidation ethane in exhaled breath of COPD patients and this is correlated with disease severity [69]. COPD patients have increased concentrations of H2O2, malondialdehyde (MDA), 4HNE and 8-isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate [10, 22, 28, 62] and these are further increased during exacerbations [11, 70]. The increased markers of oxidative stress remain elevated in ex-smokers, indicating that they are derived from endogenous oxidative stress, presumably reflecting persistent lung inflammation [62]. Increased oxidative and nitrative stress result in the formation of peroxynitrite, which is increased in exhaled breath condensate of patients with COPD [68]. This may also be reflected by an increase in tyrosine nitration, as a result of peroxynitrite, in induced sputum and lungs of patients with COPD [42, 75]. Oxidative stress is also increased in skeletal muscle of patients with COPD and may contribute to muscle weakness [8, 9].

In contrast, levels of the endogenous antioxidant glutathione are lower in BAL fluid from COPD patients with frequent exacerbations compared to those with stable COPD [31, 72]. Extracellular superoxide dismutase (SOD3) polymorphisms are more frequent in COPD and their expression is increased in sputum of COPD patients, although there is reduced expression around small airways [74, 88].

7.3 Source of Oxidative Stress in the Lung

The lung is particularly vulnerable to injury from environmental oxidative stress due in part to its anatomical structure. It is constantly exposed to sources of endogenous oxidative stress generated by mitochondrial respiration and inflammatory responses to bacterial and viral infections within the lung. The environmental sources of airborne oxidative stress include oxidant gases, ultrafine particulate material and nanoparticles from industrial pollution and vehicular-exhaust fumes. However, the most important risk factor in causing COPD in the Western world is cigarette smoking, whereas in developing countries inhalation of combustion products from enclosed cooking fires (biomass fuels) being an important additional risk factor [77, 78].

Whilst exposure to cigarette smoke can drive the onset of COPD, once the disease has become established, cessation of smoking does not stop the continued presence of oxidative stress and progression of disease [33, 54]. The continued presence of oxidative stress most likely arises from endogenous sources such as activated neutrophils and macrophages as well as lung epithelial cells. Indeed lung epithelial cells of COPD patients produce oxidative stress derived from mitochondrial respiration [86]. Other sources of intracellular ROS include the cytoplasmic ROS generating enzymes, such as NADPH oxidase (NOX) and the xanthine/xanthine oxidase system as well as the myeloperoxidase (MPO), levels of which are all elevated in COPD patients [48, 52].



Fig. 7.2 Oxidative and carbonyl stress in COPD. Oxidative stress causes lipid peroxidation resulting in the formation of reactive aldehydes, such as 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. These carbonylate proteins result in the formation of neo-antigens that may then elicit an antibody response, which causes tissue damage (such as emphysema) through the fixation of complement

Superoxide radicals that are produced endogenously are relatively weak oxidizing agents but are rapidly converted to other more damaging ROS (Fig. 7.1), such as the hydroxyl radical and H_2O_2 , or the very powerful and damaging peroxynitrite radical formed when in the presence of nitric oxide [68]. Similarly MPO, released from activated neutrophils which accumulate in the lungs of COPD patients, produces very destructive hypochlorous acid. Hypochlorous acid chlorinates tyrosine residues in proteins, with the formation of 3-chlorotyrosine, which is increased in sputum of COPD patients [66]. However, in healthy cells intracellular antioxidant defences are able to efficiently mop up these damaging ROS, thus limiting their cellular effects.

7.4 Carbonyl Stress in COPD

ROS generation may result in the formation of reactive carbonyls through lipid peroxidation and glycoxidation of sugars, leading to the formation of several aldehydes that result in protein carbonylation (Fig. 7.2) [64]. This accumulation of reactive carbonyls and subsequent protein carbonylation has been commonly referred to as 'carbonyl stress'. It is predominantly associated with chronic disease and with ageing [25]. Unlike other post-translational modifications, protein carbonylation is nonenzymatic and targets specific peptide residues, such as lysine, arginine, cysteine and histidine. Protein carbonylation is increasingly recognized as a major driver of the underlying pathology associated with many chronic diseases. It is present in both smokers and COPD patients [51]. Increased levels of free carbonyls, such as MDA and 4HNE, products of lipid peroxidation, have also been detected in the lungs of COPD patients [73]. Levels of carbonyl stress are correlated with disease severity as measured by the decline in forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁). Like many post-translational protein modifications, protein carbonylation can modify protein function, disrupting normal cell function and physiological mechanisms.

7.5 Antioxidant Defences in the Lung

Because the lung is constantly exposed to both external and endogenous sources of oxidative stress, it has evolved a number of efficient antioxidant defensive strategies, of which glutathione (GSH) plays an important part. Moreover, up to 20 % of all glutathione produced is found within the mitochondria in order to neutralize endogenous ROS production as a by-product of metabolism [12]. Protecting the exposed surface of the lung from the environment is the epithelial lining fluid, which contains several antioxidants that include ascorbic acid (vitamin C), α -tocopherol (vitamin E) and uric acid. Larger molecules, such as albumin and mucin, can also act as sacrificial antioxidants due to the presence of exposed sulfhydryl groups. Several epidemiological studies have shown a clear association between reduced levels of the antioxidants in the lung, such as α -tocopherol and ascorbic acid, and deteriorating pulmonary function in COPD [40]. No studies to date have shown that dietary supplementation with antioxidants leads to clinical improvement [85]. However, a 10-year follow-up study did find that it reduced the risk of developing chronic lung disease by 10 % [2] and lowered carbonyl stress levels in the systemic circulation [26].

The exposure of airway epithelial cells from healthy subjects to acute oxidative stress triggers increased GSH synthesis through up-regulation of the expression and activity of a key enzyme in GSH synthesis, glutamylcysteine ligase [80]. However, this enzyme is reduced around the central bronchial epithelium and in alveolar macrophages from smokers and patients with COPD [38], suggesting a defective regulatory mechanism. Similar differential responses between COPD and control subjects were apparent with other GSH-dependent antioxidant enzymes, glutathione-*S*-transferase P1 isoenzyme (GSTP1), glutathione-*S*-transferase M1 (GSTM1) and glutathione peroxidase [84]. A genetic deletion mutation in GSTM1 is associated with the development of emphysema in smokers and increased susceptibility to developing COPD [17]. Similarly, genetic polymorphisms in the GSTP1 and epoxide hydrolase have been associated with increased risk of emphysema [29].

Transforming growth factor (TGF)- β expression is increased in COPD and inhibits the expression of the antioxidant enzymes Mn-SOD (SOD2) and catalase in airway smooth muscle cells [61]. Both these enzymes, which are critical for neutralizing mitochondrial-derived ROS, are under the control of the transcription factor FOXO3. Moreover, a deficiency in FOXO3 activity has previously been

associated with COPD [41]. Gene polymorphisms for SOD2 associated with reduced enzyme expression have also been associated with COPD [71]. Similarly, polymorphisms in SOD3 have also been linked to both reduced lung function in COPD [24] and protection against the development of COPD in smokers when SOD3 activity is enhanced [89]. Over 200 cellular antioxidant and detoxification enzymes are under the control of the transcription factor nuclear erythroid-2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), which regulates gene expression through binding to antioxidant response elements (ARE) within the promoters of the many antioxidant and cytoprotective genes [19]. COPD patients have reduced expression of Nrf2 responsive genes due to reduced Nrf2 activity [56, 57] and this may be the consequence of increased acetylation of Nrf2 as a reduction of histone deacetylase-2 (HDAC2) activity.

7.6 Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in the Airways

At least 50 different cytokines and chemokines are secreted in the lungs of patients with COPD [5]. Many of the intracellular signalling pathways triggering and/or driving the release of these inflammatory mediators are sensitive to oxidative stress as they incorporate redox-sensitive molecular targets, such as the transcription factor nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B), and signalling molecules such as Ras/Rac, Jun-N-terminal kinase (JNK), p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and protein tyrosine phosphatases. Oxidative stress can activate the NF- κ B pathway at many levels and NF- κ B expression and activation are increased in COPD and correlates with airflow limitation [30]. Moreover, ROS itself also act as an intracellular second messenger as inflammatory stimuli induce micro-oxidative bursts which are essential for cellular activation. Carbonyl stress in the form of electrophilic carbonyls can also impact on many different signalling pathways. As with oxidative stress, this is propagated through the targeting of critical cysteine residues in susceptible signalling molecules [37].

Oxidative stress also activates TGF- β signalling pathways, which themselves induce oxidative stress [36, 53]. This is enhanced by the inhibitory effect of TGF- β on Nrf2 activity and reduced expression of endogenous antioxidants [60].

Oxidative stress increases the expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP9), a key elastolytic enzyme involved in emphysema, and further enhances elastolysis through oxidative inactivation of α 1-antitrypsin and secretory leukoprotease inhibitor, thereby enhancing the activity of neutrophil elastase [82, 87].

7.7 Corticosteroid Resistance Due to Oxidative Stress

The ability of corticosteroids to repress pro-inflammatory gene expression is also impaired in COPD as a result of oxidative stress [6, 7]. Oxidation, carbonylation and nitration reduce the activity and expression of HDAC2, which is essential for



Fig. 7.3 Oxidative stress induces corticosteroid resistance in COPD. Oxidative stress activates phosphoinositide-3-kinase- δ (PI3K δ) which phosphorylates Akt and subsequently histone deacetylase (HDAC)-2, which is inactivated and ubiquitinated, so that it is degraded by the proteasome. Oxidative and nitrative stress form peroxynitrite which nitrates tyrosine residues (NO-Tyr) on HDAC2, resulting in its inactivation and ubiquitination. Reduced HDAC2 activity and expression prevent corticosteroids from switching off multiple activated inflammatory genes in COPD lungs

the suppression of activated inflammatory genes and the anti-inflammatory actions of corticosteroids (Fig. 7.3) [45, 46]. The reduction of HDAC2 after oxidative stress may be due to nitration of tyrosine residues at the catalytic site and at the C terminal end of the molecule, leading to its ubiquitination and destruction by the proteasome [67]. Oxidative stress also activates the enzyme phosphoinositide-3-kinase- δ (PI3K δ), which results in phosphorylation and inactivation of HDAC2 [83].

7.8 Oxidative Stress and Accelerated Ageing in COPD

Patients with emphysema appear to have acceleration of the normal lung ageing process and therein increasing evidence for cellular senescence in COPD [44]. This appears to be due, at least in part, to a reduction in endogenous anti-ageing molecules as a result of oxidative stress. Sirtuin-1 is a protein deacetylase that is linked to anti-ageing effects through genomic stabilization and there is a marked reduction in its expression in lungs and peripheral macrophages of COPD patients that is related to disease severity [63]. Oxidative stress reduces sirtuin-1 enzyme activity and expression and this is associated with increased acetylation of NF- κ B and increased expression of MMP9, a key enzyme involved in elastin degradation in emphysematous lung [63].

7.9 Oxidative Stress and Autoimmunity in COPD

Accumulating evidence has shown that there is an autoimmune component in COPD [23, 49]. Until recently, a mechanistic link between exposure to oxidative stress and developing autoimmunity in COPD was not established. However, autoantibodies against carbonyl-modified self-proteins, as a result of oxidative stress, are elevated in COPD serum, and increase with disease severity [51]. Since these autoantibodies are complement fixing they could contribute to parenchymal lung destruction. Carbonyl-modified proteins are highly immunogenic and can result in autoimmunity. Carbonyl-modified proteins are recognized by the innate immune system through pattern recognition receptors that are expressed on antigenpresenting cells, such as macrophages and dendritic cells whereupon these potent immunogens are processed and re-expressed in association with MHCII, thereby facilitating the activation of an acquired immune response [3]. Indeed, COPD patients exhibit a strong type 1 immune response in the lower airways with the pulmonary accumulation of Th1 cells and dendritic cells in the small airways of COPD patients, expressing increased amounts of MHCII [39]. However, it is not yet certain whether this autoantibody response to oxidatively modified protein epitopes in COPD is destructive, protective or simply a bystander effect. However, the autoantibodies against carbonyl-modified protein were of a potentially destructive IgG1 isotype and evidence of corresponding immunoglobulin (IgG) and complement (C3) deposition have been observed in COPD [32, 51].

Besides oxidative stress creating the essential neo-antigens, it also helps to drive the influx of immune cells necessary to recognize and process these neo-antigens. Increased oxidative stress in the lungs causes the release of CCL20 and CCL2, which in turn triggers the recruitment of dendritic cells, monocytes and lymphocytes. Th17 cells may orchestrate this response and there is evidence for their activation in COPD lungs. Interleukin (IL)-18 concentrations are increased in COPD patients and IL-18 signalling is enhanced by oxidative stress [43].

7.10 Oxidative Stress and DNA Damage

Oxidative stress causes direct damage to DNA. There is an increase in the expression of 8-hydroxy-2-deoxyguanosine, a biomarker of oxidative damage of DNA in lung of normal smokers and patients with COPD, presumably reflecting the oxidative stress of cigarette smoking [14]. There are normally efficient molecular mechanisms for DNA repair and apurinic/apyrimidinic(AP) sites are common lesions in DNA during the course of repair of oxidative bases. In lung of normal smokers an increase in AP sites reflects active DNA repair, whereas in lungs of COPD patients there is no such increase, indicating a defect in DNA repair in COPD. In addition nuclear expression of the DNA repair protein Ku86 was significantly reduced in COPD compared to normal smoker lungs, indicating a defect on double-stranded DNA repair in COPD. Furthermore, loss of Ku86 was also found in a mouse model of COPD and in human bronchiolar epithelial cells after exposure to oxidant stress. Knock down of Ku86 mimicked the defect in AP response to oxidative stress. This defect in COPD repair as a result of oxidative stress may account for the increased prevalence of lung cancer in patients with COPD compared to smokers without airway obstruction [1].

7.11 Therapeutic Implications

As discussed above, oxidative stress is a major driving mechanism for the pathophysiology of COPD, so reducing oxidative stress is an important therapeutic strategy [13]. This may be achieved by exogenous antioxidants or by enhancing endogenous antioxidants. *N*-acetylcysteine is a mucolytic agent that also has antioxidant effects through increasing glutathione concentrations but in a large clinical trial was ineffective in reducing exacerbations or disease progression in COPD patients [27]. However, patients not treated with inhaled corticosteroids did obtain some benefit in reducing exacerbations. Carbocisteine, another mucolytic therapy that has antioxidant effects, showed a small reduction in exacerbations in untreated COPD patients [90]. A related drug erdosteine also has some evidence of clinical benefit in COPD patients, although the effects and the studies are small [15]. One of the problems with glutathione-based antioxidants that have a thiol structure is that they are inactivated by oxidative stress, which prompted a search for alternative antioxidant molecules.

Dietary antioxidants include vitamin C, vitamin E, resveratrol and flavonoids such as quercitin, but so far improving dietary antioxidant intake has not been shown to improve lung function of clinical features of COPD [85]. Other antioxidants include SOD mimetics, such as AEOL 10113 [16], and nitrone spin-trap antioxidants, such as NXY-059 [18]. However these antioxidants either have had toxicological problems or were discontinued for other reasons. There are several NOX isoenzyme inhibitors now in development and some of these are entering clinical trials [21, 47]. There is a need to block mitochondrial sources of ROS so that cell-permeable drugs may be necessary. MPO may contribute to the oxidative stress produced by neutrophilic inflammation and a selective MPO inhibitor, the 2-thioxanthine ADZ5904, reduces oxidative stress and reduces the development of emphysema in guinea pigs exposed to cigarette smoke [20]. However this drug has been discontinued for unknown reasons.

Perhaps the most encouraging approaches to antioxidant therapy lie with the use of new NRf2-activators, which activate multiple antioxidant genes and address the defect on Nrf2 response to oxidative stress that appears to occur in COPD cells. The Nrf2 activator sulforaphane denitrosylates HDAC2 and increases its activity in alveolar macrophages from COPD patients and in cigarette smoke-exposed mice, but is ineffective in Nrf2^{-/-} knock-out mice, indicating that its effects are mediated via Nrf2 activation [57]. Sulforaphane, which occurs naturally in cruciferous vegetables

such as broccoli, reacts with Cys residues of the associated protein Keap1 in the cytoplasm to form thioacyl adducts so that Nrf2 translocates to the nucleus to switch on antioxidant genes. A clinical trial of sulforaphane in COPD patients is currently in progress. A synthetic triterpenoid bardoxolone methyl (CDDO) is effective in a cigarette smoke-exposed mouse model of COPD [81], but a phase 3 clinical trial in renal disease was terminated due to adverse effects and increased mortality [76]. Dimethyl fumarate (BG-12) is also an Nrf2 activator and has been effective in phase 3 clinical trials in multiple sclerosis, although side effect such as flushing, nausea and diarrhoea is reported [35]. However, these Nrf2 activators may lack specificity and there is a search for drugs that act on the pathways leading to defective Nrf2 function in COPD, such as the PI3K\delta-HDAC2 pathway [59].

7.12 Conclusions

Elevated levels of ROS are found in COPD and these may be associated with increased inflammation, airway remodelling, autoimmunity, corticosteroid resistance and cellular senescence. In addition systemic oxidative stress may also be a causal link in many COPD co-morbidities such as cardiovascular diseases and metabolic syndrome as well as skeletal muscle wasting. Local oxidative stress may promote the development of lung cancer through DNA damage and impaired DNA repair. Following the initial environmental exposure to ROS, the subsequent intracellular sources of oxidative stress may be important to understanding the pathophysiology of this disease. The disappointing clinical effects of existing antioxidants in COPD studies indicate the need to develop novel more potent antioxidants targeted to the correct intracellular compartment, such as the mitochondria. Combinations of antioxidants, targeting different cellular compartments, may prove more effective than monotherapy. In a similar manner, combining antioxidants with anti-inflammatory drugs, bronchodilators, antibiotics and statins may complement or, in the case of corticosteroids, improve/restore their efficacy.

References

- Adcock IM, Caramori G, Barnes PJ (2011) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and lung cancer: new molecular insights. Respiration 81:265–284
- Agler AH, Kurth T, Gaziano JM, Buring JE, Cassano PA (2011) Randomised vitamin E supplementation and risk of chronic lung disease in the Women's Health Study. Thorax 66: 320–325
- 3. Allison ME, Fearon DT (2000) Enhanced immunogenicity of aldehyde-bearing antigens: a possible link between innate and adaptive immunity. Eur J Immunol 30:2881–2887
- Barnes PJ (2008) Immunology of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Immunol 8:183–192
- 5. Barnes PJ (2009) The cytokine network in COPD. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 41:631-638
- Barnes PJ (2013) Corticosteroid resistance in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 131:636–645

7 Oxidative Stress in COPD

- 7. Barnes PJ, Adcock IM (2009) Glucocorticoid resistance in inflammatory diseases. Lancet 342:1905–1917
- Barreiro E, de la Purente B, Minguella J, Corominas JM, Serrano S, Hussain SN, Gea J (2005) Oxidative stress and respiratory muscle dysfunction in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:1116–1124
- Barreiro E, Peinado VI, Galdiz JB, Ferrer E, Marin-Corral J, Sanchez F, Gea J, Barbera JA (2010) Cigarette smoke-induced oxidative stress: a role in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease skeletal muscle dysfunction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182:477–488
- Bartoli ML, Novelli F, Costa F, Malagrino L, Melosini L, Bacci E, Cianchetti S, Dente FL, Di Franco A, Vagaggini B, Paggiaro PL (2011) Malondialdehyde in exhaled breath condensate as a marker of oxidative stress in different pulmonary diseases. Mediators Inflamm 2011:891752. doi:10.1155/2011/891752
- Biernacki WA, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2003) Increased leukotriene B4 and 8-isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate of patients with exacerbations of COPD. Thorax 58:294–298
- 12. Biswas SK, Rahman I (2009) Environmental toxicity, redox signaling and lung inflammation: the role of glutathione. Mol Aspects Med 30:60–76
- 13. Biswas S, Hwang JW, Kirkham PA, Rahman I (2013) Pharmacological and dietary antioxidant therapies for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Curr Med Chem 20:1496–1530
- 14. Caramori G, Adcock IM, Casolari P, Ito K, Jazrawi E, Tsaprouni L, Villetti G, Civelli M, Carnini C, Chung KF, Barnes PJ, Papi A (2011) Unbalanced oxidant-induced DNA damage and repair in COPD: a link towards lung cancer. Thorax 66:521–527
- 15. Cazzola M, Floriani I, Page CP (2010) The therapeutic efficacy of erdosteine in the treatment of chronic obstructive bronchitis: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 23:135–144
- 16. Chang LY, Subramaniam M, Yoder BA, Day BJ, Ellison MC, Sunday ME, Crapo JD (2003) A catalytic antioxidant attenuates alveolar structural remodeling in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:57–64
- Cheng SL, Yu CJ, Chen CJ, Yang PC (2004) Genetic polymorphism of epoxide hydrolase and glutathione S-transferase in COPD. Eur Respir J 23:818–824
- Cheng YF, Jiang J, Hu P, Reinholdsson I, Guo W, Asenblad N, Nilsson D (2008) Pharmacokinetics of 8-hour intravenous infusion of NXY-059: a phase I, randomized, doubleblind (within dose panels), placebo-controlled study in healthy Chinese volunteers. Clin Ther 30:2342–2353
- Cho HY, Kleeberger SR (2010) Nrf2 protects against airway disorders. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 244:43–56
- Churg A, Marshall CV, Sin DD, Bolton S, Zhou S, Thain K, Cadogan EB, Maltby J, Soars MG, Mallinder PR, Wright JL (2012) Late intervention with a myeloperoxidase inhibitor stops progression of experimental COPD. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 185:34–43
- Cifuentes-Pagano E, Csanyi G, Pagano PJ (2012) NADPH oxidase inhibitors: a decade of discovery from Nox2ds to HTS. Cell Mol Life Sci 69:2315–2325
- 22. Corradi M, Pignatti P, Manini P, Andreoli R, Goldoni M, Poppa M, Moscato G, Balbi B, Mutti A (2004) Comparison between exhaled and sputum oxidative stress biomarkers in chronic airway inflammation. Eur Respir J 24:1011–1017
- Cosio MG, Saetta M, Agusti A (2009) Immunologic aspects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 360:2445–2454
- 24. Dahl M, Bowler RP, Juul K, Crapo JD, Levy S, Nordestgaard BG (2008) Superoxide dismutase 3 polymorphism associated with reduced lung function in two large populations. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178:906–912
- 25. Dalle-Donne I, Giustarini D, Colombo R, Rossi R, Milzani A (2003) Protein carbonylation in human diseases. Trends Mol Med 9:169–176
- 26. de Batlle J, Barreiro E, Romieu I, Mendez M, Gomez FP, Balcells E, Ferrer J, Orozco-Levi M, Gea J, Anto JM, Garcia-Aymerich J (2010) Dietary modulation of oxidative stress in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. Free Radic Res 44:1296–1303

- 27. Decramer M, Rutten-van Molken M, Dekhuijzen PN, Troosters T, van Herwaarden C, Pellegrino R, Van Schayck CP, Olivieri D, Del Donno M, De Backer W, Lankhorst I, Ardia A (2005) Effects of N-acetylcysteine on outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Bronchitis Randomized on NAC Cost-Utility Study, BRONCUS): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 365:1552–1560
- Dekhuijzen PNR, Aben KHH, Dekker I, Aarts LPHJ, Wielders PLM, van Herwarden CLA, Bast A (1996) Increased exhalation of hydrogen peroxide in patients with stable and unstable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154:813–816
- 29. Demeo DL, Hersh CP, Hoffman EA, Litonjua AA, Lazarus R, Sparrow D, Benditt JO, Criner G, Make B, Martinez FJ, Scanlon PD, Sciurba FC, Utz JP, Reilly JJ, Silverman EK (2007) Genetic determinants of emphysema distribution in the National Emphysema Treatment Trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176:42–48
- 30. Di Stefano A, Caramori G, Capelli A, Lusuardi M, Gnemmi I, Ioli F, Chung KF, Donner CF, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM (2002) Increased expression of NF-kB in bronchial biopsies from smokers and patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 20:556–563
- Drost EM, Skwarski KM, Sauleda J, Soler N, Roca J, Agusti A, Macnee W (2005) Oxidative stress and airway inflammation in severe exacerbations of COPD. Thorax 60:293–300
- 32. Feghali-Bostwick CA, Gadgil AS, Otterbein LE, Pilewski JM, Stoner MW, Csizmadia E, Zhang Y, Sciurba FC, Duncan SR (2008) Autoantibodies in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177:156–163
- 33. Gamble E, Grootendorst DC, Hattotuwa K, O'Shaughnessy T, Ram FS, Qiu Y, Zhu J, Vignola AM, Kroegel C, Morell F, Pavord ID, Rabe KF, Jeffery PK, Barnes NC (2007) Airway muco-sal inflammation in COPD is similar in smokers and ex-smokers: a pooled analysis. Eur Respir J 30:467–471
- Gershon AS, Warner L, Cascagnette P, Victor JC, To T (2011) Lifetime risk of developing chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a longitudinal population study. Lancet 378:991–996
- 35. Gold R, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Giovannoni G, Selmaj K, Tornatore C, Sweetser MT, Yang M, Sheikh SI, Dawson KT (2012) Placebo-controlled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 367:1098–1107
- 36. Gorowiec MR, Borthwick LA, Parker SM, Kirby JA, Saretzki GC, Fisher AJ (2012) Free radical generation induces epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in lung epithelium via a TGFbeta1-dependent mechanism. Free Radic Biol Med 52:1024–1032
- Groeger AL, Freeman BA (2010) Signaling actions of electrophiles: anti-inflammatory therapeutic candidates. Mol Interv 10:39–50
- Harju T, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Soini Y, Sormunen R, Kinnula VL (2002) Diminished immunoreactivity of gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase in the airways of smokers' lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:754–759
- Hogg JC, Timens W (2009) The pathology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Annu Rev Pathol 4:435–459
- 40. Hu G, Cassano PA (2000) Antioxidant nutrients and pulmonary function: the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). Am J Epidemiol 151:975–981
- 41. Hwang JW, Rajendrasozhan S, Yao H, Chung S, Sundar IK, Huyck HL, Pryhuber GS, Kinnula VL, Rahman I (2011) FOXO3 deficiency leads to increased susceptibility to cigarette smokeinduced inflammation, airspace enlargement, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Immunol 187:987–998
- Ichinose M, Sugiura H, Yamagata S, Koarai A, Shirato K (2000) Increase in reactive nitrogen species production in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease airways. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160:701–706
- 43. Imaoka H, Hoshino T, Takei S, Kinoshita T, Okamoto M, Kawayama T, Kato S, Iwasaki H, Watanabe K, Aizawa H (2008) Interleukin-18 production and pulmonary function in COPD. Eur Respir J 31:287–297
- 44. Ito K, Barnes PJ (2009) COPD as a disease of accelerated lung aging. Chest 135:173-180
- 45. Ito K, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM (2000) Glucocorticoid receptor recruitment of histone deacetylase 2 inhibits IL-1b-induced histone H4 acetylation on lysines 8 and 12. Mol Cell Biol 20:6891–6903

- 46. Ito K, Tomita T, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM (2004) Oxidative stress reduces histone deacetylase (HDAC)2 activity and enhances IL-8 gene expression: role of tyrosine nitration. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 315:240–245
- 47. Jaquet V, Marcoux J, Forest E, Leidal KG, McCormick S, Westermaier Y, Perozzo R, Plastre O, Fioraso-Cartier L, Diebold B, Scapozza L, Nauseef WM, Fieschi F, Krause KH, Bedard K (2011) NADPH oxidase (NOX) isoforms are inhibited by celastrol with a dual mode of action. Br J Pharmacol 164:507–520
- Keatings VM, Barnes PJ (1997) Granulocyte activation markers in induced sputum: comparison between chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma and normal subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 155:449–453
- Kheradmand F, Shan M, Xu C, Corry DB (2012) Autoimmunity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: clinical and experimental evidence. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 8:285–292
- 50. Kirkham PA, Barnes PJ (2013) Oxidative stress in COPD. Chest 144:266-273
- 51. Kirkham PA, Caramori G, Casolari P, Papi AA, Edwards M, Shamji B, Triantaphyllopoulos K, Hussain F, Pinart M, Khan Y, Heinemann L, Stevens L, Yeadon M, Barnes PJ, Chung KF, Adcock IM (2011) Oxidative stress-induced antibodies to carbonyl-modified protein correlate with severity of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 184: 796–802
- 52. Komaki Y, Sugiura H, Koarai A, Tomaki M, Ogawa H, Akita T, Hattori T, Ichinose M (2005) Cytokine-mediated xanthine oxidase upregulation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease's airways. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 18:297–302
- 53. Liu RM, Gaston Pravia KA (2010) Oxidative stress and glutathione in TGF-beta-mediated fibrogenesis. Free Radic Biol Med 48:1–15
- Louhelainen N, Rytila P, Haahtela T, Kinnula VL, Djukanovic R (2009) Persistence of oxidant and protease burden in the airways after smoking cessation. BMC Pulm Med 9:25. doi:10.1186/1471-2466-9-25
- 55. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V et al (2012) Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380:2095–2128
- 56. Malhotra D, Thimmulappa R, Navas-Acien A, Sandford A, Elliott M, Singh A, Chen L, Zhuang X, Hogg J, Pare P, Tuder RM, Biswal S (2008) Decline in NRF2 regulated antioxidants in COPD lungs due to loss of its positive regulator DJ-1. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178:592–604
- 57. Malhotra D, Thimmulappa RK, Mercado N, Ito K, Kombairaju P, Kumar S, Ma J, Feller-Kopman D, Wise RA, Barnes PJ, Biswal S (2011) Denitrosylation of HDAC2 by targeting Nrf2 restores glucocorticosteroid sensitivity in macrophages from COPD patients. J Clin Invest 121:4289–4302
- 58. McDonough JE, Yuan R, Suzuki M, Seyednejad N, Elliott WM, Sanchez PG, Wright AC, Gefter WB, Litzky L, Coxson HO, Pare PD, Sin DD, Pierce RA, Woods JC, McWilliams AM, Mayo JR, Lam SC, Cooper JD, Hogg JC (2011) Small-airway obstruction and emphysema in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 365:1567–1575
- Mercado N, Thimmulappa R, Thomas CM, Fenwick PS, Chana KK, Donnelly LE, Biswal S, Ito K, Barnes PJ (2011) Decreased histone deacetylase 2 impairs Nrf2 activation by oxidative stress. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 406:292–298
- 60. Michaeloudes C, Chang PJ, Petrou M, Chung KF (2011) Transforming growth factor-beta and nuclear factor E2-related factor 2 regulate antioxidant responses in airway smooth muscle cells: role in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 184:894–903
- Michaeloudes C, Sukkar MB, Khorasani NM, Bhavsar PK, Chung KF (2011) TGF-beta regulates Nox4, MnSOD and catalase expression, and IL-6 release in airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 300:L295–L304
- 62. Montuschi P, Collins JV, Ciabattoni G, Lazzeri N, Corradi M, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2000) Exhaled 8-isoprostane as an *in vivo* biomarker of lung oxidative stress in patients with COPD and healthy smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162:1175–1177

- Nakamaru Y, Vuppusetty C, Wada H, Milne JC, Ito M, Rossios C, Elliot M, Hogg J, Kharitonov S, Goto H, Bemis JE, Elliott P, Barnes PJ, Ito K (2009) A protein deacetylase SIRT1 is a negative regulator of metalloproteinase-9. FASEB J 23:2810–2819
- 64. Negre-Salvayre A, Coatrieux C, Ingueneau C, Salvayre R (2008) Advanced lipid peroxidation end products in oxidative damage to proteins. Potential role in diseases and therapeutic prospects for the inhibitors. Br J Pharmacol 153:6–20
- 65. Noguera A, Batle S, Miralles C, Iglesias J, Busquets X, Macnee W, Agusti AG (2001) Enhanced neutrophil response in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 56:432–437
- 66. O'Donnell C, Newbold P, White P, Thong B, Stone H, Stockley RA (2010) 3-Chlorotyrosine in sputum of COPD patients: relationship with airway inflammation. COPD 7:411–417
- 67. Osoata G, Yamamura S, Ito M, Vuppusetty C, Adcock IM, Barnes PJ, Ito K (2009) Nitration of distinct tyrosine residues causes inactivation of histone deacetylase 2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 384:366–371
- 68. Osoata GO, Hanazawa T, Brindicci C, Ito M, Barnes PJ, Kharitonov S, Ito K (2009) Peroxynitrite elevation in exhaled breath condensate of COPD and its inhibition by fudosteine. Chest 135:1513–1520
- 69. Paredi P, Kharitonov SA, Leak D, Ward S, Cramer D, Barnes PJ (2000) Exhaled ethane, a marker of lipid peroxidation, is elevated in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162:369–373
- Paredi P, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2002) Analysis of expired air for oxidation products. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:S31–S37
- Pietras T, Szemraj J, Witusik A, Holub M, Panek M, Wujcik R, Gorski P (2010) The sequence polymorphism of MnSOD gene in subjects with respiratory insufficiency in COPD. Med Sci Monit 16:CR427–CR432
- Rahman I, Macnee W (1999) Lung glutathione and oxidative stress: implications in cigarette smoke-induced airway disease. Am J Physiol 277:L1067–L1088
- 73. Rahman I, van Schadewijk AA, Crowther AJ, Hiemstra PS, Stolk J, Macnee W, de Boer WI (2002) 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal, a specific lipid peroxidation product, is elevated in lungs of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166: 490–495
- 74. Regan EA, Mazur W, Meoni E, Toljamo T, Millar J, Vuopala K, Bowler RP, Rahman I, Nicks ME, Crapo JD, Kinnula VL (2011) Smoking and COPD increase sputum levels of extracellular superoxide dismutase. Free Radic Biol Med 51:726–732
- 75. Ricciardolo FL, Caramori G, Ito K, Capelli A, Brun P, Abatangelo G, Papi A, Chung KF, Adcock I, Barnes PJ, Donner CF, Rossi A, Di Stefano A (2005) Nitrosative stress in the bronchial mucosa of severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 116:1028–1035
- 76. Rossing P (2013) Diabetic nephropathy: could problems with bardoxolone methyl have been predicted? Nat Rev Nephrol 9:128–130
- 77. Salvi SS, Barnes PJ (2009) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in non-smokers. Lancet 374:733–743
- 78. Salvi S, Barnes PJ (2010) Is exposure to biomass smoke the biggest risk factor for COPD globally? Chest 138:3–6
- 79. Schaberg T, Klein U, Rau M, Eller J, Lode H (1995) Subpopulations of alveolar macrophages in smokers and nonsmokers: relation to the expression of CD11/CD18 molecules and superoxide anion production. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151:1551–1558
- Shi MM, Iwamoto T, Forman HJ (1994) g-Glutamylcysteine synthetase and GSH increase in quinone-induced oxidative stress in BPAEC. Am J Physiol 267:L414–L421
- 81. Sussan TE, Rangasamy T, Blake DJ, Malhotra D, El Haddad H, Bedja D, Yates MS, Kombairaju P, Yamamoto M, Liby KT, Sporn MB, Gabrielson KL, Champion HC, Tuder RM, Kensler TW, Biswal S (2009) Targeting Nrf2 with the triterpenoid CDDO-imidazolide attenuates cigarette smoke-induced emphysema and cardiac dysfunction in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 250–255

7 Oxidative Stress in COPD

- Taggart C, Cervantes-Laurean D, Kim G, McElvaney NG, Wehr N, Moss J, Levine RL (2000) Oxidation of either methionine 351 or methionine 358 in alpha 1-antitrypsin causes loss of anti-neutrophil elastase activity. J Biol Chem 275:27258–27265
- To Y, Ito K, Kizawa Y, Failla M, Ito M, Kusama T, Elliot M, Hogg JC, Adcock IM, Barnes PJ (2010) Targeting phosphoinositide-3-kinase-d with theophylline reverses corticosteroid insensitivity in COPD. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182:897–904
- 84. Tomaki M, Sugiura H, Koarai A, Komaki Y, Akita T, Matsumoto T, Nakanishi A, Ogawa H, Hattori T, Ichinose M (2007) Decreased expression of antioxidant enzymes and increased expression of chemokines in COPD lung. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 20:596–605
- Tsiligianni IG, van der Molen T (2010) A systematic review of the role of vitamin insufficiencies and supplementation in COPD. Respir Res 11:171. doi:10.1186/1465-9921-11-171
- 86. van der Molen T, Rezayat D, Kauffman HF, Bakker SJ, Gans RO, Koeter GH, Choi AM, Van Oosterhout AJ, Slebos DJ (2009) Lipid-soluble components in cigarette smoke induce mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species in lung epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297:L109–L114
- 87. Vogelmeier C, Biedermann T, Maier K, Mazur G, Behr J, Krombach F, Buhl R (1997) Comparative loss of activity of recombinant secretory leukoprotease inhibitor and alpha 1-protease inhibitor caused by different forms of oxidative stress. Eur Respir J 10:2114–2119
- 88. Yao H, Arunachalam G, Hwang JW, Chung S, Sundar IK, Kinnula VL, Crapo JD, Rahman I (2010) Extracellular superoxide dismutase protects against pulmonary emphysema by attenuating oxidative fragmentation of ECM. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:15571–15576
- Young RP, Hopkins R, Black PN, Eddy C, Wu L, Gamble GD, Mills GD, Garrett JE, Eaton TE, Rees MI (2006) Functional variants of antioxidant genes in smokers with COPD and in those with normal lung function. Thorax 61:394–399
- 90. Zheng JP, Kang J, Huang SG, Chen P, Yao WZ, Yang L et al (2008) Effect of carbocisteine on acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (PEACE Study): a randomised placebo-controlled study. Lancet 371:2013–2018

Chapter 8 Oxidative Injury Caused by Cigarette Smoking and Air Pollution

Andrew J. Ghio

8.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress is pivotal to the biological effects, tissue injury, and disease observed following exposures to both cigarette smoke and air pollutants. The specific component(s) in both cigarette smoke and air pollutants which participates in the biological effect, tissue injury, and disease and the cellular and molecular mechanism pathways which are involved are yet to be defined with certainty.

8.2 Cigarette Smoking

Cigarette smoke is comprised of between 4,000 and 7,000 constituents [87, 95]. Among these are numerous oxidant compounds; a puff of cigarette smoke was quantified to contain 10^{17} free radicals in the tar phase and 10^{15} in the gas phase [22, 86]. In a burning cigarette, temperatures in the combustion zone (800–950 °C) result in a complete pyrolysis of tobacco. Immediately downstream, a rapid drop in temperature (to 200–600 °C) and a lack of oxygen allow for an incomplete combustion. Subsequently, a complex aerosol is generated during smoking which includes condensed liquid droplets (the particulate fraction or tar) suspended in a mixture of volatile/semi-volatile compounds and combustion gases (the gas fraction). Polyphenols and semiquinones can be identified among the compounds in the

A.J. Ghio (🖂)

Human Studies Facility, Campus Box 7315, 104 Mason Farm Road, Chapel Hill, NC 27599-7315, USA e-mail: ghio.andy@epa.gov

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_8, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014



Fig. 8.1 Schematic of the oxidative stress after cigarette smoke exposure. Cigarette smoke will include oxidant compounds including superoxide (O_2^-) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , nitric oxide (NO), and peroxynitrite (OONO⁻). There is depletion of antioxidants (e.g., vitamins C and E and thiols) in the lung lining fluid. The oxidative stress culminates in a release of inflammatory mediators. Activated phagocytes (green cells in the blood and airway and alveolar space) further increase the oxidant burden with a generation of O_2^- , H_2O_2 , NO, and OONO⁻

cigarette tar while superoxide, epoxides, peroxides, nitric oxide (NO; 500-1,000 ppm), nitrogen dioxide, peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), and peroxynitrates are in the gas phase. Smoking one cigarette exposes the human respiratory tract to an enormous particle burden; between 15,000 and 40,000 µg particulate matter (PM).

Smoking produces a shift in the balance between oxidants and antioxidants, creating an oxidative stress (Fig. 8.1). Oxidants in cigarette smoke directly injure cells and tissues, inactivate defense mechanisms, and initiate inflammation which furthers oxidative stress following the initial exposure. It is difficult, if not impossible, to determine whether oxidants included in cigarette smoke or those produced from the ensuing inflammatory response are primarily responsible for the observed oxidative stress in smokers. The endpoints of oxidative stress which have been quantified with smoking are numerous and diverse (Table 8.1). Measurements

Table 8.1	Endpoints of	oxidative	stress	elevated	in	cigarette	smokers
-----------	--------------	-----------	--------	----------	----	-----------	---------

Generation of O_2^- and H_2O_2
Generation of nitrite/nitrate
Levels of superoxide dismutase, catalase, myeloperoxidase, and cytochrome P450 and their activities
Exhaled breath ethane/alkanes, thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances, and other indices of lipid peroxidation
Concentrations of oxidized proteins
Total, reduced, and oxidized glutathione
Activity of glutathione peroxidase, glutathione transferase, and glutathione reductase
Prostanoids (F2-isoprostanes and PGF2 alpha), hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid products (HETEs), F(4)-neuroprostanes, 7-ketocholesterol, 24- and 27-hydroxycholesterol, low-density lipoproteins, and other cholesterol oxidation products
Concentrations of uric acid and allantoin
DNA damage (8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine and 8-oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine)
Histopathology (e.g., 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal and 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine)
Immunohistochemistry for specific proteins, nitrotyrosine
Gene expression microarray analysis
Trolox-equivalent antioxidant capacity
Antioxidant reducing capacity
Total radical trapping parameters

have been obtained in cells and their fractions, whole blood, serum, plasma, cord blood, sputum, exhaled breath, breath condensate, lavage fluid, lavage cells, urine, and tissues (e.g., lungs, vasculature, brain, muscle, testicles, and pancreas).

Oxidant generation with cigarette smoke exposure. Oxidants, including hydrogen peroxide, can be directly measured in the particulate fraction of cigarette smoke [125]. Metal in cigarette smoke is also included in the particulate fraction, but concentrations appear to be insignificant [40]. There is little evidence to support the assertion that iron and copper, introduced into the body by smoking, catalyze Fenton-type reactions in either the lung or any tissue.

Phagocytes (e.g., macrophages and neutrophils) in smokers are elevated in number, and also generate reactive oxygen and nitrogen species at increased rates both in the lung and systemically [51]. In vitro studies confirm that phagocytes collected from cigarette smokers spontaneously release increased amounts of oxidants such as O_2^- and H_2O_2 compared to those from nonsmokers [111]. Hydrogen peroxide is elevated in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and in exhaled breath condensate collected from cigarette smokers [27] and some portion of this was demonstrated to be attributable to the elevated number of macrophages in the lower respiratory tract of smokers and their increased release of O_2^- [100]. Cell sources of O_2^- , other than NADPH oxidoreductase, can also be increased (e.g., xanthine oxidase) [52].

Cigarette smoking is associated with lipid peroxidation with conversion of polyunsaturated fatty acids to hydroperoxides, endoperoxides, aldehydes (e.g., malondialdehyde), and alkanes (e.g., ethane and pentane). Levels of these end products are increased in smokers including thiobarbituric acid-reactive products (in sputum, blood, and lung components), isoprostanes (in blood, urine, and breath condensate), 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal adducts, and breath alkanes [75, 76]. Cigarette smoking depletes antioxidants [48]. Concentrations of ascorbate and vitamin E are decreased among smokers [33]. Smokers have 15–20 % lower serum concentrations of ascorbate than do nonsmokers but, after smoking cessation, values normalize [72]. Glutathione metabolism appears to be particularly provoked by smoking. Despite glutathione being acutely depleted in cell and animal models and smokers [14, 118], levels of reduced glutathione are elevated in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of chronic smokers [17]. It has been proposed that such an increase of lung glutathione in smokers may be an attempt, albeit insufficient, to counter excess oxidants with cigarette smoke exposure [70]. Exogenous antioxidants appear to have a capacity to prevent some portion of the biological effect and injury following smoking [16]. Pretreatment with antioxidants decreases lipid peroxidation following exposure to cigarette smoke [23]. There are studies which suggest that vitamins C and E diminish production of oxidants by inflammatory cells and improve pulmonary function in smokers [73, 111]. Supplementation with *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) also diminishes the in vitro cytotoxicity after smoking [102].

In addition to oxygen-based free radicals, cigarette smoke is a source of reactive nitrogen species and presents a nitrosative stress. Nitric oxide, abundant in cigarette smoke and generated by inflammatory cells, has potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory actions but also contributes to oxidative reactions [90]. NO reacts with thiols to produce nitrosothiols associated with biological effects [37]. Nitrosothiol levels have been shown to be higher in breath condensate collected from smokers compared with subjects who do not smoke [25]. NO in cigarette smoke can react with O_2^- to form peroxynitrite [81] which decreases antioxidant capacity and augments oxidative stress [112]. Nitric oxide and peroxynitrite can cause the nitration of tyrosine to form nitrotyrosine products of proteins measurable in body fluids and tissues [82]. However, it must be pointed out that NO levels in smokers were reported to be normal or even lower than in nonsmokers [24]. Fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FE_{NO}) was reported to be decreased in smokers [98]. Such reduced NO production was postulated to possibly elevate oxidative stress since this molecule can function as an antioxidant as well as being a prooxidant [126].

In addition to an elevated oxidant burden in the lung, there is an increased systemic oxidative stress in smokers [62]. Plasma trolox-equivalent antioxidant capacity and total glutathione are decreased in cigarette smokers [11]. Peripheral blood neutrophils from smokers release more oxidants than those isolated from nonsmokers [107]. The proposal that oxidants in cigarette smoke, whether in the particulate or the gas phase, pass through the pulmonary alveolar wall into the blood to induce a disseminated systemic oxidative stress is improbable as such radicals would quickly react with molecules in the lung [122].

Oxidative stress and disease after cigarette smoke exposure. The World Health Organization lists smoking as one of the ten greatest contributors to global death and disease and, in many countries, is the most important risk factor for numerous diseases (Table 8.2). Oxidative stress resulting from an imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants is proposed as the basis for diseases following exposure to cigarette smoking.
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)
Interstitial lung disease (e.g., idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis)
Pneumonia
Tuberculosis
Influenza
Coronary artery disease, rhythm disturbances, and sudden death
Heart failure
Hypertension
Cerebrovascular disease
Peripheral vascular disease
Cataracts
Gum disease and dental caries
Raynaud's disease
Gastroesophageal reflux and peptic ulcer disease
Cancers of the nasal and oral passages, pharynx, larynx, esophagus, stomach, pancreas, kidneys, bladder, breast, cervix, and lung; myeloma and leukemia

Table 8.2 Diseases associated with cigarette smoking

Lung disease follows exposure to cigarette smoke with the increased burden of oxidants, either caused directly by the cigarette smoke or generated by inflammatory cells, injuring lung cells and depleting antioxidant defenses [15]. Exposure to cigarette smoke increases cell lysis and epithelial permeability; these effects are inhibited by antioxidants (e.g., glutathione) [63]. Among patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), there are increased numbers of activated inflammatory cells in the lungs relative to healthy subjects; these cells release greater quantities of O_2^- and H_2O_2 [56, 91]. A correlation has been demonstrated between O_2^- release by peripheral white blood cells and bronchial hyperreactivity in patients with COPD, supporting a role for oxidants in lung disease after smoking [91]. Oxidants have also been demonstrated to mediate mucous hypersecretion and impaired mucociliary clearance which can contribute to injury in COPD [96].

Exposure to cigarette smoke causes systemic diseases [13, 77, 113]. For example, the vascular disease caused by cigarette smoking is associated with oxidation of low-density lipoproteins and their deposition in the vasculature with resultant dysfunction [49]. A depletion of systemic antioxidants has been documented in atherosclerosis.

Addressing the cell and molecular mechanism of disease after exposure to cigarette smoke, oxidative stress is postulated to initiate a series of cellular reactions that include activation of kinase cascades and transcription factors, release of inflammatory mediators, initiation of inflammation, and cell injury/apoptosis [89] (Fig. 8.2). Consequently, oxidative stress is the initiating factor in the pathway by which cigarette smoke exposure leads to disease. Key among the redox-sensitive transcription factors coordinating the inflammatory response to cigarette smoke are NF- κ B (pro-oxidative) and Nrf-2 (anti-oxidative). The activation of these transcription factors is observed in both the lung and extra-pulmonary tissues [59].



Lung injury due to smoking (e.g., COPD and cancer) frequently does not diminish after smoking cessation and can rather progress in ex-smokers [97]. The basic cellular and molecular events underlying the biological effects of cigarette smoke and reasons for persistence of injury despite cessation of the exposure are not fully appreciated. Moreover, smoking cessation also does not eliminate the increased oxidative stress in the respiratory tract suggesting that retained particles may continue to participate in oxidant generation [71]. To explain this incongruity, as well as the observation that tissue injury in smokers is particle-related (Fig. 8.3a), it is proposed that tar disrupts iron homeostasis, increasing the availability of the metal and allowing it to participate in oxidative stress. Retained particles in the lung effectively complex the host iron (Fig. 8.3b). Humic-like substances, included in the particle, complex iron in vitro and accumulate the metal in vivo [44]. Both the humic-like substance and its iron complex generate free radicals, and some portion of this oxidant generation is metal-dependent. Following complexation of the metal by functional groups in the humic-like substance, the complexed iron contributes to electron transport, an increased catalysis of oxidants, and continued oxidative stress, despite smoking cessation. In support of a role for disrupted iron homeostasis in disease after exposure to cigarette smoke, there is increased lavage



Fig. 8.3 Cigarette smoke exposure, iron, and lung injury. Lung collected at autopsy shows a correlation between the retention of cigarette smoke particles and destruction of lung parenchyma (i.e., bullous formation in this emphysematous patient) (a). A photomicrograph demonstrates that iron accumulates in the lung of a smoker and this appears to be particle-associated (b; Perls Prussian blue stain with the iron staining blue; magnification of about ×100)

iron concentration in smokers [108]. Accumulation of this metal in macrophages, proportional to the frequency and duration of cigarette smoking, has also been described among smokers [116].

8.3 Air Pollutants

Air pollutants are numerous but those considered significant include the particulate matter (PM), ozone, nitrogen oxides, and sulfur oxides (while measurable, atmospheric concentrations of carbon monoxide are extremely low). An oxidative stress is associated with exposures to all these pollutants.

Air pollution particles. PM in the atmosphere is a temporally and spatially shifting combination of particles that vary in size and chemical composition. These particles originate from both anthropogenic and natural sources. Anthropogenic contributions including organic carbon are greater in the urban environment. Approximately 40 % of particle mass in an urban setting can be attributed to fossil fuel use.

Exposure to air pollution particles is recognized to cause significant, adverse health effects in humans [84]. Epidemiological studies consistently demonstrate an association between increased levels of ambient air pollution particles and measures of human morbidity and mortality [32, 60, 83]. The target tissues for PM include the pulmonary and the cardiovascular systems; biological effects parallel those of cigarette smoking, with lung and cardiac disease predominating (Table 8.3).

Similar to exposure to cigarette smoke, production of oxidants is proposed as a unifying mechanism for the biological activity of PM [12]. Again, paralleling cigarette smoke, there is both direct generation of oxidants by the PM and an interaction between the particles and the host proteins. The PM produces an oxidative stress in both acellular and living systems. In acellular systems, air pollution particles

Table 8.3Diseasesassociated with air pollutionparticles

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)
Pneumonia
Tuberculosis
Coronary artery disease, rhythm disturbances, and sudden death
Cerebrovascular disease
Cancer of the lung

directly generate oxygen-derived free radicals. The direct generation of oxidants by air pollution particles from a variety of ambient and emission sources is demonstrated using an assay for thiobarbituric acid-reactive products [43]. Hydroxyl radical production by particles is detected by salicylate hydroxylation [31], and this is confirmed by a sensitive fluorescence method [2]. Hydroxyl radical formation is eliminated under anaerobic conditions and in the presence of catalase while superoxide dismutase and deferoxamine decrease it. Electron spin resonance (ESR) has also shown oxidant generation by total suspended particulates collected from playgrounds of elementary schools [55], and in particles from a wildfire [64].

In vitro exposures of cells to air pollution particles result in oxidant generation in a wide range of cell types, including phagocytic, epithelial, and endothelial cells. Dusts collected from sewage incineration, a power station, and factories led to concentration-dependent increases in release of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide by alveolar macrophages [9]. Following incubation with diesel exhaust particle (DEP), macrophages released O_2^- as measured by chemiluminescence [80]. Similarly, polymorphonuclear granulocytes also increased generation of oxidants after exposure to ambient PM [54]; this effect was closely associated with the organic fraction of the particle and not altered by metal chelators. In contrast, epithelial cells exposed to an oil fly ash showed a concentration- and time-dependent induction of intracellular oxidants, as measured using dihydrochlorofluorescein, that was associated with metal components [30]. The same pulmonary epithelial cell line also generated intracellular oxidants following exposure to PM2.5 [45]. Particles were found to produce a concentration-dependent induction of intracellular O2- using human aortic endothelial cells [69]. Flow cytometry showed that diesel particles increased MitoSOX red intensity specific for mitochondrial O₂⁻. Further demonstration of oxidant production by the same particle was provided with increased protein carbonyl content and upregulation of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) which could be inhibited by pretreatment with the antioxidant NAC. Finally, a comet assay demonstrated DNA strand breakage, reflecting oxidant exposure, following exposure of respiratory epithelial cells to PM [103]. Both coarse and fine PM fractions (defined as that PM with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5-10 and 0.1-2.5 µm, respectively) elicited generation of hydroxyl radical and 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine. This investigation demonstrated that many cell types responded to a range of air pollution particles by producing oxidants. The nature of the interaction between the cell and the particle that results in oxidant production remains unexplained.

In vivo oxidant production following exposure to different air pollution particles has been confirmed. ESR revealed in vivo production of free radicals in the lungs of animals exposed to an oil fly ash [57]. The soluble fraction of this specific particle, which contained high concentrations of vanadium (V), nickel (Ni), and iron (Fe) compounds, was responsible for both the production of 4-pyridyl-1-oxide-*N-tert*-butylnitrone (4-POBN) adducts detected by ESR (consistent with alkyl-type carbon-centered free radicals produced during lipid peroxidation) and the neutrophilic lung injury. Following intratracheal instillation of the same oil fly ash particle in rats, both the particle and individual component metals (vanadium, nickel, and iron) induced an increase in acetaldehyde in lung lavage fluid, further supporting the occurrence of in vivo, metal-catalyzed oxidative stress following air pollution particle exposure [74].

A time- and dose-dependent production of oxidants (i.e., O_2^- and H_2O_2) is shown to follow animal exposure to concentrated ambient air pollution particles [93, 94]. In vivo detection of oxidant production was delineated using chemiluminescence sensors and measurement of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances in the lung. Indices of oxidative stress and biological effects in the animals were inhibited by NAC. ESR with spin trap also detected oxygen radicals in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid after intratracheal exposure of rats to DEP [4]. Finally, thiol antioxidants were shown to inhibit prooxidant effects of the DEP [117]. These data support the occurrence of in vivo oxidative stress in animals exposed to air pollution particles.

Oxidative stress after air pollution exposure of humans has been quantified using 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine levels in urine, blood, and oral and nasal cells [92, 115]. Another study showed increased CO levels in the exhaled air of human subjects after exposure to DEP, which was attributed to induction of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) expression, likely to reflect an oxidative stress [78].

The components in air pollution particles that have been associated with oxidant generation include organic compounds and metals. Bacterial endotoxin was also proposed to contribute to oxidative stress after PM inhalation, but studies either do not support this relationship [6] or do not measure any index of oxidant generation. On the other hand, it may rather imply an affiliation since endpoints of biological activity (e.g., inflammation) may correspond to endotoxin content [8]. Air pollution particles contain a wide variety of organic substances including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) and nitro-PAH, olefins, aldehydes, ketones, nitro-compounds, and quinones [19, 110]. These organic molecules are most commonly found in the smaller size fractions and combustion products of ambient air pollution particles [67]. In vitro oxidant generation by ultrafine particles (defined as PM with an aerodynamic diameter of less than 0.1 μ m) correlates with the concentration of organic compounds [67]. The basis for this relationship between organic compounds and oxidant generation following exposure to ambient air pollution particles is postulated to involve the following (Fig. 8.4):

 A quinone-based radical that directly involves redox-cycling with hydroquinone and semiquinone structures [61]. Using ESR, samples of PM collected from sites around the United States were found to have large quantities of radicals with



Fig. 8.4 Oxidant generation by organic components in air pollution particles. Potential pathways of oxidant generation by organic compounds in particulate matter include cycling of quinone with hydroquinone/semiquinone structures (**a**), direct redox-cycling by the organic compound following complexation of a metal (**b**), and depletion of thiols following reaction with quinones (**c**)

characteristics similar to semiquinones [28, 106]. Furthermore, organic compounds included in ambient air pollution particles may be converted to redox-cycling quinones through a number of different host proteins [29, 79].

- 2. Direct redox-cycling by the organic compound following complexation of a metal [53, 88].
- 3. A reaction between quinones and thiol-containing compounds with depletion of protective nucleophiles [21, 119].

There can also be a generation of oxidants following an interference of normal mitochondrial electron transfer by organic compounds [68, 119]. Several organics are postulated to support inappropriate electron transport between complexes I and III, suggesting PM redox-cycling with a capacity to disrupt the Q cycle; this might result in increased formation of O_2^{-} [35, 119]. Therefore, one consequence of exposure to organic compounds leading to abnormal electron transport would be disruption of normal mitochondrial function. This was documented following in vitro exposure to PM with organic compounds including a depolarization of the inner membrane of the mitochondria, changes in the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, and disordered ATP synthesis [119]. These studies support a role for organic components of particles in generating oxidative stress in cells, tissues, and living systems following exposure to PM.

Many types of air pollution particles include transition metals which contribute to oxidant generation [26, 104]. Metal analysis of air pollution particles sequestered on PM filters from sites around the United States revealed that Fe was that transition metal present in the highest concentration [43]. In atmospheric particulates, quantities of Fe can regularly be found in concentrations approximately tenfold higher than all others and therefore this metal may assume greater importance. Despite the variety of geographic locations, the concentrations of individual metals in ambient air pollution particles correlated well with each other [43]. Metals which exist in more than one stable valence state can catalyze an electron transfer and therefore demonstrate a capacity to directly generate oxidants [41, 114]

$$Fe^{2+} + O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + O_2^{-}$$

$$Fe^{2+} + O_2^{-} + 2H^+ \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2$$

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH + OH$$

In catalyzing the Fenton reaction, ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) reduces hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) with the formation of hydroxyl radical and oxidation of ferrous iron to ferric iron (Fe³⁺). Hydrogen peroxide and reductants are also required to drive such oxidant generation and these are available in the respiratory tract. In addition to this direct production of oxidants, metals react with thiols to diminish protective capacity and potentially affect an oxidative stress in this manner.

Oxidant production by PM in an acellular system correlated positively with concentrations of Cr, Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, and Cu [85]. Deferoxamine and hydroxyl radical scavengers inhibited oxidant generation implicating hydroxyl radical production. The direct hydroxylation of salicylate after in vitro exposure to air pollution particles supported metal-dependent 'OH production [31]. The soluble fraction of residual oil fly ash, which is abundant in metals, was shown to be capable of generating metal-dependent hydroxyl radicals in a cell-free system [18]. In other investigation, malondialdehyde formation was measured after incubation of ambient PM collected from Washington, DC [7]; the metal chelator deferoxamine inhibited this aldehyde formation supporting metal participation in oxidant generation.

In vitro exposure of rat alveolar macrophages to residual oil fly ash increased cellular production of oxidants, and this was inhibited by the addition of either the metal chelator deferoxamine or hydroxyl radical scavengers [42]. Addition of individual metals to the alveolar macrophages, as both soluble sulfates and those complexed to the surface of a latex bead, increased the oxidative burst. Incubation of alveolar macrophages with dusts from sewage sludge incineration, an electric power station, and factories led to a release of hydrogen peroxide by alveolar macrophages exposed to particles [9]. The release of hydrogen peroxide correlated best, in descending order, with the content of Fe, Mn, Cr, V, and As, in the dusts. Respiratory epithelial cells exposed to an oil fly ash showed a concentration- and time-dependent induction of intracellular oxidants triggered by metal components [30]. Finally, after exposure to an air pollution particle collected in Denver, alveolar macrophages generated oxidants which correlated with Fe in the PM [127]. It may be concluded that both parenchymal and nonstructural cells in the lung show evidence of metal-catalyzed oxidative stress following their in vitro exposure to PM.

ESR investigation supports the occurrence of lipid peroxidation in the lung, initiated by metal-catalyzed hydroxyl radical following in vivo exposure to an air pollution particle [57]. The oxidative capacity of PM-associated metals was also demonstrated in human investigation. Instillation of metal-rich ambient particle into the lungs of healthy subjects resulted in airway inflammation characterized by increased oxidants and cytokine production, as well as infiltration [101]. Studies using particles collected in Utah Valley also suggested a role for metals [38]. The closure and reopening of a steel mill impacted the composition of these particles; when the steel mill was operating, the PM contained significantly higher concentrations of metals. Aqueous extracts from the PM with higher concentrations of metals presented an oxidative stress in vitro and increased IL-8 and IL-6 release by respiratory epithelial cells [36]. Human exposure to the same aqueous extracts with higher concentrations of metals caused neutrophilic inflammation in the lower respiratory tract and increased lavage IL-8 and TNF- α levels [39]. This investigation supports a potential participation of metals in oxidant generation after PM exposure. Metals might be involved by directly supporting electron transport producing oxidants. However, it should be noted that protective mechanisms against such metal-catalyzed oxidant generation are extensive and direct generation is unlikely. Furthermore, studies show that metals without the capacity for such electron transfer (e.g., zinc) still present an oxidative stress and their inclusion in PM also enhances oxidants.

PM exposure is not simply the result of "bystander injury" with organic and metal components supporting electron transport and generation of destructive oxidants. Cells are not passive victims but produce oxidants in response to air pollution particles. Cell exposures to particles are associated with activation of NADPH oxidases (NOXs), which constitute an important source of oxidant generation in both the alveolar environment and in the vasculature. NOXs comprise a family of enzymes that are multi-subunit enzyme complexes generating O_2^{-} . In phagocytic cells, the oxidase consists of two membrane-bound subunits (gp91phox also known as NOX2 and p22phox), as well as three cytoplasmic subunits (p40phox, p47phox, and p67phox), and a small GTPase Rac1/2 [5]. Following recruitment of cytoplasmic subunits to the membrane where they interact with gp91phox and p22phox, the protein is assembled and activated to generate large amounts of O_2^{-1} [10]. Non-phagocytic cells contain one or more alternate NOX proteins (NOX1-5) which may be similarly activated [3, 50]. After exposure of mice to concentrated ambient particles from Manhattan, aortic expression of NADPH oxidase subunits rose and was paralleled by elevation in O₂⁻ generation [124]. Recently, participation of NADPH oxidase, and its oxidant generation, in the biological activity of PM has been demonstrated in mice using inflammatory endpoints, adiposity, and insulin resistance [58, 121].

The generation of an oxidative stress is fundamental to the response of cells, tissues, and living systems to air pollution particles. This is comparable to cigarette smoke and the proteins involved can be identical. PM exposure introduces an oxidative stress which leads to a series of reactions including phosphorylation-dependent cell signaling (ERK, p38, and Jun kinases) [3, 20, 47, 69, 99, 105, 109], transcription factor activation [65, 66, 120], and an increased expression of pro-inflammatory mediators. The final product is an inflammation (pulmonary and systemic), and apoptosis; if the response is prolonged, fibrotic and neoplastic injuries can result.

Ozone. Ozone (O_3) is a secondary air pollutant formed in the atmosphere through a photochemical reaction requiring sunlight, hydrocarbons, and nitrogen dioxide. Relative to rural regions, O_3 concentrations are higher in trafficked/urban areas; indoor levels are increased relative to the outdoor values. Ozone reacts and depletes thiol compounds. After exposure to ozone at atmospheric concentrations

(60–120 ppb), some percentage of the human population (10–15 %) will demonstrate decrements in respiratory function. In addition to this airway hyperreactivity, respiratory tract inflammation can be observed after O_3 exposure. Those with preexisting lung disease can suffer exacerbations of their condition following ozone exposure. More recently, cardiovascular disease and elevated rates of mortality were reported to be associated with ozone levels.

 O_3 depletes antioxidants and causes lipid peroxidation to affect an oxidative stress [123]. Exposure increases ozonides, aldehydes, organic and hydrogen peroxides, and organic radicals which may further promote oxidative damage. Ozone exposures initiate the same cell and molecular pathway of inflammation common to cigarette smoking and air pollution particles with activation of oxidant-sensitive MAP kinases and transcription factors culminating in the release of pro-inflammatory mediators [34].

Nitrogen and sulfur oxides. Oxides of nitrogen include nitric oxide (NO), nitrogen dioxide (NO₂), dinitrogen trioxide (N₂O₃), nitrogen tetraoxide (N₂O₄), and nitrogen pentoxide (N₂O₅). Since these various forms occur together and are interconvertible, NOx is used to describe their combined presence. NO and NO₂ are primary pollutants for which motor vehicles are the major contributors. Indoor cooking with fossil fuels, gas appliances, and cigarette smoke also constitutes a significant source. NO in the atmosphere reacts with oxygen to form NO₂, which reacts with water to yield a solution containing a mixture of nitrous and nitric acids (HNO₂ and HNO₃, respectively). Regarding health effects, NO₂ is considered to be the most important NOx; 500 ppm or greater of NO₂ precipitates pulmonary edema, while decreased exposure can result in broncholitis obliterans and pneumonitis. Human exposures to nitrogen dioxide have some potential to produce an inflammatory reaction in the lung.

NOx exposures cause an oxidative stress in the lung. Lipid peroxidation in cells in animals exposed to NO_2 has been confirmed; antioxidants can protect against cell and tissue damage induced by NO_2 [123].

 SO_2 reacts with O_2 to produce sulfate; both SO_2 and SO_4 concentrations are associated with acute bronchoconstriction and increased rates of morbidity and mortality in humans. Asthmatics appear to be more sensitive to the effects of SO_2 exposure. Effects of SO_2 are observed at significantly higher levels relative to the low levels of ozone exposure. Exposures are associated with oxidative stress but there is far less evidence to support this relationship, relative to PM and ozone [123].

Conflict of Interest The author reports no conflict of interest.

References

- Aimo L, Cherr GN, Oteiza PI (2010) Low extracellular zinc increases neuronal oxidant production through nadph oxidase and nitric oxide synthase activation. Free Radic Biol Med 48(12):1577–1587
- Alaghmand M, Blough NV (2007) Source-dependent variation in hydroxyl radical production by airborne particulate matter. Environ Sci Technol 41(7):2364–2370

- Amara N, Bachoual R, Desmard M, Golda S, Guichard C, Lanone S, Aubier M, Ogier-Denis E, Boczkowski J (2007) Diesel exhaust particles induce matrix metalloprotease-1 in human lung epithelial cells via a NADP(H) oxidase/NOX4 redox-dependent mechanism. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 293(1):L170–L181
- Arimoto T, Kadiiska MB, Sato K, Corbett J, Mason RP (2005) Synergistic production of lung free radicals by diesel exhaust particles and endotoxin. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171(4):379–387
- 5. Babior BM (2004) NADPH oxidase. Curr Opin Immunol 16(1):42-47
- Bachoual R, Boczkowski J, Goven D, Amara N, Tabet L, On D, Lecon-Malas V, Aubier M, Lanone S (2007) Biological effects of particles from the paris subway system. Chem Res Toxicol 20(10):1426–1433
- Ball JC, Straccia AM, Young WC, Aust AE (2000) The formation of reactive oxygen species catalyzed by neutral, aqueous extracts of NIST ambient particulate matter and diesel engine particles. J Air Waste Manag Assoc 50(11):1897–1903
- Becker S, Soukup JM, Gilmour MI, Devlin RB (1996) Stimulation of human and rat alveolar macrophages by urban air particulates: effects on oxidant radical generation and cytokine production. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 141(2):637–648
- Berg I, Schluter T, Gercken G (1993) Increase of bovine alveolar macrophage superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide release by dusts of different origin. J Toxicol Environ Health 39(3):341–354
- Block ML, Wu X, Pei Z, Li G, Wang T, Qin L, Wilson B, Yang J, Hong JS, Veronesi B (2004) Nanometer size diesel exhaust particles are selectively toxic to dopaminergic neurons: the role of microglia, phagocytosis, and NADPH oxidase. FASEB J 18(13):1618–1620
- Bloomer RJ (2007) Decreased blood antioxidant capacity and increased lipid peroxidation in young cigarette smokers compared to nonsmokers: impact of dietary intake. Nutr J 6:39
- Borm PJ, Kelly F, Kunzli N, Schins RP, Donaldson K (2007) Oxidant generation by particulate matter: from biologically effective dose to a promising, novel metric. Occup Environ Med 64(2):73–74
- Burke A, Fitzgerald GA (2003) Oxidative stress and smoking-induced vascular injury. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 46(1):79–90
- Burlakova EB, Zhizhina GP, Gurevich SM, Fatkullina LD, Kozachenko AI, Nagler LG, Zavarykina TM, Kashcheev VV (2010) Biomarkers of oxidative stress and smoking in cancer patients. J Cancer Res Ther 6(1):47–53
- 15. Cano M, Thimmalappula R, Fujihara M, Nagai N, Sporn M, Wang AL, Neufeld AH, Biswal S, Handa JT (2010) Cigarette smoking, oxidative stress, the anti-oxidant response through Nrf2 signaling, and age-related macular degeneration. Vision Res 50(7):652–664
- Cantin A, Crystal RG (1985) Oxidants, antioxidants and the pathogenesis of emphysema. Eur J Respir Dis Suppl 139:7–17
- Cantin AM, North SL, Hubbard RC, Crystal RG (1987) Normal alveolar epithelial lining fluid contains high levels of glutathione. J Appl Physiol 63(1):152–157
- Carter JD, Ghio AJ, Samet JM, Devlin RB (1997) Cytokine production by human airway epithelial cells after exposure to an air pollution particle is metal-dependent. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 146(2):180–188
- Cecinato A, Marino F, Di Filippo P, Lepore L, Possanzini M (1999) Distribution of n-alkanes, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons and nitrated polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons between the fine and coarse fractions of inhalable atmospheric particulates. J Chromatogr A 846(1–2):255–264
- Chien PS, Mak OT, Huang HJ (2006) Induction of COX-2 protein expression by vanadate in A549 human lung carcinoma cell line through EGF receptor and p38 MAPK-mediated pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 339(2):562–568
- 21. Cho AK, Sioutas C, Miguel AH, Kumagai Y, Schmitz DA, Singh M, Eiguren-Fernandez A, Froines JR (2005) Redox activity of airborne particulate matter at different sites in the Los Angeles Basin. Environ Res 99(1):40–47

- Church DF, Pryor WA (1985) Free-radical chemistry of cigarette smoke and its toxicological implications. Environ Health Perspect 64:111–126
- Churg A, Cherukupalli K (1993) Cigarette smoke causes rapid lipid peroxidation of rat tracheal epithelium. Int J Exp Pathol 74(2):127–132
- Corradi M, Majori M, Cacciani GC, Consigli GF, de'Munari E, Pesci A (1999) Increased exhaled nitric oxide in patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 54(7):572–575
- Corradi M, Montuschi P, Donnelly LE, Pesci A, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2001) Increased nitrosothiols in exhaled breath condensate in inflammatory airway diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163(4):854–858
- de Silva DM, Aust SD (1993) Ferritin and ceruloplasmin in oxidative damage: review and recent findings. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 71(9):715–720
- Dekhuijzen PN, Aben KK, Dekker I, Aarts LP, Wielders PL, van Herwaarden CL, Bast A (1996) Increased exhalation of hydrogen peroxide in patients with stable and unstable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154(3 pt 1):813–816
- Dellinger B, Pryor WA, Cueto R, Squadrito GL, Hegde V, Deutsch WA (2001) Role of free radicals in the toxicity of airborne fine particulate matter. Chem Res Toxicol 14(10): 1371–1377
- Denissenko MF, Pao A, Tang M, Pfeifer GP (1996) Preferential formation of benzo[a]pyrene adducts at lung cancer mutational hotspots in P53. Science 274(5286):430–432
- 30. Di Pietro A, Visalli G, Munao F, Baluce B, La Maestra S, Primerano P, Corigliano F, De Flora S (2009) Oxidative damage in human epithelial alveolar cells exposed in vitro to oil fly ash transition metals. Int J Hyg Environ Health 212(2):196–208
- DiStefano E, Eiguren-Fernandez A, Delfino RJ, Sioutas C, Froines JR, Cho AK (2009) Determination of metal-based hydroxyl radical generating capacity of ambient and diesel exhaust particles. Inhal Toxicol 21(9):731–738
- 32. Dockery DW, Pope CA III, Xu X, Spengler JD, Ware JH, Fay ME, Ferris BG Jr, Speizer FE (1993) An association between air pollution and mortality in six U.S. cities. N Engl J Med 329(24):1753–1759
- Duthie GG, Arthur JR, James WP (1991) Effects of smoking and vitamin E on blood antioxidant status. Am J Clin Nutr 53(4 suppl):1061S–1063S
- Fakhrzadeh L, Laskin JD, Laskin DL (2004) Ozone-induced production of nitric oxide and TNF-alpha and tissue injury are dependent on NF-kappaB p50. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287(2):L279–L285
- Fontaine E, Ichas F, Bernardi P (1998) A ubiquinone-binding site regulates the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. J Biol Chem 273(40):25734–25740
- 36. Frampton MW, Ghio AJ, Samet JM, Carson JL, Carter JD, Devlin RB (1999) Effects of aqueous extracts of PM(10) filters from the Utah Valley on human airway epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 277(5 pt 1):L960–L967
- 37. Gaston B, Reilly J, Drazen JM, Fackler J, Ramdev P, Arnelle D, Mullins ME, Sugarbaker DJ, Chee C, Singel DJ et al (1993) Endogenous nitrogen oxides and bronchodilator S-nitrosothiols in human airways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90(23):10957–10961
- Ghio AJ (2004) Biological effects of Utah Valley ambient air particles in humans: a review. J Aerosol Med 17(2):157–164
- Ghio AJ, Devlin RB (2001) Inflammatory lung injury after bronchial instillation of air pollution particles. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164(4):704–708
- 40. Ghio AJ, Hilborn ED, Stonehuerner JG, Dailey LA, Carter JD, Richards JH, Crissman KM, Foronjy RF, Uyeminami DL, Pinkerton KE (2008) Particulate matter in cigarette smoke alters iron homeostasis to produce a biological effect. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178(11):1130–1138
- 41. Ghio AJ, Kennedy TP, Whorton AR, Crumbliss AL, Hatch GE, Hoidal JR (1992) Role of surface complexed iron in oxidant generation and lung inflammation induced by silicates. Am J Physiol 263(5 pt 1):L511–L518

- 42. Ghio AJ, Meng ZH, Hatch GE, Costa DL (1997) Luminol-enhanced chemiluminescence after in vitro exposure of rat alveolar macrophages to oil fly ash is metal dependent. Inhal Toxicol 9(3):255–271
- 43. Ghio AJ, Stonehuerner J, Pritchard RJ, Piantadosi CA, Quigley DR, Dreher KL, Costa DL (1996) Humic-like substances in air pollution particulates correlate with concentrations of transition metals and oxidant generation. Inhal Toxicol 8:479–494
- 44. Ghio AJ, Stonehuerner J, Quigley DR (1994) Humic-like substances in cigarette smoke condensate and lung tissue of smokers. Am J Physiol 266(4 pt 1):L382–L388
- 45. Gualtieri M, Mantecca P, Corvaja V, Longhin E, Perrone MG, Bolzacchini E, Camatini M (2009) Winter fine particulate matter from Milan induces morphological and functional alterations in human pulmonary epithelial cells (A549). Toxicol Lett 188(1):52–62
- 46. Gurgueira SA, Lawrence J, Coull B, Murthy GG, Gonzalez-Flecha B (2002) Rapid increases in the steady-state concentration of reactive oxygen species in the lungs and heart after particulate air pollution inhalation. Environ Health Perspect 110(8):749–755
- 47. Gursinsky T, Ruhs S, Friess U, Diabate S, Krug HF, Silber RE, Simm A (2006) Air pollutionassociated fly ash particles induce fibrotic mechanisms in primary fibroblasts. Biol Chem 387(10–11):1411–1420
- 48. Halliwell B (1996) Antioxidants in human health and disease. Annu Rev Nutr 16:33-50
- Harats D, Ben-Naim M, Dabach Y, Hollander G, Stein O, Stein Y (1989) Cigarette smoking renders LDL susceptible to peroxidative modification and enhanced metabolism by macrophages. Atherosclerosis 79(2–3):245–252
- Hartz AM, Bauer B, Block ML, Hong JS, Miller DS (2008) Diesel exhaust particles induce oxidative stress, proinflammatory signaling, and P-glycoprotein up-regulation at the bloodbrain barrier. FASEB J 22(8):2723–2733
- 51. Hempel SL, Buettner GR, O'Malley YQ, Wessels DA, Flaherty DM (1999) Dihydrofluorescein diacetate is superior for detecting intracellular oxidants: comparison with 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate, 5(and 6)-carboxy-2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate, and dihydrorhodamine 123. Free Radic Biol Med 27(1–2):146–159
- 52. Heunks LM, Vina J, van Herwaarden CL, Folgering HT, Gimeno A, Dekhuijzen PN (1999) Xanthine oxidase is involved in exercise-induced oxidative stress in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Physiol 277(6 pt 2):R1697–R1704
- 53. Hirakawa K, Oikawa S, Hiraku Y, Hirosawa I, Kawanishi S (2002) Catechol and hydroquinone have different redox properties responsible for their differential DNA-damaging ability. Chem Res Toxicol 15(1):76–82
- 54. Hitzfeld B, Friedrichs KH, Ring J, Behrendt H (1997) Airborne particulate matter modulates the production of reactive oxygen species in human polymorphonuclear granulocytes. Toxicology 120(3):185–195
- 55. Hogervorst JG, de Kok TM, Briede JJ, Wesseling G, Kleinjans JC, van Schayck CP (2006) Relationship between radical generation by urban ambient particulate matter and pulmonary function of school children. J Toxicol Environ Health A 69(3–4):245–262
- Hoidal JR, Fox RB, LeMarbe PA, Perri R, Repine JE (1981) Altered oxidative metabolic responses in vitro of alveolar macrophages from asymptomatic cigarette smokers. Am Rev Respir Dis 123(1):85–89
- 57. Kadiiska MB, Mason RP, Dreher KL, Costa DL, Ghio AJ (1997) In vivo evidence of free radical formation in the rat lung after exposure to an emission source air pollution particle. Chem Res Toxicol 10(10):1104–1108
- 58. Kampfrath T, Maiseyeu A, Ying Z, Shah Z, Deiuliis JA, Xu X, Kherada N, Brook RD, Reddy KM, Padture NP, Parthasarathy S, Chen LC, Moffatt-Bruce S, Sun Q, Morawietz H, Rajagopalan S (2011) Chronic fine particulate matter exposure induces systemic vascular dysfunction via NADPH oxidase and TLR4 pathways. Circ Res 108(6):716–726
- Khanna A, Guo M, Mehra M, Royal W III (2013) Inflammation and oxidative stress induced by cigarette smoke in Lewis rat brains. J Neuroimmunol 254(1–2):69–75
- Krewski D, Rainham D (2007) Ambient air pollution and population health: overview. J Toxicol Environ Health A 70(3–4):275–283

- 61. Kumagai Y, Arimoto T, Shinyashiki M, Shimojo N, Nakai Y, Yoshikawa T, Sagai M (1997) Generation of reactive oxygen species during interaction of diesel exhaust particle components with NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase and involvement of the bioactivation in the DNA damage. Free Radic Biol Med 22(3):479–487
- Langen RC, Korn SH, Wouters EF (2003) ROS in the local and systemic pathogenesis of COPD. Free Radic Biol Med 35(3):226–235
- Lannan S, Donaldson K, Brown D, MacNee W (1994) Effect of cigarette smoke and its condensates on alveolar epithelial cell injury in vitro. Am J Physiol 266(1 pt 1):L92–L100
- 64. Leonard SS, Castranova V, Chen BT, Schwegler-Berry D, Hoover M, Piacitelli C, Gaughan DM (2007) Particle size-dependent radical generation from wildland fire smoke. Toxicology 236(1–2):103–113
- 65. Li N, Alam J, Venkatesan MI, Eiguren-Fernandez A, Schmitz D, Di Stefano E, Slaughter N, Killeen E, Wang X, Huang A, Wang M, Miguel AH, Cho A, Sioutas C, Nel AE (2004) Nrf2 is a key transcription factor that regulates antioxidant defense in macrophages and epithelial cells: protecting against the proinflammatory and oxidizing effects of diesel exhaust chemicals. J Immunol 173(5):3467–3481
- 66. Li N, Kim S, Wang M, Froines J, Sioutas C, Nel A (2002) Use of a stratified oxidative stress model to study the biological effects of ambient concentrated and diesel exhaust particulate matter. Inhal Toxicol 14(5):459–486
- 67. Li N, Sioutas C, Cho A, Schmitz D, Misra C, Sempf J, Wang M, Oberley T, Froines J, Nel A (2003) Ultrafine particulate pollutants induce oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage. Environ Health Perspect 111(4):455–460
- Li N, Wang M, Oberley TD, Sempf JM, Nel AE (2002) Comparison of the pro-oxidative and proinflammatory effects of organic diesel exhaust particle chemicals in bronchial epithelial cells and macrophages. J Immunol 169(8):4531–4541
- 69. Li R, Ning Z, Cui J, Khalsa B, Ai L, Takabe W, Beebe T, Majumdar R, Sioutas C, Hsiai T (2009) Ultrafine particles from diesel engines induce vascular oxidative stress via JNK activation. Free Radic Biol Med 46(6):775–782
- 70. Li XY, Donaldson K, Rahman I, MacNee W (1994) An investigation of the role of glutathione in increased epithelial permeability induced by cigarette smoke in vivo and in vitro. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149(6):1518–1525
- Louhelainen N, Rytila P, Haahtela T, Kinnula VL, Djukanovic R (2009) Persistence of oxidant and protease burden in the airways after smoking cessation. BMC Pulm Med 9:25
- Lykkesfeldt J, Prieme H, Loft S, Poulsen HE (1996) Effect of smoking cessation on plasma ascorbic acid concentration. BMJ 313(7049):91
- MacNee W, Wiggs B, Belzberg AS, Hogg JC (1989) The effect of cigarette smoking on neutrophil kinetics in human lungs. N Engl J Med 321(14):924–928
- Madden MC, Thomas MJ, Ghio AJ (1999) Acetaldehyde (CH3CHO) production in rodent lung after exposure to metal-rich particles. Free Radic Biol Med 26(11–12):1569–1577
- 75. Montuschi P, Collins JV, Ciabattoni G, Lazzeri N, Corradi M, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2000) Exhaled 8-isoprostane as an in vivo biomarker of lung oxidative stress in patients with COPD and healthy smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162(3 pt 1):1175–1177
- 76. Morrow JD, Frei B, Longmire AW, Gaziano JM, Lynch SM, Shyr Y, Strauss WE, Oates JA, Roberts LJ II (1995) Increase in circulating products of lipid peroxidation (F2-isoprostanes) in smokers. Smoking as a cause of oxidative damage. N Engl J Med 332(18):1198–1203
- 77. Muller-Schweinitzer E, Muller SE, Reineke DC, Kern T, Carrel TP, Eckstein FS, Grapow MT (2010) Reactive oxygen species mediate functional differences in human radial and internal thoracic arteries from smokers. J Vasc Surg 51(2):438–444
- Nightingale JA, Maggs R, Cullinan P, Donnelly LE, Rogers DF, Kinnersley R, Chung KF, Barnes PJ, Ashmore M, Newman-Taylor A (2000) Airway inflammation after controlled exposure to diesel exhaust particulates. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162(1):161–166
- Ohnishi S, Kawanishi S (2002) Double base lesions of DNA by a metabolite of carcinogenic benzo[a]pyrene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 290(2):778–782

- Ohyama M, Otake T, Adachi S, Kobayashi T, Morinaga K (2007) A comparison of the production of reactive oxygen species by suspended particulate matter and diesel exhaust particles with macrophages. Inhal Toxicol 19(suppl 1):157–160
- Padmaja S, Huie RE (1993) The reaction of nitric oxide with organic peroxyl radicals. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 195(2):539–544
- Petruzzelli S, Puntoni R, Mimotti P, Pulera N, Baliva F, Fornai E, Giuntini C (1997) Plasma 3-nitrotyrosine in cigarette smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156(6):1902–1907
- Pope CA III, Burnett RT, Thun MJ, Calle EE, Krewski D, Ito K, Thurston GD (2002) Lung cancer, cardiopulmonary mortality, and long-term exposure to fine particulate air pollution. JAMA 287(9):1132–1141
- Pope CA III, Dockery DW (2006) Health effects of fine particulate air pollution: lines that connect. J Air Waste Manag Assoc 56(6):709–742
- Pritchard RJ, Ghio AJ, Lehmann J, Park P, Gilmour MI, Winsett DW, Dreher KL, Costa DL (1996) Oxidant generation and lung injury after exposure to particulate air pollutants are associated with concentration of complexed iron. Inhal Toxicol 8:457–477
- Pryor WA (1987) Cigarette smoke and the involvement of free radical reactions in chemical carcinogenesis. Br J Cancer Suppl 8:19–23
- Pryor WA (1997) Cigarette smoke radicals and the role of free radicals in chemical carcinogenicity. Environ Health Perspect 105(suppl 4):875–882
- Qiu XB, Cadenas E (1997) The role of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase in quinonemediated p21 induction in human colon carcinoma cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 346(2):241–251
- Rahman I (2005) Oxidative stress in pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: cellular and molecular mechanisms. Cell Biochem Biophys 43(1):167–188
- Rahman I, MacNee W (1996) Role of oxidants/antioxidants in smoking-induced lung diseases. Free Radic Biol Med 21(5):669–681
- Rahman I, Morrison D, Donaldson K, MacNee W (1996) Systemic oxidative stress in asthma, COPD, and smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154(4 pt 1):1055–1060
- Ren C, Fang S, Wright RO, Suh H, Schwartz J (2011) Urinary 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine as a biomarker of oxidative DNA damage induced by ambient pollution in the Normative Aging Study. Occup Environ Med 68(8):562–569
- Rhoden CR, Lawrence J, Godleski JJ, Gonzalez-Flecha B (2004) N-acetylcysteine prevents lung inflammation after short-term inhalation exposure to concentrated ambient particles. Toxicol Sci 79(2):296–303
- 94. Rhoden CR, Wellenius GA, Ghelfi E, Lawrence J, Gonzalez-Flecha B (2005) PM-induced cardiac oxidative stress and dysfunction are mediated by autonomic stimulation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1725(3):305–313
- 95. Rodgman A, Perfetti TA (2009) The chemical components of tobacco and tobacco smoke. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- 96. Rogers DF (2001) Mucus hypersecretion in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. In: Chadwick D, Goode JA (eds) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: pathogenesis to treatment. Wiley, Chichester
- Rutgers SR, Postma DS, ten Hacken NH, Kauffman HF, van Der Mark TW, Koeter GH, Timens W (2000) Ongoing airway inflammation in patients with COPD who do not currently smoke. Chest 117(5 suppl 1):262S
- Rytila P, Rehn T, Ilumets H, Rouhos A, Sovijarvi A, Myllarniemi M, Kinnula VL (2006) Increased oxidative stress in asymptomatic current chronic smokers and GOLD stage 0 COPD. Respir Res 7:69
- 99. Samet JM, Stonehuerner J, Reed W, Devlin RB, Dailey LA, Kennedy TP, Bromberg PA, Ghio AJ (1997) Disruption of protein tyrosine phosphate homeostasis in bronchial epithelial cells exposed to oil fly ash. Am J Physiol 272(3 pt 1):L426–L432
- 100. Schaberg T, Haller H, Rau M, Kaiser D, Fassbender M, Lode H (1992) Superoxide anion release induced by platelet-activating factor is increased in human alveolar macrophages from smokers. Eur Respir J 5(4):387–393

- 101. Schaumann F, Borm PJ, Herbrich A, Knoch J, Pitz M, Schins RP, Luettig B, Hohlfeld JM, Heinrich J, Krug N (2004) Metal-rich ambient particles (particulate matter 2.5) cause airway inflammation in healthy subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 170(8):898–903
- 102. Selby C, Drost E, Wraith PK, MacNee W (1991) In vivo neutrophil sequestration within lungs of humans is determined by in vitro "filterability". J Appl Physiol 71(5):1996–2003
- 103. Shi T, Duffin R, Borm PJ, Li H, Weishaupt C, Schins RP (2006) Hydroxyl-radical-dependent DNA damage by ambient particulate matter from contrasting sampling locations. Environ Res 101(1):18–24
- 104. Shi X, Dalal NS, Kasprzak KS (1993) Generation of free radicals from hydrogen peroxide and lipid hydroperoxides in the presence of Cr(III). Arch Biochem Biophys 302(1): 294–299
- 105. Silbajoris R, Ghio AJ, Samet JM, Jaskot R, Dreher KL, Brighton LE (2000) In vivo and in vitro correlation of pulmonary MAP kinase activation following metallic exposure. Inhal Toxicol 12(6):453–468
- 106. Squadrito GL, Cueto R, Dellinger B, Pryor WA (2001) Quinoid redox cycling as a mechanism for sustained free radical generation by inhaled airborne particulate matter. Free Radic Biol Med 31(9):1132–1138
- 107. Talukder MA, Johnson WM, Varadharaj S, Lian J, Kearns PN, El-Mahdy MA, Liu X, Zweier JL (2011) Chronic cigarette smoking causes hypertension, increased oxidative stress, impaired NO bioavailability, endothelial dysfunction, and cardiac remodeling in mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 300(1):H388–H396
- Thompson AB, Bohling T, Heires A, Linder J, Rennard SI (1991) Lower respiratory tract iron burden is increased in association with cigarette smoking. J Lab Clin Med 117(6):493–499
- 109. Timblin C, BeruBe K, Churg A, Driscoll K, Gordon T, Hemenway D, Walsh E, Cummins AB, Vacek P, Mossman B (1998) Ambient particulate matter causes activation of the c-jun kinase/stress-activated protein kinase cascade and DNA synthesis in lung epithelial cells. Cancer Res 58(20):4543–4547
- 110. Valavanidis A, Fiotakis K, Vlahogianni T, Bakeas EB, Triantafillaki S, Paraskevopoulou V, Dassenakis M (2006) Characterization of atmospheric particulates, particle-bound transition metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons of urban air in the centre of Athens (Greece). Chemosphere 65(5):760–768
- 111. van Antwerpen VL, Theron AJ, Richards GA, Steenkamp KJ, van der Merwe CA, van der Walt R, Anderson R (1995) Vitamin E, pulmonary functions, and phagocyte-mediated oxidative stress in smokers and nonsmokers. Free Radic Biol Med 18(5):935–941
- 112. Van der Vliet A, Smith D, O'Neill CA, Kaur H, Darley-Usmar V, Cross CE, Halliwell B (1994) Interactions of peroxynitrite with human plasma and its constituents: oxidative damage and antioxidant depletion. Biochem J 303(pt 1):295–301
- 113. Varela-Carver A, Parker H, Kleinert C, Rimoldi O (2010) Adverse effects of cigarette smoke and induction of oxidative stress in cardiomyocytes and vascular endothelium. Curr Pharm Des 16(23):2551–2558
- 114. Vogl G, Elstner EF (1989) Diesel soot particles catalyze the production of oxy-radicals. Toxicol Lett 47(1):17–23
- 115. Wei Y, Han IK, Shao M, Hu M, Zhang OJ, Tang X (2009) PM2.5 constituents and oxidative DNA damage in humans. Environ Sci Technol 43(13):4757–4762
- 116. Wesselius LJ, Nelson ME, Skikne BS (1994) Increased release of ferritin and iron by iron-loaded alveolar macrophages in cigarette smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 150(3):690–695
- 117. Whitekus MJ, Li N, Zhang M, Wang M, Horwitz MA, Nelson SK, Horwitz LD, Brechun N, Diaz-Sanchez D, Nel AE (2002) Thiol antioxidants inhibit the adjuvant effects of aerosolized diesel exhaust particles in a murine model for ovalbumin sensitization. J Immunol 168(5):2560–2567
- 118. Wickenden JA, Clarke MC, Rossi AG, Rahman I, Faux SP, Donaldson K, MacNee W (2003) Cigarette smoke prevents apoptosis through inhibition of caspase activation and induces necrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29(5):562–570

- 119. Xia T, Korge P, Weiss JN, Li N, Venkatesen MI, Sioutas C, Nel A (2004) Quinones and aromatic chemical compounds in particulate matter induce mitochondrial dysfunction: implications for ultrafine particle toxicity. Environ Health Perspect 112(14):1347–1358
- 120. Xiao GG, Wang M, Li N, Loo JA, Nel AE (2003) Use of proteomics to demonstrate a hierarchical oxidative stress response to diesel exhaust particle chemicals in a macrophage cell line. J Biol Chem 278(50):50781–50790
- 121. Xu X, Yavar Z, Verdin M, Ying Z, Mihai G, Kampfrath T, Wang A, Zhong M, Lippmann M, Chen LC, Rajagopalan S, Sun Q (2010) Effect of early particulate air pollution exposure on obesity in mice: role of p47phox. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30(12):2518–2527
- 122. Yamaguchi Y, Nasu F, Harada A, Kunitomo M (2007) Oxidants in the gas phase of cigarette smoke pass through the lung alveolar wall and raise systemic oxidative stress. J Pharmacol Sci 103(3):275–282
- 123. Yang W, Omaye ST (2009) Air pollutants, oxidative stress and human health. Mutat Res 674(1-2):45–54
- 124. Ying Z, Kampfrath T, Thurston G, Farrar B, Lippmann M, Wang A, Sun Q, Chen LC, Rajagopalan S (2009) Ambient particulates alter vascular function through induction of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. Toxicol Sci 111(1):80–88
- 125. Zang LY, Stone K, Pryor WA (1995) Detection of free radicals in aqueous extracts of cigarette tar by electron spin resonance. Free Radic Biol Med 19(2):161–167
- 126. Zhang WZ, Venardos K, Chin-Dusting J, Kaye DM (2006) Adverse effects of cigarette smoke on NO bioavailability: role of arginine metabolism and oxidative stress. Hypertension 48(2):278–285
- 127. Zhang Y, Schauer JJ, Shafer MM, Hannigan MP, Dutton SJ (2008) Source apportionment of in vitro reactive oxygen species bioassay activity from atmospheric particulate matter. Environ Sci Technol 42(19):7502–7509

Chapter 9 Air Pollution and Oxidative Stress in Allergic Airway Diseases

Ruby Pawankar, Chika Ozu, Miyuki Hayashi, and Shingo Yamanishi

9.1 Introduction

The increase in the prevalence of allergic diseases to epidemiological proportions is of great concern both in developed and developing countries [1]. This dramatic rise in prevalence of allergic diseases includes asthma, rhinitis eczema, and potentially life-threatening allergies to certain foods, drugs, or other substances. The World Allergy Organization White Book on Allergy estimates that about 30-40 % of the world's population is affected by one or more allergic conditions. What is of greatest concern is that this increase is especially affecting children and young adolescents and that the severity and complexity of these diseases are increasing. The increase in prevalence of these diseases contributes to patient morbidity and mortality as well as to increased cost in the form of medications, hospitalizations, health care utilization, and school/work absenteeism. Among the various factors that are considered to contribute to this rise in prevalence of allergic diseases are the hygiene hypothesis, change in lifestyles, urbanization, environmental pollution, climate change, and reduced biodiversity. Of these factors, the hygiene hypothesis, clime change, and environmental pollution have been attracting attention as important contributing factors [2].

R. Pawankar, M.D., Ph.D., F.R.C.P., F.A.A.A.A.I. (🖂)

Division of Allergy, Department of Pediatrics, Nippon Medical School, 4F, Yayoi Ichigokan, 1-4-10, Yayoi, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0032, Japan e-mail: pawankar.ruby@gmail.com

C. Ozu, M.D. Ozu ENT Clinic, Shizuoka, Japan

M. Hayashi, M.D., Ph.D. • S. Yamanishi, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Pediatrics, Nippon Medical School, Tokyo, Japan

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_9, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

9.2 Air Pollution and Allergic Airway Diseases

While the precise mechanisms underlying this increase in prevalence of allergic diseases and asthma are not fully elucidated, epidemiological research suggests a causative relationship between air pollution and the increase in incidence of these diseases as well as in the exacerbation of allergic airway diseases. This involves two aspects: the impact of the pollutants on the airways and the host susceptibility. The pollutants include ozone, nitrogen dioxide, and particulate matter, produced by traffic- and industry-induced pollution. Experimental studies have elucidated some of the cellular and molecular mechanisms on how these pollutants induce adverse effects in allergic diseases [3, 4]. Air pollution-induced oxidative stress aggravates airway inflammation by inducing the production of proinflammatory mediators, enhancing bronchial hyperresponsiveness, stimulating bronchospasm, and increasing mucin secretion. Additionally, recent gene–environmental interactions demonstrate the host susceptibility to air pollutants.

Air pollution has a considerable impact on allergic airway-related morbidity and mortality. In a study done in Mexico city, traffic-related air pollution was shown to have adverse effects on the respiratory symptoms and pulmonary function in asthmatic children [5, 6]. In the same study, the researchers found that PM2.5, NO₂, and ozone concentrations were significantly related to an increased incidence of asthma exacerbations. In a prospective cohort study of 8,111 adults in six US cities, fine-particulate air pollution, or a more complex pollution mixture associated with fine-particulate matter, contributed to excess mortality [7]. Exposure to ozone at concentrations found in ambient air was found to be associated with a reduction in lung function and induction of respiratory symptoms including cough and shortness of breath [8–11]. NO₂ concentrations in ambient air were found to be associated with cough, wheezing, and shortness of breath in children. Moreover, urban air pollution may have lasting adverse effects on lung development in children and diminished lung function in adults [12–15] and reduced exposure to PM10 has been shown to attenuate age-related decline in lung function after 11 years [16, 17].

Ozone is one of the most common air pollutants shown to be a trigger for asthma exacerbations in children, even at levels below the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) standards of 120 ppb (1 h average) and 75 ppb (8 h average) [18–21]. Studies have shown that among asthmatic children aged 6–18 years, there was a 20 % increase in general hospitalizations and a 19 % increased risk for ICU admissions for each 22 ppb increase in ozone [22]. Particulate matter, such as diesel exhaust particles (DEPs), is another important environmental pollutant that leads to an increased risk for asthma development and exacerbation [23–26]. Diesel exhaust contains small particles that range in size from nanoparticles to coarse particles consisting of a carbonaceous core with a large surface area to which chemicals are adsorbed. These include organic compounds such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), nitro derivatives of PAHs, oxygenated PAH derivatives (ketones, quinones, and diones), heterocyclic compounds, aldehydes, and aliphatic hydrocarbons. PAHs and their oxygenated derivatives (e.g., quinones) can generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) in target cells.

The processes by which DEPs exert their influence on the airway cells have been partially elucidated [27–29].

Endotoxin, also known as LPS, is a component of Gram-negative bacteria and derived from animals and agricultural activities that have been associated with asthma exacerbations and increased prevalence of asthma in early childhood [30, 31] and exposure to house dust LPS has been shown to have a synergistic effect [32]. A metaanalysis has shown that LPS exposure correlated positively with wheeze in infants and toddlers [33]. Furthermore, both LPS and ozone can enhance sputum neutrophilia, as LPS acts via the toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) on the cell surface on macrophages. Experimental animal models suggest that at least some ozone responses are mediated through TLR4 [34-36]. Toll-like receptors recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [37] and are critical in initiating inflammatory responses to a variety of stimuli, leading to the production of proinflammatory mediators such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6. Hyaluronic acid (HA), a glycosaminoglycan that is a component of the airway epithelial extracellular matrix [38, 39], is present on the apical surface of airway epithelial cells; its low molecular weight form is an endogenous ligand for TLR4 [40, 41]. In the airway epithelium, low molecular weight fragments can be generated by ROSinduced depolymerization of hyaluronan [42, 43], and by hyaluronidase activity associated with upregulation of TNF- α in concert with IL-1 β [44]. Several groups have shown that low molecular weight fragments of HA have proinflammatory actions [45] and that they are increased in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid after ozone challenge via CD44 [39] and TLR4 [38] signaling mechanisms. Also studies have shown that normal volunteers, allergic nonasthmatics, and mild allergic asthmatics had increased HA in their respiratory tract lining fluid after ozone exposure [46].

Airway eosinophilia and increased sensitivity to allergen have been shown to be enhanced by ozone [47–49]. In a study of allergic asthmatics and normal volunteers, only the allergic asthmatics had an increased cell surface expression of TLR4 on macrophages in induced sputum and increased levels of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 in the respiratory tract lining fluid after ozone exposure [46]. Compared to normal volunteers, allergic asthmatics showed increased immune signaling involving the NF- κ B network [50], in concert with the concept that asthmatics have increased innate immune activation after ozone exposure. Ozone exposure has also been linked to the frequency of hospital admissions [51, 52], worsening of symptoms, and need for rescue medication [26] as well as asthma attacks, respiratory infections, and reductions in peak flow rate [53]. Future work will need to focus on mechanisms explaining this enhanced innate immune response in asthmatics.

9.3 Oxidative Stress and Susceptibility to Air Pollution

Oxidative stress is considered to be a toxic byproduct of aerobic metabolism and a factor involved in tissue damage. Compounds involved in oxidative stress, such as H_2O_2 , act as key molecules in signal transduction. Many types of stimuli, including

allergens, infections, various chemical mediators, and growth factors, can induce a transient increase in intracellular ROS—in particular H_2O_2 —mainly through activation of NADPH oxidase immediately after the exposure of the stimuli to cells. Dynamic changes in intracellular levels of H_2O_2 may lead to various intracellular signaling events. Under low levels of oxidative stress, appropriate antioxidant defense systems act through the activation of Nrf2. If a higher level of oxidative stress occurs, inflammatory cellular responses are induced by the activation of AP-1 and NF- κ B leading to the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. The highest level of oxidative stress causes serious cytotoxic effects, including apoptosis and necrosis. Thus, the maintenance of intracellular ROS in a proper range is crucial in the management of various inflammatory diseases.

As air pollutants promote the production of radical oxygen species in the airways, genetic polymorphisms may further amplify airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in response to environmental agents. A number of intracellular antioxidant enzymes including NOO1, GSTM1, GSTP1, and HO-1 regulate cellular and mucosal oxidant stress [42-46]. These enzymes are regulated by the transcription factor Nrf2. Cells that encounter oxidative stress activate Nrf2 binding to the antioxidant response element (ARE), leading to the transcription of a broad range of antioxidant genes. This cellular response is designed to defend against the harmful effects of oxidative agents. The GSTM1, or glutathione-S-transferase Mu1, null genotype has been associated with increased response to environmental agents. Studies have demonstrated an increased risk of acute exacerbation of asthma in response to ozone exposure in subjects with the null genotype [47]. Dillon et al. demonstrated that subjects with the GSTM1 null genotype have an increased inflammatory response with elevated levels of IL-1 β and TNF- α in the sputum to inhaled LPS (at 20,000 endotoxin units) [54]. Thus genotypic differences may be an important factor in explaining why some people are more susceptible to endotoxin exposure than others. Subjects with the null genotype for GSTM1 and GSTP1 codon 105 variants had enhanced nasal allergic responses in the presence of DEPs demonstrating that GSTM1 and GSTP1 can enhance the effect of air pollutants on allergic inflammation [55, 56]. Subjects with the GSTMI null genotype have increased neutrophil influx and increased IL-8 production into the airways following exposure to ozone [57, 58].

 NO_2 exposure is associated with increased emergency room visits, wheezing, and medication use among children with asthma [59, 60]. Controlled exposure studies of asthmatics have found that NO_2 can enhance the allergic response to inhaled allergens [61, 62]. The authors also identified the impact of diesel-engine traffic on asthma wheezing and bronchodilator usage.

Among adults with asthma, exposure to traffic loads has been associated with lung function and health status [63]. This causal relationship between worsening asthma and diesel traffic pollution was clearly demonstrated by McCreanor et al. [64], where walking along Oxford Street (more diesel exhaust) induced asymptomatic but significantly greater reductions in FEV1 (up to 6.1 %) and forced vital capacity (up to 5.4 %) than did walking through Hyde Park. This effect was greater in subjects with moderate asthma than in those with mild asthma and accompanied

by increases in sputum myeloperoxidase and airway acidification in exhaled breath condensates (EBC). A sub-analysis was performed among moderate and severe asthma patients, and revealed that EBC biomarkers were correlated with PM10 concentration.

Three birth cohort studies from Germany, Holland, and Sweden followed children until the age of 4 or 6 years and suggested a positive relationship between traffic-related pollution and physician-diagnosed asthma [65–67]. A Japanese cohort study also reported an association between NO_2 levels and asthma incidence [68]; the authors studied the effects of air pollution on the prevalence and incidence of asthma among 2,506 children over a period of 4 years, and found that children living less than 50 m from heavily trafficked roads were more likely to develop asthma. They also reported a possible link between asthma development and increased concentrations of PM10.

9.4 Effect of Air Pollutants at Cellular Level and Oxidative Stress

Ohtoshi et al. [69] reported that exposure to DEP in vitro stimulates human airway epithelial cells to produce cytokines relevant to airway inflammation. Bayram et al. [70] reported that exposure to DEP in vitro induced bronchial epithelial cells (BECs) to release interleukin-8 (IL-8), granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), regulated upon activation, normal T-cell expressed, and secreted (RANTES), and soluble intercellular adhesion molecules (ICAM)-1. BECs from asthmatic patients constitutively released significantly greater amounts of cytokines than did those from non-asthmatic individuals. DEPs upregulated expression of the ICAM-1 gene in human BECs [71]. Research has also demonstrated that DEPinduced IL-8 production was regulated at the transcriptional level [72]. Additionally, DEPs have been observed to induce eotaxin gene expression in BECs [73], although another report refutes this [74]. DEPs induced dose-dependent activation of nuclear factor (NF)-KB in human BECs, as identified using an electrophoretic mobility shift assay [73]. Studies using reporter assays with normal and mutated IL-8 promoters indicated that IL-8 gene transcription was induced via NF-KB activation. Hashimoto et al. [75] reported that DEP-induced activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) plays an important role in the production of IL-8 and RANTES. Other reports demonstrated the importance of other intracellular signal transduction pathways, such as mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK)-1 [76] and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (jnk) [77], in DEP-stimulated human BECs and macrophages. DEP has been shown to have a direct impact on airway epithelial cells not only enhancing the release of proinflammatory cytokines but also upregulating co-stimulatory molecules like CD86 and HLA-DR and also enhancing antigen presentation [78]. Zhang et al. [79] investigated the effects of DEPs on expression of fra-1, a heterodimeric partner of activator protein-1, in a murine lung epithelial cell line and found that DEPs markedly upregulated expression of fra-1 but not fra-2.

Overexpression of fra-1 downregulated c-Jun, nuclear factor-like 2 (Nrf2) enhanced activator protein-1, and ARE mediated reporter gene expression, respectively. fra-1 induction by DEPs may play a role in the selective regulation of expression of genes involved in alveolar epithelial cell injury and repair. Blanchet et al. [80] reported that PM2.5 and DEPs induced the expression and secretion of amphiregulin, an epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) ligand in BECs. Amphiregulin secretion was mediated by activation of the EGFR and extracellular signal-regulated kinase/MAPK pathways. Exposure to diesel exhaust (PM10, 300 µg/m³) enhanced EGFR expression and phosphorylation of tyrosine 1173 [81]. These findings suggest that EGFR plays a key role in the bronchial response to diesel exhaust fumes. Long-term DEP exposure may lead to an airway remodeling process in asthmatics [82]. More profound adverse effects have also been reported, such as effects on the cardiovascular system [83].

DEP-induced IL-8, ICAM-1, GM-CSF, and RANTES expression is inhibited by antioxidant agents such as *N*-acetyl cysteine (NAC) and pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate, so ROS may be involved in this induction [73, 84]. DEP-induced NF-κB activation was completely inhibited by pretreatment with NAC [84]. DEP-induced activation of MAPK pathways was also blocked by NAC and pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate [75]. These observations suggest that DEP-induced activation of signal pathways and transcription factors is a result of ROS, derived both primarily and secondarily from DEPs. Bonvallot et al. [85] found that the ability of DEPs to induce GM-CSF expression was almost completely eliminated after washing the DEPs, suggesting the importance of adsorbed chemicals. While exposure to DEPs induces proinflammatory gene in human airway epithelial cells, benzene-extracted components had effects that mimicked those of DEPs on the release of several cytokines (IL-8, GM-CSF, RANTES), and NF-κB activation [86, 87].

The role of ROS generated directly and indirectly by exposure to DEPs has been well studied. The ROS play an important role in proinflammatory reaction in airways. Nuclear erythroid 2 P45-related factor Nrf2 is a key transcription factor that regulates host antioxidant and contributes to regulate airway inflammation and exacerbation of allergic inflammation induced by DEPs. C57BL/6J Nrf2-/- mice exposed to low-dose DEPs for 8 weeks showed significantly increased AHR and lymphocyte and eosinophil counts, together with increased IL-12, IL-13, and thymus and activation-regulated chemokine concentrations in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid than wild-type mice. In contrast, expression of antioxidant enzyme genes was significantly higher in wild-type mice than in Nrf2-/- mice [88]. These results strongly suggest that DEP-induced oxidative stress and host antioxidant responses are regulated by Nrf2. Furthermore, the responsiveness of the Nrf2-directed antioxidant pathway acts as a major determinant of susceptibility to allergen-mediated asthma [89]. These findings suggest that the synergistic effects of the oxidative stresses caused by DEPs and allergens contribute to the major pathways underlying exacerbation of allergic asthma.

It is important to develop methods of identifying susceptible individuals within a large population and to evaluate whether measurement of airway inflammatory biomarkers in EBC would be an appropriate method of assessment.

9.5 Conclusion

Epidemiological studies have shown that air pollutants are involved in the pathogenesis of allergic airway diseases such as asthma and rhinitis, both in terms of their development and exacerbation. Air pollution-induced oxidative stress is increased in allergic airway diseases like asthma, and this can be a critical contributor to asthma development and can initiate various intracellular signaling pathways that lead to a break in immune tolerance and exaggerated allergic inflammation. Recent increases in the incidence of asthma may be attributed not only to increased oxidative stress in the environment but also to host susceptibility. Controlling oxidative stress is critical for effectively managing asthma. Development of a safe and rapid method of screening individuals for their susceptibility to air pollution is also an important strategy.

References

- 1. Pawankar R, Canonica GW, Holgate ST, Lockey RF (2011) WAO white book on allergy. World Allergy Organization, Milwaukee, p 216
- 2. Saxon A, Diaz-Sanchez D (2005) Air pollution and allergy: you are what you breathe. Nat Immunol 6:223–226
- Takizawa H (2004) Diesel exhaust particles and their effect on induced cytokine expression in human bronchial epithelial cells. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 4:355–359
- Terzano C, Di Stefano F, Conti V, Graziani E, Petroianni A (2010) Air pollution ultrafine particles: toxicity beyond the lung. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 14:809–821
- 5. Escamilla-Nunez MC, Barraza-Villarreal A, Hernandez-Cadena L et al (2008) Traffic-related air pollution and respiratory symptoms among asthmatic children, resident in Mexico City: the EVA cohort study. Respir Res 9:74
- Penttinen P, Vallius M, Tiittanen P, Ruuskanen J, Pekkanen J (2006) Source-specific fine particles in urban air and respiratory function among adult asthmatics. Inhal Toxicol 18:191–198
- Dockery DW, Pope CA III, Xu X et al (1993) An association between air pollution and mortality in six U.S. cities. N Engl J Med 329:1753–1759
- McDonnell WF, Horstman DH, Hazucha MJ et al (1983) Pulmonary effects of ozone exposure during exercise: dose-response characteristics. J Appl Physiol 54:1345–1352
- 9. Kulle TJ, Sauder LR, Hebel JR, Chatham MD (1985) Ozone response relationships in healthy nonsmokers. Am Rev Respir Dis 132:36–41
- Kinney PL, Thurston GD, Raizenne M (1996) The effects of ambient ozone on lung function in children: a reanalysis of six summer camp studies. Environ Health Perspect 104:170–174
- Peters JM, Avol E, Gauderman WJ et al (1999) A study of twelve Southern California communities with differing levels and types of air pollution. II. Effects on pulmonary function. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159:768–775
- Gauderman WJ, Avol E, Gilliland F et al (2004) The effect of air pollution on lung development from 10 to 18 years of age. N Engl J Med 351:1057–1067
- Ackermann-Liebrich U, Leuenberger P, Schwartz J et al (1997) Lung function and long term exposure to air pollutants in Switzerland: Study on Air Pollution and Lung Diseases in Adults (SAPALDIA) Team. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 155:122–129
- Rosenlund M, Forastiere F, Porta D, De Sario M, Badaloni C, Perucci CA (2009) Trafficrelated air pollution in relation to respiratory symptoms, allergic sensitisation and lung function in schoolchildren. Thorax 64:573–580

- Avol EL, Gauderman WJ, Tan SM, London SJ, Peters JM (2001) Respiratory effects of relocating to areas of differing air pollution levels. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164: 2067–2072
- Schindler C, Keidel D, Gerbase MW et al (2009) Improvements in PM10 exposure and reduced rates of respiratory symptoms in a cohort of Swiss adults (SAPALDIA). Am J Respir Crit Care Med 179:579–587
- 17. Bayer-Oglesby L, Grize L, Gassner M et al (2005) Decline of ambient air pollution levels and improved respiratory health in Swiss children. Environ Health Perspect 113:1632–1637
- Bell ML, McDermott A, Zeger SL, Samet JM, Dominici F (2004) Ozone and short-term mortality in 95 US urban communities, 1987–2000. JAMA 292:2372–2378
- Gent JF, Triche EW, Holford TR, Belanger K, Bracken MB, Beckett WS, Leaderer BP (2003) Association of low-level ozone and fine particles with respiratory symptoms in children with asthma. JAMA 290:1859–1867
- Gold DR, Damokosh AI, Pope CA III, Dockery DW, McDonnell WF, Serrano P, Retama A, Castillejos M (1999) Particulate and ozone pollutant effects on the respiratory function of children in southwest Mexico City. Epidemiology 10:8–16
- White MC, Etzel RA, Wilcox WD, Lloyd C (1994) Exacerbations of childhood asthma and ozone pollution in Atlanta. Environ Res 65:56–68
- Silverman RA, Ito K (2010) Age-related association of fine particles and ozone with severe acute asthma in New York City. J Allergy Clin Immunol 125:367–373
- Cakmak S, Dales RE, Coates F (2012) Does air pollution increase the effect of aeroallergens on hospitalization for asthma? J Allergy Clin Immunol 129(1):228–231
- Pope CA III (2000) Epidemiology of fine particulate air pollution and human health: biologic mechanisms and who's at risk? Environ Health Perspect 108(suppl 4):713–723
- 25. Portnov BA, Reiser B, Karkabi K, Cohen-Kastel O, Dubnov J (2012) High prevalence of childhood asthma in Northern Israel is linked to air pollution by particulate matter: evidence from GIS analysis and Bayesian Model Averaging. Int J Environ Health Res 22(3):249–269
- Riedl M, Diaz-Sanchez D (2005) Biology of diesel exhaust effects on respiratory function. J Allergy Clin Immunol 115:221–228
- 27. Diaz-Sanchez D (1997) The role of diesel exhaust particles and their associated polyaromatic hydrocarbons in the induction of allergic airway disease. Allergy 52(38 suppl):52–56
- Xu GB, Yu CP (1987) Deposition of diesel exhaust particles in mammalian lungs: a comparison between rodents and man. Aerosol Sci Technol 7:117–123
- 29. Boland S, Baeza-Squiban A, Fournier T et al (1999) Diesel exhaust particles are taken up by human airway epithelial cells in vitro and alter cytokine production. Am J Physiol 276 (4 pt 1):L604–L613
- 30. Rylander R (2002) Endotoxin in the environment—exposure and effects. J Endotoxin Res 8:241–252
- Thorne PS, Kulhankova K, Yin M, Cohn R, Arbes SJ Jr, Zeldin DC (2005) Endotoxin exposure is a risk factor for asthma: the national survey of endotoxin in United States housing. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172:1371–1377
- 32. Ryan PH, Bernstein DI, Lockey J, Reponen T, Levin L, Grinshpun S, Villareal M, Hershey GK, Burkle J, LeMasters G (2009) Exposure to traffic-related particles and endotoxin during infancy is associated with wheezing at age 3 years. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180: 1068–1075
- Mendy A, Gasana J, Vieira ER, Forno E, Patel J, Kadam P, Ramirez G (2011) Endotoxin exposure and childhood wheeze and asthma: a meta-analysis of observational studies. J Asthma 48:685–693
- Cho HY, Kleeberger SR (2007) Genetic mechanisms of susceptibility to oxidative lung injury in mice. Free Radic Biol Med 42:433–445
- Hollingsworth JW II, Cook DN, Brass DM, Walker JK, Morgan DL, Foster WM, Schwartz DA (2004) The role of Toll-like receptor 4 in environmental airway injury in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 170:126–132

- Kleeberger SR, Reddy S, Zhang LY, Jedlicka AE (2000) Genetic susceptibility to ozone-induced lung hyperpermeability: role of toll-like receptor 4. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 22:620–627
- 37. Erridge C (2010) Endogenous ligands of TLR2 and TLR4: agonists or assistants? J Leukoc Biol 87:989–999
- Garantziotis S, Li Z, Potts EN, Lindsey JY, Stober VP, Polosukhin VV, Blackwell TS, Schwartz DA, Foster WM, Hollingsworth JW (2010) TLR4 is necessary for hyaluronan-mediated airway hyperresponsiveness after ozone inhalation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181(7):666–675
- Garantziotis S, Li Z, Potts EN, Kimata K, Zhuo L, Morgan DL, Savani RC, Noble PW, Foster WM, Schwartz DA et al (2009) Hyaluronan mediates ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. J Biol Chem 284:11309–11317
- 40. Jiang D, Liang J, Fan J, Yu S, Chen S, Luo Y, Prestwich GD, Mascarenhas MM, Garg HG, Quinn DA et al (2005) Regulation of lung injury and repair by Toll-like receptors and hyaluronan. Nat Med 11:1173–1179
- 41. Taylor KR, Yamasaki K, Radek KA, Di Nardo A, Goodarzi H, Golenbock D, Beutler B, Gallo RL (2007) Recognition of hyaluronan released in sterile injury involves a unique receptor complex dependent on Toll-like receptor 4, CD44, and MD-2. J Biol Chem 282: 18265–18275
- 42. Casalino-Matsuda SM, Monzon ME, Conner GE, Salathe M, Forteza RM (2004) Role of hyaluronan and reactive oxygen species in tissue kallikrein-mediated epidermal growth factor receptor activation in human airways. J Biol Chem 279:21606–22161
- Manzanares D, Monzon ME, Savani RC, Salathe M (2007) Apical oxidative hyaluronan degradation stimulates airway ciliary beating via RHAMM and RON. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 37:160–168
- 44. Monzon ME, Manzanares D, Schmid N, Casalino-Matsuda SM, Forteza RM (2008) Hyaluronidase expression and activity is regulated by pro-inflammatory cytokines in human airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39:289–295
- Jiang D, Liang J, Li Y, Noble PW (2006) The role of Toll-like receptors in non-infectious lung injury. Cell Res 16:693–701
- 46. Hernandez ML, Lay JC, Harris B, Esther CR Jr, Brickey WJ, Bromberg PA, Diaz-Sanchez D, Devlin RB, Kleeberger SR, Alexis NE et al (2010) Atopic asthmatic subjects but not atopic subjects without asthma have enhanced inflammatory response to ozone. J Allergy Clin Immunol 126:537–544
- 47. Peden DB, Boehlecke B, Horstman D, Devlin R (1997) Prolonged acute exposure to 0. 16 ppm ozone induces eosinophilic airway inflammation in asthmatic subjects with allergies. J Allergy Clin Immunol 100:802–808
- 48. Vagaggini B, Taccola M, Cianchetti S, Carnevali S, Bartoli ML, Bacci E, Dente FL, Di Franco A, Giannini D, Paggiaro PL (2002) Ozone exposure increases eosinophilic airway response induced by previous allergen challenge. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:1073–1077
- 49. Kehrl HR, Peden DB, Ball B, Folinsbee LJ, Horstman D (1999) Increased specific airway reactivity of persons with mild allergic asthma after 7.6 hours of exposure to 0. 16 ppm ozone. J Allergy Clin Immunol 104:1198–1204
- Hernandez M, Brickey WJ, Alexis NE, Fry RC, Rager JE, Zou B, Ting JPY, Zhou H, Peden DB (2012) Airway cells from atopic asthmatics exposed to ozone display an enhanced innate immune gene profile. J Allergy Clin Immunol 129(1):259–261
- Lin S, Liu X, Le LH, Hwang SA (2008) Chronic exposure to ambient ozone and asthma hospital admissions among children. Environ Health Perspect 116:1725–1730
- 52. Meng YY, Rull RP, Wilhelm M, Lombardi C, Balmes J, Ritz B (2010) Outdoor air pollution and uncontrolled asthma in the San Joaquin Valley, California. J Epidemiol Community Health 64:142–147
- Just J, Ségala C, Sahraoui F, Priol G, Grimfeld A, Neukirch F (2002) Short-term health effects of particulate and photochemical air pollution in asthmatic children. Eur Respir J 20:899–906
- 54. Dillon MA, Harris B, Hernandez ML, Zou B, Reed W, Bromberg PA, Devlin RB, Diaz-Sanchez D, Kleeberger S, Zhou H et al (2011) Enhancement of systemic and sputum granulocyte

response to inhaled endotoxin in people with the GSTM1 null genotype. Occup Environ Med 68:783–785

- 55. Gilliland FD, Li YF, Saxon A, Diaz-Sanchez D (2004) Effect of glutathione-S-transferase M1 and P1 genotypes on xenobiotic enhancement of allergic responses: randomised, placebocontrolled crossover study. Lancet 363:119–125
- 56. Gilliland FD, Li YF, Gong H Jr, Diaz-Sanchez D (2006) Glutathione s-transferases M1 and P1 prevent aggravation of allergic responses by secondhand smoke. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174:1335–1341
- 57. Alexis NE, Zhou H, Lay JC, Harris B, Hernandez ML, Lu TS, Bromberg PA, Diaz-Sanchez D, Devlin RB, Kleeberger SR et al (2009) The glutathione-S-transferase Mu 1 null genotype modulates ozone-induced airway inflammation in human subjects. J Allergy Clin Immunol 124:1222–1228
- Wu W, Doreswamy V, Diaz-Sanchez D, Samet JM, Kesic M, Dailey L, Zhang W, Jaspers I, Peden DB (2011) GSTM1 modulation of IL-8 expression in human bronchial epithelial cells exposed to ozone. Free Radic Biol Med 51:522–529
- Lipsett M, Hurley S, Ostro B (1997) Air pollution and emergency room visits for asthma in Santa Clara County, California. Environ Health Perspect 105:216–222
- Gauderman WJ, Avol E, Lurmann F et al (2005) Childhood asthma and exposure to traffic and nitrogen dioxide. Epidemiology 16:737–743
- Tunnicliffe WS, Burge PS, Ayres JG (1994) Effect of domestic concentrations of nitrogen dioxide on airway responses to inhaled allergen in asthmatic patients. Lancet 344:1733–1736
- 62. Strand V, Svartengren M, Rak S, Barck C, Bylin G (1998) Repeated exposure to an ambient level of NO2 enhances asthmatic response to a nonsymptomatic allergen dose. Eur Respir J 12: 6–12
- 63. Balmes JR, Earnest G, Katz PP et al (2009) Exposure to traffic: lung function and health status in adults with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 123:626–631
- 64. McCreanor J, Cullinan P, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ et al (2007) Respiratory effects of exposure to diesel traffic in persons with asthma. N Engl J Med 357:2348–2358
- 65. Brauer M, Hoek G, Smit HA et al (2007) Air pollution and development of asthma, allergy and infections in a birth cohort. Eur Respir J 29:879–888
- 66. Morgenstern V, Zutavern A, Cyrys J et al (2008) Atopic diseases, allergic sensitization, and exposure to traffic-related air pollution in children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177: 1331–1337
- Nordling E, Berglind N, Melen E et al (2008) Traffic-related air pollution and childhood respiratory symptoms, function and allergies. Epidemiology 19:401–408
- Shima M, Nitta Y, Ando M, Adachi M (2002) Effects of air pollution on the prevalence and incidence of asthma in children. Arch Environ Health 57:529–535
- 69. Ohtoshi T, Takizawa H, Okazaki H et al (1998) Diesel exhaust particles stimulate human airway epithelial cells to produce cytokines relevant to airway inflammation in vitro. J Allergy Clin Immunol 101(6 pt 1):778–785
- Bayram H, Devalia JL, Khair OA et al (1998) Comparison of ciliary activity and inflammatory mediator release from bronchial epithelial cells of nonatopic nonasthmatic subjects and atopic asthmatic patients and the effect of diesel exhaust particles in vitro. J Allergy Clin Immunol 102:771–782
- Takizawa H, Abe S, Ohtoshi T et al (2000) Diesel exhaust particles up-regulate expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in human bronchial epithelial cells. Clin Exp Immunol 120:356–362
- 72. Takizawa H, Ohtoshi T, Kawasaki S et al (1999) Diesel exhaust particles induce NF-kappa B activation in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro: importance in cytokine transcription. J Immunol 162:4705–4711
- 73. Takizawa H, Abe S, Okazaki H et al (2003) Diesel exhaust particles upregulate eotaxin gene expression in human bronchial epithelial cells via nuclear factor-kappa B-dependent pathway. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 284:L1055–L1062

9 Air Pollution and Oxidative Stress in Allergic Airway Diseases

- 74. Bommel H, Haake M, Luft P et al (2003) The diesel exhaust component pyrene induces expression of IL-8 but not of eotaxin. Int Immunopharmacol 3:1371–1379
- 75. Hashimoto S, Gon Y, Takeshita I et al (2000) Diesel exhaust particles activate p38 MAP kinase to produce interleukin 8 and RANTES by human bronchial epithelial cells and N-acetylcysteine attenuates p38 MAP kinase activation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:280–285
- 76. Boland S, Bonvallot V, Fournier T, Baeza-Squiban A, Aubier M, Marano F (2000) Mechanisms of GM-CSF increase by diesel exhaust particles in human airway epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 278:L25–L32
- 77. Li N, Wang M, Oberley TD, Sempf JM, Nel AE (2002) Comparison of the pro-oxidative and proinflammatory effects of organic diesel exhaust particle chemicals in bronchial epithelial cells and macrophages. J Immunol 169:4531–4541
- 78. Takizawa R, Pawankar R, Yamagishi S, Takenaka H, Yagi T (2007) Increased expression of HLA-DR and CD86 in nasal epithelial cells in allergic rhinitics: antigen presentation to T cells and upregulation by diesel exhaust particles. Clin Exp Allergy 37(3):420–433
- Zhang Q, Kleeberger SR, Reddy SP (2004) DEP-induced fra-1 expression correlates with a distinct activation of AP-1-dependent gene transcription in the lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 286:L427–L436
- Blanchet S, Ramgolam K, Baulig A, Marano F, Baeza-Squiban A (2004) Fine particulate matter induces amphiregulin secretion by bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 30:421–427
- Pourazar J, Blomberg A, Kelly FJ et al (2008) Diesel exhaust increases EGFR and phosphorylated C-terminal Tyr 1173 in the bronchial epithelium. Part Fibre Toxicol 5:8
- 82. Di Giampaolo L, Quecchia C, Schiavone C et al (2011) Environmental pollution and asthma. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 24(1 suppl):31S–38S
- Xu X, Kherada N, Hong X et al (2009) Diesel exhaust exposure induces angiogenesis. Toxicol Lett 191:57–68
- 84. Takizawa H, Ohtoshi T, Kawasaki S et al (1999) Diesel exhaust particles induce NF-kappa B activation in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro: importance in cytokine transcription. Immunology 162:4705–4711
- 85. Bonvallot V, Baeza-Squiban A, Baulig A et al (2001) Organic compounds from diesel exhaust particles elicit a proinflammatory response in human airway epithelial cells and induce cytochrome p450 1A1 expression. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 25:515–521
- 86. Tal TL, Simmons SO, Silbajoris R et al (2010) Differential transcriptional regulation of IL-8 expression by human airway epithelial cells exposed to diesel exhaust particles. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 243:46–54
- 87. Kawasaki S, Takizawa H, Takami K et al (2001) Benzene-extracted components are important for the major activity of diesel exhaust particles: effect on interleukin-8 gene expression in human bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:419–426
- Li YJ, Takizawa H, Azuma A et al (2008) Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to airway inflammatory responses induces by low-dose diesel exhaust particles in mice. Clin Immunol 128:366–373
- Rangasamy T, Guo J, Mitzner WA et al (2005) Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to severe airway inflammation and asthma in mice. J Exp Med 202:47–59

Chapter 10 Pulmonary Fibrosis and Oxidative Stress

Corrine R. Kliment and Tim D. Oury

Abbreviations

ase

10.1 Introduction

The lung is continually exposed to higher oxygen levels than other tissues. Furthermore, exogenous oxidants, as well as pollutants, can augment oxidant production and activate inflammatory cells to generate additional reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. The lung protects itself against these oxidants with protective antioxidants and antioxidant enzymes. Various disease states in the lung involve

C.R. Kliment, M.D., Ph.D. (🖂) Department of Internal Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard University, 75 Francis Street, Boston, MA 02115, USA e-mail: kliment.corrine@gmail.com

T.D. Oury, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Pathology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Kliment et al. "Oxidative stress, extracellular matrix targets, and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis." FRBM, Sept. 2010.

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_10, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

dysregulation of this balance through excessive oxidant production or decreases in antioxidants. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) is a lung disease characterized by progressive fibrosis of the alveolar interstitium [1, 2]. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and markers of oxidative stress are evident in human IPF [3, 4] and levels of ROS negatively correlate with pulmonary function in IPF and may predict disease severity [5].

10.2 Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis

10.2.1 Diagnosis and Pathological Findings

IPF is an interstitial lung disease characterized by severe and progressive fibrosis of the alveolar interstitium. In the United States, the prevalence of IPF is estimated to be 42.7 per 100,000 and the disease incidence to be 16.3 per 100,000 [6]. Patients develop symptoms of dyspnea (shortness of breath) and nonproductive cough with presentation between 50 and 70 years of age. IPF is slightly more common in males than females [2] and has a dismal prognosis with a 5-year mortality rate between 50 and 70 % [1, 7].

From the time of IPF diagnosis, there is a mean survival of 3–5 years [1, 7]. A diagnosis of IPF is made from a thorough history and physical exam, chest radiography, pulmonary function tests, high resolution computed tomography (CT), and lung biopsy [1, 7]. Patients typically present with a history of greater than 3 months of dyspnea and a nonproductive cough. On physical exam, bilateral dry inspiratory crackles may be appreciated at the lung bases. Chest radiography shows ground glass opacities and CT analysis shows irregular thickening of the alveolar septa. As fibrosis of the lung progresses, the normal lung architecture becomes distorted under the tension of the fibrosis. This change is often described as a "honeycomb" appearance of the lung [8].

The gold standard of diagnosis of IPF is still pathologic examination of lung tissues. Histologically, IPF has a pattern of usual interstitial pneumonia (UIP), which is characterized by areas of immature and mature fibrosis (temporal heterogeneity) and alveolar inflammation with intervening areas of normal tissue architecture [8]. On H&E staining, myofibroblastic foci are present, which are light-staining areas of spindle-shaped mesenchymal cell expansion among collagen and matrix deposition (Image 10.1). These foci are randomly dispersed throughout the lung and are a marker of active disease [8] with myofibroblasts that are producing collagen and matrix components. Inflammation is also present and is assessed through bronchoalveolar lavage and interstitial microscopy, which shows the presence of macrophages, neutrophils, eosinophils, mast cells, and lymphocytes [2, 8]. The role of these cell types in the disease process is unclear.



Image 10.1 H&E staining of human lung with pulmonary fibrosis demonstrating temporal heterogeneity with areas of normal thin lung parenchyma (*black arrow*) and collagen deposition in areas of fibrosis (*double headed arrow*). The fibroblastic foci are also present representing an area of active remodeling and myofibroblast activity (*star*). Image courtesy of Dr. Tim Oury

10.2.2 Pathophysiology

Pulmonary fibrosis can occur in various situations: due to unknown stimuli (idiopathic); environmental/occupational exposure, i.e., asbestos, silica; induced by pharmacological agents, i.e., bleomycin; radiation exposure; and associated with other primary diseases such as collagen vascular diseases or familial forms [2, 7]. These variations of IPF differ by their proposed pathogenic factors. The underlying processes of pulmonary fibrosis are currently thought to involve the presence of persistent stimuli or injury, aberrant wound healing, and dysregulated repair/remodeling of the lung that results in fibrosis (Table 10.1).

Epithelial injury is thought to be one of the initial steps in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis. Furthermore, analysis of UIP lung biopsies revealed a significant loss in type I epithelial cells in fibroblastic foci and areas of lung deterioration, along with increases in epithelial apoptosis markers [39]. Experimental animal models also support a role for apoptosis of alveolar epithelial cells modulated by the Fas–Fas ligand system in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis [40–42]. After epithelial cell death, the basement membrane of the alveolar surface is left denuded and exposed. Epithelial wound healing or re-epithelialization is a concerted effort by various cells types to restore the lung after an injury or cell death. Mesenchymal cells, such as fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, promote new matrix synthesis to form

Type of pulmonary				
fibrosis	Stimuli	Proposed pathogenic factors		
Idiopathic	Unknown	Aberrant wound healing [9, 10]; profibrotic proteins, i.e., TGF-β [11–14]; oxidative stress [15–17]; initial inflammation [18–20]		
Environmental, occupational	Asbestos; silica; paraquat	Particle transition metals, i.e., free iron, and oxidative stress [21, 22]; inflammation [23–25]; profibrotic proteins, i.e., TGF-β [22, 26]		
Pharmacologic agents	Bleomycin; amiodarone	Agent-induced alterations in oxidants/ antioxidants [27–29]		
Radiation-induced	Radiation therapy to the chest	Oxidative stress [30]; loss of antioxidants [31]; profibrotic proteins, i.e., TGF-β [32, 33]; inflammation [34]		
Hereditary familial IPF	Genetic mutations	Surfactant protein C and A1 [35], TERT and TERC genes [36]		
Collagen vascular diseases	Collagen abnormality	Autoimmune tissue injury and aberrant matrix deposition [37, 38]		

Table 10.1 The various types of pulmonary fibrosis and proposed pathogenesis

Reproduced from Free Radic Biol Med. 2011 May 1;50(9):1075-80

a suitable scaffold upon which epithelial cells can repopulate lost cells. This process is thought to be disrupted and dysregulated in the development of IPF. Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) is a profibrotic protein released primarily by alveolar epithelial cells and macrophages within the lung. TGF- β has multiple functions including inducing the expression of collagens, proteoglycans, and matrix components by fibroblast/myofibroblasts, is chemotactic to macrophages and fibroblasts, and can lead to the development of fibrotic lesions [11, 13, 43, 44].

While the pathogenesis of IPF remains unclear, inflammation and oxidant/ antioxidant imbalances within the lung are believed to be involved [5, 45]. The role of inflammation has not been delineated in human disease and is a controversial issue, which is likely one reason why many investigators consider pulmonary fibrosis to be primarily a disease of abnormal wound repair. Therapeutic studies that target inflammation, such as corticosteroids, have failed to show clinical benefits [46–48]. However, several studies have highlighted associations between the presence of inflammatory cells and disease prognosis. Neutrophilia and eosinophilia are seen in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) of 70–90 % and 40–60 % of IPF patients, respectively [7]. This increase in inflammatory cells has been associated with a worse prognosis and mortality in some clinical studies [18, 49, 50]. Immune activation and inflammation have been shown to play an important role in fibrosis models [25, 51].

Inflammatory cells can damage the lung through the release of oxidative species, proteases (i.e., matrix metalloproteinases [MMPs], elastase), peroxidases (i.e., myeloperoxidase [MPO]), cytokines, and growth factors [52, 53]. These findings collectively suggest that inflammation, while not necessarily the primary mechanism of IPF pathogenesis, may contribute to a profibrotic environment by affecting

the wound repair process, level of oxidative stress, and the extent of remodeling. Studies support that chemotactic factors and neutrophils are present in IPF [20, 54] and increase the likelihood of disease progression and lack of response to immunosuppressive agents [1, 18, 55]. In IPF, inflammatory cells may also release exaggerated amounts of ROS [17].

Inflammatory cells may impact IPF pathogenesis by enhancing the oxidative imbalance in the lung. Studies show increased ROS production in leukocytes from the serum and evidence of enhanced oxidative stress in the plasma and BALF of IPF patients [3, 4]. Levels of oxidative stress have been shown to negatively correlate with aspects of pulmonary function in IPF patients and may provide information about disease severity [5]. Given this evidence, free radicals are thought to play an important role in IPF pathogenesis, potentially through both direct and indirect mechanisms.

10.2.3 Oxidative Stress in the Lung

Oxidative stress is frequently defined as the imbalance of oxidant production and antioxidant defenses, where oxidants dominate and lead to cellular dysfunction and tissue damage. When considering oxidative stress, the lung is somewhat unique due to its exposure to relatively higher oxygen tensions than other tissues. The oxygen pressure of inhaled air is 20 kPa (150 mmHg). Pressures in venous blood flow are around 6 kPa (45 mmHg) and may be as low as 0.13 kPa in some tissues, while the oxygen at the alveoli of the lung is ~13.3 kPa (100 mmHg) [56]. Thus, the lung is constantly facing relatively high oxygen tensions, which may augment oxidative balance and a nontoxic pulmonary environment is likely due to a combination of mechanisms including protective antioxidants, low metabolic demands, and low levels of transition metals. Unregulated production of ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) in the lung and other tissues can lead to an imbalance in oxidants relative to antioxidants leading to oxidative and nitrosative stress, respectively.

10.2.4 Reactive Species

ROS are formed from one-electron reduction of diatomic oxygen and subsequent one-electron reductions to achieve more reactive oxygen by-products, such as superoxide radical, hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), and hydroxyl radical ('OH) either spontaneously or through enzyme catalysis [57–59]. Hydroxyl radical can be formed from the reaction of H_2O_2 with transition metal ions or the breakdown of peroxynitrite and is one of the most reactive radicals produced in biological systems. It acts on local substrates at diffusion-limited rates of between 10^9 and 10^{11} M⁻¹ s⁻¹ [57], with a half-life of only milliseconds. The reactivity of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide is approximately 10^{1-3} M⁻¹ s⁻¹ [60]. In vivo, other mechanisms for the generation of free radical and reduction–oxidation products include electron leak from mitochondrial metabolism, enzymatic reactions (oxidases and peroxidases), and release from activated leukocytes through the NADPH oxidase-catalyzed oxidative burst [58]. The mitochondrial respiration chain is extremely active and generates superoxide when electrons leak from the energy-producing system. Enzymatic production of reduction–oxidation products can occur through the reaction of xanthine oxidase with hypoxanthine in the presence of O_2 , producing super-oxide, xanthine, urate, and H_2O_2 . Xanthine oxidase has been shown to be upregulated with lung injury and is dependent on iron stores for its increased activity [61–63].

Activated leukocytes (neutrophils, macrophages, eosinophils) are another primary source of reduction–oxidation products through enzymes such as NADPH oxidase, MPO, and eosinophil peroxidase. These oxidases catalyze one- or twoelectron reductions to form superoxide and H_2O_2 , respectively, that contribute to the killing of microbes, intracellular and extracellular signaling [64, 65], and potential damage to host tissues when released from these cells [58].

NADPH oxidases are important sources of reduction–oxidation products in many other noninflammatory cells in the lung. Indeed, several recent studies indicate that ROS production by NADPH oxidases plays a central role in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis and inflammation [25, 66–68]. The Nalp3 inflammasome has been shown to have a central role in animal models of pulmonary fibrosis and is activated by reduction–oxidation by-products of NADPH oxidase in the lung [25]. Recent studies found that NADPH oxidase-4 plays a central role in ROS production and myofibroblast activation [66], cells known to be important in matrix remodeling and the progression of pulmonary fibrosis [66–69] further highlighting the active role ROS play in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis.

MPO is a second enzyme found in neutrophil azurophillic granules that aids in bacterial killing, by utilizing H_2O_2 and chloride ions to produce toxic hypochlorous acid (HOCl) or bleach. MPO is a highly cationic enzyme allowing it to localize to cell surfaces, such as endothelial and epithelial surfaces, through interactions with glycosaminoglycan chains. HOCl can participate with hydroxyl radical in the fragmentation of extracellular matrix (ECM) components such as hyaluronan and glycosaminoglycan side chains like heparan sulfate [70–72] (see below). MPO has also been shown to catalyze the metabolism of nitric oxide ('NO) making it unavailable for modulating vascular tone [73]. Eosinophil peroxidase is the eosinophil equivalent of MPO and has similar biological activity.

10.2.5 Nitrogen

An excess of various nitrogen-containing species within a system leads to nitrosative stress. Nitric oxide ('NO) is an important nitrogen species produced by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) enzymes through metabolism of L-arginine. There are three NOS enzymes, two of which are constitutively expressed: endothelial NOS (eNOS), neuronal NOS (nNOS), and one inducible NOS (iNOS/NOS2). Twenty times more 'NO can be

produced by iNOS than the other enzymes [58]. iNOS activity is induced by external stimuli such as bacterial lipopolysaccharide [74]. Nitric oxide mediates the relaxation of smooth muscle cells in the cardiovascular and pulmonary systems. However, in addition to these beneficial effects of 'NO, it can contribute to pathologic processes, especially when produced in large quantities. Notably, nitric oxide has been shown to be important in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis, especially when produced by iNOS [75, 76]. Covalent reactions can occur between 'NO and NO-derived species with biological molecules such as proteins, DNA, lipids, and amino acids, which can modify the function of these molecules [77].

The radicals produced by reduction of oxygen can react with freely diffusible nitric oxide to form additional radical species, in effect inactivating nitric oxide, which is a potent signaling molecule (i.e., the inactivation of nuclear factor-kappa B [NF- κ B] [78]) and vaso-relaxant [74]. Peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻) can be formed through the diffusion-limited reaction of superoxide with nitric oxide ('NO) [79] or by reactions between hydrogen peroxide and nitrite [80]. The antioxidant enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD), which is highly expressed in the lung, acts to keep superoxide levels low, thus preserving nitric oxide function [81]. Peroxynitrite is a powerful oxidant that can modify tyrosine residues producing nitrotyrosine and is also a potent oxidizer of thiols. At a physiologic pH, the protonated form of peroxynitrite (peroxynitrous acid) will decompose into hydroxyl radical and nitrogen dioxide. One-electron reduction reactions of 'NO will form nitrite, nitrogen dioxide, and nitrate. Notably, MPO can catalyze nitrite-dependent nitration of tyrosine residues which can further promote nitrosative tissue damage [82].

A study by Saleh et al. provides support for the involvement of nitrosative stress in IPF lungs. They found that the lungs of IPF patients had increased NOS expression and nitrotyrosine modifications of proteins, suggesting that the IPF lungs were exposed to elevated nitrosative stress compared to healthy controls [83]. Animal studies further suggest that 'NO signaling stimulates increased production of remodeling proteins, such as TGF- β and MMP enzymes in pulmonary fibroblasts [75]. iNOS-null animals that were exposed to silica inhalation developed significantly less pulmonary fibrosis than wild-type mice, supporting a profibrotic role for 'NO produced by iNOS in the lung [76].

10.2.6 Oxidative Stress and IPF: Evidence from Patient Populations

The underlying pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis is currently thought to involve the presence of persistent stimuli or injury, such as oxidative stress, and dysregulated repair of the lung that results in fibrosis. Several studies have found evidence of increased oxidative stress in IPF. Reduction–oxidation products and free radicals of oxygen metabolism are difficult to measure directly in tissues; thus, many clinical studies have utilized biological markers of oxidative reactions for assessment, such as modified carbonyls, proteins, DNA, and lipids.

Bronchoalveolar lavage is a technique used to sample the epithelial-lining fluid of the lung. 8-Isoprostane, a product of free radical-mediated lipid peroxidation, is increased in the BALF of IPF patients [84], as well as in exhaled breath condensate along with hydrogen peroxide [85]. Exhaled ethane, a second marker of lipid peroxidation, is increased in patients with interstitial lung disease [86] and mirrored the patients' PaO₂ levels and clinical course, as patients with significantly elevated levels of ethane died or rapidly deteriorated. Oxidized proteins with carbonyl modifications are increased in the BALF of non-smoking IPF and sarcoidosis patients [87]. Increased carbonyl-modified proteins have also been shown in systemic sclerosis, IPF, eosinophilic pneumonia, and allergic alveolitis [88]; however, proteomic studies reveal that more low molecular proteins are altered in IPF BALF [89]. These oxidative markers negatively correlated with pulmonary function in all of these studies. The role of oxidative stress and IPF phenotype was investigated by Bocchino et al. by evaluating the relationship between oxidative stress status and IPF phenotype in primary human fibroblasts from IPF and non-fibrotic control lungs. They established that the IPF phenotype displayed increased ROS presence, increased alpha smooth muscle actin and type I collagen, and resistance to cell death [90]. In vitro studies suggest that exposure of alveolar and bronchial epithelium to H_2O_2 leads to increased TGF- β expression and epithelial-to-mesenchymal cell changes, such as increased alpha smooth muscle actin expression, decreased epithelial markers, and increased ECM production [91].

Antioxidant enzyme status is also altered in patients with IPF. Glutathione levels in alveolar epithelial-lining fluid are decreased in IPF lungs [16, 45]. Markart et al. show that IPF patients appear to compensate for oxidative stress with increased expression of Nrf-2, a redox-sensitive antioxidant transcription regulator, and significant increases in low molecular weight antioxidants during fibrotic phases [92]. Notably, these antioxidants are insufficient to counterbalance the oxidative stress. Kinnula et al. report significant decreases in extracellular superoxide dismutase (ECSOD) in fibrotic regions of UIP lungs [93], which suggests that oxidative stress would be increased in these areas. The loss of antioxidants in the lung and abnormal cellular signaling for antioxidant expression may have a role in IPF pathogenesis.

10.2.7 Oxidative Stress and Animal Models of IPF

Animal models of pulmonary fibrosis have offered opportunities to further evaluate the role of oxidative stress in alveolar injury, inflammation, and fibrosis development. The stimuli commonly used to initiate pulmonary fibrosis in these animal models are bleomycin (intratracheal, subcutaneous, or intraperitoneal administration), asbestos, silica, FITC, and adenoviral TGF- β , which are administered intratracheally or via an inhalation chamber. Bleomycin forms a complex with redox-active iron, molecular oxygen, and DNA, resulting in DNA strand breaks [94]. Bleomycin also produces superoxide and hydroxyl radicals that can damage cell membranes, lipids, and proteins [95]. Asbestos-induced pulmonary fibrosis studies show increased superoxide production directly through transition metal reactions and indirectly through oxidative bursts from recruited neutrophils and macrophages exposed to asbestos [24, 96].

The NADPH oxidase (NOX) family, as discussed previously, consists of oxidoreductase genes that have roles in the generation of ROS and promotion of pulmonary fibrosis. NOX4 expression is upregulated by TGF- β and results in H₂O₂ production by fetal lung mesenchymal cells [66]. Hecker et al. have shown that NOX4 is involved in myofibroblast differentiation, contractility, and ECM production in response to TGF- β [66]. NOX4 expression is also increased in fibroblastic foci of human lungs with IPF. Its role in fibrogenesis is also thought to be mediated via cell apoptosis via oxidative stress. Carnesecchi et al. have shown that NOX4deficient mice develop less fibrosis in a bleomycin mouse model, shown to be mediated through decreased TGF- β -induced epithelial apoptosis [69].

Epithelial apoptosis is thought to significantly contribute to the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis [40–42]. Recent studies have found that oxidative stress plays a key role in regulating apoptosis of these cells in models of pulmonary fibrosis. Specifically, oxidative modification of Fas has been shown to enhance apoptosis [97, 98] and these studies further highlight the importance of localized oxidative stress leading to oxidative modification of specific proteins that contribute to disease pathogenesis.

It has also been demonstrated that antioxidants can prevent bleomycin- and asbestos-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Examples include studies showing protection against pulmonary fibrosis with *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) and desferoxomine administration [29], treatment with lecithinized SOD, ECSOD over-expression [99], as well as protection when there is decreased ROS production in NADPH oxidase knockouts or knockdowns [67, 100]. In contrast a lack of SOD exacerbates bleomycin-induced fibrosis [101]. In bleomycin- and asbestos-induced pulmonary fibrosis, ECSOD protects by limiting both inflammation and fibrosis development [101–103]. Importantly, ROS produced by asbestos fibers have been shown to directly activate profibrotic TGF- β in the lung [22, 26], which is important in fibrosis development. Furthermore, antioxidant treatment with SOD was able to inhibit asbestos fiber-induced activation of latent TGF- β . These studies indicate that ROS can directly contribute to profibrotic activation of TGF- β , and that antioxidants may be useful in preventing this effect.

Similar to the asbestos model, intratracheal instillation of silica results in an acute accumulation of inflammatory cells (neutrophils, macrophages, lymphocytes, and occasional eosinophils) in the alveolar spaces and interstitium [104–106], damage to epithelial cells [107, 108], and subsequent collagen deposition [109–111] and fibrosis development [111, 112]. Models of radiation-induced pulmonary fibrosis have also shown a role for ROS as treatment with MnSOD has been shown to inhibit fibrosis [113, 114]. The absence of ECSOD promotes fibrosis in various inhalation injury models and treatment with SOD-mimetic agents, such as TBAP, is also protective [101, 103, 115–117].
Many studies have identified several potential mechanisms through which the presence of oxidative stress in the lungs can lead to increased inflammation and fibrosis. ROS can alter inflammation through the activation of NF- κ B and activator protein-1 (AP-1) [118, 119]. These redox-sensitive transcription factors can bind to promoter regions in DNA and control the gene expression of a host of genes including those controlling pro-inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, and apoptotic signals [118]. NF- κ B activation occurs in alveolar epithelial cells after asbestos exposure [23, 120]. Oxidative stress is also evident in the fibro-proliferative response. In vitro, H₂O₂ can stimulate the proliferation of cultured human fibroblasts [121]. Furthermore, fibroblasts isolated from IPF lungs are capable of inducing apoptosis in epithelial cells in vitro [122], further promoting the cycle of alveolar damage and abnormal repair. Hydrogen peroxide, as a diffusible factor, can lead to increased epithelial cell death, as well [53]. Finally, oxidative species can lead to direct degradation of the ECM and can control proteolytic degradation through the activity of MMPs and tissue inhibitors of MMPs [123, 124].

10.3 Molecular Targets of Oxidants in IPF

10.3.1 Extracellular Matrix

The ECM is critical for maintaining a strong structure that can withstand mechanical stretch and recoil of the lung as well as providing the architectural support for normal epithelial growth. The ECM of the lung is composed of several major components including collagens, elastin, fibronectin, proteoglycans, hyaluronan, and laminin [125, 126]. Pulmonary fibrosis is characterized by often drastic changes in the ECM, which can be the result of excessive matrix deposition (an increase in collagen deposition [2, 127, 128]), impairment in ECM degradation and resolution, or a combination of these two. Thus, ECM changes become very complex over the pathogenic course of IPF. Figure 10.1 depicts the potential changes that may occur in a normal lung and after epithelial injury to alveoli.

Heparan sulfate proteoglycans comprise a membrane-bound core protein with attached sulfated polysaccharide side chains [129]. Polyanionic proteoglycans, like heparan sulfates, have the ability to bind highly cationic proteins and transition metals. The binding of transition metals makes them potential sites for metal-catalyzed redox chemistry within the body. Furthermore, cationic proteins such as MPO and eosinophil peroxidase bind to the ECM and are sites of additional radical production such as HOCl from Cl⁻ and hydrogen peroxide [71, 72].

Hyaluronic acid, a glycosaminoglycan, and syndecan proteoglycans are prominent in the lung and are highlighted here, representing potential ECM targets for ROS. These components can function in various ways within the ECM: (1) bind and localize soluble and insoluble ligands, i.e., growth factors, TGF- β , FGF, cytokines; (2) act as soluble paracrine or autocrine factors when the ectodomain is shed;



Fig. 10.1 Within normal uninjured alveoli (**a**), several processes create a homeostatic environment. The epithelium remains intact (1) along with an intact extracellular matrix (2) that binds and localizes many proteins such as growth factors and cytokines. Because there is no alveolar injury, inflammatory cell recruitment is not necessary (3) and oxidants/antioxidants are in balance. When lung injury occurs (**b**), the epithelium becomes denuded (1) and the ECM is degraded by enzymatic and oxidative mechanisms (2). The cellular injury, ECM degradation products, and cytokines cause inflammatory cell influx (3) and oxidative stress (4). This complex environment results in impaired epithelialization and dysregulated matrix deposition (5) (Reproduced from Free Radic Biol Med. 2011 May 1;50(9):1075–80)

(3) maintain receptor abilities for internalization of ligands; and (4) facilitate leukocyte migration and trafficking [130]. Syndecans are also linked to the actin cytoskeleton and have key roles in controlling cellular migration, proliferation, and homeostasis. Known ligands for syndecans that are of importance with regard to inflammation and fibrosis include TGF- β 1 and 2, HGF, VEGF, PDGF-AA, FGF, cytokines, and chemokines such as IL-8, MCP-1, and TNF- α [130–133]. Syndecans can also bind other ECM components such as fibronectin and laminin and can bind enzymes such as neutrophil elastase, tissue plasminogen activator, and ECSOD. Syndecan-1 and -4 can bind elastase in dermal wound fluids protecting them from their inhibitors

and modulating the proteolytic potential of the microenvironment [134]. They can also bind MPO, which may promote increased oxidative stress, as described above.

The ECM can be degraded in two primary ways: enzymatic cleavage (MMPs, hyaluronidases, heparanase) or oxidative cleavage, which can transform the ECM into soluble effector molecules. Heparanase is an endoglycosidic enzyme that cleaves HS side chains [135] and is capable of cleaving syndecan-1 [136]. Syndecan core protein ectodomains can be shed from the cell surface through proteolytic cleavage of the juxtamembrane region. Matrilysin or MMP7 is a protease that binds to heparan sulfate [137] and induces shedding of the syndecan-1 ectodomain in a model of acute lung injury induced by bleomycin [138]. Indeed, MMP7 is believed to play a central role in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis [139, 140]. Consistent with this, MMP2 and MMP9 can also shed syndecan ectodomains in vitro [141]. This shedding can be regulated by tissue inhibitors of MMPs, such as TIMP 3 [142].

The role of oxidative stress in ECM dysregulation can be highlighted by recent studies of hyaluronic acid and the heparan sulfate proteoglycan syndecan-1 [143–145]. Hyaluronic acid shedding has been shown in the lungs of IPF patients [146]. Shedding of syndecan-1 is also significantly elevated in the BALF of IPF patients. In both the asbestos and bleomycin mouse models of pulmonary fibrosis, syndecan-1 is shed into the BALF during the inflammatory and fibrotic phases of injury.

Notably, the absence of ECSOD in the lung results in exaggerated syndecan-1, heparan sulfate, and hyaluronic acid fragmentation or shedding [143–145, 147]. Combined with data that demonstrates oxidants can directly lead to shedding and fragmentation of these ECM components in vitro, these findings suggest that oxidants are directly contributing to fragmentation and shedding of the ECM components in models of pulmonary fibrosis. The importance of oxidative fragmentation/shedding of high molecular weight hyaluronan to low molecular weight species is highlighted by studies demonstrating that high molecular weight hyaluronan has anti-fibrotic and anti-inflammatory activity, but low molecular weight hyaluronan has pro-inflammatory and profibrotic activity in the lung [148, 149]. Shed syndecan-1 can also promote fibrosis in several unique ways. Shed syndecan-1 induces neutrophil chemotaxis (which can be inhibited by ECSOD in vivo and in vitro), inhibits alveolar re-epithelialization, and stimulates fibrogenic TGF- β release [144]. These studies show the important role that oxidative stress has in modulating the ECM and how the oxidative by-products can promote fibrosis in the lung.

Studies also indicate that oxidative fragmentation of HS side chains can occur through hypochlorite species generated by MPO [70–72, 150] and through hydroxyl radicals generated by xanthine oxidase [151, 152]. This is particularly important in sites of inflammation and neutrophil influx. Potential oxidative reactions can occur to the core protein itself or the polysaccharide side chains. Protein backbone oxidation is more complex and significant cleavage occurs only with very ROS such as hydroxyl radicals [153]. Oxidation and cleavage of the core protein can occur through hydrogen abstraction from a central α -carbon and subsequent reaction with oxygen to form a peroxyl radical [154]. This radical can undergo conversion to an α -C alcohol and the peptide bond can be cleaved by hydrolysis or to an alkoxyl

species resulting in cleavage of the peptide bond. Polysaccharide side chain fragmentation can occur through hydrogen abstraction from any of the C–H bonds on the sugar residue creating a C-centered radical, called an α -hydroxyalkyl radical ('C(OH)RR') [153]. This radical can then be converted to a peroxyl radical in the presence of oxygen and undergo chain hydrolysis or can undergo β -scission of the glycosidic bond which would fragment the chain [153, 154].

10.3.2 Matrix Metalloproteinases

ECM degradation and turnover are also regulated by the activity of MMPs and their tissue inhibitor counterparts (TIMPs). MMPs are matrix-degrading proteinases (currently a total of 22) shown to be upregulated in models of pulmonary fibrosis [124, 155]. The majority of MMPs are synthesized as proenzymes and activated by proteolysis of a cysteine-zinc pro-domain, called a "cysteine switch" [123, 156]. ROS are also capable of activating MMPs, increasing their transcription, and deactivating proteases [156–158]. Thus, oxidants may play a significant role in upregulated activity of MMPs in pulmonary fibrosis. The substrates of MMPs are ECM components and soluble factors and include, but are not limited to, the following: (1) MMP1, 8, and 13 are collagenases targeting collagens I, II, III, VII, X, gelatin, and pro-TNF- α ; (2) MMP2 and 9 are gelatinases targeting type IV and V collagen, gelatin, elastin, fibronectin, pro-TGF- β , and pro-TNF- α ; (3) MMP3, 10, and 11 are stomelysins that target proteoglycans, laminin, fibronectin, gelatin, and pro-TNF- α ; and (4) MMP7 (matrilysin) targets proteoglycans, collagens, laminin, decorin, gelatin, and fibronectin [123]. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs 1-4) are extracellular or membrane-bound enzymes that bind tightly to MMPs to inhibit their degradative activity [123].

In IPF patients, MMP2 and 9 and TIMPs 1 and 2 are elevated in areas of alveolar damage and at disrupted basement membranes [159]. McKeown et al. report increases in MMP3, 7, 8, and 9 in BALF from IPF patients with levels higher in patients with earlier mortality [160]. Rosas et al. report increases in MMP1 and 7 in serum, BALF, and lung tissue in IPF patients, suggesting they may be blood biomarkers for IPF [140]. MMP7-null mice are also protected from bleomycininduced pulmonary fibrosis [139]. Animal studies show similar results with increases in MMP2 and 9 in the fibrotic phase of bleomycin-induced fibrosis [124]. Cabrera et al. report that an over-expression of MMP9 diminishes bleomycininduced fibrosis [161]. In asbestos-induced fibrosis, MMP9 and MMP2 are important during the inflammatory and fibrotic phases of disease pathogenesis, respectively [124]. Inhibitors of MMPs have also been successful in protecting against asbestos-induced pulmonary fibrosis [124]. While there are differences in findings related to the role of MMPs in pulmonary fibrosis pathogenesis, the balance of MMPs and TIMPs is likely to play important roles during the course of fibrogenesis in the lung.

10.3.3 Antioxidants in the Lung

The lung expresses a variety of antioxidant resources to protect against oxidative stress within the tissue. These antioxidant defenses include low molecular weight antioxidants (glutathione, vitamins—vit. E, uric acid, etc.); metal-binding proteins (transferrin, lactoferrin, etc.); thiol-containing proteins with redox regulatory activity (thioredoxin, peroxiredoxin, and glutaredoxins); enzymes that degrade H_2O_2 (catalase and glutathione peroxidases); mucins; detoxifying enzymes (glutathione-S-transferases); and SODs. These antioxidants create a homeostatic system that functions to scavenge oxidative species and radicals that can damage cellular and matrix components. Several of these antioxidants have been shown to be important in IPF and are highlighted below.

Catalase is an important scavenger of H_2O_2 expressed within the alveolar epithelium and inflammatory cells of the lung. H_2O_2 has been shown to be an activator of pulmonary fibroblasts from IPF lungs and catalase can inhibit this activation [53]. A recent study reports that catalase administration to asbestos-treated wild-type mice protects against pulmonary fibrosis development, by inhibiting the production of H_2O_2 through Rac1 GTPase-stimulated NADPH oxidase [162, 163]. Similarly, in a rat model of asbestosis, extended administration of polyethylene glycol (PEG)linked catalase for 20 days decreases fibrosis and collagen deposition in the lung [163]. It should be noted that patients with acatalasemia do not have pulmonary fibrosis; thus, the loss of catalase itself is not causative in pulmonary fibrosis.

Glutathione and alpha-tocopherol are important low molecular weight antioxidants found in the lung. Glutathione has been shown to be decreased in the epitheliallining fluid [16] and in fibrotic lesions of IPF lungs. Furthermore, one study reports that the administration of oral NAC can increase glutathione levels in BAL fluid [164], sputum [15], and within alveolar epithelial cells to reduce oxidant production [165], suggesting that antioxidants can be exogenously administered and alter the environment of the lung. Administration of aerosolized glutathione to a small number of IPF patients resulted in a shift in the lung's oxidant–antioxidant balance toward the later [166]. In a recent study, alpha-tocopherol, commonly known as vitamin E, was reported to be elevated in the BAL fluid of IPF patients and was emulated during fibrosis in the bleomycin animal model [92].

SOD was first described by Fridovich and McCord in 1969 [167, 168]. There are three SOD enzyme isoforms including intracellular CuZn SOD (SOD1), mitochondrial manganese MnSOD (SOD2), and extracellular CuZn SOD (SOD3). ECSOD was identified by Marklund et al. in 1982 and is highly expressed in the lung [169, 170]. When the epithelium of the lung is exposed to oxygen or noxious stimuli, extracellular antioxidants have a critical role in preventing oxidative stress.

ECSOD has been implicated in the pathogenesis of pulmonary diseases involving oxidative stress [102, 171, 172]. ECSOD is an active extracellular scavenger of superoxide free radicals by catalyzing the dismutation of superoxide into hydrogen peroxide and oxygen. This occurs at a rate constant of $>10^9$ M⁻¹ s⁻¹ [172]. ECSOD is highly expressed in the vasculature [173] and functions to preserve nitric oxide



Fig. 10.2 Schematic of ECSOD structure and heparin affinity. (a) The ECSOD monomer contains an enzymatic functional domain (*grey*), a unique matrix binding domain (MBD) at the carboxyl terminus (*black*) which is composed of arginine (R) and lysine (K) residues, variable free cysteine residues that can participate in disulfide bonding (Cys), and an N-linked glycosylation site. The positively charged MBD makes the site suitable for binding to highly negatively charged heparin species in the ECM. (b) ECSOD tetramer affinity for the matrix can be regulated by proteolytic removal of the MBD (Reproduced from Free Radic Biol Med. 2011 May 1;50(9):1075–80)

(NO) bioavailability within various organ systems [81, 174–176] by removing superoxide that can deplete NO. Figure 10.2 depicts the structure and functional domains of ECSOD. This enzyme is highly expressed in the lung and localizes to cell surfaces by binding to heparan sulfate species [172, 177–180] and type I collagen [147, 171] through its matrix binding domain (MBD).

Enzymatic cleavage of any of the four MBDs will decrease or abolish the affinity of ECSOD for the matrix and cell surfaces (Fig. 10.2b). ECSOD has three heparin affinity types: no affinity (type A), moderate affinity (type B), and high affinity (type C). Trypsin or endoproteinase treatment of ECSOD, which targets lysine residues, can abolish or weaken the matrix binding affinity of ECSOD [177]. This supports the important role of the cluster of basic amino acids in the C-terminus of ECSOD.

ECSOD has been shown to play an important role in several models of pulmonary fibrosis including bleomycin-, asbestos-, and radiation-induced fibrosis. Knockout mice lacking ECSOD throughout their tissues have significantly more lung fibrosis, acute lung injury, and inflammation dominated by a neutrophil influx due to bleomycin and asbestos intratracheal administration [101, 103, 117].

ECSOD distribution in the lungs of wild-type mice also changes, as it is lost from the parenchyma where it normally resides and increases in air spaces in fibrosis models [117, 181, 182], and after hyperoxia [115]. ECSOD appears to be exerting its anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic effects by inhibiting oxidative degradation of matrix components, as discussed above.

10.4 Therapeutic Approaches: Controlling Oxidative Stress

10.4.1 Treatment

Despite recent studies and advances in the understanding of the pathogenesis and clinical course, there are currently no effective therapies for IPF, aside from lung transplantation, which comes with its own complications. Several options are available, such as anti-inflammatory agents; however, there are very few to no clinical studies that show improvements in progression-free survival, functional capacity, or quality of life [183]. While corticosteroids have been used over the last 50 years, Flaherty et al. report that fewer than 20 % of patients have improvement with steroid therapy [48, 184]. Chronic, low dose prednisone may be a maintenance therapy in responsive patients, but is not recommended for all IPF cases [7, 183].

Immunosuppressive/cytotoxic agents, such as azathioprine, which impairs leukocyte proliferation [183], and cyclophosphamide, an alkylating agent, are used in patients who are non-responsive to steroids and have shown favorable results in 15–20 % of IPF cases [1]. Raghu et al. completed a study of high dose prednisone therapy versus high dose prednisone plus azathioprine and found no significant differences in clinical measures, such as forced vital capacity (FVC) and diffusion capacity of carbon monoxide (DLCO), with either therapy [185]. Cyclophosphamide has shown no survival benefit in studies [46, 186] and has a profound side-effect profile [183, 186] which limits its utility.

Finally, anti-fibrotic agents, such as colchicine [187], have been tried, but have been unsuccessful in humans. Colchicine functions by decreasing collagen formation through fibroblasts and macrophages [183] and its metabolites have the ability to scavenge free radicals; however, this also leads to the production of secondary radicals [188, 189]. While colchicine showed promise in vitro and in animal models [190, 191], it has shown no survival or lung function benefit in clinical IPF [47, 192] thus having limited clinical utility in IPF therapy.

Amidst the grim outlook of current therapies, the IPF research community continues to find new molecular targets and therapeutic options, some of which have antioxidant activity. Pirfenidone is a pyridone molecule that has anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic effects in both in vitro and in vivo pulmonary studies. It can also scavenge hydroxyl and superoxide free radicals [193–195]. It was successful in abrogating bleomycin-induced fibrosis in animal models [196, 197], by decreasing TGF- β expression and subsequent collagen deposition. In a Phase II open-label trial, pirfenidone was effective in both improving 1-year survival to 78 % (compared to 70 % reported in other studies) and stabilizing or improving lung function (diffusing capacity (DLCO) and FVC) in patients with advanced IPF [198]. Pirfenidone is not currently approved in the United States.

Many studies have focused on carnosine, NAC, and SODs. Administration of carnosine, a free radical scavenging peptide, in mice decreases inflammatory and fibrotic markers in bleomycin-induced fibrosis [199] and is available for human administration. NAC, one of the most highly studied thiol-containing agents, scavenges H_2O_2 (hydrogen peroxide), OH (hydroxyl radical), and HOCl and promotes glutathione synthesis [164]. The IFIGENIA trial (a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial) reported that the addition of high dose NAC to the standard therapy of prednisone and azathioprine can significantly slow IPF progression compared to standard therapy alone when evaluated on FVC, DLCO, and a composite physiologic index [200, 201]. One study reported that aerosolized NAC resulted in improved oxygen saturation and CT image changes in IPF patients; however, it had no effect on pulmonary function or quality of life [202]. It remains unclear if there is a survival benefit from NAC therapy. A recent study from the IPF Clinical Research Network analyzed the safety and efficacy of combination therapy with prednisone, azathioprine, and NAC with a randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled trial that demonstrated increased mortality and hospitalization during interim analysis with combination therapy as compared with NAC alone or placebo [203].

Antioxidant mimetics may be another potential therapeutic strategy. A recent review discusses these and additional antioxidant mimetics in detail [204]. Small-molecular-weight SOD mimetics, such as metalloporphyrins, have been effective in limiting radiation-induced lung injury, oxidative stress, inflammation, and bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in animal models [116, 205, 206]. The metalloporphyrins have several distinct antioxidant actions including scavenging superoxide (SOD-like activity), hydrogen peroxide (catalase activity), and peroxynitrite and inhibiting lipid peroxidation [204] and are not readily metabolized in vivo [204, 205]. While it is hoped that novel antioxidant therapies will provide therapeutic benefit to patients, it is clear that oxidative stress is just one component of pulmonary fibrosis.

Thus, combination therapies of antioxidants with other anti-fibrotic agents may be a more rationale approach to future therapeutic investigations (Table 10.2).

Lung transplantation is the only current option that prolongs survival in IPF patients. Considerations for lung transplantations should be made early on in the disease course, as the wait-list time is around 46 months, during which time many patients with advanced disease die prior to transplant [7, 183]. The 5-year survival post-transplant is approximately 40 % [207]. Lung transplantation is also associated with increased pulmonary and systemic oxidative stress during the post-transplant period [208].

Therapeutic	Mechanism of action	Clinical or laboratory results
Corticosteroids [7, 48, 183, 184]	Inhibition of inflammation	Benefit in 20 % of patients
Azathioprine [185]	Suppression of leukocyte proliferation	Positive effect in 15–20 % of steroid nonresponders
Cyclophosphamide [46, 186]	DNA alkylation	No effect on patient survival
Colchicine [188–192]	Decrease collagen synthesis; scavenge free radicals	Protective in bleomycin animal model
		No benefit in human studies
Pirfenidone [193–198]	Anti-fibrotic, TGF-β regulation; scavenge free radicals	Protective in bleomycin animal model
		Increased 1-year survival and lung function
Carnosine [199]	Scavenge free radicals	Protective in bleomycin animal model
<i>N</i> -acetyl-cysteine [200–202]	Scavenge free radicals; promote glutathione expression	

Table 10.2Therapeutics in IPF

10.5 Final Discussion

The current belief in IPF pathogenesis is that cellular injury, which is often repetitive, acts as the inciting event for fibrosis development and oxidative imbalance within the lung. Causes of the oxidative stress include, but are not limited to, the cellular injury, transition metal exposure, inflammation, or drugs that participate in reduction–oxidation reactions. The importance of oxidative modifications to the ECM and how they alter cellular responses in human IPF remains an open and under-investigated area. Recent studies show that ECM degradation products do have biological function and may add to the progression of pulmonary fibrosis (Fig. 10.3). While there is not sufficient evidence that the ECM products are initiating or causative factors in IPF, they appear to promote a profibrotic environment.

The current literature on the pathogenesis of tissue fibrosis focuses primarily on the roles of epithelial, mesenchymal, and inflammatory cells. Specifically, the role for oxidative shedding of matrix components and the effects of the shed species during tissue injury remain unclear. ECSOD is the most abundant antioxidant enzyme in the extracellular space of many tissues where it is localized through binding to matrix components such as heparan sulfates. Novel evidence is available that supports the importance of oxidative stress in the ECM, such as with syndecan-1 or hyaluronic acid, and that antioxidants, like ECSOD, have primary roles in protecting the matrix and preventing detrimental downstream consequences (Fig. 10.3).

In addition to scavenging oxidants once they are produced, it may also be possible to directly inhibit their production from their source. Novel strategies to inhibit oxidant production by any of these complex enzymes or transition metal systems may provide ideal targets for therapeutic intervention for IPF patients.



Fig. 10.3 Oxidative stress can accompany or be caused by various stimuli in the lung, i.e., repetitive cellular injury, transition metal or particulate exposure, noxious drugs, inflammation, and enzymatic activity such as NADPH oxidases. This oxidative imbalance can result in degradation of ECM components and a loss of protective antioxidants. This leaves the tissue susceptible to increased inflammation, profibrotic signals, and aberrant wound healing—all of which may contribute to the progression of pulmonary fibrosis (Reproduced from Free Radic Biol Med. 2011 May 1;50(9):1075–80)

This review highlights the important role that oxidative stress has in the pathogenesis of IPF and emphasizes the importance of the ECM in the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis. Oxidative degradation of the ECM may prove to be a good therapeutic target given that (1) intact ECM is critical for appropriate wound healing; (2) ECM degradation by-products are biologically active, and (3) the ECM localizes many cytokines, growth factors, and enzymes shown to potentiate fibrosis. Additional investigations into antioxidant therapeutics are necessary to elucidate their full potential, especially with regard to ECM degradation. The clinical arena of IPF needs more effective therapies and while antioxidants alone may not be the complete answer, combination therapies that include antioxidants, or inhibitors of oxidant generation, may contribute to future effective therapies for this disease.

Acknowledgment Portions of this writing were reprinted with permission from Elsevier Publishing.

References

- 1. American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society International Multidisciplinary Consensus Classification of the Idiopathic Interstitial Pneumonias (2002) This joint statement of the American Thoracic Society (ATS), and the European Respiratory Society (ERS) was adopted by the ATS board of directors, June 2001 and by the ERS Executive Committee, June 2001. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165(2):277–304
- Gross TJ, Hunninghake GW (2001) Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med 345(7): 517–525
- Rahman I et al (1999) Systemic and pulmonary oxidative stress in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 27(1–2):60–68
- 4. Teramoto S et al (1995) Superoxide anion formation and glutathione metabolism of blood in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Biochem Mol Med 55(1):66–70
- 5. Daniil ZD et al (2008) Serum levels of oxidative stress as a marker of disease severity in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 21(1):26–31
- 6. Raghu G et al (2006) Incidence and prevalence of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174(7):810–816
- American Thoracic Society (2000) Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: diagnosis and treatment. International consensus statement. American Thoracic Society (ATS), and the European Respiratory Society (ERS). Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161(2 pt 1):646–664
- Katzenstein AA, Askin FB (1982) Surgical pathology of non-neoplastic lung disease. Major Probl Pathol 13:1–430
- 9. Korfei M et al (2008) Epithelial endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis in sporadic idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178(8):838–846
- Selman M, Pardo A (2002) Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: an epithelial/fibroblastic cross-talk disorder. Respir Res 3:3
- Gauldie J et al (1999) Transforming growth factor-beta gene transfer to the lung induces myofibroblast presence and pulmonary fibrosis. Curr Top Pathol 93:35–45
- 12. Kasai H et al (2005) TGF-beta1 induces human alveolar epithelial to mesenchymal cell transition (EMT). Respir Res 6:56
- Khalil N et al (1996) TGF-beta 1, but not TGF-beta 2 or TGF-beta 3, is differentially present in epithelial cells of advanced pulmonary fibrosis: an immunohistochemical study. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 14(2):131–138
- 14. Sheppard D (2001) Integrin-mediated activation of transforming growth factor-beta(1) in pulmonary fibrosis. Chest 120(1 suppl):498–538
- 15. Beeh KM et al (2002) Glutathione deficiency of the lower respiratory tract in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J 19(6):1119–1123
- Cantin AM, Hubbard RC, Crystal RG (1989) Glutathione deficiency in the epithelial lining fluid of the lower respiratory tract in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 139(2):370–372
- Strausz J et al (1990) Oxygen radical production by alveolar inflammatory cells in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 141(1):124–128
- Kinder BW et al (2008) Baseline BAL neutrophilia predicts early mortality in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Chest 133(1):226–232
- Lenz AG et al (2004) Influence of inflammatory mechanisms on the redox balance in interstitial lung diseases. Respir Med 98(8):737–745
- 20. Obayashi Y et al (1997) The role of neutrophils in the pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Chest 112(5):1338–1343
- Governa M et al (1999) Role of iron in asbestos-body-induced oxidant radical generation. J Toxicol Environ Health A 58(5):279–287
- Schapira RM et al (1994) Hydroxyl radicals are formed in the rat lung after asbestos instillation in vivo. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 10(5):573–579

- 10 Pulmonary Fibrosis and Oxidative Stress
- Haegens A et al (2007) Airway epithelial NF-kappaB activation modulates asbestos-induced inflammation and mucin production in vivo. J Immunol 178(3):1800–1808
- Rola-Pleszczynski M, Gouin S, Begin R (1984) Asbestos-induced lung inflammation. Role of local macrophage-derived chemotactic factors in accumulation of neutrophils in the lungs. Inflammation 8(1):53–62
- Dostert C et al (2008) Innate immune activation through Nalp3 inflammasome sensing of asbestos and silica. Science 320(5876):674–677
- Pociask DA, Sime PJ, Brody AR (2004) Asbestos-derived reactive oxygen species activate TGF-beta1. Lab Invest 84(8):1013–1023
- 27. Card JW et al (2003) Attenuation of amiodarone-induced pulmonary fibrosis by vitamin E is associated with suppression of transforming growth factor-beta1 gene expression but not prevention of mitochondrial dysfunction. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 304(1):277–283
- Caporossi D et al (2003) Cellular responses to H(2)O(2) and bleomycin-induced oxidative stress in L6C5 rat myoblasts. Free Radic Biol Med 35(11):1355–1364
- 29. Teixeira KC et al (2008) Attenuation of bleomycin-induced lung injury and oxidative stress by N-acetylcysteine plus deferoxamine. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 21(2):309–316
- Tsoutsou PG, Koukourakis MI (2006) Radiation pneumonitis and fibrosis: mechanisms underlying its pathogenesis and implications for future research. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 66(5):1281–1293
- Ao X et al (2008) Comparative proteomic analysis of radiation-induced changes in mouse lung: fibrosis-sensitive and -resistant strains. Radiat Res 169(4):417–425
- 32. Puthawala K et al (2008) Inhibition of integrin alpha(v)beta6, an activator of latent transforming growth factor-beta, prevents radiation-induced lung fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177(1):82–90
- 33. Rube CE et al (2000) Dose-dependent induction of transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) in the lung tissue of fibrosis-prone mice after thoracic irradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 47(4):1033–1042
- Johnston CJ et al (2004) Inflammatory cell recruitment following thoracic irradiation. Exp Lung Res 30(5):369–382
- Nogee LM et al (2001) A mutation in the surfactant protein C gene associated with familial interstitial lung disease. N Engl J Med 344(8):573–579
- 36. Bitterman PB et al (1986) Familial idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Evidence of lung inflammation in unaffected family members. N Engl J Med 314(21):1343–1347
- 37. Lynch DA (2009) Lung disease related to collagen vascular disease. J Thorac Imaging 24(4):299–309
- Shi-wen X et al (2000) Autocrine overexpression of CTGF maintains fibrosis: RDA analysis of fibrosis genes in systemic sclerosis. Exp Cell Res 259(1):213–224
- Baptista AL et al (2006) Structural features of epithelial remodeling in usual interstitial pneumonia histologic pattern. Lung 184(4):239–244
- 40. Hagimoto N, Kuwano K, Miyazaki H et al (1997) Induction of apoptosis and pulmonary fibrosis in mice in response to ligation of Fas antigen. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 17:272–278
- Kuwano K, Hagimoto N, Kawasaki M et al (1999) Essential roles of the Fas-Fas ligand pathway in the development of pulmonary fibrosis. J Clin Invest 104:13–19
- 42. Sisson TH, Mendez M, Choi K et al (2010) Targeted injury of type II alveolar epithelial cells induces pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181:254–263
- 43. Li H et al (1996) Expression of TGF-beta 1, PDGF and IGF-1 mRNA in lung of bleomycin-A5-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. Chin Med J (Engl) 109(7):533–536
- 44. Xu YD et al (2003) Release of biologically active TGF-beta1 by alveolar epithelial cells results in pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 285(3):L527–L539
- MacNee W, Rahman I (1995) Oxidants/antioxidants in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Thorax 50(suppl 1):S53–S58
- 46. Collard HR et al (2004) Combined corticosteroid and cyclophosphamide therapy does not alter survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Chest 125(6):2169–2174

- 47. Douglas WW et al (1998) Colchicine versus prednisone in the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. A randomized prospective study. Members of the Lung Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158(1):220–225
- 48. Flaherty KR et al (2001) Steroids in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a prospective assessment of adverse reactions, response to therapy, and survival. Am J Med 110(4):278–282
- 49. Rudd RM, Haslam PL, Turner-Warwick M (1981) Cryptogenic fibrosing alveolitis. Relationships of pulmonary physiology and bronchoalveolar lavage to response to treatment and prognosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 124(1):1–8
- 50. Boomars KA et al (1995) Relationship between cells obtained by bronchoalveolar lavage and survival in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Thorax 50(10):1087–1092
- 51. Cassel SL et al (2008) The Nalp3 inflammasome is essential for the development of silicosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(26):9035–9040
- Bergeron A et al (2003) Cytokine profiles in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis suggest an important role for TGF-beta and IL-10. Eur Respir J 22(1):69–76
- 53. Waghray M et al (2005) Hydrogen peroxide is a diffusible paracrine signal for the induction of epithelial cell death by activated myofibroblasts. FASEB J 19(7):854–856
- 54. Ozaki T et al (1992) Neutrophil chemotactic factors in the respiratory tract of patients with chronic airway diseases or idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 145(1):85–91
- Ryu YJ et al (2007) Bronchoalveolar lavage in fibrotic idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Respir Med 101(3):655–660
- 56. Kinnula VL, Crapo JD (2003) Superoxide dismutases in the lung and human lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167(12):1600–1619
- 57. Kukin ML, Fuster V (2003) Oxidative stress and cardiac failure, vol xx. Futura Publishing, Armonk, NY, p 291
- 58. Winyard PG, Blake DR, Evans CH (2000) Free radicals and inflammation, vol ix. Basel, Birkhäuser, p 259
- 59. Halliwell B (1991) Reactive oxygen species in living systems: source, biochemistry, and role in human disease. Am J Med 91(3C):14S-22S
- Baskin SI, Salem H (eds) (1997) Oxidants, antioxidants, and free radicals. Taylor & Francis, Washington, DC, p 325
- Ghio AJ et al (2002) Iron regulates xanthine oxidase activity in the lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 283(3):L563–L572
- 62. Lynch MJ et al (1988) Xanthine oxidase inhibition attenuates ischemic-reperfusion lung injury. J Surg Res 44(5):538–544
- 63. Terada LS et al (1992) Circulating xanthine oxidase mediates lung neutrophil sequestration after intestinal ischemia-reperfusion. Am J Physiol 263(3 pt 1):L394–L401
- Dahlgren C, Karlsson A (1999) Respiratory burst in human neutrophils. J Immunol Methods 232(1–2):3–14
- 65. Derevianko A et al (1997) Endogenous PMN-derived reactive oxygen intermediates provide feedback regulation on respiratory burst signal transduction. J Leukoc Biol 62(2):268–276
- Hecker L et al (2009) NADPH oxidase-4 mediates myofibroblast activation and fibrogenic responses to lung injury. Nat Med 15(9):1077–1081
- 67. Manoury B et al (2005) The absence of reactive oxygen species production protects mice against bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Res 6:11
- 68. Shvedova AA et al (2008) Increased accumulation of neutrophils and decreased fibrosis in the lung of NADPH oxidase-deficient C57BL/6 mice exposed to carbon nanotubes. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 231(2):235–240
- 69. Carnesecchi S, Deffert C, Donati Y, Basset O, Hinz B, Preynat-Seauve O, Guichard C, Arbiser JL, Banfi B, Pache JC, Barazzone-Argiroffo C, Krause KH (2011) A key role for nox4 in epithelial cell death during development of lung fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 15:607–619
- Hawkins CL, Davies MJ (1998) Degradation of hyaluronic acid, poly- and monosaccharides, and model compounds by hypochlorite: evidence for radical intermediates and fragmentation. Free Radic Biol Med 24(9):1396–1410

- Rees MD, Hawkins CL, Davies MJ (2004) Hypochlorite and superoxide radicals can act synergistically to induce fragmentation of hyaluronan and chondroitin sulphates. Biochem J 381(pt 1):175–184
- Rees MD, Pattison DI, Davies MJ (2005) Oxidation of heparan sulphate by hypochlorite: role of N-chloro derivatives and dichloramine-dependent fragmentation. Biochem J 391(pt 1): 125–134
- Eiserich JP et al (2002) Myeloperoxidase, a leukocyte-derived vascular NO oxidase. Science 296(5577):2391–2394
- 74. Bruckdorfer R (2005) The basics about nitric oxide. Mol Aspects Med 26(1-2):3-31
- Hsu YC, Wang LF, Chien YW (2007) Nitric oxide in the pathogenesis of diffuse pulmonary fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 42(5):599–607
- 76. Zeidler P et al (2004) Role of inducible nitric oxide synthase-derived nitric oxide in silica-induced pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. J Toxicol Environ Health A 67(13): 1001–1026
- Ricciardolo FL et al (2006) Reactive nitrogen species in the respiratory tract. Eur J Pharmacol 533(1–3):240–252
- Pfeilschifter J, Eberhardt W, Beck KF (2001) Regulation of gene expression by nitric oxide. Pflugers Arch 442(4):479–486
- 79. Huie RE, Padmaja S (1993) The reaction of NO with superoxide. Free Radic Res Commun 18(4):195–199
- Oury TD et al (1995) Nitration of tyrosine by hydrogen peroxide and nitrite. Free Radic Res 23(6):537–547
- Oury TD, Day BJ, Crapo JD (1996) Extracellular superoxide dismutase: a regulator of nitric oxide bioavailability. Lab Invest 75(5):617–636
- Eiserich JP et al (1998) Formation of nitric oxide-derived inflammatory oxidants by myeloperoxidase in neutrophils. Nature 391(6665):393–397
- Saleh D, Barnes PJ, Giaid A (1997) Increased production of the potent oxidant peroxynitrite in the lungs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 155(5):1763–1769
- Montuschi P et al (1998) 8-Isoprostane as a biomarker of oxidative stress in interstitial lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158(5 pt 1):1524–1527
- Psathakis K et al (2006) Exhaled markers of oxidative stress in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur J Clin Invest 36(5):362–367
- Kanoh S, Kobayashi H, Motoyoshi K (2005) Exhaled ethane: an in vivo biomarker of lipid peroxidation in interstitial lung diseases. Chest 128(4):2387–2392
- Lenz AG, Costabel U, Maier KL (1996) Oxidized BAL fluid proteins in patients with interstitial lung diseases. Eur Respir J 9(2):307–312
- Bargagli E et al (2007) Analysis of carbonylated proteins in bronchoalveolar lavage of patients with diffuse lung diseases. Lung 185(3):139–144
- Rottoli P et al (2005) Carbonylated proteins in bronchoalveolar lavage of patients with sarcoidosis, pulmonary fibrosis associated with systemic sclerosis and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Proteomics 5(10):2612–2618
- 90. Bocchino M, Agnese S, Fagone E, Svegliati S, Grieco D, Vancheri C, Gabrielli A, Sanduzzi A, Avvedimento EV (2010) Reactive oxygen species are required for maintenance and differentiation of primary lung fibroblasts in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. PLoS One 5(11):e14003
- 91. Gorowiec MR, Borthwick LA, Parker SM, Kirby JA, Saretzki GC, Fisher AJ (2012) Free radical generation induces epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in lung epithelium via a TGF-β1-dependent mechanism. Free Radic Biol Med 52(6):1024–1032
- 92. Markart P et al (2009) Alveolar oxidative stress is associated with elevated levels of nonenzymatic low-molecular-weight antioxidants in patients with different forms of chronic fibrosing interstitial lung diseases. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(2):227–240
- Kinnula VL et al (2006) Extracellular superoxide dismutase has a highly specific localization in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis/usual interstitial pneumonia. Histopathology 49(1):66–74

- 94. Lazo JS et al (1990) Bleomycin: a pharmacologic tool in the study of the pathogenesis of interstitial pulmonary fibrosis. Pharmacol Ther 47(3):347–358
- 95. Sugiura Y (1979) The production of hydroxyl radical from copper(I) complex systems of bleomycin and tallysomycin: comparison with copper(II) and iron(II) systems. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 90(1):375–383
- 96. Hansen K, Mossman BT (1987) Generation of superoxide (O2-→) from alveolar macrophages exposed to asbestiform and nonfibrous particles. Cancer Res 47(6):1681–1686
- 97. Anathy V, Aesif SW, Guala AS et al (2009) Redox amplification of apoptosis by caspase dependent cleavage of glutaredoxin-1 and Sglutathionylation of Fas. J Cell Biol 184(2): 241–252
- Anathy V, Roberson EC, Cunniff BS et al (2012) Oxidative processing of latent Fas in the endoplasmic reticulum controls the strength of apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 32(17):3464–3478
- 99. Bowler RP et al (2002) Role of extracellular superoxide dismutase in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 282(4):L719–L726
- 100. Yamazaki C et al (1997) Effect of lecithinized-superoxide dismutase on the interstitial pneumonia model induced by bleomycin in mice. Jpn J Pharmacol 75(1):97–100
- 101. Fattman CL et al (2003) Enhanced bleomycin-induced pulmonary damage in mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase. Free Radic Biol Med 35(7):763–771
- 102. Bowler RP, Crapo JD (2002) Oxidative stress in airways: is there a role for extracellular superoxide dismutase? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166(12 pt 2):S38–S43
- 103. Fattman CL et al (2006) Increased sensitivity to asbestos-induced lung injury in mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase. Free Radic Biol Med 40(4):601–607
- 104. Adamson IY, Bowden DH (1984) Role of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in silica-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol 117(1):37–43
- 105. Adamson IY, Letourneau HL, Bowden DH (1989) Enhanced macrophage-fibroblast interactions in the pulmonary interstitium increases fibrosis after silica injection to monocytedepleted mice. Am J Pathol 134(2):411–418
- 106. Bowden DH, Hedgecock C, Adamson IY (1989) Silica-induced pulmonary fibrosis involves the reaction of particles with interstitial rather than alveolar macrophages. J Pathol 158(1): 73–80
- 107. Porter DW et al (2001) Time course of pulmonary response of rats to inhalation of crystalline silica: histological results and biochemical indices of damage, lipidosis, and fibrosis. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 20(suppl 1):1–14
- Adamson IY, Prieditis H (1998) Silica deposition in the lung during epithelial injury potentiates fibrosis and increases particle translocation to lymph nodes. Exp Lung Res 24(3): 293–306
- 109. Mariani TJ et al (1996) Localization of type I procollagen gene expression in silica-induced granulomatous lung disease and implication of transforming growth factor-beta as a mediator of fibrosis. Am J Pathol 148(1):151–164
- 110. Poole A (1987) Collagen synthesis in rats with silica-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Arch Toxicol Suppl 11:285–287
- 111. Vuorio EI et al (1989) Characterization of excessive collagen production during development of pulmonary fibrosis induced by chronic silica inhalation in rats. Br J Exp Pathol 70(3): 305–315
- 112. Velan GM, Kumar RK, Cohen DD (1993) Pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis following subacute inhalational exposure to silica: determinants of progression. Pathology 25(3): 282–290
- 113. Carpenter M et al (2005) Inhalation delivery of manganese superoxide dismutase-plasmid/ liposomes protects the murine lung from irradiation damage. Gene Ther 12(8):685–693
- 114. Epperly MW et al (1999) Intratracheal injection of adenovirus containing the human MnSOD transgene protects athymic nude mice from irradiation-induced organizing alveolitis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 43(1):169–181

- 115. Oury TD et al (2002) Depletion of pulmonary EC-SOD after exposure to hyperoxia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 283(4):L777–L784
- 116. Oury TD et al (2001) Attenuation of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis by a catalytic antioxidant metalloporphyrin. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 25(2):164–169
- 117. Tan RJ et al (2004) Redistribution of pulmonary EC-SOD after exposure to asbestos. J Appl Physiol 97(5):2006–2013
- 118. Behr J (2005) Oxidants and antioxidants in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. In: Lynch JP (ed) Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: lung biology in health and disease. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 379–396
- Shukla A, Ramos-Nino M, Mossman B (2003) Cell signaling and transcription factor activation by asbestos in lung injury and disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 35(8):1198–1209
- 120. Cheng N et al (1999) Role of transcription factor NF-kappaB in asbestos-induced TNFalpha response from macrophages. Exp Mol Pathol 66(3):201–210
- 121. Murrell GA, Francis MJ, Bromley L (1990) Modulation of fibroblast proliferation by oxygen free radicals. Biochem J 265(3):659–665
- 122. Uhal BD et al (1995) Fibroblasts isolated after fibrotic lung injury induce apoptosis of alveolar epithelial cells in vitro. Am J Physiol 269(6 pt 1):L819–L828
- 123. Selman M, Pardo A (2004) Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors. In: Lynch JP (ed) Lung biology in health and disease: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 451–480
- 124. Tan RJ et al (2006) Matrix metalloproteinases promote inflammation and fibrosis in asbestosinduced lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 35(3):289–297
- 125. (1995) Pulmonary fibrosis. In: Phan SH, Thrall RS (eds) Lung biology in health and disease. Marcel Dekker, New York
- 126. Kumar V, Robbins SL (2007) Robbins basic pathology, vol xiv, 8th edn. Saunders/Elsevier, Philadelphia, PA, p 946
- 127. Kuhn C III et al (1989) An immunohistochemical study of architectural remodeling and connective tissue synthesis in pulmonary fibrosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 140(6):1693–1703
- Kuhn C, McDonald JA (1991) The roles of the myofibroblast in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Ultrastructural and immunohistochemical features of sites of active extracellular matrix synthesis. Am J Pathol 138(5):1257–1265
- Varki A, Chrispeels MJ (1999) Essentials of glycobiology, vol xvii. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, p 653
- Bernfield M et al (1999) Functions of cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Annu Rev Biochem 68:729–777
- 131. Bernfield M et al (1992) Biology of the syndecans: a family of transmembrane heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Annu Rev Cell Biol 8:365–393
- 132. Taylor KR, Gallo RL (2006) Glycosaminoglycans and their proteoglycans: host-associated molecular patterns for initiation and modulation of inflammation. FASEB J 20(1):9–22
- Gotte M, Echtermeyer F (2003) Syndecan-1 as a regulator of chemokine function. ScientificWorldJournal 3:1327–1331
- 134. Kainulainen V et al (1998) Syndecans, heparan sulfate proteoglycans, maintain the proteolytic balance of acute wound fluids. J Biol Chem 273(19):11563–11569
- 135. Mollinedo F et al (1997) Major co-localization of the extracellular-matrix degradative enzymes heparanase and gelatinase in tertiary granules of human neutrophils. Biochem J 327(pt 3):917–923
- 136. Yang Y et al (2007) Heparanase enhances syndecan-1 shedding: a novel mechanism for stimulation of tumor growth and metastasis. J Biol Chem 282(18):13326–13333
- 137. Yu WH, Woessner JF Jr (2000) Heparan sulfate proteoglycans as extracellular docking molecules for matrilysin (matrix metalloproteinase 7). J Biol Chem 275(6):4183–4191
- 138. Li Q et al (2002) Matrilysin shedding of syndecan-1 regulates chemokine mobilization and transepithelial efflux of neutrophils in acute lung injury. Cell 111(5):635–646

- 139. Zuo F et al (2002) Gene expression analysis reveals matrilysin as a key regulator of pulmonary fibrosis in mice and humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(9):6292–6297
- 140. Rosas IO et al (2008) MMP1 and MMP7 as potential peripheral blood biomarkers in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. PLoS Med 5(4):e93
- 141. Bartlett AH, Hayashida K, Park PW (2007) Molecular and cellular mechanisms of syndecans in tissue injury and inflammation. Mol Cells 24(2):153–166
- 142. Fitzgerald ML et al (2000) Shedding of syndecan-1 and -4 ectodomains is regulated by multiple signaling pathways and mediated by a TIMP-3-sensitive metalloproteinase. J Cell Biol 148(4):811–824
- 143. Gao F et al (2008) Extracellular superoxide dismutase inhibits inflammation by preventing oxidative fragmentation of hyaluronan. J Biol Chem 283(10):6058–6066
- 144. Kliment CR et al (2009) Oxidative stress alters syndecan-1 distribution in lungs with pulmonary fibrosis. J Biol Chem 284(6):3537–3545
- 145. Kliment CR et al (2008) Extracellular superoxide dismutase protects against matrix degradation of heparan sulfate in the lung. Antioxid Redox Signal 10(2):261–268
- 146. Bjermer L, Lundgren R, Hallgren R (1989) Hyaluronan and type III procollagen peptide concentrations in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Thorax 44(2):126–131
- 147. Petersen SV et al (2004) Extracellular superoxide dismutase (EC-SOD) binds to type i collagen and protects against oxidative fragmentation. J Biol Chem 279(14):13705–13710
- 148. Jiang D, Liang J, Noble PW (2007) Hyaluronan in tissue injury and repair. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 23:435–461
- 149. Zaman A et al (2005) Expression and role of the hyaluronan receptor RHAMM in inflammation after bleomycin injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 33(5):447–454
- 150. Hawkins CL, Rees MD, Davies MJ (2002) Superoxide radicals can act synergistically with hypochlorite to induce damage to proteins. FEBS Lett 510(1–2):41–44
- 151. Raats CJ et al (1997) Hydroxyl radicals depolymerize glomerular heparan sulfate in vitro and in experimental nephrotic syndrome. J Biol Chem 272(42):26734–26741
- 152. Raats CJ, Van Den Born J, Berden JH (2000) Glomerular heparan sulfate alterations: mechanisms and relevance for proteinuria. Kidney Int 57(2):385–400
- 153. Rees MD et al (2008) Oxidative damage to extracellular matrix and its role in human pathologies. Free Radic Biol Med 44(12):1973–2001
- 154. Hawkins CL, Davies MJ (2001) Generation and propagation of radical reactions on proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1504(2–3):196–219
- 155. Yaguchi T et al (1998) Immunohistochemical and gelatin zymography studies for matrix metalloproteinases in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Pathol Int 48(12):954–963
- 156. Kinnula VL et al (2005) Oxidative stress in pulmonary fibrosis: a possible role for redox modulatory therapy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172(4):417–422
- 157. Fu X et al (2003) Hypochlorous acid generated by myeloperoxidase modifies adjacent tryptophan and glycine residues in the catalytic domain of matrix metalloproteinase-7 (matrilysin): an oxidative mechanism for restraining proteolytic activity during inflammation. J Biol Chem 278(31):28403–28409
- Nelson KK, Melendez JA (2004) Mitochondrial redox control of matrix metalloproteinases. Free Radic Biol Med 37(6):768–784
- 159. Hayashi T et al (1996) Immunohistochemical study of metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors in the lungs of patients with diffuse alveolar damage and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol 149(4):1241–1256
- 160. McKeown S et al (2009) MMP expression and abnormal lung permeability are important determinants of outcome in IPF. Eur Respir J 33(1):77–84
- 161. Cabrera S et al (2007) Overexpression of MMP9 in macrophages attenuates pulmonary fibrosis induced by bleomycin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39(12):2324–2338
- 162. Murthy S et al (2009) Modulation of reactive oxygen species by Rac1 or catalase prevents asbestos-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297(5): L846–L855

- 163. Mossman BT et al (1990) Inhibition of lung injury, inflammation, and interstitial pulmonary fibrosis by polyethylene glycol-conjugated catalase in a rapid inhalation model of asbestosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 141(5 pt 1):1266–1271
- 164. Meyer A, Buhl R, Magnussen H (1994) The effect of oral N-acetylcysteine on lung glutathione levels in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J 7(3):431–436
- 165. Behr J et al (2002) Intracellular glutathione and bronchoalveolar cells in fibrosing alveolitis: effects of N-acetylcysteine. Eur Respir J 19(5):906–911
- 166. Borok Z et al (1991) Effect of glutathione aerosol on oxidant-antioxidant imbalance in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Lancet 338(8761):215–216
- 167. McCord JM, Fridovich I (1968) The reduction of cytochrome c by milk xanthine oxidase. J Biol Chem 243(21):5753–5760
- McCord JM, Fridovich I (1969) Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J Biol Chem 244(22):6049–6055
- 169. Marklund SL (1982) Human copper-containing superoxide dismutase of high molecular weight. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 79(24):7634–7638
- 170. Marklund SL, Holme E, Hellner L (1982) Superoxide dismutase in extracellular fluids. Clin Chim Acta 126(1):41–51
- 171. Fattman CL et al (2000) Purification and characterization of extracellular superoxide dismutase in mouse lung. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 275(2):542–548
- 172. Fattman CL, Schaefer LM, Oury TD (2003) Extracellular superoxide dismutase in biology and medicine. Free Radic Biol Med 35(3):236–256
- 173. Oury TD, Day BJ, Crapo JD (1996) Extracellular superoxide dismutase in vessels and airways of humans and baboons. Free Radic Biol Med 20(7):957–965
- 174. Demchenko IT et al (2002) Regulation of the brain's vascular responses to oxygen. Circ Res 91(11):1031–1037
- 175. Nozik-Grayck E, Suliman HB, Piantadosi CA (2005) Extracellular superoxide dismutase. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 37(12):2466–2471
- 176. Oury TD et al (1992) Extracellular superoxide dismutase, nitric oxide, and central nervous system O2 toxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89(20):9715–9719
- 177. Adachi T et al (1992) The heparin binding site of human extracellular-superoxide dismutase. Arch Biochem Biophys 297(1):155–161
- 178. Adachi T, Yamnamoto M, Hara H (2001) Heparin-affinity of human extracellular-superoxide dismutase in the brain. Biol Pharm Bull 24(2):191–193
- 179. Karlsson K, Lindahl U, Marklund SL (1988) Binding of human extracellular superoxide dismutase C to sulphated glycosaminoglycans. Biochem J 256(1):29–33
- Karlsson K, Marklund SL (1988) Extracellular-superoxide dismutase association with cell surface-bound sulfated glucosaminoglycans. Basic Life Sci 49:647–650
- 181. Tan RJ et al (2006) Inflammatory cells as a source of airspace extracellular superoxide dismutase after pulmonary injury. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 34(2):226–232
- 182. Fattman CL et al (2001) Altered expression of extracellular superoxide dismutase in mouse lung after bleomycin treatment. Free Radic Biol Med 31(10):1198–1207
- Walter N, Collard HR, King TE Jr (2006) Current perspectives on the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Proc Am Thorac Soc 3(4):330–338
- Flaherty KR et al (2002) Clinical significance of histological classification of idiopathic interstitial pneumonia. Eur Respir J 19(2):275–283
- 185. Raghu G et al (1991) Azathioprine combined with prednisone in the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a prospective double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Am Rev Respir Dis 144(2):291–296
- 186. Zisman DA et al (2000) Cyclophosphamide in the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a prospective study in patients who failed to respond to corticosteroids. Chest 117(6): 1619–1626
- 187. King TE Jr et al (2009) Effect of interferon gamma-1b on survival in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (INSPIRE): a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 374(9685):222–228

- 188. Modriansky M et al (2002) Anti-/pro-oxidant effects of phenolic compounds in cells: are colchicine metabolites chain-breaking antioxidants? Toxicology 177(1):105–117
- Mourelle M, Meza MA (1989) Colchicine prevents D-galactosamine-induced hepatitis. J Hepatol 8(2):165–172
- 190. Rennard SI et al (1988) Colchicine suppresses the release of fibroblast growth factors from alveolar macrophages in vitro. The basis of a possible therapeutic approach of the fibrotic disorders. Am Rev Respir Dis 137(1):181–185
- 191. Zhang L et al (1992) The protective effect of colchicine on bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. Chin Med Sci J 7(1):58–60
- 192. Douglas WW, Ryu JH, Schroeder DR (2000) Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: impact of oxygen and colchicine, prednisone, or no therapy on survival. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161(4 pt 1):1172–1178
- 193. Giri SN et al (1999) Effects of pirfenidone on the generation of reactive oxygen species in vitro. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 18(3):169–177
- 194. Misra HP, Rabideau C (2000) Pirfenidone inhibits NADPH-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation and scavenges hydroxyl radicals. Mol Cell Biochem 204(1–2):119–126
- 195. Mitani Y et al (2008) Superoxide scavenging activity of pirfenidone-iron complex. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 372(1):19–23
- 196. Iyer SN, Gurujeyalakshmi G, Giri SN (1999) Effects of pirfenidone on transforming growth factor-beta gene expression at the transcriptional level in bleomycin hamster model of lung fibrosis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 291(1):367–373
- 197. Iyer SN et al (1998) Lung fibrosis is ameliorated by pirfenidone fed in diet after the second dose in a three-dose bleomycin-hamster model. Exp Lung Res 24(1):119–132
- 198. Raghu G et al (1999) Treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis with a new antifibrotic agent, pirfenidone: results of a prospective, open-label Phase II study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159(4 pt 1):1061–1069
- 199. Cuzzocrea S et al (2007) Protective effect of orally administered carnosine on bleomycininduced lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292(5):L1095–L1104
- 200. Demedts M et al (2005) High-dose acetylcysteine in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med 353(21):2229–2242
- 201. Behr J et al (2009) Lung function in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis—extended analyses of the IFIGENIA trial. Respir Res 10:101
- Tomioka H et al (2005) A pilot study of aerosolized N-acetylcysteine for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respirology 10(4):449–455
- IPF Clinical Research Network et al (2012) Prednisone, azathioprine, and N-acetylcysteine for pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med 366:1968–1977
- 204. Day BJ (2008) Antioxidants as potential therapeutics for lung fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 10(2):355–370
- Day BJ (2004) Catalytic antioxidants: a radical approach to new therapeutics. Drug Discov Today 9(13):557–566
- 206. Vujaskovic Z et al (2002) A small molecular weight catalytic metalloporphyrin antioxidant with superoxide dismutase (SOD) mimetic properties protects lungs from radiation-induced injury. Free Radic Biol Med 33(6):857–863
- 207. Thabut G et al (2003) Survival benefit of lung transplantation for patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 126(2):469–475
- Williams A et al (1999) Compromised antioxidant status and persistent oxidative stress in lung transplant recipients. Free Radic Res 30(5):383–393

Chapter 11 Oxidative Stress in Sarcoidosis

Sahajal Dhooria and Dheeraj Gupta

Sarcoidosis is a multisystem disorder characterized by the formation of non-caseating granulomas. These granulomas form as a result of a heightened helper T-cell type 1 (Th1) response orchestrated by a number of cytokines [1]. The exact etiology is not clear but genetic predisposition, the type of inciting antigen, role of microbes, environmental and occupational factors are some aspects in its pathogenesis which have received the attention of investigators the world over [2]. In the past two decades, the role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of diffuse parenchymal lung diseases (DPLDs) including sarcoidosis has been highlighted. Oxidative stress has been shown to play an important part in the evolution of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) [3]. Evidence of increased oxidative stress has also been found in sarcoidosis. Several mechanisms have been proposed by which the oxidative stress translates into lung injury in sarcoidosis [4, 5].

The following text elaborates on the evidence of occurrence of oxidative stress in sarcoidosis and its proposed role in pathogenesis. The possible role of antioxidants to counteract oxidative stress in this disease and the clinical implications of the current knowledge on this subject have also been discussed.

S. Dhooria, M.D. • D. Gupta, M.D., D.M., F.R.C.P. (🖂) Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh 160012, India e-mail: sahajal@gmail.com; dheeraj1910@gmail.com

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_11, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

11.1 Markers of Oxidative Stress in Sarcoidosis

11.1.1 Serum Markers (Markers of Systemic Oxidative Stress)

11.1.1.1 Lipid and Protein Peroxidation Products

Malondialdehyde (MDA) is the end product of lipid peroxidation. Significantly higher levels of MDA have been found in the serum [6, 7] and erythrocytes [7] of sarcoidosis patients as compared to controls. MDA levels were also found to be significantly higher in patients with active disease as compared to those with inactive disease [6]. Both serum and erythrocyte MDA levels are strong predictors of the presence of disease even after adjusting for oxidative stress and lipid parameters [7]. Levels of oxidized low density lipoprotein (oxLDL) are also higher in sarcoidosis patients, more so in patients with active disease [6].

11.1.1.2 Oxygen-Free Radicals and Enzymatic Oxidants/Antioxidants

Serum and erythrocyte superoxide anion concentrations are higher in patients with sarcoidosis [7]. Serum total hydroperoxide levels as measured by spectrophotometry are increased in clinically stable patients not treated with steroids, as compared to steroid-treated patients and healthy volunteers [8]. But they do not correlate with the diffusing capacity of carbon monoxide (DLCO), partial arterial oxygen tension (PaO₂), Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnea scale, or chest X-ray stage [8].

Significantly lower superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity has been found in both the serum and the erythrocytes of sarcoidosis patients as compared to controls [7]. Paraoxonase (PON1) is a hydrolase located on high density lipoprotein (HDL) that protects both low density lipoprotein (LDL) and HDL from oxidation [9]. It thus plays a role in preserving HDL's capacity to function as an anti-apoptotic molecule as oxidized HDL loses its anti-apoptotic function [10]. Reduced levels of PON1 have been reported in diseases known to have increased oxidative stress including diabetes, hypercholesterolemia, and cardiovascular disease [11, 12]. Low levels of serum PON1 pointing towards a decreasing antioxidant activity have been found in sarcoidosis patients with active disease as compared to controls as well as to patients with inactive disease [6].

11.1.1.3 Non-enzymatic Low Molecular Weight Antioxidants

Serum vitamin C, uric acid, and reduced glutathione levels are decreased in the blood of sarcoidosis patients as compared to matched controls [13]. NADPH levels are reduced in erythrocytes of female sarcoidosis patients [14].

11.1.1.4 Total Oxidant Status, Total Antioxidant Status, and Prooxidant–Antioxidant Balance

Total oxidant status (TOS) gives the summation of the effect of all the oxidant molecules in the serum. It can be assessed by an assay based on the conversion of ferrous to ferric ions [15]. It is significantly higher in the serum and erythrocytes of sarcoidosis patients than in controls [7]. Prooxidant–antioxidant balance (PAB) values are higher while total antioxidant status (TAS) values are significantly lower in sarcoidosis patients as compared to controls [7, 13].

A significant positive correlation exists between serum angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) levels and serum MDA and TOS levels while a significant negative correlation is found between serum ACE and serum TAS levels [7].

To summarize, markers of oxidative stress and total oxidant activity are increased, while antioxidant molecules and total antioxidant activity are found to be decreased in the sera of sarcoidosis patients. There is emerging evidence on oxidative markers being correlated with disease activity.

11.1.2 Markers in Respiratory Tract Samples (Markers of Local Oxidative Stress)

11.1.2.1 Lipid and Protein Peroxidation Products

8-Isoprostane (8-IP) is a PGF2 α isomer produced in vivo by free radical-induced peroxidation of arachidonic acid [16]. Levels of 8-IP are elevated in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid in sarcoidosis [17]. They are correlated negatively with the number of BAL fluid lymphocytes. 8-IP levels are also elevated in the exhaled breath condensate (EBC) of sarcoidosis patients as compared to controls [18]. In another study, they were shown to be elevated in active sarcoidosis while not significantly increased in patients with inactive disease, and were correlated with serum ACE levels [19]. In fact, EBC 8-IP concentrations are highest in patients with stage-3 disease [20]. Moreover, if 8-IP levels are below detection levels, there is a greater than three times increased chance of an early remission [20]. Unfortunately, complete remission is not associated with a consistent decrease of EBC 8-IP; however treatment with steroids reduces the levels of this molecule irrespective of remission [20].

Ethane, an end product of lipid peroxidation of omega-3 fatty acids like linolenic acid, is expired as a gas [21]. Elevated concentrations of exhaled ethane, representing oxidative stress have been found in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [22, 23]. Exhaled ethane was found to be elevated in a mixed population of various interstitial lung diseases including IPF, cryptogenic organizing pneumonia, collagen vascular disease-associated-ILD, and sarcoidosis [24]. It correlated with tracer uptake on gallium-67 scintigraphy [24].

Metal-catalyzed generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), for example through Fenton reaction leads to oxidation of proteins which are measured as the total carbonyl content in the BAL fluid [25]. BAL fluid protein carbonyls are significantly elevated in sarcoidosis [25, 26], although normal levels were found in one study [27]. Also, the total carbonyl content correlates significantly with absolute eosinophil numbers in BAL [25]. Besides this, albumin, immunoglobulins, α -1 anti-trypsin, and complement C3 are also found oxidized in the BAL of sarcoidosis patients [28].

11.1.2.2 Oxygen-Free Radicals and Enzymatic Oxidants/Antioxidants

There is an increased ex vivo production of hydrogen peroxide by alveolar macrophages extracted by BAL in sarcoidosis patients [29]. However, it does not correlate with ACE levels, the results of gallium-67 scans, or the percent of lymphocytes in the BAL [29]. Hydrogen peroxide levels are also significantly elevated in the EBC of sarcoidosis patients [30].

Alveolar macrophages of patients with both active and inactive sarcoidosis produce higher amounts of superoxide anions than of healthy subjects [31]. However, the amount of superoxide produced on stimulation with phorbol myristate acetate is higher in patients with high intensity lymphocytic alveolitis than in patients with inactive disease [31]. In another study, alveolar macrophages from patients with high intensity alveolitis had a reduced superoxide anion release after in vitro stimulation [32]. This apparent paradox is explained by the possible constant in vivo activation of the cells with subsequent reduced ability to respond after additional stimulation in vitro [32].

Haem oxygenase-1 (HO-1) is an inducible microsomal enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of haem into carbon monoxide and biliverdin [33]. It plays a cytoprotective role against oxidative stress [34]. Cytokines like interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) induce HO-1 as a protective function against oxidant injury. There is a decreased expression of HO-1 in fibrotic lung disorders like IPF [35], while it is shown to be increased in the induced sputum in granulomatous lung diseases like stage I–III sarcoidosis and chronic beryllium disease [36]. There is intense HO-1 immunoreactivity in alveolar macrophages and weak to intense activity in the granulomas of sarcoidosis, while it is weak to negative in fibrotic areas of the lung [37]. Manganese SOD, an important enzymatic oxidant is also upregulated in sarcoid granulomas [38].

Peroxiredoxins are another group of antioxidant enzymes that can reduce hydrogen peroxides and organic peroxides [39]. They are shown to express in alveolar macrophages of sarcoidosis patients [40]. Thioredoxin, a class of small redox proteins is highly expressed and locally produced by sarcoid granulomas [41, 42]. It might activate T cells by acting as a local inducing factor for interleukin-2R expression [42]. It may also serve as a marker of ongoing cell regeneration and inflammation [41].

11.1.2.3 Non-enzymatic Low Molecular Weight Antioxidants

The concentrations of ascorbic acid, α -tocopherol, and retinol are increased while glutathione concentrations are unaltered in the BAL fluid of sarcoidosis patients [43]. This increase may represent an adaptive response to oxidative stress [43].

Thus, there is an increase in lipid peroxidation products, oxidative enzymes, and oxygen-free radicals in the respiratory secretions in sarcoidosis. At the same time, the levels of antioxidant molecules are also elevated, possibly as a mechanism to counteract the heightened oxidative stress.

11.2 Proposed Role of Oxidative Stress in Pathogenesis

The characteristic finding in the BAL of sarcoidosis patients is a predominance of lymphocytes and usually a normal level of neutrophils and eosinophils. Neutrophils are found to increase in late or advanced sarcoidosis [44]. Furthermore, in newly diagnosed patients with sarcoidosis, BAL neutrophilia [45, 46] and eosinophilia [46] indicate an unfavorable prognosis. These cells are potent producers of ROS, which are released upon stimulation of NADPH-oxidase.

Immune cells at the site of lesions of sarcoidosis produce ROS-like superoxide anion, which are released into blood and taken by erythrocytes through the anion channels [5]. SOD converts superoxide anions into hydrogen peroxide which contributes significantly to TOS [15]. The increased levels of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide lead to increased lipid peroxidation resulting in increased levels of MDA. Hydrogen peroxide can also catalytically inactivate SOD [47].

It is possible that the relationship between ROS production and lipid peroxidation is different in different subgroups of sarcoidosis patients. In patients with active lymphocytic inflammation, alveolar macrophages are constantly stimulated and release superoxide anion [4]. These are the patients who suffer from acute disease with intense inflammation which has a favorable prognosis. These patients show lower levels of 8-IP, thus reflecting less of chronic lipid membrane damage. This happens possibly because of the rapid scavenging of ROS by naturally occurring antioxidants [4]. Membrane lipid peroxidation (as reflected by levels of 8-IP) is greatest in a different subgroup of patients, who have radiological stage-3 disease, with lesser lymphocytic [4] and more of eosinophilic inflammation [18]. Moreover, there is a negative correlation between the number of BAL fluid eosinophils and DLCO [18].

ROS play a role in inflammation and fibrosis in multiple ways. First, they promote inflammation by activating the transcription factors, nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B), and activator protein-1 through histone acetylation/deacetylation [48]. NF- κ B, a potential biomarker for oxidative stress [49] is increased in alveolar macrophages [50] and blood monocytes [51] of active sarcoidosis patients. These transcription factors induce pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-8 [48], as well as promote free radical formation, thus propagating both inflammation and oxidative stress [52].

Second, ROS play a part in the proteinase–antiproteinase balance. They can activate [53] or inactivate metalloproteinases [54], as well as inactivate their inhibitors [55]. Third, ROS increase the release of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) from human alveolar epithelial cells, thus promoting fibrosis [56]. Fourth, ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) mediate the induction of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1), which plays an important role in the development of lung fibrosis [57].

An association between ACE and oxidative stress parameters [7] points to a possible link between oxidative stress and differentiation of monocytes to macro-phages leading to granuloma formation.

Calcium oxalate is present in sarcoid granulomas, sequesters iron, and ferritin [58]. There is a possible link between the oxidative stress mediated by accumulated iron and the influx of alveolar macrophages, giant cell formation, and a granulomatous response in the lung [58].

Enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants are increased in the lung tissue as a response to oxidative stress while their systemic levels are decreased possibly due to increased consumption and accumulation in the lung. It is possible that there is a state of relative deficiency of antioxidant molecules, despite the higher than normal levels [43]. Antioxidants like HO-1 may be important in the defense of alveolar macrophages in the inflammatory, but not in the fibrotic stage of the disease [37].

11.3 Role of Exogenous Antioxidants in Sarcoidosis

There are many antioxidant compounds that can be administered exogenously to counteract increased oxidative stress in various conditions. A few have been tried in sarcoidosis. No conclusive benefit of any such treatment has been shown.

Quercetin is a dietary antioxidant. The highest concentrations are found in the flower buds (capers) of the plant Capparis spinosa. Other sources are buckwheat, blueberry, and cranberry. Supplementation with quercetin increases the total plasma antioxidant capacity in healthy volunteers [59]. Its antioxidant capacity is several times that of various endogenous antioxidants like glutathione and vitamin E [52]. Moreover, it accumulates in the lungs [60], and acts as an anti-inflammatory agent by reducing levels of TNF- α and IL-8, known to be elevated in sarcoidosis [13]. Total plasma antioxidant capacity is enhanced while MDA levels are reduced significantly by quercetin supplementation in sarcoidosis patients [52]. Also, the ratios TNF- α /IL-10 and IL-8/IL-10 are reduced by quercetin in patients with sarcoidosis [13, 52]. The baseline level of oxidative stress and inflammation is a major determinant of the beneficial effect of antioxidant supplementation [52].

Pentoxifylline is a phosphodiesterase inhibitor which is shown to induce a dosedependent suppression of the spontaneous TNF- α release from alveolar macrophages in sarcoidosis [61]. Besides its anti-inflammatory properties, it also has mild capacity to scavenge oxygen-free radicals in vitro [62]. Although a post hoc analysis of a small study suggests that pentoxifylline reduces flares and has steroid-sparing effects, no definitive conclusions can be drawn regarding the efficacy of pentoxifylline in pulmonary sarcoidosis [63].

N-acetylcysteine (NAC) has antioxidant, mucolytic, and anti-inflammatory properties [64]. It has been used in the treatment of various pulmonary disorders like IPF [65]. NAC exerts a dose-dependent inhibitory effect on IL-8 and MMP-9 release and ICAM-expression by BAL macrophages and lymphocytes from patients with sarcoidosis [64]. No clinical trials or experimental studies have assessed its therapeutic efficacy in pulmonary sarcoidosis.

11.4 Clinical Applications and Questions To Be Answered

There are many potential clinical applications of the knowledge that has been and is being generated on the role of oxidative stress in sarcoidosis. Certain questions need to be answered before the measurement of oxidative markers becomes a useful clinical tool. Do markers of oxidative stress, local (BAL and EBC), or systemic (serum), truly reflect the severity of disease? Whether a "high oxidative stress disease" is a distinct phenotype that behaves differently from "low oxidative stress disease"? Do increased levels of ROS and lipid peroxidation products represent different pathology or stages of disease? As mentioned earlier, high superoxide levels associated with lymphocytic inflammation were seen in reversible disease while high 8-IP levels associated with eosinophilic inflammation were observed in chronic irreversible disease. Could high HO-1 levels point to an active granulomatous process, while low levels represent fibrosis?

Regarding implications on therapeutics, the role of antioxidants to treating sarcoidosis is not clear. It is evident from many of the above-described observations that steroids reduce oxidative stress in addition to the reduction in the level of inflammation. Whether antioxidants have any additive effect when used in conjunction with steroids is a moot question to be answered. Can antioxidants slow down progression at a stage when steroids are either not warranted or have failed to show benefit? A whole gamut of antioxidants awaits clinical testing in well-planned clinical trials in carefully selected patients.

Conflict of Interest S.D.: Conflicts of Interest—none, financial disclosures—none. D.G.: Conflicts of Interest—none, financial disclosures—none

References

- Baughman RP, Culver DA, Judson MA (2011) A concise review of pulmonary sarcoidosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183(5):573–581, Epub 2010/11/03
- Valeyre D, Prasse A, Nunes H, Uzunhan Y, Brillet PY, Muller-Quernheim J (2013) Sarcoidosis. Lancet. Epub 2013/10/05

- Kinnula VL, Fattman CL, Tan RJ, Oury TD (2005) Oxidative stress in pulmonary fibrosis: a possible role for redox modulatory therapy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172(4):417–422, Epub 2005/05/17
- Piotrowski WJ, Kurmanowska Z, Antczak A, Marczak J, Ciebiada M, Gorski P (2010) Exhaled 8-isoprostane in sarcoidosis: relation to superoxide anion production by bronchoalveolar lavage cells. Inflamm Res 59(12):1027–1032, Epub 2010/06/04
- 5. Lynch RE, Fridovich I (1978) Permeation of the erythrocyte stroma by superoxide radical. J Biol Chem 253(13):4697–4699, Epub 1978/07/10
- Uzun H, Yanardag H, Gelisgen R, Genc H, Uygun S, Vehid S et al (2008) Levels of paraoxonase, an index of antioxidant defense, in patients with active sarcoidosis. Curr Med Res Opin 24(6):1651–1657, Epub 2008/05/14
- 7. Ivanisevic J, Kotur-Stevuljevic J, Stefanovic A, Jelic-Ivanovic Z, Spasic S, Videnovic-Ivanov J et al (2012) Dyslipidemia and oxidative stress in sarcoidosis patients. Clin Biochem 45(9):677–682, Epub 2012/03/28
- Koutsokera A, Papaioannou AI, Malli F, Kiropoulos TS, Katsabeki A, Kerenidi T et al (2009) Systemic oxidative stress in patients with pulmonary sarcoidosis. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 22(6):603–607, Epub 2009/09/15
- Watson AD, Berliner JA, Hama SY, La Du BN, Faull KF, Fogelman AM et al (1995) Protective effect of high density lipoprotein associated paraoxonase. Inhibition of the biological activity of minimally oxidized low density lipoprotein. J Clin Invest 96(6):2882–2891, Epub 1995/12/01
- Matsunaga T, Iguchi K, Nakajima T, Koyama I, Miyazaki T, Inoue I et al (2001) Glycated high-density lipoprotein induces apoptosis of endothelial cells via a mitochondrial dysfunction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 287(3):714–720, Epub 2001/09/21
- Ayub A, Mackness MI, Arrol S, Mackness B, Patel J, Durrington PN (1999) Serum paraoxonase after myocardial infarction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19(2):330–335, Epub 1999/02/12
- Mackness MI, Harty D, Bhatnagar D, Winocour PH, Arrol S, Ishola M et al (1991) Serum paraoxonase activity in familial hypercholesterolaemia and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis 86(2–3):193–199, Epub 1991/02/01
- Boots AW, Drent M, Swennen EL, Moonen HJ, Bast A, Haenen GR (2009) Antioxidant status associated with inflammation in sarcoidosis: a potential role for antioxidants. Respir Med 103(3):364–372, Epub 2008/11/18
- 14. Rothkrantz-Kos S, Drent M, Vuil H, De Boer M, Bast A, Wouters EF et al (2002) Decreased redox state in red blood cells from patients with sarcoidosis. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis 19(2):114–120, Epub 2002/07/10
- Erel O (2005) A new automated colorimetric method for measuring total oxidant status. Clin Biochem 38(12):1103–1111, Epub 2005/10/11
- Montuschi P, Barnes P, Roberts LJ II (2007) Insights into oxidative stress: the isoprostanes. Curr Med Chem 14(6):703–717, Epub 2007/03/10
- Montuschi P, Ciabattoni G, Paredi P, Pantelidis P, du Bois RM, Kharitonov SA et al (1998) 8-Isoprostane as a biomarker of oxidative stress in interstitial lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158(5 pt 1):1524–1527, Epub 1998/11/17
- Piotrowski WJ, Antczak A, Marczak J, Nawrocka A, Kurmanowska Z, Gorski P (2007) Eicosanoids in exhaled breath condensate and BAL fluid of patients with sarcoidosis. Chest 132(2):589–596, Epub 2007/06/19
- Psathakis K, Papatheodorou G, Plataki M, Panagou P, Loukides S, Siafakas NM et al (2004) 8-Isoprostane, a marker of oxidative stress, is increased in the expired breath condensate of patients with pulmonary sarcoidosis. Chest 125(3):1005–1011, Epub 2004/03/10
- Piotrowski WJ, Kurmanowska Z, Antczak A, Marczak J, Gorski P (2010) Exhaled 8-isoprostane as a prognostic marker in sarcoidosis. A short term follow-up. BMC Pulm Med 10:23, Epub 2010/04/28
- Kneepkens CM, Ferreira C, Lepage G, Roy CC (1992) The hydrocarbon breath test in the study of lipid peroxidation: principles and practice. Clin Invest Med 15(2):163–186, Epub 1992/04/01

11 Oxidative Stress in Sarcoidosis

- Paredi P, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2000) Elevation of exhaled ethane concentration in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162(4 pt 1):1450–1454, Epub 2000/10/13
- 23. Paredi P, Kharitonov SA, Leak D, Ward S, Cramer D, Barnes PJ (2000) Exhaled ethane, a marker of lipid peroxidation, is elevated in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162(2 pt 1):369–373, Epub 2000/08/10
- 24. Kanoh S, Kobayashi H, Motoyoshi K (2005) Exhaled ethane: an in vivo biomarker of lipid peroxidation in interstitial lung diseases. Chest 128(4):2387–2392, Epub 2005/10/21
- Lenz AG, Costabel U, Maier KL (1996) Oxidized BAL fluid proteins in patients with interstitial lung diseases. Eur Respir J 9(2):307–312, Epub 1996/02/01
- 26. Bargagli E, Penza F, Vagaggini C, Magi B, Perari MG, Rottoli P (2007) Analysis of carbonylated proteins in bronchoalveolar lavage of patients with diffuse lung diseases. Lung 185(3):139–144, Epub 2007/05/15
- 27. Lenz AG, Hinze-Heyn H, Schneider A, Behr J, Haussinger K, Heindi S et al (2004) Influence of inflammatory mechanisms on the redox balance in interstitial lung diseases. Respir Med 98(8):737–745, Epub 2004/08/12
- Rottoli P, Magi B, Cianti R, Bargagli E, Vagaggini C, Nikiforakis N et al (2005) Carbonylated proteins in bronchoalveolar lavage of patients with sarcoidosis, pulmonary fibrosis associated with systemic sclerosis and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Proteomics 5(10):2612–2618, Epub 2005/06/01
- 29. Fels AO, Nathan CF, Cohn ZA (1987) Hydrogen peroxide release by alveolar macrophages from sarcoid patients and by alveolar macrophages from normals after exposure to recombinant interferons alpha A, beta, and gamma and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. J Clin Invest 80(2):381–386, Epub 1987/08/01
- 30. Kwiatkowska S, Luczynska M, Grzelewska-Rzymowska I, Nowak D, Zieba M (2005) Comparison of oxidative stress markers in exhaled breath condensate and in serum of patients with tuberculosis and sarcoidosis. Pol Merkur Lekarski 19(109):37–40, Epub 2005/10/01
- 31. Cassatella MA, Berton G, Agostini C, Zambello R, Trentin L, Cipriani A et al (1989) Generation of superoxide anion by alveolar macrophages in sarcoidosis: evidence for the activation of the oxygen metabolism in patients with high-intensity alveolitis. Immunology 66(3):451–458, Epub 1989/03/01
- Nielsen H, Frederiksen J, Sherson D, Milman N (1990) Comparison of alveolar macrophage and blood monocyte oxidative burst response in pulmonary sarcoidosis. APMIS 98(5):401– 406, Epub 1990/05/01
- Eisenstein RS, Garcia-Mayol D, Pettingell W, Munro HN (1991) Regulation of ferritin and heme oxygenase synthesis in rat fibroblasts by different forms of iron. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88(3):688–692, Epub 1991/02/01
- Morse D (2003) The role of heme oxygenase-1 in pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29(3 suppl):S82–S86, Epub 2003/09/25
- 35. Ye Q, Dalavanga Y, Poulakis N, Sixt SU, Guzman J, Costabel U (2008) Decreased expression of haem oxygenase-1 by alveolar macrophages in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J 31(5):1030–1036, Epub 2008/01/25
- Kokturk N, Sabag M, Stark M, Grief J, Fireman E (2009) High extracellular induced sputum haem oxygenase-1 in sarcoidosis and chronic beryllium disease. Eur J Clin Invest 39(7):584– 590, Epub 2009/05/21
- 37. Lakari E, Pylkas P, Pietarinen-Runtti P, Paakko P, Soini Y, Kinnula VL (2001) Expression and regulation of hemeoxygenase 1 in healthy human lung and interstitial lung disorders. Hum Pathol 32(11):1257–1263, Epub 2001/12/01
- Lakari E, Paakko P, Pietarinen-Runtti P, Kinnula VL (2000) Manganese superoxide dismutase and catalase are coordinately expressed in the alveolar region in chronic interstitial pneumonias and granulomatous diseases of the lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161(2 pt 1):615–621, Epub 2000/02/15
- Schremmer B, Manevich Y, Feinstein SI, Fisher AB (2007) Peroxiredoxins in the lung with emphasis on peroxiredoxin VI. Subcell Biochem 44:317–344, Epub 2007/12/19

- 40. Kinnula VL, Lehtonen S, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Lakari E, Paakko P, Kang SW et al (2002) Cell specific expression of peroxiredoxins in human lung and pulmonary sarcoidosis. Thorax 57(2):157–164, Epub 2002/02/06
- 41. Tiitto L, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Sormunen R, Holmgren A, Paakko P, Soini Y et al (2003) Expression of the thioredoxin system in interstitial lung disease. J Pathol 201(3):363–370, Epub 2003/11/05
- 42. Koura T, Gon Y, Hashimoto S, Azuma A, Kudoh S, Fukuda Y et al (2000) Expression of thioredoxin in granulomas of sarcoidosis: possible role in the development of T lymphocyte activation. Thorax 55(9):755–761, Epub 2000/08/19
- 43. Markart P, Luboeinski T, Korfei M, Schmidt R, Wygrecka M, Mahavadi P et al (2009) Alveolar oxidative stress is associated with elevated levels of non-enzymatic low-molecular-weight antioxidants in patients with different forms of chronic fibrosing interstitial lung diseases. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(2):227–240, Epub 2008/09/12
- 44. Costabel U, Bonella F, Ohshimo S, Guzman J (2010) Diagnostic modalities in sarcoidosis: BAL, EBUS, and PET. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 31(4):404–408, Epub 2010/07/29
- 45. Drent M, Jacobs JA, de Vries J, Lamers RJ, Liem IH, Wouters EF (1999) Does the cellular bronchoalveolar lavage fluid profile reflect the severity of sarcoidosis? Eur Respir J 13(6): 1338–1344, Epub 1999/08/13
- 46. Ziegenhagen MW, Rothe ME, Schlaak M, Muller-Quernheim J (2003) Bronchoalveolar and serological parameters reflecting the severity of sarcoidosis. Eur Respir J 21(3):407–413, Epub 2003/03/29
- 47. Rahman I, Biswas SK, Kode A (2006) Oxidant and antioxidant balance in the airways and airway diseases. Eur J Pharmacol 533(1–3):222–239, Epub 2006/02/28
- Rahman I (2002) Oxidative stress, transcription factors and chromatin remodelling in lung inflammation. Biochem Pharmacol 64(5–6):935–942, Epub 2002/09/06
- 49. van den Berg R, Haenen GR, van den Berg H, Bast A (2001) Transcription factor NF-kappaB as a potential biomarker for oxidative stress. Br J Nutr 86(suppl 1):S121–S127, Epub 2001/08/25
- 50. Culver DA, Barna BP, Raychaudhuri B, Bonfield TL, Abraham S, Malur A et al (2004) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma activity is deficient in alveolar macrophages in pulmonary sarcoidosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 30(1):1–5, Epub 2003/09/27
- 51. Drent M, van den Berg R, Haenen GR, van den Berg H, Wouters EF, Bast A (2001) NF-kappaB activation in sarcoidosis. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis 18(1):50–56, Epub 2001/05/17
- Boots AW, Drent M, de Boer VC, Bast A, Haenen GR (2011) Quercetin reduces markers of oxidative stress and inflammation in sarcoidosis. Clin Nutr 30(4):506–512, Epub 2011/02/18
- 53. Suga M, Iyonaga K, Okamoto T, Gushima Y, Miyakawa H, Akaike T et al (2000) Characteristic elevation of matrix metalloproteinase activity in idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162(5):1949–1956, Epub 2000/11/09
- 54. Fu X, Kassim SY, Parks WC, Heinecke JW (2003) Hypochlorous acid generated by myeloperoxidase modifies adjacent tryptophan and glycine residues in the catalytic domain of matrix metalloproteinase-7 (matrilysin): an oxidative mechanism for restraining proteolytic activity during inflammation. J Biol Chem 278(31):28403–28409, Epub 2003/05/22
- 55. Frears ER, Zhang Z, Blake DR, O'Connell JP, Winyard PG (1996) Inactivation of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 by peroxynitrite. FEBS Lett 381(1–2):21–24, Epub 1996/02/26
- 56. Bellocq A, Azoulay E, Marullo S, Flahault A, Fouqueray B, Philippe C et al (1999) Reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates increase transforming growth factor-beta1 release from human epithelial alveolar cells through two different mechanisms. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 21(1):128–136, Epub 1999/07/01
- Liu RM (2008) Oxidative stress, plasminogen activator inhibitor 1, and lung fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 10(2):303–319, Epub 2007/11/06
- Ghio AJ, Roggli VL, Kennedy TP, Piantadosi CA (2000) Calcium oxalate and iron accumulation in sarcoidosis. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis 17(2):140–150, Epub 2000/08/25

- 59. Wilms LC, Boots AW, de Boer VC, Maas LM, Pachen DM, Gottschalk RW et al (2007) Impact of multiple genetic polymorphisms on effects of a 4-week blueberry juice intervention on ex vivo induced lymphocytic DNA damage in human volunteers. Carcinogenesis 28(8): 1800–1806, Epub 2007/07/03
- de Boer VC, Dihal AA, van der Woude H, Arts IC, Wolffram S, Alink GM et al (2005) Tissue distribution of quercetin in rats and pigs. J Nutr 135(7):1718–1725, Epub 2005/07/01
- Tong Z, Dai H, Chen B, Abdoh Z, Guzman J, Costabel U (2003) Inhibition of cytokine release from alveolar macrophages in pulmonary sarcoidosis by pentoxifylline: comparison with dexamethasone. Chest 124(4):1526–1532, Epub 2003/10/14
- Horvath B, Marton Z, Halmosi R, Alexy T, Szapary L, Vekasi J et al (2002) In vitro antioxidant properties of pentoxifylline, piracetam, and vinpocetine. Clin Neuropharmacol 25(1):37–42, Epub 2002/02/20
- Park MK, Fontana Jr, Babaali H, Gilbert-McClain LI, Stylianou M, Joo J et al (2009) Steroidsparing effects of pentoxifylline in pulmonary sarcoidosis. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis 26(2):121–131. Epub 2010/06/22
- 64. Radomska-Lesniewska DM, Skopinska-Rozewska E, Jankowska-Steifer E, Sobiecka M, Sadowska AM, Hevelke A et al (2010) N-acetylcysteine inhibits IL-8 and MMP-9 release and ICAM-1 expression by bronchoalveolar cells from interstitial lung disease patients. Pharmacol Rep 62(1):131–138, Epub 2010/04/03
- 65. Homma S, Azuma A, Taniguchi H, Ogura T, Mochiduki Y, Sugiyama Y et al (2012) Efficacy of inhaled N-acetylcysteine monotherapy in patients with early stage idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respirology 17(3):467–477, Epub 2012/01/20

Chapter 12 Asbestos Fibers: Mechanisms of Injury

Daniel E. Banks, Michael J. Morris, and Surinder K. Jindal

12.1 Introduction

The adverse clinical consequences of asbestos fiber inhalation are well described (Table 12.1) [1]. There are two aspects of exposure to the asbestos fiber that alter the development of these asbestos-related diseases. The first effector of risk for disease is dose. Fibrotic lung disease (asbestosis), malignancy, and pleural changes are all dose-dependent. Despite efforts by investigators to show that asbestos-induced fibrosis must be present to provoke lung cancer or to show that pleural plaques substantially increase the risk of lung cancer, the risks for each independently increase with exposure—these three clinical features occur in parallel [2–5]. There is no timeline which allows the physician to predict if, or when, one will occur before the other. Each manifestation can occur singularly or together. Statistical evidence showing one or the other event leads to malignancy has been very difficult to sort out and has been a substantial source of disagreement among epidemiologists who have been interested in understanding this issue.

D.E. Banks, M.D., M.S., F.C.C.P., M.A.C.P. (🖂)

Department of Medicine, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, 2478 Stanley Road, Building 2268, Suite 103, Fort Sam Houston, TX 78234, USA e-mail: dbanks49@yahoo.com

M.J. Morris, M.D., F.A.C.P., F.C.C.P.

Pulmonary/Critical Care Service, Brooke Army Medical Center, 3551 Roger Brooke Drive, Fort Sam Houston, TX 78234, USA e-mail: michael.morris1@us.army.mil

S.K. Jindal, M.D., F.A.M.S., F.C.C.P. Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh 160012, India e-mail: dr.skjindal@gmail.com

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_12, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014



Asbestosis
Benign pleural disease
Bloody exudative effusions
Pleural plaques
Diffused pleural thickening
Mesothelioma
Lung cancer

The second aspect associated with the development of disease attributed to asbestos exposure is time—that is not only the time from first exposure to the current exposure in those working, but also the total time from first exposure to asbestos regardless of the working status. It is not sufficient to address the impact of the years of fiber inhalation. In former workers, additional years following ceasing employment (without exposure) can be relevant. The three manifestations described above—mesothelioma, fibrosis, and lung cancer—are impacted by this notion of latency, that is, the time from first exposure to the development of disease; however, the manifestation most impacted is mesothelioma.

Mesothelioma is the most sensitive and specific marker of the adverse health effects attributed to asbestos [6]. It is sensitive because this tumor can develop from lesser asbestos fiber exposures (in the presence of a substantial [usually more than 30 years [latency]]) and specific as the great percentage of those with this disease can provide a history of workplace or environmental asbestos exposure.

Several recent publications lead one to realize that the implications of asbestos exposure are even more disconcerting as we learn more about the consequences of its inhalation. The first report answers the question "Is the world-wide rate for mesothelioma declining from rates recognized in 1995?" [7]. In seven countries, the mortality rate increased (in five, in a statistically significant manner). The mortality rates were essentially no different in 24 countries (in five, rates declined but were not statistically different from the 1996 rates). In the U.S., for example, the permissible exposure limit for asbestos and current standard for exposure was established in 1986 (although less stringent rules were in place prior to this) and recent rates of importation and utilization of this fiber has dramatically lessened to less than 1,000 metric tons yearly (from more than 700,000 metric tons/year in the 1950s) [8, 9]. Exposures to asbestos continue in renovated or demolished buildings or as a result of continuing the importing policies of brake pads, asbestos fittings, and washers. As an example, there is clear evidence that the decline in asbestos utilization in the U.S. has been dramatic, yet there has been no change in the U.S. mesothelioma rate from 1995 to 2006. Countries which banned asbestos (n=50 as of 2009) and countries with the greatest decline in asbestos utilization from 1970 to 1985 showed the greatest annual rate of mesothelioma decline in the 1995-2006 period, yet, overall, when comparing 1996-2005 data, the annual rate of mesothelioma deaths in 31 countries showed no statistically significant decline. In this report, one can only conclude that even though current exposures are trending downward, it appears that the latency period remains the driving force for the continued development of this disease.

The second report helps explain why the changes that have been made in many countries are yet to alter the frequency of this disease. Using the relative risk for mesothelioma in workers who had stopped working (and therefore, exposure to asbestos)

 Table 12.2 Selected manuscripts of cross-sectional studies by decade showing changes in the prevalence of asbestosis in the U.S. over time

1965

- In a population of 121 asbestos workers with a 40-year latency of asbestos exposure, 94.2 % had a radiologic diagnosis of asbestosis
- Selikoff IJ et al. The occurrence among insulation workers in the United States. Ann NY Acad Sci 1965; 132:139–155

1979

- In 359 present and retired shipyard workers with ≥10 years of exposure, 44 % had parenchymal interstitial disease
- Polakoff PL et al. Prevalence of radiographic abnormalities among northern California shipyard workers. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1979; 330:333–9

1988

- In 1016 workers in the sheet metal industry employed) 35 years, parenchymal interstitial fibrosis (consistent with asbestosis) was found in 33.1 %
- Selikoff IJ, Lilis R. Radiological abnormalities among sheet metal workers in the construction industry in the United States and Canada: relationship to asbestos exposure. Arch Environ Health 1991; 46:30–36

1998

In electricians with >20 years of union membership, the prevalence of small opacities was 2.1 % Hessel PA et al. Lung health among electricians in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. J Occup Environ Med 1998; 40: 1007–12

2009

Follow-up from 1988 study. 2181 sheet-metal workers who had a negative CXR in the initial study were re-tested from 1986 to 2004. 5.3 % had CXR changes consistent with asbestosis. Of cases, 91.3 % worked >29 years. Workers beginning after 1970 had no disease

Welch LS, Halle E. Asbestos-related disease among sheet-metal workers 1986–2004: radiographic changes over time. Am J Ind Med 2009; 52:519–22

between 3 and 15 years ago as a comparator, the authors showed that the risk for mesothelioma in those still working vs. those who had ceased employment more than 30 years ago was not different [10]. A second report is a British case-control study comparing cases with mesothelioma to workers in different jobs. Among all tradesmen, carpenters were at the highest risk for disease development. Of consequence, the life-time risk for mesothelioma was determined when asbestos exposure occurred prior to the age of 30 years, even if the exposure lasted for less than 10 years. Increasing the exposures for a greater duration beyond the age of 30 years did not significantly add to the risk of development of the disease [11].

Of these clinical manifestations associated with asbestos fiber inhalation, United States federal standards have been developed to protect workers from asbestosis. There is no intent in the standard to diminish the number of workers with lung cancer, pleural plaques, or mesothelioma. The implication is that the protective effect of the standard will lessen the number of cases of asbestosis and in that way lessen the other manifestations. Cross-sectional reports suggest that the implementation of this standard has dramatically altered the number of cases of asbestosis (Table 12.2), although, as noted above, there has been no measurable impact on the mesothelioma rate. The scene in the developing world is quite alarming. As an example, in India, several industrial hygiene surveys report very high levels of asbestos, even though

there is no direct reporting of mesothelioma in the National Cancer Registry in association with asbestos [12].

There is very strong epidemiologic evidence linking chronic exposure to asbestos and lung cancer, mesothelioma, and pulmonary fibrosis, yet the underlying biological and chemical mechanisms that support this linkage are not as well described. The basic process involves fiber deposition in the lung (with fiber clearance, sequestering of the fiber into the interstitium, or transmission of uncleared fibers into the pleura). Uncleared fibers begin the acute inflammatory response and evolve into chronic inflammation with continuous inflammatory cell infiltrates, reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation, cytokine release, and ultimately genotoxicity with DNA damage affecting cell replication and differentiation. The interaction of the ROS with the pulmonary milieu plays a ubiquitous role in the overall destructive process of the uncleared asbestos fiber, but numerous other processes occur to lead to disease. This leads to the question: What are the important features of the asbestos fiber and what are the biologic and chemical events that occur in the lung in association with this fiber that place a worker at life-long risk for the development of asbestosassociated diseases?

12.2 The Asbestos Fiber

Fibers can be identified and counted by phase contrast optical microscopy, scanning electron microscopy, polarized light microscopy, and transmission electron microscopy. Each of these technical approaches has strengths and weaknesses in fiber identification and visualization. Furthermore, although there is a considerable agreement of what defines a fiber, disagreements remain. For example, the World Health Organization (WHO) considers fibers suitable for counting if the particle is >5 μ m in length with length to diameter ratio of at least 3:1 (known as WHO fibers) [13]. The National Institute for Occupational Health (NIOSH) has recommended that a fiber be defined as any particle >5 μ m in length with a length to diameter ratio of 5:1 and a diameter <3 μ m [14]. Fiber counting using different microscopic techniques and different definitions yield very different outcomes [15].

Overall, reports on the relationship between fiber dimensions and asbestosis show that the severity of pulmonary fibrosis, length of exposure, and type of exposure are broadly proportional to the number of asbestos fibers or asbestos bodies found in the parenchymal lung tissue [16–19]. In general, fibers exceeding 20 μ m in length are associated with asbestosis, and fibers longer than 10 μ m in length are the most carcinogenic. Inhalation of short amosite fibers <5 μ m in length produced virtually no fibrosis in rats compared with long amosite fibers with 11 % >10 μ m that produced extensive interstitial fibrosis at 12 months [17]. There is some evidence that fibers less than 5 μ m in length can also promote pulmonary fibrosis and malignancy, especially when administered as a lung overload condition, as can occur in dust clouds [20].

There is national and international agreement that exposure to asbestos fibers causes lung and pleural cancer, as well as interstitial lung disease (asbestosis) [21, 22].

Despite the perspective that the relationship of fiber characteristics and diseases appears to be the best understood of all the inhaled particles recognized to cause disease [23], individuals with asbestos exposure may present with a series of illnesses that are not obviously related. For example, it is not intuitive for the clinician to recognize that an exposure to an environmental agent that causes parenchymal fibrosis also has the potential to induce pleural malignancy. Although this link has been recognized epidemiologically, it has not been well explained physiologically. Even now, when there are some insights into the mechanisms of fibrosis associated with the persistence of fibers and their make-up, there is no proven hypothesis which describes how fibers leave the lung, enter the pleural space, and induce any of the pleural effects described in Table 12.1. The link between these clinical manifestations could be attributed to the number of fibers in the parenchyma as well as the duration that the fibers have remained in the lung, the shape and dimensions of the fibers (specifically length and diameter), the composition of the fiber-particularly the characteristics of the fiber surface (important in biopersistence), and the interactions between the pulmonary milieu and the fiber which affects the way that the fiber is handled (the genetic background of the host in association with the effects of environmental agents [e.g., cigarette smoke, the presence of other fibrogenic dusts]). Animal reports show that once fibers deposit in the parenchyma, they are no longer able to be cleared by the efficient muco-ciliary escalator of the airway, and are dealt with by the substantially less effective phagocytotic properties of macrophages [24].

The lung has the ability to respond differently to different particles; witness the different histologic features resulting from coal and silica exposures. Over time, an understanding of the relationship between the shape and dimensions of the different asbestos fibers and their pathogenicity has evolved. The only serpentine fiber is chrysotile. This accounts for 95 % of the asbestos previously used for industrial purposes in the U.S. The most often widely used amphibole fiber is crocidolite, but this group also includes tremolite, amosite, anthophyllite, and actinolite. Chrysotile fibers are soft, curly, and break easily while the amphiboles are firm and sharp.

Different types of asbestos fibers provoke a different (lesser or greater) response. Authors have commented that the use of the word "asbestos" to include both serpentine and the amphibole fibers has made it more difficult to understand the relationships between the fiber characteristics and disease [25]. As an example, not only are their shapes and sizes different but also chrysotile contains just trace amounts of iron while crocidolite can contain as much as 36 %. The elemental composition of the fiber plays a role in its biochemical reactivity in the lung [26]. In a sense, this statement is borne out by the comprehensive review relating exposure to the asbestos fibers with different characteristics and disease [27]. The authors performed a meta-analysis of the mesothelioma risk based on fiber exposure recognized in the work environment in 15 epidemiologic studies and for the lung cancer risk in 11 epidemiologic studies. Fiber exposure was defined by the type of fiber (chrysotile or crocidolite), fiber length (either >5 and <10 or >10 m), and the fiber diameter (<0.2, <0.4, >0.2 m and all widths). Based on fibers 10 µm or longer, the risk for mesothelioma associated with exposure to chrysotile and crocidolite fiber exposure was very different. The best estimate for chrysotile potency to induce mesothelioma was approximately between 0 and 1/200th that of crocidolite in inducing mesothelioma. Crocidolite was

approximately ten times more potent as an inducer of lung cancer compared to chrysotile when the fiber was thin (width <0.4 μ m and length <0.2 μ m), but the potency for crocidolite was less, yet still more than chrysotile, when comparing the lung cancer rates following exposures to wider fibers. Others have cited the carcinogenicity of longer amphiboles to be two orders of magnitude greater than that of chrysotile [28].

This relationship between amphibole fibers and mesothelioma was verified in a case-control study. Lung samples from 69 male mesothelioma cases and 57 controls matched for age (all were under 50 years of age) and gender were evaluated and the mineral fiber content identified, fibers sized, and the number of fibers counted by electron microscopy. Exposure to amphibole fibers contributed most to mesothelioma. The presence of amosite and crocidolite fibers accounted for 80 % of the cases, with tremolite adding another 7 % (all amphiboles). Because chrysotile has a much shorter biopersistence, its contribution was more difficult to estimate [29].

An understanding of the way that the different fibers in the lung are handled is incomplete. Churg and Wright addressed this in a 1994 review [30]. First, differences in the amounts of the types of fibers deposited in the parenchyma are due to clearance rates and not deposition rates. Second, although exposures in most industrial settings are greater to chrysotile fibers compared to amphiboles, amphiboles persist in the lung in disproportionately large amounts and chrysotile in disproportionately small amounts. The process of leaching (loss of magnesium content) with gradual fiber dissolution is well recognized in vitro, yet has not been sufficiently proven in the human lung. Finally, the half-time for clearance of amphibole fibers is thought to be years or decades, while the great majority of chrysotile fibers are cleared in weeks to months, although in some instances the fibers are sequestered in the interstitial space and persist [31]. Paradoxically, in some studies of fiber persistence of mesothelioma, chrysotile fibers were recognized to be the major source of asbestos exposure, yet such fibers may be identified in only a minority of cases of mesothelioma, while amphiboles such as tremolite, which are only a very small fraction of the exposure and often considered contaminants to chrysotile exposures, are the main fiber found in the lung [32, 33]. It appears that the majority of chrysotile fibers are metabolized in a relatively short period, yet the persistence of these fibers, particularly if they are sequestered in the lung (i.e., in the interstitium) appear to have the potential to contribute to disease. This general lack of biopersistence of chrysotile fibers in the lung is the most likely explanation for its relative lack of virulence compared to amphibole fibers [34].

In the early 1980s, Stanton et al. published animal work showing that mesothelioma rates in asbestos-exposed animals were fiber size dependent. Specifically, if fibers were long (>4 μ m) and thin (<0.25 μ m) in diameter there was substantially more disease compared to fibers shorter and thicker [35]. Recent work has validated this conclusion in lung cancer. From 1940 to 1973, the North and South Carolina asbestos textile mills employed over 6,000 individuals. Chrysotile was the predominant fiber used. When the development of lung cancer in this population was reviewed, the authors showed that lung cancer mortality was more strongly associated with those exposed to long, thin fibers [36]. To complicate this further, cigarette smoking alters fiber clearance. When the fiber burden in the airway mucosa of
cigarette smokers with heavy occupational asbestos exposure was compared to a similarly exposed group of matched non-smokers, the amount of chrysotile fibers was higher by approximately 50-fold (p<0.006) and the concentration of amosite fibers was increased approximately sixfold (p<0.02) in smokers [37].

An analysis of the fiber content in lung biopsy or autopsy specimens from residents of Quebec with asbestos-induced lung disease was recently reported. Of particular interest in this report was the ability to relate work history to lung fiber content. Although the asbestos mines in Ouebec contain nearly exclusive amounts of chrysotile with minimal amphibole contamination, 85 % of the workers presented chrysotile fibers in the lung, while 76 %, 64 %, and 43 % had tremolite, amosite, and crocidolite, respectively. Half of the fibers were short, 30 % were thin and only 20 % corresponded to the WHO definition of fibers cited above. Mean years away from asbestos exposure for those with asbestosis was 17 years, 29 years with mesothelioma, and 19 years with lung cancer. Although the number of chrysotile fibers declined disproportionately more than amphiboles over time, chrysotile particles (many of lesser dimensions than necessary to be classified as a fiber) were still observed in the lungs of workers 30 years or more after last exposure and exceeded the level found in unexposed populations [38]. With such information, even though the mechanisms of metabolism and clearance of chrysotile fibers in the lungs are recognized to occur, the role of chrysotile as an agent which may induce illness cannot be discounted.

Despite the work cited above, others have reported that the relationship between fiber types and size, and the pulmonary (i.e., fibrosis and lung cancer risk) and pleural (pleural inflammatory changes and mesothelioma) milieu is not clear-cut [39]. It appears that fibers alone can cause disease. As an example, asbestos fibers can directly interfere with chromosomal segregation during mitosis and damage DNA [40]. Certainly, the pulmonary milieu can be changed to alter the virulence of the asbestos fiber. Cigarette smoking increases the lung manifestations of asbestos-related disease, again suggesting that the interaction between the fiber and the lung milieu (in this example in the presence of cigarette smoke), and not entirely the fiber itself (with its potentiating characteristics of length, diameter, aspect ratio, and type), is the culprit in these diseases [41].

12.2.1 How Fibers Cause Disease

Asbestosis is defined by the American College of Chest Physicians as bilateral diffuse interstitial fibrosis of the lungs caused by the inhalation of asbestos fibers [42]. Most patients with clinically recognized asbestosis present with dyspnea and dry cough, and physical examination typically reveals inspiratory rales at the lung bases. Functional changes on pulmonary function testing in the fully developed case of asbestosis are restrictive indices with a decreased diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide. Histologic examination of the lung in milder cases of asbestosis may show characteristic changes, yet the concomitant spirometric changes are not yet measurable [41]. The typical radiographic finding is a

Table 12.3Mechanismsof disease inducedby the asbestos fiber

The acute inflammatory response The chronic inflammatory response Fibrosis Transformation into malignancy Development of pleural abnormalities

lower zone reticulonodular infiltrate on plain films. Computed tomography features appear to be very similar if not identical to those seen in usual interstitial pneumonia, i.e., peripheral bands, lines, thickened interlobular septa, and honey-combing, with disease most severe at the lung bases [43, 44].

The microscopic pathology of asbestosis reflects the end product of the lung's response to substantial fiber exposure over a protracted period of time. The histologic hallmarks of this disease are (1) interstitial fibrosis and (2) the presence of asbestos bodies within the pulmonary parenchyma. Although we address asbestosis as the end product of a chronic inflammatory response, relatively few inflammatory cells are recognizable. Inflammation, when it can be recognized, occurs at the site of fiber deposition along the airways and alveoli. The histologic features of the disease begin with relatively homogeneous fibrosis of the alveoli adjacent to the bronchioles in the peripheral aspects of the lower zones of the lung. Then, depending on the stimulus for progressive fibrosis, fibrosis can extend towards the hilum and encompass surrounding bronchioles. Fibrosis which may also develop in the walls of the respiratory bronchioles and alveolar ducts is strictly not asbestosis, and is best described as bronchiolar wall fibrosis. This is another characteristic response to asbestos exposure [45].

The metabolic processes in the lung multiply the effects associated with the effects of the deposition of the asbestos fiber in the lung (Table 12.3). Recurrent asbestos fiber exposure interacts with the pulmonary milieu and generates ROS and other oxidants, induces an influx of inflammatory cells—initially macrophages and neutrophils, but with time fibroblasts, perpetuates a self-generating release of a large number of cytokines and growth factors. As an example, inflammation and fibrosis as well as expression of genes linked to cell proliferation and antioxidant defense occur in a dose-related fashion after inhalation exposures to asbestos fibers [46]. Although each of the following may be, in a sense a separate process, these events cannot be separated and contribute to the pathology resulting from asbestos fiber inhalation. These processes include oxidative stress (perhaps the most inextricably linked part of the process), inflammation, fibrosis, and genotoxicity [47].

12.3 Inflammation and Fibrosis

Research performed in the 1980s served as the starting point for understanding the effects of asbestos fiber inhalation and the acute inflammatory pulmonary effects. A series of lung pathology follow-up studies of young rats that had undergone a

singular 1-h nose-only exposure to chrysotile fibers showed acute inflammatory changes. After 2 days, unlike infectious inflammation where the primary cell is the neutrophil or lymphocyte, the primary changes at the bifurcation of the alveolar duct was a dramatic thickening of the epithelial and interstitial layers, with a tenfold influx of alveolar macrophages (AMs) on the bifurcation and a threefold increase of macrophages in the interstitium. The features of inflammation are most prominent at the site of fiber deposition. After 1 month, the number of type I and II epithelial cells remained increased, and the interstitium was collagenous and even thicker. Alveolar macrophages are more prevalent and now cells reflecting localized fibrosis, i.e., myofibroblasts, and smooth muscle cells are identifiable. No further follow up of these abnormalities was provided, leaving the authors to ponder whether fibrosis would continue or resolve, and what role serial exposures would play in further development of fibrosis [48]. Further studies of this model (this time with a 5 h exposure to asbestos and intraperitoneal injection of [3]thymidine at 19, 24, and 48 h, 8 days and then 1 month post-exposure with sacrifice 4 h post-injection) with determination of the cell mitotic activity by the uptake of [3] thymidine, revealed the most activity within the first 48 h with a return to normal at 8 days and an unchanged level at 1 month. The increased uptake correlated pathologically with increased numbers of bronchial-alveolar epithelial and interstitial cells. The enhanced mitotic activity of the cells was thought attributable to the fibers present or factors released by stimulated macrophages attracted to the areas of fibers [49]. Histologically, the early stage of asbestosis is characterized by discrete foci of fibrosis within the walls of the respiratory bronchioles and alveolar duct bifurcations where there is an accumulation of asbestos bodies [19]. Inhalation of asbestos fibers triggers the accumulation of AMs with an inflammatory reaction, followed by more diffuse pulmonary involvement characterized by the loss of alveolar epithelial type I and II cells, fibroblast proliferation, and eventually collagen deposition. Macrophage ingestion of asbestos fibers triggers a fibrogenic response from fibroblast proliferation through release of growth factors such as transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF). These growth factors, in addition to numerous inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), collectively promote collagen deposition found in asbestosis [50].

Histology, cell counts, biochemical markers of inflammation, and the extent of cellular proliferation were determined in the lungs of a rat model following a "lesser" and "greater" airborne exposure for 20 days to chrysotile asbestos. Rats were sacrificed at varying times afterward. No effects were found in the "lesser" exposure group, while focal histologic changes of cellularity and fibrosis and a increasing number of neutrophils based on the time of sacrifice relative to end of exposure was recognized in animals with the "greater" exposure. In another group of rats with the same exposure, but sacrificed following a 20-day delay, assessment of DNA synthesis by pre-morbid injection of antibody to 5-bromo-2′-deoxyuridine (BrdU) labeled cells were measured in the interstitium of the lung parenchyma, the bronchi and bronchioles, and the cells of the visceral pleura. Like the data described in the manuscript above, a significant increase of DNA synthesis in all three areas

occurred in rats sacrificed 5 days after ceasing exposure (initially), but not later on (at 20 days or in the group sacrificed 40 days after initiating exposure). The suggestion is that for chronic inflammation to develop, continuous or "chronic" exposure is necessary. Intriguingly, increased gene expression of manganese-containing superoxide dismutase, an enzyme which protects lung cells from hyperoxic lung injury, occured in animals sacrificed at all three times, and led the authors to suggest that this was a marker of chronic inflammation [51].

In a sophisticated study which addressed the role of fibers vs. mediators in the development of inflammatory changes, investigators began with sex-mismatched chimeric and naïve female mice and provided 3, 9, or 40 days of asbestos exposure. The female chimeric mice received a total body irradiation and then received bone marrow from another population of male mice, using the sex chromosome as a specific marker. At the time of sacrifice of groups, lung histology, bronchoalveolar fluid (BALF) cell counts, and measurement of levels of numerous mediators in BALF were measured to assess inflammatory activity. Not surprisingly, there was less asbestos-induced inflammation in mice which had received irradiation and bone marrow transplant. This effect was most exaggerated in the mice who had received the longest asbestos exposure. Using markers on donor cells, the loss of the natural bone-marrow-derived stem cells following whole-body irradiation substantially lessened the number of inflammatory cells in the lung with the associated lessening of release of inflammatory mediators [52]. The need for bone marrow stem cells to propagate fibrosis reflects the systemic inflammation induced by asbestos.

In summary, the amount of inflammatory response triggered by ingestion of asbestos fibers is primarily related to the dose and length of the inhaled fiber. High doses of inhaled asbestos fibers over short periods promote an acute alveolar macrophage predominant inflammation, whereas low doses over prolonged exposure periods promote neutrophil-predominant chronic inflammation. The ways that acute inflammation becomes chronic inflammation, and in some instances, fibrosis and even, malignancy, is complex and not well understood. As noted in the earlier studies cited above, acute inflammation is a time-limited process. Chronic inflammation is not time-limited and reflects on-going tissue damage in a lung with underlying injury. In the example of asbestos, the failure to clear and the inability to metabolize the fiber (in particular, amphibole fibers) drives the process. The histology reflects the continuing influx of inflammatory cells with an uncontrolled release of cytokines and growth factors and the consequences of such an event. The result of the attempt to get rid of the lung of the foreign body and repair previously injured tissue is a proliferative response with even more disordered tissue. Finally, this increases susceptibility to malignancy by causing DNA damage.

Chronic inflammation, with its associated developing fibrosis, has the potential to dramatically alter how fibers are removed from the lung. The effectiveness of the process described below depends on the integrity of the cells lining the airway, the presence of intact and unobstructed lymphatic vessels, and the relative lack of interstitial inflammation and fibrosis. Using principles of fluid dynamics, Miserocchi et al. explained how fibers are translocated from the airway into the interstitium and from there into the pleural space [53]. First, fibers in the alveolar lining fluid reach the interstitium through phagocytosis by type I alveolar lining cells which allow a "pass-through" into the interstitium by combined osmotic (through active sodium absorption) and hydraulic (the interstitial pressure is less than the airway) pressure gradients. Macrophages become "frustrated" by their inability to phagocytize the long fibers; the result being the release of mediators reflecting the heightened metabolic activity of these cells [54]. Alveolar epithelial cell (ACE) injury also damages fibroblasts and myofibroblasts and perpetuates the inflammatory response in the interstitium with the laying down of increased amounts of extracellular matrix; the start of or the perpetuation of the underlying pathologic process of asbestosis. Second, asbestos fibers can exit the lung through lymphatic vessels. In a normally functioning lung, very fine fibers can be cleared in 24 h [55]. The lymphatic circulation inevitably drains into the blood and, in that way, fibers may be dispersed to all organs [56]. Fibers in lymphatic vessels and in the blood can enter the pleural space dragged by water flux gradients. Third, movement of fibers from the lung parenchyma into the pleural space can occur directly. If there is an inflammatory response in the lung (such as asbestos-induced alveolitis), the interstitial pressure is raised and this can drive fibers in the lung parenchyma through minute pores in the visceral pleura into the pleural space. In this context, it is understandable how not only fibrotic lung disease and lung cancer are the end-products of asbestos-induced fibrosis, but how malignant mesothelioma can be included as an inflammatory-induced malignancy.

12.3.1 Reactive Oxygen Species

An important mechanism for the development of inflammation and fibrosis attributable to asbestos fiber inhalation is the formation of ROS. Although not as clearly defined as ROS, reactive nitrogen species are also important messengers of toxicity. Three separate mechanisms for ROS production have been implicated in the development of asbestosis. These include fiber surface reactivity due to iron homeostasis, cellular release from AMs, and mitochondria-derived ROS released from both inflammatory cells such as lung epithelial cells [50]. Asbestos inhalation elicits an AM response to phagocytize and clear the fibers, but this response results in ROS production by a Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1) dependent mechanism as well as by the release of inflammatory cytokines and growth factors. After ingestion by the AM, the asbestos body becomes a fibrous structure with asbestos in its core surrounded by mucopolysaccharides and iron-rich proteins such as ferritin and hemosiderin that are redox active [57]. Only a small proportion of the total fiber burden of the lung ever becomes coated, probably not more than 10 %, and the proportion of coated fibers increase with fiber length [17]. The purpose and function of coated asbestos fibers is to reduce their cytotoxicity since coated fibers are less cytotoxic to alveolar macrophages than uncoated fibers. The surface of asbestos fibers deposited in the lungs acquires iron that is redox active and cycles between reduced and oxidized forms. Additionally, alterations in iron homeostasis in the lung have been observed. The asbestos body generates the highly reactive hydroxyl radical (HO⁺) from hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) which can lead to alteration in antioxidant enzymes and DNA damage in target lung epithelial, AM, and meso-thelial cells [20, 58].

The cytotoxic effect of asbestos on mesothelial cells was shown to occur after phagocytosis of crocidolite fibers which causing increased intracellular oxidation, breakage of DNA strands, apoptosis, and cell-cycle arrest; phagocytosis was considered as an independent variable for toxicity [59].

There are a large number of cytokines which play a role in the inflammation process as it relates. In their review of inflammation and mesothelioma, Miller and Shukla [54] identified TNF- α , TGF- β , platelet-derived growth factor (PGDF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), interleukin-6, interleukin-8, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF).

As an example, in vivo activated AMs release mediators of inflammation such as TNF- α . This cytokine, as well as others, contribute to the ultimate response of malignancy. Yet, in vitro, asbestos is very toxic to human mesothelial cells and these cells do not transform into malignant cells, but die. When TNF- α is added to human mesothelial cell culture in vitro, the response is an expression of TNF-alpha receptor through the NF- κ B-dependent mechanism on the human mesothelial cells. Instead of cell death when asbestos was added, when TNF- α is present, there was cell damage, but resistance to cell death. Taking this a step further, the investigators showed that through cytogenetic techniques, many of the surviving AMs had chromosomal injury. They postulated that these AMs with genetic injury are susceptible to malignant transformation to mesothelioma [60].

Galffy et al. showed high IL-8 levels in the pleural fluid of malignant mesothelioma patients compared to those with congestive heart failure. Follow up in vitro studies showed that IL-8 directly promoted malignant mesothelioma cell growth, but not mesothelial cell growth [61].

Interleukin 6 (IL-6) is a key mediator in the pathway of chronic inflammation and fibrosis. Asbestos fibers and asbestos-induced oxidative stress stimulates IL-6 expression and secretion in pulmonary type II-like epithelial cells and in normal human bronchial epithelial cells. The extent of this process depends on the intracellular redox-oxidative state. Intracellular OH⁻ scavengers such as *N*-acetylcysteine (a precursor of glutathione) lessened IL-6 secretion by the asbestos fiber or hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). The presence of the asbestos fiber and H₂O₂ stimulate DNAbinding activity to the nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B), and NF-IL-6-recognized sites in the IL-6 promoter, the result being IL-6 induction. This can be blocked by another OH⁻ radical scavenger, tetramethylthiourea. The chronic inflammatory changes build towards fibrosis. Using the measurement of [3H]thymidine incorporation to determine mitotic changes, adding recombinant IL-6 stimulated lung fibroblast growth. Furthermore, elevated IL-6 levels were found in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids from patients diagnosed with lung fibrosis and work-related histories of long-term asbestos exposure [62].

12.3.2 Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species

Another factor associated with the inflammatory process is the generation of ROS from the mitochondria of key target cells. In the case of inflammatory cells, recent animal studies using murine models have established a prominent role for AM mitochondrial H_2O_2 production in mediating the fibrogenic response of asbestosis [63–66]. Observations from these studies include the recognition that:

- 1. Alveolar macrophages exposed to asbestos produce H₂O₂. This may be inhibited by catalase or through mitigation of AM mitochondrial oxidative stress.
- Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1) has been localized in the AM mitochondria of patients with asbestosis. Rac1 augments AM mitochondrial H₂O₂ production.
- 3. Knockdown of the complex III iron–sulfur protein in the mitochondrial electron transport chain reduces asbestos-induced AM H₂O₂ production.
- 4. Deletion of Rac1 in the AMs of asbestos-exposed mice shows reduced oxidative stress and pulmonary fibrosis.

The observations from these studies demonstrate that ingestion of asbestos fibers triggers H_2O_2 production in AM through the transfer of electrons from complex III to Rac1. Mitochondrial ROS production is also found in other important target cells, such as lung epithelial and mesothelial cells. Higher levels of mitochondrial ROS production and oxidative stress trigger DNA damage, p53 activation, cell-cycle blockade, and cell death. It has been speculated that Rac1 may be a possible biomarker for the presence of pulmonary fibrosis related to asbestos [67].

12.3.3 Epithelial Cell Apoptosis

Asbestos-induced AM and AEC mitochondrial ROS production promotes AEC apoptosis that appears to be important for myofibroblast differentiation, collagen deposition by myofibroblasts, and ultimately pulmonary fibrosis. The two mechanisms by which cells undergo apoptosis include the extrinsic (death receptor related) and intrinsic (mitochondria-regulated) death pathways. Diverse stimuli, including ROS, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) damage, and asbestos activate the intrinsic death pathway by increasing the permeability of the outer mitochondrial membrane; reducing the mitochondrial membrane potential and releasing apoptotic proteins, including cytochrome c. Considerable in vitro and in vivo data show that asbestos can induce both lytic cell death and apoptosis. Apoptosis is a regulated, ATP-dependent process characterized by membrane blebbing, cell shrinkage, nuclear chromatin condensation, and DNA fragmentation. Unlike the inflammatory signaling arising from lytic cell death, apoptosis enables cells with extensive DNA damage to be eliminated without inciting an inflammatory response. Substantial evidence convincingly confirms that AEC apoptosis is important in the pathophysiology of pulmonary fibrosis [50]. Numerous studies have demonstrated findings relating pulmonary fibrosis to apoptosis. Animal models of asbestosis demonstrate and patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis develop significant injury to the alveolar epithelium. The AECs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis have shown to have DNA strand-break formation and apoptosis. Asbestos is well described to induce AEC DNA damage and apoptosis. Additionally, murine models have shown that the presence of AEC apoptosis is sufficient for inducing pulmonary fibrosis. Blocking of AEC-targeted apoptosis is protective for the development of pulmonary fibrosis. Prevention of $\alpha\nu\beta6$ integrin release from lung epithelial cells, a key activator of latent TGF- β , prevents TGF- β activation and pulmonary fibrosis. Although these data firmly implicate AEC apoptosis in the pathophysiology of pulmonary fibrosis following exposure to various agents, including asbestos, future studies are necessary to define the precise molecular mechanisms involved in apoptosis.

12.3.4 p53 Cellular Response

Tumor protein 53 (p53) integrates various signals and initiates cellular responses to include cell-cycle arrest, cell differentiation, apoptosis, and other functions. A normal-functioning p53 response after exposure to DNA-damaging agents prevents the accumulation of cellular mutations. Over half of all human cancers have p53 mutations and p53 null mice have a marked increase in cancer predisposition. p53 is also redox sensitive, and its transcriptional function is linked to oxidative stress, which allows it to mediate the cellular effects including the induction of apoptotic cell death [68, 69]. The precise mechanism of p53 regulation of cellular apoptosis has not been elucidated but p53 activates mitochondrial-related death through gene expression of pro-apoptotic stimuli and suppression of anti-apoptotic genetic expression. High levels of apoptosis due to asbestos fibers may promote a fibrotic response in the form of asbestosis.

12.4 Genotoxicity of Asbestos

Asbestos-induced genotoxicity has been demonstrated in mesothelial and lung epithelial cells and studies show that all forms of asbestos are genotoxic to lung cells. Asbestosis exposure and fiber toxicity is clearly linked to the development of lung cancer and pleural mesothelioma. The development of carcinoma in asbestos exposure may be multifactorial as related to chronic inflammation from asbestosis, the genotoxicity of inhaled asbestos particles, and environmental factors such as cigarette smoking [70]. Asbestos-related bronchogenic carcinoma most often occurs in the setting of alveolitis with thickening of alveolar walls and peribronchial regions of the lung [19]. Animal models of asbestosis have further demonstrated adenoid proliferation in the respiratory bronchioles in the background of chronic inflammation and fibrosis. In asbestos, workers with greater than 20 years of exposure, it is not possible to separate the mechanisms of carcinogenesis of the lung from those of inflammation or fibrosis-the processes run in parallel. Based on case-control studies, there is an increase in lung cancer cases even in the absence of demonstrable pulmonary fibrosis [71]. The link of asbestosis with lung cancer is substantial as noted by the excess number of deaths due to lung cancer in patients with asbestosis [72]. Currently, the worldwide incidence of asbestos-induced cancer and other diseases is still on the rise because of their long latency periods [7]. A major factor in the development of lung cancer may be the formation of ROS which target mitochondrial and cause mutagenic events [58]. Accumulating evidence have demonstrated that asbestos is genotoxic as assessed using a variety of techniques such as assays of DNA damage and apoptosis, chromosomal damage, aneuploidy studies, sister chromatid exchange, and altered cell ploidy [73]. An additional factor in the development of bronchogenic carcinoma is the high rate of cigarette smoking identified in asbestos-exposed individuals. Similar to the well-established increased risk of lung cancer in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, there are numerous reports that show a direct relationship between excess asbestosis cases and lung cancer mortality [2].

12.4.1 Mechanisms of Lung Cancer and Mesothelioma

Many of the processes outlined previously on the development of asbestosis in exposed individuals also apply to lung cancer and mesothelioma [74]. Long latency periods for lung cancer over 20 years and greater than 40 years for mesothelioma suggest a multistep process of acute then chronic inflammation with persistent fiberinduced stimulation with resultant inflammatory cell infiltration, release of cytokines, production of ROS, and DNA damage with disordered cell replication. Importantly, once disordered pulmonary architecture with histologically identifiable inflammatory changes, the fiber clearance process is adversely affected and the inflammatory process has the potential to become heightened. ROS such as superoxide, hydroxyl radical, and hydrogen peroxide play a major role and are catalyzed by iron species on inhaled asbestos fibers. Additionally, there is generation of nitric oxide involved in this inflammatory process [75]. ROS, along with chemokines and cytokines, may cause alterations in growth and differentiation of target epithelial and mesothelial cells. In vitro studies of ROS have demonstrated breaks in DNA in solution and cultured cells. More recent evidence suggests the overall carcinogenic activity of asbestos is encompassed by several processes to include DNA damage caused by reactive oxygen and nitrogen species production, chromosome tangling with associated DNA damage, and adsorption of various carcinogens around asbestos fibers [76]. Asbestos fibers initiate a number of signaling and survival pathways in mesothelial cells and lung epithelial cells and these pathways are up regulated in lung cancers and mesothelioma, where they contribute to tumor development, homeostasis, and resistance to chemotherapy [77].

12.4.2 Tobacco Smoking

Tobacco smoking is a common confounder in human studies involving asbestos workers due to historical rates of smoking in this population [78]. This increase in lung cancer among smokers is partially due to the impairment of asbestos clearance in smokers, which probably accounts for the observation that tobacco smoke augments asbestos pulmonary toxicity [79]. Asbestos fibers can also act as condensation nuclei for aromatic hydrocarbons that result in a more effective transfer and uptake in tracheal epithelial cells. Cigarette smoke exposure increases the retention of short fibers more than the retention of long fibers. An increase in the short fiber load in smokers may play a role in fibrogenesis [80]. In addition, several models have likewise demonstrated that cigarette smoke causes single-stranded breaks in DNA [81].

12.4.3 Reactive Oxygen Species

Asbestos-initiated chronic oxidative stress and initiation of ROS production contributes to carcinogenesis by the promotion of oxidative DNA damage and alteration of redox signaling pathways in exposed epithelial and mesothelial cells [82]. The surface iron associated with asbestos bodies generates hydroxyl radical formation either through a redox reaction or by catalyzing a Fenton-like reaction. The uptake of asbestos fibers can stimulate phagocytic cells such as AMs and polymorphonuclear leukocytes to release a variety of ROS to include the superoxide anion (O_2^-), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and probably hydroxyl radicals through membrane-associated NADPH (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate) oxidase [83]. These ROS contribute to genotoxicity through DNA damage and cell apoptosis with the subsequent development of malignancies. Evidence for ROS causation is demonstrated by several key concepts. Iron chelators and antioxidants prevent asbestos-induced DNA damage and apoptosis, there is a direct relationship between the surface iron on the fibers and DNA-strand break formation, and finally asbestos induces the formation of oxidative DNA lesions [72].

12.4.4 DNA Damage and Apoptosis

Extensive studies have provided details on the molecular mechanisms underlying asbestos-induced DNA damage and apoptosis [41, 68] Apoptosis is a highly regulated physiologic cell death process critical for development, host defense, and prevention of malignant transformation and inflammation throughout the body. Two major mechanisms regulating apoptosis are (1) the intrinsic pathway mediated by the mitochondria (caused by DNA damage), and (2) the extrinsic pathway induced by death-signaling ligands, such as TNF- α or FAS ligands [71, 84]. Several mechanisms, including iron-derived free radicals (ROS) as previously described, the mitochondrial intrinsic death pathway, the extrinsic death receptor pathway, and

altered DNA repair, have been implicated. These mechanisms, along with reactive nitrogen species, act in conjunction to cause apoptosis. Within the intrinsic death pathway, mitochondrial DNA is more susceptible to oxidative damage (such as that caused by asbestos-induced ROS). Studies suggest that failure of normal apoptosis may contribute to cancer formation. Both iron-derived ROS and TNF- α mediate the apoptotic death receptor pathway and increased antioxidant defenses of malignant cells may resist apoptosis. Finally, DNA damage induced by asbestos-derived free radicals activates nuclear transcription factors and activated protein 1 that governs apoptosis, proliferation, and inflammatory changes [85].

12.4.5 p53 Expression

An alteration in p53 expression has been implicated in the pathophysiology of asbestos-associated bronchogenic lung cancer [86]. Asbestos activates both p53 and p21 expression in lung epithelial and mesothelial cells that result in cell-cycle arrest [87]. Increased p53 levels have been detected in the lung cancers of asbestosis patients. Specific p53 point mutations are present in the lung epithelium of asbestos-exposed individuals as well as smokers. Studies performed to examine asbestos-induced whole genome expression profiling confirm that p53 activation plays a crucial role (along with nearly 2,500 other genes) in the regulation of tumor suppression, cell-cycle arrest, apoptosis, and cell survival [88]. As such, p53 plays an important role in the regulation of lung cellular DNA-damage response following exposure to oxidative stress, as occurs with both tobacco smoke and asbestos inhalation. It has been noted that additional research is necessary to determine how p53-dependent signaling alters mitochondria-regulated epithelial cell apoptosis and whether this is a target to prevent malignant transformation due to asbestosis [50].

In summary, current evidence suggests that all forms of asbestos are directly genotoxic to relevant lung target cells, both pulmonary epithelial cells and mesothelial cells. Asbestos-induced genotoxicity can be found as either DNA damage or cell death through apoptosis. Both mechanisms trigger DNA repair mechanisms and complex cellular signaling pathways that ultimately determine cell death. These responses include cell-cycle arrest, transcriptional and posttranscriptional activation of select genes involved in DNA repair, and apoptosis. At the lung tissue level, it is speculated that high levels of apoptosis may promote a fibrotic response/asbestosis, while persistent DNA damage resulting from defects in apoptosis may lead to the formation of either bronchogenic carcinoma or mesothelioma [72].

12.5 Conclusion

The cellular processes of acute and chronic inflammation, fibrosis, and genotoxicity (all with associated mechanisms of ROS-mediated injury) run parallel to the clinical processes of asbestosis, malignant pleural disease, and parenchymal malignancy.

There are common mechanisms for the development of these clinical manifestations in the presence of asbestos exposure. It is not surprising that there remains confusion regarding the requirement that pulmonary fibrosis precede lung cancer, as the processes of fibrosis and the development of pulmonary malignancy are doserelated events with common mechanisms. Yet, the explanation of how the switch is "turned" and how fibrosis becomes malignancy remains elusive.

Disclaimer The views expressed herein are those of the authors and do not reflect the official policy or position of the Department of the Army, Department of Defense, or the US Government. The authors are employees of the US government. This work was prepared as part of their official duties and, as such, there is no copyright to be transferred.

References

- Banks DE, Dedhia HV (2011) Health effects of asbestos exposure. In: Jindal SK (chief ed) Text book of pulmonary and critical care medicine, vol 2, chap 108. Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers, New Delhi, India
- 2. Weiss W (1999) Asbestosis: a marker for the increased risk of lung cancer among workers exposed to asbestos. Chest 115:536–549
- 3. Hillerdal G (1994) Pleural plaques and risk for bronchial carcinoma and mesothelioma. Chest 105:144–150
- Banks DE, Wang M-L, Parker JE (1999) Asbestos exposure, asbestosis, and lung cancer. Chest 115:320–322
- 5. Ameille J, Brochard P, Letourneux M et al (2011) Asbestos-related cancer risk in patients with asbestosis or pleural plaques. Rev Mal Respir 28:e11–e17
- Weill H, Hughes JM, Churg AM (2004) Changing trends in U.S. mesothelioma incidence. Occup Environ Med 61:438–441
- Nishikawa K, Takahashi K, Karjalainen A et al (2008) Recent mortality from pleural mesothelioma, historical patterns of asbestos use, and adoption of bans: a global assessment. Environ Health Perspect 116:1675–1680
- 8. http://pubs.usgs.gov/circ/2006/1298/. Accessed 16 April 2013
- 9. http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/commodity/asbestos/myb1-2010-asbes.pdf. Accessed 16 April 2013
- 10. La Vecchia C, Boffetta P (2012) Role of stopping exposure and recent exposure to asbestos in the risk of mesothelioma. Eur J Cancer Prev 21:227–230
- Rake C, Gilham C, Hatch J et al (2009) Occupational, domestic and environmental mesothelioma risks in the British population: a case–control study. Br J Cancer 100:1175–1183
- Dave SK, Beckett WS (2005) Occupational asbestos exposure and predictable asbestos-related diseases in India. Am J Ind Med 48:137–143
- 13. WHO (2000) Air quality guidelines. World Health Organizations, Geneva
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Analytic Methods (2013) Asbestos and other fibers by PCM. http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2003-154/pdfs/7400.pdf. Accessed 15 May 2013
- Breysse PN, Lees PSJ, Rooney BC (1999) Comparison of NIOSH method 7400 A and B counting rules for assessing synthetic vitreous fiber exposures. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 60:526–532
- 16. Churg A (1982) Fiber counting and analysis in the diagnosis of asbestos-related disease. Hum Pathol 13:381–392

- Davis JMG, Gylseth B, Morgan A (1986) Assessment of mineral fibres from human lung tissue. Thorax 41:167–175
- Churg A, Wright JL, Depaoli L, Wiggs B (1989) Mineralogic correlates of fibrosis in chrysotile miners and millers. Am Rev Respir Dis 139:891–896
- Rom WN, Travis WD, Brody AR (1991) Cellular and molecular basis of the asbestos-related diseases. Am Rev Respir Dis 143:408–422
- Mossman BT, Lippmann M, Hesterberg TW et al (2011) Pulmonary endpoints (lung carcinoma and asbestosis) following inhalation exposure to asbestos. J Toxicol Environ Health 14:76–121
- 21. IARC (2012) IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, vol 100C. A review of human carcinogens: arsenic, metals, fibres and dusts. Asbestos (chrysotile, amosite, crocidolite, tremolite, actinolite and anthophyllite). International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France, pp 219–309
- National Toxicology Program (2011) Report on carcinogens, 12th edn. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/roc/twelfth/ roc12.pdf. Accessed 6 May 2013
- 23. Donaldson K, Murphy FA, Duffin R et al (2010) Asbestos, carbon nanotubes and the pleural mesothelium: a review of the hypothesis regarding the role of long fibre retention in the parietal pleura, inflammation and mesothelioma. http://www.particleandfibretoxicology.com/content/7/1/5. Accessed 15 May 2013
- Schlesinger RB, Ben-Jebria A, Dahl AR et al (1997) Deposition of inhaled toxicants. In: Massaro EL (ed) Handbook of human toxicology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 493–550
- Bernstein D, Dunnigan J, Hesterberg T et al (2013) Health risk of chrysotile revisited. Crit Rev Toxicol 43:154–183
- 26. Lund LG, Aust AE (1991) Iron-catalyzed reactions may be responsible for the biochemical and biological effects of asbestos. Biofactors 3:83–89
- Berman DW, Crump KS (2008) A meta-analysis of asbestos-related cancer risk that addresses fiber size and mineral type. Crit Rev Toxicol 38(S1):49–73
- Case BW, Abraham JL, Meeker G et al (2011) Applying definitions of "asbestos" to environmental and "low-dose" exposure levels and health effects, particularly malignant mesothelioma. J Toxicol Environ Health 14:3–39
- McDonald JC, Armstrong BG, Edwards CW et al (2001) Case-referent survey of young adults with mesothelioma: I. Lung fibre analysis. Ann Occup Hyg 45:513–518
- Churg A, Wright JL (1994) Persistence of natural mineral fibers in human lungs: an overview. Environ Health Perspect 102(suppl 5):229–233
- 31. Warheit DB, Snajdr SI, Hartsky MA et al (1997) Lung proliferative and clearance responses to inhaled para-aramid RFP in exposed hamsters and rats: comparisons with chrysotile asbestos fibers. Environ Health Perspect 105(suppl 5):1219–1222
- 32. Roggli VL, Vollmer RT, Butnor KJ et al (2002) Tremolite and mesothelioma. Ann Occup Hyg 46:447–453
- McDonald AD, Case BW, Churg A et al (1997) Mesothelioma in Quebec chrysotile miners and millers: epidemiology and aetiology. Ann Occup Hyg 41:707–719
- Hodgson JT, Darnton A (2000) The quantitative risks for mesothelioma and lung cancer in relation to asbestos exposure. Ann Occup Hyg 44:565–601
- 35. Stanton MF, Layard M, Tigeris A et al (1981) Relation of particle dimension to carcinogenicity in amphibole asbestoses and other fibrous minerals. J Natl Cancer Inst 67:965–967
- 36. Loomis D, Dement JM, Elliott L et al (2012) Increased lung cancer mortality among chrysotile asbestos textile workers is more strongly associated with exposure to long thin fibers. Occup Environ Med 69:564–568
- 37. Churg A, Stevens B (1995) Enhanced retention of asbestos fibers in the airways of human smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151:1409–1413
- Adib G, Labreche F, DeGuire L et al (2013) Short, fine and WHO fibers in the lungs of Quebec workers with an asbestos-related disease. Am J Ind Med. doi:10.1002/ajim22180

- Becklake MR, Case BW (1994) Fibre burden and asbestos-related lung disease: determinants of dose–response relationships. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 150:1488–1492
- 40. Olofsson K, Mark J (1989) Specificity of asbestos-induced chromosomal aberrations in shortterm cultured human mesothelial cells. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 41:33–39
- Mossman BT, Churg A (1998) Mechanisms in the pathogenesis of asbestosis and silicosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:1666–1680
- 42. Banks DE, Shi R, McLarty J et al (2009) American College of Chest Physicians consensus statement on the respiratory health effects of asbestos: results of a Delphi study. Chest 135:1619–1627
- Muller NL, Miller RR (1990) Computed tomography of chronic diffuse infiltrative lung disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 142(1206–1215):1440–1448
- 44. Staples CA (1992) Computed tomography in the evaluation of benign asbestos-related disease. Radiol Clin North Am 30:1191–1207
- 45. Roggli VL, Gibbs AR, Attanoos R et al (2010) Pathology of asbestosis—an update of the diagnostic criteria. Report of the Asbestosis Committee of the College of American Pathologists and Pulmonary Pathology Society. Arch Pathol Lab Med 134:462–480
- 46. Quinlan TR, Marsh JP, Janssen YMW et al (1994) Dose responsive increases in pulmonary fibrosis after inhalation of asbestos. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 150:200–206
- 47. Donaldson K, Poland CA (2012) Inhaled nanoparticles and lung cancer—what we can learn from conventional particle toxicology. Swiss Med Wkly 142:w13547
- Chang L-Y, Overby LH, Brody AR et al (1988) Progressive lung cell reactions and extracellular matrix production after a brief exposure to asbestos. Am J Pathol 131:156–170
- 49. Brody AR, Overby LH (1989) Incorporation of tritiated thymidine by epithelial and interstitial cells in the broncho-alveolar regions of asbestos-exposed rats. Am J Pathol 134:133–140
- Liu G, Cheresh P, Kamp DW (2013) Molecular basis of asbestos-induced lung disease. Annu Rev Pathol 8:161–187
- 51. Jannsen YMW, Marsh JP, Driscoll KE et al (1994) Increased expression of manganesecontaining superoxide dismutase in rat lungs after inhalation of inflammatory and fibrogenic minerals. Free Radic Biol Med 16:315–322
- 52. Levis J, Loi R, Butnor KJ et al (2008) Decreased asbestos-induced lung inflammation and fibrosis after radiation and bone marrow transplantation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 38:16–25
- 53. Miserochi G, Sancini S, Mantegazza F et al (2008) Translocation pathways for inhaled asbestos fibers. Environ Health 7:4. http://www.ehjournal.net/content/7/1/4. Accessed 15 October 2011
- 54. Miller J, Shulka A (2012) The role of inflammation in development and therapy in malignant mesothelioma. Am Med J 3:240–248
- Oberdorster G, Morrow PE, Spurny K (1988) Size dependent lymphatic short term clearance of amosite fibers in the lung. Ann Occup Hyg 32(inhaled particles VI):149–156
- Dodson RF, O'Sullivan MF, Huang J et al (2000) Asbestos in extrapulmonary sites: omentum and mesentery. Chest 117:486–493
- 57. Warnock ML, Wolery G (1987) Asbestos bodies or fibers and the diagnosis of asbestosis. Environ Res 44:29–44
- Huang SXL, Partridge MA, Ghandhi SA et al (2012) Mitochondria-derived reactive intermediate species mediate asbestos-induced genotoxicity and oxidative stress-responsive signaling pathways. Environ Health Perspect 120:840–847
- Liu W, Ernst JD, Broaddus VC (2000) Phagocytosis of crocidolite asbestos induces oxidative stress, DNA damage, and apoptosis in mesothelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 23(3):371–378
- 60. Yang H, Bocchetta M, Kroczynska B et al (2013) TNF-alpha inhibits asbestos-induced cytotoxicity via a NF-KB-dependent pathway, a possible mechanism for asbestos-induced oncogenesis. www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0604008103. Accessed 22 June 2013
- Galffy G, Mohammed KA, Dowling PA et al (1999) Interleukin-8: an autocrine growth factor for malignant mesothelioma. Cancer Res 59:367–371

- Simeonova PP, Toriumi W, Kommineni C et al (1997) Molecular regulation of IL-6 activation by asbestos in lung epithelial cells: role of reactive oxygen species. J Immunol 159: 3921–3928
- Murthy S, Adamcakova-Dodd A, Perry SS et al (2009) Modulation of reactive oxygen species by Rac1 or catalase prevents asbestos-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297:846–855
- 64. Murthy S, Ryan A, He C, Mallampalli RK et al (2010) Rac1-mediated mitochondrial H_2O_2 generation regulates MMP-9 gene expression in macrophages via inhibition of SP-1 and AP-1. J Biol Chem 285:25062–25073
- 65. He C, Murthy S, McCormick ML et al (2011) Mitochondrial Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase mediates pulmonary fibrosis by augmenting H_2O_2 generation. J Biol Chem 286(15): 597–607
- 66. Osborn-Heaford HL, Ryan AJ, Murthy S et al (2012) Mitochondrial Rac1 import and electron transfer from cytochrome c is required for pulmonary fibrosis. J Biol Chem 287:3301–3312
- 67. Kamp DW (2009) Asbestos-induced lung diseases: an update. Transl Res 153(4):143-152
- Liu G, Beri R, Mueller A, Kamp DW (2010) Molecular mechanisms of asbestos-induced lung epithelial cell apoptosis. Chem Biol Interact 188:309–318
- Brady CA, Jiang D, Mello SS, Johnson TM, Jarvis LA et al (2011) Distinct p53 transcriptional programs dictate acute DNA-damage responses and tumor suppression. Cell 145:571–583
- Jaurand MC (1997) Mechanisms of fiber-induced genotoxicity. Environ Health Perspect 105(suppl 5):1073–1084
- Jones RN, Hughes JM, Weill H (1996) Asbestos exposure, asbestosis, and asbestos-attributable lung cancer. Thorax 51(suppl 2):S9–S15
- 72. Kipen HM, Lilis R, Suzuki Y et al (1987) Pulmonary fibrosis in asbestos insulation workers with lung cancer: a radiological and histopathological evaluation. Br J Ind Med 44:96–100
- Upadhyay D, Kamp DW (2003) Asbestos-induced pulmonary toxicity: role of DNA damage and apoptosis. Exp Biol Med 228:650–659
- 74. Davis JM, Cowie HA (1990) The relationship between fibrosis and cancer in experimental animals exposed to asbestos and other fibers. Environ Health Perspect 88:305–309
- 75. Quinlan TR, Berube KA, Hacker MP et al (1998) Mechanisms of asbestos-induced nitric oxide production by rat alveolar macrophages in inhalation and in vitro models. Free Radic Biol Med 24(5):778–788
- 76. Matsuzaki H, Maeda M, Lee S et al (2012) Asbestos-induced cellular and molecular alteration of immunocompetent cells and their relationship with chronic inflammation and carcinogenesis. J Biomed Biotechnol Article ID 492608, 9p
- Heintz NH, Janssen-Heininger YMW, Mossman BT (2010) Asbestos, lung cancers, and mesotheliomas from molecular approaches to targeting tumor survival pathways. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 42:133–139
- Mossman BT, Kamp DW, Weitzman SA (1996) Mechanisms of carcinogenesis and clinical features of asbestos-associated cancers. Cancer Invest 14(5):466–480
- Nelson HH, Kelsey KT (2002) The molecular epidemiology of asbestos and tobacco in lung cancer. Oncogene 21:7284–7288
- Lee PN (2001) Relation between exposure to asbestos and smoking jointly and the risk of lung cancer. Occup Environ Med 58:145–153
- Borish ET, Cosgrove JP, Church DF et al (1985) Cigarette tar causes single-strand breaks in DNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 133:780–786
- Kamp DW, Weitzman SA (1999) The molecular basis of asbestos induced lung injury. Thorax 54(7):638–652
- Kamp DW, Graceffa P, Pryor WA et al (1992) The role of free radicals in asbestos-induced diseases. Free Radic Biol Med 12(4):293–315
- 84. Nelson A, Mendoza T, Hoyle GW et al (2001) Enhancement of fibrogenesis by the p53 tumor suppressor protein in asbestos-exposed rodents. Chest 120(1 suppl):33S
- Mossman BT, Faux S, Janssen Y et al (1997) Cell signaling pathways elicited by asbestos. Environ Health Perspect 105:1121–1125

- Mishra A, Liu J-Y, Brody AR et al (1997) Inhaled asbestos fibers induce p53 expression in the rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 16:479–485
- Paakko P, Ramet M, Vahakangas K et al (1998) Crocidolite asbestos causes an induction of p53 and apoptosis in cultured A549 lung carcinoma cells. Apoptosis 3:203–212
- Nymark P, Lindholm PM, Korpela MV, Lahti L, Ruosaari S et al (2007) Gene expression profiles in asbestos-exposed epithelial and mesothelial cell lines. BMC Genomics 8:1–17

Chapter 13 Oxidative Stress and Respiratory Muscle Dysfunction

Kazuto Matsunaga

Abbreviations

AP-1	Activator protein-1
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CMV	Controlled mechanical ventilation
FEV1	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second
HSP	Heat shock protein
MAP kinase	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteases
NFκB	Nuclear factor κ-B pathways
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SOD	Superoxide dismutase

13.1 Respiratory Muscles

The respiratory muscles are the mechanical effectors of the breathing system. They are often divided into three major groups: (1) the inspiratory muscles, (2) the expiratory muscles, and (3) the accessory muscles of respiration. The muscles that maintain the patency of the upper airway during the respiratory cycle are sometimes also considered muscles of respiration.

K. Matsunaga, M.D., Ph.D. (🖂)

Third Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Wakayama Medical University, 811-1 Kimiidera, Wakayama 641-8509, Japan e-mail: kazmatsu@wakayama-med.ac.jp

The diaphragm is the major muscle of inspiration and accounts for approximately 70 % of the inhaled tidal volume in the normal individuals [1]. At functional residual capacity, the diaphragm lies within the chest with a zone of apposition along the chest wall. At total lung capacity, the contracted diaphragm displaces abdominal contents and expands the ribs (chest wall) outward. The innervation of the diaphragm is via the phrenic nerve that originates from cervical nerve roots. The intercostal muscles are thin sheets of muscular fibers that run between the ribs in the costal spaces [2]. There are two sheets of muscle fibers, the external and internal intercostals. The external intercostals function to expand the rib cage during inspiration. The internal intercostals are deeper and function to decrease rib cage size during expiration. Innervation of the intercostalis is via the intercostal nerves originating from the thoracic spine nerve roots. The abdominal muscles (rectus abdominis, internal oblique, external oblique, and transversus abdominis) also serve functions in respiration that mainly assist expiration. The internal and external obliques and transversus abdominis result in an inward movement of the abdominal wall that displaces the diaphragm upward into the thoracic cavity and assists exhalation. The abdominal muscles may also play a minor role in inspiration [3]. If their contraction reduces lung volume below function residual capacity, abdominal muscles can store elastic recoil in the chest wall that assists expansion of the chest wall during the next inspiration.

The accessary muscles of respiration (sternocleidomastoid, scalenes, trapezii, latissimus dorsi, platysma, and pectoralis major and minor muscles) can expand the rib cage and assist inspiration during situations of increased ventilator damaged such as during exercise or during circumstances in which other inspiratory muscles are impaired as in tetraplegia or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). It is now clear that some of them function during quiet tidal breathing [4]. The muscles of the upper airways are also considered to be muscles of respiration because they maintain the patency of the upper airway and allow air to flow into and out of the lungs [5]. Some of these also participate in protection of the lower airway during swallowing, a key function in the defense of the respiratory systems.

13.2 Diseases Affecting Respiratory Muscle Dysfunction

The diaphragm is the major muscle of inspiration. It is a dome-shaped structure composed of two muscular leaflets attached to a central tendinous dome. Diaphragm weakness or paralysis can involve either one of the diaphragm leaflets or both. Unilateral diaphragm paralysis is most commonly due to injury to the phrenic nerve. Bilateral disease is most commonly due to diffuse muscle or motor neuron disease such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS).

Muscle atrophy is present in numerous pathologies such as cancer, sepsis, collagen disease, and diabetes [6, 7]. Moreover, muscle atrophy can also occur in the absence of disease during prolonged periods of reduced muscle activity [8]. Indeed, it is well established that prolonged bed rest, limb immobilization, or

Neuropathic causes	Myopathic causes
Trauma	Muscular dystrophies
Cardiac or thoracic surgery	Limb girdle
Spinal cord injury	Duchenne and Becker
Radiation injury	Metabolic myopathies
Lung cancer	Hyper- or hypothyroidism
Mediastinal tumor	Acid maltase deficiency
Metabolic	Collagen disease
Diabetes	Systemic lupus erythematosus
Vitamin deficiency (B6, B12, folate)	Dermatomyositis
Inflammatory neuritis	Mixed connective tissue disease
Idiopathic	Miscellaneous
Vasculitis	Amyloidosis
Miscellaneous	Malnutrition
Cervical spondylosis	Mechanical ventilation
Poliomyelitis	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	Idiopathic

Table 13.1 Major causes of respiratory muscle dysfunction

diaphragm inactivity via mechanical ventilation can produce muscle atrophy in humans. Increasing evidence indicates that COPD is a complex systemic disease involving more than airflow obstruction [9]. Even though the mechanisms of muscle dysfunction in COPD are still poorly understood, data from human studies clearly indicate that atrophy of skeletal muscles is apparent in COPD [10]. Furthermore, these abnormalities are related to respiratory function, exercise intolerance, quality of life, mortality, and health care resource utilization [11]. Major causes of respiratory muscle dysfunction are listed in Table 13.1.

13.3 Mechanisms of Muscle Atrophy

13.3.1 Models of Muscle Atrophy

Skeletal muscle accounts for 40–50 % of the total body mass in a male with normal body weight. Skeletal muscle turnover is a dynamic process balancing protein synthesis and breakdown. However, many acute and chronic illnesses cause the loss of muscle mass due to net breakdown of muscle proteins [12]. To investigate the mechanisms responsible for muscle atrophy in humans, several animal models have been developed to mimic the various conditions that produce human disuse muscle atrophy [8, 13–18]. Using the rat hindlimb suspension and limb immobilization models, it has been demonstrated that disuse muscle atrophy occurs due to both a decrease in muscle protein synthesis and an increase in the rate of proteolysis [13, 14]. In the hindlimb suspension model, the rate of protein synthesis declines rapidly after



Fig. 13.1 Simplified overview of the proteolytic degradation of myofilaments during disuse muscle atrophy

the onset of muscle unloading [14]. Moreover, the decrease in protein synthesis is followed by a large and rapid increase in proteolysis [8]. These data indicate that a reduction in the activity of skeletal muscle negatively influences muscle mass via alterations in the rates of protein synthesis and degradation that lead to disuse muscle atrophy. Another model used to investigate muscle atrophy is controlled mechanical ventilation (CMV) that unloads the diaphragm. Several animal studies reported that prolonged CMV results in a rapid onset of diaphragmatic fiber atrophy [15–18]. CMV-induced muscle atrophy also occurs as a result of both decreased protein synthesis and elevated proteolysis [17, 18]. Importantly, it is accepted that ventilator-induced diaphragmatic weakness contributes to difficult weaning from CMV.

13.3.2 Proteolytic Pathways in Skeletal Muscles

Several proteolytic systems are involved in the degradation of muscle proteins [12] (Fig. 13.1). The most investigated proteases in skeletal muscles are lysosomal proteases (e.g., calpain) and the proteasome system. Although lysosomal proteases are activated in skeletal muscle causing disuse atrophy, the importance of these proteases appears limited [19, 20]. By contrast, there is evidence that strongly suggests that both calpain and the ubiquitin-proteasome pathways are involved in the muscle protein degradation during muscle atrophy [19, 20]. Moreover, another protease,

caspase-3, may play an important role in atrophy of muscle fibers [21]. The bulk of muscle proteins (50–70 %) exist in actomyosin complexes [22]. While the proteasome system can degrade monomeric contractile proteins such as actin and myosin, this protease does not degrade intact actomyosin complexes [23]. Thus, myofilaments must be released from the sarcomere as monomeric proteins before degradation by proteasome pathways [22, 24]. There is evidence showing that both calpain and caspase-3 are capable of inducing a dissociation of the myofilaments [21–23]. Therefore, activation of one or both of these proteases is required to achieve proteolytic degradation of myofilamants during disuse muscle atrophy (Fig. 13.1).

Calpain is a Ca²⁺-dependent cysteine protease that is activated during periods of muscle inactivity [23]. Calpain releases sarcomeric proteins by cleaving cytoskeletal proteins (e.g., titin, nebulin) that anchor the contractile elements [20, 25]. Calpain activity is regulated by the cytosolic calcium levels and the concentration of the endogenous calpain inhibitor calpastatin [23]. It has been argued that oxidative stress could play an important role in cytosolic calcium concentration elevations induced by reduced muscle activity [26]. A biological explanation for this thesis is that the oxidant-induced formation of reactive aldehydes reduces the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase activity [27]. This would retard Ca²⁺ removal from the cell and promote intracellular Ca²⁺ accumulation. Nonetheless, it remains unknown whether this mechanism is solely responsible for the calcium overload in muscle cells mediated by reduced muscle activity.

Caspases are endoproteases that degrade proteins and sometimes cause programmed cell death [28]. In the cell, caspases are expressed as inactive precursors, and activation of caspases can result in events leading to protein breakdown and apoptosis. Recent evidence suggests that caspase-3 may play an important role in muscle protein degradation [21, 29]. Specifically, the activation of caspase-3 promotes the degradation of actomyosin complexes, and the inhibition of caspase-3 activity suppresses the rate of proteolysis [21]. In the case of diabetes-induced muscle atrophy, it seems possible that caspase-3 is activated by the activation of caspase-12 (via a calcium release pathway) and/or activation of caspase-9 (via a mitochondrial pathway) [21]. A key interaction between these caspase-3 activation pathways is that both of these types of signaling can be activated by reactive oxygen species (ROS) [28]. Oxidative stress can promote the activation of the calcium release pathway that activates caspase-3 by increased cellular calcium. Calpain activation can also contribute to caspase-3 activation via this calcium-mediated pathway [30]. The mitochondrial pathway of caspase-3 activation is complex, but ROS can lead to mitochondrial release of cytochrome C, resulting in the activation of caspase-9 and subsequent activation of caspase-3 [31]. It is noteworthy that calpastain is a substrate for both caspase-3 and calpain. Therefore, an increase in caspase-3 or calpain activity reduces the calpastain levels in cells and promotes calpain activation [21, 23]. The interactions between the calpain and caspase-3 proteolytic system could play an important role in the regulation of myofilament release in skeletal muscle during periods of muscle inactivity.

In the proteasome system of proteolysis, protein can be degraded by either the 20S core proteasome or the 26S proteasome [32–34]. This pathway plays an important role in ATP-dependent degradation of ubiquitinated proteins [35].

Moreover, there is evidence that the 20S core proteasome can selectively degrade oxidative-stress modified proteins without ubiquitination [32, 33]. The binding of ubiquitin to protein substrates requires the ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1), specific ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2) and, in many cases, specific ubiquitin protein ligase enzymes (E3). Prior studies reveal that the specific ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme $E2_{14K}$ is a regulator of skeletal muscle ubiquitin-protein conjugation. $E2_{14K}$ interacts with a specific E3 ligase to promote muscle wasting in a variety of catabolic states [36]. Moreover, two ubiquitin E3 ligases, atrogin1 and muscle ring finger-1, have been discovered in skeletal muscle [37, 38]. Importantly, ROS has been shown to up-regulate the gene expression of these key proteasome components [36].

13.3.3 Oxidant Production in Inactive Muscles

It is well established that oxidative stress occurs when oxidant production in skeletal muscles exceeds the antioxidant capacity to buffer oxidants [12, 39]. There is much evidence that oxidative injury occurs during periods of disuse in locomotor skeletal muscles [26, 40–42] and in the unloaded diaphragm during mechanical ventilation [18, 43]. At present, it seems plausible that oxidative stress in inactive muscles may be due to the interaction of at least five different oxidant production pathways: (1) xanthine oxidase (XO) pathway; (2) nitric oxide synthase (NOS); (3) increased cellular levels of reactive iron; (4) NADPH oxidase; and (5) mitochondrial production of superoxide radicals [40].

XO is produced in cells via sulfhydryl oxidation or proteolysis of xanthine dehydrogenase by calcium-activated proteases such as calpain [44]. In the presence of oxygen and purine substances, XO catalyzes the formation of superoxide radicals and uric acid. Superoxide produced by the XO pathway can react with nitric oxide (NO) to form the highly reactive and biologically damaging peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) [45]. The production of peroxynitrite and other reactive nitrogen species (RNS) is related to cellular injury due to increased lipid peroxidation and nitrosylation of proteins [46]. NO is synthesized from the amino acid L-arginine by many cell types. Synthesis occurs through NOS of three main types: neuronal NOS (NOS1), which was originally found in neural tissue but is also present in most cell types; endothelial NOS (NOS3), originally described in endothelial cells; and inducible NOS (NOS2) that is predominantly found in inflammatory conditions, but is now recognized to be more widespread. The NOS convert L-arginine into NO and L-citrulline utilizing NADPH. Both NOS1 and NOS3 are calcium activated, and these synthases are expressed in skeletal muscle. There is evidence that NOS activity is increased in immobilized skeletal muscles, resulting in the increased production of NO [40]. In addition, both H_2O_2 and superoxide radicals are capable of promoting the release of iron from ferritin [45]. In reference to iron-mediated oxidant stress in skeletal muscle, immobilization of the rat soleus muscle has been shown to promote

increases in the total muscle iron levels [47, 48]. This increase in muscle iron was related to elevated lipid peroxidation in the immobilized muscles [47]. There is recent evidence of a nonphagocytic and nonmitochondrial NADPH oxidase is found in human skeletal muscle [49]. Numerous factors can increase the NADPH oxidase activity in cells, including the calcium-sensitive protein kinase C-ERK1/2 pathway [49]. Because muscle inactivity results in an increase in intracellular calcium concentration, it seems plausible that the NADPH oxidase activity would increase the superoxide production. However, it is uncertain whether muscle inactivity results in an increased NADPH oxidase activity. It has been estimated that, at physiological levels, 1–3 % of the total oxygen reduced in the mitochondria may form superoxide radicals [45]. In skeletal muscle, mitochondrial production of ROS is greatest during heavy muscle exercise when the ATP requirement is high. In contrast, the mitochondrial-mediated production of ROS is at a low level during periods of reduced muscle activity [50]. These data indicate that mitochondrial contributions to disuse-mediated oxidative injury in skeletal muscle would be minimal.

13.3.4 Antioxidant Defense Systems

Both enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidants protect muscle fibers from oxidative injury during periods of increased ROS production [51]. The principal antioxidant enzymes include superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase, and catalase. Additional antioxidant enzymes such as peroxiredoxin, glutareoxin, and thioredoxin reductase also contribute to cellular protection against oxidation. In addition, numerous nonenzymatic antioxidants exist in cells (e.g., glutathione, uric acid, bilirubin) [51]. ROS can act through several different pathways of signaling transduction. According to Allen and Tresini, almost half of the ROS effects reported involve members of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAP kinase) and nuclear factor κ -B (NF κ B) pathways [52], but the effects are not limited to these processes. Recently, Jin et al. studied the role of the ROS activation of NF κ B and MAP kinases in the adaptations of muscle cells to oxidative stress and concluded that these pathways are critical cellular responses for maintaining muscle homeostasis through up-regulation of the expression of antioxidant enzymes and other cytoprotective proteins [53]. A single isometric contraction protocol in mouse muscle, which had been shown to increase muscle ROS generation, also increases the activity of muscle antioxidant defense enzymes such as SOD and catalase together with heat shock protein (HSP) 60 and HSP70 content [54], changes which were replicated in studies of human muscle [55]. Supplementation with vitamin C or other antioxidants reduced these adaptive responses, supporting that these adaptations of muscle cells were regulated by ROS [56, 57]. Although many transcription factors are redox sensitive, NF κ B and activator protein-1 (AP-1) are now considered to be key factors in the up-regulation of antioxidant enzymes such as SOD and catalase in response to oxidative stress [53, 58, 59].

13.4 Links Between Oxidative Stress and Muscle Atrophy

Several lines of evidence suggest that oxidative stress in inactive skeletal muscle contributes to muscle atrophy. Kondo et al. revealed that immobilization of skeletal muscles is associated with increased ROS production resulting in oxidative injury in inactive muscle fibers and that disuse muscle atrophy could be retarded via antioxidants [48]. This is the first evidence showing that oxidants play a signaling role in the regulation of disuse muscle atrophy. They treated rats with the lipid-soluble antioxidant vitamin-E, which reduced immobilization-induced muscle atrophy [40]. Appel et al. confirmed the ability of vitamin-E to diminish disuse muscle atrophy [60]. Furthermore, the prevention of oxidant stress through the administration of the antioxidant cysteine effectively suppressed protein ubiquitination and myosin heavy chain fragmentation in the gastrocnemius muscle after hindlimb suspension [61]. Importantly, these experiments demonstrated that maintenance of the muscle redox status attenuated the disuse muscle atrophy [61]. However, it should be noted that not all antioxidant interventions are capable of retarding disuse muscle atrophy. Koesterer et al. demonstrated that muscle protein oxidation, indicated by an increased level of protein carbonyls, was associated with hindlimb in rats [62]. Although in vitro experiments demonstrated antioxidant protection against lipid peroxidation induced by different radical-generating systems, the antioxidant supplementation did not attenuate the disuse muscle atrophy associated with hindlimb [62]. Several lines of evidence link ROS to disuse muscle atrophy via the redox control of proteolysis. However, it is still uncertain which ROS pathways are responsible for oxidant production in unloaded skeletal muscles. Although evidence exists that antioxidants can retard muscle atrophy, it is unclear if oxidant production is an absolute requirement for muscle atrophy or simply contributes to the rate of muscle atrophy.

13.5 Mechanical Ventilation and Respiratory Muscle Dysfunction

Mechanical ventilation is a critical component of intensive care medicine. Respiratory failure, neuromuscular diseases, drug overdose, and recovery from general anesthetics are common indications for the use of mechanical ventilation. Clinical problems in weaning patients after prolonged mechanical ventilation have been reported in a large number of individuals, and it is postulated that a common cause of difficult weaning is diaphragmatic force and endurance deficits [63, 64]. Several animal studies have shown that mechanical ventilation for prolonged periods is associated with diaphragmatic atrophy and contractile dysfunction [15–18]. Moreover, several lines of evidence suggest that an increase in protein oxidation is involved in the mechanical ventilation-induced diaphragm atrophy. Shanely et al. have reported that CMV results in increased oxidized proteins in the diaphragm, as indicated by elevated protein carbonyls [17, 18]. A more recent study showed that

CMV-induced oxidative injury does not occur rapidly after the onset of CMV, but is present after 6 h of CMV [43]. CMV-induced protein oxidation was evidenced by insoluble proteins in the diaphragm with molecular masses of 40 and 200 kDa. This work postulated that diaphragmatic actin (40 kDa) and myosin (200 kDa) are strong candidates for oxidation during CMV [43]. In humans, Levine et al. obtained biopsy specimens from the costal diaphragms of 14 brain dead organ donors before organ harvest (case subjects) and compared them with intraoperative biopsy specimens from the diaphragms of eight patients who were undergoing lung surgery (control subjects) [29]. The case subjects had diaphragmatic inactivity and underwent MV for 18–69 h; among the control subjects the diaphragmatic inactivity and MV were limited to 2–3 h. As compared with the diaphragm-biopsy specimens from controls, specimens from the case subjects showed decreased cross-sectional areas of slowtwitch and fast-twitch muscle fibers of the diaphragm [29]. Furthermore, in the case subjects, the decrease in the diaphragmatic glutathione concentration was consistent with oxidative stress, and the increase in active caspase-3 suggested an increased rate of protein release from the myofibrillar lattice within the diaphragm [29].

In critically ill patients undergoing long-term CMV, there are multiple deleterious changes in the human diaphragm, including decreased force-generating capacity, muscle fiber injury, muscle atrophy, and increased expression of ubiquitinated proteins, Nf- κ B, and calpain isoforms, all of which have been previously implicated in different aspects of skeletal muscle injury and atrophy responses [65]. Furthermore, this work also showed that the degree of diaphragmatic atrophy was directly proportional to the length of CMV [65]. Collectively, these studies strongly suggest that diaphragmatic dysfunction, injury, and atrophy occur rapidly in critically ill patients during CMV. These findings are consistent with increased diaphragmatic proteolysis during muscle inactivity.

13.6 COPD and Respiratory Muscle Dysfunction

Skeletal muscle dysfunction is of particular interest in COPD. It directly influences exercise performance [66], is associated with poor health status [67] and is an independent predictor of health care utilization [68] and mortality [69]. COPD is a disease characterized by a usually progressive airflow limitation that is not fully reversible, and has potentially significant extra-pulmonary effects [70]. Although a disease of the lungs, extra-pulmonary features of COPD are increasingly recognized as important contributors to morbidity and mortality [71]. Furthermore, the respiratory muscle function plays a key role in the pathogenesis of breathlessness [72] and the maximum inspiratory pressure is an independent predictor of survival in severe disease [73]. Although the muscle dysfunction in COPD patients is characterized by a significant reduction in muscle strength and endurance, cross-sectional studies have revealed that the muscle dysfunction in COPD is complicated, comprising muscle atrophy, fiber type shift, and loss of capillary density. The most commonly studied skeletal muscles are the quadriceps and the diaphragm.

13.6.1 Muscle Dysfunction in COPD

Compared with healthy controls, the quadriceps femoris muscle strength is reduced by about 20–30 % in patients with COPD [66, 74–77]. The degree of the reduction in limb muscle strength correlates with the severity of the disease process [74]. A marked increase in susceptibility to fatigue is also observed, with a more rapid decline in performance during continuous [78, 79] or repeated bouts of exercise [80, 81]. Reduced quadriceps strength in patients with moderate COPD could lead to poor exercise performance, increased dyspnea and worsening quality of life [66]. Furthermore, relatively low quadriceps strength is a powerful predictor of mortality in severe COPD patients [69].

Quadriceps strength improves significantly after pulmonary rehabilitation [82], but did not improve after treatment with bronchodilators in patients with COPD [83, 84]. Concerning the ventilatory muscles, the maximal strength of the diaphragm muscle, as measured by the maximal transdiaphragmatic pressure (Pdimax), remains about 30–40 % lower in COPD patients as compared with control subjects [85, 86]. Also, the inspiratory muscle strength in patients with severe COPD, as measured by the maximal inspiratory pressure, was an average of 59 % of that measured in control subjects [87]. The inspiratory muscle strength is more severely reduced than that of the expiratory muscle, and proximal upper muscle strength is more impaired than distal upper limb strength in patients with moderate COPD [87]. The reduction of arm strength is milder than that of leg strength [77]. The possible reason for these differences is that the ventilatory muscles, especially the diaphragm, have workloads different from the lower limb muscles because they are in a chronically overloaded state due to the increased work of breathing by airflow obstruction and hyperinflation.

The endurance of limb muscles is attenuated by about 30 % in patients with moderate COPD and the poor muscle endurance in such patients correlates positively with the physical activity index, forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1), and resting partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood (PaO₂) [88, 89]. The reduction of quadriceps muscle endurance in COPD patients has been confirmed using artificial stimulation protocols [90], and is related to the reduced oxidative capacity of the mitochondria and to the development of oxidative stress in the muscle [78].

The reduction in strength can largely be explained by a comparable reduction in the quadriceps cross-sectional area and fat-free mass independent of the airflow obstruction and COPD subtype [74, 91–95]. The magnitude of this loss of mass is greater than that of the whole body weight, which indicates that the loss of muscle tissue precedes the loss of other body tissues in COPD patients [74]. When the limb muscle strength is normalized per cross-sectional area or mass, no differences can be observed between COPD patients and control subjects [74, 91, 96, 97], which indicates that muscle atrophy seems to be the sole cause of the reduced limb muscle strength and endurance in COPD patients. However, when the peak torque, isometric strength, and total work of the leg muscle mass are analyzed, greater muscle mass is needed to generate a given functional output in COPD patients than in

control subjects [98]. The quadriceps twitch force was significantly decreased in severe patients with COPD compared to that in control subjects [99]. The quadriceps muscle twitch force falls more rapidly in COPD patients than in control subjects even when the exercise is performed with similar oxygen consumption conditions, which suggests that the limb muscles of COPD patients are more fatigable than those of healthy individuals. These results suggest that factors other than atrophy might play a role in skeletal muscle dysfunction in COPD patients [98].

Less is known about changes in single diaphragm fibers, and debate exists as to whether their force-generating capacity is altered. Some studies reported no change in fiber size [100], while others observed selective atrophy of type I fibers [101]. The fiber type of quadriceps muscles undergoes redistribution from type I (slowtwitch oxidative) fibers to type IIb (fast twitch glycolytic) fibers in severe COPD patients. The type I fiber proportion declines by 20 %, whereas the proportion of type IIb fibers increases by 10 % in patients with severe COPD [102]. Although the exact functional consequences of this fiber type redistribution remain unclear, the fact that type II fibers are fatigue-prone suggests that an increased proportion of type II fibers might be an important factor in increased leg muscle fatigability and reduced endurance. These shifts in fiber from type I to type II were also observed in vastus lateralis muscles in patients with severe COPD [103], and the proportion of type I fibers correlates with FEV1, FEV1/FVC, and the BMI in patients with moderate to severe COPD [104]. In contrast, the proportion of type I fibers was increased and that of type II fibers was decreased in diaphragm muscles. The overall proportion of type I fibers was increased 20-50 %, and the increase was closely related to lung hyperinflation [105, 106]. The shift in fiber type from type II to type I is also seen in the parasternal intercostal muscles of patients with severe COPD [107]. Functionally, shoulder girdle muscle (pectoralis major and latissimus dorsi) strength and abdominal strength are preserved relative to the quadriceps [74, 76], presumably due to the additional activity of expiratory muscles in COPD and the disuse and deconditioning of quadriceps muscle [76].

Capillary density in peripheral muscles is reduced in patients with COPD [108]. The number of contacts between capillaries and fibers is also reduced [102, 108]. As pulmonary rehabilitation in patients with COPD is associated with an increase in the number of capillary fiber contacts [102], however, the reduction in the muscle capillarization was not detected after a pulmonary rehabilitation program [109].

13.6.2 Involvement of Oxidative/Nitrative Stress in COPD

Concerning the production of RNS in the airways of patients with COPD, the exhaled NO levels are much lower than in asthmatic patients and are not so different from those in healthy subjects in spite of having almost the same degree of iNOS expression in the airways as asthmatic patients [110]. In contrast, 3-nitrotyrosine formation in the sputum cells from the patients with COPD was much higher than that from asthmatic patients [110]. These findings suggest that, in the airways of



COPD, NO production might be the same as that in asthma. NO produced in the airways of COPD might be consumed by ROS such as superoxide anion resulting in the formation of RNS such as peroxynitrite.

The lung inflammation of COPD patients is further aggravated by oxidative stress and excessive proteinases in the lung. Because peroxynitrite is a powerful oxidant, it can cause an imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants. Peroxynitrite can cause the inactivation of antiprotease [111] and the activation of matrix metal-loproteinases (MMPs) [112]. These effects of peroxynitrite could also cause an imbalance in proteases/antiproteases. Peroxynitrite, but not NO, stimulates fibroblast-mediated tissue remodeling [113, 114]. Because excessive peroxynitrite is produced in the airways/lung parenchyma of COPD patients [115], RNS may be associated with the development of COPD. We have shown that 3-nitrotyrosine can be a marker of the airway inflammation in patients with COPD [116]. Furthermore, in COPD airways, low-dose theophylline significantly reduces RNS production and neutrophil infiltration in airway to a greater extent than inhaled corticosteroid (Fig. 13.2) [117].

Several studies have demonstrated that increased levels of oxidative/nitrative stress in muscle of COPD [118–122]. Oxidative stress can alter muscle contractility [39], potentially affecting muscle strength, and contribute to muscle fatigue. The administration of antioxidants improves exercise tolerance in COPD patients [123], showing a direct effect of ROS on exercise capacity in such patients. Oxidative stress can also contribute to accelerating protein breakdown [124–127] as a potential mechanism leading to muscle wasting [118, 119]. In quadriceps muscles of severe COPD, the total glutathione concentrations are lower, whereas the levels of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE) protein and lipofuscin are significantly higher than those detected in control subjects [96, 119, 127], and protein tyrosine nitration and iNOS protein are increased (Fig. 13.3) [127, 128]. Carbonyl formation and lipid peroxidation also increase in quadriceps muscles of patients with severe COPD [118].



These results suggest that exercising limb muscles might be an important source of ROS products released into the plasma of COPD patients [120]. In contrast, little is known about oxidative/nitrative stress in the diaphragm of COPD patients. In one report, carbonyl and HNE-protein adducts were significantly elevated without an increase in protein tyrosine nitration in the diaphragms of patients with severe COPD [129]. In another report, however, lipid peroxidation was not detected in the diaphragms of patients with moderate and severe COPD [130].

Although indirect evidence supports a strong role for oxidative stress in depressed skeletal muscle strength and endurance, the contribution of oxidative stress to the contractile dysfunction of diaphragm remains under investigation. The levels of uncoupling protein 3 in the skeletal muscle (UCP3) are reduced [131], particularly in the subgroup of patients with low BMI [132] and in the more oxidative fibers [133]. Moreover, the UCP3 levels correlate with the fat-free mass index in the skeletal muscle of COPD patients [132]. As UCP3 is a protein that may protect mitochondria against lipotoxicity, it might prevent ROS-induced oxidative damage in fatty acid.

13.7 Conclusions

Respiratory muscle dysfunction is an important clinical problem. Oxidative stress can contribute to accelerating muscle protein breakdown, and it can also alter muscle contractility, potentially affecting muscle strength and endurance. Importantly, a growing number of studies suggest that antioxidants can serve as therapeutic agents in delaying the rate of muscle atrophy. Further studies are required to identify the precise interactions of muscle dysfunction and oxidative stress in respiratory diseases.

Conflict of Interest Statement No potential conflicts of interest existed with any company or organization whose products or services may have been discussed in this chapter.

References

- 1. Mead J (1979) Functional significance of the area of apposition of diaphragm to rib cage. Am Rev Respir Dis 119:31–32
- 2. De Troyer A, Kelly S, Zin WA (1983) Mechanical action of the intercostal muscles act on the ribs. Science 220:87–88
- 3. De Troyer A, Sampson M, Sigrist S et al (1983) How the abdominal muscles act on the rib cage. J Appl Physiol 54:465–469
- 4. Legrand A, Schneider E, Gevenois P et al (2003) Respiratory effects of the scalene and sternomastoid muscles in humans. J Appl Physiol 94:1467–1472
- 5. Chia LG (1991) Locked-in syndrome with bilateral ventral midbrain infarcts. Neurology 41:445–446
- Hasselgren PO, Fischer JE (1997) The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway: review of a novel intracellular mechanism of muscle protein breakdown during sepsis and other catabolic conditions. Ann Surg 225:307–316
- 7. Jagoe RT, Goldberg AL (2001) What do we really know about the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in muscle atrophy? Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 4:183–190
- 8. Booth FW (1982) Effect of limb immobilization on skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 52: 1113–1118
- 9. Barnes PJ, Celli BR (2009) Systemic manifestations and comorbidities of COPD. Eur Respir J 33:1165–1185
- Gosker HR, Kubat B, Schaart G et al (2003) Myopathological features in skeletal muscle strength in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J 22:280–285
- 11. Montes de Oca M, Torres SH, Gonzalez Y et al (2006) Peripheral muscle composition and health status in patients with COPD. Respir Med 100:1800–1806
- Powers SK, Kavazis AN, DeRuisseau KC (2005) Mechanisms of disuse muscle atrophy: role of oxidative stress. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 288:337–344
- Booth FW, Seider MJ (1979) Early change in skeletal muscle protein synthesis after limb immobilization of rats. J Appl Physiol 47:974–977
- Thomason DB, Biggs RB, Booth FW (1989) Protein metabolism and beta-myosin heavychain mRNA in unweighted soleus muscle. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 257: 300–305
- 15. Gayan-Ramirez G, de Paepe K, Cadot P et al (2003) Detrimental effects of short-term mechanical ventilation on diaphragm function and IGF-1 mRNA in rats. Intensive Care Med 29:825–833
- Le Bourdelles G, Viires N, Boczkowski J et al (1994) Effects of mechanical ventilation on diaphragmatic contractile properties in rats. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149:1539–1544
- 17. Shanely RA, Zergeroglu MA, Lennon SL et al (2002) Mechanical ventilation-induced diaphragmatic atrophy is associated with oxidative injury and increased proteolytic activity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:1369–1374
- Schanely RA, Van Gammeren D, DeRuisseau KC et al (2004) Mechanical ventilation depreses protein synthesis in the rat diaphragm. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 170:994–999
- Furuno K, Goldberg AL (1986) The activation of protein degradation in muscle by Ca²⁺ or muscle injury does not involve a lysosomal mechanism. Biochem J 237:859–864
- Purintrapiban J, Wang M, Forsberg NE (2003) Degradation of sarcomeric and cytoskeletal proteins in cultured skeletal muscle cells. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 136: 393–401
- Du J, Wang X, Miereles C et al (2004) Activation of caspase-3 is an initial step triggering accelerated muscle proteolysis in catabolic conditions. J Clin Invest 113:115–123
- Tidball JG, Spencer MJ (2002) Expression of a calpastatin transgene slows muscle wasting and obviates changes in myosin isoform expression during murine muscle disuse. J Physiol 545:819–828
- 23. Goll DE, Thompson VF, Li H et al (2003) The calpain system. Physiol Rev 83:731-801

- 24. Wray CJ, Sun X, Gang GI et al (2002) Dantrolene down-regulates the gene expression and activity of the ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway in septic skeletal muscle. J Surg Res 104:82–87
- Koh TJ, Tidball JG (2000) Nitric oxide inhibits calpain-mediated proteolysis of talin in skeletal muscle cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 279:806–812
- Kondo H, Nishino K, Itokawa Y (1994) Hydroxyl radical generation in skeletal muscle atropined by immobilization. FEBS Lett 349:169–172
- Siems W, Capuozzo E, Lucano A et al (2002) High sensitivity of plasma membrane ion transport ATPases from human neutrophils towards 4-hydroxy-2,3-trans-nonenal. Life Sci 166: 1369–1374
- Primeau AJ, Adhihetty PJ, Hood DA (2002) Apoptosis in heart and skeletal muscle. Can J Appl Physiol 27:349–395
- Levine S, Nguyen T, Taylor N et al (2008) Rapid disuse atrophy of diaphragm fibers in mechanically ventilated humans. N Engl J Med 358:1327–1335
- Chen M, Won DJ, Krajewski S et al (2002) Calpain and mitochondria in ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Biol Chem 277:29181–29186
- Leeuwenburgh C (2003) Role of apoptosis in sarcopenia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 58:999–1001
- Grune T, Davies KJ (2003) The proteasomal system and HNE-modified proteins. Mol Aspects Med 24:195–204
- 33. Grune T, Merker K, Sandig G et al (2003) Selective degradation of oxidatively modified protein substances by the proteasome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 305:709–718
- Hasselgren PO, Wray C, Mammen J (2002) Molecular regulation of muscle cahexia: it may be more than the proteasome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 290:1–10
- 35. DeMaritno GN, Ordway GA (1998) Ubiquitin-proteasome pathway of intracellular protein degradation: implications for muscle atrophy during unloading. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 26: 219–252
- 36. Li YP, Chen Y, Li AS et al (2003) Hydrogen peroxide stimulates ubiquitin-conjugating activity and expression of genes for specific E2 and E3 proteins in skeletal muscle myotubes. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 285:806–812
- Bodine SC, Latres E, Baumhueter S et al (2001) Identification of ubiquitin ligases required for skeletal muscle atrophy. Science 294:1704–1708
- 38. Gomes MD, Lecker SH, Jagoe RT et al (2001) Atrogin-1, a muscle-specific F-box protein highly expressed during muscle atrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:14440–14445
- 39. Reid MB (2001) Redox modulation of skeletal muscle contraction: what we know and what we don't. J Appl Physiol 90:724–731
- Kondo H (2000) Oxidative stress in skeletal muscle atrophy. In: Chandan Sen LP, Hanninen O (eds) Handbook of oxidants and antioxidants in exercise. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 631–653
- Kondo H, Miura M, Itokawa Y (1993) Antioxidant enzyme systems in skeletal muscle atrophied by immobilization. Pflugers Arch 422:404–406
- 42. Lawler JM, Song W, Demaree SR (2003) Hindlimb unloading increases oxidative stress and disrupts antioxidant capacity in skeletal muscle. Free Radic Biol Med 35:9–16
- 43. Zergeroglu MA, McKenzie MJ, Shanely RA et al (2003) Mechanical ventilation-induced oxidative stress in the diaphragm. J Appl Physiol 95:1116–1124
- 44. Hellsten Y (2000) The role of xanthine oxidase in exercise. In: Chandan Sen LP, Hanninen O (eds) Handbook of oxidants and antioxidants in exercise. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 53–176
- 45. Halliwell B, Gutterridge J (1999) Free radicals in biology and medicine. Oxford University Press, London
- Kaminski HJ, Andrade FH (2001) Nitric oxide: biologic effects on muscle and role in muscle disease. Neuromuscul Disord 11:517–524
- Kondo H, Miura M, Kodama J et al (1992) Role of iron in oxidative stress in skeletal muscle atophied by immobilization. Pflugers Arch 421:295–297
- Kondo H, Miura M, Nakagaki I et al (1992) Trace element movement and oxidative stress in seletal muscle atrophied by immobilization. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 262:583–590

- 49. Javesghani D, Magder SA, Barreiro E et al (2002) Molecular characterization of a superoxidegenerating NAD(P)H oxidase in the ventilatory muscles. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165: 12–418
- Jackson MJ (2000) Exercise and oxygen radical production by muscle. In: Chandan Sen LP, Hanninen O (eds) Handbook of oxidants and antioxidants in exercise. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 57–68
- Powers SK, Jackson MJ (2007) Exercise-induced oxidative stress: mechanisms and impact on muscle force production. Physiol Rev 88:1243–1276
- 52. Allen RG, Tresini M (2000) Oxidative stress and gene regulation. Free Radic Biol Med 28:463–499
- 53. Ji LL (2007) Antioxidant signaling in skeletal muscle: a brief review. Exp Gerontol 42:582–593
- McArdle A, Patwell D, Vasilaki A et al (2001) Contractile activity induced oxidative stress: cellular origin and adaptive responses. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 280:621–627
- 55. Khassaf M, Child RB, McArdle A et al (2001) Time course of responses of human skeletal musvle to oxidative stress induced by nondamaging exercise. J Appl Physiol 90:1031–1035
- 56. Khassaf M, McArdle A, Esanu C et al (2003) Effect of vitamin C supplements on antioxidant defence and stress proteins in human lymphocytes and skeletal muscle. J Physiol 549: 645–652
- Jackson MJ, Khassaf M, Vasilaki A et al (2004) Vitamin E and the oxidative stress of exercise. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1031:158–168
- 58. Zhou LZ, Johnson AP, Rando TA (2001) NFκB and AP-1 mediate transcriptional responses to oxidative stress in skeletal muscle cells. Free Radic Biol Med 31:1405–1416
- 59. Jackson MJ, Papa S, Bolanos J et al (2002) Antioxidants, reactive oxygen, and nitrogen species, gene induction and mitochondrial function. Mol Aspects Med 23:209–285
- Appel HJ, Duarte JA, Soares JM (1997) Supplementation of vitamin E may attenuates skeletal muscle immobilization atrophy. Int J Sports Med 18:157–160
- Ikemoto M, Nikawa T, Kano M et al (2002) Cysteine supplementation prevents unweightindinduced ubiquitination in association with redox regulation in rat skeletal muscle. Biol Chem 383:715–721
- 62. Koesterer TJ, Dodd SL, Powers S (2002) Increased antioxidant capacity does not attenuate muscle atrophy caused by unweighting. J Appl Physiol 93:1959–1965
- Jubran A, Tobin M (1997) Pathophysiologic basis of acute respiratory distress in patients who fail a trial of weaning from mechanical ventilation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 155: 906–915
- 64. Vassilakopoulos T, Zakynthions S, Roussos C (1998) The tension-time index and the frequency/tidal volume ration are the major pathophysiologic determinants of weaning failure and success. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158:378–385
- 65. Jaber S, Petrof BJ, Jung B et al (2011) Rapidly progressive diaphragmatic weakness and injury during mechanical ventilation in humans. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183:364–371
- 66. Gosselink R, Troosters T, Decramer M (1996) Peripheral muscle weakness contributes to exercise limitation in COPD. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153:976–980
- Simpson K, Killian K, McCartney N et al (1992) Randomised controlled trial of weightlifting exercise in patients with chronic airflow limitation. Thorax 47:70–75
- Decramer M, Gosselink R, Troosters T et al (1997) Muscle weakness is related to utilization of health care resources in COPD patients. Eur Respir J 10:417–423
- 69. Swallow EB, Reyes D, Hopkinson NS et al (2007) Quadriceps strength predicts mortality in patients with moderate to severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 62:115–120
- Rabe KF, Hurd S, Anzueto A et al (2007) Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: GOLD executive summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176:532–555
- Man WD, Kemp P, Moxham J et al (2009) Exercise and muscle dysfunction in COPD: implications for pulmonary rehabilitation. Clin Sci (Lond) 117:281–291

13 Oxidative Stress and Respiratory Muscle Dysfunction

- Man WD, Mustfa N, Nikoletou D et al (2004) Effect of salmeterol on respiratory muscle activity during exercise in poorly reversible COPD. Thorax 59:471–476
- Gray-Donald K, Gibbons L, Shapiro SH et al (1996) Nutritional status and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153:961–966
- 74. Bernard S, LeBlanc P, Whittom F et al (1998) Peripheral muscle weakness in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158:629–634
- Man WD, Soliman MG, Nikoletou D et al (2003) Non-volitional assessment of skeletal muscle strength in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 58:665–669
- Man WD, Hopkinson NS, Harraf F et al (2005) Abdominal muscle and quadriceps strength in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 60:718–722
- 77. Franssen FM, Broekhuizen R, Janssen PP et al (2005) Limb muscle dysfunction in COPD: effects of muscle wasting and exercise training. Med Sci Sports Exerc 37:2–9
- Allaire J, Maltais F, Doyon JF et al (2004) Peripheral muscle endurance and the oxidative profile of the quadriceps in patients with COPD. Thorax 59:673–678
- Man WD, Soliman MG, Gearing J et al (2003) Symptoms and quadriceps fatigability after walking and cycling in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 168:562–567
- Mador MJ, Deniz O, Aggarwal A et al (2003) Quadriceps fatigability after single muscle exercise in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 168:102–108
- Coronell C, Orozco-Levi M, Mendez R et al (2004) Relevance of assessing quadriceps endurance in patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 24:129–136
- Pitta F, Troosters T, Probst VS et al (2008) Are patients with COPD more active after pulmonary rehabilitation? Chest 134:273–280
- 83. Fujino F, Minakata Y, Koarai A et al (2009) The regulated factors of exercise tolerance and improvement in exercise tolerance in COPD patients. Kokyu (in Japanese) 28:653–661
- 84. Honda Y, Minakata Y, Sugino A et al (2012) The effect of short-acting beta 2 agonist on the exercise capacity of patients with COPD. Kokyu (in Japanese) 31:1058–1064
- Bellemare F, Grassino A (1983) Force reserve of the diaphragm in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Appl Physiol 55:8–15
- Polkey MI, Kyroussis D, Hamnegard CH et al (1996) Diaphragm strength in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154:1310–1317
- Gosselink R, Troosters T, Decramer M (2000) Distribution of muscle weakness in patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Cardiopulm Rehabil 20:353–360
- Serres I, Gautier V, Varray A et al (1998) Impaired skeletal muscle endurance related to physical inactivity and altered lung function in COPD patients. Chest 113:900–905
- Van't Hul A, Harlaar J, Gosselink R et al (2004) Quadriceps muscle endurance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Muscle Nerve 29:267–274
- Swallow EB, Gosker HR, Ward KA et al (2007) A novel technique for nonvolitional assessment of quadriceps muscle endurance in humans. J Appl Physiol 103:739–746
- 91. Engelen MP, Schols AM, Does JD et al (2000) Skeletal muscle weakness is associated with wasting of extremity fat-free mass but not with airflow obstruction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Clin Nutr 71:733–738
- 92. Marquis K, Debigare R, Lacasse Y et al (2002) Midthigh muscle cross-sectional area is a better predictor of mortality than body mass index in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:809–813
- 93. Hopkinson NS, Tennant RC, Dayer MJ et al (2007) A prospective study of decline in fat free mass and skeletal muscle strength in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Res 8:25
- 94. Mathur S, Takai KP, Macintyre DL et al (2008) Estimation of thigh muscle mass with magnetic resonance imaging in older adults and people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Phys Ther 88:219–230
- Seymour JM, Ward K, Sidhu PS et al (2009) Ultrasound measurement of rectus femoris crosssectional area and the relationship with quadriceps strength in COPD. Thorax 64:418–423

- 96. Engelen MP, Schols AM, Does JD et al (2000) Altered glutamate metabolism is associated with reduced muscle glutathione levels in patients with emphysema. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:98–103
- Debigare R, Cote CH, Hould FS et al (2003) In vitro and in vivo contractile properties of the vastus lateralis muscle in males with COPD. Eur Respir J 21:273–278
- Malaguti C, Nery LE, Dal Corso S et al (2006) Scaling skeletal muscle function to mass in patients with moderate-to-severe COPD. Eur J Appl Physiol 98:482–488
- 99. Mador MJ, Kufel TJ, Pineda L (2000) Quadriceps fatigue after cycle exercise in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:447–453
- Ottenheijm CA, Heunks LM, Sieck GC et al (2005) Diaphragm dysfunction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172:200–205
- 101. Stubbings AK, Moore AJ, Dusmet M et al (2008) Physiological properties of human diaphragm muscle fibers and the effect of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Physiol 586:2637–2650
- 102. Whittom F, Jobin J, Simard PM et al (1998) Histochemical and morphological characteristics of the vastus lateralis muscle in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Med Sci Sports Exerc 30:1467–1474
- 103. Maltais F, Sullivan MJ, LeBlanc P et al (1999) Altered expression of myosin heavy chain in the vastus lateralis muscle in patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 13:850–854
- 104. Gosker HR, Zeegers MP, Wouters EF et al (2007) Muscle fiber type shifting in the vastus lateralis of patients with COPD is associated with disease severity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax 62:944–949
- 105. Levine S, Kaiser L, Leferovich J et al (1997) Cellular adaptations in the diaphragm in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 337:1799–1806
- 106. Mercadier JJ, Schwartz K, Schiaffino S et al (1998) Myosin heavy chain gene expression changes in the diaphragm of patients with chronic lung hyperinflation. Am J Physiol 274:527–534
- 107. Levine S, Nguyen T, Friscia M et al (2006) Parasternal intercostal muscle remodeling in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Appl Physiol 101:1297–1302
- 108. Jobin J, Maltais F, Doyon JF et al (1998) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: capillarity and fiber-type characteristics of skeletal muscle. J Cardiopulm Rehabil 18:432–437
- 109. Richardson RS, Leek BT, Gavin TP et al (2004) Reduced mechanical efficiency in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease but normal peak VO₂ with small muscle mass exercise. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169:89–96
- Ichinose M, Sugiura H, Yamagata S et al (2000) Increase in reactive nitrogen species production in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease airways. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162: 701–706
- 111. Whiteman M, Halliwell B (1997) Prevention of peroxynitrite-dependent tyrosine nitration and inactivation of alpha1-antiproteinase by antibiotics. Free Radic Res 26:49–56
- 112. Okamoto T, Akaike T, Sawa T et al (2001) Activation of matrix metalloproteinases by peroxynitrite-induced protein S-glutathiolation via disulfide S-oxide formation. J Biol Chem 276:29596–29602
- 113. Zhu YK, Liu XD, Skold MC et al (2001) Cytokine inhibition of fibroblast-induced gel contraction is mediated by PGE(2) and NO acting through separate parallel pathways. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 25:245–253
- 114. Ichikawa T, Sugiura H, Koarai A et al (2008) Peroxynitrite augments fibroblast-mediated tissue remodeling via myofibroblast differentiation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295:800–808
- 115. Osoata GO, Hanazawa T, Brindicci C et al (2009) Peroxynitrite elevation in exhaled breath condensate of COPD and its inhibition by fudosteine. Chest 135:1513–1520
- 116. Sugiura H, Ichinose M, Yamagata S et al (2003) Correlation between change in pulmonary function and suppression of reactive nitrogen species production following steroid treatment in COPD. Thorax 58:299–305

- 117. Hirano T, Yamagata T, Gohda M et al (2006) Inhibition of reactive nitrogen species production in COPD airways: comparison of inhaled corticosteroid and oral theophylline. Thorax 61: 761–766
- 118. Couillard A, Maltais F, Saey D et al (2003) Exercise-induced quadriceps oxidative stress and peripheral muscle dysfunction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:1664–1669
- 119. Allaire J, Maltais F, LeBlanc P et al (2002) Lipofuscin accumulation in the vastus lateralis muscle in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Muscle Nerve 25:383–389
- 120. Couillard A, Koechlin C, Cristol JP et al (2002) Evidence of local exercise-induced systemic oxidative stress in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. Eur Respir J 20: 1123–1129
- 121. van Helvoort HA, Heijdra YF, Heunks LM et al (2006) Supplemental oxygen prevents exercise-induced oxidative stress in muscle-wasted patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 173:1122–1129
- 122. Barreiro E, Rabinovich R, Marin-Corral J et al (2009) Chronic endurance exercise induces quadriceps nitrosative stress in patients with severe COPD. Thorax 64:13–19
- 123. Koechlin C, Couillard A, Simar D et al (2004) Does oxidative stress alter quadriceps endurance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169:1022–1027
- Mitch WE, Goldberg AL (1996) Mechanisms of muscle wasting. The role of the ubiquitinproteasome pathway. N Engl J Med 335:1897–1905
- 125. Buck M, Chojkier M (1996) Muscle wasting and dedifferentiation induced by oxidative stress in a murine model of cachexia is prevented by inhibitors of nitric oxide synthesis and antioxidants. EMBO J 15:1753–1765
- 126. Stadtman ER (1990) Metal ion-catalyzed oxidation of proteins: biochemical mechanism and biological consequences. Free Radic Biol Med 9:315–325
- 127. Barreiro E, Gea J, Corominas JM et al (2003) Nitric oxide synthases and protein oxidation in the quadriceps femoris of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29:771–778
- 128. Montes de Oca M, Torres SH, De Sanctis J et al (2005) Skeletal muscle inflammation and nitric oxide in patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 26:390–397
- 129. Barreiro E, de la Puente B, Minguella J et al (2005) Oxidative stress and respiratory muscle dysfunction in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:1116–1124
- 130. Wijnhoven HJ, Heunks LM, Geraedts MC et al (2006) Oxidative and nitrosative stress in the diaphragm of patients with COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 1:173–179
- 131. Gosker HR, Schrauwen P, Hesselink MK et al (2003) Uncoupling protein-3 content is decreased in peripheral skeletal muscle of patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 22:88–93
- 132. Rabinovich RA, Bastos R, Ardite E et al (2007) Mitochondrial dysfunction in COPD patients with low body mass index. Eur Respir J 29:643–650
- 133. Russell AP, Somm E, Debigare R et al (2004) COPD results in a reduction in UCP3 long mRNA and UCP3 protein content in types I and IIa skeletal muscle fibers. J Cardiopulm Rehabil 24:332–339

Chapter 14 Oxidative Stress and Lung Cancer

Aditya Jindal and Navneet Singh

14.1 Introduction

Chronic inflammation has since long been associated with tumorigenesis. This concept has been prevalent in the traditional systems of medicine, notably Ayurveda [1]. However, this was more of an empirical view, without any real understanding of what was happening at the molecular level. In the past few decades, the molecular mechanisms underlying this concept have begun to be understood. The role of oxidative stress as the driver of chronic inflammation has been recognized recently.

14.2 Sources of Free Radicals

The evolution of aerobic respiration led to an overall increased efficiency of energy production. However, its side effect was the generation of free radicals as a by-product of this process. The oxidative enzymes are located on the mitochondrial membranes; electrons are transferred to oxygen during aerobic respiration, resulting in the generation of free radicals or reactive oxygen species (ROS). These include the superoxide anion (O_2^-), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), hydroxyl radical (OH[•]), and organic peroxides. Also, during periods of hypoxia, the mitochondria produce nitric oxide (NO), which leads to the production of reactive nitrogen species (RNS). Other reactive species can be further generated, such as reactive aldehydes-malondialdehyde

A. Jindal

Jindal Chest Clinics, Chandigarh, India e-mail: adijindal@gmail.com

N. Singh (🖂)

Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India e-mail: navneetchd@yahoo.com

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_14, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014
(MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) [2]. These free radicals then react with macro- and micro-molecules in the cell and lead to derangements in the intracellular milieu, which can progress to tumorigenesis.

Neutrophils are among the most common cells in the lungs. Their enhanced phagocytic activity is due to the oxidative burst, during which process their oxygen consumption increases significantly in order to produce free radicals. These are then used to kill invading microorganisms. However, the excess free radicals produced by them may also cause damage to the normal body mechanisms and structures [3]. There are four major enzymes present in neutrophils which catalyze the formation of free radicals: NADPH oxidase which produces the O_2^- ion, superoxide dismutase (SOD) which forms H_2O_2 from the O_2^- ion, myeloperoxidase which is responsible for the formation of HOCl⁻ and nitric oxide synthase (NOS) which synthesizes NO [4–10].

Another source of ROS is the autophagy of old and defective mitochondria. These ROS can promote tumorigenesis by affecting cell cycle pathways [11]. ROS/ RNS are primarily formed during chronic inflammation. This can occur due to multiple factors such as exposure to physical, chemical, and biological stimuli. Among the factors specific to the lung include asbestos exposure, radiation, industrial toxins, cigarette smoke, and even ambient air pollution [12–14].

Oxidative stress can also occur secondary to chronic infections, though these are characteristically associated with cancers in other organs, such as the liver.

14.3 Types of Free Radicals

The different types of free radicals are produced in varying amounts and have different levels of reactivity. It has been estimated that almost 1-5 % of the total oxygen consumed by the body leads on to the development of the O_2^- anion. It is dissociated into H_2O_2 and water by the enzyme SOD. ROS-induced DNA damage is usually caused by the following reactions—oxidation, methylation, nitration, deamination, and depurination. DNA damage is manifested as strand breaks, point mutations, strand cross-links, and mutations in proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes.

 H_2O_2 is less reactive as compared to the other oxygen-derived free radicals. Because it is freely diffusable across the cell membranes, it may be responsible for a greater spectrum of activity than other radicals. The most important free radical involved in the causation of intracellular damage is the OH[•] ion. It is very unstable, though it is unable to diffuse very far within the cell, it is highly reactive, and can react with any intracellular molecule. Damage to deoxy ribonucleic acid (DNA) leads to the generation of 8-hydroxyguanosine (8-OHG), which on undergoing further hydrolysis leads to the formation of 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine (8-OHdG). Detection of this molecule strongly suggests the presence of oxidative damage and has been closely correlated with carcinogenesis [15]. One of the major changes it causes in the DNA molecule is the transversion of Guanine: Cytosine to Thymine: Adenine (i.e., G \rightarrow T transversion). The presence of OH⁺ ion damage to DNA include 5-hydroxyuracil, 5-hydroxymethyluracil, 5-hydroxyadenine, 8-hydroxyadenine, and 2, 6-diamino-4-hydroxy-5-formamidopyrimidine [3].

Neutrophils produce additional ROS to the ones mentioned previously, including hypochlorous acid (HOCl). HOCl leads to DNA damage by causing strand cross-links, chlorination of bases, and oxidation of pyrimidine bases. The damage to DNA is sometimes so severe that it can cause cell death. 5-chlorouracil is formed after damage to DNA by HOCl; it also serves as a marker for oxidative damage due to HOCl [3]. MDA and 4-hydroxynonenal are other toxic products formed as a result of lipid peroxidation from ROS and are extremely toxic to DNA and other cellular molecules.

RNS also contribute to oxidative stress. The most important molecule in this context is NO. It is synthesized from the molecule L-arginine by the enzyme NOS. NOS exists in three isoforms—neuronal, endothelial, and inducible. The first two isoforms are calcium dependent and produce physiological amounts of NO; however, the inducible form of NOS is calcium independent and produces excess amounts of NO under inflammatory conditions. NO leads to the formation of per-oxynitrite (ONOO⁻) which leads to the formation of 8-nitroguanine. This molecule, similar to 8-OHdG, serves as a marker for nitrate stress-induced injury. It gets incorporated into DNA and undergoes spontaneous depurination, resulting in the formation of an apurinic site. This leads to a G \rightarrow C transversion [12].

14.4 Effects of Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress affects and modulates tumor initiation, progression, invasion, angiogenesis, and metastasis. It acts by causing DNA mutations, epigenetic changes, chromosomal aberrations, protein dysfunction, and modulation of cell signaling pathways and second messenger systems. Oxidative stress also serves as the link between chronic inflammation and cancer.

An important characteristic of tumor promoters is the ability to recruit normal cells and task them to produce free radicals in excessive amounts [17, 18]. Damage to cellular molecules produced by these radicals is essential in tumorigenesis. In fact, tumor promotion can be inhibited in experimental animals by the use of antioxidants which further inhibit the respiratory burst of phagocytes [17, 19].

ROS also enhance tumor cell survival by multiple means. As an example, ROS inhibit phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted from chromosome 10 (PTEN), which is an inhibitor of Akt. Akt is a serine threonine kinase which has multiple actions; it inhibits apoptosis by inactivating proapoptotic molecules such as caspase-9 and promotes tumorigenesis by stabilizing oncogenes and dysregulating cell cycle checkpoints [20–23]. Uncontrolled cell proliferation, which is another characteristic of tumor cells, is also promoted by oxidative stress. This is modulated through pathological activation of cell signaling pathways, specifically the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase/AP-1 and NF- κ B pathways [24]. ROS are also involved in tumor invasion, metastases, and angiogenesis. These are mediated by aberrant and uncontrolled signaling by ROS leading to dysregulation of matrix metalloproteinases, intercellular adhesion molecules and angiogenetic factors [25–29].

Resistance of cancer cells to chemotherapy and radiotherapy may also be mediated through ROS/RNS. Various molecular mechanisms of resistance have been identified including the activation of efflux pumps, increased expression of detoxifying enzymes, and resistance to apoptosis [30–33]. A central role of the transcription factor NF- κ B has been demonstrated in this regard [2]. Several chemotherapeutic agents used in the treatment of lung and other cancers such as paclitaxel, doxorubicin, daunomycin, vinblastine, vincristine, 5-fluorouracil, cisplatin, and tamoxifen are associated with the activation of NF- κ B [34, 35].

14.5 Antioxidants

A variety of antioxidant systems exist in the body to counteract the destructive actions of ROS (Table 14.1). The main antioxidant in this regard is glutathione which is a tripeptide and protects DNA from free radical damage. It can also act by directly detoxifying carcinogens and exporting them from cells. Paradoxically, elevated levels of glutathione are seen in some cancers where they are associated with resistance to chemotherapy [36–40]. Glutathione peroxidase reacts with H_2O_2 and other peroxides and catalyses the reduction of fatty acid hydroperoxides; glutathione from the reduced state [13, 41].

Other antioxidant enzymes include SOD and catalase. SOD acts by converting superoxide anions to H_2O_2 while catalase further converts H_2O_2 to water. Peroxiredoxins also act in a similar fashion and reduce H_2O_2 to water [2]. A recent cohort study evaluated the role of SOD in the prediction of all cause cancer mortality. The result showed that elevated levels of SOD were associated with all cancer mortality. These results demonstrated that elevated SOD levels may occur as a response to oxidant stress. However, elevated levels of SOD were not associated with increased mortality from lung cancer [42, 43].

Ascorbic acid is another antioxidant compound which acts as a free radical scavenger. It is involved in pathways that regenerate other antioxidants. It exists mainly in its reduced state in the body; its oxidation produces dehydroascorbic acid, which is transported intracellularly and is regenerated to ascorbic acid. Similar compounds include α -carotene, β -carotene, cryptoxanthin, lutein, zeaxanthin, lycopene, α -tocopherol, selenium, and vitamin-E [13].

14.6 Oxidative Stress Specific to Lung Cancer

Oxidative stress has also been implicated in the causation of lung cancer. In this context, smoking of tobacco-based products has a special importance. The particulate as well as the gaseous phase of cigarette smoke contain ROS which are relatively stable with long half-lives. These ROS cause direct damage in addition to the

Table 14.1 Summary of trials evi	aluating supplementation of an	tioxidants for the prevention of cancer	
Name of trial and year	Study design	Intervention	Result
ATBC (1994) [87]	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	29,133 male smokers; alpha-tocopherol or beta- carotene supplementation for the prevention of lung cancer	No reduction in incidence with alpha-tocopherol; higher incidence of lung cancer among those who received beta carotene than placeho
Hennekens et al. (1996) [91] (Physicians' Health Study) Omenn et al. (1996) [88] [Carotene and Retinol Efficacy Trial (CARET)]	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	22.071 male physicians; beta-carotene supplementa- tion for preventing cancer 18,314 subjects; evaluation of the efficacy of retinol and beta-carotene supplements for the prevention of lung cancer	No benefit or harm with supplementation No benefit of intervention; increased incidence of lung cancer in intervention group; trial stopped early
Lee et al. (2005) [92] (Women's Health Study)	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	39,876 females; supplementation with aspirin, vitamin E, and beta-carotene for the primary prevention of cancer and cardiovascular disease	No benefit with supplementation
Kamangar et al. (2006) [93]	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	29,584 adults; daily vitamin and mineral (retinol, zinc, riboflavin, niacin, ascorbic acid, molybdenum, beta-carotene, vitamin E, selenium) supplementation for the prevention of cancer and mortality from all causes	No benefit with supplementation
Gaziano et al. (2009) [94] (Physicians' Health Study II)	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	14,641 male physicians; evaluation of long-term vitamin E or C supplementation to decrease risk of prostate and total cancer events among men	No benefit with supplementation
Lippman et al. (2009) [95] (Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial)	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	35,533 men; supplementation of selenium, vitamin E, or both could prevent prostate and other cancers	No benefit with supplementation
Hercberg et al. (2010) [96]	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	6,364 placebo and 6,377 supplemented group; supplementation with combination of antioxidants (vitamin C, E), beta-carotene and selenium to reduce the incidence of cancer and ischemic- cardiovascular disease	Decrease in total cancer incidence and total mortality with antioxidant supplementation which disappeared on follow-up

5 - thomas of antiovidants for the ntation molow b ÷ -÷ ÷

establishment of a secondary oxidative stress response, which is responsible for further injury and inflammation. In fact, this oxidative stress response has been implicated as the driving force behind the spectrum of smoking induced injury in the lung, culminating in lung cancer [44–48].

One of the most common forms of oxidative stress which has been described extensively is the peroxidation of lipids by ROS. The peroxidation of lipids leads to the generation of multiple products, the more common being MDA, 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE), acrolein, and crotonaldehyde. These products react with DNA molecules and lead to formation of DNA adducts, which are mutagenic and may contribute to neoplastic transformation [49, 50]. Acrolein and crotonaldehyde are constituents of cigarette smoke and behave like exogenous ROS, while MDA and 4-hydroxynonenal are formed upon exposure to tobacco smoke [51, 52].

It has been found that cigarette smoking was associated with reduced levels of antioxidants as compared to the antioxidant levels in nonsmokers. The circulating levels of ascorbic acid and carotenoids have been shown to correlate inversely with the number of cigarettes smoked per day [53]. Other studies have shown an increase in the ratio of dehydroascorbic acid to ascorbic acid in smokers as compared to that in nonsmokers [54]. Also, another study demonstrated an increase in the levels of ascorbic acid 4 weeks after smoking cessation [55].

Studies on the levels of antioxidant enzymes, e.g., catalase, glutathione peroxidase, and SOD, in smoker versus nonsmokers have shown divergent results, with some studies showing a decrease and others showing an increase in levels [56–67]. Overall, no satisfactory conclusion can be drawn from these studies if they are interpreted together. The confusion may stem from the fact that cancer patients may have elevated levels of antioxidant enzymes as a compensatory mechanism to oxidative stress.

Oxidant stress may also explain the association between environmental pollutant exposure and lung cancer. Specifically, the main category of environmental pollutants consists of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons which are found primarily in effluents from power plants and internal combustion engines. Here also, it is important to mention the role of cigarette smoke, which may have an additive effect, over and above that of environmental pollution, in the causation of lung cancer. The prototype aromatic hydrocarbon is benzopyrene, which is also the best studied. Once activated by metabolic processes in the body, it leads to the formation of benzo(a)pyrene diol epoxide (BPDE), which further reacts with the guanosine moiety of DNS to form covalent BPDE-DNA adducts. These adducts are mutagenic and are associated with carcinogenesis in the human lung [68–75].

The role of oxidant enzymes within the neutrophils is also highlighted by the above example. The conversion of benzopyrene to BPDE is catalyzed by the enzyme myeloperoxidase, contained in the neutrophils. In fact, certain polymorphisms of the gene for this enzyme have been found to be protective in lung cancer, i.e., $463G \rightarrow A$ transition in the promoter region of MPO. A 40–70 % decreased risk of lung cancer has been found for the AA genotype in some studies [76–81]. It has also been observed that the maximum benefit of the AA allele was present in smokers, which suggests an associated between chemical carcinogens, oxidative stress,

genomic predisposition, and carcinogenesis [80, 81]. This linkage has been found to be maximum for small cell cancer of lung, which is associated with heavy smoking [76]. So, the conclusion would be that neutrophil-derived oxidant enzymes such as myeloperoxidase mediate the march from chemical carcinogen exposure to carcinogenesis.

Another role of oxidative stress in lung carcinogenesis is seen after exposure to fibrous and nonfibrous particles. The prototype of this group is asbestos. It is a fibrous particle of which various types are available, and some are more carcinogenic than others. For example, crocidolite (blue asbestos) and amosite (brown asbestos) are more mutagenic than chrysotile (white asbestos). Asbestos exposure is associated with the development of lung cancer and malignant mesothelioma. Both oxidative and nitrative stresses have been found to be associated with asbestos. Neutrophil-derived myeloperoxidase is of prime importance in this setting. The role of RNS was demonstrated in a study which showed increased levels of 8-nitroguanine, iNOS, and NF- κ B in the bronchial epithelial cells of mice which were exposed to high intratracheal levels of asbestos. Significantly, the immunoreactivities of the mentioned compounds were higher in the group exposed to crocidolite as compared to chrysotile, which could explain the differing carcinogenic potential of these compounds [82].

Evidence accumulated in clinical trials has tended to favor the imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants as being one of the causative factors in carcinogenesis. A recent study compared the levels of urinary 8-OHdG, plasma MDA, red cell Cu-Zn SOD, and glutathione peroxidase in 222 patients of lung cancer with 207 control subjects [83]. It was found that the levels of 8-OHdG and MDA were significantly higher while the red cell SOD and glutathione peroxidase activities were significantly lower in patients than in controls [83]. Similar alterations have also been noted in other studies [84–86].

14.7 Antioxidant Supplementation and Lung Cancer

Considering the exhaustive research on the aetiological role of oxidative stress in lung cancer, it was only logical that the therapeutic benefit of antioxidants be tested in the prevention and treatment of this disease. Indeed, there have been major studies in the last few years on this subject. However, the results were far from expected.

The alpha-tocopherol beta-carotene (ATBC) trial, funded by the National Cancer Institute (USA), was a randomized, double-blinded primary prevention trial to study whether supplementation with either alpha-tocopherol or beta-carotene or both would lead to a reduction in the risk of lung cancer [87]. The results were unexpected; there was no reduction in risk with supplementation. Conversely, there was a 16 % increase in the risk of lung cancer in subjects receiving either beta-carotene alone or in combination with alpha-tocopherol [87]. Similarly, the CARET trial tested the combination of beta-carotene and retinyl palmitate (vitamin A) taken daily against placebo in 18,314 men and women at high risk of developing lung cancer. The trial was stopped 21 months early because there was evidence of no benefit and substantial evidence of harm; in fact, there were 28 % more lung cancers and 17 % more deaths in the group with supplementation than in the placebo group [88].

A Cochrane review included nine trials of antioxidant supplementation—these included supplementation of vitamin A, C, E, carotenoids, and selenium (Table 14.1). None of the included studies showed a reduction in lung cancer risk; in fact, there was an increased risk of mortality with beta-carotene [89].

Thus, antioxidant supplementation has not lived up to its initial promise of preventing lung and other cancers. Research into this area is still ongoing and it is expected that future studies may reveal compounds which are actually protective against malignancy. In this context, a study published recently has shown that intake of cruciferous vegetables may be associated with a decreased risk of lung cancer. Cruciferous vegetables may act by activating phase II detoxification enzymes for the deactivation of pro-carcinogens [90]. However, the last word on this issue is yet to be said!

14.8 Future Implications

The link between oxidative stress, inflammation, and cancer is likely to be applicable in the context of occurrence and progression of lung cancer since more and more experimental evidence is accumulating in this regard. Although there are no therapeutic options which can exploit this link at present, the future is likely to witness the discovery of anticancer agents which target this link. The potential for research in this direction is enormous.

Conflict of Interest The authors would like to state that there is no conflict of interest regarding this chapter.

References

- Garodia P, Ichikawa H, Malani N, Sethi G, Aggarwal BB (2007) From ancient medicine to modern medicine: ayurvedic concepts of health and their role in inflammation and cancer. J Soc Integr Oncol 5(1):25–37
- Reuter S, Gupta SC, Chaturvedi MM, Aggarwal BB (2010) Oxidative stress, inflammation, and cancer: how are they linked? Free Radic Biol Med 49(11):1603–1616
- Knaapen AM, Gungor N, Schins RP, Borm PJ, Van Schooten FJ (2006) Neutrophils and respiratory tract DNA damage and mutagenesis: a review. Mutagenesis 21(4):225–236
- McCord JM, Fridovich I (1969) Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J Biol Chem 244(22):6049–6055
- Padgett EL, Pruett SB (1995) Rat, mouse and human neutrophils stimulated by a variety of activating agents produce much less nitrite than rodent macrophages. Immunology 84(1):135–141
- 6. Weinberg JB, Misukonis MA, Shami PJ, Mason SN, Sauls DL, Dittman WA et al (1995) Human mononuclear phagocyte inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS): analysis of iNOS

mRNA, iNOS protein, biopterin, and nitric oxide production by blood monocytes and peritoneal macrophages. Blood 86(3):1184–1195

- Gross A, Dugas N, Spiesser S, Vouldoukis I, Damais C, Kolb JP et al (1998) Nitric oxide production in human macrophagic cells phagocytizing opsonized zymosan: direct characterization by measurement of the luminol dependent chemiluminescence. Free Radic Res 28(2):179–191
- Hampton MB, Kettle AJ, Winterbourn CC (1998) Inside the neutrophil phagosome: oxidants, myeloperoxidase, and bacterial killing. Blood 92(9):3007–3017
- 9. Huffman LJ, Judy DJ, Castranova V (1998) Regulation of nitric oxide production by rat alveolar macrophages in response to silica exposure. J Toxicol Environ Health A 53(1):29–46
- 10. Babior BM (2000) Phagocytes and oxidative stress. Am J Med 109(1):33-44
- Mathew R, Karp CM, Beaudoin B, Vuong N, Chen G, Chen HY et al (2009) Autophagy suppresses tumorigenesis through elimination of p62. Cell 137(6):1062–1075
- 12. Murata M, Thanan R, Ma N, Kawanishi S (2012) Role of nitrative and oxidative DNA damage in inflammation-related carcinogenesis. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012:623019
- Lowe FJ, Luettich K, Gregg EO (2013) Lung cancer biomarkers for the assessment of modified risk tobacco products: an oxidative stress perspective. Biomarkers 18(3):183–195
- Demetriou CA, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Loft S, Moller P, Vermeulen R, Palli D et al (2012) Biomarkers of ambient air pollution and lung cancer: a systematic review. Occup Environ Med 69(9):619–627
- 15. Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M (2010) Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. Cell 140(6):883–899
- Bruner SD, Norman DP, Verdine GL (2000) Structural basis for recognition and repair of the endogenous mutagen 8-oxoguanine in DNA. Nature 403(6772):859–866
- 17. Frenkel K (1992) Carcinogen-mediated oxidant formation and oxidative DNA damage. Pharmacol Ther 53(1):127–166
- Shacter E, Beecham EJ, Covey JM, Kohn KW, Potter M (1988) Activated neutrophils induce prolonged DNA damage in neighboring cells. Carcinogenesis 9(12):2297–2304, Epub 1988/12/01
- Ohshima H, Bartsch H (1994) Chronic infections and inflammatory processes as cancer risk factors: possible role of nitric oxide in carcinogenesis. Mutat Res 305(2):253–264, Epub 1994/03/01
- 20. Azad MB, Chen Y, Gibson SB (2009) Regulation of autophagy by reactive oxygen species (ROS): implications for cancer progression and treatment. Antioxid Redox Signal 11(4):777–790
- Los M, Maddika S, Erb B, Schulze-Osthoff K (2009) Switching Akt: from survival signaling to deadly response. Bioessays 31(5):492–495
- 22. Manning BD, Cantley LC (2007) AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. Cell 129(7):1261–1274
- 23. Plas DR, Thompson CB (2005) Akt-dependent transformation: there is more to growth than just surviving. Oncogene 24(50):7435–7442
- Muller JM, Cahill MA, Rupec RA, Baeuerle PA, Nordheim A (1997) Antioxidants as well as oxidants activate c-fos via Ras-dependent activation of extracellular-signal-regulated kinase 2 and Elk-1. Eur J Biochem 244(1):45–52
- 25. Bergers G, Benjamin LE (2003) Tumorigenesis and the angiogenic switch. Nat Rev Cancer 3(6):401–410
- 26. Chandel NS, Maltepe E, Goldwasser E, Mathieu CE, Simon MC, Schumacker PT (1998) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxia-induced transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(20):11715–11720, Epub 1998/09/30
- Nelson AR, Fingleton B, Rothenberg ML, Matrisian LM (2000) Matrix metalloproteinases: biologic activity and clinical implications. J Clin Oncol 18(5):1135–1149, Epub 2000/03/01
- Nelson KK, Melendez JA (2004) Mitochondrial redox control of matrix metalloproteinases. Free Radic Biol Med 37(6):768–784, Epub 2004/08/12

- North S, Moenner M, Bikfalvi A (2005) Recent developments in the regulation of the angiogenic switch by cellular stress factors in tumors. Cancer Lett 218(1):1–14, Epub 2005/01/11
- 30. Borst P, Jonkers J, Rottenberg S (2007) What makes tumors multidrug resistant? Cell Cycle 6(22):2782–2787
- Schmitt CA, Fridman JS, Yang M, Lee S, Baranov E, Hoffman RM et al (2002) A senescence program controlled by p53 and p16INK4a contributes to the outcome of cancer therapy. Cell 109(3):335–346
- 32. Szakacs G, Paterson JK, Ludwig JA, Booth-Genthe C, Gottesman MM (2006) Targeting multidrug resistance in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5(3):219–234
- Voorzanger-Rousselot N, Alberti L, Blay JY (2006) CD40L induces multidrug resistance to apoptosis in breast carcinoma and lymphoma cells through caspase independent and dependent pathways. BMC Cancer 6:75
- 34. Ahn KS, Sethi G, Aggarwal BB (2007) Nuclear factor-kappa B: from clone to clinic. Curr Mol Med 7(7):619–637
- 35. Raju U, Gumin GJ, Noel F, Tofilon PJ (1998) IkappaBalpha degradation is not a requirement for the X-ray-induced activation of nuclear factor kappaB in normal rat astrocytes and human brain tumour cells. Int J Radiat Biol 74(5):617–624
- 36. Balendiran GK, Dabur R, Fraser D (2004) The role of glutathione in cancer. Cell Biochem Funct 22(6):343–352
- Calvert P, Yao KS, Hamilton TC, O'Dwyer PJ (1998) Clinical studies of reversal of drug resistance based on glutathione. Chem Biol Interact 111–112:213–224, Epub 1998/07/29
- Estrela JM, Ortega A, Obrador E (2006) Glutathione in cancer biology and therapy. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 43(2):143–181, Epub 2006/03/07
- Pompella A, Visvikis A, Paolicchi A, De Tata V, Casini AF (2003) The changing faces of glutathione, a cellular protagonist. Biochem Pharmacol 66(8):1499–1503, Epub 2003/10/14
- Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MT, Mazur M, Telser J (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39(1):44–84, Epub 2006/09/19
- 41. Gaber A, Tamoi M, Takeda T, Nakano Y, Shigeoka S (2001) NADPH-dependent glutathione peroxidase-like proteins (Gpx-1, Gpx-2) reduce unsaturated fatty acid hydroperoxides in Synechocystis PCC 6803. FEBS Lett 499(1–2):32–36, Epub 2001/06/22
- 42. Pham TM, Fujino Y, Nakachi K, Suzuki K, Ito Y, Watanabe Y et al (2009) Relationship between serum levels of superoxide dismutase activity and subsequent risk of cancer mortality: findings from a nested case–control study within the Japan Collaborative Cohort Study. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 10(suppl):69–73, Epub 2010/07/06
- 43. Pham TM, Fujino Y, Ando M, Suzuki K, Nakachi K, Ito Y et al (2009) Relationship between serum levels of superoxide dismutase activity and subsequent risk of lung cancer mortality: findings from a nested case–control study within the Japan Collaborative Cohort Study. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 10(suppl):75–79, Epub 2010/07/06
- 44. Asami S, Hirano T, Yamaguchi R, Tomioka Y, Itoh H, Kasai H (1996) Increase of a type of oxidative DNA damage, 8-hydroxyguanine, and its repair activity in human leukocytes by cigarette smoking. Cancer Res 56(11):2546–2549, Epub 1996/06/01
- 45. Pryor WA, Dooley MM, Church DF (1985) Mechanisms of cigarette smoke toxicity: the inactivation of human alpha-1-proteinase inhibitor by nitric oxide/isoprene mixtures in air. Chem Biol Interact 54(2):171–183
- 46. Valavanidis A, Vlachogianni T, Fiotakis K (2009) Tobacco smoke: involvement of reactive oxygen species and stable free radicals in mechanisms of oxidative damage, carcinogenesis and synergistic effects with other respirable particles. Int J Environ Res Public Health 6(2):445–462
- Allavena P, Garlanda C, Borrello MG, Sica A, Mantovani A (2008) Pathways connecting inflammation and cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 18(1):3–10
- Smith CJ, Perfetti TA, King JA (2006) Perspectives on pulmonary inflammation and lung cancer risk in cigarette smokers. Inhal Toxicol 18(9):667–677

- Esterbauer H, Schaur RJ, Zollner H (1991) Chemistry and biochemistry of 4-hydroxynonenal, malonaldehyde and related aldehydes. Free Radic Biol Med 11(1):81–128
- Voulgaridou GP, Anestopoulos I, Franco R, Panayiotidis MI, Pappa A (2011) DNA damage induced by endogenous aldehydes: current state of knowledge. Mutat Res 711(1–2):13–27
- 51. Bartsch H, Petruzzelli S, De Flora S, Hietanen E, Camus AM, Castegnaro M et al (1992) Carcinogen metabolism in human lung tissues and the effect of tobacco smoking: results from a case–control multicenter study on lung cancer patients. Environ Health Perspect 98:119–124
- 52. Munnia A, Bonassi S, Verna A, Quaglia R, Pelucco D, Ceppi M et al (2006) Bronchial malondialdehyde DNA adducts, tobacco smoking, and lung cancer. Free Radic Biol Med 41(9):1499–1505
- Alberg A (2002) The influence of cigarette smoking on circulating concentrations of antioxidant micronutrients. Toxicology 180(2):121–137
- 54. Lykkesfeldt J, Viscovich M, Poulsen HE (2003) Ascorbic acid recycling in human erythrocytes is induced by smoking in vivo. Free Radic Biol Med 35(11):1439–1447
- 55. Polidori MC, Mecocci P, Stahl W, Sies H (2003) Cigarette smoking cessation increases plasma levels of several antioxidant micronutrients and improves resistance towards oxidative challenge. Br J Nutr 90(1):147–150, Epub 2003/07/08
- Abou-Seif MA (1996) Blood antioxidant status and urine sulfate and thiocyanate levels in smokers. J Biochem Toxicol 11(3):133–138, Epub 1996/01/01
- Aycicek A, Ipek A (2008) Maternal active or passive smoking causes oxidative stress in cord blood. Eur J Pediatr 167(1):81–85, Epub 2007/02/14
- DiSilvestro RA, Pacht E, Davis WB, Jarjour N, Joung H, Trela-Fulop K (1998) BAL fluid contains detectable superoxide dismutase 1 activity. Chest 113(2):401–404, Epub 1998/03/14
- 59. Greabu M, Totan A, Battino M, Mohora M, Didilescu A, Totan C et al (2008) Cigarette smoke effect on total salivary antioxidant capacity, salivary glutathione peroxidase and gammaglutamyltransferase activity. Biofactors 33(2):129–136, Epub 2008/01/01
- Harju T, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Sirvio R, Paakko P, Crapo JD, Oury TD et al (2004) Manganese superoxide dismutase is increased in the airways of smokers' lungs. Eur Respir J 24(5):765–771
- Hilbert J, Mohsenin V (1996) Adaptation of lung antioxidants to cigarette smoking in humans. Chest 110(4):916–920, Epub 1996/10/01
- Hulea SA, Olinescu R, Nita S, Crocnan D, Kummerow FA (1995) Cigarette smoking causes biochemical changes in blood that are suggestive of oxidative stress: a case–control study. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 14(3–4):173–180
- Orhan H, Evelo CT, Sahin G (2005) Erythrocyte antioxidant defense response against cigarette smoking in humans–the glutathione S-transferase vulnerability. J Biochem Mol Toxicol 19(4):226–233
- 64. Ozguner F, Koyu A, Cesur G (2005) Active smoking causes oxidative stress and decreases blood melatonin levels. Toxicol Ind Health 21(1–2):21–26, Epub 2005/07/01
- 65. Pannuru P, Vaddi DR, Kindinti RR, Varadacharyulu N (2011) Increased erythrocyte antioxidant status protects against smoking induced hemolysis in moderate smokers. Hum Exp Toxicol 30(10):1475–1481
- 66. Zhang XY, Tan YL, Zhou DF, Haile CN, Wu GY, Cao LY et al (2007) Nicotine dependence, symptoms and oxidative stress in male patients with schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 32(9):2020–2024, Epub 2007/01/18
- Kim SH, Kim JS, Shin HS, Keen CL (2003) Influence of smoking on markers of oxidative stress and serum mineral concentrations in teenage girls in Korea. Nutrition 19(3):240–243
- Levin W, Wood AW, Yagi H, Jerina DM, Conney AH (1976) (+/–)-Trans-7,8-dihydroxy-7,8dihydrobenzo (a)pyrene: a potent skin carcinogen when applied topically to mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 73(11):3867–3871, Epub 1976/11/01
- Weinstein IB, Jeffrey AM, Jennette KW, Blobstein SH, Harvey RG, Harris C et al (1976) Benzo(a)pyrene diol epoxides as intermediates in nucleic acid binding in vitro and in vivo. Science 193(4253):592–595, Epub 1976/08/13

- Wood AW, Wislocki PG, Chang RL, Levin W, Lu AY, Yagi J et al (1976) Mutagenicity and cytotoxicity of benzo(a)pyrene benzo-ring epoxides. Cancer Res 36(9 pt 1):3358–3366, Epub 1976/09/01
- Gelboin HV (1980) Benzo[alpha]pyrene metabolism, activation and carcinogenesis: role and regulation of mixed-function oxidases and related enzymes. Physiol Rev 60(4):1107–1166, Epub 1980/10/01
- 72. Phillips DH (1983) Fifty years of benzo(a)pyrene. Nature 303(5917):468-472, Epub 1983/06/09
- Luch A (2005) Nature and nurture—lessons from chemical carcinogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 5(2):113–125, Epub 2005/01/22
- 74. Xue W, Warshawsky D (2005) Metabolic activation of polycyclic and heterocyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and DNA damage: a review. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 206(1):73–93, Epub 2005/06/21
- 75. Tchou-Wong KM, Jiang Y, Yee H, LaRosa J, Lee TC, Pellicer A et al (2002) Lung-specific expression of dominant-negative mutant p53 in transgenic mice increases spontaneous and benzo(a)pyrene-induced lung cancer. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 27(2):186–193, Epub 2002/08/02
- 76. Dally H, Gassner K, Jager B, Schmezer P, Spiegelhalder B, Edler L et al (2002) Myeloperoxidase (MPO) genotype and lung cancer histologic types: the MPO –463 A allele is associated with reduced risk for small cell lung cancer in smokers. Int J Cancer 102(5):530–535, Epub 2002/11/15
- 77. Le Marchand L, Seifried A, Lum A, Wilkens LR (2000) Association of the myeloperoxidase -463G→ a polymorphism with lung cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 9(2):181–184, Epub 2000/03/04
- London SJ, Lehman TA, Taylor JA (1997) Myeloperoxidase genetic polymorphism and lung cancer risk. Cancer Res 57(22):5001–5003, Epub 1997/11/26
- 79. Lu W, Xing D, Qi J, Tan W, Miao X, Lin D (2002) Genetic polymorphism in myeloperoxidase but not GSTM1 is associated with risk of lung squamous cell carcinoma in a Chinese population. Int J Cancer 102(3):275–279, Epub 2002/10/25
- Schabath MB, Spitz MR, Hong WK, Delclos GL, Reynolds WF, Gunn GB et al (2002) A myeloperoxidase polymorphism associated with reduced risk of lung cancer. Lung Cancer 37(1):35–40, Epub 2002/06/12
- Schabath MB, Spitz MR, Zhang X, Delclos GL, Wu X (2000) Genetic variants of myeloperoxidase and lung cancer risk. Carcinogenesis 21(6):1163–1166, Epub 2000/06/03
- Hiraku Y, Kawanishi S, Ichinose T, Murata M (2010) The role of iNOS-mediated DNA damage in infection- and asbestos-induced carcinogenesis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1203:15–22, Epub 2010/08/19
- Peddireddy V, Siva Prasad B, Gundimeda SD, Penagaluru PR, Mundluru HP (2012) Assessment of 8-oxo-7, 8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine and malondialdehyde levels as oxidative stress markers and antioxidant status in non-small cell lung cancer. Biomarkers 17(3): 261–268, Epub 2012/03/09
- Margaret al, Syahruddin E, Wanandi SI (2011) Low activity of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) in blood of lung cancer patients with smoking history: relationship to oxidative stress. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 12(11):3049–3053, Epub 2011/01/01
- Kontakiotis T, Katsoulis K, Hagizisi O, Kougioulis M, Gerou S, Papakosta D (2011) Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid alteration in antioxidant and inflammatory status in lung cancer patients. Eur J Intern Med 22(5):522–526, Epub 2011/09/20
- 86. Kaynar H, Meral M, Turhan H, Keles M, Celik G, Akcay F (2005) Glutathione peroxidase, glutathione-S-transferase, catalase, xanthine oxidase, Cu-Zn superoxide dismutase activities, total glutathione, nitric oxide, and malondialdehyde levels in erythrocytes of patients with small cell and non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Lett 227(2):133–139, Epub 2005/08/23
- 87. (1994) The effect of vitamin E and beta carotene on the incidence of lung cancer and other cancers in male smokers. The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta Carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group. N Engl J Med 330(15):1029–1035. Epub 1994/04/14

- Omenn GS, Goodman GE, Thornquist MD, Balmes J, Cullen MR, Glass A et al (1996) Risk factors for lung cancer and for intervention effects in CARET, the Beta-Carotene and Retinol Efficacy Trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 88(21):1550–1559, Epub 1996/11/06
- Cortes-Jofre M, Rueda JR, Corsini-Munoz G, Fonseca-Cortes C, Caraballoso M, Bonfill Cosp X (2012) Drugs for preventing lung cancer in healthy people. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (10):CD002141. Epub 2012/10/19
- Wu QJ, Xie L, Zheng W, Vogtmann E, Li HL, Yang G et al (2013) Cruciferous vegetables consumption and the risk of female lung cancer: a prospective study and a meta-analysis. Ann Oncol 24(7):1918–1924, Epub 2013/04/05
- 91. Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Manson JE, Stampfer M, Rosner B, Cook NR et al (1996) Lack of effect of long-term supplementation with beta carotene on the incidence of malignant neoplasms and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 334(18):1145–1149, Epub 1996/05/02
- 92. Lee IM, Cook NR, Gaziano JM, Gordon D, Ridker PM, Manson JE et al (2005) Vitamin E in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease and cancer: the Women's Health Study: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 294(1):56–65, Epub 2005/07/07
- Kamangar F, Qiao YL, Yu B, Sun XD, Abnet CC, Fan JH et al (2006) Lung cancer chemoprevention: a randomized, double-blind trial in Linxian, China. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 15(8):1562–1564, Epub 2006/08/10
- 94. Gaziano JM, Glynn RJ, Christen WG, Kurth T, Belanger C, MacFadyen J et al (2009) Vitamins E and C in the prevention of prostate and total cancer in men: the Physicians' Health Study II randomized controlled trial. JAMA 301(1):52–62
- 95. Lippman SM, Klein EA, Goodman PJ, Lucia MS, Thompson IM, Ford LG et al (2009) Effect of selenium and vitamin E on risk of prostate cancer and other cancers: the Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT). JAMA 301(1):39–51
- 96. Hercberg S, Kesse-Guyot E, Druesne-Pecollo N, Touvier M, Favier A, Latino-Martel P et al (2010) Incidence of cancers, ischemic cardiovascular diseases and mortality during 5-year follow-up after stopping antioxidant vitamins and minerals supplements: a postintervention follow-up in the SU.VI.MAX Study. Int J Cancer 127(8):1875–1881

Chapter 15 Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and Oxidative Stress

Izabela Chrobak^{*}, Christina Mallarino Haeger^{*}, Marcy E. Maracle, and Laura E. Fredenburgh

15.1 Introduction

Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) is a complex and multidisciplinary disorder comprising a series of diseases that result from restricted blood flow through the pulmonary arterial circulation [213, 232]. All of these conditions share a common arterial histopathology characterized by medial hypertrophy, eccentric and concentric intimal fibrosis, and plexiform lesions [114, 213]. The pathophysiology of PAH is not completely understood. Many factors have been shown to be involved in the pathogenesis of PAH, including growth factors, pro-inflammatory molecules, vascular tone mediators, genetic mutations, microRNAs (miRs), and oxidative stress [5, 221, 284]. Currently, the treatment for PAH remains limited and the disease is still associated with a poor long-term prognosis [221]. Growing evidence suggests that reactive

Lovelace Respiratory Research Institute, 2425 Ridgecrest Dr. SE, Albuquerque, NM 87108, New Mexico e-mail: ichrobak@lrri.org; lfredenburgh@partners.org

C.M. Haeger, M.D.

M.E. Maracle McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada e-mail: marcy.maracle@gmail.com

^{*} Authors contributed equally to this chapter.

I. Chrobak, Ph.D. • L.E. Fredenburgh, M.D. (🖂) Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, 75 Francis Street, Boston, MA 02115, USA

Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, 75 Francis Street, Boston, MA 02115, USA e-mail: cmallarinohaeger@partners.org

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_15, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

oxygen species (ROS) and oxidative stress play a pathogenic role in PAH and some antioxidants appear to be useful in various forms of pulmonary hypertension (PH) [373].

15.2 Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

15.2.1 Epidemiology

PAH was previously considered a rare disease with an unknown frequency, but in 2006 a French registry reported a prevalence of 15 per million [158, 232]. The most common cause found in this study was idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension (IPAH) accounting for 39.2 % of the cases, followed by anorexigen exposure, connective tissue disease, congenital heart diseases (CHDs), portal hypertension, and HIV infection [158]. The Scottish morbidity record found a prevalence of 52 cases per million in an adult population [273]. In both studies, PAH was more common in the female population [158]. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), deaths attributed to PH varied between 11,000 and 16,000 per year between 1980 and 2002 [159].

15.2.2 Diagnosis and Pathological Findings

15.2.2.1 Signs and Symptoms

The main symptoms found in patients with PH are dyspnea on exertion (around 60 % of patients), fatigue, angina pectoris, syncope, palpitations, and lower extremity edema [232]. Clinical signs include accentuated pulmonary component of S2 audible at the apex (90 % of patients with IPAH), early systolic click, mid-systolic ejection murmur, left parasternal lift, right ventricular (RV) S4, and increased jugular "a" wave [232]. In more advanced stages of the disease, other signs may be seen, including a holosystolic murmur that increases with inspiration, increased jugular "v" waves, pulsatile hepatomegaly, hepatojugular reflex, peripheral edema, ascites, low pulse pressure, and cool extremities [232]. These usually indicate right ventricular (RV) failure [230]. The main chest X-ray finding suggesting PH is enlargement of main and hilar pulmonary arterial shadows accompanied by attenuation of peripheral pulmonary vascular markings [213, 230]. Electrocardiographic findings that should raise the suspicion of PH include right axis deviation, signs of RV hypertrophy (tall R wave in RV leads and R/S ratio <1 in V5 and V6), and right atrial enlargement (tall p wave in leads II, III, and aVF and frontal p axis of more than 75°) [213, 230, 232].

Table 15.1 Arbitrary criteria for estimating the presence of PH based on tricuspid regurgitation peak velocity and Doppler-calculated PA systolic pressure at rest (assuming a normal right atrial pressure of 5 mmHg) and on additional echocardiographic variables

	Class ^a	Level ^b
Echocardiographic diagnosis: PH unlikely		
Tricuspid regurgitation velocity ≤ 2.8 m/s, PA systolic pressure ≤ 36 mmHg, and no additional echocardiographic variables suggestive of PH	Ι	В
Echocardiographic diagnosis: PH possible		
Tricuspid regurgitation velocity ≤ 2.8 m/s, PA systolic pressure ≤ 36 mmHg, but presence of additional echocardiographic variables suggestive of PH	IIa	С
Tricuspid regurgitation velocity 2.9–3.4 m/s, PA systolic pressure 37–50 mmHg with/without additional echocardiographic variables suggestive of PH	IIa	С
Echocardiographic diagnosis: PH likely		
Tricuspid regurgitation velocity >3.4 m/s, PA systolic pressure >50 mmHg with/without additional echocardiographic variables suggestive of PH	Ι	В
Exercise Doppler echocardiography is not recommended for screening of PH	III	С
Reproduced with permission from [125] ^a Class of recommendation ^b Level of recommendation		

15.2.2.2 Diagnosis and Classification

PAH is defined as a mean pulmonary arterial pressure (mPAP) greater than 25 mmHg at rest with a normal pulmonary capillary wedge pressure (PCWP) of 15 mmHg or less and a pulmonary vascular resistance (PVR) greater than 3 Wood units [232]. Screening is crucial in all patients with risk factors for PAH, such as bone morphogenetic protein receptor 2 (BMPR2) mutation, first-degree relative with BMPR2 mutation, history of anorexigen intake (fenfluramine), HIV infection, portal hypertension, CHD with systemic-to-pulmonary shunt, systemic sclerosis, recent acute pulmonary embolism, and sickle cell disease (SCD) [232]. If clinical, radiologic, and electrocardiographic findings raise the suspicion of PH, a Doppler echocardiogram is the screening test of choice, providing an estimate of the RV systolic pressure and RV function, as well as allowing identification of potential cardiac causes of PH [230, 232]. Common echocardiographic findings seen in patients with PAH include enlargement of right-sided chambers, abnormal surface of the interventricular septum, and underfilled left atrium and left ventricle [232]. The European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS) proposed a series of arbitrary criteria for establishing the presence of PH based on echocardiographic findings that have been shown to correlate with PH on right heart catheterization (RHC) (Table 15.1) [125]. In cases where a tricuspid regurgitation profile cannot be determined by conventional echocardiography, intravenous saline or encapsulated microbubble contrast agents can be administered to enhance the signal [147, 232]. Patients with abnormal echocardiograms, including RV systolic pressure greater than 40 mmHg, should be further evaluated [232].

Table 15.2 WHO clinical classification of pulmonary hypertension (Dana Point, 2008)

- 1. Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH)
 - 1.1. Idiopathic PAH
 - 1.2. Heritable
 - 1.2.1. BMPR2
 - 1.2.2. ALK1, endoglin (with or without hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia)
 - 1.2.3. Unknown
 - 1.3. Drugs and toxin-induced
 - 1.4. Associated with
 - 1.4.1. Connective tissue disease
 - 1.4.2. HIV infection
 - 1.4.3. Portal hypertension
 - 1.4.4. Congenital heart disease
 - 1.4.5. Schistosomiasis
 - 1.4.6. Chronic hemolytic anemia
 - 1.5. Persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn
- 1' Pulmonary veno-occlusive disease (PVOD) and/or pulmonary capillary hemangiomatosis (PCH)
- 2. Pulmonary hypertension owing to left heart disease
 - 2.1. Systolic dysfunction
 - 2.2. Diastolic dysfunction
 - 2.3. Valvular disease
- 3. Pulmonary hypertension owing to lung disease and/or hypoxia
 - 3.1. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
 - 3.2. Interstitial lung disease
 - 3.3. Other pulmonary diseases with mixed restrictive and obstructive pattern
 - 3.4. Sleep-disordered breathing
 - 3.5. Alveolar hypoventilation disorders
 - 3.6. Chronic exposure to high altitudes
 - 3.7. Developmental abnormalities
- 4. Chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTEPH)
- 5. Pulmonary hypertension with unclear multifactorial mechanisms
 - 5.1. Hematologic disorders, myeloproliferative disorders, splenectomy
 - 5.2. Systemic disorders: sarcoidosis, pulmonary Langerhans cell histiocytosis, lymphangioleiomyomatosis, neurofibromatosis, vasculitis
 - 5.3. Metabolic disorders: glycogen storage disease, Gaucher disease, thyroid disorders
 - 5.4. Others: tumoral obstruction, fibrosing mediastinitis, chronic renal failure on dialysis

Reproduced with permission from [317]

When continuing evaluation of these patients, all causes of PH (including PAH and non-PAH causes) must be considered in order to guide proper management [232]. The revised WHO classification of PH (Dana Point 2008) is shown in Table 15.2 [317]. Although all of the secondary causes of PH should be evaluated before establishing the diagnosis of PAH, excluding chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTEPH) is particularly important because the management of these patients is very different, as some patients may be eligible for surgical treatment

[248], and this condition may coexist in the presence of other risk factors for PAH such as scleroderma [232]. The screening test of choice for ruling out CTEPH is the ventilation/perfusion lung scan, since a normal result virtually rules out this condition [148, 232, 248]. Despite the usefulness of the V/Q scan in patients without underlying lung disease, pulmonary multidetector CT angiography (MDCTA) is now considered the gold standard for the diagnosis of CTEPH because it allows identification of thrombosis, concomitant lung changes, and can aid in the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism in patients with preexisting lung disease [176]. Even though Doppler echocardiography aids in the detection of possible PH, the only way to confirm the diagnosis is through RHC [232, 248]. Once left ventricular or valvular disease (Group 2), lung disease (Group 3), and CTEPH (Group 4) are excluded, a RHC showing a mPAP greater than 25 mmHg and a PVR greater than 3 Wood units with a normal PCWP <15 mmHg confirm the presence of PAH, which means that it remains a diagnosis of exclusion [232].

The most recent classification of PH was established in the fourth World Symposium on Pulmonary Hypertension that was held in Dana Point in 2008 [317]. Patients with PAH should be classified into one of the five groups shown in Table 15.2 [317].

Idiopathic Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and Heritable Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension: Groups 1.1 and 1.2

IPAH is sporadic and unrelated to any family history or identified risk factor [317]. Heritable PAH is diagnosed when there are mutations of genes that have been identified as having a strong association with the PAH phenotype, such as the *BMPR2* gene, which is present in 70 % of heritable cases. Other mutations that have been identified in patients with PAH are located in the activin receptor-like kinase type 1 (*ALK1*) or endoglin (*ENG*) genes [248, 317]. Some studies have also suggested that mutations in the Smad proteins and caveolin-1 (*CAV1*) genes may also predispose to PAH [9, 18, 28, 259, 316]. It is critical that these patients get involved in a comprehensive program that includes genetic testing, counseling, and discussion of risks and benefits [21, 317].

Drug and Toxin-Induced PAH: Group 1.3

Drug and toxin-induced PAH is further classified depending on the strength of the association between the exposure and the presence of disease, but the main substances that have been found to have a strong association with PAH are anorexigens (aminorex, fenfluramine) and toxic rapeseed oil. Other agents that have been related to PAH include cocaine, phenylpropanolamine, St. John's Wort, chemotherapeutic medications, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), and amphetamines [317]. However, further studies are needed to establish the true association of these latter substances.

Associated with PAH: Group 1.4

Associated with PAH (APAH) includes connective tissue disorders, congenital systemic-to-pulmonary shunts, portal hypertension, HIV infection, schistosomiasis, and chronic hemolytic anemia [232].

PAH Associated with Connective Tissue Diseases: Group 1.4.1

The presence of PAH has been well established in systemic sclerosis, with an estimated prevalence of 7–12 % and is associated with poor prognosis in this group of patients [138, 248, 253]. The presence of PAH has also been reported in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and mixed connective tissue disease, but the exact prevalence has not been determined [317]. Other mechanisms may be involved in the induction of PH in these patients, such as left heart dysfunction, lung fibrosis, and primary cardiac involvement, which highlights the importance of determining the true cause of PH with RHC.

PAH Associated with HIV Infection: Group 1.4.2

The presence of PAH in patients with HIV infection is rare, with a prevalence of 0.5 % [28, 317]. Clinical, hemodynamic, and histological findings are very similar to those seen in IPAH patients [28, 317]. Concomitant PAH in patients with HIV significantly worsens their prognosis [243].

Porto-pulmonary Hypertension: Group 1.4.3

PAH associated with an increase in the pressure of the portal circulation is classified as porto-pulmonary hypertension (POPH) [248]. Some prospective studies have shown a prevalence of 5–6 % in patients with advanced liver disease [303]. POPH is also a predictor of poor prognosis, since these patients are usually not eligible for liver transplantation due to the high perioperative morbidity and mortality that have been documented in this population [303]. RHC should be performed to accurately diagnose PAH, since other factors, such as fluid overload and diastolic dysfunction, may elevate the pressure of the pulmonary vasculature in patients with portal hypertension [317].

Congenital Heart Diseases: Group 1.4.4

PAH is a fairly common complication of CHD in patients that have left-to-right shunts [81, 317]. It is estimated that 4–15 % of patients with CHD will develop PAH [81] and the most common anomalies associated with PAH are ventricular septal defects (VSD) [104]. Patients with CHD who develop PAH are classified into four groups: Eisenmenger's syndrome, PAH associated with systemic-to-pulmonary shunts, PAH with small defects, and PAH after corrective cardiac surgery [81, 317]. Eisenmenger's syndrome is the most severe form of PAH in this context, where there is a reversal of the initial shunt to a right-to-left shunt, where deoxygenated

blood is being returned to the systemic circulation and cyanosis ensues along with other potential complications such as blood hyperviscosity, hemostasis, stroke, and endocarditis [81].

Schistosomiasis: Group 1.4.5

Before the Dana Point classification of PH, schistosomiasis was listed under the subgroup of chronic thrombotic or thromboembolic disease. Nevertheless, recent evidence has shown that the obstructive mechanism of schistosoma eggs plays a minor role in the induction of PH in this group of patients, and clinical and pathological findings resemble those of IPAH [248, 317]. Although the exact mechanisms responsible for the induction of PH in patients with schistosomiasis remain largely unknown, the inflammatory response to the schistosoma antigens with the release of cytokines that have also been proven to be upregulated in IPAH, as well as the presence of hepatosplenic disease and portal hypertension likely plays an important role [133]. For these reasons, schistosomiasis is now listed under Group 1 of the Dana Point Classification [248, 317].

Chronic Hemolytic Anemia: Group 1.4.6

PAH has been identified as a complication of many hemolytic anemias including SCD, thalassemia, hereditary spherocytosis, stomacytosis, and microangiopathic hemolytic anemia [317]. Histological findings seen in IPAH have been commonly described in patients with SCD [317]. However, the true prevalence of PAH in these patients remains unknown since most epidemiological studies have defined the presence of PH in terms of echocardiography rather than RHC [317]. Such studies have documented a prevalence of 20–30 % in patients with SCD and 10–75 % in patients with thalassemia [219]. The pathophysiology of PAH induced by hemolysis is not entirely understood, but mechanisms such as inactivation of nitric oxide (NO) by free hemoglobin, depletion of L-arginine in the presence of elevated arginase, and increased endothelin-1 (ET-1) responses have been described [110, 250, 301].

Pulmonary veno-occlusive disease (PVOD) and pulmonary capillary hemangiomatosis (PCH) are rare conditions that were included in Group 1 of the most recent WHO classification of PH (Dana Point 2008) [317]. This inclusion was based on the similarities of PVOD/PCH and PAH regarding histologic findings, clinical presentation, risk factors, and potential for inheritance [317]. Nevertheless, they are still considered separate conditions classified as 1' (Table 15.2) [317].

As discussed above, PAH is a diagnosis of exclusion and both PAH and non-PAH causes of PH may overlap. Therefore, it is crucial to evaluate and classify patients based on their etiology of PH and WHO group (Table 15.2), and confirm that the elevated pressure is limited exclusively to the pulmonary arterial system [90]. This can only be accomplished with a RHC, which remains an indispensable tool in the assessment of patients with PH [90]. Additionally, this test gives further information that is useful to determine prognosis, such as the severity of the hemodynamic impairment and the vasoreactivity of the pulmonary circulation [125]. The diagnostic PH algorithm established by the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force (ACCF/AHA) experts can be found in Fig. 15.1 [125, 232].



Fig. 15.1 Diagnostic algorithm for pulmonary hypertension. Reproduced with permission from [125]

15.2.2.3 Gold Standard and Pathological Findings

The gold standard for the diagnosis of PAH is the RHC since it is defined by hemodynamic criteria [125, 232]. Lung biopsy in patients with PAH is not recommended, since it has a high morbidity and mortality in this group of patients and is unlikely to change the diagnosis or treatment [125]. Therefore, the natural history of vascular lesions that occur in PAH is not entirely known because biopsies are not regularly obtained in these patients [232]. Arterial abnormalities seen in histological studies of patients with PAH include intimal hyperplasia, inflammation, adventitial proliferation, medial hypertrophy, thrombosis in situ, abnormal muscularization of nonmuscular precapillary arteries, and plexiform arteriopathy [232, 284].

15.2.2.4 Prognosis

Despite a better understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms involved in PAH and the improvement in treatment options, the long-term prognosis remains poor [232]. Data from the French Network on Pulmonary Hypertension Registry revealed a survival rate of 83 % (95 % CI 72–95 %) at 1 year, 57 % (95 % CI 57–79 %) at 2 years, and 58 % at 3 years [158].

15.2.3 Pathophysiology

PH results from an increase in PVR and restriction in blood flow through the pulmonary vascular circulation, finally leading to altered right heart function [232]. Elevation of PVR and decreases in pulmonary vascular compliance cause increased RV afterload, which ultimately results in adaptive RV hypertrophy [221]. If the pressure overload persists, the RV eventually dilates and becomes dysfunctional, leading to increase in RV contraction time, asynchrony, and decreased RV stroke volume [221]. All of the latter changes result in underfilling of the left ventricle (LV) and subsequent reduction in cardiac output [126, 221, 223].

The main cause of elevated PVR is the reduction in luminal cross section due to vascular remodeling, which results from altered cell growth, apoptosis, migration, and production of extracellular matrix [5, 232]. Various stimuli can induce vascular remodeling, including mechanical forces (changes in transmural pressure, stretch, shear stress), inflammatory cytokines, serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine [5-HT]), hypoxia, growth factors, angiotensin II (AT-II), endothelin-1 (ET-1), increased serine elastase activity, and increased production of ROS [5]. All of these stimuli induce changes in different cells that are responsible for the changes seen in vascular remodeling, mainly endothelial cells (EC) and smooth muscle cells (SMC) [5].

15.2.3.1 Pulmonary Arterial Endothelial Cells

Pulmonary arterial endothelial cells (PAEC) that are exposed to injury caused by the various stimuli mentioned above may become dysfunctional and respond in ways that contribute to vascular remodeling [5]. This remodeling occurs through the release of agents that stimulate proliferation of pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells (PASMC), such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) and/or failure to produce factors that suppress proliferation of PASMC, such as apelin [284]. Furthermore, PAEC from patients with IPAH have increased expression of the Tie2 receptor, which results in increased production of 5-HT and subsequent PASMC proliferation (Fig. 15.2) [5, 91, 284]. Moreover, dysfunctional PAEC seen in PH generate less nitric oxide (NO) as a result of uncoupling of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS), which ultimately leads to an increase in the production of ROS, particularly superoxide (Fig. 15.2) [5]. The effect of ROS in pulmonary vascular remodeling is further discussed in the next section. Uncoupling of eNOS is related to low levels of enzymatic cofactors L-arginine and tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄) [200]. L-Arginine depletion results from the upregulation of arginase, which has been documented both in animal and human EC exposed to different stimuli, including hypoxia, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), shear stress, and inflammatory cytokines [105]. Increased asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) has also been found to be elevated in patients with PH [5, 312]. ADMA is an endogenous analogue of L-arginine and competes for the substrate binding site of eNOS, which can further contribute to the uncoupling of the enzyme [5, 284].



Fig. 15.2 Overview of mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of PAH. Diverse stimuli result in endothelial dysfunction and abnormal PASMC proliferation. Decreased NO production in PAEC due to eNOS uncoupling attenuates relaxation of PASMC and promotes vasoconstriction. Factors that contribute to eNOS uncoupling include decreased arginine, increased ADMA, enhanced arginase activity, low BH₄, and disruption of the zinc tetrathiolate (ZnS₄) cluster.

ADMA has also been shown to contribute to mitochondrial dysfunction through the increase of uncoupling protein-2 (UCP2), which leads to augmented mitochondrial ROS (mROS) production and decreased ATP synthesis (Fig. 15.2) [5, 329].

In addition to decreased synthesis of the vasodilator NO, dysfunctional endothelial cells also produce lower levels of prostacyclin, and higher levels of vasoactive substances such as ET-1, AT-II, and thromboxane A₂ (TXA₂), and growth factors, namely PDGF, transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), FGF-2, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [5, 100, 227, 361]. All of these may stimulate PASMC proliferation in vascular remodeling [5]. Finally, PAEC from patients with PAH seem to have increased glycolytic activity and a highly proliferative response to growth factors, which contributes to the formation of plexiform lesions [5, 284, 382]. PAEC seen in these lesions exhibit increased levels of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) subunits (HIF-1 α and HIF-1 β), which induce VEGF under hypoxic conditions [5, 342].

Elevated expression of VEGF and VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2) has been documented in plexiform lesions of patients with PAH [221, 342]. VEGF promotes survival and suppresses apoptosis in PAEC [221, 305]. However, mice and rats exposed to hypoxia combined with the VEGFR2 inhibitor, SU5416, develop PAH [221, 353]. Moreover, VEGF is decreased in the monocrotaline (MCT) rat model of PAH,

Fig. 15.2 (continued) The eNOS uncoupling not only results in lower NO levels but also increases ROS production. Upregulation of NADPH oxidase subunits further contributes to the generation of ROS. Altered function of potassium Kv channels in PASMC leads to membrane depolarization and opening of voltage-dependent calcium channels. Influx of calcium ions stimulates additional release of Ca2+ from the SR. Increased [Ca2+]cvt and upregulated membrane receptors (5-HT, ET-1, leukotrienes) decrease apoptosis and stimulate cell proliferation. Increased Ang-1 downregulates BMPR1A in PAEC and enhances 5-HT production, promoting PASMC contraction and proliferation. As a result of BMPRII mutations, PASMC display dysfunctional BMP signaling pathways, which normally inhibit cell proliferation and stimulate cell apoptosis. Mitochondrial dysfunction leads to increased ROS production and is evidenced by the low levels of SOD2, high levels of UCP2, and impaired function of complexes I and II. Increased activity of XO also results in higher production of ROS. Increased expression of the STAT3/Pim1/Src/NFAT axis and suppression of miR-204 also promote cellular proliferation and reduce apoptosis. TGF- β and BMP4 increase the expression of miR-143/miR-145 through the stimulation of Myocd and MRTF-A, respectively. These miRNAs inhibit KLF4 which ultimately results in enhanced contractile gene expression. PAEC pulmonary arterial endothelial cells, eNOS endothelial nitric oxide synthase, NADPH nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate, TGF- β transforming growth factor β , TGFRI type I receptor for TGF- β , *TGFRII* type II receptor for TGF- β , *BH*₄ tetrahydrobiopterin, *ADMA* asymmetric dimethylarginine, DDAH2 dimethylaminohydrolase-2, TIE2 tyrosine protein kinase receptor, Ang-1 angiopoietin, BMP bone morphogenetic protein, BMPR1A BMP receptor 1A, BMPR1 BMP type I receptor, BMPRII BMP type II receptor, 5-HT 5-hydroxytryptamine, PASMC pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells, VDCC voltage-dependent calcium channel, PIP2 phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate, PLC phospholipase C, IP3 inositol triphosphate, DAG diacylglycerol, PKC protein kinase C, ROC receptor-operated calcium channel, SR sarcoplasmic reticulum, Kv channel voltage-gated potassium channel, SOD2 superoxide dismutase 2, UCP2 uncoupling protein-2, HIF-1 α hypoxia-inducible factor α , XO xanthine oxidase, RAGE receptor for advanced glycation endproducts, AGE advanced glycation endproducts, RTK receptor tyrosine kinase, PDGF platelet-derived growth factor, VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor, STAT3 signal transducer and activator, NFAT nuclear factor of activated T-cells, MRTF myocardin-related transcription factor, Myocd myocardin, KLF4 Krüppel-like factor 4

which correlates with early endothelial injury. Overexpression of VEGF also protects against chronic hypoxia and MCT exposure, and VEGFR inhibition results in initial EC apoptosis with subsequent selection of EC clones that are resistant to apoptosis and form angio-obliterative lesions [221, 353]. Therefore, VEGF appears to play a crucial role in angiogenesis and EC growth after vascular injury. Other factors associated with plexiform lesions are angiopoietin 1, 5-lipoxygenase, survivin, and Ki-67 [5, 129, 131, 375]. However, the exact mechanisms responsible for the formation of plexiform lesions are not completely understood [5].

15.2.3.2 Pulmonary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells

Many pathologic changes take place in the SMC layer of PAs during vascular remodeling. Proximal vessels usually undergo significant hypertrophy, while smaller resistance vessels commonly show hyperplasia [5, 231, 238]. Matrix protein deposition is also a characteristic feature of the muscular layer of PAs in PAH, where SMC seem to acquire a more synthetic, rather than contractile, phenotype, with larger endoplasmic reticula and Golgi apparatus, and increased production of collagen and elastin [5, 238]. Muscularization of otherwise nonmuscular blood vessels results from differentiation of pericytes into SMC and hypertrophy of SMC precursor cells [5, 284].

Factors that have been identified in the induction of SMC hypertrophy include bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4), TGF- β 1, 5-HT, ET-1, inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK- 3β), and activation of p70S6 kinase [5, 174]. Abnormal activation of transcription factors (HIF-1 α and nuclear factor of activated T-cells [NFAT]), increased expression of survivin and PDGF, calcium overload, mitochondrial hyperpolarization, and decreased expression of voltage-gated potassium channels (Kv) all contribute to the increased survival and decreased apoptosis of PASMC seen in PAH (Fig. 15.2) [221, 232].

Finally, in vitro studies have shown that PASMC from PAH patients have higher mRNA and protein levels of Notch 3 and HES-5 [221]. Notch participates in vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and differentiation of vascular SMC [11, 221]. HES-5, a target gene for Notch 3, is exclusively expressed in adult SMC and may be involved in SMC maturation and proliferation [53, 96, 221, 279].

15.2.3.3 Neointima Formation

The formation of a layer of cells and extracellular matrix between the endothelium and the internal elastic lamina occurs in severe PH [5, 387]. The neointima is composed of myofibroblasts that express SM markers such as smooth muscle α -actin and vimentin [5]. These cells lack markers of highly differentiated SMC, such as SM-myosin heavy chain, and do not exhibit EC markers either [5, 387]. The exact origin of these cells is unclear. They may originate in stem cells, transdifferentiation of endothelial cells, migration of SMC from the media, or migration of adventitial fibroblasts [5, 284]. This currently remains a subject of intense study [284].

15.2.3.4 Changes in the Adventitia

PAH is associated with thickening and disorganization of the pulmonary adventitia, with excessive activation of adventitial metalloproteases [232]. In patients with PAH related to collagen vascular diseases such as scleroderma, the adventitia appears markedly remodeled [5]. Activation of fibroblasts by different stimuli can induce a phenotypic change in these cells, altering their structure and functional behavior [5]. An example of this is the induction of a contractile phenotype in fibroblasts by TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 [5, 387]. The activation and proliferation of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts result in thickening of the adventitia in PH, and some studies have shown that these changes precede remodeling of the intima and SMC layer, which suggests that the initial detection of vascular injury might take place in the adventitia [5, 146].

15.2.3.5 Genes and Transcription Factors Involved in PAH

Genes associated with PAH have helped to identify potential mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of the disease. Studies have shown that approximately 70 % of patients with heritable pulmonary arterial hypertension (HPAH) and 10–20 % of patients with IPAH are heterozygous for a mutation in *BMPR2*, which is a member of the TGF- β superfamily of growth factor receptors [284]. HPAH is inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion with incomplete penetrance and genetic anticipation [232]. The impaired function of the BMPR2 results in a loss of function of the SMAD signaling pathway, causing proliferation and decreased apoptosis of PASMC in response to TGF- β and BMP2 (Fig. 15.2) [232]. On the other hand, BMPR2 impairment in EC results in increased susceptibility to apoptosis, which alters the normal migration and survival of EC needed in angiogenesis and regeneration of damaged blood vessels (Fig. 15.2) [85, 284]. Abnormal BMPR2 signaling has also been associated with increased ET-1 production in human lung microvascular EC [221, 324].

Recently, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) has been shown to participate in aberrant PASMC proliferation [221, 272]. IL-6, TGF- β , PDGF, VEGF, ET-1, and AT-II can activate STAT3, which in turn increases the expression of Pim1 (Fig. 15.2) [221, 272, 390]. PIM1 promotes the activation of NFAT, increasing cytokine secretion, enhancing PASMC proliferation, and suppressing PASMC apoptosis (Fig. 15.2) [221, 287]. STAT3 has also been implicated in induction of survivin expression through activation of Krüppel-like factor 5 (KLF5) and in downregulation of eNOS expression (Fig. 15.2) [74, 221].

Moreover, studies have shown that mice with deletion of the peroxisome proliferator-activator receptor gamma (PPAR- γ) gene develop spontaneous PAH [136], and mutations in this gene have also been identified in patients with severe PH [5, 12, 284]. PPAR- γ participates in the antiproliferative effect of BMP2 signaling in PASMC, which is BMPR2/PPAR- γ /ApoE dependent [8, 140, 221]. The receptor of advanced glycation end products (RAGE) is an upstream target of PPAR- γ in PAH, and has been shown to activate STAT3 and downregulate BMPR2

and PPAR- γ in PAH-PASMC (Fig. 15.2) [221, 236]. Furthermore, BMP2mediated survival of PAEC depends on the formation of a nuclear complex between β -catenin and PPAR- γ [8]. One of the transcriptional targets of this complex is apelin, which is reduced in patients with IPAH [8]. Apelin promotes PAEC survival and migration, and suppresses PASMC growth [284]. Apelin-deficient PAEC have increased apoptosis and promote PASMC proliferation [8, 221]. Other genes that have been associated with the PAH phenotype include *ALK1*, *ENG*, and *CAV1* [18, 59, 142, 218, 221].

15.2.3.6 MicroRNAs Involved in PAH

miRs are now of great interest in the study of diseases that display abnormal cell growth, since they are involved in various posttranscriptional regulatory mechanisms [221]. In PAH, only few miRs have been identified as being abnormally expressed [221]. Downregulation of miR-204 in PAH-PASMC was found to correlate with PAH severity and higher cell proliferation [74]. It was shown that downregulated levels of miR-204 enhance a constitutive activation of Src and STAT3, leading to an increase in PASMC proliferation (Fig. 15.2) [74]. Additionally, downregulates BMPR2 and further contributes to the proliferative phenotype of PAH-PASMC [221, 272]. IL-6 is a potent activator of STAT3, which means that these interactions result in a feed-forward loop between miR-204 downregulation and STAT3 (Fig. 15.2) [221].

Src and p53 pathways regulate the organization of miR-145 and miR-143, which are involved in SMC differentiation and proliferation [221, 283]. TGF- β and BMP4 stimulate the expression of myocardin (Myocd) and Myocd-related transcription factor A (MRTF-A), respectively. These factors in turn activate miR-143 and miR-145 transcription, resulting in decreased KLF4 expression and promotion of contractile gene expression in SMC (Fig. 15.2) [83, 221]. Plexiform and concentric lesions seen in patients with PAH display abnormal expression of miR-143/miR-145 and mice exposed to hypoxia show elevated levels of miR-145 [54, 221].

In PAEC, expression of miR-126 appears to be dysregulated specifically in plexiform lesions [36, 221]. This miR plays an important role in neovascularization, EC proliferation, and vascular integrity, and regulates factors involved in apoptosis and modulation of cell cycle arrest [221, 355, 391]. Other miRs that have been found to contribute to the pathogenesis of PAH include miR-150, which is reduced in patients with PAH and is associated with decreased NK cells and B1 cell expansion; miR-210, the miR most highly upregulated by hypoxia [195, 221]; miR-21, which is highly upregulated in hypoxia and appears to participate in abnormal proliferation and migration of PASMC [221]; and miR-17, which is also upregulated in hypoxia, and targets p21 and Janus kinase (JAK1) impairing angiogenic functions of endothelial cells [221]. miRs remain a subject of intense study, since they are regarded as useful biomarkers, prognostic tools, and potential targets for future therapies [221].

15.3 Oxidative Stress and PAH

Several studies have implicated oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of PAH. Oxidative and nitrosative stress are characterized by an imbalance between oxidant and antioxidant production that can lead to downstream cell and tissue damage. Oxidative stress in PAH is associated with increased production of ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), decreased nitric oxide (NO) levels, and mitochondrial dysfunction. Dysregulation of ROS/RNS/NO homeostasis can impair vascular tone and lead to activation of antiapoptotic and mitogenic pathways resulting in cell hyperproliferation and obliteration of the vasculature in PAH.

ROS are produced from oxygen during normal metabolic processes. ROS can be characterized as either free radicals, reactive molecules with one or more unpaired electrons, or nonradicals, molecules which share unpaired electrons between two free radicals [34] (Table 15.3). Hydroxyl radical ('OH) is considered the most reactive free radical in biological systems [335]. In the lung, ROS can be generated by alveolar epithelial cells, endothelial cells, alveolar macrophages, neutrophils, and eosinophils. In the pulmonary vasculature, ROS can be produced by complexes in the cell membrane, within mitochondria and peroxisomes, and from within the cytoplasm. The major enzymatic sources of ROS include uncoupled eNOS, xanthine oxidase (XO), nicotine adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (NOX), and mitochondrial electron transport enzymes (Fig. 15.3). RNS are various nitrogen-containing species (Table 15.3) that can alter protein function via S-nitrosylation, tyrosine nitration, and glutathionylation. NO is the predominant source of nitrosative stress and, at high concentrations, can react with ROS to generate other RNS, including peroxynitrite, ONOO⁻.

Oxidative stress			
Free radicals		Nonradicals	
Hydroxyl radical	OH.	Hydrogen peroxide	H_2O_2
Superoxide anion	O_2	Hypochloric acid	HOCl
Peroxyl radical	ROO'	Ozone	O_3
Hydroperoxyl radical	HOO.	Lipid peroxide	LOOH
Lipid peroxyl	LOO.		
Nitrosative stress			
Nitric oxide	NO [•]		
Peroxynitrite anion	ONOO ⁻		
Nitrogen dioxide	NO_2		
Nitrite	NO_2^{-}		
Nitrate	NO_3^{-}		

Table 15.3 Major oxidants



Fig. 15.3 Overview of the mechanisms involved in ROS production and antioxidant mechanisms that counterbalance this oxidative stress. eNOS uncoupling due to decreased arginine, increased ADMA, enhanced arginase activity, low BH₄, and disruption of the zinc tetrathiolate (ZnS₄) cluster results in increased production of superoxide. Upregulation of NADPH oxidase subunits and xanthine oxidase further contributes to the generation of ROS. Superoxide dismutase catalyzes the conversion of superoxide to hydrogen peroxide. Hydrogen peroxide is reduced by catalase and glutathione peroxidase. *XO* xanthine oxidase, *SOD2* superoxide dismutase 2, *UCP2* uncoupling protein-2, *HIF-1a* hypoxia-inducible factor α , *BH*₄ tetrahydrobiopterin, *ADMA* asymmetric dimethylarginine, *DDAH2* dimethylaminohydrolase-2, *NADPH* nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate, *SOD* superoxide dismutase, *GPx* glutathione peroxidase, *GSSG* glutathione disulfide

15.3.1 Mediators and Molecular Mechanisms of Oxidative Stress in PAH

15.3.1.1 Nitric Oxide Dysregulation

NO is a gaseous lipophilic free radical and primary pulmonary vasodilator produced and released by the endothelium. In addition to regulating vascular tone, NO attenuates platelet aggregation and inhibits vascular SMC proliferation and migration within the vascular wall [404]. NO is biosynthesized during the conversion of the amino acid L-arginine to L-citrulline by a family of enzymes called nitric oxide synthases (NOS). Three different isoforms of NOS have been identified including



Fig. 15.4 Nitric oxide signaling in PAH. Oxidative stress and nitric oxide (NO) dysregulation in the pathogenesis of PAH. (1) Biosynthesis of NO from the amino acid L-arginine by the enzyme endothelial nitric oxide synthases (eNOS) with L-citrulline as a side product and important cofactors such tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄), calcium, and heme. (2) Uncoupling of eNOS—when cofactors are limited and there is production of ROS, superoxide (O_2^{-}) and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). (3) Binding of NO to its target protein, soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC) and conversion of guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to cGMP resulting in blood vessel dilation (4). (5) Cleavage of cGMP by PDE5 into 5'GMP leading to inhibition of NO signaling resulting in vessel contraction

neuronal NOS (nNOS), inducible NOS (iNOS/NOS2), and endothelial NOS (eNOS). The production of NO by NOS requires NADPH and O_2 , as well as the cofactors tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄), flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD), flavin mononucleotide (FMN), and Ca²⁺/calmodulin (CaM) [52, 220] (Fig. 15.4).

After release from endothelial cells, NO binds to soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC) in vascular cells and converts guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to cGMP, which leads to activation of downstream cGMP-dependent signaling [77, 270]. cGMP is a transient signaling molecule, as it is rapidly cleaved by phosphodiesterases (PDEs), predominantly PDE5, into 5'GMP, thereby inhibiting NO signaling (Fig. 15.4). Although eNOS-derived NO is primarily responsible for endothelium-dependent vasodilation, iNOS has also been shown to regulate pulmonary vascular tone [111, 113].

In mice, deletion of eNOS results in systemic hypertension [157] and mild PH [326], while eNOS overexpression leads to systemic hypotension [130, 265]. Exposure of eNOS-deficient mice to chronic hypoxia exacerbates PH and right ventricular hypertrophy (RVH) [327] and administration of inhaled NO attenuates hypoxia-induced PH, RVH, and vascular remodeling in rats [192, 297, 300]. In addition, recent findings demonstrate that endothelial-like progenitor cells (ELPC) expressing eNOS reverse MCT-induced PH [395] and attenuate right ventricular systolic pressure (RVSP) and pulmonary arterial muscularization in a lung lobectomy model of PH [366]. Taken together, these findings suggest a critical role for dysregulation of eNOS-derived NO in the pathogenesis of PAH.

While there is general consensus that NO signaling is impaired in PAH, it remains unclear whether this is primarily due to reduced synthesis, decreased bioavailability, decreased responsiveness, or increased consumption of NO. Some studies have demonstrated attenuated bioavailability of NO via hemoglobin and superoxide scavenging [154] or by increased hemolysis in fatal PAH [156].

15.3.1.2 eNOS Regulation

NO synthesis and bioavailability in the pulmonary vasculature are dependent upon the regulation of eNOS [60]. eNOS expression is controlled by two regulatory regions, the positive regulatory domains I and II, and its transcription is regulated by many cofactors acting by complex *cis* and *trans* interactions [309]. Additionally, methylation of nucleotides in those regions specifies vascular endothelial cell expression of eNOS [55]. Following eNOS protein translation, its compartmentalization activity is regulated by phosphorylation of specific serine and threonine residues [42, 43, 69, 194, 252], as well as additional posttranslational modifications (myristoylation and palmitoylation) which allow for eNOS localization to the plasma membrane and subsequent targeting to caveolae [263], where caveolin-1 (Cav-1) regulates intracellular NO signaling [255].

In addition to the Cav-1/caveolae trafficking system [145, 255, 302], the chaperon Hsp90 has also been identified as a regulator of eNOS activity by its rapid binding upon EC activation [386]. One possible mechanism of this regulation is through interaction of eNOS and Hsp90 with CaM. Following VEGF stimulation of EC, there is disruption of the Ca²⁺/CaM-dependent eNOS/Cav-1 complex and promotion of Hsp90 and eNOS association. The Hsp90/eNOS complex is then triggered for VEGF-activated Akt-dependent phosphorylation of eNOS [49, 336]. Prolonged exposure of cells to Ca²⁺ results in degradation of eNOS and Hsp90, followed by a decrease in NO production [19]. It has also been shown that Hsp90 as an adaptor protein binds eNOS to sGC, allowing cGMP signaling to take place and facilitating responses to NO donors [350, 386].

15.3.1.3 Uncoupling of eNOS in PAH

In addition to impaired NO signaling in the pathobiology of PAH, "eNOS uncoupling" in conditions of substrate/cofactor deficiency or RNS production in the setting of NO excess can lead to decreases in NO bioavailability and increases in oxidative stress with downstream alterations in vascular tone and aberrant vascular remodeling. eNOS uncoupling can occur in the setting of BH_4 or L-arginine deficiency [196, 200] and results in a shift from NO synthesis to other ROS production with resultant endothelial dysfunction [72] (Fig. 15.4). All three isoforms of NOS contain an oxygenase and a reductase domain, each of which has its own catalytic activity. The oxygenase domain has binding sites for heme and BH_4 , while the reductase domain has binding sites for FAD, FMN, and NADPH. Both domains are linked by the binding site for CaM, an important regulator of NOS function.

For the formation of NO from L-arginine, eNOS requires the critical cofactor BH4, which stabilizes the dimeric structure of eNOS and facilitates binding of L-arginine [73]. When BH₄ levels are insufficient, "eNOS uncoupling" may result with activation of the reductase domain and transfer of electrons to O₂, rather than L-arginine, and production of superoxide (O_2^{-1}) [51] (Fig. 15.4). BH₄ can be oxidized by ROS to BH₂, a competitive BH₄ antagonist [130], which shifts eNOS enzymatic activity towards superoxide production [183]. Deficiency of BH_4 in a mouse model led to spontaneous development of PH under normoxic conditions as well as exaggerated hypoxia-induced PH, vascular remodeling, and RVH, which was secondary to reduced NOS activity and increased superoxide production associated with reduced BH₄ levels [183]. Furthermore, overexpression of GTP-cyclohydrolase 1, the rate-limiting enzyme in BH_4 biosynthesis, prevented PH in mice, and exogenous supplementation of BH4 attenuated MCT-induced PH and muscularization of distal pulmonary arteries in rats [120, 180]. Additionally, the BH₄ analogue, acetyl-7,7dimethyl-7,8-dihydropterin, improved NO-mediated pulmonary artery dilation and induced eNOS expression in the endothelium of rats with hypoxia-induced PH [196].

Further support for eNOS uncoupling in the pathogenesis of PAH comes from Cav-1-deficient mice that develop PH [222, 396] due to increased superoxide [179] and peroxynitrite production and tyrosine nitration-dependent impairment of protein kinase G (PKG) activity secondary to increased eNOS activity and NO levels [398]. Importantly, PH in Cav-1-knockout (KO) mice can be reversed with NOS inhibition and prevented with BH₄ administration in Cav-1-deficient neonatal mice [376, 377].

Uncoupling of eNOS can also occur in the setting of limited L-arginine availability. Although intracellular concentrations of L-arginine typically far exceed what is necessary for NO production [60], arginase can metabolize L-arginine to L-ornithine and urea, and compete with NOS for substrate. Arginase is upregulated in the lungs of mice exposed to hypoxia [173], as well as in hypoxia-exposed SMC [61], and is increased in EC of PAH patients [381]. Increases in arginase lead to endothelial dysfunction [306, 381], increases in EC and SMC proliferation [205], as well as increases in collagen deposition [186]. Inhibition of arginase decreases SMC and EC proliferation [67], and attenuates pulmonary vascular remodeling in an animal PH model [67]. Increased levels of L-arginine have also been implicated in the development of PAH in patients with SCD [154]. In addition to limiting NO availability, increased arginase and enhanced synthesis of ornithine have also been implicated in SMC remodeling and PH [144, 266].

L-Arginine availability can also be influenced by endogenous methylarginines, specifically L-monomethlyl arginine (L-NMMA) and ADMA, which are produced through posttranslational methylation of amino acids in arginine [14, 372] and compete with L-arginine for the binding site on eNOS [51]. Both L-NMMA and ADMA

are eliminated largely through active metabolism by dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase (DDAH) [204]. Levels of ADMA are increased in animal models of PH [17, 241] and have been associated with increased oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction [334]. Furthermore, DDAH levels are reduced in animal models of PH [17, 241] and DDAH1 overexpression in mice has been shown to decrease the sustained phase of hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction (HPV) via activation of the NO-sCG pathway [24]. Additionally, levels of ADMA are increased in the plasma of patients with pediatric and idiopathic PAH [132, 280] and also have been associated with increased pulmonary vascular pressures in decompensated heart failure patients in the intensive care unit [312].

15.3.1.4 NO Reactions with Other ROS: Formation of RNS

Nitrosative stress has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of PAH. NO is the main RNS produced within cells and can react with other ROS such as superoxide to generate peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻). Peroxynitrite is a potent oxidant that nitrates tyrosine residues and can lead to formation of other extremely reactive RNS such as nitrogen dioxide, nitrosoperoxycarbonate anion, nitrite, and nitrate. These RNS can lead to significant alterations in protein structure and function, lipid peroxidation, nucleic acid damage, and cell death. Nitrotyrosine, a product of tyrosine nitration and marker of peroxynitrite, is upregulated in the endothelium and PASMC of rats subjected to chronic hypoxia [87, 167] and hypoxiainduced peroxynitrite production has been shown to increase proliferation in PASMC [3]. Peroxynitrite-mediated tyrosine nitration has also been shown to inactivate prostacyclin synthase leading to reduced levels of prostaglandin I₂ [401], eNOS uncoupling, as well as inhibition of PKG [4, 397]. In addition, peroxynitrite can activate many signaling pathways involved in cell proliferation including ERK and protein kinase C [3]. Moreover, treatment of newborn rats with a ONOO⁻ decomposition catalyst, 5,10,15,20-tetrakis(4-sulfonatophenyl) porphyrinato iron(III) (FeTPPS), attenuated chronic hypoxia-induced PH and decreased proliferation in neonatal PASMC [32].

In addition to tyrosine nitration, RNS can also induce S-nitrosylation and glutathionylation of regulatory proteins that may alter protein function and downstream signaling. Notably, NO can induce S-nitrosylation through formation of dinitrogen trioxide that can covalently link NO to free thiol groups on cysteine residues within proteins leading to formation of *S*-nitrosothiols. Several S-nitrosylation targets may play an important role in modulating oxidative stress and vascular remodeling in PAH including eNOS, sGC, hemoglobin, mitochondrial complex I, NOX, and cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 [224]. The functional effects of S-nitrosylation of several of these key proteins promote vasodilation and decrease oxidative stress, although S-nitrosylation of sGC and eNOS may inhibit NO-mediated effects on vascular tone. In red blood cells (RBC), hypoxia impairs S-nitrosylation of hemoglobin and deficiency of *S*-nitrosohemoglobin (SNO-Hb) is associated with exaggerated HPV and increased pulmonary arterial pressures [233]. Furthermore, restoration of SNO-Hb levels by ethyl nitrite inhalation enhanced vasorelaxation and improved hemodynamics and oxygenation in PAH patients [233]. Although S-nitrosylation-induced vascular alterations appear to be protective in PAH, the role of *S*-nitrosothiols in the pathogenesis of PAH remains incompletely understood.

15.3.1.5 Xanthine Oxidase

Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR) is a critical source of intracellular ROS. It catalyzes the terminal two steps of purine degradation, from hypoxanthine to xanthine and then to uric acid, with release of O_2 and H_2O_2 (Fig. 15.3). It primarily exists in cells as a dehydrogenase reducing NAD+ to NADH, but in the setting of inflammation, oxidation of cysteine residues or limited proteolysis converts xanthine dehydrogenase into xanthine oxidase (XO). XO transfers substrate-derived electrons to O_2 , generating O_2 and H_2O_2 . H_2O_2 is a major ROS product of XOR action under normal and pathophysiological conditions [7, 335] and has been shown to regulate many pathways involved in vascular remodeling including proliferation and Ca²⁺ signaling [143, 356, 389]. H_2O_2 has also been shown to contribute to superoxide production and decreased NO via activation of NOX [208, 400], eNOS uncoupling in an NOX-dependent manner [16, 46], and limiting access to BH₄. Furthermore, H_2O_2 has been shown to inhibit the activity of extracellular superoxide dismutase (EC-SOD) in PASMC and treatment with catalase (which catalyzes decomposition of H_2O_2) enhances EC-SOD activity and decreases superoxide levels in a model of persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN) [363].

XOR is upregulated in the lung and serum of rats exposed to chronic hypoxia and treatment with allopurinol, an XO inhibitor, attenuates hypoxia-induced PH, pulmonary vascular remodeling, and RVH [151, 167]. In addition, XO activity is increased in the plasma of patients with IPAH [124, 321], suggesting a role for XOR-mediated ROS in the pathogenesis of PAH.

15.3.1.6 NADPH Oxidases

ROS produced by oxidases such as NOX are considered a major contributor to oxidative and nitrosative stress in the lungs and pulmonary vasculature [7, 82], and have been shown to play an important role in dysregulation of vascular tone in the setting of hypoxia [118, 211]. The parenchymal family of NOXs includes NOX1, NOX3, NOX4, NOX5, DUOX1, and DUOX2 and the phagocyte NOX includes gp91phox (NOX2). Only NOX1, NOX2, and NOX4 are found in the human vasculature and generate ROS by electron transfer from NADPH to oxygen to generate O_2^{\bullet} that can be further converted to H_2O_2 by cellular superoxide dismutases (SODs). For enzymatic function, each NOX requires several adaptor subunits. In endothelial cells, NOX2 is constitutively associated with p22^{phox} and, after stimulation, p47^{phox} is phosphorylated followed by recruitment of p67^{phox}, p40^{phox}, and Rac1 to the NOX2 complex where it is then able to generate O_2^{\bullet} [20] (Fig. 15.3). In the pulmonary vasculature, NOX1, NOX2, and NOX4, as well as the subunits p22^{phox} p47^{phox}, p67^{phox}, and p40^{phox} are expressed in the lung and pulmonary arteries of mice [246]; however, NOX4 is the predominant NOX upregulated by hypoxia in PASMC [245, 246], PAEC [260], and pulmonary artery adventitial fibroblasts [207]. In addition, p22^{phox} and NOX4 have recently been shown to be upregulated in PASMC in a lamb model of pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN) [362]. Knockdown of NOX4 decreased ROS production and attenuated proliferation in PASMC and pulmonary artery adventitial fibroblasts [207]. In addition, knockdown of NOX4 decreased ROS production and attenuated proliferation in PASMC and pulmonary artery adventitial fibroblasts [207]. In addition, knockdown of NOX4 increased EC-SOD activity as well as attenuated increases in cyclin D1 and NF-κB in PPHN-PASMC [362]. Furthermore, NOX4-derived ROS have been shown to mediate hypoxia-induced decreases in Kv channel current and increase Kv1.5 channel oxidation in PASMC [245].

NOX4 has also been shown to be upregulated by TGF- β in PASMC [328]. TGF- β significantly induced NOX4 expression and ROS in human PASMC in a Smad2/3dependent manner that was attenuated by diphenylene iodonium, an NADPH inhibitor, knockdown of NOX4 by siRNA, and transfection of dominant negative Smad2/3 plasmids. In addition, TGF- β stimulation induced NOX4-dependent increases in proliferation in PASMC and, furthermore, led to increases in contractile protein expression that was redox- but not NOX4 dependent. Furthermore, NOX4 has been shown to be significantly upregulated in the lungs of PAH patients compared with healthy donor control lungs [246].

NOX1 and NOX2 have also been shown to play a potential role in the pathogenesis of PAH. In a chronic hypoxia-induced PH model in mice, deficiency of NOX2 reduced hypoxia-induced ROS production, pulmonary artery vasoreactivity, and attenuated hypoxia-induced increases in RVSP, pulmonary vascular remodeling, and RVH [211]. Interestingly, in a rat MCT-induced PH model, PASMC isolated from MCT-treated rats had increased expression of NOX1 and enhanced superoxide production. Knockdown of NOX1 reduced superoxide production as well as attenuated MCT-induced increases in SOD2, cyclin D1, and phosphorylation of ERK. Furthermore, knockdown of NOX1 attenuated proliferation and migration of PASMC from MCT-treated rats [348].

NOXs have also been shown to play an important role in the endothelium in response to hypoxia [122, 405]. PAEC exposed to hypoxia-reoxygenation had significant release of H_2O_2 compared with control cells and inhibition of NOX with diphenyliodonium attenuated H_2O_2 production in response to hypoxia-reoxygenation [405]. In addition, acute hypoxic vasoconstriction (HPV) was attenuated in p47^{phox}-deficient mice and ex vivo treatment with an NOX inhibitor significantly reduced HPV in isolated perfused rabbit lungs [371]. Although human data on the role of NOX regulation in the pathobiology of PAH is limited, there is strong animal data supporting an important role for NOX-derived ROS in the pathogenesis of PAH. Further study in patients is warranted to elucidate the role of NOX in human PAH and to determine whether NOX represents an effective pathway for therapeutic targeting in PAH.

15.3.1.7 Mitochondria-Derived ROS

Mitochondria are an additional source of ROS production that may play a role in the pathogenesis of PAH [99]. PAH has been reported in patients with genetic alterations in mitochondrial genes [322, 349] and there is growing recognition that metabolic aberrations and mitochondrial dysfunction exist in PASMC and PAEC isolated from patients with PAH [40, 117, 235, 382]. ROS are generated in mitochondria during the electron transport chain when electrons flowing down the redox gradient prematurely react at complexes I and III with O₂ to generate O₂⁻⁻ [98, 103, 370]. There is also data to suggest that complex II may be a source of mROS generation in the lungs from hypoxic mice and the hearts isolated from MCT-treated rats [267, 292]. Additional ROS can be generated in mitochondria from superoxide by manganese SOD2 that catalyzes rapid conversion of O₂⁻⁻ to diffusible H₂O₂ (Fig. 15.3), which can serve as a signaling molecule and regulate transcription factors such as HIF-1 α [57, 137, 235] and sulfhydryl-rich voltage-gated potassium Kv channels [155], which have been shown to play a critical role in PAH.

Debate exists as to whether hypoxia increases or decreases mROS and, furthermore, whether mROS promote or protect against pulmonary vascular remodeling [98, 368]. Previous work has demonstrated that hypoxia increases mROS, Ca²⁺ influx, and PASMC contractility and that inhibition of the electron transport chain attenuates increases in Ca²⁺ and HPV [56, 106, 290, 359]. In addition, hypoxiainduced increases in mROS have also been shown to enhance PASMC proliferation via opening of mitochondrial K⁺_{ATP} channels and overproduction of H₂O₂ [155]. Furthermore, a recent study demonstrates that redox signaling in PASMC in response to hypoxia is dependent upon subcellular mitochondrial compartment location [358].

While supraphysiologic levels of mROS can lead to oxidative damage and cellular dysfunction, mROS are critical regulators of vascular tone and sustained decreases in mROS may lead to upregulation of transcription factors and signaling pathways that promote aberrant vascular remodeling in PAH. Emerging data suggest that mitochondrial function is impaired in PAH and that cellular metabolism is shifted towards glycolysis leading to enhanced cellular proliferation and resistance to apoptosis, similar to cancer cells (i.e., the Warburg effect) [39, 347]. This has been attributed to decreased mROS production, inhibition of Kv channels with subsequent increases in Ca²⁺ signaling, and activation of HIF-1 α and NFAT which promote proliferation and suppress apoptosis [40, 41, 240, 369].

Reduced levels of mROS have been found in animals models of PH including the fawn-hooded rat (FHR) that spontaneously develops PAH [40] and MCT-treated rats [235]. Additionally, PASMC isolated from PAH patients have decreased Kv1.5 expression, increased intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations [Ca²⁺]_i, increased mitochondrial membrane potential, and activation of NFAT [41]. Inhibition of NFAT with VIVIT or cyclosporine restored Kv1.5 expression, decreased [Ca²⁺]_i, and reversed mitochondrial hyperpolarization leading to decreased proliferation and increased apoptosis in PAH-PASMC [41].

In addition, treatment with dichloroacetate (DCA), a pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase (PDK) inhibitor that enhances oxidative phosphorylation, improved mortality and hemodynamics, as well as reversed vascular remodeling and RVH in MCTtreated and chronic hypoxia-exposed rats [235, 239]. DCA was found to reverse MCT-induced vascular remodeling by restoring Kv1.5 expression, depolarizing mitochondria, increasing H_2O_2 production, and inducing apoptosis in PASMC [235, 239]. Furthermore, mitochondrial survivin, a cytoprotective protein that promotes tumorigenesis and inhibits apoptosis in cancer cells [94], has also been shown to be upregulated in MCT-treated rats and in pulmonary arteries of PAH patients [234]. Adenoviral transfection of a dominant negative survivin mutant increased Kv channel current, depolarized mitochondria, attenuated proliferation, and increased apoptosis in PASMC. Intratracheal administration of the survivin mutant in vivo improved hemodynamics and survival and attenuated vascular remodeling in MCTtreated rats [234]. Although conflicting data exists in animal models, mitochondrialderived ROS clearly play an important role in the pulmonary vasculature and mitochondrial dysfunction is increasingly recognized as contributing to the pathobiology of PAH. Future studies are necessary to evaluate whether mitochondrialbased therapies have efficacy in animal models of PH and patients with PAH.

15.3.1.8 Lipid Peroxidation and Isoprostanes

Lipid peroxidation has recently been recognized as an additional source of ROS during pulmonary vascular dysfunction [251]. Isoprostanes, chemically stable isomers of prostanoids, are formed when ROS products (particularly peroxynitrite) react with unsaturated bonds of membrane lipids such as arachidonic acid [168]. As isomers of prostaglandins (PG), they can act on several cell types within the pulmonary vasculature via specific prostanoid receptors, including the thromboxane A₂ receptor (TP), and PGE₂ and PGF₂ α receptors (EP and FP) [109, 169]. In PASMC and EC, isoprostanes can be released in response to stimulation with growth factors (PDGF, TGF- β), pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , interferon- γ , IL-1 β), as well as by ROS (H₂O₂ and O₂⁻⁻) [168]. This can lead to activation of signaling pathways downstream of prostanoid receptors including RhoA/ROCK, phospholipase C (PLC), and cyclic AMP/protein kinase A [168], resulting in vasoconstriction and release of other vasoconstrictors, including endothelin-1 (ET-1) from endothelial cells and PASMC [167, 388].

Isoprostane levels have been shown to be elevated in the lung in animal models of hypoxia- and hyperoxia-induced PH [166, 178]. In addition, inhibition of the TP receptor has been shown to reduce ET-1 production in PASMC, as well as attenuate RVH and lung smooth muscle- α actin expression in a hyperoxia neonatal rat model [166]. Urinary levels of isoprostaglandin F₂ α type-III (iPF₂ α -III), a stable lipid peroxidation product indicative of oxidative stress [298], are significantly elevated in patients with PAH compared with controls [75, 296], as well as in patients with *BMPR2* mutations regardless of disease status [201]. Furthermore, while urinary levels of iPF₂ α -III inversely correlate with vasoreactivity to inhaled NO [75],
increased urinary iPF₂ α -III levels directly correlate with hemodynamic and clinical response to epoprostenol [296], and recently have been found to be independently associated with mortality in PAH patients [76]. Although future studies in animal models and patients will be necessary to further elucidate the role of isoprostanes in PAH, emerging data suggest that isoprostanes may play a role in the pathogenesis of PAH and may serve as a possible lipid peroxidation biomarker in PAH patients.

15.3.2 Oxidative Stress and Animal Models of PH

15.3.2.1 Hypoxia-Induced PH Model

Oxidative stress has been implicated in the pathogenesis of PAH in several animal models of PH (Table 15.4). In the chronic hypoxia model of PH, hypoxia has been shown to induce ROS/RNS production with observed increases in lung superoxide [260], phosphatidylcholine hydroperoxide (PCOOH) [151], isoprostanes [178], nitrotyrosine [87, 167], and oxidized glutathione (GSSG) [261]. Hypoxia has also been shown to increase expression of ROS generators including eNOS [112], NOX2 [211], NOX4 [245, 246], XO [151, 167], and, in some studies, mROS [56, 357, 359]. In addition, hypoxia decreases expression of the antioxidant EC-SOD (SOD3) in the lungs of mice [261] and in pulmonary arteries from calves exposed to chronic hypoxia [143]. Furthermore, several studies have demonstrated efficacy of antioxidants (e.g., *N*-acetyl cysteine) [198], inhibitors of ROS-producing enzymes (e.g., allopurinol) [26, 151, 167], peroxynitrite decomposition catalysts [32], and SOD mimetics [351] in hypoxia-induced PH rodent models [151, 199, 260], suggesting oxidative stress contributes significantly to the pathogenesis of hypoxia-induced PH.

In the hypoxia-induced PH model in newborn pigs, increases in oxidative stress were observed after 3 days of hypoxia with increases in isoprostanes in pulmonary resistance arteries [88]. Additionally, NOX1 and p67^{phox} were increased and SOD1 was decreased in pulmonary arteries from pigs raised in hypoxia for 3 or 10 days. Furthermore, inhibition of NOX with apocynin or treatment with an SOD mimetic+polyethylene glycol-catalase attenuated acetylcholine vascular responses of pulmonary arteries from hypoxia-exposed pigs [88].

15.3.2.2 Monocrotaline-Induced PH Model

In the MCT model, increases in isoprostanes [177] and NOX1 [348] have been observed in rats and increased NOX4 expression was reported in mice exposed to MCT [311]. Additionally, while increases in antioxidants SOD, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase have been reported in the lungs [97, 172], decreases in SOD1 and SOD2 have been observed in RV homogenates from MCT-treated rats [292]. Adenoviral overexpression of EC-SOD in MCT-treated rats decreased lung tissue

Table 15.4 Animal models of PH		
Model	Phenotype	References
Chronic hypoxia (rodent)	Increased superoxide, phosphatidylcholine hydroperoxide, isoprostanes, nitrotyrosine, and oxidized glutathione (GSSG) in lung	[87, 151, 167, 178, 260, 261]
	Increased NOX4 expression in PASMC, PAEC, and pulmonary artery adventitial fibroblasts	[207, 245, 246, 260]
	Increased lung expression of eNOS, NOX2, NOX4, XO, and mitochondrial ROS (mROS)	[56, 112, 151, 167, 211, 245, 246, 357, 359]
	Decreased lung expression of EC-SOD (SOD3)	[143, 261]
	Allopurinol attenuated hypoxia-induced PH, pulmonary vascular remodeling, and RVH	[26, 151, 167]
	FeTPPS (peroxynitrite decomposition catalyst) reduced lung nitrotyrosine, attenuated vascular remodeling, and normalized pulmonary vascular resistance	[32]
	MnTE-2-PyP (SOD mimetic) attenuated hypoxia-induced PH, RVH, and pulmonary	[351]
	N-acetyl cysteine inhibited hypoxia-induced PH, RVH, and muscularization of distal pulmonary arteries	[198]
Chronic hypoxia (pigs)	Increased isoprostanes, NOX1, and p67phox in pulmonary arteries; decreased SOD1	[88]
	in pulmonary arteries	
	Apocynin (NOX inhibitor) and SOD mimetic + polyethylene glycol-catalase attenuated	
	асегутелноние vascurat responses от риннонату анегиез плонт пурохна-ехрозец ртвs	
Monocrotaline (rats)	Increased isoprostanes in lung; increased superoxide and NOX1 in PASMC; increased NOX4 in lung (mice)	[177, 348, 311]
	Increased SOD, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase in lung	[97, 172]
	Decreased SOD1 and SOD2 in RV	[292]
	Decreased mROS in PASMC	[235]
	EC-SOD overexpression attenuated MCT-induced PH, RVH, and vascular remodeling	[177]
	Resveratrol attenuated MCT-induced PH, RVH, and vascular remodeling	[269]
	Antioxidant EUK-134 attenuated MCT-induced right heart failure	[291]
PPHN (lambs)	Increased H ₂ O ₂ in PAs; increased superoxide in lung and PAs; increased p ₂₂ phox and NOX4 in lung, PAs, and PASMC; increased p ₆₇ phox in lung and PAs; decreased EC-SOD	[48, 325, 362]
	in lung and PASMC	
	Recombinant SOD1 enhanced pulmonary vascular responses to inhaled NO	[325]
Neonatal shunt model (lambs)	Increased superoxide, Rac, p45 ^{mox} in lung, increased eNOS uncoupling	[135]

Sugen hypoxia model (rats)	Increased nitrotyrosine and heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1) in lung; decreased HO-1 in RV Protandim (Nrf2 activator) prevented RV failure and fibrosis	[38, 352] [37]
FHR	Decreased ROS in PAs and PASMC; decreased SOD2 in PASMC; mitochondrial abnormali- ties, normoxic activation of HIF-1α, and inhibition of Kv1.5 channels in PASMC; metabolism shift from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis in PASMC	[40, 293]
	SOD2 overexpression in PASMC restored Kv1.5 expression and inactivated HIF-1 α ; metalloporphyrin Mn(III)tetrakis (4-benzoic acid) porphyrin (SOD mimetic) improved hemodynamics and exercise capacity, decreased vascular remodeling	[15]
Transgenic BMPR2-mutant mice ALK1+/- mice	Increased isoprostancs and isofurans in lung; increased superoxide and peroxide in VSMC Develon snontaneous PH: increased iPE-oc-III and H.O. in lunos: increased eNOS	[116, 201] [170]
	Tempol (SOD mimetic) prevented PH and RVH	[170]
ET-1 transgenic mouse	Develop hypertrophic vascular remodeling and impaired vascular relaxation; increased NOX activity and gp91 ^{phox} expression in mesenteric arteries	[13]
SOD2-knockout mouse	Severe mitochondrial injury; central nervous system and cardiac injury; significant postnatal mortality	[202]
SOD1-knockout mouse	Develop spontaneous PH; increased urinary isoprostanes; increased plasma TBARS; increased superoxide in PAs	[286, 310]
	A-285222 (selective NFAT inhibitor) decreased PH, arterial wall thickness, and vasoreactivity	[286]
	Tempol (SOD mimetic) reversed PH, reduced NFAT activity	
SOD3-knockout mouse SOD3 mutation (rats)	Exaggerated hypoxia-induced PH; increased urinary isoprostanes; increased plasma IBARS Exaggerated MCT-induced PH; increased TBARS and nitrotyrosine in lung SOD mimetic Mn(III)TmPvP attenuated MCT-induced PH and RVH	[310, 380] [380]
SOD3 overexpression	Attenuated and reversed hypoxia-induced PH; attenuated MCT-induced PH; attenuated PH secondary to bleomycin-induced fibrosis	[6, 177, 261, 346]
Caveolin-1-knockout mouse	Develops spontaneous PH; increased eNOS and peroxynitrite in lung; tyrosine nitration of PKG in lung	[376, 396, 397]
	L-NAME and BH4 reverse PH; mice deficient in both Cav-1 and eNOS are protected from the development of PH	[376, 377]

levels of 8-isoprostane and attenuated RVSP and pulmonary vascular remodeling [177]. Furthermore, several antioxidants [291, 393] and resveratrol [269] have shown benefit in the MCT-induced PH model in rats.

15.3.2.3 SU5416-Hypoxia PH Model

In the Sugen hypoxia model, rats treated with SU5416 followed by exposure to chronic hypoxia had significantly increased expression of nitrotyrosine and heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1) in the lung compared with controls [352], in contrast to the RV where levels of HO-1 were decreased following Sugen hypoxia [38]. Treatment with protandim, a nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) activator which induces antioxidant expression (e.g., HO-1, SOD), prevented RV failure and fibrosis; however, it did not attenuate pulmonary vascular remodeling [37].

15.3.2.4 Pulmonary Hypertension of the Newborn Model

Increases in oxidative stress have also been demonstrated in the newborn lamb PPHN model where animals undergo prenatal ligation of the ductus arteriosus [48, 325, 362], as well as a CHD model where a surgical shunt between the aorta and pulmonary artery is created in prenatal lambs [135]. In the PPHN model, newborn lambs that had undergone ductus arteriosus ligation in utero demonstrated increased levels of superoxide, decreased SOD expression/activity, as well as increased p67^{phox} expression in pulmonary arteries [48]. Treatment of PPHN lambs with recombinant SOD1 enhanced pulmonary vascular responses to inhaled NO with greater decreases in PVR, suggesting a critical role for NOX-mediated ROS and potential efficacy of SOD in PPHN [325]. A more recent study demonstrated increased NOX4 and p22^{phox} and decreased EC-SOD in the lungs and PASMC from PPHN lambs [362]. Similarly, in the neonatal shunt model, shunted lambs demonstrated elevated superoxide levels and increased expression of Rac and p45^{phox} in the lung, as well as eNOS uncoupling, further supporting the role of NOX and eNOS in ROS generation in animal models of PH [135].

15.3.2.5 Fawn-Hooded Rat Model

The FHR, a strain in which PAH occurs spontaneously, has provided critical information on the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in the pathogenesis of PAH. The FHR has an autosomal recessive disorder similar to Hermansky–Pudlak syndrome characterized by dysfunction of several organs including systemic hypertension, pulmonary fibrosis, renal disease, as well as platelet and coagulation dysfunction [193]. As described above, PASMC isolated from FHR have decreased ROS, decreased SOD2 expression, as well as marked mitochondrial abnormalities, normoxic activation of HIF-1 α , and inhibition of Kv1.5 channels [40]. In addition, PASMC from FHR demonstrate a shift in metabolism from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis despite adequate oxygen [293]. Overexpression of SOD2 in PASMC from FHR restored Kv1.5 expression and inactivated HIF-1 α , and treatment of FHR with an SOD mimetic (metalloporphyrin Mn(III)tetrakis (4-benzoic acid) porphyrin) improved hemodynamics and exercise capacity, as well as decreased vascular remodeling [15].

15.3.2.6 Genetic Models of PH

Genetic models have offered the opportunity to further evaluate the role of ROS in pulmonary vascular remodeling and the development of PAH. Several genetically modified mice that develop PH have recently been associated with increases in oxidative stress. Transgenic (TG) mice with a mutation in the cytoplasmic tail of BMPR2 have increased lung levels of lipid peroxidation products, isoprostanes, and isofurans, and transfection of rat vascular SMC with BMPR2 mutants increases superoxide and peroxide production compared with wild type (WT) BMPR2transfected cells [116, 201]. Mutations in ALK1, which encode an endothelialspecific receptor of the TGF- β superfamily and are associated with hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia (HHT) and PAH [141, 142], have also been associated with increased oxidative stress [170]. Mice heterozygous for ALK1, that develop PH as they age, have increased ROS in the lungs (iPF₂ α -III, H₂O₂) at 12 weeks of age secondary to increased eNOS uncoupling, and treatment with tempol, an SOD mimetic, prevents increases in RVSP and RVH in ALK1^{+/-} mice [170]. In addition, TG mice overexpressing ET-1 in the endothelium, that develop hypertrophic vascular remodeling and have impaired vascular relaxation, have enhanced vascular NOX activity and increased expression of gp91^{phox} [13], suggesting these TG mice have increased oxidative stress.

Genetic models of SOD have provided additional insight into oxidative stress and ROS scavenging in animal models of PH. Mice lacking mitochondrial manganese SOD (MnSOD, SOD2) have severe mitochondrial injury with central nervous system and cardiac injury leading to significant postnatal mortality [202]. Mice deficient in intracellular copper-zinc SOD (CuZnSOD, SOD1) or extracellular SOD (EC-SOD, SOD3) have increased oxidative stress as measured by urinary isoprostanes and plasma thiobarbituric acid-reactive (TBARS) levels, and mice deficient for both SOD1 and SOD3 have additional increases in oxidant stress markers [310]. The absence of SOD1 has recently been reported to be associated with the development of spontaneous PH and is dependent on NFAT activation in PASMC [286]. SOD1-deficient mice have elevated superoxide levels and develop significant increases in RVSP under normoxic conditions. Spontaneous PH in SOD1-deficient mice is attenuated by selective inhibition of NFAT as well as tempol, an SOD mimetic, which prevents NFAT activation in SOD1-knockout mice [286]. Although SOD3-knockout mice do not develop spontaneous PH, the absence of SOD3 exacerbates hypoxia-induced PH with significant increases in RV pressures, RVH, and vascular remodeling compared with WT mice [380]. Similarly, a loss-of-function SOD3 mutation in rats leads to increased TBARS and nitrotyrosine in the lung, as well as exaggerated PH and RVH following MCT, which is attenuated by the SOD mimetic Mn(III)TmPyP [380].

Transgenic overexpression of SOD1 [330] and SOD3 [6, 177, 261] protects against oxidative stress and overexpression of SOD3 has been shown to both attenuate [261] and reverse established PH in response to chronic hypoxia [6], as well as attenuate MCT-induced PH [177], and PH secondary to bleomycin-induced fibrosis [346]. Interestingly, in both the chronic hypoxia-induced PH model and in the bleomycin model of secondary PH, overexpression of EC-SOD in the lung attenuated upregulation of the transcription factor early growth factor-1 (Egr-1) [261, 346]. EC-SOD also decreased TGF- β induction in the bleomycin model [346] and prevented eNOS downregulation in the rat MCT model [177]. Additionally, PAs from EC-SOD knockout mice have enhanced vasoconstriction in response to 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), while PAs from transgenic mice overexpressing EC-SOD have decreased superoxide production and attenuated 5-HT-induced vasoconstriction [210].

The caveolin-1-knockout mouse also provides additional evidence that oxidative and nitrosative stress play a role in the pathobiology of PAH. Mice deficient in Cav-1 develop PH spontaneously with significant increases in PA pressures and RVH compared with WT control mice [396], and restoration of endothelial cellspecific Cav-1 in knockout animals rescues the PH phenotype [254]. The absence of Cav-1 leads to increased activation of eNOS [376], NO-dependent peroxynitrite production, and tyrosine nitration of PKG, which can be reversed by PKG overexpression [397]. Furthermore, inhibition of eNOS with L-NAME [376, 398] or BH₄ treatment [377] prevents PH in Cav-1-knockout mice. Additionally, mice deficient in both Cav-1 and eNOS are protected from the development of PH [398].

15.3.3 Oxidative Stress and Human PAH

Several studies have demonstrated increases in oxidative stress in patients with PAH. As described above, elevated levels of urinary $iPF_2\alpha$ -III have been demonstrated in PAH patients [75, 296] and recently have been shown to be independently associated with survival in PAH [76]. Additional studies have demonstrated increased levels of plasma malondialdehyde (MDA) [124, 162] and xanthine oxidase [124, 321], as well as decreased EC-SOD [124] and glutathione peroxidase activity [162] in the plasma of PAH patients. Increases in oxidative stress markers have also been demonstrated in plasma from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and secondary PH [175], and in children with congenital portosystemic venous shunts at risk of developing PH [257]. Furthermore, oxidative posttranslational modification of albumin has been shown in patients with both idiopathic PAH and PAH secondary to SCD [262].

Increases in oxidative stress have also been demonstrated in lung tissue from PAH patients [225]. Immunohistochemical staining demonstrated increased staining for nitrotyrosine and 8-hydroxy guanosine, a marker of oxidative DNA damage, in

lung tissue from PAH patients compared with controls [47]. Levels of the eicosanoid metabolites, 5-oxo-eicosatetraenoic acid (5-oxo-ETE) and 5-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (5-HETE), were also found to be elevated in lung tissue from PAH patients not on prostacyclin and secondary PH patients [47]. In addition, lung tissue homogenates from PAH patients had decreased SOD activity and levels of SOD2 compared with control lungs [47]. Furthermore, SOD and glutathione peroxidase activity were also decreased in airway epithelial cells and lysates from bronchial tissue obtained from explanted PAH lungs compared with controls [225]. Taken together, substantial evidence from animal models and human PAH samples suggest that oxidative stress plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of PAH.

15.3.4 ROS and Mechanisms of Pulmonary Vascular Remodeling

Several mechanisms have been identified by which oxidative stress can mediate the vascular alterations observed in PAH. ROS have been shown to alter the balance of vasoactive mediators, enhance calcium signaling, upregulate growth factors, and induce pro-proliferative signaling pathways, all of which can contribute to enhanced vasoconstriction and pulmonary vascular remodeling in PAH. XO-derived O₂ metabolites have been shown to significantly increase thromboxane B₂ levels 30-fold while only minimally increase PGI₂ levels, leading to enhanced vasoconstriction in isolated perfused rabbit lungs [337]. In addition, peroxynitrite has been shown to inactivate PGI2 synthase and reduce levels of PGI2 [401]. ROS have also been shown to upregulate endothelin-converting enzyme-1 [215] and induce ET-1 expression in endothelial cells [66] and, furthermore, ET-1 has been shown to stimulate PASMC proliferation via increases in superoxide production [360]. Additionally, H₂O₂ has been shown to promote eNOS uncoupling leading to decreases in NO and further increases in ROS [46, 400]. Taken together, several studies suggest that oxidative stress leads to an imbalance in vascular mediators with release of potent vasoconstrictors that can overwhelm the effects of endothelial-derived vasodilators and promote enhanced vasoconstriction and vascular remodeling in PAH.

ROS have also been shown to enhance Ca^{2+} mobilization [209] and Ca^{2+} sensitization in PASMC [50, 171, 185], and therefore may play a critical role in enhanced contraction and proliferation of PASMC in PAH. H₂O₂ leads to release of Ca²⁺ from inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃)-gated sarcoplasmic reticulum stores in PASMC [209] via activation of phospholipase C- γ 1 [356] and conversion of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate into diacylglycerol and IP₃. Calcium mobilization by H₂O₂ in PASMC [209] and sustained constriction of rat intrapulmonary arteries (IPA) have also been shown to be dependent on ryanodine-sensitive intracellular Ca²⁺ stores [276]. In addition, superoxide has been shown to activate Rho A/Rhokinase (ROCK) leading to increased phosphorylation of myosin light chain (MLC), Ca²⁺ sensitization, and vasoconstriction in rat pulmonary arteries [185]. Similarly, hypoxia- and ET-1-induced ROS production enhance Ca²⁺ sensitization via activation of Rho A/ROCK signaling in PASMC [50, 171]. mROS production has also been implicated in pulmonary vascular remodeling as discussed above. Numerous studies have demonstrated that hypoxia increases mROS, Ca²⁺ influx, and PASMC contractility [56, 106, 290, 359]. However, more recent studies suggest that decreases in mROS lead to inhibition of Kv channels, membrane depolarization, activation of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels, and increases in cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration ([Ca²⁺]) which lead to increased vasoconstriction, enhanced proliferation, and suppression of apoptosis [40, 41, 240, 369].

ROS can also increase expression of several growth factors and enhance proproliferative signaling pathways that play a critical role in vascular remodeling in PAH. ROS have been shown to activate latent TGF- β [27] and TGF- β can further induce ROS via induction of NOX4 leading to enhanced proliferation and contraction in PASMC [328]. ROS can also induce PASMC expression of FGF-2 [35] which is upregulated in a lamb model of increased pulmonary blood flow and PH [361]. VEGF expression is also upregulated by ROS in PASMC [31] and is dependent on TGF- β activation of NADPH and ROS generation [226]. In addition, hypoxia has been shown to upregulate VEGF expression in pulmonary artery endothelial cells [212], and both H₂O₂ [249] and hypoxia have been shown to increase PDGF expression in endothelial cells [191].

ROS can also activate signaling pathways and transcription factors that regulate cellular proliferation, growth, and apoptosis leading to enhanced proliferation and growth of PASMC, PAEC, and fibroblasts, as well as matrix deposition in the pulmonary arterial wall. ROS have been shown to activate the G protein Ras leading to recruitment of phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase (PI3K) and activation of downstream signaling pathways involved in cell survival and hypertrophy, including Akt/protein kinase B and ERK1/2 [89, 344]. H₂O₂ has also been shown to upregulate the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway [343] and induce Src-dependent JNK activation in vascular SMC [389], as well as Src-dependent activation of big MAPK1 (BMK1/ERK5) in fibroblasts [1]. Peroxynitrite can also stimulate proliferation of PAEC and PASMC via activation of the Ras-Raf-MEK-ERK pathway as well as via protein kinase C [3].

ROS have also been shown to modulate key transcription factors that play a role in PAH and that regulate genes involved in the cell cycle and cell growth. H_2O_2 and hypoxia have been shown to upregulate transcription of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor- γ coactivator-1 protein- α (PGC-1 α), a transcriptional coactivator and critical regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis [163]. In PASMC, hypoxia has been shown to induce PGC-1 α expression via PI3K/Akt signaling and activate mitochondrial biogenesis via NRF-1 and TFAM [288]. Additionally, knockdown of PGC-1 α inhibits hypoxia-induced cyclin expression and proliferation of PASMC [288], suggesting that ROS-induced PGC-1 α may play a key role in regulating mitochondrial biogenesis and vascular remodeling in PAH. XO-derived ROS have also been shown to upregulate Egr-1 via ERK1/2 in PASMC, which has been shown to play an important role in animal models of PH [92, 203, 345]. Furthermore, ROS have been shown to induce NFAT expression [181], a critical transcription factor linked to PASMC proliferation and vascular remodeling which plays a key role in the pathogenesis of PAH [33, 84, 286]. Interestingly, NFAT has recently been linked to the development of spontaneous PH in SOD1-deficient mice suggesting a critical role for NFAT in mediating ROS-induced PAH [286].

15.4 Antioxidants in PAH

Drugs that are currently available for the management of PAH include calcium channel blockers, prostanoids, endothelin-1 receptor antagonists, and PDE5 inhibitors, which lie outside the scope of this review [247]. Even though there have been significant advances in the understanding of PAH pathogenesis and new therapeutic options available for treatment, PAH remains incurable and patients eventually progress to right heart failure and death [247]. Present therapeutic approaches have been developed based on the imbalance in endothelium-derived vasoactive mediators that exists in patients with PAH [247]. Growing evidence of the importance of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of PAH has led to the identification of new therapeutic targets. Antioxidant strategies for the treatment of PH have been recently classified into four groups: enzymatic ROS scavengers and regulators, small chemical ROS scavengers, inhibitors of ROS generation, and Nrf2 activators [332]. Additional strategies include eNOS uncoupling agents and mitochondria-active agents.

15.4.1 Enzymatic ROS Scavengers and Regulators

Enzymatic ROS scavengers and regulators include SOD, catalase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase, glutaredoxin, thioredoxin, thioredoxin reductase, peroxiredoxin, and sulfiredoxin. These enzymatic scavengers exist naturally in human cells and act synergistically in order to protect tissues against free radical damage [62].

15.4.1.1 Superoxide Dismutase

SOD is one of the most important enzymatic antioxidants in the body and is ubiquitously expressed [5, 62]. All three isoforms (SOD1, SOD2, SOD3) act by catalyzing the rapid conversion of O_2^{\bullet} into H_2O_2 (Fig. 15.3) [5]. SOD has been shown to be downregulated in animal models of PH and PAH patients [5], and administration of SOD has been shown to be beneficial in animal models of PH. Steinhorn et al. found that treatment with recombinant human SOD (rhSOD) in sheep with PPHN reduced PVR in vivo and enhanced relaxation responses of pulmonary arteries to exogenous NO ex vivo [325]. Farrow et al. also showed that rhSOD increases eNOS expression and restores its function, decreases generation of ROS, and increases BH₄ in PPHN lambs [115]. The effect of SOD administration in human PAH has not been studied.

15.4.1.2 Catalase

The enzyme catalase is also key in the antioxidant machinery of cells and is of particular importance during high levels of oxidative stress, since it has a very high turnover number [5]. Catalase exerts its antioxidant action by converting hydrogen peroxide into water and oxygen (Fig. 15.3) [5]. Data regarding the role and expression of catalase during PH is variable, with increased activity reported in MCTtreated rats [172], decreased levels in lambs with PH secondary to increased postnatal pulmonary blood flow [313], and no difference reported in humans with IPAH [225]. Studies to evaluate the effect of exogenous catalase in animal PH models have revealed variable results. Goats pre-treated with intravenous catalase and subjected to endotoxin infusions displayed minimal attenuation of PH compared with controls [229]. However, endotoxin-exposed sheep pre-treated with intraperitoneal catalase had attenuated elevation of pulmonary pressures compared to untreated controls [242]. Wedgwood et al. evaluated the effect of catalase on isolated pulmonary arteries from PPHN lambs and found a normalization of the vasodilator responses to exogenous NO [364]. They also demonstrated that intratracheal administration of catalase to PPHN lambs enhanced SOD3 activity and improved oxygenation [363]. Thibeault et al. evaluated the effect of intratracheal injection of liposome-encapsulated catalase in a rat model of hyperoxia, finding reduction in vascular and parenchymal damage caused by oxygen toxicity [340]. The role of catalase in treatment for human PAH is not clear and further studies are needed to determine potential benefit [5].

15.4.2 Small Chemical ROS Scavengers

15.4.2.1 Dietary Antioxidants

Vitamin C

Ascorbic acid is an excellent reducing agent, capable of donating an electron to oxidizing radicals such as hydroxyl, alkoxyl, peroxyl, thiol, and tocopheroxyl [101]. This makes vitamin C a good antioxidant and a substance of interest for the treatment of many diseases. Interestingly, reversible PH secondary to vitamin C deficiency and clinical scurvy has been described [197, 237]. Furthermore, low levels of ascorbate have been observed in patients with high altitude PH [22], suggesting a potential beneficial role of vitamin C in PAH. Xiang et al. investigated the effect of vitamin C supplementation in broilers with pulmonary hypertension syndrome (PHS) induced by low temperatures [379]. Vitamin C supplementation reduced PHS incidence and attenuated the percentage of thick-walled peripheral lung vessels and associated muscularization of pulmonary arterioles [379]. Paradoxically, however, Walton et al. found that broilers with PHS secondary to low temperatures and fed with flax seed oil had higher incidence of PHS when vitamins C and E were

added to the diet [354]. On the other hand, Belaiba et al. showed that vitamin C inhibits the production of ROS and HIF-1 α protein, as well as the increase of VEGF mRNA in PASMC stimulated with thrombin or CoCl₂ in vitro [31]. No clinical trials have explored the effects of vitamin C on PH in humans. One clinical trial found no benefit of vitamin C supplementation in the prevention of acute mountain sickness [23]. Currently, there are two ongoing clinical trials registered in the NIH that aim to determine the use of antioxidants, including vitamin C, as prophylaxis for acute mountain sickness (NCT01182792, NCT01571687).

Tocopherols

Vitamin E is the most important lipophilic antioxidant in the lung and plays a key role in scavenging hydroxyperoxyl radicals produced during lipid peroxidation [189, 341]. Severe oxidative stress leads to increased concentration of vitamin E in the lung [189]. Patients with IPAH appear to have decreased levels of α -tocopherol in the plasma and vitamin E levels have been shown to correlate with pulmonary function better than other antioxidants [278, 308]. These findings suggest that there is a mobilization of vitamin E from other tissues to reach adequate levels in the lung [189]. There is limited and variable evidence on the effect of vitamin E in models of PH. In a model of broilers with PHS induced by cool temperatures, high dietary vitamin E attenuated mitochondrial dysfunction [161], lowered PHS-induced mortality, and improved antioxidant capacity [44]. However, a subsequent study demonstrated no mortality benefit of vitamin E supplementation in broilers with PHS [45]. Additional studies found that α -tocopherol [182] and vitamin E failed to improve RVH in broilers with PHS, nor improved cardiopulmonary performance or NOS activity in isolated pulmonary arteries [216]. Further studies are needed to further elucidate the effects of vitamin E in PAH.

Carotenoids

The antioxidant activity of carotenoids is due to their multiple conjugated double bonds, which makes them susceptible to oxidative cleavage [314]. The antioxidant properties of vitamin A have been of great interest in the study of many diseases, including lung cancer [123]. The role of retinol in lung development, vasculogenesis, and angiogenesis has been well documented [304, 307]. In PH, it has been demonstrated that patients with IPAH have reduced levels of retinoic acid, and treatment of hPASMC with this vitamin suppressed 5-HT-induced cell growth in vitro [278]. In a rat hypoxia model, treatment with all-*trans* retinoic acid (ATRA) significantly reduced muscularization of peripheral PAs and medial wall thickness of small muscular arteries; however, it did not attenuate PH or RVH [392]. Similarly, in MCT-induced PH in rats, Swamidas et al. found that dietary retinol resulted in less vascular inflammation in the lung and RV, but did not improve RVH [333]. Conversely, Qin et al. found that ATRA treatment in rats with MCT-induced PH lowered mPAP and inhibited collagen accumulation and MMP1 mRNA overexpression in the lungs [281]. No clinical trials have evaluated the benefits of carotenoids in human PAH.

Flavonoids

The antioxidant properties of flavonoids have been well documented in vitro [217]. They act through different mechanisms including chelation of metal ions, stimulation of antioxidant enzymes, and inhibition of enzymes that increase oxidative stress [80]. The benefits of flavonoids have been evaluated in a wide array of pathologies, including cardiovascular diseases, type II diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases, and cancer [217]. Many investigators have been interested in the effects that flavonoids may have on oxidative stress in PH. In rat models of MCT-induced PH, administration of flavonoids, such as quercetin and genistein, has been shown to decrease mPAP, RVSP, RVH, medial wall thickness, and neomuscularization of PAs, as well as inhibit hPASMC proliferation and progression to right heart failure [127, 150, 228]. In rats exposed to hypoxia, puerarin was shown to lower levels of ET-1 and type I collagen, enhance the activity of SOD, and improve pulmonary vascular remodeling [206]. Similarly, breviscapine was shown to decrease mPAP, RVH, and vascular remodeling as well as decrease fractalkine and Rho-kinase mRNA expression in a rat hypoxia model [63, 383]. In addition, genistein was shown to inhibit the mean change in tension caused by ET-1 in IPA of rats previously exposed to chronic hypoxia [367]. Finally, genistein has been shown to significantly attenuate PH, activate eNOS, restore endothelial function, and decrease vascular remodeling in broilers with PH [384]. No clinical trials have yet explored the effects of flavonoid administration in patients with PAH.

Resveratrol

Resveratrol is commonly found in foods such as grapes, plums, and peanuts, and has become a substance of interest because of its potential benefits in cardiovascular disease and cancer [86]. Resveratrol exerts its antioxidant effects possibly through scavenging superoxide radicals formed in the mitochondria, inhibiting lipid peroxidation, and competing with coenzyme Q to decrease the oxidative chain complex [86]. Other antioxidant mechanisms of resveratrol include upregulation of antioxidant enzymes, decrease in NOX levels, and regulation of GTP-cyclohydrolase 1, which increases BH₄ levels and reverses eNOS uncoupling [378]. In the rat MCT-induced PH model, resveratrol attenuates elevation in RVSP, RVH, and thickening of IPAs [79, 268, 269]. In addition, resveratrol normalizes alterations in BMP receptors and SMAD signaling molecules, upregulates NOX subunits, and attenuates expression of IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , PDGF- β , MCP-1, iNOS, and ICAM-1 in vivo. Furthermore, resveratrol prevented proliferation of PASMC after PDGF

stimulation, and inhibited cytokine-induced NF- $\kappa\beta$ activation in PASMC in vitro [79]. Finally, Chun et al. also showed that resveratrol reduced mPAP and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in rats with PH induced by infusion of autologous blood clot in the PA [68].

15.4.2.2 Gases

Nitric Oxide

Currently, inhaled NO is indicated for the treatment of term or near-term neonates with hypoxemic respiratory failure associated with PH, and is clinically used in acute vasoreactivity testing in the cardiac catheterization laboratory in patients with PAH [2, 29]. Inhaled NO has also been shown to be beneficial in patients that undergo surgery for CHDs or heart transplant [160]. There have been non-controlled observational clinical studies that show improved PVR and PAP and minimal adverse events in patients with PAH treated with long-term inhaled NO [29, 58, 164, 274, 275, 319]. However, there are still concerns about the potential risks of long-term inhaled NO therapy in PAH patients, including rebound PH upon sudden discontinuation, and toxicity due to production of NO₂ and methemoglobin [29, 160]. Further clinical trials are needed to determine the safety profile of inhaled NO in the treatment of PAH.

Most of the rationale behind the studies of inhaled NO in the treatment of PAH are based on the fact that NO is a selective pulmonary vasodilator, rather than the role it may play as antioxidant. However, recent studies have demonstrated that inhaled NO increases antioxidant defenses, decreases DNA damage, and improves lung inflammation in rabbits exposed to conventional mechanical ventilation [119, 299]. In addition, inhaled NO treatment in infants with hypoxemic respiratory failure reduced oxidative stress biomarkers, namely MDA and total glutathione [139]. The potential antioxidant mechanisms of NO are very complex, since this molecule is also involved in the production of RNS and nitrosative stress, as discussed in previous sections. Nevertheless, recent studies have shown that NO participates in scavenging of lipid peroxyl radicals, and some RNS such as ONOO⁻ might even participate in cell signaling pathways that activate cellular antioxidants resulting in cytoprotective, rather than cytotoxic, effects [271].

Hydrogen Sulfide

The toxic effects of excessive hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) inhalation have been well documented and include pulmonary edema, bronchiolitis, reactive airways disease, pulmonary interstitial fibrosis, and death [64]. Its main mechanism of toxicity is due to inhibition of cytochrome oxidase and other cellular respiratory enzymes, which is dependent on concentration and duration of exposure [64]. However, H_2S is produced endogenously in the lung and studies have now shown potential benefits of H_2S or H_2S donors in the treatment of chronic pulmonary diseases including COPD, asthma, and PH [64]. Antioxidant mechanisms of H_2S include increasing glutathione levels and activation of Nrf2 with subsequent upregulation of antioxidant response elements [277].

 H_2S levels have been shown to be low in rats exposed to hypoxia [282], and in patients with acute exacerbations of COPD who have elevated PAP, compared to those with normal PASP [65]. Treatment of hypoxia-exposed rats with an H_2S donor, sodium hydrosulfide (NaHS), reduces mPAP and RVH [365], decreases vascular remodeling, and enhances total antioxidant capacity compared with controls [282]. Similarly, administration of NaHS to broilers exposed to hypoxia significantly reduced PH compared with untreated controls [385]. In addition, H_2S has been shown to relax rat aortic arteries and inhibit vascular SMC proliferation in vitro [102, 152, 282, 394]. Additionally, H_2S or injected NaHS has been shown to be protective in mouse lung injury models [121]. Investigations of H_2S still remain in a preclinical phase.

Carbon Monoxide

Carbon monoxide (CO) is very well known for its toxic effects both in chronic cigarette smoke exposure or acute intoxication [128]. The interest in the role of CO as a therapeutic gas is relatively recent and has been based on observations that, at low doses, CO may have cytoprotective properties involving inhibition of inflammatory and proliferative signals [128]. The anti-inflammatory effects of CO have been shown in many in vivo and in vitro studies [128, 244], but its antioxidant properties are less known. In fact, some studies have found that CO inhibits cytochrome c oxidase in the mitochondria, increasing accumulation of electrons within the electron transport chain resulting in increased generation of ROS in this organelle [402]. In contrast, other studies have shown that CO inhibits NOX, limiting ROS production [323].

Low dose CO has been shown to be protective in the FHR model, as well as in the hypoxia and MCT-induced PH rat models [403]. Daily treatment with 1 h of inhaled CO at 250 ppm protected FHRs from the development of spontaneous PH and prevented both hypoxia and MCT-induced increases in RVSP, RVH, and pulmonary vascular remodeling [403]. Although effects on ROS were not assessed, CO was found to attenuate PASMC proliferation, decrease apoptosis, and induce eNOS expression in PAEC [403]. In addition, CO has been shown to attenuate PVR elevation in hypoxemic sheep [256], and decrease vascular remodeling in iliac arteries in a porcine model of balloon angioplasty [285]. CO has also been shown to have protective effects in other lung diseases including bleomycin-induced fibrosis [399], lung transplantation [187, 188], and ventilator-induced lung injury [95, 149, 244]. Furthermore, treatment of ex-smoking COPD patients with CO inhalation decreased sputum eosinophils and improved responses to methacholine testing [30]. Further studies are needed to determine the efficacy of CO in patients with PAH, as well as to elucidate the role of CO in modulating oxidative stress in PAH.

15.4.2.3 Antioxidant Enzyme Mimetics

Substances that mimic the functions of antioxidant enzymes can also be used to counteract oxidative stress in the pulmonary vasculature. The antioxidant enzyme mimetics investigated have the same mechanism of action previously described for the enzymes that they emulate.

MnTE-2-PyP

MnSOD mimetics have high selectivity for mitochondria and decrease superoxide levels in the mitochondrial matrix, increasing the levels of diffusible H_2O_2 [98]. The SOD mimetic MnTE-2-PyP has been shown to be protective in a mouse model of hypoxia-induced PH [351]. Treatment of mice with MnTE-2-PyP attenuated hypoxia-induced increases in RVSP, RVH, and pulmonary vascular remodeling [351]. Furthermore, MnTE-2-PyP attenuated hypoxia-induced NALP3 inflamma-some activation, caspase cleavage, and IL-1 β and IL-18 production [351]. Other Mn porphyrin-based SOD mimetics have demonstrated similar efficacy in the MCT model and FHR [380].

Tempol

Tempol is also an SOD mimetic that has been studied in various animal models of PH. In rats exposed to chronic hypoxia, tempol normalized RVSP and reduced RVH [108], while combined treatment with tempol and tadalafil significantly prevented elevation in RVSP and RV dP/dt(max) and reduced oxidative stress in rats exposed to acute hypoxia [289]. In addition, tempol has been found to inhibit LY83583-mediated constriction of rat IPAs [185], reduce hypoxia-induced SMC proliferation and remodeling in rat PAs, as well as inhibit lung ROS production [184]. Furthermore, treatment with tempol attenuated PH in a sheep model [320], and prevented spontaneous development of PH in ALK1^{+/-} mice [170]. Tempol has not yet been evaluated in any clinical trial.

Ebselen

There is minimal information on the use of the glutathione peroxidase mimetic ebselen in PH; however, recent studies suggest that ebselen may have protective effects in the pulmonary vasculature. Ebselen has been shown to attenuate hypoxia and peroxynitrite-induced proliferation of PASMC in vitro [3]. In addition, ebselen has been shown to decrease the sustained phase of hypoxic vasoconstriction of IPAs in rats [71]. More studies are needed to better understand the effects of ebselen on the pulmonary vasculature and determine whether ebselen has efficacy in animal models of PH.

15.4.3 Inhibitors of ROS Generation

15.4.3.1 Inhibitors of Oxidases

Inhibitors of oxidases include inhibitors of NOX, xanthine oxidase, and monoamine oxidase. These substances function by blocking the main enzymes that produce ROS in cells.

NADPH Oxidase Inhibitors

NOX inhibitors are perhaps the most studied of all the oxidase inhibitors tested in PH. Apocynin, an NADPH inhibitor, attenuates hypoxia-induced PH and vascular remodeling in lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor (LOX-1) transgenic mice that have enhanced ROS in response to hypoxia [264]. In addition, apocynin was shown to attenuate cold-induced PH and PA remodeling in rats [78], and restored pulmonary artery endothelial function and vascular responses in diabetic rats [214]. In lambs with PPHN induced by ductus arteriosus ligation, it has also been shown that apocynin significantly improves oxygenation, enhances PA relaxation and eNOS expression, and improves angiogenic activity of PAEC [339, 363]. Furthermore, in rat PASMC, apocynin reverses hypoxia-induced decreases in Kv current density [245], and suppresses U46619-induced inhibition of Kv currents [70].

Xanthine Oxidase Inhibitors

Allopurinol has been the mainstay of treatment for gout for many years and has recently become of great interest in the study of ischemic heart disease, chronic heart failure, and inflammatory diseases. In mice and rats exposed to hypoxia, allopurinol has been shown to decrease superoxide production, reduce PH, attenuate vascular remodeling, and alleviate the increased RVSP and RVH [26, 151, 167]. In addition, Shen et al. found that isolated rat lungs exposed to hypoxic challenges had attenuated HPV when treated with allopurinol ex vivo [315].

15.4.3.2 Iron Chelators

Iron normally exists in cells in the form of ferric ions (Fe³⁺), which can react with superoxide releasing highly reactive hydroxyl radicals. These radicals can cause lipid peroxidation, DNA oxidation, and protein oxidation [374]. Based on this rationale, it has been suggested that iron chelation may have a potential benefit on oxidative stress in the lung, but most investigations have failed to support this hypothesis. Treatment of rats exposed to chronic hypoxia with desferroxamine prevented PH and vascular remodeling in vivo, and inhibited human PASMC growth in vitro [374].

However, human studies have demonstrated that healthy volunteers exposed to desferroxamine develop increased PVR [25], and hypoxia-induced pulmonary vasoconstriction is enhanced by desferroxamine in healthy volunteers [318]. In addition, recent studies have found decreased iron levels in patients with IPAH and iron supplementation is now being evaluated as a potential treatment in this group of patients [153, 294]. Further studies are needed to better understand the role of iron in PAH pathogenesis.

15.4.4 Nrf2 Activators

Nrf2 promotes gene expression of antioxidant response element (ARE)-regulated antioxidant enzymes in response to oxidative stress [165]. Nrf2 is held in the cytoplasm by an inhibitor, and activation of the PKC signaling by oxidative stress leads to activation and translocation of Nrf2 to the nucleus with subsequent activation of ARE-regulated genes [165]. Nrf activators act by eliciting this response and increasing the level of ARE-regulated antioxidant enzymes in cells. Protandim, an Nrf2 activator prevented the development of right ventricular failure and fibrosis in the Sugen hypoxia rat model of PH, although it did not prevent the angio-obliterative vascular remodeling [352]. In addition, Nrf2-knockout mice develop exaggerated RVH in response to hypoxia, and the Nrf2 activator olipraz attenuates RVH and vascular remodeling in wild type, but not Nrf2-deficient, mice exposed to hypoxia [107]. Future studies on the potential benefits of Nrf2 activators in the treatment of PAH are necessary.

15.4.5 Tetrahydrobiopterin

The role of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄) in oxidative stress and eNOS uncoupling has been reviewed in previous sections. Deficiency of this cofactor has been associated with development of PH and IPF in animal models [10, 183, 338]. Sapropterin dihydrochloride (pharmaceutical preparation of BH₄) has been used in the treatment of hyperphenylalanemia [295]. Interest in the possible benefits of BH₄ supplementation for the treatment of PH is now increasing. Administration of BH₄ to MCTtreated rats attenuated PH and vascular remodeling [120, 180], as well as decreased HPV and increased NO synthesis in isolated lung preparations [120, 190]. In addition, while BH₄ did not improve endothelial dysfunction of IPAs in a porcine model of PPHN [258], treatment of PAEC from PPHN lambs decreased apoptosis, improved angiogenesis, increased NO and eNOS dimer formation, and decreased superoxide production [338]. Furthermore, treatment with sapropterin dihydrochloride, in addition to sildenafil and/or endothelin receptor antagonists, in 18 patients with PAH or inoperable CTEPH was well tolerated and improved 6-min walk distance, although did not significantly alter NO synthesis or oxidative stress [295]. As BH_4 supplements have been proven to be safe in humans, they represent an interesting therapeutic alternative for the treatment of PAH, but further studies are needed to determine their true efficacy.

15.4.6 Mitochondria-Activating Drugs and Mitochondria-Targeting Antioxidants

The hyperproliferative and antiapoptotic phenotype of PASMC observed in PAH is associated with mitochondrial suppression, altered glucose metabolism, and decreased mROS production [98]. These mechanisms are described in detail in previous sections.

15.4.6.1 Mitochondria-Targeting Antioxidants

There has been recent interest in therapeutic strategies that specifically target mitochondria in order to restore their normal function. The fact that this organelle is negatively charged has led to the development of strategies that increase mitochondrial selectivity such as the use of a positively charged ion, namely triphenylphosphonium (TPP⁺), to deliver vitamin antioxidants [98]. One of the agents that uses this cation as vehicle and has been studied in vascular diseases is MitoQ, a ubiquinone analogue of the mitochondrial electron transport chain [98]. Treatment of spontaneously hypertensive rats with MitoQ protected against the development of hypertension, improved endothelial function, and decreased cardiac hypertrophy [134]. In addition, the mitochondrial-targeted SOD mimetic mitoTEMPO decreased mitochondrial superoxide production, reduced cellular NOX activity, restored NO expression, improved endothelial-dependent relaxation, and attenuated hypertension in mice exposed to angiotensin II infusion [93].

15.4.6.2 Mitochondrial-Activating Therapies

DCA and trimetazidine (TMZ) stimulate mitochondria and regulate metabolic substrate entry into the TCA cycle [98]. DCA also inhibits PDK, which ultimately results in the inhibition of normoxic HIF-1 α production and increases in pro-apoptotic factors, reducing abnormal cell proliferation [98]. Several studies in animal PH models have demonstrated that DCA stimulates glucose oxidation, reduces mPAP, and decreases medial wall thickening of PAs [40, 98, 136, 235, 239, 331]. An earlyphase clinical trial of DCA in PAH is currently being completed [98] (NCT01083524). TMZ has also been shown to increase glucose oxidation, suppress fatty acid oxidation, restore perfusion to distal PAs, and reverse established PH in animal models [98, 331]. Finally, phenylbutyrate (PBA), a chemical chaperone which prevents disruption of the ER-mitochondrial unit, has recently been shown to attenuate PH, vascular remodeling, and RVH in both hypoxia-induced PH in mice and in MCT-induced PH in rats [98].

15.5 Conclusions

This review highlights the important role that oxidative stress and aberrant NO signaling play in the pathogenesis of PAH and emphasizes the mechanisms of ROS-induced pulmonary vascular remodeling in PAH. Although significant progress has been made in understanding the pathogenesis of PAH, currently available therapies that target the imbalance of vasoactive mediators do not improve mortality in PAH patients. Emerging studies implicate oxidative stress as a key mechanism in the pathobiology of PAH and therapies targeting ROS generation have shown efficacy in animal models of PH. Growing evidence of the importance of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of PAH has led to the identification of potential new therapeutic targets in PAH. New approaches to target oxidative stress include ROS scavengers, inhibitors of ROS generation, Nrf2 activators, mitochondria-activating drugs, and eNOS recoupling agents. Developing novel therapeutics to target oxidative stress in PAH is an active and exciting area of research. Although human data is currently limited, antioxidant therapeutics may hold promise in the future for treatment of PAH.

Conflict of Interest The authors report no conflict of interest.

References

- Abe J, Takahashi M, Ishida M, Lee JD, Berk BC (1997) c-Src is required for oxidative stressmediated activation of big mitogen-activated protein kinase 1. J Biol Chem 272(33): 20389–20394
- Abman SH (2013) Inhaled nitric oxide for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. Handb Exp Pharmacol 218:257–276
- Agbani EO, Coats P, Wadsworth RM (2011) Acute hypoxia stimulates intracellular peroxynitrite formation associated with pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell proliferation. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 57(5):584–588
- Aggarwal S, Gross CM, Kumar S, Datar S, Oishi P, Kalkan G, Schreiber C, Fratz S, Fineman JR, Black SM (2011) Attenuated vasodilatation in lambs with endogenous and exogenous activation of cGMP signaling: role of protein kinase G nitration. J Cell Physiol 226(12): 3104–3113
- Aggarwal S, Gross CM, Sharma S, Fineman JR, Black SM (2013) Reactive oxygen species in pulmonary vascular remodeling. Compr Physiol 3(3):1011–1034
- Ahmed MN, Zhang Y, Codipilly C, Zaghloul N, Patel D, Wolin M, Miller EJ (2012) Extracellular superoxide dismutase overexpression can reverse the course of hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. Mol Med 18:38–46

- Al Ghouleh I, Khoo NK, Knaus UG, Griendling KK, Touyz RM, Thannickal VJ, Barchowsky A, Nauseef WM, Kelley EE, Bauer PM, Darley-Usmar V, Shiva S, Cifuentes-Pagano E, Freeman BA, Gladwin MT, Pagano PJ (2011) Oxidases and peroxidases in cardiovascular and lung disease: new concepts in reactive oxygen species signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 51(7):1271–1288
- Alastalo TP, Li M, Perez Vde J, Pham D, Sawada H, Wang JK, Koskenvuo M, Wang L, Freeman BA, Chang HY, Rabinovitch M (2011) Disruption of PPARγ/β-catenin-mediated regulation of apelin impairs BMP-induced mouse and human pulmonary arterial EC survival. J Clin Invest 121(9):3735–3746
- Aldred MA, Vijayakrishnan J, James V, Soubrier F, Gomez-Sanchez MA, Martensson G, Galie N, Manes A, Corris P, Simonneau G, Humbert M, Morrell NW, Trembath RC (2006) BMPR2 gene rearrangements account for a significant proportion of mutations in familial and idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Hum Mutat 27(2):212–213
- Almudever P, Milara J, De Diego A, Serrano-Mollar A, Xaubet A, Perez-Vizcaino F, Cogolludo A, Cortijo J (2013) Role of tetrahydrobiopterin in pulmonary vascular remodelling associated with pulmonary fibrosis. Thorax 68(10):938–948
- Alva JA, Iruela-Arispe ML (2004) Notch signaling in vascular morphogenesis. Curr Opin Hematol 11(4):278–283
- Ameshima S, Golpon H, Cool CD, Chan D, Vandivier RW, Gardai SJ, Wick M, Nemenoff RA, Geraci MW, Voelkel NF (2003) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) expression is decreased in pulmonary hypertension and affects endothelial cell growth. Circ Res 92(10):1162–1169
- Amiri F, Virdis A, Neves MF, Iglarz M, Seidah NG, Touyz RM, Reudelhuber TL, Schiffrin EL (2004) Endothelium-restricted overexpression of human endothelin-1 causes vascular remodeling and endothelial dysfunction. Circulation 110(15):2233–2240
- Anthony S, Leiper J, Vallance P (2005) Endogenous production of nitric oxide synthase inhibitors. Vasc Med 10(suppl 1):S3–S9
- 15. Archer SL, Marsboom G, Kim GH, Zhang HJ, Toth PT, Svensson EC, Dyck JR, Gomberg-Maitland M, Thebaud B, Husain AN, Cipriani N, Rehman J (2010) Epigenetic attenuation of mitochondrial superoxide dismutase 2 in pulmonary arterial hypertension: a basis for excessive cell proliferation and a new therapeutic target. Circulation 121(24):2661–2671
- Ardanaz N, Pagano PJ (2006) Hydrogen peroxide as a paracrine vascular mediator: regulation and signaling leading to dysfunction. Exp Biol Med 231(3):237–251
- Arrigoni FI, Vallance P, Haworth SG, Leiper JM (2003) Metabolism of asymmetric dimethylarginines is regulated in the lung developmentally and with pulmonary hypertension induced by hypobaric hypoxia. Circulation 107(8):1195–1201
- Austin ED, Ma L, LeDuc C, Berman Rosenzweig E, Borczuk A, Phillips JA, Palomero T, Sumazin P, Kim HR, Talati MH, West J, Loyd JE, Chung WK (2012) Whole exome sequencing to identify a novel gene (caveolin-1) associated with human pulmonary arterial hypertension. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 5(3):336–343
- Averna M, Stifanese R, De Tullio R, Passalacqua M, Salamino F, Pontremoli S, Melloni E (2008) Functional role of HSP90 complexes with endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (eNOS) and calpain on nitric oxide generation in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 283(43):29069–29076
- 20. Babior BM (2000) The NADPH oxidase of endothelial cells. IUBMB Life 50(4-5): 267-269
- Badesch DB, Champion HC, Sanchez MA, Hoeper MM, Loyd JE, Manes A, McGoon M, Naeije R, Olschewski H, Oudiz RJ, Torbicki A (2009) Diagnosis and assessment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 54(1 suppl):S55–S66
- Bailey DM, Dehnert C, Luks AM, Menold E, Castell C, Schendler G, Faoro V, Gutowski M, Evans KA, Taudorf S, James PE, McEneny J, Young IS, Swenson ER, Mairbaurl H, Bartsch P, Berger MM (2010) High-altitude pulmonary hypertension is associated with a free radicalmediated reduction in pulmonary nitric oxide bioavailability. J Physiol 588(pt 23): 4837–4847

15 Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and Oxidative Stress

- Baillie JK, Thompson AA, Irving JB, Bates MG, Sutherland AI, Macnee W, Maxwell SR, Webb DJ (2009) Oral antioxidant supplementation does not prevent acute mountain sickness: double blind, randomized placebo-controlled trial. QJM 102(5):341–348
- 24. Bakr A, Pak O, Taye A, Hamada F, Hemeida R, Janssen W, Gierhardt M, Ghofrani HA, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Schermuly RT, Witzenrath M, Brandes RP, Huang N, Cooke JP, Weissmann N, Sommer N (2013) Effects of dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase-1 overexpression on the response of the pulmonary vasculature to hypoxia. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 49(3):491–500
- Balanos GM, Dorrington KL, Robbins PA (2002) Desferrioxamine elevates pulmonary vascular resistance in humans: potential for involvement of HIF-1. J Appl Physiol 92(6):2501–2507
- 26. Baliga RS, Milsom AB, Ghosh SM, Trinder SL, Macallister RJ, Ahluwalia A, Hobbs AJ (2012) Dietary nitrate ameliorates pulmonary hypertension: cytoprotective role for endothelial nitric oxide synthase and xanthine oxidoreductase. Circulation 125(23):2922–2932
- Barcellos-Hoff MH, Dix TA (1996) Redox-mediated activation of latent transforming growth factor-β1. Mol Endocrinol 10(9):1077–1083
- Barnett CF, Hsue PY (2013) Human immunodeficiency virus-associated pulmonary arterial hypertension. Clin Chest Med 34(2):283–292
- Barst RJ, Channick R, Ivy D, Goldstein B (2012) Clinical perspectives with long-term pulsed inhaled nitric oxide for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. Pulm Circ 2(2): 139–147
- Bathoorn E, Slebos DJ, Postma DS, Koeter GH, van Oosterhout AJ, van der Toorn M, Boezen HM, Kerstjens HA (2007) Anti-inflammatory effects of inhaled carbon monoxide in patients with COPD: a pilot study. Eur Respir J 30(6):1131–1137
- BelAiba RS, Djordjevic T, Bonello S, Flugel D, Hess J, Kietzmann T, Gorlach A (2004) Redox-sensitive regulation of the HIF pathway under non-hypoxic conditions in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Biol Chem 385(3–4):249–257
- 32. Belik J, Stevens D, Pan J, McIntyre BA, Kantores C, Ivanovska J, Xu EZ, Ibrahim C, Panama BK, Backx PH, McNamara PJ, Jankov RP (2010) Pulmonary vascular and cardiac effects of peroxynitrite decomposition in newborn rats. Free Radic Biol Med 49(8):1306–1314
- 33. Bierer R, Nitta CH, Friedman J, Codianni S, de Frutos S, Dominguez-Bautista JA, Howard TA, Resta TC, Bosc LV (2011) NFATc3 is required for chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in adult and neonatal mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 301(6):L872–L880
- Birben E, Sahiner UM, Sackesen C, Erzurum S, Kalayci O (2012) Oxidative stress and antioxidant defense. World Allergy Organ J 5(1):9–19
- 35. Black SM, DeVol JM, Wedgwood S (2008) Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-2 expression in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells involves increased reactive oxygen species generation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 294(1):C345–C354
- 36. Bockmeyer CL, Maegel L, Janciauskiene S, Rische J, Lehmann U, Maus UA, Nickel N, Haverich A, Hoeper MM, Golpon HA, Kreipe H, Laenger F, Jonigk D (2012) Plexiform vasculopathy of severe pulmonary arterial hypertension and microRNA expression. J Heart Lung Transplant 31(7):764–772
- Bogaard HJ, Natarajan R, Henderson SC, Long CS, Kraskauskas D, Smithson L, Ockaili R, McCord JM, Voelkel NF (2009) Chronic pulmonary artery pressure elevation is insufficient to explain right heart failure. Circulation 120(20):1951–1960
- Bogaard HJ, Natarajan R, Mizuno S, Abbate A, Chang PJ, Chau VQ, Hoke NN, Kraskauskas D, Kasper M, Salloum FN, Voelkel NF (2010) Adrenergic receptor blockade reverses right heart remodeling and dysfunction in pulmonary hypertensive rats. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182(5):652–660
- 39. Bonnet S, Archer SL, Allalunis-Turner J, Haromy A, Beaulieu C, Thompson R, Lee CT, Lopaschuk GD, Puttagunta L, Bonnet S, Harry G, Hashimoto K, Porter CJ, Andrade MA, Thebaud B, Michelakis ED (2007) A mitochondria-K+ channel axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth. Cancer Cell 11(1):37–51

- 40. Bonnet S, Michelakis ED, Porter CJ, Andrade-Navarro MA, Thebaud B, Bonnet S, Haromy A, Harry G, Moudgil R, McMurtry MS, Weir EK, Archer SL (2006) An abnormal mitochondrial-hypoxia inducible factor-1α-Kv channel pathway disrupts oxygen sensing and triggers pulmonary arterial hypertension in fawn hooded rats: similarities to human pulmonary arterial hypertension. Circulation 113(22):2630–2641
- 41. Bonnet S, Rochefort G, Sutendra G, Archer SL, Haromy A, Webster L, Hashimoto K, Bonnet SN, Michelakis ED (2007) The nuclear factor of activated T cells in pulmonary arterial hypertension can be therapeutically targeted. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(27):11418–11423
- 42. Boo YC, Kim HJ, Song H, Fulton D, Sessa W, Jo H (2006) Coordinated regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity by phosphorylation and subcellular localization. Free Radic Biol Med 41(1):144–153
- 43. Boo YC, Sorescu GP, Bauer PM, Fulton D, Kemp BE, Harrison DG, Sessa WC, Jo H (2003) Endothelial NO synthase phosphorylated at SER635 produces NO without requiring intracellular calcium increase. Free Radic Biol Med 35(7):729–741
- 44. Bottje W, Enkvetchakul B, Moore R, McNew R (1995) Effect of α-tocopherol on antioxidants, lipid peroxidation, and the incidence of pulmonary hypertension syndrome (ascites) in broilers. Poult Sci 74(8):1356–1369
- 45. Bottje WG, Erf GF, Bersi TK, Wang S, Barnes D, Beers KW (1997) Effect of dietary dl-αtocopherol on tissue α- and γ-tocopherol and pulmonary hypertension syndrome (ascites) in broilers. Poult Sci 76(11):1506–1512
- 46. Boulden BM, Widder JD, Allen JC, Smith DA, Al-Baldawi RN, Harrison DG, Dikalov SI, Jo H, Dudley SC Jr (2006) Early determinants of H2O2-induced endothelial dysfunction. Free Radic Biol Med 41(5):810–817
- 47. Bowers R, Cool C, Murphy RC, Tuder RM, Hopken MW, Flores SC, Voelkel NF (2004) Oxidative stress in severe pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169(6): 764–769
- 48. Brennan LA, Steinhorn RH, Wedgwood S, Mata-Greenwood E, Roark EA, Russell JA, Black SM (2003) Increased superoxide generation is associated with pulmonary hypertension in fetal lambs: a role for NADPH oxidase. Circ Res 92(6):683–691
- 49. Brouet A, Sonveaux P, Dessy C, Balligand JL, Feron O (2001) Hsp90 ensures the transition from the early Ca2+-dependent to the late phosphorylation-dependent activation of the endothelial nitric-oxide synthase in vascular endothelial growth factor-exposed endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 276(35):32663–32669
- Broughton BR, Jernigan NL, Norton CE, Walker BR, Resta TC (2010) Chronic hypoxia augments depolarization-induced Ca2+ sensitization in pulmonary vascular smooth muscle through superoxide-dependent stimulation of RhoA. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 298(2):L232–L242
- 51. Bruckdorfer R (2005) The basics about nitric oxide. Mol Aspects Med 26(1-2):3-31
- 52. Bruckdorfer R (2005) Nitric oxide in physiology and pathology. Mol Aspects Med 26(1-2):1-2
- Campos AH, Wang W, Pollman MJ, Gibbons GH (2002) Determinants of Notch-3 receptor expression and signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells: implications in cell-cycle regulation. Circ Res 91(11):999–1006
- 54. Caruso P, Dempsie Y, Stevens HC, McDonald RA, Long L, Lu R, White K, Mair KM, McClure JD, Southwood M, Upton P, Xin M, van Rooij E, Olson EN, Morrell NW, MacLean MR, Baker AH (2012) A role for miR-145 in pulmonary arterial hypertension: evidence from mouse models and patient samples. Circ Res 111(3):290–300
- 55. Chan Y, Fish JE, D'Abreo C, Lin S, Robb GB, Teichert AM, Karantzoulis-Fegaras F, Keightley A, Steer BM, Marsden PA (2004) The cell-specific expression of endothelial nitricoxide synthase: a role for DNA methylation. J Biol Chem 279(33):35087–35100
- 56. Chandel NS, Maltepe E, Goldwasser E, Mathieu CE, Simon MC, Schumacker PT (1998) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxia-induced transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(20):11715–11720

15 Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and Oxidative Stress

- 57. Chandel NS, McClintock DS, Feliciano CE, Wood TM, Melendez JA, Rodriguez AM, Schumacker PT (2000) Reactive oxygen species generated at mitochondrial complex III stabilize hypoxia-inducible factor-1α during hypoxia: a mechanism of O2 sensing. J Biol Chem 275(33):25130–25138
- Channick RN, Hoch RC, Newhart JW, Johnson FW, Smith CM (1994) Improvement in pulmonary hypertension and hypoxemia during nitric oxide inhalation in a patient with endstage pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149(3 pt 1):811–814
- 59. Chaouat A, Coulet F, Favre C, Simonneau G, Weitzenblum E, Soubrier F, Humbert M (2004) Endoglin germline mutation in a patient with hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia and dexfenfluramine associated pulmonary arterial hypertension. Thorax 59(5):446–448
- Chatterjee A, Black SM, Catravas JD (2008) Endothelial nitric oxide (NO) and its pathophysiologic regulation. Vascul Pharmacol 49(4–6):134–140
- Chen B, Calvert AE, Cui H, Nelin LD (2009) Hypoxia promotes human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell proliferation through induction of arginase. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297(6):L1151–L1159
- Chen KH, Lai YL, Chen MJ (2012) Oxygen radicals and substance P in perinatal hypoxiaexaggerated, monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension. Chin J Physiol 55(2):82–90
- Chen XJ, Cheng DY, Yang L, Xia XQ, Guan J (2006) Effect of breviscapine on fractalkine expression in chronic hypoxic rats. Chin Med J (Engl) 119(17):1465–1468
- 64. Chen Y, Wang R (2012) The message in the air: hydrogen sulfide metabolism in chronic respiratory diseases. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 184(2):130–138
- 65. Chen YH, Yao WZ, Geng B, Ding YL, Lu M, Zhao MW, Tang CS (2005) Endogenous hydrogen sulfide in patients with COPD. Chest 128(5):3205–3211
- 66. Cheng TH, Shih NL, Chen SY, Loh SH, Cheng PY, Tsai CS, Liu SH, Wang DL, Chen JJ (2001) Reactive oxygen species mediate cyclic strain-induced endothelin-1 gene expression via Ras/Raf/extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway in endothelial cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 33(10):1805–1814
- 67. Cho WK, Lee CM, Kang MJ, Huang Y, Giordano FJ, Lee PJ, Trow TK, Homer RJ, Sessa WC, Elias JA, Lee CG (2013) IL-13 receptor α2-arginase 2 pathway mediates IL-13-induced pulmonary hypertension. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 304(2):L112–L124
- 68. Chun C, Yang W, Xueding C, Qi Z, Xiaoying H, Honglei X, Fangyou Y, Chan C, Yuanyuan L, Weixi Z, Dan Y, Zhoucang Z, Lehe Y, Cheng D, Liangxing W (2012) Resveratrol down-regulates acute pulmonary thromboembolism-induced pulmonary artery hypertension via p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 signaling in rats. Life Sci 90(19–20):721–727
- 69. Church JE, Fulton D (2006) Differences in eNOS activity because of subcellular localization are dictated by phosphorylation state rather than the local calcium environment. J Biol Chem 281(3):1477–1488
- 70. Cogolludo A, Frazziano G, Cobeno L, Moreno L, Lodi F, Villamor E, Tamargo J, Perez-Vizcaino F (2006) Role of reactive oxygen species in Kv channel inhibition and vasoconstriction induced by TP receptor activation in rat pulmonary arteries. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1091:41–51
- Connolly MJ, Prieto-Lloret J, Becker S, Ward JP, Aaronson PI (2013) Hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction in the absence of pretone: essential role for intracellular Ca2+ release. J Physiol 591(pt 18):4473–4498
- 72. Cosentino F, Barker JE, Brand MP, Heales SJ, Werner ER, Tippins JR, West N, Channon KM, Volpe M, Luscher TF (2001) Reactive oxygen species mediate endothelium-dependent relaxations in tetrahydrobiopterin-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21(4):496–502. doi:10.1161/01.atv.21.4.496
- Cosentino F, Luscher TF (1999) Tetrahydrobiopterin and endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity. Cardiovasc Res 43(2):274–278
- 74. Courboulin A, Paulin R, Giguere NJ, Saksouk N, Perreault T, Meloche J, Paquet ER, Biardel S, Provencher S, Cote J, Simard MJ, Bonnet S (2011) Role for miR-204 in human pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Exp Med 208(3):535–548

- 75. Cracowski JL, Cracowski C, Bessard G, Pepin JL, Bessard J, Schwebel C, Stanke-Labesque F, Pison C (2001) Increased lipid peroxidation in patients with pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164(6):1038–1042
- 76. Cracowski JL, Degano B, Chabot F, Labarere J, Schwedhelm E, Monneret D, Iuliano L, Schwebel C, Chaouat A, Reynaud-Gaubert M, Faure P, Maas R, Renversez JC, Cracowski C, Sitbon O, Yaici A, Simonneau G, Humbert M (2012) Independent association of urinary F2-isoprostanes with survival in pulmonary arterial hypertension. Chest 142(4):869–876
- 77. Crosswhite P, Sun Z (2010) Nitric oxide, oxidative stress and inflammation in pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Hypertens 28(2):201–212
- Crosswhite P, Sun Z (2013) Inhibition of phosphodiesterase-1 attenuates cold-induced pulmonary hypertension. Hypertension 61(3):585–592
- 79. Csiszar A, Labinskyy N, Olson S, Pinto JT, Gupte S, Wu JM, Hu F, Ballabh P, Podlutsky A, Losonczy G, de Cabo R, Mathew R, Wolin MS, Ungvari Z (2009) Resveratrol prevents monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension in rats. Hypertension 54(3):668–675
- Czaplinska M, Czepas J, Gwozdzinski K (2012) Structure, antioxidative and anticancer properties of flavonoids. Postepy Biochem 58(3):235–244
- D'Alto M, Mahadevan VS (2012) Pulmonary arterial hypertension associated with congenital heart disease. Eur Respir Rev 21(126):328–337
- Damico R, Zulueta JJ, Hassoun PM (2012) Pulmonary endothelial cell NOX. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 47(2):129–139
- 83. Davis-Dusenbery BN, Chan MC, Reno KE, Weisman AS, Layne MD, Lagna G, Hata A (2011) Down-regulation of Kruppel-like factor-4 (KLF4) by microRNA-143/145 is critical for modulation of vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype by transforming growth factor-β and bone morphogenetic protein 4. J Biol Chem 286(32):28097–28110
- 84. de Frutos S, Spangler R, Alo D, Bosc LV (2007) NFATc3 mediates chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary arterial remodeling with α-actin up-regulation. J Biol Chem 282(20):15081–15089
- 85. de Jesus Perez VA, Alastalo TP, Wu JC, Axelrod JD, Cooke JP, Amieva M, Rabinovitch M (2009) Bone morphogenetic protein 2 induces pulmonary angiogenesis via Wnt-β-catenin and Wnt-RhoA-Rac1 pathways. J Cell Biol 184(1):83–99
- de la Lastra CA, Villegas I (2007) Resveratrol as an antioxidant and pro-oxidant agent: mechanisms and clinical implications. Biochem Soc Trans 35(pt 5):1156–1160
- 87. Demiryurek AT, Karamsetty MR, McPhaden AR, Wadsworth RM, Kane KA, MacLean MR (2000) Accumulation of nitrotyrosine correlates with endothelial NO synthase in pulmonary resistance arteries during chronic hypoxia in the rat. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 13(4):157–165
- Dennis KE, Aschner JL, Milatovic D, Schmidt JW, Aschner M, Kaplowitz MR, Zhang Y, Fike CD (2009) NADPH oxidases and reactive oxygen species at different stages of chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in newborn piglets. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297(4):L596–L607
- Deora AA, Win T, Vanhaesebroeck B, Lander HM (1998) A redox-triggered ras-effector interaction. Recruitment of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase to Ras by redox stress. J Biol Chem 273(45):29923–29928
- Desai AA, Machado RF (2011) Diagnostic and therapeutic algorithm for pulmonary arterial hypertension. Pulm Circ 1(1):122–124
- Dewachter L, Adnot S, Fadel E, Humbert M, Maitre B, Barlier-Mur AM, Simonneau G, Hamon M, Naeije R, Eddahibi S (2006) Angiopoietin/Tie2 pathway influences smooth muscle hyperplasia in idiopathic pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174(9): 1025–1033
- 92. Dickinson MG, Bartelds B, Molema G, Borgdorff MA, Boersma B, Takens J, Weij M, Wichers P, Sietsma H, Berger RM (2011) Egr-1 expression during neointimal development in flow-associated pulmonary hypertension. Am J Pathol 179(5):2199–2209
- Dikalova AE, Bikineyeva AT, Budzyn K, Nazarewicz RR, McCann L, Lewis W, Harrison DG, Dikalov SI (2010) Therapeutic targeting of mitochondrial superoxide in hypertension. Circ Res 107(1):106–116

15 Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and Oxidative Stress

- Dohi T, Beltrami E, Wall NR, Plescia J, Altieri DC (2004) Mitochondrial survivin inhibits apoptosis and promotes tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest 114(8):1117–1127
- Dolinay T, Szilasi M, Liu M, Choi AM (2004) Inhaled carbon monoxide confers antiinflammatory effects against ventilator-induced lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 170(6):613–620
- 96. Domenga V, Fardoux P, Lacombe P, Monet M, Maciazek J, Krebs LT, Klonjkowski B, Berrou E, Mericskay M, Li Z, Tournier-Lasserve E, Gridley T, Joutel A (2004) Notch3 is required for arterial identity and maturation of vascular smooth muscle cells. Genes Dev 18(22):2730–2735
- 97. Dorfmuller P, Chaumais MC, Giannakouli M, Durand-Gasselin I, Raymond N, Fadel E, Mercier O, Charlotte F, Montani D, Simonneau G, Humbert M, Perros F (2011) Increased oxidative stress and severe arterial remodeling induced by permanent high-flow challenge in experimental pulmonary hypertension. Respir Res 12:119
- Dromparis P, Michelakis ED (2013) Mitochondria in vascular health and disease. Annu Rev Physiol 75:95–126
- 99. Dromparis P, Sutendra G, Michelakis ED (2010) The role of mitochondria in pulmonary vascular remodeling. J Mol Med 88(10):1003–1010
- 100. Dschietzig T, Richter C, Bartsch C, Bohme C, Heinze D, Ott F, Zartnack F, Baumann G, Stangl K (2001) Flow-induced pressure differentially regulates endothelin-1, urotensin II, adrenomedullin, and relaxin in pulmonary vascular endothelium. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 289(1):245–251
- Du J, Cullen JJ, Buettner GR (2012) Ascorbic acid: chemistry, biology and the treatment of cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1826(2):443–457
- 102. Du J, Hui Y, Cheung Y, Bin G, Jiang H, Chen X, Tang C (2004) The possible role of hydrogen sulfide as a smooth muscle cell proliferation inhibitor in rat cultured cells. Heart Vessels 19(2):75–80
- 103. Duchen MR (1999) Contributions of mitochondria to animal physiology: from homeostatic sensor to calcium signalling and cell death. J Physiol 516(pt 1):1–17
- 104. Duffels MG, Engelfriet PM, Berger RM, van Loon RL, Hoendermis E, Vriend JW, van der Velde ET, Bresser P, Mulder BJ (2007) Pulmonary arterial hypertension in congenital heart disease: an epidemiologic perspective from a Dutch registry. Int J Cardiol 120(2):198–204
- 105. Durante W (2013) Role of arginase in vessel wall remodeling. Front Immunol 4:111
- 106. Duranteau J, Chandel NS, Kulisz A, Shao Z, Schumacker PT (1998) Intracellular signaling by reactive oxygen species during hypoxia in cardiomyocytes. J Biol Chem 273(19): 11619–11624
- 107. Eba S, Hoshikawa Y, Moriguchi T, Mitsuishi Y, Satoh H, Ishida K, Watanabe T, Shimizu T, Shimokawa H, Okada Y, Yamamoto M, Kondo T (2013) The nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 activator oltipraz attenuates chronic hypoxia-induced cardiopulmonary alterations in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 49(2):324–333
- 108. Elmedal B, de Dam MY, Mulvany MJ, Simonsen U (2004) The superoxide dismutase mimetic, tempol, blunts right ventricular hypertrophy in chronic hypoxic rats. Br J Pharmacol 141(1):105–113
- Elmhurst JL, Betti PA, Rangachari PK (1997) Intestinal effects of isoprostanes: evidence for the involvement of prostanoid EP and TP receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 282(3):1198–1205
- 110. Ergul S, Brunson CY, Hutchinson J, Tawfik A, Kutlar A, Webb RC, Ergul A (2004) Vasoactive factors in sickle cell disease: in vitro evidence for endothelin-1-mediated vasoconstriction. Am J Hematol 76(3):245–251
- 111. Fagan KA, Fouty BW, Tyler RC, Morris KG Jr, Hepler LK, Sato K, LeCras TD, Abman SH, Weinberger HD, Huang PL, McMurtry IF, Rodman DM (1999) The pulmonary circulation of homozygous or heterozygous eNOS-null mice is hyperresponsive to mild hypoxia. J Clin Invest 103(2):291–299
- 112. Fagan KA, Morrissey B, Fouty BW, Sato K, Harral JW, Morris KG Jr, Hoedt-Miller M, Vidmar S, McMurtry IF, Rodman DM (2001) Upregulation of nitric oxide synthase in mice with severe hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. Respir Res 2(5):306–313

- 113. Fagan KA, Tyler RC, Sato K, Fouty BW, Morris KG Jr, Huang PL, McMurtry IF, Rodman DM (1999) Relative contributions of endothelial, inducible, and neuronal NOS to tone in the murine pulmonary circulation. Am J Physiol 277(3 pt 1):L472–L478
- 114. Farber HW, Loscalzo J (2004) Pulmonary arterial hypertension. N Engl J Med 351(16): 1655–1665
- 115. Farrow KN, Lakshminrusimha S, Reda WJ, Wedgwood S, Czech L, Gugino SF, Davis JM, Russell JA, Steinhorn RH (2008) Superoxide dismutase restores eNOS expression and function in resistance pulmonary arteries from neonatal lambs with persistent pulmonary hypertension. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295(6):L979–L987
- 116. Fessel JP, Flynn CR, Robinson LJ, Penner NL, Gladson S, Kang CJ, Wasserman DH, Hemnes AR, West JD (2013) Hyperoxia synergizes with mutant bone morphogenic protein receptor 2 to cause metabolic stress, oxidant injury, and pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 49(5):778–787
- 117. Fijalkowska I, Xu W, Comhair SA, Janocha AJ, Mavrakis LA, Krishnamachary B, Zhen L, Mao T, Richter A, Erzurum SC, Tuder RM (2010) Hypoxia inducible-factor 1α regulates the metabolic shift of pulmonary hypertensive endothelial cells. Am J Pathol 176(3):1130–1138
- 118. Fike CD, Dikalova A, Slaughter JC, Kaplowitz MR, Zhang Y, Aschner JL (2013) Reactive oxygen species-reducing strategies improve pulmonary arterial responses to nitric oxide in piglets with chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(14):1727–1738
- 119. Fioretto JR, Campos FJ, Ronchi CF, Ferreira AL, Kurokawa CS, Carpi MF, Moraes MA, Bonatto RC, Defaveri J, Yeum KJ (2012) Effects of inhaled nitric oxide on oxidative stress and histopathological and inflammatory lung injury in a saline-lavaged rabbit model of acute lung injury. Respir Care 57(2):273–281
- Francis BN, Wilkins MR, Zhao L (2010) Tetrahydrobiopterin and the regulation of hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction. Eur Respir J 36(2):323–330
- 121. Francis RC, Vaporidi K, Bloch KD, Ichinose F, Zapol WM (2011) Protective and detrimental effects of sodium sulfide and hydrogen sulfide in murine ventilator-induced lung injury. Anesthesiology 115(5):1012–1021
- 122. Fresquet F, Pourageaud F, Leblais V, Brandes RP, Savineau JP, Marthan R, Muller B (2006) Role of reactive oxygen species and gp91phox in endothelial dysfunction of pulmonary arteries induced by chronic hypoxia. Br J Pharmacol 148(5):714–723
- 123. Fritz H, Kennedy D, Fergusson D, Fernandes R, Doucette S, Cooley K, Seely A, Sagar S, Wong R, Seely D (2011) Vitamin A and retinoid derivatives for lung cancer: a systematic review and meta analysis. PLoS One 6(6):e21107
- 124. Gabrielli LA, Castro PF, Godoy I, Mellado R, Bourge RC, Alcaino H, Chiong M, Greig D, Verdejo HE, Navarro M, Lopez R, Toro B, Quiroga C, Diaz-Araya G, Lavandero S, Garcia L (2011) Systemic oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction is associated with an attenuated acute vascular response to inhaled prostanoid in pulmonary artery hypertension patients. J Card Fail 17(12):1012–1017
- 125. Galie N, Hoeper MM, Humbert M, Torbicki A, Vachiery JL, Barbera JA, Beghetti M, Corris P, Gaine S, Gibbs JS, Gomez-Sanchez MA, Jondeau G, Klepetko W, Opitz C, Peacock A, Rubin L, Zellweger M, Simonneau G (2009) Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary hypertension: The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Pulmonary Hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS), endorsed by the International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT). Eur Heart J 30:2493–2537
- 126. Gan C, Lankhaar JW, Marcus JT, Westerhof N, Marques KM, Bronzwaer JG, Boonstra A, Postmus PE, Vonk-Noordegraaf A (2006) Impaired left ventricular filling due to right-to-left ventricular interaction in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 290(4):H1528–H1533
- 127. Gao H, Chen C, Huang S, Li B (2012) Quercetin attenuates the progression of monocrotalineinduced pulmonary hypertension in rats. J Biomed Res 26(2):98–102

- 128. Gentile MA (2011) Inhaled medical gases: more to breather than oxygen. Respir Care 56(9):1341–1357; discussion 1357–1349
- 129. Giaid A, Yanagisawa M, Langleben D, Michel RP, Levy R, Shennib H, Kimura S, Masaki T, Duguid WP, Stewart DJ (1993) Expression of endothelin-1 in the lungs of patients with pulmonary hypertension. N Engl J Med 328(24):1732–1739
- Gielis JF, Lin JY, Wingler K, Van Schil PE, Schmidt HH, Moens AL (2011) Pathogenetic role of eNOS uncoupling in cardiopulmonary disorders. Free Radic Biol Med 50(7):765–776
- 131. Golpon HA, Geraci MW, Moore MD, Miller HL, Miller GJ, Tuder RM, Voelkel NF (2001) HOX genes in human lung: altered expression in primary pulmonary hypertension and emphysema. Am J Pathol 158(3):955–966
- 132. Gorenflo M, Zheng C, Werle E, Fiehn W, Ulmer HE (2001) Plasma levels of asymmetrical dimethyl-L-arginine in patients with congenital heart disease and pulmonary hypertension. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 37(4):489–492
- 133. Graham BB, Bandeira AP, Morrell NW, Butrous G, Tuder RM (2010) Schistosomiasisassociated pulmonary hypertension: pulmonary vascular disease: the global perspective. Chest 137(6 suppl):20S–29S
- 134. Graham D, Huynh NN, Hamilton CA, Beattie E, Smith RA, Cocheme HM, Murphy MP, Dominiczak AF (2009) Mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoQ10 improves endothelial function and attenuates cardiac hypertrophy. Hypertension 54(2):322–328
- 135. Grobe AC, Wells SM, Benavidez E, Oishi P, Azakie A, Fineman JR, Black SM (2006) Increased oxidative stress in lambs with increased pulmonary blood flow and pulmonary hypertension: role of NADPH oxidase and endothelial NO synthase. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290(6):L1069–L1077
- 136. Guignabert C, Alvira CM, Alastalo TP, Sawada H, Hansmann G, Zhao M, Wang L, El-Bizri N, Rabinovitch M (2009) Tie2-mediated loss of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ in mice causes PDGF receptor-β-dependent pulmonary arterial muscularization. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297(6):L1082–L1090
- 137. Guzy RD, Hoyos B, Robin E, Chen H, Liu L, Mansfield KD, Simon MC, Hammerling U, Schumacker PT (2005) Mitochondrial complex III is required for hypoxia-induced ROS production and cellular oxygen sensing. Cell Metab 1(6):401–408
- 138. Hachulla E, Gressin V, Guillevin L, Carpentier P, Diot E, Sibilia J, Kahan A, Cabane J, Frances C, Launay D, Mouthon L, Allanore Y, Tiev KP, Clerson P, de Groote P, Humbert M (2005) Early detection of pulmonary arterial hypertension in systemic sclerosis: a French nationwide prospective multicenter study. Arthritis Rheum 52(12):3792–3800
- Hamon I, Fresson J, Nicolas MB, Buchweiller MC, Franck P, Hascoet JM (2005) Early inhaled nitric oxide improves oxidative balance in very preterm infants. Pediatr Res 57(5 pt 1):637–643
- 140. Hansmann G, de Jesus Perez VA, Alastalo TP, Alvira CM, Guignabert C, Bekker JM, Schellong S, Urashima T, Wang L, Morrell NW, Rabinovitch M (2008) An antiproliferative BMP-2/PPARγ/apoE axis in human and murine SMCs and its role in pulmonary hypertension. J Clin Invest 118(5):1846–1857
- 141. Harrison RE, Berger R, Haworth SG, Tulloh R, Mache CJ, Morrell NW, Aldred MA, Trembath RC (2005) Transforming growth factor-β receptor mutations and pulmonary arterial hypertension in childhood. Circulation 111(4):435–441
- 142. Harrison RE, Flanagan JA, Sankelo M, Abdalla SA, Rowell J, Machado RD, Elliott CG, Robbins IM, Olschewski H, McLaughlin V, Gruenig E, Kermeen F, Halme M, Raisanen-Sokolowski A, Laitinen T, Morrell NW, Trembath RC (2003) Molecular and functional analysis identifies ALK-1 as the predominant cause of pulmonary hypertension related to hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia. J Med Genet 40(12):865–871
- 143. Hartney T, Birari R, Venkataraman S, Villegas L, Martinez M, Black SM, Stenmark KR, Nozik-Grayck E (2011) Xanthine oxidase-derived ROS upregulate Egr-1 via ERK1/2 in PA smooth muscle cells; model to test impact of extracellular ROS in chronic hypoxia. PLoS One 6(11):e27531
- 144. Haven CA, Olson JW, Arcot SS, Gillespie MN (1992) Polyamine transport and ornithine decarboxylase activity in hypoxic pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 7(3):286–292

- 145. Head BP, Patel HH, Insel PA (2014) Interaction of membrane/lipid rafts with the cytoskeleton: impact on signaling and function: membrane/lipid rafts, mediators of cytoskeletal arrangement and cell signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta 1838(2):532–545
- 146. Herrmann J, Samee S, Chade A, Rodriguez Porcel M, Lerman LO, Lerman A (2005) Differential effect of experimental hypertension and hypercholesterolemia on adventitial remodeling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25(2):447–453
- 147. Hinderliter AL, Willis PW, Long WA, Clarke WR, Ralph D, Caldwell EJ, Williams W, Ettinger NA, Hill NS, Summer WR, de Boisblanc B, Koch G, Li S, Clayton LM, Jöbsis MM, Crow JW (2003) Frequency and severity of tricuspid regurgitation determined by Doppler echocardiography in primary pulmonary hypertension. Am J Cardiol 91(8):1033–1037
- 148. Hoeper MM, Mayer E, Simonneau G, Rubin LJ (2006) Chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 113(16):2011–2020
- 149. Hoetzel A, Dolinay T, Vallbracht S, Zhang Y, Kim HP, Ifedigbo E, Alber S, Kaynar AM, Schmidt R, Ryter SW, Choi AM (2008) Carbon monoxide protects against ventilator-induced lung injury via PPAR-γ and inhibition of Egr-1. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177(11): 1223–1232
- 150. Homma N, Morio Y, Takahashi H, Yamamoto A, Suzuki T, Sato K, Muramatsu M, Fukuchi Y (2006) Genistein, a phytoestrogen, attenuates monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension. Respiration 73(1):105–112
- 151. Hoshikawa Y, Ono S, Suzuki S, Tanita T, Chida M, Song C, Noda M, Tabata T, Voelkel NF, Fujimura S (2001) Generation of oxidative stress contributes to the development of pulmonary hypertension induced by hypoxia. J Appl Physiol 90(4):1299–1306
- 152. Hosoki R, Matsuki N, Kimura H (1997) The possible role of hydrogen sulfide as an endogenous smooth muscle relaxant in synergy with nitric oxide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 237(3):527–531
- 153. Howard LS, Watson GM, Wharton J, Rhodes CJ, Chan K, Khengar R, Robbins PA, Kiely DG, Condliffe R, Elliott CA, Pepke-Zaba J, Sheares K, Morrell NW, Davies R, Ashby D, Gibbs JS, Wilkins MR (2013) Supplementation of iron in pulmonary hypertension: rationale and design of a phase II clinical trial in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Pulm Circ 3(1):100–107
- 154. Hsu LL, Champion HC, Campbell-Lee SA, Bivalacqua TJ, Manci EA, Diwan BA, Schimel DM, Cochard AE, Wang X, Schechter AN, Noguchi CT, Gladwin MT (2007) Hemolysis in sickle cell mice causes pulmonary hypertension due to global impairment in nitric oxide bioavailability. Blood 109(7):3088–3098
- 155. Hu HL, Zhang ZX, Chen CS, Cai C, Zhao JP, Wang X (2010) Effects of mitochondrial potassium channel and membrane potential on hypoxic human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 42(6):661–666
- 156. Hu W, Jin R, Zhang J, You T, Peng Z, Ge X, Bronson RT, Halperin JA, Loscalzo J, Qin X (2010) The critical roles of platelet activation and reduced NO bioavailability in fatal pulmonary arterial hypertension in a murine hemolysis model. Blood 116(9):1613–1622
- 157. Huang PL, Huang Z, Mashimo H, Bloch KD, Moskowitz MA, Bevan JA, Fishman MC (1995) Hypertension in mice lacking the gene for endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Nature 377(6546):239–242
- 158. Humbert M, Sitbon O, Chaouat A, Bertocchi M, Habib G, Gressin V, Yaici A, Weitzenblum E, Cordier J-F, Chabot F, Dromer C, Pison C, Reynaud-Gaubert M, Haloun A, Laurent M, Hachulla E, Simonneau G (2006) Pulmonary arterial hypertension in France. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 173(9):1023–1030
- 159. Hyduk A, Croft JB, Ayala C, Zheng K, Zheng ZJ, Mensah GA (2005) Pulmonary hypertension surveillance–United States, 1980–2002. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep Surveill Summ 54(5):1–28
- 160. Ichinose F, Roberts JD Jr, Zapol WM (2004) Inhaled nitric oxide: a selective pulmonary vasodilator: current uses and therapeutic potential. Circulation 109(25):3106–3111

- 161. Iqbal M, Cawthon D, Wideman RF Jr, Bottje WG (2001) Lung mitochondrial dysfunction in pulmonary hypertension syndrome. II. Oxidative stress and inability to improve function with repeated additions of adenosine diphosphate. Poult Sci 80(5):656–665
- 162. Irodova NL, Lankin VZ, Konovalova GK, Kochetov AG, Chazova IE (2002) Oxidative stress in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. Bull Exp Biol Med 133(6):580–582
- 163. Irrcher I, Ljubicic V, Hood DA (2009) Interactions between ROS and AMP kinase activity in the regulation of PGC-1α transcription in skeletal muscle cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 296(1):C116–C123
- 164. Ivy DD, Parker D, Doran A, Parker D, Kinsella JP, Abman SH (2003) Acute hemodynamic effects and home therapy using a novel pulsed nasal nitric oxide delivery system in children and young adults with pulmonary hypertension. Am J Cardiol 92(7):886–890
- 165. Jaiswal AK (2004) Nrf2 signaling in coordinated activation of antioxidant gene expression. Free Radic Biol Med 36(10):1199–1207
- 166. Jankov RP, Belcastro R, Ovcina E, Lee J, Massaeli H, Lye SJ, Tanswell AK (2002) Thromboxane A₂ receptors mediate pulmonary hypertension in 60 % oxygen-exposed newborn rats by a cyclooxygenase-independent mechanism. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166(2):208–214
- 167. Jankov RP, Kantores C, Pan J, Belik J (2008) Contribution of xanthine oxidase-derived superoxide to chronic hypoxic pulmonary hypertension in neonatal rats. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 294(2):L233–L245
- Janssen LJ (2008) Isoprostanes and lung vascular pathology. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39(4):383–389
- 169. Janssen LJ, Tazzeo T (2002) Involvement of TP and EP3 receptors in vasoconstrictor responses to isoprostanes in pulmonary vasculature. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 301(3): 1060–1066
- 170. Jerkic M, Kabir MG, Davies A, Yu LX, McIntyre BA, Husain NW, Enomoto M, Sotov V, Husain M, Henkelman M, Belik J, Letarte M (2011) Pulmonary hypertension in adult Alk1 heterozygous mice due to oxidative stress. Cardiovasc Res 92(3):375–384
- 171. Jernigan NL, Walker BR, Resta TC (2008) Reactive oxygen species mediate RhoA/Rho kinase-induced Ca²⁺ sensitization in pulmonary vascular smooth muscle following chronic hypoxia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295(3):L515–L529
- 172. Jin HF, Du SX, Zhao X, Wei HL, Wang YF, Liang YF, Tang CS, Du JB (2008) Effects of endogenous sulfur dioxide on monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension in rats. Acta Pharmacol Sin 29(10):1157–1166
- 173. Jin Y, Calvert TJ, Chen B, Chicoine LG, Joshi M, Bauer JA, Liu Y, Nelin LD (2010) Mice deficient in Mkp-1 develop more severe pulmonary hypertension and greater lung protein levels of arginase in response to chronic hypoxia. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 298(5):H1518–H1528
- 174. Jones R, Jacobson M, Steudel W (1999) α-smooth-muscle actin and microvascular precursor smooth-muscle cells in pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 20(4):582–594
- 175. Joppa P, Petrasova D, Stancak B, Dorkova Z, Tkacova R (2007) Oxidative stress in patients with COPD and pulmonary hypertension. Wien Klin Wochenschr 119(13–14):428–434
- 176. Junqueira FP, Lima CM, Coutinho AC Jr, Parente DB, Bittencourt LK, Bessa LG, Domingues RC, Marchiori E (2012) Pulmonary arterial hypertension: an imaging review comparing MR pulmonary angiography and perfusion with multidetector CT angiography. Br J Radiol 85(1019):1446–1456
- 177. Kamezaki F, Tasaki H, Yamashita K, Tsutsui M, Koide S, Nakata S, Tanimoto A, Okazaki M, Sasaguri Y, Adachi T, Otsuji Y (2008) Gene transfer of extracellular superoxide dismutase ameliorates pulmonary hypertension in rats. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177(2):219–226
- 178. Kantores C, McNamara PJ, Teixeira L, Engelberts D, Murthy P, Kavanagh BP, Jankov RP (2006) Therapeutic hypercapnia prevents chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in the newborn rat. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 291(5):L912–L922

- 179. Karuppiah K, Druhan LJ, Chen CA, Smith T, Zweier JL, Sessa WC, Cardounel AJ (2011) Suppression of eNOS-derived superoxide by caveolin-1: a biopterin-dependent mechanism. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301(3):H903–H911
- 180. Katusic ZS (2001) Vascular endothelial dysfunction: does tetrahydrobiopterin play a role? Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 281(3):H981–H986
- 181. Ke Q, Li J, Ding J, Ding M, Wang L, Liu B, Costa M, Huang C (2006) Essential role of ROSmediated NFAT activation in TNF-α induction by crystalline silica exposure. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 291(2):L257–L264
- 182. Khajali F, Fahimi S (2010) Influence of dietary fat source and supplementary α-tocopheryl acetate on pulmonary hypertension and lipid peroxidation in broilers. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr 94(6):767–772
- 183. Khoo JP, Zhao L, Alp NJ, Bendall JK, Nicoli T, Rockett K, Wilkins MR, Channon KM (2005) Pivotal role for endothelial tetrahydrobiopterin in pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 111(16):2126–2133
- 184. Klemm DJ, Majka SM, Crossno JT Jr, Psilas JC, Reusch JE, Garat CV (2011) Reduction of reactive oxygen species prevents hypoxia-induced CREB depletion in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 58(2):181–191
- 185. Knock GA, Snetkov VA, Shaifta Y, Connolly M, Drndarski S, Noah A, Pourmahram GE, Becker S, Aaronson PI, Ward JP (2009) Superoxide constricts rat pulmonary arteries via Rho-kinase-mediated Ca²⁺ sensitization. Free Radic Biol Med 46(5):633–642
- 186. Kobs RW, Chesler NC (2006) The mechanobiology of pulmonary vascular remodeling in the congenital absence of eNOS. Biomech Model Mechanobiol 5(4):217–225
- 187. Kohmoto J, Nakao A, Kaizu T, Tsung A, Ikeda A, Tomiyama K, Billiar TR, Choi AM, Murase N, McCurry KR (2006) Low-dose carbon monoxide inhalation prevents ischemia/ reperfusion injury of transplanted rat lung grafts. Surgery 140(2):179–185
- 188. Kohmoto J, Nakao A, Stolz DB, Kaizu T, Tsung A, Ikeda A, Shimizu H, Takahashi T, Tomiyama K, Sugimoto R, Choi AM, Billiar TR, Murase N, McCurry KR (2007) Carbon monoxide protects rat lung transplants from ischemia-reperfusion injury via a mechanism involving p38 MAPK pathway. Am J Transplant 7(10):2279–2290
- 189. Kolleck I, Sinha P, Rustow B (2002) Vitamin E as an antioxidant of the lung: mechanisms of vitamin E delivery to alveolar type II cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166(12 pt 2):S62–S66
- 190. Koubsky K, Durisova J, Mikova D, Herget J (2013) Chronic hypoxia inhibits tetrahydrobiopterin-induced NO production in rat lungs. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 185(3): 547–552
- 191. Kourembanas S, Hannan RL, Faller DV (1990) Oxygen tension regulates the expression of the platelet-derived growth factor-B chain gene in human endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 86(2):670–674
- 192. Kouyoumdjian C, Adnot S, Levame M, Eddahibi S, Bousbaa H, Raffestin B (1994) Continuous inhalation of nitric oxide protects against development of pulmonary hypertension in chronically hypoxic rats. J Clin Invest 94(2):578–584
- 193. Kuijpers MH, Gruys E (1984) Spontaneous hypertension and hypertensive renal disease in the fawn-hooded rat. Br J Exp Pathol 65(2):181–190
- 194. Kukreja RC, Xi L (2007) eNOS phosphorylation: a pivotal molecular switch in vasodilation and cardioprotection? J Mol Cell Cardiol 42(2):280–282
- 195. Kulshreshtha R, Davuluri RV, Calin GA, Ivan M (2008) A microRNA component of the hypoxic response. Cell Death Differ 15(4):667–671
- 196. Kunuthur SP, Milliken PH, Gibson CL, Suckling CJ, Wadsworth RM (2011) Tetrahydrobiopterin analogues with NO-dependent pulmonary vasodilator properties. Eur J Pharmacol 650(1):371–377
- 197. Kupari M, Rapola J (2012) Reversible pulmonary hypertension associated with vitamin C deficiency. Chest 142(1):225–227
- 198. Lachmanová V, Hnilicková O, Povýsilová V, Hampl V, Herget J (2005) N-acetylcysteine inhibits hypoxic pulmonary hypertension most effectively in the initial phase of chronic hypoxia. Life Sci 77(2):175–182

- 199. Lai YL, Wu HD, Chen CF (1998) Antioxidants attenuate chronic hypoxic pulmonary hypertension. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 32(5):714–720
- 200. Landmesser U, Dikalov S, Price SR, McCann L, Fukai T, Holland SM, Mitch WE, Harrison DG (2003) Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. J Clin Invest 111(8):1201–1209
- 201. Lane KL, Talati M, Austin E, Hemnes AR, Johnson JA, Fessel JP, Blackwell T, Mernaugh RL, Robinson L, Fike C, Roberts LJ II, West J (2011) Oxidative injury is a common consequence of BMPR2 mutations. Pulm Circ 1(1):72–83
- 202. Lebovitz RM, Zhang H, Vogel H, Cartwright J Jr, Dionne L, Lu N, Huang S, Matzuk MM (1996) Neurodegeneration, myocardial injury, and perinatal death in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(18):9782–9787
- 203. Lee SJ, Smith A, Guo L, Alastalo TP, Li M, Sawada H, Liu X, Chen ZH, Ifedigbo E, Jin Y, Feghali-Bostwick C, Ryter SW, Kim HP, Rabinovitch M, Choi AM (2011) Autophagic protein LC3B confers resistance against hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183(5):649–658
- 204. Leiper J, Nandi M, Torondel B, Murray-Rust J, Malaki M, O'Hara B, Rossiter S, Anthony S, Madhani M, Selwood D, Smith C, Wojciak-Stothard B, Rudiger A, Stidwill R, McDonald NQ, Vallance P (2007) Disruption of methylarginine metabolism impairs vascular homeostasis. Nat Med 13(2):198–203
- 205. Li H, Meininger CJ, Kelly KA, Hawker JR Jr, Morris SM Jr, Wu G (2002) Activities of arginase I and II are limiting for endothelial cell proliferation. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 282(1):R64–R69
- 206. Li JW, Chen P, Guan XQ, Gong YS, Yang PL (2008) Inhibition of puerarin on pulmonary hypertension in rats with hypoxia and hypercapnia. China J Chin Mater Med 33(5):544–549
- 207. Li S, Tabar SS, Malec V, Eul BG, Klepetko W, Weissmann N, Grimminger F, Seeger W, Rose F, Hanze J (2008) NOX4 regulates ROS levels under normoxic and hypoxic conditions, triggers proliferation, and inhibits apoptosis in pulmonary artery adventitial fibroblasts. Antioxid Redox Signal 10(10):1687–1698
- 208. Li WG, Miller FJ Jr, Zhang HJ, Spitz DR, Oberley LW, Weintraub NL (2001) H₂O₂-induced O₂ production by a non-phagocytic NAD(P)H oxidase causes oxidant injury. J Biol Chem 276(31):29251–29256
- 209. Lin MJ, Yang XR, Cao YN, Sham JS (2007) Hydrogen peroxide-induced Ca²⁺ mobilization in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292(6):L1598–L1608
- 210. Liu JQ, Folz RJ (2004) Extracellular superoxide enhances 5-HT-induced murine pulmonary artery vasoconstriction. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287(1):L111–L118
- 211. Liu JQ, Zelko IN, Erbynn EM, Sham JS, Folz RJ (2006) Hypoxic pulmonary hypertension: role of superoxide and NADPH oxidase (gp91phox). Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290(1):L2–L10
- 212. Liu Y, Cox SR, Morita T, Kourembanas S (1995) Hypoxia regulates vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in endothelial cells. Identification of a 5' enhancer. Circ Res 77(3):638–643
- Longo DL, Harrison TR (2012) Harrison's principles of internal medicine, 18th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York
- 214. Lopez-Lopez JG, Moral-Sanz J, Frazziano G, Gomez-Villalobos MJ, Flores-Hernandez J, Monjaraz E, Cogolludo A, Perez-Vizcaino F (2008) Diabetes induces pulmonary artery endothelial dysfunction by NADPH oxidase induction. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295(5):L727–L732
- 215. Lopez-Ongil S, Saura M, Zaragoza C, Gonzalez-Santiago L, Rodriguez-Puyol M, Lowenstein CJ, Rodriguez-Puyol D (2002) Hydrogen peroxide regulation of bovine endothelin-converting enzyme-1. Free Radic Biol Med 32(5):406–413
- Lorenzoni AG, Ruiz-Feria CA (2006) Effects of vitamin E and L-arginine on cardiopulmonary function and ascites parameters in broiler chickens reared under subnormal temperatures. Poult Sci 85(12):2241–2250

- 217. Lu MF, Xiao ZT, Zhang HY (2013) Where do health benefits of flavonoids come from? Insights from flavonoid targets and their evolutionary history. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 434(4):701–704
- 218. Machado RD, Eickelberg O, Elliott CG, Geraci MW, Hanaoka M, Loyd JE, Newman JH, Phillips JA, Soubrier F, Trembath RC, Chung WK (2009) Genetics and genomics of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 54(1 suppl):S32–S42
- Machado RF, Gladwin MT (2010) Pulmonary hypertension in hemolytic disorders: pulmonary vascular disease: the global perspective. Chest 137(6 suppl):30S–38S
- 220. Madigan M, Zuckerbraun B (2013) Therapeutic potential of the nitrite-generated NO pathway in vascular dysfunction. Front Immunol 4:174
- 221. Malenfant S, Neyron AS, Paulin R, Potus F, Meloche J, Provencher S, Bonnet S (2013) Signal transduction in the development of pulmonary arterial hypertension. Pulm Circ 3(2):278–293
- 222. Maniatis NA, Shinin V, Schraufnagel DE, Okada S, Vogel SM, Malik AB, Minshall RD (2008) Increased pulmonary vascular resistance and defective pulmonary artery filling in caveolin-1–/– mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 294(5):L865–L873
- 223. Marcus JT, Gan CT, Zwanenburg JJ, Boonstra A, Allaart CP, Gotte MJ, Vonk-Noordegraaf A (2008) Interventricular mechanical asynchrony in pulmonary arterial hypertension: left-toright delay in peak shortening is related to right ventricular overload and left ventricular underfilling. J Am Coll Cardiol 51(7):750–757
- 224. Maron BA, Tang SS, Loscalzo J (2013) S-nitrosothiols and the S-nitrosoproteome of the cardiovascular system. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(3):270–287
- 225. Masri FA, Comhair SA, Dostanic-Larson I, Kaneko FT, Dweik RA, Arroliga AC, Erzurum SC (2008) Deficiency of lung antioxidants in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Clin Transl Sci 1(2):99–106
- 226. Mata-Greenwood E, Grobe A, Kumar S, Noskina Y, Black SM (2005) Cyclic stretch increases VEGF expression in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells via TGF-β1 and reactive oxygen species: a requirement for NAD(P)H oxidase. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 289(2):L288–L289
- 227. Mata-Greenwood E, Meyrick B, Steinhorn RH, Fineman JR, Black SM (2003) Alterations in TGF-β1 expression in lambs with increased pulmonary blood flow and pulmonary hypertension. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 285(1):L209–L221
- 228. Matori H, Umar S, Nadadur RD, Sharma S, Partow-Navid R, Afkhami M, Amjedi M, Eghbali M (2012) Genistein, a soy phytoestrogen, reverses severe pulmonary hypertension and prevents right heart failure in rats. Hypertension 60(2):425–430
- 229. Maunder RJ, Winn RK, Gleisner JM, Hildebrandt J, Harlan JM (1988) Effect of intravenous catalase on the pulmonary vascular response to endotoxemia in goats. J Appl Physiol 64(2):697–704
- 230. McGoon M, Gutterman D, Steen V, Barst R, McCrory DC, Fortin TA, Loyd JE, American College of Chest Physicians (2004) Screening, early detection, and diagnosis of pulmonary arterial hypertension: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 126(1 suppl):14S–34S
- 231. McKenzie JC, Clancy J Jr, Klein RM (1984) Autoradiographic analysis of cell proliferation and protein synthesis in the pulmonary trunk of rats during the early development of hypoxiainduced pulmonary hypertension. Blood Vessels 21(2):80–89
- 232. McLaughlin VV, Archer SL, Badesch DB, Barst RJ, Farber HW, Lindner JR, Mathier MA, McGoon MD, Park MH, Rosenson RS, Rubin LJ, Tapson VF, Varga J, American College of Cardiology Foundation Task Force on Expert Consensus Documents, American Heart Association, American College of Chest Physicians, American Thoracic Society, Inc., Pulmonary Hypertension Association (2009) ACCF/AHA 2009 expert consensus document on pulmonary hypertension a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Task Force on Expert Consensus Documents and the American Heart Association developed in collaboration with the American College of Chest Physicians; American Thoracic Society, Inc.; and the Pulmonary Hypertension Association. J Am Coll Cardiol 53(17):1573–1619

- 233. McMahon TJ, Ahearn GS, Moya MP, Gow AJ, Huang YC, Luchsinger BP, Nudelman R, Yan Y, Krichman AD, Bashore TM, Califf RM, Singel DJ, Piantadosi CA, Tapson VF, Stamler JS (2005) A nitric oxide processing defect of red blood cells created by hypoxia: deficiency of S-nitrosohemoglobin in pulmonary hypertension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(41):14801–14806
- 234. McMurtry MS, Archer SL, Altieri DC, Bonnet S, Haromy A, Harry G, Bonnet S, Puttagunta L, Michelakis ED (2005) Gene therapy targeting survivin selectively induces pulmonary vascular apoptosis and reverses pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Clin Invest 115(6):1479–1491
- 235. McMurtry MS, Bonnet S, Wu X, Dyck JR, Haromy A, Hashimoto K, Michelakis ED (2004) Dichloroacetate prevents and reverses pulmonary hypertension by inducing pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell apoptosis. Circ Res 95(8):830–840
- 236. Meloche J, Courchesne A, Barrier M, Carter S, Bisserier M, Paulin R, Lauzon-Joset JF, Breuils-Bonnet S, Tremblay E, Biardel S, Racine C, Courture C, Bonnet P, Majka SM, Deshaies Y, Picard F, Provencher S, Bonnet S (2013) Critical role for the advanced glycation end-products receptor in pulmonary arterial hypertension etiology. J Am Heart Assoc 2(1):e005157
- 237. Mertens MT, Gertner E (2011) Rheumatic manifestations of scurvy: a report of three recent cases in a major urban center and a review. Semin Arthritis Rheum 41(2):286–290
- 238. Meyrick B, Reid L (1980) Hypoxia-induced structural changes in the media and adventitia of the rat hilar pulmonary artery and their regression. Am J Pathol 100(1):151–178
- 239. Michelakis ED, Hampl V, Nsair A, Wu X, Harry G, Haromy A, Gurtu R, Archer SL (2002) Diversity in mitochondrial function explains differences in vascular oxygen sensing. Circ Res 90(12):1307–1315
- 240. Michelakis ED, Thebaud B, Weir EK, Archer SL (2004) Hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction: redox regulation of O₂-sensitive K⁺ channels by a mitochondrial O₂-sensor in resistance artery smooth muscle cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 37(6):1119–1136
- 241. Millatt LJ, Whitley GS, Li D, Leiper JM, Siragy HM, Carey RM, Johns RA (2003) Evidence for dysregulation of dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase I in chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 108(12):1493–1498
- 242. Milligan SA, Hoeffel JM, Goldstein IM, Flick MR (1988) Effect of catalase on endotoxininduced acute lung injury in unanesthetized sheep. Am Rev Respir Dis 137(2):420–428
- Mirrakhimov AE, Ali AM, Barbaryan A, Prueksaritanond S (2013) Human immunodeficiency virus and pulmonary arterial hypertension. ISRN Cardiol 2013:903454
- 244. Mitchell LA, Channell MM, Royer CM, Ryter SW, Choi AM, McDonald JD (2010) Evaluation of inhaled carbon monoxide as an anti-inflammatory therapy in a nonhuman primate model of lung inflammation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 299(6):L891–L897
- 245. Mittal M, Gu XQ, Pak O, Pamenter ME, Haag D, Fuchs DB, Schermuly RT, Ghofrani HA, Brandes RP, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Haddad GG, Weissmann N (2012) Hypoxia induces Kv channel current inhibition by increased NADPH oxidase-derived reactive oxygen species. Free Radic Biol Med 52(6):1033–1042
- 246. Mittal M, Roth M, Konig P, Hofmann S, Dony E, Goyal P, Selbitz AC, Schermuly RT, Ghofrani HA, Kwapiszewska G, Kummer W, Klepetko W, Hoda MA, Fink L, Hanze J, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Schmidt HH, Weissmann N (2007) Hypoxia-dependent regulation of nonphagocytic NADPH oxidase subunit NOX4 in the pulmonary vasculature. Circ Res 101(3):258–267
- 247. Montani D, Chaumais MC, Guignabert C, Gunther S, Girerd B, Jais X, Algalarrondo V, Price LC, Sitbon O, Simonneau G, Humbert M (2014) Targeted therapies in pulmonary arterial hypertension. Pharmacol Ther 141(2):172–191
- 248. Montani D, Gunther S, Dorfmuller P, Perros F, Girerd B, Garcia G, Jais X, Savale L, Artaud-Macari E, Price LC, Humbert M, Simonneau G, Sitbon O (2013) Pulmonary arterial hypertension. Orphanet J Rare Dis 8(1):97
- Montisano DF, Mann T, Spragg RG (1992) H2O2 increases expression of pulmonary artery endothelial cell platelet-derived growth factor mRNA. J Appl Physiol 73(6):2255–2262

- 250. Morris CR, Kato GJ, Poljakovic M, Wang X, Blackwelder WC, Sachdev V, Hazen SL, Vichinsky EP, Morris SM Jr, Gladwin MT (2005) Dysregulated arginine metabolism, hemolysis-associated pulmonary hypertension, and mortality in sickle cell disease. JAMA 294(1):81–90
- 251. Morrow JD, Roberts LJ (2002) The isoprostanes: their role as an index of oxidant stress status in human pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166(12 pt 2):S25–S30
- 252. Mount PF, Kemp BE, Power DA (2007) Regulation of endothelial and myocardial NO synthesis by multi-site eNOS phosphorylation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 42(2):271–279
- 253. Mukerjee D, St George D, Coleiro B, Knight C, Denton CP, Davar J, Black CM, Coghlan JG (2003) Prevalence and outcome in systemic sclerosis associated pulmonary arterial hypertension: application of a registry approach. Ann Rheum Dis 62(11):1088–1093
- 254. Murata T, Lin MI, Huang Y, Yu J, Bauer PM, Giordano FJ, Sessa WC (2007) Reexpression of caveolin-1 in endothelium rescues the vascular, cardiac, and pulmonary defects in global caveolin-1 knockout mice. J Exp Med 204(10):2373–2382
- 255. Murata T, Sato K, Hori M, Ozaki H, Karaki H (2002) Decreased endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (eNOS) activity resulting from abnormal interaction between eNOS and its regulatory proteins in hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. J Biol Chem 277(46):44085–44092
- 256. Nachar RA, Pastene CM, Herrera EA, Riquelme RA, Sanhueza EM, Troncoso S, Llanos AJ (2001) Low-dose inhaled carbon monoxide reduces pulmonary vascular resistance during acute hypoxemia in adult sheep. High Alt Med Biol 2(3):377–385
- 257. Nagasaka H, Okano Y, Aizawa M, Miida T, Yorifuji T, Tajima G, Sakura N, Takatani T, Sanayama Y, Sugamoto K, Mayumi M, Kobayashi K, Hirano K, Takayanagi M, Tsukahara H (2010) Altered metabolisms of mediators controlling vascular function and enhanced oxidative stress in asymptomatic children with congenital portosystemic venous shunt. Metabolism 59(1):107–113
- 258. Nandi M, Leiper J, Arrigoni F, Hislop A, Vallance P, Haworth S (2006) Developmental regulation of GTP-CH1 in the porcine lung and its relationship to pulmonary vascular relaxation. Pediatr Res 59(6):767–772
- 259. Nasim MT, Ogo T, Ahmed M, Randall R, Chowdhury HM, Snape KM, Bradshaw TY, Southgate L, Lee GJ, Jackson I, Lord GM, Gibbs JS, Wilkins MR, Ohta-Ogo K, Nakamura K, Girerd B, Coulet F, Soubrier F, Humbert M, Morrell NW, Trembath RC, Machado RD (2011) Molecular genetic characterization of SMAD signaling molecules in pulmonary arterial hypertension. Hum Mutat 32(12):1385–1389
- 260. Nisbet RE, Bland JM, Kleinhenz DJ, Mitchell PO, Walp ER, Sutliff RL, Hart CM (2010) Rosiglitazone attenuates chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in a mouse model. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 42(4):482–490
- 261. Nozik-Grayck E, Suliman HB, Majka S, Albietz J, Van Rheen Z, Roush K, Stenmark KR (2008) Lung EC-SOD overexpression attenuates hypoxic induction of Egr-1 and chronic hypoxic pulmonary vascular remodeling. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 295(3): L422–L430
- 262. Odhiambo A, Perlman DH, Huang H, Costello CE, Farber HW, Steinberg MH, McComb ME, Klings ES (2007) Identification of oxidative post-translational modification of serum albumin in patients with idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension and pulmonary hypertension of sickle cell anemia. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 21(14):2195–2203
- Oess S, Icking A, Fulton D, Govers R, Muller-Esterl W (2006) Subcellular targeting and trafficking of nitric oxide synthases. Biochem J 396(3):401–409
- 264. Ogura S, Shimosawa T, Mu S, Sonobe T, Kawakami-Mori F, Wang H, Uetake Y, Yoshida K, Yatomi Y, Shirai M, Fujita T (2013) Oxidative stress augments pulmonary hypertension in chronically hypoxic mice overexpressing the oxidized LDL receptor. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 305(2):H155–H162
- 265. Ohashi Y, Kawashima S, Hirata K, Yamashita T, Ishida T, Inoue N, Sakoda T, Kurihara H, Yazaki Y, Yokoyama M (1998) Hypotension and reduced nitric oxide-elicited vasorelaxation

in transgenic mice overexpressing endothelial nitric oxide synthase. J Clin Invest 102(12): 2061–2071

- 266. Olson JW, Altiere RJ, Gillespie MN (1984) Prolonged activation of rat lung ornithine decarboxylase in monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension. Biochem Pharmacol 33(22):3633–3637
- 267. Paddenberg R, Goldenberg A, Faulhammer P, Braun-Dullaeus RC, Kummer W (2003) Mitochondrial complex II is essential for hypoxia-induced ROS generation and vasoconstriction in the pulmonary vasculature. Adv Exp Med Biol 536:163–169
- 268. Paffett ML, Hesterman J, Candelaria G, Lucas S, Anderson T, Irwin D, Hoppin J, Norenberg J, Campen MJ (2012) Longitudinal in vivo SPECT/CT imaging reveals morphological changes and cardiopulmonary apoptosis in a rodent model of pulmonary arterial hypertension. PLoS One 7(7):e40910
- 269. Paffett ML, Lucas SN, Campen MJ (2012) Resveratrol reverses monocrotaline-induced pulmonary vascular and cardiac dysfunction: a potential role for atrogin-1 in smooth muscle. Vascul Pharmacol 56(1–2):64–73
- 270. Palmer RM, Rees DD, Ashton DS, Moncada S (1988) L-arginine is the physiological precursor for the formation of nitric oxide in endothelium-dependent relaxation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 153(3):1251–1256
- 271. Patel HH, Zhang S, Murray F, Suda RY, Head BP, Yokoyama U, Swaney JS, Niesman IR, Schermuly RT, Pullamsetti SS, Thistlethwaite PA, Miyanohara A, Farquhar MG, Yuan JX, Insel PA (2007) Increased smooth muscle cell expression of caveolin-1 and caveolae contribute to the pathophysiology of idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. FASEB J 21(11):2970–2979
- 272. Paulin R, Courboulin A, Meloche J, Mainguy V, Dumas de la Roque E, Saksouk N, Cote J, Provencher S, Sussman MA, Bonnet S (2011) Signal transducers and activators of transcription-3/pim1 axis plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of human pulmonary arterial hypertension. Circulation 123(11):1205–1215
- 273. Peacock AJ, Murphy NF, McMurray JJ, Caballero L, Stewart S (2007) An epidemiological study of pulmonary arterial hypertension. Eur Respir J 30(1):104–109
- 274. Perez-Penate G, Julia-Serda G, Pulido-Duque JM, Gorriz-Gomez E, Cabrera-Navarro P (2001) One-year continuous inhaled nitric oxide for primary pulmonary hypertension. Chest 119(3):970–973
- 275. Perez-Penate GM, Julia-Serda G, Ojeda-Betancort N, Garcia-Quintana A, Pulido-Duque J, Rodriguez-Perez A, Cabrera-Navarro P, Gomez-Sanchez MA (2008) Long-term inhaled nitric oxide plus phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitors for severe pulmonary hypertension. J Heart Lung Transplant 27(12):1326–1332
- 276. Pourmahram GE, Snetkov VA, Shaifta Y, Drndarski S, Knock GA, Aaronson PI, Ward JP (2008) Constriction of pulmonary artery by peroxide: role of Ca2+ release and PKC. Free Radic Biol Med 45(10):1468–1476
- 277. Predmore BL, Kondo K, Bhushan S, Zlatopolsky MA, King AL, Aragon JP, Grinsfelder DB, Condit ME, Lefer DJ (2012) The polysulfide diallyl trisulfide protects the ischemic myocardium by preservation of endogenous hydrogen sulfide and increasing nitric oxide bioavailability. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 302(11):H2410–H2418
- Preston IR, Tang G, Tilan JU, Hill NS, Suzuki YJ (2005) Retinoids and pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 111(6):782–790
- Proweller A, Pear WS, Parmacek MS (2005) Notch signaling represses myocardin-induced smooth muscle cell differentiation. J Biol Chem 280(10):8994–9004
- 280. Pullamsetti S, Kiss L, Ghofrani HA, Voswinckel R, Haredza P, Klepetko W, Aigner C, Fink L, Muyal JP, Weissmann N, Grimminger F, Seeger W, Schermuly RT (2005) Increased levels and reduced catabolism of asymmetric and symmetric dimethylarginines in pulmonary hypertension. FASEB J 19(9):1175–1177
- 281. Qin Y, Zhou A, Ben X, Shen J, Liang Y, Li F (2001) All-trans retinoic acid in pulmonary vascular structural remodeling in rats with pulmonary hypertension induced by monocrotaline. Chin Med J (Engl) 114(5):462–465

- 282. Qingyou Z, Junbao D, Weijin Z, Hui Y, Chaoshu T, Chunyu Z (2004) Impact of hydrogen sulfide on carbon monoxide/heme oxygenase pathway in the pathogenesis of hypoxic pulmonary hypertension. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 317(1):30–37
- 283. Quintavalle M, Elia L, Condorelli G, Courtneidge SA (2010) MicroRNA control of podosome formation in vascular smooth muscle cells in vivo and in vitro. J Cell Biol 189(1): 13–22
- Rabinovitch M (2012) Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Clin Invest 122(12):4306–4313
- 285. Raman KG, Barbato JE, Ifedigbo E, Ozanich BA, Zenati MS, Otterbein LE, Tzeng E (2006) Inhaled carbon monoxide inhibits intimal hyperplasia and provides added benefit with nitric oxide. J Vasc Surg 44(1):151–158
- 286. Ramiro-Diaz JM, Nitta CH, Maston LD, Codianni S, Giermakowska W, Resta TC, Gonzalez Bosc LV (2013) NFAT is required for spontaneous pulmonary hypertension in superoxide dismutase 1 knockout mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 304(9):L613–L625
- 287. Rao A, Luo C, Hogan PG (1997) Transcription factors of the NFAT family: regulation and function. Annu Rev Immunol 15:707–747
- 288. Rao J, Li J, Liu Y, Lu P, Sun X, Sugumaran PK, Zhu D (2012) The key role of PGC-1α in mitochondrial biogenesis and the proliferation of pulmonary artery vascular smooth muscle cells at an early stage of hypoxic exposure. Mol Cell Biochem 367(1–2):9–18
- Rashid M, Kotwani A, Fahim M (2012) Long-acting phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitor, tadalafil, and superoxide dismutase mimetic, tempol, protect against acute hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in rats. Hum Exp Toxicol 31(6):626–636
- 290. Rathore R, Zheng YM, Niu CF, Liu QH, Korde A, Ho YS, Wang YX (2008) Hypoxia activates NADPH oxidase to increase [ROS]i and [Ca2+]i through the mitochondrial ROS-PKCepsilon signaling axis in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Free Radic Biol Med 45(9):1223–1231
- 291. Redout EM, van der Toorn A, Zuidwijk MJ, van de Kolk CW, van Echteld CJ, Musters RJ, van Hardeveld C, Paulus WJ, Simonides WS (2010) Antioxidant treatment attenuates pulmonary arterial hypertension-induced heart failure. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 298(3):H1038–H1047
- 292. Redout EM, Wagner MJ, Zuidwijk MJ, Boer C, Musters RJ, van Hardeveld C, Paulus WJ, Simonides WS (2007) Right-ventricular failure is associated with increased mitochondrial complex II activity and production of reactive oxygen species. Cardiovasc Res 75(4):770–781
- 293. Rehman J, Archer SL (2010) A proposed mitochondrial-metabolic mechanism for initiation and maintenance of pulmonary arterial hypertension in fawn-hooded rats: the Warburg model of pulmonary arterial hypertension. Adv Exp Med Biol 661:171–185
- 294. Rhodes CJ, Wharton J, Howard L, Gibbs JS, Vonk-Noordegraaf A, Wilkins MR (2011) Iron deficiency in pulmonary arterial hypertension: a potential therapeutic target. Eur Respir J 38(6):1453–1460
- 295. Robbins IM, Hemnes AR, Gibbs JS, Christman BW, Howard L, Meehan S, Cabrita I, Gonzalez R, Oyler T, Zhao L, Du RH, Mendes LA, Wilkins MR (2011) Safety of sapropterin dihydrochloride (6r-bh4) in patients with pulmonary hypertension. Exp Lung Res 37(1): 26–34
- 296. Robbins IM, Morrow JD, Christman BW (2005) Oxidant stress but not thromboxane decreases with epoprostenol therapy. Free Radic Biol Med 38(5):568–574
- 297. Roberts JD Jr, Roberts CT, Jones RC, Zapol WM, Bloch KD (1995) Continuous nitric oxide inhalation reduces pulmonary arterial structural changes, right ventricular hypertrophy, and growth retardation in the hypoxic newborn rat. Circ Res 76(2):215–222
- 298. Roberts LJ, Morrow JD (2000) Measurement of F(2)-isoprostanes as an index of oxidative stress in vivo. Free Radic Biol Med 28(4):505–513
- 299. Ronchi CF, Ferreira AL, Campos FJ, Kurokawa CS, Carpi MF, Moraes MA, Bonatto RC, Yeum KJ, Fioretto JR (2013) Interactive effects of mechanical ventilation, inhaled nitric oxide and oxidative stress in acute lung injury. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 190c:118–123
- 300. Roos CM, Frank DU, Xue C, Johns RA, Rich GF (1996) Chronic inhaled nitric oxide: effects on pulmonary vascular endothelial function and pathology in rats. J Appl Physiol 80(1):252–260
- 301. Rother RP, Bell L, Hillmen P, Gladwin MT (2005) The clinical sequelae of intravascular hemolysis and extracellular plasma hemoglobin: a novel mechanism of human disease. JAMA 293(13):1653–1662
- 302. Ryter SW, Choi AM (2008) Caveolin-1: a critical regulator of pulmonary vascular architecture and nitric oxide bioavailability in pulmonary hypertension. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 294(5):L862–L864
- Safdar Z, Bartolome S, Sussman N (2012) Portopulmonary hypertension: an update. Liver Transpl 18(8):881–891
- 304. Saito A, Sugawara A, Uruno A, Kudo M, Kagechika H, Sato Y, Owada Y, Kondo H, Sato M, Kurabayashi M, Imaizumi M, Tsuchiya S, Ito S (2007) All-trans retinoic acid induces in vitro angiogenesis via retinoic acid receptor: possible involvement of paracrine effects of endogenous vascular endothelial growth factor signaling. Endocrinology 148(3):1412–1423
- 305. Sakao S, Tatsumi K (2011) The effects of antiangiogenic compound SU5416 in a rat model of pulmonary arterial hypertension. Respiration 81(3):253–261
- 306. Sasaki A, Doi S, Mizutani S, Azuma H (2007) Roles of accumulated endogenous nitric oxide synthase inhibitors, enhanced arginase activity, and attenuated nitric oxide synthase activity in endothelial cells for pulmonary hypertension in rats. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292(6):L1480–L1487
- 307. Schmidt AF, Goncalves FL, Regis AC, Gallindo RM, Sbragia L (2012) Prenatal retinoic acid improves lung vascularization and VEGF expression in CDH rat. Am J Obstet Gynecol 207(1):76.e25–76.e32
- 308. Schunemann HJ, Grant BJ, Freudenheim JL, Muti P, Browne RW, Drake JA, Klocke RA, Trevisan M (2001) The relation of serum levels of antioxidant vitamins C and E, retinol and carotenoids with pulmonary function in the general population. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163(5):1246–1255
- Searles CD (2006) Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 291(5):C803–C816
- 310. Sentman ML, Granstrom M, Jakobson H, Reaume A, Basu S, Marklund SL (2006) Phenotypes of mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase and copper- and zinc-containing superoxide dismutase. J Biol Chem 281(11):6904–6909
- 311. Seta F, Rahmani M, Turner PV, Funk CD (2011) Pulmonary oxidative stress is increased in cyclooxygenase-2 knockdown mice with mild pulmonary hypertension induced by monocrotaline. PLoS One 6(8):e23439
- 312. Shao Z, Wang Z, Shrestha K, Thakur A, Borowski AG, Sweet W, Thomas JD, Moravec CS, Hazen SL, Tang WH (2012) Pulmonary hypertension associated with advanced systolic heart failure: dysregulated arginine metabolism and importance of compensatory dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase-1. J Am Coll Cardiol 59(13):1150–1158
- 313. Sharma S, Grobe AC, Wiseman DA, Kumar S, Englaish M, Najwer I, Benavidez E, Oishi P, Azakie A, Fineman JR, Black SM (2007) Lung antioxidant enzymes are regulated by development and increased pulmonary blood flow. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 293(4):L960–L971
- 314. Sharoni Y, Linnewiel-Hermoni K, Khanin M, Salman H, Veprik A, Danilenko M, Levy J (2012) Carotenoids and apocarotenoids in cellular signaling related to cancer: a review. Mol Nutr Food Res 56(2):259–269
- 315. Shen CY, Lee JF, Su CL, Wang D, Chen CF (2008) Hypoxia and reoxygenation of the lung tissues induced mRNA expressions of superoxide dismutase and catalase and interventions from different antioxidants. Transplant Proc 40(7):2182–2184
- 316. Shintani M, Yagi H, Nakayama T, Saji T, Matsuoka R (2009) A new nonsense mutation of SMAD8 associated with pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Med Genet 46(5):331–337

- 317. Simonneau G, Robbins IM, Beghetti M, Channick RN, Delcroix M, Denton CP, Elliott CG, Gaine SP, Gladwin MT, Jing ZC, Krowka MJ, Langleben D, Nakanishi N, Souza R (2009) Updated clinical classification of pulmonary hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 54(1 suppl):S43–S54
- 318. Smith TG, Balanos GM, Croft QP, Talbot NP, Dorrington KL, Ratcliffe PJ, Robbins PA (2008) The increase in pulmonary arterial pressure caused by hypoxia depends on iron status. J Physiol 586(pt 24):5999–6005
- 319. Snell GI, Salamonsen RF, Bergin P, Esmore DS, Khan S, Williams TJ (1995) Inhaled nitric oxide used as a bridge to heart-lung transplantation in a patient with end-stage pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151(4):1263–1266
- 320. Sousa-Santos O, Neto-Neves EM, Ferraz KC, Sertorio JT, Portella RL, Tanus-Santos JE (2013) The antioxidant tempol decreases acute pulmonary thromboembolism-induced hemolysis and nitric oxide consumption. Thromb Res 132(5):578–583
- 321. Spiekermann S, Schenk K, Hoeper MM (2009) Increased xanthine oxidase activity in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Eur Respir J 34(1):276
- 322. Sproule DM, Dyme J, Coku J, de Vinck D, Rosenzweig E, Chung WK, De Vivo DC (2008) Pulmonary artery hypertension in a child with MELAS due to a point mutation of the mitochondrial tRNA((Leu)) gene (m.3243A > G). J Inherit Metab Dis. doi:10.1007/ s10545-007-0735-3
- 323. Srisook K, Han SS, Choi HS, Li MH, Ueda H, Kim C, Cha YN (2006) CO from enhanced HO activity or from CORM-2 inhibits both O₂- and NO production and downregulates HO-1 expression in LPS-stimulated macrophages. Biochem Pharmacol 71(3):307–318
- 324. Star GP, Giovinazzo M, Langleben D (2013) ALK2 and BMPR2 knockdown and endothelin-1 production by pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells. Microvasc Res 85:46–53
- 325. Steinhorn RH, Albert G, Swartz DD, Russell JA, Levine CR, Davis JM (2001) Recombinant human superoxide dismutase enhances the effect of inhaled nitric oxide in persistent pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164(5):834–839
- 326. Steudel W, Ichinose F, Huang PL, Hurford WE, Jones RC, Bevan JA, Fishman MC, Zapol WM (1997) Pulmonary vasoconstriction and hypertension in mice with targeted disruption of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS 3) gene. Circ Res 81(1):34–41
- 327. Steudel W, Scherrer-Crosbie M, Bloch KD, Weimann J, Huang PL, Jones RC, Picard MH, Zapol WM (1998) Sustained pulmonary hypertension and right ventricular hypertrophy after chronic hypoxia in mice with congenital deficiency of nitric oxide synthase 3. J Clin Invest 101(11):2468–2477
- 328. Sturrock A, Cahill B, Norman K, Huecksteadt TP, Hill K, Sanders K, Karwande SV, Stringham JC, Bull DA, Gleich M, Kennedy TP, Hoidal JR (2006) Transforming growth factor-β1 induces Nox4 NAD(P)H oxidase and reactive oxygen species-dependent proliferation in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290(4):L661–L673
- 329. Sud N, Wells SM, Sharma S, Wiseman DA, Wilham J, Black SM (2008) Asymmetric dimethylarginine inhibits HSP90 activity in pulmonary arterial endothelial cells: role of mitochondrial dysfunction. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 294(6):C1407–C1418
- 330. Sugawara T, Noshita N, Lewen A, Gasche Y, Ferrand-Drake M, Fujimura M, Morita-Fujimura Y, Chan PH (2002) Overexpression of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase in transgenic rats protects vulnerable neurons against ischemic damage by blocking the mitochondrial pathway of caspase activation. J Neurosci 22(1):209–217
- 331. Sutendra G, Bonnet S, Rochefort G, Haromy A, Folmes KD, Lopaschuk GD, Dyck JR, Michelakis ED (2010) Fatty acid oxidation and malonyl-CoA decarboxylase in the vascular remodeling of pulmonary hypertension. Sci Transl Med 2(44):44ra58
- 332. Suzuki YJ, Steinhorn RH, Gladwin MT (2013) Antioxidant therapy for the treatment of pulmonary hypertension. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(14):1723–1726
- 333. Swamidas GP, Basaraba RJ, Baybutt RC (1999) Dietary retinol inhibits inflammatory responses of rats treated with monocrotaline. J Nutr 129(7):1285–1290

- 334. Sydow K, Münzel T (2003) ADMA and oxidative stress. Atheroscler Suppl 4(4):41-51
- 335. Tabima DM, Frizzell S, Gladwin MT (2012) Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in pulmonary hypertension. Free Radic Biol Med 52(9):1970–1986
- 336. Takahashi S, Mendelsohn ME (2003) Synergistic activation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (eNOS) by HSP90 and Akt: calcium-independent eNOS activation involves formation of an HSP90-Akt-CaM-bound eNOS complex. J Biol Chem 278(33):30821–30827
- 337. Tate RM, Morris HG, Schroeder WR, Repine JE (1984) Oxygen metabolites stimulate thromboxane production and vasoconstriction in isolated saline-perfused rabbit lungs. J Clin Invest 74(2):608–613
- 338. Teng RJ, Du J, Xu H, Bakhutashvili I, Eis A, Shi Y, Pritchard KA Jr, Konduri GG (2011) Sepiapterin improves angiogenesis of pulmonary artery endothelial cells with in utero pulmonary hypertension by recoupling endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 301(3):L334–L345
- 339. Teng RJ, Eis A, Bakhutashvili I, Arul N, Konduri GG (2009) Increased superoxide production contributes to the impaired angiogenesis of fetal pulmonary arteries with in utero pulmonary hypertension. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 297(1):L184–L195
- 340. Thibeault DW, Rezaiekhaligh M, Mabry S, Beringer T (1991) Prevention of chronic pulmonary oxygen toxicity in young rats with liposome-encapsulated catalase administered intratracheally. Pediatr Pulmonol 11(4):318–327
- 341. Traber MG, Stevens JF (2011) Vitamins C and E: beneficial effects from a mechanistic perspective. Free Radic Biol Med 51(5):1000–1013
- 342. Tuder RM, Chacon M, Alger L, Wang J, Taraseviciene-Stewart L, Kasahara Y, Cool CD, Bishop AE, Geraci M, Semenza GL, Yacoub M, Polak JM, Voelkel NF (2001) Expression of angiogenesis-related molecules in plexiform lesions in severe pulmonary hypertension: evidence for a process of disordered angiogenesis. J Pathol 195(3):367–374
- 343. Ushio-Fukai M, Alexander RW, Akers M, Griendling KK (1998) p38 Mitogen-activated protein kinase is a critical component of the redox-sensitive signaling pathways activated by angiotensin II. Role in vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy. J Biol Chem 273(24):15022–15029
- 344. Ushio-Fukai M, Alexander RW, Akers M, Yin Q, Fujio Y, Walsh K, Griendling KK (1999) Reactive oxygen species mediate the activation of Akt/protein kinase B by angiotensin II in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 274(32):22699–22704
- 345. van Albada ME, Bartelds B, Wijnberg H, Mohaupt S, Dickinson MG, Schoemaker RG, Kooi K, Gerbens F, Berger RM (2010) Gene expression profile in flow-associated pulmonary arterial hypertension with neointimal lesions. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 298(4): L483–L491
- 346. Van Rheen Z, Fattman C, Domarski S, Majka S, Klemm D, Stenmark KR, Nozik-Grayck E (2011) Lung extracellular superoxide dismutase overexpression lessens bleomycin-induced pulmonary hypertension and vascular remodeling. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 44(4): 500–508
- 347. Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB (2009) Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Science 324(5930):1029–1033
- 348. Veit F, Pak O, Egemnazarov B, Roth M, Kosanovic D, Seimetz M, Sommer N, Ghofrani HA, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Brandes RP, Schermuly RT, Weissmann N (2013) Function of NADPH oxidase 1 in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells after monocrotaline-induced pulmonary vascular remodeling. Antioxid Redox Signal 19(18):2213–2231
- 349. Venditti CP, Harris MC, Huff D, Peterside I, Munson D, Weber HS, Rome J, Kaye EM, Shanske S, Sacconi S, Tay S, DiMauro S, Berry GT (2004) Congenital cardiomyopathy and pulmonary hypertension: another fatal variant of cytochrome-c oxidase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 27(6):735–739
- 350. Venema RC, Sayegh HS, Arnal JF, Harrison DG (1995) Role of the enzyme calmodulinbinding domain in membrane association and phospholipid inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. J Biol Chem 270(24):14705–14711

- 351. Villegas LR, Kluck D, Field C, Oberley-Deegan RE, Woods C, Yeager ME, El Kasmi KC, Savani RC, Bowler RP, Nozik-Grayck E (2013) Superoxide dismutase mimetic, MnTE-2-PyP, attenuates chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension, pulmonary vascular remodeling, and activation of the NALP3 inflammasome. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(14): 1753–1764
- 352. Voelkel NF, Bogaard HJ, Al Husseini A, Farkas L, Gomez-Arroyo J, Natarajan R (2013) Antioxidants for the treatment of patients with severe angioproliferative pulmonary hypertension? Antioxid Redox Signal 18(14):1810–1817
- 353. Voelkel NF, Vandivier RW, Tuder RM (2006) Vascular endothelial growth factor in the lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290(2):L209–L221
- 354. Walton JP, Julian RJ, Squires EJ (2001) The effects of dietary flax oil and antioxidants on ascites and pulmonary hypertension in broilers using a low temperature model. Br Poultry Sci 42(1):123–129
- 355. Wang S, Aurora AB, Johnson BA, Qi X, McAnally J, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2008) The endothelial-specific microRNA miR-126 governs vascular integrity and angiogenesis. Dev Cell 15(2):261–271
- 356. Wang XT, McCullough KD, Wang XJ, Carpenter G, Holbrook NJ (2001) Oxidative stressinduced phospholipase C-γ 1 activation enhances cell survival. J Biol Chem 276(30): 28364–28371
- 357. Waypa GB, Chandel NS, Schumacker PT (2001) Model for hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction involving mitochondrial oxygen sensing. Circ Res 88(12):1259–1266
- 358. Waypa GB, Marks JD, Guzy R, Mungai PT, Schriewer J, Dokic D, Schumacker PT (2010) Hypoxia triggers subcellular compartmental redox signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res 106(3):526–535
- 359. Waypa GB, Marks JD, Mack MM, Boriboun C, Mungai PT, Schumacker PT (2002) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger calcium increases during hypoxia in pulmonary arterial myocytes. Circ Res 91(8):719–726
- 360. Wedgwood S, Dettman RW, Black SM (2001) ET-1 stimulates pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cell proliferation via induction of reactive oxygen species. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 281(5):L1058–L1067
- 361. Wedgwood S, Devol JM, Grobe A, Benavidez E, Azakie A, Fineman JR, Black SM (2007) Fibroblast growth factor-2 expression is altered in lambs with increased pulmonary blood flow and pulmonary hypertension. Pediatr Res 61(1):32–36
- 362. Wedgwood S, Lakshminrusimha S, Czech L, Schumacker PT, Steinhorn RH (2013) Increased p22(phox)/Nox4 expression is involved in remodeling through hydrogen peroxide signaling in experimental persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(14):1765–1776
- 363. Wedgwood S, Lakshminrusimha S, Fukai T, Russell JA, Schumacker PT, Steinhorn RH (2011) Hydrogen peroxide regulates extracellular superoxide dismutase activity and expression in neonatal pulmonary hypertension. Antioxid Redox Signal 15(6):1497–1506
- 364. Wedgwood S, Steinhorn RH, Bunderson M, Wilham J, Lakshminrusimha S, Brennan LA, Black SM (2005) Increased hydrogen peroxide downregulates soluble guanylate cyclase in the lungs of lambs with persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 289(4):L660–L666
- 365. Wei HL, Zhang CY, Jin HF, Tang CS, Du JB (2008) Hydrogen sulfide regulates lung tissueoxidized glutathione and total antioxidant capacity in hypoxic pulmonary hypertensive rats. Acta Pharmacol Sin 29(6):670–679
- 366. Wei L, Zhu W, Xia L, Yang Y, Liu H, Shen J, Zhu J, Xu Y, Yang Z, Wang C (2013) Therapeutic effect of eNOS-transfected endothelial progenitor cells on hemodynamic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Hypertens Res 36(5):414–421
- 367. Weigand L, Sylvester JT, Shimoda LA (2006) Mechanisms of endothelin-1-induced contraction in pulmonary arteries from chronically hypoxic rats. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290(2):L284–L290

- 368. Weir EK, Archer SL (2006) Counterpoint: hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction is not mediated by increased production of reactive oxygen species. J Appl Physiol 101(3):995– 998; discussion 998
- Weir EK, Lopez-Barneo J, Buckler KJ, Archer SL (2005) Acute oxygen-sensing mechanisms. N Engl J Med 353(19):2042–2055
- 370. Weissmann N, Ebert N, Ahrens M, Ghofrani HA, Schermuly RT, Hanze J, Fink L, Rose F, Conzen J, Seeger W, Grimminger F (2003) Effects of mitochondrial inhibitors and uncouplers on hypoxic vasoconstriction in rabbit lungs. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29(6): 721–732
- 371. Weissmann N, Zeller S, Schafer RU, Turowski C, Ay M, Quanz K, Ghofrani HA, Schermuly RT, Fink L, Seeger W, Grimminger F (2006) Impact of mitochondria and NADPH oxidases on acute and sustained hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 34(4):505–513
- 372. Wojciak-Stothard B, Torondel B, Tsang LY, Fleming I, Fisslthaler B, Leiper JM, Vallance P (2007) The ADMA/DDAH pathway is a critical regulator of endothelial cell motility. J Cell Sci 120(pt 6):929–942
- 373. Wong CM, Bansal G, Pavlickova L, Marcocci L, Suzuki YJ (2013) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidants in pulmonary hypertension. Antioxid Redox Signal 18(14):1789–1796
- 374. Wong CM, Preston IR, Hill NS, Suzuki YJ (2012) Iron chelation inhibits the development of pulmonary vascular remodeling. Free Radic Biol Med 53(9):1738–1747
- 375. Wright L, Tuder RM, Wang J, Cool CD, Lepley RA, Voelkel NF (1998) 5-Lipoxygenase and 5-lipoxygenase activating protein (FLAP) immunoreactivity in lungs from patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157(1):219–229
- 376. Wunderlich C, Schmeisser A, Heerwagen C, Ebner B, Schober K, Braun-Dullaeus RC, Schwencke C, Kasper M, Morawietz H, Strasser RH (2008) Chronic NOS inhibition prevents adverse lung remodeling and pulmonary arterial hypertension in caveolin-1 knockout mice. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 21(3):507–515
- 377. Wunderlich C, Schober K, Schmeisser A, Heerwagen C, Tausche AK, Steinbronn N, Brandt A, Kasper M, Schwencke C, Braun-Dullaeus RC, Strasser RH (2008) The adverse cardiopulmonary phenotype of caveolin-1 deficient mice is mediated by a dysfunctional endothelium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 44(5):938–947
- 378. Xia N, Daiber A, Habermeier A, Closs EI, Thum T, Spanier G, Lu Q, Oelze M, Torzewski M, Lackner KJ, Munzel T, Forstermann U, Li H (2010) Resveratrol reverses endothelial nitricoxide synthase uncoupling in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 335(1):149–154
- 379. Xiang RP, Sun WD, Wang JY, Wang XL (2002) Effect of vitamin C on pulmonary hypertension and muscularisation of pulmonary arterioles in broilers. Br Poultry Sci 43(5 suppl): 705–712
- 380. Xu D, Guo H, Xu X, Lu Z, Fassett J, Hu X, Xu Y, Tang Q, Hu D, Somani A, Geurts AM, Ostertag E, Bache RJ, Weir EK, Chen Y (2011) Exacerbated pulmonary arterial hypertension and right ventricular hypertrophy in animals with loss of function of extracellular superoxide dismutase. Hypertension 58(2):303–309
- 381. Xu W, Kaneko FT, Zheng S, Comhair SA, Janocha AJ, Goggans T, Thunnissen FB, Farver C, Hazen SL, Jennings C, Dweik RA, Arroliga AC, Erzurum SC (2004) Increased arginase II and decreased NO synthesis in endothelial cells of patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. FASEB J 18(14):1746–1748
- 382. Xu W, Koeck T, Lara AR, Neumann D, DiFilippo FP, Koo M, Janocha AJ, Masri FA, Arroliga AC, Jennings C, Dweik RA, Tuder RM, Stuehr DJ, Erzurum SC (2007) Alterations of cellular bioenergetics in pulmonary artery endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(4): 1342–1347
- 383. Yang L, Zheng BX, Cheng DY, Su QL, Fan LL, Yang YJ, Mu M, Chen WB (2008) The effect of breviscapine on the pulmonary arterial pressure and the expression of Rho-kinase in pulmonary arterioles of hypoxic rats. Chin J Tuberc Respir Dis 31(11):826–830

- 384. Yang Y, Nie W, Yuan J, Zhang B, Wang Z, Wu Z, Guo Y (2010) Genistein activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase in broiler pulmonary arterial endothelial cells by an Aktdependent mechanism. Exp Mol Med 42(11):768–776
- 385. Yang Y, Zhang BK, Liu D, Nie W, Yuan JM, Wang Z, Guo YM (2012) Sodium hydrosulfide prevents hypoxia-induced pulmonary arterial hypertension in broilers. Br Poultry Sci 53(5):608–615
- 386. Yetik-Anacak G, Catravas JD (2006) Nitric oxide and the endothelium: history and impact on cardiovascular disease. Vascul Pharmacol 45(5):268–276
- 387. Yi ES, Kim H, Ahn H, Strother J, Morris T, Masliah E, Hansen LA, Park K, Friedman PJ (2000) Distribution of obstructive intimal lesions and their cellular phenotypes in chronic pulmonary hypertension. A morphometric and immunohistochemical study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162(4 pt 1):1577–1586
- 388. Yi SL, Kantores C, Belcastro R, Cabacungan J, Tanswell AK, Jankov RP (2006) 8-Isoprostaneinduced endothelin-1 production by infant rat pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells is mediated by Rho-kinase. Free Radic Biol Med 41(6):942–949
- 389. Yoshizumi M, Abe J, Haendeler J, Huang Q, Berk BC (2000) Src and Cas mediate JNK activation but not ERK1/2 and p38 kinases by reactive oxygen species. J Biol Chem 275(16):11706–11712
- 390. Zemskova M, Sahakian E, Bashkirova S, Lilly M (2008) The PIM1 kinase is a critical component of a survival pathway activated by docetaxel and promotes survival of docetaxeltreated prostate cancer cells. J Biol Chem 283(30):20635–20644
- 391. Zernecke A, Bidzhekov K, Noels H, Shagdarsuren E, Gan L, Denecke B, Hristov M, Koppel T, Jahantigh MN, Lutgens E, Wang S, Olson EN, Schober A, Weber C (2009) Delivery of microRNA-126 by apoptotic bodies induces CXCL12-dependent vascular protection. Sci Signal 2(100):ra81
- 392. Zhang E, Jiang B, Yokochi A, Maruyama J, Mitani Y, Ma N, Maruyama K (2010) Effect of all-trans-retinoic acid on the development of chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. Circ J 74(8):1696–1703
- 393. Zhang TT, Cui B, Dai DZ, Su W (2005) CPU 86017, p-chlorobenzyltetrahydroberberine chloride, attenuates monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension by suppressing endothelin pathway. Acta Pharmacol Sin 26(11):1309–1316
- 394. Zhao W, Zhang J, Lu Y, Wang R (2001) The vasorelaxant effect of $\rm H_2S$ as a novel endogenous gaseous K(ATP) channel opener. EMBO J 20(21):6008–6016
- 395. Zhao YD, Courtman DW, Deng Y, Kugathasan L, Zhang Q, Stewart DJ (2005) Rescue of monocrotaline-induced pulmonary arterial hypertension using bone marrow-derived endothelial-like progenitor cells: efficacy of combined cell and eNOS gene therapy in established disease. Circ Res 96(4):442–450
- 396. Zhao YY, Liu Y, Stan RV, Fan L, Gu Y, Dalton N, Chu PH, Peterson K, Ross J Jr, Chien KR (2002) Defects in caveolin-1 cause dilated cardiomyopathy and pulmonary hypertension in knockout mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(17):11375–11380
- 397. Zhao YY, Malik AB (2009) A novel insight into the mechanism of pulmonary hypertension involving caveolin-1 deficiency and endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation. Trends Cardiovasc Med 19(7):238–242
- 398. Zhao YY, Zhao YD, Mirza MK, Huang JH, Potula HH, Vogel SM, Brovkovych V, Yuan JX, Wharton J, Malik AB (2009) Persistent eNOS activation secondary to caveolin-1 deficiency induces pulmonary hypertension in mice and humans through PKG nitration. J Clin Invest 119(7):2009–2018
- 399. Zhou Z, Song R, Fattman CL, Greenhill S, Alber S, Oury TD, Choi AM, Morse D (2005) Carbon monoxide suppresses bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis. Am J Pathol 166(1):27–37
- 400. Zinkevich NS, Gutterman DD (2011) ROS-induced ROS release in vascular biology: redoxredox signaling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301(3):H647–H653
- 401. Zou MH, Cohen R, Ullrich V (2004) Peroxynitrite and vascular endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. Endothelium 11(2):89–97

- 402. Zuckerbraun BS, Chin BY, Bilban M, d'Avila JC, Rao J, Billiar TR, Otterbein LE (2007) Carbon monoxide signals via inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase and generation of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. FASEB J 21(4):1099–1106
- 403. Zuckerbraun BS, Chin BY, Wegiel B, Billiar TR, Czsimadia E, Rao J, Shimoda L, Ifedigbo E, Kanno S, Otterbein LE (2006) Carbon monoxide reverses established pulmonary hypertension. J Exp Med 203(9):2109–2119
- 404. Zuckerbraun BS, Stoyanovsky DA, Sengupta R, Shapiro RA, Ozanich BA, Rao J, Barbato JE, Tzeng E (2007) Nitric oxide-induced inhibition of smooth muscle cell proliferation involves S-nitrosation and inactivation of RhoA. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 292(2):C824–C831
- 405. Zulueta JJ, Yu FS, Hertig IA, Thannickal VJ, Hassoun PM (1995) Release of hydrogen peroxide in response to hypoxia-reoxygenation: role of an NAD(P)H oxidase-like enzyme in endothelial cell plasma membrane. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 12(1):41–49

Chapter 16 Role of Oxidants and Antioxidants in Pediatric Respiratory Disorders

Meenu Singh and Anil Chauhan

The first known oxidative challenge of life occurs as early as birth, when lung cells are exposed to a sudden several fold increase in oxygen (O_2) concentration. A fully-developed lung armed with sufficient defense is therefore critical in ensuring that the newborn lung is resistant to high O_2 tensions. This prerequisite is clearly high-lighted in the problems that can arise following a premature birth at approximately 32 weeks or earlier, when the structural and biochemical components of the human lung, vital for normal respiration, are not sufficiently developed. The extent of pulmonary immaturity in an infant born at this stage necessitates ventilation and the provision of supplementary oxygen that, in the presence of a severely-reduced anti-oxidant defense system, has the potential to increase the risk of toxicity to lung cells. Indeed, O_2 -related lung injury of prematurely born neonates can in turn play a role in the progression to broncho-pulmonary dysplasia, which is a common cause of morbidity and mortality in preterm infants.

Oxidative stress reflects an imbalance between the systemic manifestation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the biological system's ability to readily detoxify the reactive intermediates or to repair the resulting damage. Disturbances in the normal redox state of cells can cause toxic effects through the production of peroxides and free radicals that damage all components of the cell, including proteins, lipids, and DNA. Further, some reactive oxidative species act as cellular messengers in redox signaling. Thus, oxidative stress can cause disruptions in normal mechanisms of cellular signaling. The genetic and pharmacological evidence that Nrf2dependent GSH-induced signaling plays a key role in lung Type II cell proliferation and cellular protection against oxidant-induced death was demonstrated in freshly isolated primary cultures. In addition to quenching high levels of ROS, signaling

M. Singh, M.D. (🖂) • A. Chauhan, Ph.D.

Department of Pediatrics, Advanced Pediatric Centre, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

e-mail: meenusingh4@gmail.com; anilpgi83@yahoo.com

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_16, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

induced by GSH is critically required for proper cell proliferation but not essential for maintaining differentiation [1]. A large number of oxidants are known to induce oxidative stress in the lungs.

16.1 Allergy, Asthma, and Oxidants

Sensitization to a normally harmless allergen results in the immune system being biased to a predominant T-helper type 2 response. Re-exposure to the same allergen leads to a robust secretion of allergy-related mediators that eventually trigger symptoms. Our understanding of these disorders has enabled the search for therapeutic approaches that can either modulate the sensitization process or impact upon allergic mediators, thus helping to manage allergic symptoms. Importantly, asthma is one of the common respiratory allergy in children. Atopic dermatitis and food-allergies are other important allergic problems. Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disorder characterized by airway obstruction and airway hyper responsiveness (AHR). There is influx and activation of cells such as eosinophils, macrophages, and neutrophils to the site of inflammation with generation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) [2]. These ROS/RNS cause endothelial barrier dysfunction, activate redox sensitive transcription factors, and enhance AHR [3]. The reactive species cause increased lipid peroxidation, mediating direct tissue damage.

Oxidative stress plays an important role in exacerbating the asthmatic condition, which is caused by over production of reactive oxidants and overwhelming of endogenous antioxidants [1]. In the airways, the lung maintains an endogenous defense system consisting of both enzymatic and non-enzymatic components to balance between normal physiologic function and damage which is accompanied by the redox environment in neutralization of free radicals. There are enzymes which help in quenching of free radicals/oxidants such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), glutathione peroxide (GTPx), hemeoxygenase, glutathione-S-transferase, glutaredoxin, and thioredoxin (TRX). The non-enzymatic components include vitamins A, C, uric acid, and glutathione [3, 4]. The most important scavenger and inhibitor of lipid peroxidation present in the lung lining is Alpha tocopherol (vitamin E). It has been amply demonstrated that there is reduction in BHR and inflammation, low frequency of allergen sensitization, and immunomodulation with tocopherol alone or in combination with vitamin C [5-7]. Alphalipoic acid, another free radical scavenger can recycle other antioxidants and also accelerate synthesis of reduced glutathione (GSH) [8].

The GSH redox buffer serves as one of the important defense systems of the lung. It is crucial in maintaining intracellular GSH/GSSG homeostasis. Any alteration in the lung redox potential, influences activation of proinflammatory transcription factors such as NF- κ B and AP-1 [9]. The enzyme glutathione-S-transferase catalyzes conjugation of reduced glutathione with electrophilic reactive compounds resulting from oxidant-mediated lipid peroxidation, thus effectively detoxifying them. Earlier studies had shown that supplementation of antioxidants in combination is more efficient in

reducing oxidative stress while maintaining cellular redox homeostasis (high GSH/ GSSG) [3, 7]. The earlier work with antioxidants mutated glutathione-S-transferase (mGST) and GSH has also demonstrated a synergistic effect in ameliorating oxidative stress and airway inflammation [10]. A decreased antioxidant capacity in plasma and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of patients with asthma provided oxidant– antioxidant imbalance. Bronchial epithelial cells isolated from patients with asthma not receiving corticosteroids, were found to possess less Cu, Zn-SOD activity than epithelial cells obtained from control subjects [11]. Whilst there is a loss of SOD activity in the lungs of individuals with atopic asthma within minutes of an acute asthmatic response to segmental antigen instillation [12]. Children chronically exposed to high levels of ozone (O₃), the principal oxidant pollutant in photochemical smog, are more vulnerable to respiratory illness and infections. Early life ozone exposure causes persistent nasal epithelial alterations in infant monkeys and provides a potential mechanism for the increased susceptibility to respiratory illness exhibited by children in polluted environments [13].

The IL-17 is important for ozone-induced bronchial hyper responsiveness but not for the induction of emphysema and inflammation. This dependent effect of AHR on IL-17 is likely to be a direct effect of IL-17 on airway smooth muscle. It was also reported that IL-17A was necessary for the development of AHR in an ovalbumininduced asthma model [14].

According to the statistical analysis through Poisson regression, it was analyzed that the week number and prior day accumulation of atmospheric gasses, i.e., CO, SO₂, NO₂, NO_x, PM_{2.5}, and O₃ led to significant effect on asthma exacerbations among students with asthma [16]. Monitoring of air pollutants over time could be a reliable new means for predicting asthma exacerbations among elementary school children. Such predictions could help parents and school nurses implement effective precautionary measures [15].

Exhaled breath condensate (EBC) 8-isoprostane concentrations are increased in asthma. EBC 8-isoprostane concentrations did not change following any inhalational challenge, as compared to baseline, in either asthmatics or controls. EBC 8-isoprostane concentrations do not acutely change following broncho-provocation in subjects with mild asthma [16]. Aluminum (Al) is a non-essential mineral which human beings are exposed to in day-to-day life. Abnormal aluminum distribution in our body may further precipitate oxidative stress and inflammation, alter Th1/Th2 lymphocyte balance, and therefore contribute to the development of asthma [17].

16.2 Role of Antioxidants in Asthma

Polyphenols are one such class of compounds that are found in foods and plant sources and have been investigated for their anti-allergic effect in different disease models and in human clinical trials. Their anti-inflammatory profile is known to impact on the recruitment of immune cells to the skin and in preventing the development of secondary infections following disruption of the skin barrier. The interaction of polyphenols with proteins can modulate the process of allergic sensitization and their direct effect on allergic effector cells such as mast cells inhibit mediator release, resulting in the alleviation of symptoms. In addition, their endogenous anti-oxidant ability limits the extent of cellular injury from free radicals during the allergic insult. Overall, polyphenols hold promise as anti-allergy agents capable of influencing multiple biological pathways and immune cell functions in the allergic immune response and deserve further investigations [18]. There are several other antioxidants such as SOD, CAT, GTPx, TRX, Peroxiredoxin (PRX), and glutathione transferase (GST) which play a role in regulating oxidative stress in our lungs.

16.3 Pediatric Infections

Pathogenic organisms can be considered as pro-oxidant agents because they produce cell death and tissue damage. In addition, organisms can be eliminated by a specific cell-defense mechanism, which utilizes in part, reactive oxygen radicals formed by oxidative stress responses. This necessarily is a defense process that however results in cell damage, thereby leading to the development of inflammation, a characteristic oxidative stress situation. This fact shows the duality of oxidative stress in infections and inflammation: oxygen-free radicals protect against microorganism attack, and can produce tissue damage during this protection to trigger inflammation. Iron, a transition metal which participates in generating oxygen-free radicals, also displays this duality in infection. Different pathologies, such as sickle cell anemia/malaria and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), may display this duality in part. In addition, it should be noted that oxidative damage observed in infectious diseases is mostly due to the inflammatory response than to the oxidative potential of the pathogenic agent. The last point is exemplified in cases of respiratory distress and in glomerulonephritis [19].

Various biochemical events taking place during pulmonary inflammation were examined in the BAL fluids from patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and in experimental animal models. In patients with ARDS, active neutrophil elastase was found in the BAL fluids. In these fluids, there occurred an inactivation of the major elastase inhibitor alpha 1-protease inhibitor (alpha 1-PI). This was caused by the oxidation of a methionine residue at the active site of the alpha 1-PI, and offered indirect evidence of oxidation occurring in the inflamed pulmonary tissues. Studies with experimental animals have been initiated to gain understanding of the relative roles of proteases, oxidants, arachidonate metabolites, complement, contact system components, and other mediators in the pathogenesis of pulmonary inflammation. Intrabronchial instillation of glucose oxidase/glucose to produce oxidants or formyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (FMLP) or phorbolmyristate acetate (PMA) as leukocytic stimuli induced severe acute pulmonary injury in New Zealand white rabbits and rhesus monkeys. The injury was accompanied by leukocytic protease (acid cathepsins) release in the rabbit lungs and oxidant formation, which could be inhibited by neutrophil depletion. Oxidant formation was demonstrated by the inactivation of catalase by 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole in the presence of H_2O_2 , a drop in intracellular glutathione levels, and in the rhesus monkey by inactivation of alpha 1-PI [20].

Neutrophil infiltration into the lungs and oxidative injury is associated with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. However, the pathological importance of neutrophil oxidants is still not clear. Nosocomial pneumonia is also implicated, but the evidence is limited, in part because of the difficulty in distinguishing genuine infection from bacterial colonization. Good biomarkers of neutrophil oxidant activity and lung infection are needed. It has been previously tested that glutathione sulfonamide, a product of glutathione oxidation by myeloperoxidase-derived hypochlorous acid (HOCl) and a potential new neutrophil oxidant biomarker, is detectable in endotracheal aspirates from ventilated preterm infants. As infectious organisms stimulate neutrophils to generate HOCl, it was determined that levels of HOCl-specific biomarkers were increased in samples that were bacterial culture-positive. Glutathione sulfonamide was detected in 66 of 87 endotracheal aspirate samples. Levels correlated with myeloperoxidase activity and another HOCl-specific marker, chlorotyrosine. Median levels of glutathione sulfonamide (fourfold) and other biomarkers (twofold) were significantly higher in culture-positive aspirates.

Staphylococcus epidermidis, a frequent colonizer, was associated with glutathione sulfonamide levels, no different from those in negative samples. Glutathione sulfonamide showed good sensitivity and specificity for detecting bacterial growth and had a promise for detecting lung infection [21]. Secreted hypothiocyanous acid (HOSCN) kills pathogens but paradoxically is tolerated by many mammalian cells. Mammalian thioredoxin reductase (H-TrxR) reduces HOSCN while bacterial L-TrxR is inhibited by it corresponding to differential cytotoxicity. Mammalian H-TrxR confers resistance against HOSCN enabling its use as a selective biocide. Findings directly link mammalian H-TrxR to innate immunity and inflammatory lung disease [22].

16.4 Tuberculosis

Tuberculosis (TB) is associated with oxidative stress and the induction of host anti-oxidants to counteract this response. Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) is a critical promoter of cytoprotection in diverse disease models including mycobacterial infection. Systemic levels of HO-1 were dramatically increased in individuals with active pulmonary and extra-pulmonary tuberculosis, particularly in children with bilateral lung lesions and elevated bacillary loads in sputum [23]. HO-1 levels effectively discriminated active from latent tuberculosis with higher predictive values than either C-reactive protein or serum amyloid protein. Moreover, there was a marked reduction in HO-1 levels in active TB cases following anti-tuberculous therapy but not in those who failed treatment [23]. These findings establish HO-1 levels

as a potentially useful parameter for distinguishing active from latent or treated pulmonary tuberculosis that is superior in this respect to the measurement of other acute inflammatory proteins [23].

16.5 Cystic Fibrosis

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a fatal autosomal recessive condition caused by a defect of the trans-membrane conductance regulator gene that has a key role in cell homeostasis. A dysfunctional cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator impairs the efflux of cell anions such as chloride and bicarbonate, and also that of other solutes such as reduced glutathione. This defect produces an increased viscosity of secretions together with other metabolic defects of epithelia that ultimately promote the obstruction and fibrosis of organs. It is largely accepted that neutrophils migrating inside the bronchial lumina of CF patients release large amounts of ROS, including the superoxide anion (O_2^{--}) , hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and the hydroxyl-free radical (OH), mainly by the activation of the NADPH oxidase (NOX). To such exaggerated ROS production, both the continuous interaction of neutrophils with bacteria and bacterial degradation products and the inability to engulf bacteria in bio-films contribute, leading to a condition of "frustrated phagocytosis." Neutrophils are therefore recognized as a major source of ROS in the airway surface liquid (ASL) of young children with CF [24, 25].

Oxidative stress and inflammation in cystic fibrosis can affect surfactant biophysical activity, thus leading to early alterations of lung function in patients with CF [26]. Oxidative damage of surfactant may involve both lipid and protein components. Alteration of lipid components can in turn generate toxic lipid species with cytotoxic activity towards nearby epithelial cells [27]. Altered protein components have been shown in cystic fibrosis [28]. Notably, surfactant protein D, which is an important innate host defense molecule, becomes unable to agglutinate bacteria when it is modified by oxidation, which facilitates pathogen colonization in the lung [29].

The fat-soluble vitamin supplementation is of utmost importance in daily practice together with energy intake requirements and pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy [30]. Among these, vitamin E, β -carotene, and ω -3FA have been observed to alleviate selected biochemical signs of oxidative stress as measured, for instance, with well-established laboratory indices of lipid peroxidation, and in some studies these effects were preliminarily associated with positive clinical outcomes. The randomized-controlled clinical trials on antioxidant supplements (including ω -3 FA) so far carried out in CF, have failed to conclusively demonstrate their significant beneficial effects on respiratory symptoms, and on the consequent impact that these have on the quality of life of these patients [30, 31]. There is lack of evidence to support the use of these supplements in CF. Well-timed (early) interventions with appropriate antioxidant formulations/protocols need to be proposed for the next generation of trials, and the development of novel CF-tailored antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agents should be promoted.

Conflict of Interest There has been no conflicts of interest to disclose.

References

- Reddy NM, Kleberger SR, Cho H-Y, Yamamoto M et al (2007) Deficiency of Nrf2-GSH signaling impairs type II cell growth and enhances sensitivity to oxidants. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 37:3–8
- Comhair SA, Erzurum SC (2010) Redox control of asthma: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal 12:93–124
- Kirkham P, Rahman I (2006) Oxidative stress in asthma and COPD: antioxidants as a therapeutic strategy. Pharmacol Ther 111:476–494
- Sackesen C, Ercan H, Dizdar E, Soyer O, Gumus P, Tosun BN, Buyuktuncer Z, Karabulut E, Besler T, Kalayci O (2008) A comprehensive evaluation of the enzymatic and nonenzymatic systems in childhood asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122:78–85
- 5. Trenga CA, Koenig JQ, Williams PV (2001) Dietary antioxidants and ozone-induced bronchial hyperresponsiveness in adults with asthma. Arch Environ Health 56:242–249
- 6. Okamoto N, Murata T, Tamai H, Tanaka H, Nagai H (2006) Effects of alphatocopherol and probucol supplements on allergen-induced airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in a mouse model of allergic asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 141:72–180
- Silva Bezerra F, Valenca SS, Lanzetti M, Pimenta WA, Castro P, Goncalves Koatz VL, Porto LC (2006) Alpha-tocopherol and ascorbic acid supplementation reduced acute lung inflammatory response by cigarette smoke in mouse. Nutrition 22:1192–1201
- Packer L (1998) Alpha-Lipoic acid: a metabolic antioxidant which regulates NF-kappa B signal transduction and protects against oxidative injury. Drug Metab Rev 30:245–275
- Rahman I, MacNee W (2000) Oxidative stress and regulation of glutathione in lung inflammation. Eur Respir J 16:534–554
- Tripathi P, Nair S, Singh BP, Arora N (2010) Mutated glutathione S-transferase in combination with reduced glutathione shows a synergistic effect in ameliorating oxidative stress and airway inflammation. Free Radic Biol Med 48:839–844
- 11. De Raeve HR, Thunnissen F, Kaneko FT, Guo FH, Lewis M, Kavuru MS, Seic M, Thomassen MJ, Erzurum SC (1997) Decreased Cu, Zn-SOD activity in asthmatic airway epithelium: correction by inhaled corticosteroids in vivo. Am J Physiol 272:L148–L154
- Comhair SAA, Bhathena PR, Dweik RA, Kavuru M, Erzurum SC (2000) Rapid loss of superoxide dismutase activity during antigen-induced asthmatic response. Lancet 355:624
- Carey SA, Ballinger CA, Plopper CG, McDonald RJ, Bartolucci AA, Postlethwait EM, Harkema JR (2011) Persistent rhinitis and epithelial remodeling induced by cyclic ozone exposure in the nasal airways of infant monkeys. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 300(2): L242–L254
- 14. Pinart M, Zhang M, Li F, Hussain F, Zhu J, Wiegman C, Ryffel B, Chung KF (2013) IL-17A modulates oxidant stress-induced airway hyperresponsiveness but not emphysema. PLoS One 8(3):e58452. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0058452
- 15. YoussefAgha AH, Jayawardene WP, Lohrmann DK, El Afandi GS (2012) Air pollution indicators predict outbreaks of asthma exacerbations among elementary school children: integration of daily environmental and school health surveillance systems in Pennsylvania. J Environ Monit 14(12):3202–3210
- Sood A, Qualls C, Seagrave J, McDonald J, Shohreh R, Chiavaroli A, Schuyler M (2013) Effect of allergen inhalation on airway oxidant stress, using exhaled breath condensate 8-isoprostane, in mild asthma. J Asthma 50(5):449–456
- Guo CH, Chen PC, Hsia S, Hsu GS, Liu PJ (2013) The relationship of plasma aluminium to oxidant-antioxidant and inflammation status in asthma patients. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 35(1):30–38. doi:10.1016/j.etap.2012.10.005, Epub 2012 Nov 3
- Singh A, Holvoet S, Mercenier A (2011) Dietary polyphenols in the prevention and treatment of allergic diseases. Clin Exp Allergy 41(10):1346–1359
- Romero Alvira D, Guerrero Navarro L, Gotor Lázaro MA, Roche CE (1995) Oxidative stress and infectious pathology. An Med Interna 12(3):139–149

- 20. Duijvestijn YC, Mourdi N, Smucny J, Pons G, Chalumeau M (2009) Acetylcysteine and carbocysteine for acute upper and lower respiratory tract infections in paediatric patients without chronic broncho-pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1):CD003124
- Harwood DT, Darlow BA, Cheah FC, McNeill N, Graham P (2011) Biomarkers of neutrophilmediated glutathione and protein oxidation in tracheal aspirates from preterm infants: association with bacterial infection. Pediatr Res 69(1):28–33
- 22. Chandler JD, Nichols DP, Nick JA, Hondal RJ, Day BJ (2013) Selective metabolism of hypothiocyanous acid by mammalian thioredoxin reductase promotes lung innate immunity and antioxidant defense. J Biol Chem 288(25):18421–18428
- 23. Andrade BB, Pavan Kumar N, Mayer-Barber KD, Barber DL, Sridhar R, Rekha VV, Jawahar MS, Nutman TB, Sher A, Babu S (2013) Plasma heme oxygenase-1 levels distinguish latent or successfully treated human tuberculosis from active disease. PLoS One 8(5):e62618
- 24. Thomson E, Brennan S, Senthilmohan R, Gangell CL, Chapman AL, Sly PD, Kettle AJ, Balding E, Berry LJ, Carlin JB, Carzino R, de Klerk N, Douglas T, Foo C, Garratt LW, Hall GL, Harrison J, Kicic A, Laing IA, Logie KM, Massie J, Mott LS, Murray C, Parsons F, Pillarisetti N, Poreddy SR, Ranganathan SC, Robertson CF, Robins-Browne R, Robinson PJ, Skoric B, Stick SM, Sutanto EN, Williamson E (2010) Identifying peroxidases and their oxidants in the earlypathology of cystic fibrosis. Free Radic Biol Med 49:1354–1360
- 25. Kettle AJ, Chan T, Osberg I, Senthilmohan R, Chapman AL, Mocatta TJ, Wagener JS (2004) Myeloperoxidase and protein oxidation in the airways of young children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 170:1317–1323
- Hull J, South M, Phelan P, Grimwood K (1997) Surfactant composition in infants and young children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156:161–165
- Pulfer MK, Murphy RC (2004) Formation of biologically active oxysterols during ozonolysis of cholesterol present in lung surfactant. J Biol Chem 279:26331–26338
- Starosta V, Rietschel E, Paul K, Baumann U, Griese M (2006) Oxidative changes of bronchoalveolar proteins in cystic fibrosis. Chest 129:431–437
- Starosta V, Griese M (2006) Oxidative damage to surfactant protein D in pulmonary diseases. Free Radic Res 40:419–425
- Oliver C, Jahnke N (2011) Omega-3 fatty acids for cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (8):CD002201.
- Strandvik B, Gronowitz E, Enlund F, Martinsson T, Wahlstrom J (2001) Essential fatty acid deficiency in relation to genotype in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr 139:650–655

Chapter 17 Oxidative Stress and Respiratory Diseases: The Critical Role of Nrf2

Thomas E. Sussan and Shyam Biswal

17.1 Nrf2 is a Key Regulator of Oxidative Stress

The rise of oxygen in Earth's atmosphere that began approximately 2.5 billion years ago was vital for eukaryotic and metazoan development. However, this oxidative environment presented challenges to early life forms, necessitating the development of a cellular system to detoxify oxidative stress. The primary function of the *nuclear factor* (*erythroid-derived 2*)-*like 2* (Nrf2) pathway is to regulate baseline antioxidant capacity and to sense changes in the oxidative environment and initiate a cellular response to this environmental stress. Nrf2 is conserved across many diverse species, and an ortholog has even been detected in yeast (YAP1).

The Nrf2 protein is a basic leucine zipper transcription factor that is characterized by its conserved structural domain referred to as the cap'n'collar (CNC) domain, which was first discovered as a regulator of mandibular development in *Drosophila* [1]. In mammals, the family of CNC-containing transcription factors consists of NF-E2 [2], Nrf1 [3], Nrf2 [4, 5], Nrf3 [6], and the more distantly related Bach1 [7] and Bach2 [8]. These CNC transcription factors function as heterodimers, binding to accessory proteins such as Mafs, to activate gene expression [9]. Early studies revealed that Nrf2 bound the antioxidant response element (ARE), which is a ciselement in the promoters of many anti-oxidative genes that is critical to their inducible activation. Over-expression of Nrf2 in in vitro models increases ARE-dependent transcriptional induction [10], while Nrf2-deficient mice do not exhibit inducible expression of ARE-containing genes [9]. Recent chromatin immune-precipitationsequencing analysis identified more than 650 direct inducible targets of Nrf2 [11]. Among the Nrf2-dependent genes are the phase II detoxification genes and many other genes that regulate redox states.

T.E. Sussan, Ph.D. • S. Biswal, Ph.D. (🖂)

Department of Environmental Health Sciences, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: tsussan@jhsph.edu; sbiswal@jhsph.edu

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_17, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014



Fig. 17.1 Under basal conditions, Nrf2 is bound to Keap1 in the cytoplasm, resulting in Cul3mediated ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of Nrf2. Oxidative/nitrosative stress causes Nrf2 to release from Keap1, where it is free to translocate to the nucleus, associate with accessory proteins, and coordinate the transcriptional activation of numerous antioxidative pathways. The Nrf2 pathway attenuates oxidative stress and inflammation, resulting in reduced susceptibility to a variety of pulmonary diseases

Under non-stressed conditions, Nrf2 persists at low levels in the cytoplasm where it is bound to its inhibitor Keap1. Keap1 is a cysteine-rich protein that binds both the actin cytoskeleton [12] and the Cul3-based E3 ubiquitin ligase [13, 14]. Keap1 serves to anchor Nrf2 in the cytoplasm and also to signal its ubiquitination and subsequent proteosomal degradation, resulting in low baseline expression of the Nrf2-dependent cytoprotective genes. However, the disulfide bonds in Keap1 are highly sensitive to oxidative stress, and exposure to a wide variety of electrophiles/oxidants triggers a conformational change in Keap1, caused by modifications also facilitate this dissociation, including phosphorylation of Nrf2 and S-nitrosylation of Keap1 [19–21]. Upon dissociation from Keap1, Nrf2 translocates to the nucleus, heterodimerizes with Maf proteins, binds the ARE, and activates the coordinate expression of hundreds of genes. The net result is an adaptive cytoprotective response that detoxifies oxidative and environmental stressors (Fig. 17.1).

17.2 Nrf2-Regulated Genes

Nrf2 has been shown to directly or indirectly alter the expression of approximately 15,000 genes [11], and the number of directly inducible genes has been estimated at 654. Of these 654 genes, 224 are regulated under both basal and inducible conditions [11]. Nrf2 is a pleiotropic regulator of numerous pathways, although the inducible targets of Nrf2 are primarily categorized as antioxidative genes. The Nrf2-dependent antioxidative response utilizes multiple pathways, such as (a) providing direct antioxidants [22, 23], (b) encoding enzymes that directly inactivate oxidants [24], (c) increasing levels of glutathione and thioredoxin synthesis and regeneration [25, 26], (d) stimulating NADPH synthesis [27, 28], (e) enhancing toxin export via the multidrug response transporters [28], (f) inhibiting cytokinemediated inflammation [29], (g) enhancing recognition, repair, and removal of damaged proteins [30], and (h) increasing chaperones and regulating posttranslational modifications [11]. Additionally, Nrf2 may regulate the expression of multiple microRNAs [31], although the functional significance of this is currently unknown. Thus, Nrf2 is a prolific and ubiquitous regulator of multiple pathways that counteract oxidative stress.

17.3 Role of Nrf2 in Disease

Unlike some CNC family members, Nrf2 has not been shown to regulate developmental processes. Most studies reveal only minor phenotypes in Nrf2^{-/-} mice under non-stressed conditions. Nrf2 activity declines with aging, resulting in enhanced age-related oxidative stress [32]. However, one analysis of Nrf2-deficient mice revealed that they exhibited shortened life-spans, glomerulonephritis, multi-organ inflammatory lesions, edema, and neurological symptoms [33]. Nrf2^{-/-} mice exhibit exacerbated phenotypes in a wide variety of disease models and in response to a large number of toxicant exposures, and these exacerbated phenotypes are often typified by elevated oxidative stress, inflammation, and fibrosis.

17.4 Role of Nrf2 in Pulmonary Diseases

Lungs are constantly exposed to numerous oxidants, from both endogenous sources and environmental exposures. For example, a single puff of cigarette smoke contains an estimated 10¹⁵–10¹⁷ oxidant molecules [34]. Other sources of oxidants, including outdoor and indoor air pollution and ionizing radiation, place a tremendous oxidative burden on the lungs that results in oxidized macromolecules (nucleotides, lipids, proteins) that have altered or impaired functions, leading to cell damage or death. Thus, the Nrf2-dependent antioxidant defense pathways are vital for removing this stress and modifying disease susceptibility.

17.5 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), which is the third-leading cause of death in the world, is characterized as a progressive decline in lung function that is driven by aberrant non-resolving inflammation, oxidative stress, and protease/ antiprotease imbalance. COPD consists of both emphysema and chronic bronchitis, and is predominantly associated with exposure to environmental stressors, such as cigarette smoke, outdoor air pollution, household air pollution, and occupational exposures. Experimental models of emphysema have revealed that Nrf2^{-/-} mice develop enhanced airspace enlargement, alveolar destruction, apoptosis, inflammation, oxidative stress, and protease/anti-protease imbalance after either chronic cigarette smoke exposure [35-37] or elastase treatment [38]. Not only has Nrf2deficiency been shown to alter susceptibility to emphysema in mice, but some individual Nrf2-dependent genes have also been shown to play a role in the pathogenesis of emphysema. For example, mice deficient in the Nrf2-dependent genes NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase 1 (Nqo1) [39] and thioredoxin-1 [40, 41] show enhanced susceptibility to emphysema. The role of Nrf2 in patients with COPD was confirmed, as lung biopsies and alveolar macrophages from COPD patients exhibited declining Nrf2 activity that correlated with disease severity [42–44].

Emphysema, which is specifically characterized by remodeling and destruction of the alveoli and small airways, can be considered a disease in which the homeostasis between cell death and proliferation becomes unbalanced. Oxidative stress (and in turn Nrf2) have been shown to play a role in the regulation of both cell death and proliferation. In cigarette smoke-exposed mice, Nrf2-deficiency results in decreased proteosomal activity and an increase in misfolded proteins, leading to endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis [45]. Concomitantly, oxidative stress can trigger cell-cycle arrest, and indeed lung cells from Nrf2^{-/-} mice exposed to cigarette smoke exhibit reduced mitochondrial responses compared to cigarette smoke-exposed wild-type mice [46, 47].

Studies showing that Nrf2-deficient mice have enhanced susceptibility to emphysema are complemented by studies showing that genetic or pharmacologic activation of Nrf2 can attenuate pathological damage caused by cigarette smoke. Mice containing a tissue-specific deletion of Keap1 in Clara cells exhibit constitutive Nrf2 activity in the airway epithelium, and these mice show decreased oxidative stress and inflammation after exposure to cigarette smoke [48]. Additionally, pharmacologic activation of Nrf2 via a synthetic triterpenoid (CDDO-Im) significantly attenuates oxidative stress, airspace enlargement, and alveolar destruction in wild-type, but not Nrf2^{-/-} mice [49]. Clinical studies using Nrf2-activating drugs are currently being pursued in Phase II trials, and hold substantial promise as therapeutics for delaying or preventing disease progression.

In parallel with these studies on the role of Nrf2 in COPD, numerous studies have been conducted to assess the ability of antioxidants to attenuate COPD. Studies, on the role of the antioxidant *N*-acetylcysteine, which is a precursor to

glutathione, in cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in mice, are conflicting [50, 51]. Likewise, the role of *N*-acetylcysteine as a therapy for COPD is also controversial, although several studies indicate that *N*-acetylcysteine decreases exacerbation rates, reduces hospital admissions, and improves lung function [52–56]. Nrf2 activates numerous antioxidative pathways, including pathways that enhance glutathione synthesis and regeneration, and thus, Nrf2 activation may provide greater benefits than enhancing individual antioxidant pathways.

17.6 COPD Exacerbations

COPD is complicated by frequent and recurrent acute exacerbations, which are described as sudden episodes of worsening respiratory symptoms. These symptoms include dyspnea, cough, and sputum production that are often followed by subsequent clinical deterioration [57, 58]. The frequency of these exacerbations correlates strongly with decline in lung function [59–61], and approximately 10 % of COPD patients with frequent and severe exacerbations account for 70 % of the total COPD-related health care cost [62]. Thus, therapeutic targets that mitigate COPD exacerbations could have substantial benefit to patient outcomes. These COPD exacerbations are primarily attributed to infectious agents, such as bacteria and viruses. During exacerbations, patients with COPD exhibit significant increases in airway inflammatory cells (neutrophils, macrophages, and eosinophils), cytokines (TNF- α , IL-8), proteases (neutrophil elastase), and oxidative stress (H₂O₂ and 8-isoprostane), compared to patients with stable COPD [63–65].

Multiple studies indicate that Nrf2 reduces susceptibility to bacterial and viral infections [66, 67], and Nrf2 also attenuates inflammation and oxidative stress in cigarette smoke-induced bacterial [68] and viral [69] exacerbations in mice. Host phagocytic cells release oxidants as part of their anti-microbial defense, but failure to detoxify this oxidative stress can result in damage to the lung parenchymal cells. Despite increased oxidative stress and inflammatory cells in the lungs of COPD patients, bacteria and viruses have higher rates of proliferation and colonization than in lungs of non-COPD patients, which can be attributed to a failure of the host innate immune defense. Alveolar macrophages from COPD patients have defective bacterial phagocytosis, compared to either blood macrophages from the same COPD patients or alveolar macrophages from non-COPD patients [70]. A recent study using both cigarette smoke-exposed mice and alveolar macrophages from COPD patients demonstrated that activation of Nrf2 by sulforaphane restored defective bacterial phagocytic function by inducing the expression of macrophage scavenger receptors [68]. Thus, Nrf2 reduces exacerbation severity both through direct detoxification of oxidative stress and enhancement of innate immune defense, which suggests that Nrf2 may be an important therapeutic target for improving COPD-related morbidity and mortality.

17.7 Corticosteroid Resistance in COPD

Current therapies for COPD patients consist of anti-inflammatory corticosteroids and bronchodilators. However, even high-dose corticosteroid therapy produces only mild symptomatic relief, and may increase the risk of developing pneumonia. Steroids are effective anti-inflammatory therapies for many diseases, including asthma, but COPD patients are more refractory to corticosteroid therapy, due to a decline in the activity of histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2) [71]. Nrf2-deificent mice contain reduced HDAC2 levels in the lungs and increased steroid-resistant inflammation after exposure to cigarette smoke [72]. Declining HDAC2 activity also results in deacetylation and destabilization of Nrf2 [73]. Activation of Nrf2 by sulforaphane improves corticosteroid responsiveness in alveolar macrophages from COPD patients, via regulation of S-nitrosylation of cysteine residues on HDAC2 [74]. This indicates that activation of Nrf2 may attenuate nitrosative modifications of HDAC2 to restore HDAC2 activity, and a combination of a corticosteroid and Nrf2 activator may be a valuable therapy for resolving inflammation in COPD patients.

17.8 Asthma

Allergic asthma is characterized by reversible bronchial constriction, eosinophilic inflammation, Th2 cytokine secretion, and mucus hypersecretion in response to a normally harmless inhaled allergen. Oxidative stress plays an important role in the regulation of the immune response; depletion of the antioxidant glutathione within antigen-presenting cells skews the immune response toward a Th2-mediated response [75]. Using a model in which mice are sensitized and subsequently challenged with ovalbumin, Nrf2-deficient mice exhibit heightened airway resistance, Th2-mediated inflammation, mucus hyper-secretion, and reduced antioxidant status compared to wild-type controls [76]. Additionally, airway macrophages from asthmatic patients exposed in vivo to allergens show decreased Nrf2 activity, which can be restored by consumption of vitamin E [77]. Dendritic cells, which are responsible for the priming of CD4+ T cells during sensitization, play an important role in eliciting T-cell responses after allergen challenge. In response to an allergen, dendritic cells from Nrf2-deficient mice contain elevated oxidative stress, increased surface expression of activation markers, cytokine secretion, and enhanced ability to prime T cells, compared to wild-type dendritic cells [78, 79]. The role of Nrf2 in dendritic cells of asthmatic mice or humans has not been directly assessed, but the potential role of Nrf2 in allergen sensitization provides interesting possibilities for the management of asthma.

A few studies have addressed the potential for Nrf2 activators to be used as therapeutics in asthmatics. Small molecules that activate Nrf2, such as sulforaphane [80] and artesunate [81] have been shown to attenuate features of allergic asthma in mice when given prior to challenges, although neither study demonstrated conclusively that these drugs were working through an Nrf2-dependent mechanism. Further studies are needed to determine whether Nrf2 activators could be used in a therapeutic model to reduce asthmatic symptoms. In airway smooth muscle cells (ASMCs) from asthmatic and non-asthmatic patients, activation of Nrf2 via sulforaphane activated antioxidant responses and reduced proliferation in a TGF- β dependent manner [82]. On the other hand, ASMCs from severe asthmatics exhibit reduced Nrf2 activity compared to ASMCs from patients with no or non-severe asthma [82].

Collectively, the current evidence suggests that Nrf2 modifies sensitivity to asthma in both animal models and samples from asthmatic patients. Acute asthmatic responses are typically well controlled by corticosteroids, so it is not clear that Nrf2 activators would be used as a rescue therapy. However, the notion that Nrf2 may potentially decrease sensitization and development of asthma is intriguing. Additionally, 5–10 % of asthmatics are not well controlled by corticosteroids. These patients typically demonstrate an elevated Th17-mediated inflammation. Thus, there would be tremendous value in novel therapeutics that reduce this Th17 response. To date, Nrf2 activators have not been shown to regulate Th17 responses in the lungs; however, the Nrf2 activator CDDO-trifluoroethyl amide significantly suppressed multiple sclerosis in a mouse model that is driven by Th17-induced inflammation [83].

17.9 Acute Lung Injury

Acute lung injury (ALI) is caused by inhalation exposure to a variety of different agents, including infectious pathogens and toxic chemicals, and can develop as a consequence of respiratory therapy (hyperoxia and mechanical ventilation). ALI, and its more severe form of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), leads to diffused pulmonary inflammation, edema, and respiratory failure. Patients with ALI and ARDS exhibit high rates of morbidity and mortality, accounting for approximately 150,000 annual deaths in the US [84, 85]. Oxidative stress is an important contributor to ALI, regardless of the root cause. Numerous in vivo and in vitro studies indicate that Nrf2 attenuates toxicity after exposure to a wide variety of toxicants, and Nrf2 also mitigates susceptibility to a wide range of pulmonary viral and bacterial pathogens.

Mechanical ventilation is vital for critically ill patients and premature newborns; however, mechanical ventilation initiates ALI due to hyperoxia and cyclic stretch, which generate oxidative stress and inflammation. Hyperoxia frequently results in respiratory symptoms and permanent functional abnormalities, including bronchopulmonary dysplasia in infants. In response to hyperoxia exposure in either neonatal or adult mice, Nrf2-deficiency enhances mortality, edema, inflammation, and cell death, compared to wild-type controls [86–89]. Meanwhile, activation of Nrf2 via CDDO-imidazole attenuates hyperoxia-induced inflammation, edema, and apoptosis in adult mice [90].

In addition to the direct effects of hyperoxia on epithelial and endothelial cell injury, hyperoxia-induced ALI also leads to enhanced susceptibility to bacterial or viral infections during the recovery phase. Using an animal model of hyperoxia exposure followed by infection with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Nrf2-deficient mice exhibit enhanced mortality, bacterial pulmonary burden, edema, and inflammation, compared to wild-type controls [91]. Even in the absence of hyperoxia, cyclic stretch caused by mechanical ventilation can induce oxidative stress and inflammation. Nrf2-deficient mice demonstrate elevated oxidative stress and inflammation in ventilator-induced lung injury, which is suppressed by antioxidant supplementation [92]. Thus mechanical ventilation causes injury via both exposure to high concentrations of oxygen as well as cyclic stretch, and Nrf2 mediates the harmful effects of both. There is also an association between traumatic brain injury (TBI) and subsequent ALI. In a mouse model of TBI-induced ALI, Nrf2-deficient mice contain elevated pulmonary capillary permeability, edema, apoptosis, and inflammation, compared to wild-type animals [93]. Thus, Nrf2 regulates susceptibility to ALI in response to multiple stressors.

17.10 Fibrosis

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) is a progressive fatal disease of unknown origin. While the pathogenesis of IPF is unknown, oxidative stress may play an important role, as evidenced by the elevation of reactive oxygen species in airway cells of IPF patients and decreased glutathione in airways and sputum. A role for Nrf2 has been demonstrated in a mouse model of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Intratracheal delivery of bleomycin to Nrf2-deficient mice results in elevated fibrosis, inflammation, weight loss, and mortality, compared to wild-type controls [94, 95]. Nrf2-deficient mice also exhibit elevated Th2 cytokines (IL-4 and IL-13) and an increased number of Th2 cells [95], supporting the notion that the lung Th1/Th2 balance is an important underlying mediator of disease susceptibility. In further support of this notion, Nrf2 selectively regulates Eotaxin-1, a key chemokine for eosinophil recruitment, in normal human lung fibroblasts [96], suggesting that Nrf2 reduces allergic inflammation via signaling in fibroblasts. Fibroblasts isolated from IPF patients exhibit reduced Nrf2 expression, compared to control fibroblasts [97]. Activation of Nrf2 in IPF fibroblasts via either sulforaphane treatment of siRNA-mediated inhibition of Keap1 resulted in reduced oxidative stress and promoted myofibroblastic dedifferentiation. Thus, activation of Nrf2 may suppress pathogenesis of this fatal disease.

17.11 Polymorphisms

Genetic variation accounts for the observable differences among individuals, and these variants are also determinants of disease susceptibility. The most common genetic variants are single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), which are substitutions of individual base-pairs. The human genome contains approximately ten million SNPs, although the majority of these SNPs have no functional significance. In a recent study of COPD patients, four functional polymorphisms were identified in the promoter of Nrf2, and those haplotypes with a high expression of Nrf2 were associated with decreased severe COPD, compared to those patients with low Nrf2-expressing haplotypes [98]. A second analysis of SNPs in COPD patients demonstrated that SNPs in Nrf2 and Keap1 were associated lower and higher lung function, respectively [99]. However, no polymorphisms in Nrf2, Nrf2-regulating genes, or Nrf2-dependent genes have been identified that significantly correlate with the rate of lung function decline [100]. It is not clear whether these polymorphisms result in altered levels of antioxidants in these patients. A recent study demonstrated that polymorphisms in Nrf2, SOD2, and GSTP1 marginally influence COPD- and asthma-related hospital admission rates after exposure to elevated air pollution [101]. Air pollution is often acutely linked to hospital admission rates, and this link between Nrf2 and air pollution-induced hospital admissions suggest that oxidative stress underlies this link. Additionally, a functional polymorphism in Nrf2 is strongly associated with increased risk of ALI after trauma [102], further demonstrating a link between Nrf2 expression and pulmonary disease.

17.12 Conclusions

The role of oxidative stress in numerous pulmonary disorders is clear, and susceptibility to these diseases is strongly influenced by the ability of the host to detoxify oxidative stress. Nrf2 is a ubiquitous and pleiotropic transcription factor that regulates hundreds of genes that provide anti-oxidative and cyto-protective functions in the cell. As such, Nrf2 serves protective roles in a variety of pulmonary and extrapulmonary diseases through its induction of hundreds of ARE-containing genes, resulting in a coordinated response to environmental stressors. Experiments using animal models and human in vitro or ex vivo cells demonstrate that Nrf2 can protect from COPD, asthma, ALI, and IPF. These studies are supported by analysis of polymorphisms in patient samples, demonstrating that alterations to the Nrf2 pathway correlate with pathogenic responses. Nrf2 activators present viable therapeutic options for these and other diseases, and these are currently being explored in clinical trials. The Federal Drug Administration (FDA) recently approved the first Nrf2-activating drug, Tecfidera, as a therapy for multiple sclerosis, and it is likely that similar drugs will be developed for other diseases.

Conflict of Interest Shyam Biswal and the Johns Hopkins University hold intellectual property on the development of Nrf2-based therapeutics for COPD. Cureveda LLC has licensed this intellectual property. Thomas Sussan has no conflict.

References

- 1. Mohler J, Mahaffey JW, Deutsch E, Vani K (1995) Control of Drosophila head segment identity by the bZIP homeotic gene cnc. Development 121:237–247
- Chan JY, Han XL, Kan YW (1993) Isolation of cDNA encoding the human NF-E2 protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:11366–11370
- Chan JY, Han XL, Kan YW (1993) Cloning of Nrf1, an NF-E2-related transcription factor, by genetic selection in yeast. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:11371–11375

- 4. Moi P, Chan K, Asunis I, Cao A, Kan YW (1994) Isolation of NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a NF-E2-like basic leucine zipper transcriptional activator that binds to the tandem NF-E2/ AP1 repeat of the beta-globin locus control region. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91: 9926–9930
- Itoh K, Igarashi K, Hayashi N, Nishizawa M, Yamamoto M (1995) Cloning and characterization of a novel erythroid cell-derived CNC family transcription factor heterodimerizing with the small Maf family proteins. Mol Cell Biol 15:4184–4193
- Kobayashi A et al (1999) Molecular cloning and functional characterization of a new Cap'n' collar family transcription factor Nrf3. J Biol Chem 274:6443–6452
- 7. Oyake T et al (1996) Bach proteins belong to a novel family of BTB-basic leucine zipper transcription factors that interact with MafK and regulate transcription through the NF-E2 site. Mol Cell Biol 16:6083–6095
- Muto A et al (1998) Identification of Bach2 as a B-cell-specific partner for small maf proteins that negatively regulate the immunoglobulin heavy chain gene 3' enhancer. EMBO J 17: 5734–5743
- Itoh K et al (1997) An Nrf2/small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 236:313–322
- Venugopal R, Jaiswal AK (1996) Nrf1 and Nrf2 positively and c-Fos and Fra1 negatively regulate the human antioxidant response element-mediated expression of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase1 gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:14960–14965
- Malhotra D et al (2010) Global mapping of binding sites for Nrf2 identifies novel targets in cell survival response through ChIP-Seq profiling and network analysis. Nucleic Acids Res 38:5718–5734
- Kang MI, Kobayashi A, Wakabayashi N, Kim SG, Yamamoto M (2004) Scaffolding of Keap1 to the actin cytoskeleton controls the function of Nrf2 as key regulator of cytoprotective phase 2 genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:2046–2051
- Cullinan SB, Gordan JD, Jin J, Harper JW, Diehl JA (2004) The Keap1-BTB protein is an adaptor that bridges Nrf2 to a Cul3-based E3 ligase: oxidative stress sensing by a Cul3-Keap1 ligase. Mol Cell Biol 24:8477–8486
- Kobayashi A et al (2004) Oxidative stress sensor Keap1 functions as an adaptor for Cul3based E3 ligase to regulate proteasomal degradation of Nrf2. Mol Cell Biol 24:7130–7139
- 15. Dinkova-Kostova AT et al (2002) Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:11908–11913
- 16. Zhang DD, Hannink M (2003) Distinct cysteine residues in Keap1 are required for Keap1dependent ubiquitination of Nrf2 and for stabilization of Nrf2 by chemopreventive agents and oxidative stress. Mol Cell Biol 23:8137–8151
- 17. Wakabayashi N et al (2004) Protection against electrophile and oxidant stress by induction of the phase 2 response: fate of cysteines of the Keap1 sensor modified by inducers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:2040–2045
- Levonen AL et al (2004) Cellular mechanisms of redox cell signalling: role of cysteine modification in controlling antioxidant defences in response to electrophilic lipid oxidation products. Biochem J 378:373–382
- Niture SK, Jain AK, Jaiswal AK (2009) Antioxidant-induced modification of INrf2 cysteine 151 and PKC-delta-mediated phosphorylation of Nrf2 serine 40 are both required for stabilization and nuclear translocation of Nrf2 and increased drug resistance. J Cell Sci 122: 4452–4464
- Um HC, Jang JH, Kim DH, Lee C, Surh YJ (2011) Nitric oxide activates Nrf2 through S-nitrosylation of Keap1 in PC12 cells. Nitric Oxide 25:161–168
- Zhang R, Chae S, Lee JH, Hyun JW (2012) The cytoprotective effect of butin against oxidative stress is mediated by the up-regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase expression through a PI3K/Akt/Nrf2-dependent pathway. J Cell Biochem 113:1987–1997

- 22. Prestera T et al (1995) Parallel induction of heme oxygenase-1 and chemoprotective phase 2 enzymes by electrophiles and antioxidants: regulation by upstream antioxidant-responsive elements (ARE). Mol Med 1:827–837
- Primiano T, Kensler TW, Kuppusamy P, Zweier JL, Sutter TR (1996) Induction of hepatic heme oxygenase-1 and ferritin in rats by cancer chemopreventive dithiolethiones. Carcinogenesis 17:2291–2296
- Hayes JD, Flanagan JU, Jowsey IR (2005) Glutathione transferases. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 45:51–88
- 25. Moinova HR, Mulcahy RT (1999) Up-regulation of the human gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase regulatory subunit gene involves binding of Nrf-2 to an electrophile responsive element. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 261:661–668
- 26. Tanito M et al (2005) Sulforaphane induces thioredoxin through the antioxidant-responsive element and attenuates retinal light damage in mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 46:979–987
- Thimmulappa RK et al (2002) Identification of Nrf2-regulated genes induced by the chemopreventive agent sulforaphane by oligonucleotide microarray. Cancer Res 62:5196–5203
- 28. Hayashi A, Suzuki H, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, Sugiyama Y (2003) Transcription factor Nrf2 is required for the constitutive and inducible expression of multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 in mouse embryo fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 310:824–829
- Primiano T, Li Y, Kensler TW, Trush MA, Sutter TR (1998) Identification of dithiolethioneinducible gene-1 as a leukotriene B4 12-hydroxydehydrogenase: implications for chemoprevention. Carcinogenesis 19:999–1005
- Kwak MK, Wakabayashi N, Greenlaw JL, Yamamoto M, Kensler TW (2003) Antioxidants enhance mammalian proteasome expression through the Keap1-Nrf2 signaling pathway. Mol Cell Biol 23:8786–8794
- Chorley BN et al (2012) Identification of novel NRF2-regulated genes by ChIP-Seq: influence on retinoid X receptor alpha. Nucleic Acids Res 40:7416–7429
- 32. Suh JH et al (2004) Decline in transcriptional activity of Nrf2 causes age-related loss of glutathione synthesis, which is reversible with lipoic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 3381–3386
- 33. Ma Q, Battelli L, Hubbs AF (2006) Multiorgan autoimmune inflammation, enhanced lymphoproliferation, and impaired homeostasis of reactive oxygen species in mice lacking the antioxidant-activated transcription factor Nrf2. Am J Pathol 168:1960–1974
- 34. Pryor WA, Prier DG, Church DF (1983) Electron-spin resonance study of mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke: nature of the free radicals in gas-phase smoke and in cigarette tar. Environ Health Perspect 47:345–355
- Rangasamy T et al (2004) Genetic ablation of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in mice. J Clin Invest 114:1248–1259
- 36. Iizuka T et al (2005) Nrf2-deficient mice are highly susceptible to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema. Genes Cells 10:1113–1125
- 37. Rangasamy T et al (2009) Cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in A/J mice is associated with pulmonary oxidative stress, apoptosis of lung cells, and global alterations in gene expression. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 296:L888–L900
- 38. Ishii Y et al (2005) Transcription factor Nrf2 plays a pivotal role in protection against elastase-induced pulmonary inflammation and emphysema. J Immunol 175:6968–6975
- Potts-Kant EN et al (2012) NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 protects lungs from oxidantinduced emphysema in mice. Free Radic Biol Med 52:705–715
- Kinoshita T et al (2007) Thioredoxin prevents the development and progression of elastaseinduced emphysema. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 354:712–719
- 41. Sato A et al (2008) Thioredoxin-1 ameliorates cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation and emphysema in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 325:380–388
- 42. Malhotra D et al (2008) Decline in NRF2-regulated antioxidants in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease lungs due to loss of its positive regulator, DJ-1. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178:592–604

- 43. Suzuki M et al (2008) Down-regulated NF-E2-related factor 2 in pulmonary macrophages of aged smokers and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 39:673–682
- 44. Goven D et al (2008) Altered Nrf2/Keap1-Bach1 equilibrium in pulmonary emphysema. Thorax 63:916–924
- 45. Malhotra D et al (2009) Heightened endoplasmic reticulum stress in the lungs of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the role of Nrf2-regulated proteasomal activity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180:1196–1207
- 46. Reddy NM et al (2008) Genetic disruption of the Nrf2 compromises cell-cycle progression by impairing GSH-induced redox signaling. Oncogene 27:5821–5832
- 47. Gebel S et al (2010) The transcriptome of Nrf2^{-/-} mice provides evidence for impaired cell cycle progression in the development of cigarette smoke-induced emphysematous changes. Toxicol Sci 115:238–252
- Blake DJ et al (2009) Deletion of Keap1 in the lung attenuates acute cigarette smoke-induced oxidative stress and inflammation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 42:524–536
- 49. Sussan TE et al (2009) Targeting Nrf2 with the triterpenoid CDDO-imidazolide attenuates cigarette smoke-induced emphysema and cardiac dysfunction in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:250–255
- Valenca SS et al (2001) L-NAME and L-arginine differentially ameliorate cigarette smokeinduced emphysema in mice. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 24:587–594
- March TH et al (2006) Modulators of cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary emphysema in A/J mice. Toxicol Sci 92:545–559
- 52. Pela R et al (1999) *N*-acetylcysteine reduces the exacerbation rate in patients with moderate to severe COPD. Respiration 66:495–500
- Gerrits CM, Herings RM, Leufkens HG, Lammers JW (2003) N-acetylcysteine reduces the risk of re-hospitalisation among patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J 21:795–798
- Sutherland ER, Crapo JD, Bowler RP (2006) N-acetylcysteine and exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. COPD 3:195–202
- 55. Stav D, Raz M (2009) Effect of *N*-acetylcysteine on air trapping in COPD: a randomized placebo-controlled study. Chest 136:381–386
- 56. Tse HN et al (2013) High-dose *N*-acetylcysteine in stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the 1-year, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled HIACE study. Chest 144(1):106–118
- 57. Veeramachaneni SB, Sethi S (2006) Pathogenesis of bacterial exacerbations of COPD. COPD 3:109–115
- Wedzicha JA, Seemungal TA (2007) COPD exacerbations: defining their cause and prevention. Lancet 370:786–796
- Donaldson GC, Seemungal TA, Bhowmik A, Wedzicha JA (2002) Relationship between exacerbation frequency and lung function decline in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 57:847–852
- 60. Kanner RE, Anthonisen NR, Connett JE (2001) Lower respiratory illnesses promote FEV(1) decline in current smokers but not ex-smokers with mild chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: results from the lung health study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:358–364
- Anzueto A, Sethi S, Martinez FJ (2007) Exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 4:554–564
- Mannino DM, Braman S (2007) The epidemiology and economics of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 4:502–506
- Bhowmik A, Seemungal TA, Sapsford RJ, Wedzicha JA (2000) Relation of sputum inflammatory markers to symptoms and lung function changes in COPD exacerbations. Thorax 55: 114–120
- Drost EM et al (2005) Oxidative stress and airway inflammation in severe exacerbations of COPD. Thorax 60:293–300

- 65. Qiu Y et al (2003) Biopsy neutrophilia, neutrophil chemokine and receptor gene expression in severe exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 168:968–975
- 66. Lugade AA et al (2011) Nrf2 regulates chronic lung inflammation and B-cell responses to nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 45:557–565
- Cho HY et al (2009) Antiviral activity of Nrf2 in a murine model of respiratory syncytial virus disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 179:138–150
- 68. Harvey CJ et al (2011) Targeting Nrf2 signaling improves bacterial clearance by alveolar macrophages in patients with COPD and in a mouse model. Sci Transl Med 3:78ra32
- Yageta Y et al (2011) Role of Nrf2 in host defense against influenza virus in cigarette smokeexposed mice. J Virol 85:4679–4690
- Berenson CS, Garlipp MA, Grove LJ, Maloney J, Sethi S (2006) Impaired phagocytosis of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae by human alveolar macrophages in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Infect Dis 194:1375–1384
- Barnes PJ, Ito K, Adcock IM (2004) Corticosteroid resistance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: inactivation of histone deacetylase. Lancet 363:731–733
- Adenuga D et al (2010) Nrf2 deficiency influences susceptibility to steroid resistance via HDAC2 reduction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 403:452–456
- Mercado N et al (2011) Decreased histone deacetylase 2 impairs Nrf2 activation by oxidative stress. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 406:292–298
- Malhotra D et al (2011) Denitrosylation of HDAC2 by targeting Nrf2 restores glucocorticosteroid sensitivity in macrophages from COPD patients. J Clin Invest 121:4289–4302
- Peterson JD, Herzenberg LA, Vasquez K, Waltenbaugh C (1998) Glutathione levels in antigen-presenting cells modulate Th1 versus Th2 response patterns. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:3071–3076
- Rangasamy T et al (2005) Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to severe airway inflammation and asthma in mice. J Exp Med 202:47–59
- 77. Dworski R, Han W, Blackwell TS, Hoskins A, Freeman ML (2011) Vitamin E prevents NRF2 suppression by allergens in asthmatic alveolar macrophages in vivo. Free Radic Biol Med 51:516–521
- Rangasamy T et al (2010) Nuclear erythroid 2 p45-related factor 2 inhibits the maturation of murine dendritic cells by ragweed extract. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 43:276–285
- Williams MA et al (2008) Disruption of the transcription factor Nrf2 promotes pro-oxidative dendritic cells that stimulate Th2-like immunoresponsiveness upon activation by ambient particulate matter. J Immunol 181:4545–4559
- Park JH et al (2012) Sulforaphane inhibits the Th2 immune response in ovalbumin-induced asthma. BMB Rep 45:311–316
- Ho WE et al (2012) Anti-malarial drug artesunate ameliorates oxidative lung damage in experimental allergic asthma. Free Radic Biol Med 53:498–507
- 82. Michaeloudes C, Chang PJ, Petrou M, Chung KF (2011) Transforming growth factor-beta and nuclear factor E2-related factor 2 regulate antioxidant responses in airway smooth muscle cells: role in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 184:894–903
- Pareek TK et al (2011) Triterpenoid modulation of IL-17 and Nrf-2 expression ameliorates neuroinflammation and promotes remyelination in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Sci Rep 1:201
- 84. Ware LB, Matthay MA (2000) The acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 342:1334–1349
- Goss CH, Brower RG, Hudson LD, Rubenfeld GD (2003) Incidence of acute lung injury in the United States. Crit Care Med 31:1607–1611
- 86. Cho HY et al (2002) Role of NRF2 in protection against hyperoxic lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 26:175–182
- Reddy NM et al (2009) Disruption of Nrf2 impairs the resolution of hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury and inflammation in mice. J Immunol 182:7264–7271

- Cho HY et al (2012) Targeted deletion of nrf2 impairs lung development and oxidant injury in neonatal mice. Antioxid Redox Signal 17:1066–1082
- McGrath-Morrow S et al (2009) Nrf2 increases survival and attenuates alveolar growth inhibition in neonatal mice exposed to hyperoxia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 296:L565–L573
- 90. Reddy NM et al (2009) The triterpenoid CDDO-imidazolide confers potent protection against hyperoxic acute lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 180:867–874
- Reddy NM et al (2009) Innate immunity against bacterial infection following hyperoxia exposure is impaired in NRF2-deficient mice. J Immunol 183:4601–4608
- 92. Papaiahgari S et al (2007) Genetic and pharmacologic evidence links oxidative stress to ventilator-induced lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176:1222–1235
- 93. Jin W et al (2009) Genetic ablation of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to acute lung injury after traumatic brain injury in mice. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 234:181–189
- 94. Cho HY, Reddy SP, Yamamoto M, Kleeberger SR (2004) The transcription factor NRF2 protects against pulmonary fibrosis. FASEB J 18:1258–1260
- 95. Kikuchi N et al (2010) Nrf2 protects against pulmonary fibrosis by regulating the lung oxidant level and Th1/Th2 balance. Respir Res 11:31
- 96. Fourtounis J et al (2012) Gene expression profiling following NRF2 and KEAP1 siRNA knockdown in human lung fibroblasts identifies CCL11/Eotaxin-1 as a novel NRF2 regulated gene. Respir Res 13:92
- Artaud-Macari E et al (2013) Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 nuclear translocation induces myofibroblastic dedifferentiation in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 18:66–79
- 98. Hua CC et al (2010) Functional haplotypes in the promoter region of transcription factor Nrf2 in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Dis Markers 28:185–193
- 99. Siedlinski M et al (2009) Level and course of FEV1 in relation to polymorphisms in NFE2L2 and KEAP1 in the general population. Respir Res 10:73
- 100. Sandford AJ et al (2012) NFE2L2 pathway polymorphisms and lung function decline in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Physiol Genomics 44:754–763
- 101. Canova C et al (2012) PM10-induced hospital admissions for asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the modifying effect of individual characteristics. Epidemiology 23: 607–615
- 102. Marzec JM et al (2007) Functional polymorphisms in the transcription factor NRF2 in humans increase the risk of acute lung injury. FASEB J 21:2237–2246

Chapter 18 Development of Novel Antioxidants

Subhabrata Moitra, Sneha Limaye, and Bill Brashier

18.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress is a pernicious component of all inflammatory pathways, which are triggered by environmental insults and infections. Oxidative stress has demonstrated associations with almost all pathophysiologies of diseases, which are chronic and acute inflammatory in nature. Unfortunately, research in the development of new antioxidants has been rather low paced, primarily because the pathophysiological implication of oxidative stress in a disease has always been subjected to the paucity of knowledge. This can well be cited as in spite of clear realization of oxidative stress as key component of inflammatory disease *N*-acetyl cysteine (NAC) is the only antioxidant molecule available to the treating physicians globally. Further, the antioxidant pathways are also very complex, which make it difficult to identify single pathway pharmacology.

However, now, resources are being focused in developing molecules, which have potential to reduce oxidative stress. There are some possibilities that these molecules may have potential to incarcerate inflammation of asthma, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), COPD, interstitial lung disease (ILD), tuberculosis, and pneumonia, which may change the course of the disease. Further, new mechanisms of oxidative stress pathways and their counteracting mechanisms are being deciphered, to an extent that genetic manipulation through transcription factors modulation is being considered as future of antioxidant therapies [1]. However, the most ubiquitously prevalent antioxidant pathways such as glutathione–thioredoxin pathways and super-oxide dismutase (SOD)–catalase (CAT) synergistic mechanisms have been studied extensively. Therefore, current development of most antioxidants is in context to modulations of these pathways [2–4]. Also, genetic research in lung inflammation

Pune 411014, Maharashtra, India

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_18,

© Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

S. Moitra (🖂) • S. Limaye • B. Brashier

Chest Research Foundation, Marigold Premises, Kalyani Nagar,

e-mail: smoitra@crfindia.com; snehalimaye@crfindia.com; bbrashier@crfindia.com

and oxidative stress has been primarily based on transcription factors such as nuclear factor (NF)- κ B. Therefore, molecules, which modulate transcription factor NF- κ B, are of the prime interest in development as potential antioxidant [1]. This chapter will primary deal with the newer antioxidant molecules, which are in the developmental phase for treating chronic inflammatory respiratory diseases (Table 18.1).

18.2 Glutathione Pathway-Based Antioxidants

Glutathione is one of the most ubiquitously prevalent antioxidants in the cellular systems, which formulates one of the prime protective mechanisms against the oxidative stress in various disease processes. In lungs, glutathione may also assist in maintaining the integrity of airway and alveolar epithelial cells, which are prone to damage due to adverse environmental conditions [2]. In chronic inflammatory lung diseases there is a persistent depletion of glutathione in the respiratory system and systemic circulation. Therefore, glutathione is one of the primary targets in the development of novel antioxidants.

Glutathione is synthesized in the body from the amino acids L-cysteine, L-GLUTAMIC acid, and glycine. Cysteine is the rate-limiting factor in cellular glutathione synthesis. Further, in the cells glutathione is synthesized in two-step mechanisms chronologically involving enzymes glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL) and glutathione synthetase. There is a possibility of modulating glutathione metabolism at every step, which can be potential targets for antioxidant therapies. One of the most intriguing examples of this is NAC, which provides cysteine residues in acetylated form for glutathione synthesis. NAC itself works as an antioxidant, provides direct source of cysteine, and also converts intracellular cystine to cysteine. NAC has been widely used in the management of ILDs and COPD. Unfortunately, chronic utility of NAC has been questioned in COPD management primarily due to its poor bioavailability in oral form [5]. Also, its acidic nature prevents its use in inhaled form [6]. However, the idea of providing cysteine for glutathione formation is so compelling that research has been directed towards formulation of new compounds, which may enhance the cysteine delivery to the cells.

18.2.1 Nacystelyn

Nacystelyn (NAL) is lysine salt of NAC which is neutral in nature. Therefore, it can be safely delivered locally to the lungs through inhaled route [1, 7]. In vitro studies have shown that NAL has potential to enhance intracellular GSH levels twice as effectively as NAC [8] and also modulate oxidant-mediated inflammation mechanisms [7, 9, 10]. A study has also shown that NAL, at concentrations obtainable in vivo by inhalation, can reduce neutrophil response, and production of cytotoxic hydroxyl and hypohalite radical; 50 % inhibition in production of these radicals was

		Ste	age of studies in lung diseases and other organ	
Type of antioxidant		sv	stem diseases	
$\frac{1}{Gl}$	utathione pathway			
a.	Nacystelyn (NAL)	a.	Animal and in vitro	
b.	Procysteine	b.	Human in ARDS	
c.	<i>N</i> -isobutyrylcysteine (NIC)	с.	Human in COPD exacerbation (similar to placebo)	
d.	Erdosteine	d.	Human in COPD	
e.	<i>N</i> -acetyl cysteine proline cysteine amide (CB3)	e.	Animal and in vitro studies	
f.	Glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL)	f.	Animal and in vitro studies	
Peroxidase mimetics				
a.	Ebselen	a.	Human studies in cardiovascular and nervous system diseases	
b.	BXT-51072	b.	Phase 1 and preclinical trials in COPD patients	
c.	Diselinide and delluride compounds	c.	Animal and in vitro studies	
d.	Cyclodextrin compounds of diselinide and delluride	d.	Experimental stage only	
Th	ioredoxin pathway			
a.	Recombinant thioredoxin	a.	Animal and in vitro studies	
b.	p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase	b.	Animal and in vitro studies	
c.	Nuclear factor-ĸB	c.	Animal and in vitro studies	
d.	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-K)	d.	Animal and in vitro studies	
Superoxide dismutase mimetic				
a.	MnTE-2-PyP ⁵⁺	a.	Animal and in vitro studies	
b.	Pentaazamacrocyclic ligand-based mimetic	b.	Animal and in vitro studies	
Superoxide dismutase mimetic + catalase				
a.	AEOL-10150	a.	Animal and in vitro studies	
b.	Mn-TBAP	b.	Animal and in vitro studies	
c.	AEOL-11027	c.	Animal and in vitro studies	
d.	AEOL-10113	d.	Animal and in vitro studies	
e.	Salens	e.	Animal and in vitro studies	
Anti-NF- <i>k</i> B-based antioxidants				
a.	Pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate	a.	Animal and in vitro studies for respiratory; current human applications in HIV and heavy metal poisoning	
b.	BAY 11-7085	b.	Animal and in vitro studies	
Sp	Spin traps			
a.	STANZ	a.	Animal and in vitro studies	
b.	NXY-059	b.	Animal and in vitro studies	
Neu-164 and Neu-107		Ar	nimal and in vitro studies	
Tanshinone IIA and cryptotanshinone		Ar	nimal and in vitro studies	
Nano-particles		Ar	nimal and in vitro studies	

 Table 18.1
 List of antioxidants under development for chronic lung diseases

achieved at concentration five times lesser than that of NAC and three times lesser than that of captopril [11]. Further, a drug deposition study with inhaled NAL has shown that its deposition in the peripheral airways is unaffected by the presence of mucus in cystic fibrosis patients [12]. A study on cystic fibrosis patients illustrated that inhaled form of NAL is well tolerated in wide range of doses (4–16 mg) [13]. This indicates that NAL could graduate to become potential futuristic antioxidant therapy in the management of obstructive airway diseases involving both large and small airways and ILDs, which are primarily neutrophilic-mediated lung ailments.

18.2.2 Procysteine (L-2-Oxothiazolidone-4-carboxylate/OTC)

This is another cysteine donating compound with a better bioavailability than NAC [1]. Procysteine can effectively replete glutathione in oxidative stress conditions. Animal model studies have shown that procysteine has potential to improve survivals in pneumonia conditions [14]. Procysteine also improves efferocytosis and glutathione availability in the airway macrophages in smoking murine models [15]. A defective macrophage efferocytosis is one of the key components of COPD pathophysiology. Animal model studies of allergic asthma have also shown that procysteine has an ability to reduce expression of IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, and IL-18 [15], which are key inflammatory mediators that orchestrate allergic inflammation and airway-remodelling and induce broncho-hyper-responsiveness (Figs. 18.1 and 18.2). This antioxidant can also modulate expression of NF-kB, which is a key transcription factor for the expression of inflammatory genes. Therefore, it is likely that treatment with procysteine could have significant therapeutic benefits in chronic and acute inflammatory diseases of lungs. Bernard and colleagues [16] had shown that administration of 63 mg/kg procysteine can significantly reduce the duration of acute lung injury and significantly improves cardiac index in 17 patients with ARDS. However, its therapeutic potential in the management of chronic inflammatory disease of the lungs is lacking.

18.2.3 N-Acetyl Cysteine Proline Cysteine Amide (CB3)

There is a compelling evidence to show that converting the carboxyl group of NAC to an amide increases hydrophobicity of the compound, which enhances its membrane permeability and hence ultimately can remarkably restore intracellular glutathione [17–21]. Evidences from animal studies have shown that amide-NAC can attenuate airway inflammation and hyper-responsiveness by regulating activation of NF- κ B and hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs)-1 α , and reduces oxidative stress in allergic airway disease [22]. NAC proline cysteine amide (CB3) is a novel amide-NAC, which is relatively more potent than other NAC-amide derivates in reducing inflammation in allergic diseases [21]. Animal model studies have shown that CB3 is more potent than NAC in reducing reactive oxygen species (ROS) [23]. It has been demonstrated to



Fig. 18.1 Effect of OTC or α -lipoic acid on IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 protein levels in lung tissues and in BAL fluids of ovalbumin-sensitized and -challenged mice. Sampling was performed at 72 h after the last challenge in saline-inhaled mice administered saline (SAL+SAL), ovalbumin-inhaled mice administered saline (OVA+SAL), ovalbumin-inhaled mice administered drug vehicle (OVA+VEH), ovalbumin-inhaled mice administered OTC (OVA+OTC), and ovalbumin-inhaled mice administered α -lipoic acid (OVA+ α -lipoic acid). (a) Western blotting of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 in lung tissues. (b) Densitometric analyses are presented as the relative ratio of each molecule to actin. The relative ratio of each molecule in the lung tissues of SAL+SAL is arbitrarily presented as 1. (c) Enzyme immunoassay of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 in BAL fluids. *Bars* represent mean±SEM from eight mice per group. #, p < 0.05 versus SAL+SAL; *, p < 0.05 versus OVA+SAL (Reproduced with permission from [15])



Fig. 18.2 Localization of immunoreactive IL-18 in lung tissues and in BAL fluids of ovalbuminsensitized and -challenged mice. Sampling was performed 72 h after the last challenge in lung tissues from sensitized mice challenged with saline (a), from sensitized mice challenged with ovalbumin (b), from ovalbumin-inhaled mice administered OTC (c), and from ovalbumin-inhaled mice administered α -lipoic acid (d). Sampling was also performed in BAL fluids from sensitized mice challenged with

have reducing effects on airway inflammation and decrease airway hyper-responsiveness. CB3 has been shown to prevent translocation of NF- κ B into the nucleus and prevent the expression of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, which are typical to allergic diseases [23]. However, here it is also important to mention that NF- κ B is a universal inflammatory mediator of transcription factors, which may promote CB3 to have wider applicability in other inflammatory diseases as well. Many inflammatory diseases such as asthma and COPD have been associated with suppression and dysfunction of regulatory immune system. It has been shown that CB3 has an ability to increase IL-10 which is the key immune regulatory cytokine [23–25]. Hence, it can be assumed that CB3 could emerge as potent antioxidant in inflammatory diseases of the lungs; however, currently there is no published human data with this molecule.

18.2.4 Glutamate Cysteine Ligase (GCL)

This is a cardinal enzyme implicated in rate-limiting step of glutathione synthesis. This enzyme consists of a catalytic subunit (GCLC) and a modifier subunit (GCLM). Studies have shown that GCLM has antioxidant potential and its depletion can generate oxidative stress [26, 27]. Further studies have shown that smokers have decreased expression of GCL-light chain unit [24]. A substitution in the promoter region of GCLM is known to reduce glutathione levels, and has been associated with a threefold increased risk of COPD in populations [28]. Similarly, substitution in GCL's catalytic subunit (GCLC) has also shown to significantly enhance the risk of COPD [OR 1.83, 95 % CI 1.00–3.36] [29]. Both GCLC and GCLM expressions have been shown to increase in the inflammatory cells of COPD patients compared to smokers without COPD [27, 30–32]. Therefore, molecules, which have potential to manipulate the expression of GCL, are being developed as probable innovative antioxidants in future for various inflammatory diseases of the lungs.

18.3 Peroxidase Mimetic

Glutathione peroxidase and thioredoxin peroxidase are one of the most abundant peroxidase systems found in the cytosol of almost all mammalian cells [33]. Their primary function is to scavenge peroxides such as H_2O_2 and lipid peroxides, and

Fig. 18.2 (continued) saline (e), sensitized mice challenged with ovalbumin (**f**, **i**, and **j**), ovalbumininhaled mice administered OTC (**g**), and from ovalbumin-inhaled mice administered α -lipoic acid (**h**). **a–i**, representative light microscopy showing IL-18-positive cells in the BAL fluids; the *brown* color indicates IL-18-positive cells. (**j**) To examine the cell differentials in BAL cells prepared from the control mice, the slides used for the detection of IL-18 (**i**) were destained with 70 % ethyl alcohol. The smears of BAL cells were stained with Diff-Quik solution and were viewed under a light microscope. The *arrow* indicates a macrophage. Bars, 50 µm (Reproduced with permission from [15])
neutralize peroxides to less toxic compounds and water. Over-expression of these peroxidases has been shown to be protective against oxidative stress in cultured cells and animal models [3]. Hence, it is likely that molecules, which will mimic these peroxidases, could emerge as potential antioxidant in treatment of various chronic inflammatory diseases. Most of these compounds contain selenium or tellurium. They can scavenge O_2^- , H_2O_2 , ONOO⁻, and a variety of lipid peroxides.

18.3.1 Ebselen

One of the most promising and primary peroxidase mimetics which is extensively being researched is ebselen [2-phenyl-1,2-benzisoselenazol-3(2*H*)] [3]. Ebselen is not only a weak glutathione peroxidase mimetic but also possesses thioredoxin peroxidase properties [34]. Ebselen is known to mediate propagation of decomposition of ROS, hypochlorous acid, and oxygen and nitrous radicals and inhibit lipoxygenase, NADPH oxidase, and nitric oxide synthetase [3, 35–37]. Unlike other peroxidase mimetics, ebselen is well tolerated in humans. One hundred and fifty milligrams of twice-a-day ebselen has been shown to improve outcomes in stroke, ischemic damage of brain, and neurodegenerative diseases in human patients [38–40]. However, in context to chronic inflammatory disease of the lungs, benefit of ebselen has been largely limited to animal models and in vitro studies. Newer analogue of ebselen, BXT-51072 (Oxis, USA), has been developed with better activity and potency in cell systems and is currently in Phase 1 and preclinical trial for COPD treatment [1, 41].

Peroxidase mimetics such as diselinide and delluride compounds and peptide compounds such as selenosubstilisin have been shown to possess higher glutathione peroxidase-like activity than ebselen [42]. It has been observed that these compounds release free selenium and are electrophilic in nature, hence, possessing cytotoxic, genotoxic, and mutagenic potential that is a hindrance in their therapeutic application [43, 44]. However, cyclodextrin derivatives of these compounds with relatively less cytotoxic effects are being developed [45, 46]. Currently, there is a paucity of data, even at the in vitro level, to implicate their effects on living cells.

18.4 Thioredoxin Pathway-Based Antioxidants

Thioredoxin system is a ubiquitous thiol oxidoreductase system that regulates cellular reduction/oxidation (redox) status, which is induced in response to stress conditions [47]. Recent studies have shown that changes in thioredoxin status may contribute to the pathogenesis of COPD, asthma, and lung injury [44, 48]. Thioredoxin is known to protect lungs from ischemia/reperfusion injury, influenza infection, bleomycin-induced injury, and/or lethal inflammation caused by IL-2 and IL-18 [44, 49]. Therefore, potential role of recombinant human thioredoxin-1 as treatment for lung inflammatory diseases cannot be undermined. The therapeutic data with recombinant thioredoxin is largely limited to animal studies; however, its clinical application is being evaluated for lung injury, ARDS, and COPD. New evidence with ambroxol, a mucolytic agent that has been used in clinical practice for decades, indicates that the molecule has antioxidant effects partly mediated by thioredoxin system at physiological concentration [50]. Further, thioredoxin pathway signalling molecules, such as autophagic proteins, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase, NF- κ B, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, are also being considered as important antioxidants in near future [44]. However, the major limitation in this context is that each of these molecules has diverse signalling functions in cellular physiology; therefore, their application in treatments could interfere with other signalling pathways, which may be essential for cell survival.

18.5 Superoxide Dismutase and Catalase Pathway-Based Antioxidants

18.5.1 Superoxide Dismutase Mimetics

Free oxygen radicals undergo detoxification process in two-stage processes. First, free radicals are dismuted to oxygen and H_2O_2 . This is catalyzed by an enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD). Second, H_2O_2 formed by dismutation is further neutralized into water and oxygen with another enzyme called catalase (CAT). Further SOD is also known to scavenge reactive nitrogen and carbon radicals. Both SOD and CAT are metalloproteins. Inflammatory diseases have high exogenous and endogenous ROS production and human cells have a cutoff ability to generate SOD and CAT to counteract the oxidative stress. This becomes more prominent if the inflammatory stimulus is perpetual. Therefore, pertinent oxidant–antioxidant imbalance is cardinal to most of the chronic inflammatory diseases [3]. Replenishing SOD and CAT exogenously is an attractive antioxidant strategy.

SOD and CAT primarily function by enhancing redox-reaction to neutralize highly charged oxides, nitrogen, and carbon oxides. Naturally derived SOD and CAT usually do not reach the intracellular compartments where they are most required [51]. Studies have shown that active metals such as manganese and iron with rich coordination chemistries have potential to mimic SOD and CAT functionality of enhancing redox reactions [49, 52, 53]. Intriguingly nature has also provided cells with such compounds, particularly porphyrins, such as haem molecules, which form an integral component of various haem-proteins, and provide natural defense against oxidative stress in various cellular systems. Therefore, compounds with manganese and iron have emerged as natural choice for development of SOD and CAT mimetics. However, current data suggests that Mn-SOD mimetics are safer in cellular redox reactions. These SOD mimetics have more intracellular reachability.

MnTE-2-PyP⁵⁺ is one of the novel Mn-SOD mimetics that has been shown to have potential therapeutic benefits in stroke [54, 55], cardiac diseases [56, 57], malignancies [58], radiation injuries [59], lung diseases [60], and osteoarthritis [61] in the animal model studies. Another manganese compound, pentaazamacrocyclic ligand-based mimetic, is under process of development and has unique property of being relatively specific to O_2^- scavengers. In this compound, manganese atom (Mn) is held by five coordination points in the macrocyclic structure and is available only for one-electron transfers [62]. This compound can therefore function specifically as SOD.

18.5.2 Superoxide Dismutase Plus Catalase Mimetics

It is still not clear which is a better antioxidant target; is it SOD or CAT? Logically, targeting both looks superior to targeting single enzyme. Therefore, another group of mimetics of metalloporphyrin series constituting meso-substituted synthetic porphyrin, and iron or manganese as metallic redox element that is coordinated by four axial ligands, possessing either CAT-like activity or both CAT and SOD activity, are extensively being probed [3, 50, 51]. They are widely propagated as AEOL series compounds. AEOL-10113 and -10150 possess high SOD- and CAT-like activity [63], while AEOL-11207 and Mn-TBAP possess primarily CAT activity with low SOD activity [64]. Animal studies have shown that treatments with Mn-TBAP can protect against silica-induced, bleomycin-induced [65], and paraquat-induced [66-68] fibrosis. AEOL-10150 has been shown to attenuate inflammation by protecting epithelium from cigarette smoke-induced precancerous lesions and attenuate hemorrhage-induced acute lung injury [69]. AEOL-10113 has been shown to attenuate lung inflammation and bronchial hyper-reactivity in rats [70]. Therefore, it can be assumed that these drugs could emerge as important therapeutics in diseases such as ILDs, fibrotic lung diseases, occupational lung diseases, asthma, COPD, and ARDS.

Aromatic-substituted ethylenediamine metal complexes of manganese also known as salens are also being extensively researched. Animal studies have shown protective effects of salens against lung irradiation injury and ARDS [3]. However, currently its stability in biological matrix is questionable.

18.6 Anti-NF-kB-Based Antioxidants

18.6.1 Pyrrolidine Dithiocarbamate (PDTC)

Dithiocarbamates possess thiol structure and therefore function as antioxidants either by eliminating free radicals by thiol group or by stopping Fenton reaction. However, now it has been realized that dithiocarbamates also possess direct



anti-NF- κ B properties. Oxidative stress is known to induce inflammatory gene expression through activation of a pleitropic transcription factor called NF- κ B. Activation of NF- κ B is the prime and the most sought inflammatory and oxidative stress pathway in pathogenesis of various chronic inflammatory diseases. Therefore, concept of using dithiocarbamates in inflammatory diseases provides an interesting antioxidant therapy in management of various diseases.

Pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate (PDTC) is a pyrrolidine derivative of dithiocarbamate, which is primarily being used in treatments of heavy metal toxicity and HIV disease in humans. Addition of pyrrolidine into dithiocarbamate enhances the compound's entry into the cell and provides prolonged stability in physiological environments. Intriguingly, PDTC does not have direct anti-NF-κB properties, but indirectly reduces its activity by inhibition of IκBα degradation, which is prime inactivator of NF-κB in inflammatory models [71] (Fig. 18.3). Its usage in metal poisoning and HIV suggests that this antioxidant may not be toxic for chronic use in humans.

PDTC has never been used in chronic inflammatory lung diseases. However, data from animal model and in vitro studies have shown that treatment with PDTC can significantly reduce expression of molecules and mediators, such as HIF-1 α , haem oxygenase-1, VEGF, TNF- α , cycloxygenase-2, intercellular adhesion molecules (ICAM-1), vascular endothelial cell adhesion molecules (VCAM-1), and cytokineinduced neutrophil chemoattractant (CINC), which are known to have primary role in inflammatory disease pathophysiologies [72]. Further, PDTC is also known to inhibit activity of myeloperoxidase, which is a viscous neutrophilic enzyme. Animal model studies have shown that PDTC possesses protective effects in ARDS. The current understanding of PDTC indicates that it could be of significant therapeutic application in neutrophil-mediated lung diseases. However, substantial clinical data are needed before recommendation in chronic inflammatory disease of the lungs.

18.6.2 BAY 11-7085

BAY 11-7085 [(*E*)-3-(4-*t*-butylphenylsulfonyl)-2-propenenitrile] is a molecule, which inhibits NF-κB activation, although its primary role is induction of apoptosis. Studies have shown that BAY 11-7085 can reduce inflammation in ovalbumininduced hyper-responsive mice (23) and also has potential to minimize hyperoxiainduced lung damage by inhibiting NF-κB signalling system [73]. The therapeutic application of this molecule has been studied for diseases such as endometriosis [74], malignancies [75], and cardiac morphogenesis [76] and even lung diseases such as non-small cell lung cancer and animal models of asthma [77, 78]. However, more experiments are needed to establish its efficacy as antioxidant in lung diseases.

18.7 Other Antioxidant

18.7.1 Spin Traps

Spin traps are nitrogen oxide molecules which trap the free reactive oxidant species in nitrone and nitro-oxide regions. The usual parent compound of the nitrone spin trap family is α -phenyl-*N*-tert-butyl nitrone (PBN), which forms a more stable nitroxide with ROS and hence removes harmful free radicals from circulation. Besides their direct free radical scavenging capabilities, nitrone spin traps also inhibit cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and nitric oxide synthase (NOS). They may also decompose into nitric oxide, which itself activates many cellular mechanisms.

The problem with spin traps is their very short half-life and capability of generating hydroxyl radicals on decay, which has a damaging potential on the living tissues. Animal studies have shown that high doses of spin traps can cause impaired respiration, abnormal blood chemistry, seizures, and tissue damage [79, 80]. Now newer spin traps are being developed, such as stilbazulenyl nitrone (STANZ) and disodium-[(*tert*-butylimino)methyl]benzene-1,3-disulfonate-*N*-oxide (NXY-059), which have longer half-life and less toxicity [8]. The pharmacokinetic profile of NXY-059 from Phase IIa studies indicates that the drug is well tolerated and safe in stroke patients [8, 70]. STANZ exhibits highest antioxidant potential compared to all other nitrone spin traps. The spin traps have shown promising role in various neurodegenerative diseases such as ischemic brain damage, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease [81]. However their role in chronic lung disease has not been explored yet.

18.7.2 Neu-164 and Neu-107

Two novel polycyclic molecules Neu-164 and Neu-107, containing benzene ring structures, have been developed, which exhibit pertinent antioxidant properties. In accordance with the little scientific evidence available with animal models and in

vitro experiments, these molecules demonstrate a potential towards reducing IL-6 and macrophage inflammatory protein-2 and also inhibit inflammatory enzymes such as myeloperoxidase and 5-lipooxygenase. These antioxidants have been shown to have salutary role in cigarette-induced cell damage of the lung cells in animal model experiments [82]. However, their application in chronic inflammatory disease of lungs is still at nascent stage plus there is lack of their toxicity data.

18.7.3 Tanshinone IIA and Cryptotanshinone

In spite of path-breaking advancements in designing synthetic compounds to treat diseases, ancient herbal therapy has not been abolished. Tanshinone IIA (TIIA) and cryptotanshinone (CT) are enantiomers found in the roots of *Salvia miltiorrhiza* and are the key ingredients in Chinese traditional medicine. In the last couple of years, many experiments have shown their multiple beneficial effects in many diseases. Their protective roles in kidney diseases [83, 84], hepatic diseases [85], and cardiac diseases [86] have been well established. These molecules have been found to ameliorate acute pancreatitis and neuronal diseases.

In vitro studies have shown that TIIA and CT are effective to minimize intracellular ROS and alleviate antioxidant enzymes activity. These therapies have shown protective effects from hypoxia-induced cell damage, which is largely induced by reducing intracellular NO production and mitochondrial superoxides. However, data on respiratory cells of these molecules are relatively very few. This herbal therapy can be beneficial to reduce oxidative stress-induced lung tissue damage.

18.8 Nano-particles

Nano-particles are chemically synthesized organic polymers or inorganic elements in various forms within a size of 1–100 nm of two or more dimensions, and are now primarily being envisaged as drug delivery mediums for future therapies. Liposomes, dendrimers, and polymetric micelles are organic nano-materials, while gold, silver, cerium, and carbon nano-materials belong to the inorganic class of nano-carriers. Nano-materials are generally used as vehicles for drugs and nuclear materials, although some nano-materials are themselves biologically active and can act directly with different biological molecules. Metal-based nano-particles such as gold, silver, and cerium possess some antioxidant properties as well. Oxides of cerium have been shown to possess SOD mimetic effects [87] and have potential to inhibit NF- κ B activity by inhibiting translocation of its p65 subunit into the nucleus. Cerium oxides also reduce the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [88].

Another intriguing applicability of nano-particles is the antioxidant delivery to the target sites. This enables easy accessibility to intracellular compartments, which are otherwise not easily reached. The gold and polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimers-based nano-particles delivery systems for natural antioxidants, such as



Fig. 18.4 CURN prevents TNF- α -induced acute lung inflammation in vivo. The sections were stained with ICAM-1 (**a**) and hematoxylin–eosin (**b**). Reproduced from: Yen F-L, Tsai M-H, Yang C-M, Liang C-J, Lin C-C, Chiang Y-C, Lee H-C, Ko H-H, Lee C-W. Curcumin nanoparticles ameliorate ICAM-1 expression in TNF- α -treated lung epithelial cells through p47^{phox} and MAPKs/ AP-1 pathways (Reproduced from: [89])

flavonoids, curcumin, genistein, and resveratrol, are being developed for better drug deliveries. Experimental evidences suggest that the nano-particles-based flavonoids (e.g., quercetin and catechin) scavenge molecular oxygen more effectively than the free flavonoids [89]. Today we do not know whether nano-delivery or nano-particle therapies can have any potential role in chronic anti-inflammatory diseases of the lungs. However, currently this is the future of antioxidant research (Fig. 18.4).

18.9 Conclusion

With the current evidences from animal model studies and in vitro experiments, it is now possible to modulate oxidative stress at different levels of glutathione metabolism and peroxide detoxification mechanisms. Even manipulation of antiinflammatory genes with transcription factor seems as promising development in the pharmacological development. However, the development of new antioxidants is still at very early stages.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no potential conflicts of interest.

References

- 1. de Boer WI, Yao H, Rahman I (2007) Future therapeutic treatment of COPD: struggle between oxidants and cytokines. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2:205–228
- Rahman I, MacNee W (2000) Oxidative stress and regulation of glutathione in lung inflammation. Eur Respir J 16:534–554
- 3. Day BJ (2009) Catalase and glutathione peroxidase mimics. Biochem Pharmacol 1(77):285–296
- Chae HZ, Kang SW, Rhee SG (1999) Isoforms of mammalian peroxiredoxin that reduce peroxides in presence of thioredoxin. Methods Enzymol 300:219–226
- Decramer M, Rutten-van Mölken M, Dekhuijzen PN, Troosters T, van Herwaarden C, Pellegrino R et al (2005) Effects of N-acetylcysteine on outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Bronchitis Randomized on NAC Cost-Utility Study, BRONCUS): a randomised placebo controlled Trial. Lancet 365:1552–1560
- Dueholm M, Nielsen C, Thorshauge H, Evald T, Hansen NC, Madsen HD et al (1992) N-acetylcysteine by metered dose inhaler in the treatment of chronic bronchitis: a multicentre study. Respir Med 86:89–92
- Gillissen A, Jaworska M, Orth M, Coffiner M, Maes P, App EM et al (1997) Nacystelyn, a novel lysine salt of N-acetylcysteine, to augment cellular antioxidant defence in vitro. Respir Med 91:159–168
- Kirkham P, Rahaman I (2006) Oxidative stress in asthma and COPD: antioxidants as therapeutic strategy. Pharmacol Ther 111:476–494
- Antonicelli F, Parmentier M, Drost EM, Hirani N, Rahman I, Donaldson K et al (2002) Nacystelyn inhibits oxidant-mediated interleukin-8 expression and NF-kappaB nuclear binding in alveolar epithelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 32:492–502
- Antonicelli F, Brown D, Parmentier M, Drost EM, Hirani N, Rahman I et al (2004) Regulation of LPS-mediated inflammation in vivo and in vitro by the thiol antioxidant Nacystelyn. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 286:L1319–L1327
- Nagy AM, Vanderbist F, Parij N, Maes P, Fondu P, Nève J (1997) Effect of the mucoactive drug nacystelyn on the respiratory burst of human blood polymorphonuclear neutrophils. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 10:287–292
- Vanderbist F, Wery B, Baran D, Van Gansbeke B, Schoutens A, Moës AJ (2001) Deposition of nacystelyn form dry powder inhaler in healthy volunteers and cystic fibrosis. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 27:205–212
- App EM, Baran D, Dab I, Malfroot A, Coffiner M, Vanderbist F et al (2002) Dose-finding and 24-h monitoring for efficacy and safety of aerosolized nacystelyn in cystic fibrosis. Eur Respir J 19:294–302

- Saito K, Kimura S, Saga T, Misonoo Y, Yoshizawa S, Akasaka Y et al (2013) Protective effect of procysteine on Acinetobacter pneumonia in hyperoxic conditions. J Antimicrob Chemother 68:2305–2310
- Lee KS, Kim SR, Park SJ, Min KH, Lee KY, Jin SM et al (2006) Antioxidant down-regulates interleukin-18 expression in asthma. Mol Pharmacol 70:1184–1193
- Bernard GR, Wheeler AP, Arons MM, Moris PE, Paz HL, Russel JA et al (1997) A trial of antioxidants N-acetylcysteine and procysteine in ARDS. Chest 112:164–172
- Atlas D, Melamed E, Offen D, inventors. Brain targeted low molecular weight hydrophobic antioxidant compounds. US Patent 5,874,468, 23 Feb, 1999
- Grinberg L, Fibach E, Amer J, Atlas D (2005) N-acetylcysteine amide, a novel cell-permeating thiol, restores cellular glutathione and protects human red blood cells from oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 38:136–145
- Offen D, Gilgun-Sherki Y, Barhum Y, Benhar M, Grinberg L, Reich R et al (2004) A low molecular weight copper chelator crosses the blood-brain barrier and attenuates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurochem 89:1241–1251
- Amer J, Atlas D, Fibach E (2008) N-acetylcysteine amide (AD4) attenuates oxidative stress in beta-thalassemia blood cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1780:249–255
- Atlas D. Multi component antioxidants compounds, pharmaceutical compositions containing same and their use for reducing or prevention oxidative stress. GB Patent 2,368,339, 5 January 2002
- 22. Lee KS, Kim SR, Park HS, Park SJ, Min KH, Lee KY et al (2007) A novel thiol compound, N-acetylcysteine amide, attenuates allergic airway disease by regulating activation of NF-kappaB and hypoxia-inducible factor-1α. Exp Mol Med 39:756–768
- 23. Kim SR, Lee KS, Park SJ, Min KH, Lee MH, Lee KA et al (2011) A novel dithiol amide CB3 attenuates allergic airway disease through negative regulation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183:1015–1024
- 24. Kim SR, Lee KS, Park HS, Park SJ, Min KH, Jin SM et al (2005) Involvement of IL-10 in peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma-mediated anti-inflammatory response in asthma. Mol Pharmacol 68:1568–1575
- 25. Borish L (1998) Interleukin-10: evolving concepts. J Allergy Clin Immunol 101:293-297
- Harju T, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Soini Y, Sormunen R, Kinnula VL (2002) Diminished immunoreactivity of gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase in the airways of smokers' lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:754–759
- Neurohr C, Lenz AG, Ding I, Leuchte H, Kolbe T, Behr J (2003) Glutamate-cysteine ligase modulatory subunit in BAL alveolar macrophages of healthy smokers. Eur Respir J 22:82–87
- 28. Nakamura S, Kugiyama K, Sugiyama S, Miyamoto S, Koide S, Fukushima H et al (2002) Polymorphism in the 5'-flanking region of human glutamate-cysteine ligase modifier subunit gene is associated with myocardial infarction. Circulation 105:2968–2973
- 29. Liu S, Li B, Zhou Y, Zhong N, Ran P (2007) Genetic analysis of CC16, OGG1 and GCLC polymorphisms and susceptibility to COPD. Respirology 12:29–33
- 30. Lin SD, Dai AG, Xu P (2005) Changes of the activity and expression of gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Zhonghua Jie He He Hu Xi Za Zhi 28:97–101
- 31. Pierrou S, Broberg P, O'Donnell RA, Pawlowski K, Virtala R, Lindqvist E et al (2007) Expression of genes involved in oxidative stress responses in airway epithelial cells of smokers with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 175:577–586
- 32. Hackett NR, Heguy A, Harvey BG, O'Connor TP, Luettich K, Flieder DB et al (2003) Variability of antioxidant-related gene expression in the airway epithelium of cigarette smokers. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 29:331–343
- Zachara BA (1992) Mammalian selenoproteins. J Trace Elem Electrolytes Health Dis 6:137–151
- 34. Zhao R, Masayasu H, Holmgren A (2002) Ebselen: a substrate for human thioredoxin reductase strongly stimulating its hydroperoxide reductase activity and a superfast thioredoxin oxidant. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:8579–8584

- Biewenga GP, Bast A (1995) Reaction of lipoic acid with ebselen and hypochlorous acid. Methods Enzymol 251:303–314
- 36. Scurlock R, Rougee M, Bensasson RV, Evers M, Dereu N (1991) Deactivation of singlet molecular oxygen by organo-selenium compounds exhibiting glutathione peroxidase activity and by sulfur-containing homologs. Photochem Photobiol 54:733–736
- 37. Masumoto H, Sies H (1996) The reaction of ebselen with peroxynitrite. Chem Res Toxicol 9:262–267
- Yamaguchi T, Sano K, Takakura K, Saito I, Shinohara Y, Asano T et al (1998) Ebselen in acute ischemic stroke: a placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial. Ebselen Study Group. Stroke 29:12–17
- 39. Ogawa A, Yoshimoto T, Kikuchi H, Sano K, Saito I, Yamaguchi T et al (1999) Ebselen in acute middle cerebral artery occlusion: a placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial. Cerebrovasc Dis 9:112–118
- 40. Saito I, Asano T, Sano K, Takakura K, Abe H, Yoshimoto T et al (1998) Neuroprotective effect of an antioxidant, ebselen, in patients with delayed neurological deficits after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 42:269–278
- Moutet M, d'Alessio P, Malette P, Devaux V, Chaudiere J (1998) Glutathione peroxidase mimics prevent TNF-alpha and neutrophil-induced endothelial alterations. Free Radic Biol Med 25:270–281
- Huang X, Dong Z, Liu J, Mao S, Xu J, Luo G et al (2007) Selenium-mediated micellar catalyst: an efficient enzyme model for glutathione peroxidase-like catalysis. Langmuir 23:1518–1522
- Adams WJ Jr, Kocsis JJ, Snyder R (1989) Acute toxicity and urinary excretion of diphenyldiselenide. Toxicol Lett 48:301–310
- 44. Rosa RM, Sulzbacher K, Picada JN, Roesler R, Saffi J, Brendel M et al (2004) Genotoxicity of diphenyl diselenide in bacteria and yeast. Mutat Res 563:107–115
- 45. Liu J, Luo G, Ren X, Mu Y, Bai Y, Shen J (2000) A bis-cyclodextrin diselenide with glutathione peroxidase like activity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1481:222–228
- 46. Sun Y, Mu Y, Ma S, Gong P, Yan G, Liu J et al (2005) The molecular mechanism of protecting cells against oxidative stress by 2-selenium-bridged beta-cyclodextrin with glutathione peroxidase activity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1743:199–204
- 47. Xu J, Li T, Wu H, Xu T (2012) Role of thioredoxin in lung disease. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 25:154–162
- Filomeni G, Rotilio G, Ciriolo MR (2002) Cell signalling and the glutathione redox system. Biochem Pharmacol 64:1057–1064
- 49. Yashiro M, Tsukahara H, Matsukawa A, Yamada M, Fujii Y, Nagaoka Y et al (2013) Redoxactive protein thioredoxin-1 administration ameliorates influenza A virus (H1N1)-induced acute lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 41:171–181
- 50. Huang J, Xu J, Tian L, Zhong L (2014) A thioredoxin reductase and/or thioredoxin systembased mechanism for antioxidant effects of ambroxol. Biochimie 97:92–103
- Kinnula VL, Crapo JD (2003) Superoxide dismutases in the lung and human lung diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:1600–1619
- 52. Patel M, Day BJ (1999) Metalloporphyrin class of therapeutic catalytic antioxidants. Trends Pharmacol Sci 20:359–364
- Day BJ (2008) Antioxidants as potential therapeutics for lung fibrosis. Antioxid Redox Signal 10:355–370
- 54. Sheng H, Enghild J, Bowler R, Patel M, Calvi CL, Batinić-Haberle I et al (2002) Effects of metalloporphyrin catalytic antioxidants in experimental brain ischemia. Free Radic Biol Med 33:947–961
- 55. Mackensen GB, Patel M, Sheng H, Calvi CL, Batinić-Haberle I, Day BJ et al (2001) Neuroprotection from delayed post-ischemic administration of a metalloporphyrin catalytic antioxidant in the rat. J Neurosci 21:4582–4592

- 56. Csont T, Viappiani S, Sawicka J, Slee S, Altarejos JY, Batinić-Haberle I et al (2005) The involvement of superoxide and iNOS-derived NO in cardiac dysfunction induced by proinflammatory cytokines. J Mol Cell Cardiol 39:833–840
- 57. Spasojević I, Yumin C, Noel T, Yu I, Pole MP, Zhang L et al (2007) Mn porphyrin-based SOD mimic, MnIIITE-2-PyP5+ targets mouse heart mitochondria. Free Radic Biol Med 42:1193–1200
- 58. Oberley-Deegan RE, Steffan JJ, Rove KO, Pate KM, Weaver MW, Spasojević I et al (2012) The antioxidant, MnTE-2-PyP, prevents side-effects incurred by prostate cancer irradiation. PLoS One 7:e44178
- Rabbani ZN, Vasquez-Vivar J, Spasojevic I, Whitsett J, Selvakumar B, Haberle S et al (2008) Anti-tumor effects of Mn(III) ortho tetrakis N-ethylpyridylporphyrin, MnTE-2-PyP5+ in mice model of breast tumor. AACR, San Diego
- Terziev L, Dancheva V, Shopova V, Stavreva G (2012) Antioxidant effect of MnTE-2-PyP on lung in asthma mice model. ScientificWorldJournal 2012:379360. doi:10.1100/2012/379360
- Cernanec JM, Weinberg BJ, Batinić-Haberle I, Guilak F, Fermor B (2007) Oxygen tension modulates the effects of interleukin-1 on articular cartilage matrix turnover via peroxynitrite. J Rheumatol 34:401–407
- Park W, Lim D (2011) Synthesis and SOD activity of manganese complexes of pentaaza macrocycles containing amino- and guanidino-auxiliary. Bull Korean Chem Soc 32:3787–3789
- Kachadourian R, Johnson CA, Min E, Spasojevic I, Day BJ (2004) Flavin-dependent antioxidant properties of a new series of meso-N, N'-dialkyl-imidazolium substituted manganese(III) porphyrins. Biochem Pharmacol 67:77–85
- 64. Day BJ, Fridovich I, Crapo JD (1997) Manganic porphyrins possess catalase activity and protect endothelial cells against hydrogen peroxide-mediated injury. Arch Biochem Biophys 347:256–262
- 65. Oury TD, Thakker K, Menache M, Chang LY, Crapo JD, Day BJ (2001) Attenuation of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis by a catalytic antioxidant metalloporphyrin. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 25:164–169
- 66. Day BJ, Shawen S, Liochev SI, Crapo JD (1995) A metalloporphyrin superoxide dismutase mimetic protects against paraquat-induced endothelial cell injury, in vitro. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 275:1227–1232
- Kachadourian R, Flaherty MM, Crumbliss AL, Patel M, Day BJ (2003) Synthesis and in vitro antioxidant properties of manganese(III) beta-octabromo-meso-tetrakis(4-carboxyphenyl)porphyrin. J Inorg Biochem 95:240–248
- Day BJ, Crapo JD (1996) A metalloporphyrin superoxide dismutase mimetic protects against paraquat induced lung injury in vivo. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 140:94–100
- 69. Smith KR, Uyeminam DL, Kodavanti UP, Crap JD, Chang LY, Pinkerton KE (2002) Inhibition of tobacco smoke-induced lung inflammation by a catalytic antioxidant. Free Radic Biol Med 33:1106–1114
- Chang LY, Crapo JD (2002) Inhibition of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity by an antioxidant mimetic. Free Radic Biol Med 33:379–386
- Schreck R, Meier B, Mannel DN, Droge W, Baeuerle PA (1992) Dithiocarbamates as potent inhibitors of nuclear factor kB activation in intact cells. J Exp Med 175:1181–1194
- Liu SF, Ye X, Malik AB (1999) Inhibition of NF-kB activation by pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate prevents in vivo expression of proinflammatory genes. Circulation 100:1330–1337
- 73. Yang G, Abate A, George AG, Weng YH, Dennery PA (2004) Maturational differences in lung NF-κB activation and their role in tolerance to hyperoxia. J Clin Invest 114:669–678
- 74. Nasu K, Nishida M, Ueda T, Yuge A, Takai N, Narahara H (2007) Application of the nuclear factor-kappaB inhibitor BAY 11-7085 for the treatment of endometriosis: an in vitro study. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 239:E16–E23
- Berger N, Ben Bassat H, Klein BY, Laskov R (2007) Cytotoxicity of NF-kappaB inhibitors Bay 11-7085 and caffeic acid phenethyl ester to Ramos and other human B-lymphoma cell lines. Exp Hematol 35:1495–1509

- 76. Hernández-Gutierrez S, García-Peláez I, Zentella-Dehesa A, Ramos-Kuri M, Hernández-Franco P, Hernández-Sánchez F et al (2006) NF-kappaB signaling blockade by Bay 11-7085 during early cardiac morphogenesis induces alterations of the outflow tract in chicken heart. Apoptosis 11:1101–1109
- 77. Cowburn AS, Deighton J, Walmsley SR, Chilvers ER (2004) The survival effect of TNF-alpha in human neutrophils is mediated via NF-kappa B-dependent IL-8 release. Eur J Immunol 34:1733–1743
- O'Toole D, Hassett P, Contreras M, Higgins BD, McKeown ST, McAuley DF et al (2009) Hypercapnic acidosis attenuates pulmonary epithelial wound repair by an NF-kappaB dependent mechanism. Thorax 64:976–982
- Hahn SM, Lepinski DL, DeLuca AM, Mitchell JB, Pellmar TC (1995) Neurophysiological consequences of nitroxide antioxidants. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 73:399–403
- Lapchak PA, Araujo DM (2003) Development of the nitrone-based spin trap agent NXY-059 to treat acute ischemic stroke. CNS Drug Rev 9:253–262
- Becker DA (1999) Diagnostic and therapeutic applications of azulenyl nitrone spin traps. Cell Mol Life Sci 56:626–633
- 82. Thatcher TH, Hsiao HM, Pinner E, Laudon M, Pollock SJ, Sime PJ et al (2013) Neu-164 and Neu-107, two novel antioxidant and anti-myeloperoxidase compounds, inhibit acute cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 305:L165–L174
- 83. Ahn YM, Kim SK, Lee SH, Ahn SY, Kang SW, Chung JH et al (2010) Renoprotective effect of tanshinone IIA, an active component of Salvia miltiorrhiza, on rats with chronic kidney disease. Phytother Res 24:1886–1892
- 84. You Z, Xin Y, Liu Y, Han B, Zhang L, Chen Y et al (2012) Protective effect of Salvia militorrhizae injection on N(G)-nitro-D-arginine induced nitric oxide deficient and oxidative damage in rat kidney. Exp Toxicol Pathol 64:453–458
- 85. Yin HQ, Kim YS, Choi YJ, Kim YC, Sohn DH, Ryu SY et al (2008) Effects of tanshinone IIA on the hepatotoxicity and gene expression involved in alcoholic liver disease. Arch Pharm Res 31:659–665
- 86. Wang X, Wang Y, Jiang M, Zhu Y, Hu L, Fan G et al (2011) Differential cardioprotective effects of salvianolic acid and tanshinone on acute myocardial infarction are mediated by unique signaling pathways. J Ethnopharmacol 135:662–671
- Korsvik C, Patil S, Seal S, Self WT (2007) Superoxide dismutase mimetic properties exhibited by vacancy engineered ceria nanoparticles. Chem Commun (Camb) 14:1056–1058
- Niu J, Wang K, Kolattukudy PE (2011) Cerium oxide nanoparticles inhibit oxidative stress and nuclear factor-κB activation in H9c2 cardiomyocytes exposed to cigarette smoke extract. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 338:53–61
- 89. Yen F-L, Tsai M-H, Yang C-M, Liang C-J, Lin C-C, Chiang Y-C et al (2013) Curcumin nanoparticles ameliorate ICAM-1 expression in TNF-α-treated lung epithelial cells through p47^{phax} and MAPKs/AP-1 pathways. PLoS One 8(5):e63845. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063845

Chapter 19 Ayurvedic and Other Antioxidant Mimics

Samir Malhotra and Amritpal Singh

Antioxidants are substances that inhibit oxidation of other substances generally by removing potentially damaging oxidizing agents in a living organism, thereby decreasing free radical-induced damage. Their popularity can be gauged from the fact that, as of May 2013, Google search with the word "antioxidant" gave close to 40 million hits whereas a PubMed query with the same term raised more than 385,000 hits. Most of the lay press and other forms of media are full of advertisements about antioxidants' putative (but mostly unproven) benefits coupled with lack of toxicity, in spite of the fact that most of the recent scientific evidence about antioxidants has been unfavorable. In this chapter, we will objectively review the current status and future implications of some of the Ayurvedic and other herbal antioxidants.

Normal human diet contains a large number of components that serve as antioxidants, the important ones being vitamins and trace elements. There is also no doubt that these nutrients are responsible for keeping us in good health. While there are no randomized controlled trials (RCTs) to prove, most nutritionists agree that diet plays an important role in health maintenance, and most of us consume these dietary antioxidants [1, 2]. There is sufficient evidence from observational studies to show that higher intake of fruits and vegetables is correlated with reduced risk of several diseases [3, 4].

Since dietary intake of antioxidants in fruits and vegetables has been shown to be a useful strategy to lower a person's risk of certain diseases, supplementation with antioxidants as medications was expected to be taken up by the pharmaceutical

S. Malhotra, M.D., D.M. (🖂)

Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India

e-mail: samirmalhotra345@yahoo.com

A. Singh, M.D. Ayurvedic Consultant, Mohali, Punjab, India

Formerly at Ayurvedic College, Chandigarh, India e-mail: Amritpal2101@gmail.com

Department of Pharmacology,

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6_19, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

industry. For the past several years, markets are flooded with such antioxidant formulations and as per some estimates [5] products with antioxidant claims which include foods, beverages, supplements, and cosmetics had annual retail sales of about US\$ 65 billion, showing an annual growth of a little less than 10 % with projections to reach US\$ 86 billion by 2016.

These enormous volumes were attained without good quality evidence showing unequivocally the benefit of antioxidant supplements. On the contrary evidence from RCTs was far from encouraging and, in fact, showed harm. One of the first RCTs to show that antioxidants could increase the risk of cancer was the ATBC (alpha tocopherol beta carotene) Trial [6]. Subsequently, other trials included by us in acute pancreatitis showed similar results [7]. A recent Cochrane review which included 78 RCTs having a total of close to 300,000 participants showed that antioxidants significantly increased mortality (11.7 % versus 10.2 %; relative risk [RR] 1.03, 95 % confidence interval [CI] 1.01–1.05) in a fixed-effect model although the effect was small. In a random-effects model, the increase in mortality was not significant (RR 1.02, 95 % CI 0.98–1.05).

Importantly, if only trials with a low risk of bias were included (56 trials), the effect on mortality was greater (12.9 % versus 10.6 %; RR 1.04, 95 % CI 1.01–1.07). Among these trials, effect on mortality was greatest with beta-carotene and vitamin E. Mortality with beta-carotene (26 trials) was 13.8 % versus 11.1 % (RR 1.05, 95 % CI 1.01–1.09) whereas with vitamin E (46 trials), mortality was 12.0 % versus 10.3 % (RR 1.03, 95 % CI 1.00–1.05). Effect on mortality was not significant for vitamin A (14.0 % versus 13.6 %; RR 1.07, 95 % CI 0.9 7–1.18), vitamin C (9.9 % versus 9.3 %; RR 1.02, 95 % CI 0.98–1.07), and selenium (6.7 % versus 6.4 %; RR 0.97, 95 % CI 0.91–1.03).

The authors of this meta-analysis concluded that there was no evidence in favor of the use of antioxidant supplements for either primary or secondary prevention; it was recommended that antioxidant supplements should be considered as drugs, thereby emphasizing the need for systematic and thorough evaluation prior to marketing as is done for new drugs.

On the other hand, diet also contains a large number of antioxidants, most of which come from plant sources, and are called phyto-antioxidants. Beneficial effects of fruits and vegetables in promoting health are well established although it is not clear what is the exact contribution of antioxidant effect to these benefits.

Several studies have shown that herbal preparations are used very commonly by patients across a diverse range of disorders [8, 9]. Many of the herbal compounds are consumed in excess of what a normal diet would provide, presumably for their antioxidant and other benefits. The chemical compounds that provide herbal antioxidant protection include, but are not limited to, polyphenols, flavonoids, catechins, lignans, and others. Indian Systems of Medicine and Chinese Traditional Medicine describe various properties of these plant-based compounds and have been extensively reviewed [10–13].

With this background, we will look at some of the natural and herbal/Ayurvedic antioxidants and analyze the evidence available for each of these. Typically, many of these preparations are used as normal components of Indian diets, whereas others are predominantly used for their medicinal properties.

19.1 Ocimum sanctum Linn. (Lamiaceae) (Holy Basil; Tulsi)

Several compounds with potent antioxidant activity (at 10-µM concentrations) were isolated from fresh leaves and stem extracts of *O. sanctum* [14]. Out of the seven compounds isolated (cirsilineol, cirsimaritin, isothymusin, isothymonin, apigenin, rosmarinic acid, and eugenol), five (cirsilineol, isothymusin, isothymonin, rosmarinic acid, and eugenol) showed good to excellent antioxidant activity. Another compound, ursolic acid, isolated from *O. sanctum* protected against lipid peroxidation in liver microsomes in vitro [15].

Two other flavonoids, orientin and vicenin, isolated from the leaves of *O*. *sanctum*, were shown to increase survival time in lethally irradiated mice [16]. When animals were pre-treated with either of the flavonoids, a significant decrease in chromosome aberration following gamma irradiation was seen, with vicenin providing the best protection. In another study, *O*. *sanctum* demonstrated protective effects against copper sulfate toxicity (mediated by free radicals) in rats [17].

Oral treatment with very high doses of *O. sanctum* leaf extract for 15 days was shown to result in significantly elevated activities of enzymes (cytochrome P-450, cytochrome b5, aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase, and glutathione-S-transferase) involved in the detoxification of carcinogens and mutagens in mice [18]. *O. sanctum* extract was also found to elevate hepatic and extrahepatic levels of glutathione, which is well known to be an important part of the body's protective mechanism against free radicals.

Several animal studies have shown anticancer activity; in one such study, chemopreventive activity for *O. sanctum* seed oil, which contains fatty acids including linolenic acid, has been shown in 20-methylcholanthrene-induced fibrosarcoma tumors in the thigh region of Swiss albino mice [19]. Antioxidant activity was deemed to be partly responsible for the chemopreventive effect.

19.2 *Curcuma longa* Linn. (Zingiberaceae) (Turmeric; *Haldi*)

Used for multiple indications like anticancer, antiseptic, anti-inflammatory, and other similar actions, curcumin has also been shown to possess antioxidant actions. Neuroprotection, partly attributable to antioxidant effect shown in alcohol-fed rats, has been described [20]. It is believed that curcumin may be more potent than alpha-tocopherol in its antioxidant effect [21]. It contains several known antioxidant curcuminoids like demethoxycurcumin, bis-demethoxycurcumin, 5'-methoxycurcumin, and dihydrocurcumin, as well as others like phenylheptanoids, monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, diphenylalkanoids, phenyl propene derivatives of cinnamic acid, and terpenoids [22, 23].

19.3 Mineral Pitch (Shilajit)

Antioxidant and antiarthritic activities of shilajit were evaluated in an in vitro study [24]. It was shown that aqueous extract of shilajit exhibited free radical scavenging activity in a dose-dependent manner with IC50 value of 11.9 μ g/mL, which was similar to that of standard ascorbic acid. This activity was attributed to the high phenolic content of shilajit.

In another study, it was shown that shilajit provided almost complete protection against hydroxyl radical injury and efficiently trapped nitric oxide free radicals [25]. These effects were concentration dependent. In an in vitro *study*, it was demonstrated that shilajit decreased the oxidation of reduced glutathione in rat liver homogenate [26].

19.4 Withania somnifera Dunal (Solanaceae) (Winter Cherry or Aswagandha)

Considerable in vitro and animal research shows that withanolides (withaferin A) and sitoindosides, the active compounds in *W. somnifera*, possess antioxidant properties in terms of increasing the activity and/or levels of free radical scavenging enzymes and glutathione peroxidase. It is likely that there are more constituents in *W. somnifera* that might also contribute to its significant antioxidant properties. Moreover, in some studies several compounds have been used together and it is difficult to attribute all the effects to *W. somnifera*; for instance in one study Transina, a polyherbal formulation comprising *W. somnifera* and other herbs like *Tinospora cordifolia*, *Eclipta alba*, *Ocimum sanctum*, *Picrorrhiza kurroa*, and shilajit, was used for superoxide dismutase activity in hyperglycemic rats [27].

19.5 *Terminalia arjuna* Roxb. W. & A. (Combretaceae)

Used traditionally as a cardiotonic, various studies have shown that bark extract of *T. arjuna* also possesses antioxidant effects. In alloxan-induced model of diabetes mellitus in rats, 500 mg/kg *T. arjuna* was shown to produce significant reduction in lipid peroxidation and increase in superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione-S-transferase, glutathione reductase and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase, reduced glutathione, vitamin A, vitamin C, vitamin E, total sulfhydryl groups (TSH), and nonprotein sulfhydryl groups (NPSH) in liver and kidney tissues [28].

The effect on antioxidant status by administration of ethanolic extract of *T. arjuna* bark was evaluated in *N*-nitrosodiethylamine-induced liver cancer in male Wistar albino rats in a study; it showed that peroxide levels were reduced and the antioxidant enzyme levels were increased [29].

The compounds responsible for this action include polyphenols (~44 %), flavon-3-ols (catechin, gallocatechin, and epigallocatechin), and phenolic acids (gallic acid, ellagic acid, and its derivatives) [30].

19.6 Polyherbal Preparation (Triphala)

Another polyherbal formulation comprising aqueous extract of the fruits of *Emblica* officinalis Linn., *Terminalia chebula* Retz., and *Terminalia belerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb. was shown to inhibit gamma-radiation-induced lipid peroxidation and strand break formation in plasmid DNA (pBR322) in rat liver microsomes [31]. Individual components as well as the mixture were effective, the activity being possible due to the presence of phenolic compounds which were present in concentrations ranging from 33 to 44 %. Triphala also prevented superoxide-induced hemolysis of red blood cells and lipid peroxidation induced by Fe³⁺/ADP/ascorbate system in rat liver mitochondria with tannins being the major phenolic compounds responsible for activity [32].

19.7 Gold Ash (*Swarnabhasma*)

Swarnabhasma is an old formulation used for a large number of indications. Prepared according to Ayurveda, it consists of realger (As(2)S(2)), lead oxide (Pb(3) O(4)), pure gold (Au), and latex of *Calotropis gigantea*; after purification and calcination, it does not contain any organic compound but has several other elements like Fe, Al, Cu, Zn, Co, Mg, Ca, As, and Pb [33]. The amount of heavy metals in "bhasma" is measured by atomic absorption spectrometry. In an animal model of cerebral ischemia, *Swarnabhasma* was shown to significantly improve antioxidant levels as measured by enzymatic parameters like peroxidase, reduced glutathione, catalase, glutathione reductase, glutathione-S-transferase, and others although effect on infarct size was not mentioned [34].

19.8 *Giloysatva (Tinospora cordifolia)* (Willd.) Miers ex. Hook.f. & Thomas. (Menispermaceae) and *Curculigo orchioides* Gaertn. (Liliaceae)

Giloysatva is a traditional Ayurvedic formulation. The antioxidant effects of *giloysatva* and hydro-alcoholic extract of *C. orchioides* (*Kali musali*) were evaluated in vitro [35]. Potent free radical scavenging activity was demonstrated which was presumably due to the presence of various flavonoids, alkaloids, and saponins.

19.9 *Terminalia belerica* (Roxb. Combertaceae) (Belleric Myrobalan or Vibhitaka)

In an animal model of alloxan-induced hyperglycemia, dried 75 % methanolic extract of fruits of *T. belerica* improved the antioxidant defense mechanism besides improving the blood glucose levels [36].

19.10 Cissampelos pareira Linn. (Menispermaceae) (Patha)

C. pareira extract was shown for the first time to scavenge oxygen free radicals in an in vitro model as well as in an animal model (benzo(a)pyrene-induced gastric toxicity) of tissue injury in doses ranging from 50 to 400 μ g/kg [37].

19.11 Bacopa monniera Linn. (Scrophulariaceae) (Indian Pennywort or Nirbrahmi)

Traditionally used in Ayurvedic medicine as a memory enhancer, antiepileptic agent, and sedative, it was also shown to possess significant antioxidant activity, particularly with the alcoholic extract although this was about 50 % of that seen with vitamin E [38].

19.12 Convulvulus plauricaulis Linn. (Convolvulaceae) (Bindweed; Shankhpushpi)

Popularly known as a brain tonic, *Convolvulus pleuricaulis* has also been used as an antianxiety and antiepileptic preparation. Various studies have shown its antioxidant effects in animal models of learning and memory impairment [39, 40]. It contains several neuroactive alkaloids such as shankhpushpine, and convolamine, as well as other substances including hextriacontane, scopoletin, *beta*-sitosterol, ceryl alcohol, 20-oxodotriacontanol, tetratriacontanoic acid and 29-oxodotriacontanol, flavonoid (kaempferol), and phytosteroids such as phytosterol and *beta*-sitosterol [41–43].

19.13 Aloe vera Linn. (Aloaceae)

Alcoholic extract of *A. vera* leaf gel was demonstrated to possess antioxidant activity in a rat model of diabetes besides decreasing blood glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin and also led to improvement in hemoglobin [44]. Other studies have also shown that it affords some protection against free radical-induced oxidative stress, which could be a combination of a direct antioxidant action and indirect action mediated by stimulation of endogenous antioxidant systems [45].

19.14 Asparagus racemosus Willd. (Liliaceae) (Common Asparagus; Shatavari)

Used traditionally for various actions like an antacid and as a tonic, its antioxidant actions have also been evaluated. Some studies have shown that it has nootropic effects which are partly due to its free radical scavenging action [46–48]. It contains a large number of compounds that can contribute to this action—vitamins A, B1, B2, C, E, folic acid, steroidal saponins, Mg, P, Ca, Fe, essential oils, asparagine, arginine, tyrosine, flavonoids (kaempferol, quercetin, and rutin), resin, and tannin [49].

19.15 *Piper nigrum* Linn. (Piperaceae, Black Pepper) and Piperine

In a rat model of metabolic syndrome induced by high fat diet, *P. nigrum* was shown to have beneficial effects on tissue lipid peroxidation and increased antioxidant levels [50].

19.16 Celastrus paniculatus Willd. (Intellect Tree; Malkangani)

Known to have a wide range of beneficial actions in conditions including asthma, leprosy, inflammation, dysmenorrhoea, and pruritus and possess laxative, expectorant, appetite-stimulant, aphrodisiac, anti-inflammatory, and diuretic properties, it has also been shown to be an antioxidant [51].

19.17 Acorus calamus Linn. (Sweet Flag, Vacha)

Having known sedative effects, this plant was demonstrated to have free radical scavenging actions in animal models of neurological disorders [52, 53]. It is postulated that its sedative effects are due to α - and β -asarone [54] but whether they are responsible for the antioxidant effect remains unknown.

19.18 Major Challenges

As can be seen from a brief description given above about the various effects of many of the plants, it is clear that antioxidant actions have been reported as secondary actions on the evaluation of other primary activity(ies) of the plant. While many of these studies are published in Medline-indexed journals, other publications in non-indexed and lay journals are also common. The quality of the published work in this field has always never been strong. Even though the results may be quite consistent, these are often viewed with some skepticism by the mainstream medicine experts. It is beyond the scope of this chapter to delve into the details of the reasons of whether this skepticism is justified or not, but it will be appropriate to mention that one finds significant arguments both for and against this skepticism. Also, we fear that the evaluation of antioxidant effects in most cases is the result of what can be termed as "convenience research" since facilities for estimating the various markers of oxidative stress are available in the researchers' laboratories, at relatively low costs. As a case in point, we have evaluated the role of various herbal formulations and extracts in animal models of metabolic syndrome and pancreatitis without looking at the oxidant/antioxidant status of those compounds [55–57].

Another related issue is lack of availability of good evidence about use of these antioxidants in humans. Limitations of antioxidants as promoters of good health have been challenged as pointed out earlier. Therefore, antioxidants are not recommended routinely to patients as drugs. On the other hand, antioxidants in foods are known to promote health and most guidelines in diverse groups of diseases recommend their intake. There is an extreme dearth of evidence whether herbal antioxidants will provide any benefit in humans.

The third challenge for those working in this field is related to the issue of bioavailability. Bioavailability refers to the rate and extent to which a chemical compound (drug, active component of a plant) is absorbed and becomes available for systemic use. Many of these plant-based products have poor oral bioavailability. Lack of good oral bioavailability can render a compound ineffective in an animal model or during human use. This has been very well described in case of curcumin [58]. Several methods of improving the bioavailability of curcumin have been evaluated. One traditional way of improving bioavailability of various compounds is by using black pepper or its combination with other herbs, for example, in *trikatu* on which there are data from our institution [59] as well. Unfortunately, such data on bioavailability of most of the other herbal compounds do not exist and, to the best of our knowledge, systematic and thorough attempts for doing the same are also lacking, although individual researchers are working in isolation.

We have not listed all the plants having antioxidant actions; it is likely that many more plants will show such effects due to the presence of several chemicals such as polyphenols and others. We have tried to include only those for which there is sufficient evidence.

19.19 Conclusion

Certain foods like fruits and vegetables, which are rich in antioxidants, have several health benefits. Whether the antioxidant effect contributes to any specific benefits has not been conclusively proven. Antioxidant effects of various vitamins and related compounds have not withstood the scrutiny of well-conducted clinical trials for their routine use. Research on the antioxidant effects of Ayurvedic compounds has focused on evaluating primary activity in a disease model along with measurement of various markers of oxidative stress and antioxidant enzymes. Most of these studies have failed to show whether the antioxidant actions have contributed towards the primary activity of the herb. There are several future challenges for researchers in this field to address the various issues.

References

- Nichter M, Thompson JJ (2006) For my wellness, not just my illness: North Americans' use of dietary supplements. Cult Med Psychiatry 30:175–222
- Millen AE, Dodd KW, Subar AF (2004) Use of vitamin, mineral, nonvitamin, and nonmineral supplements in the United States: the 1987, 1992, and 2000 National Health Interview Survey results. J Am Diet Assoc 104:942–950
- Willcox JK, Ash SL, Catignani GL (2004) Antioxidants and prevention of chronic disease. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 44:275–295
- Ames BN, Shigenaga MK, Hagen TM (1993) Oxidants, antioxidants, and the degenerative diseases of aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:7915–7922
- http://www.marketwire.com/press-release/personal-care-surges-in-65-billion-antioxidantproducts-market-1640199.htm. Accessed 12 May 2013.
- Albanes D, Heinonen OP, Huttunen JK, Taylor PR, Virtamo J, Edwards BK et al (1995) Effects of alpha-tocopherol and beta-carotene supplements on cancer incidence in the Alpha-Tocopherol Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention Study. Am J Clin Nutr 62:1427–1430
- Bansal D, Bhalla A, Bhasin DK, Pandhi P, Sharma N, Rana S, Malhotra S (2011) Safety and efficacy of vitamin-based antioxidant therapy in patients with severe acute pancreatitis: a randomized controlled trial. Saudi J Gastroenterol 17:174–179
- Malhotra S, Bhatia GS, Pandhi P (2001) Patterns of use of unconventional therapies in the medical outpatient department of a tertiary care hospital in India. J Ethnopharmacol 75:71–75
- Shafiq N, Gupta M, Kumari S, Pandhi P (2003) Prevalence and pattern of use of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) in hypertensive patients of a tertiary care center in India. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 41:294–298
- Shukla SD, Bhatnagar M, Khurana S (2012) Critical evaluation of Ayurvedic plants for stimulating intrinsic antioxidant response. Front Neurosci 6:112
- Scartezzini P, Speroni E (2000) Review on some plants of Indian traditional medicine with antioxidant activity. J Ethnopharmacol 71:23–43
- Govindarajan R, Vijayakumar M, Pushpangadan P (2005) Antioxidant approach to disease management and the role of 'Rasayana' herbs of Ayurveda. J Ethnopharmacol 99:165–178
- Cai Y, Luo Q, Sun M, Corke H (2004) Antioxidant activity and phenolic compounds of 112 traditional Chinese medicinal plants associated with anticancer. Life Sci 74:2157–2184
- Kelm MA, Nair MG, Strasburg GM, DeWitt DL (2000) Antioxidant and cyclooxygenase inhibitory phenolic compounds from *Ocimum sanctum* Linn. Phytomedicine 7:7–13

- Balanehru S, Nagarajan B (1991) Protective effect of oleanolic acid and ursolic acid against lipid peroxidation. Biochem Int 24:981–990
- 16. Devi PU, Bisht KS, Vinitha M (1998) A comparative study of radioprotection by *Ocimum* flavonoids and synthetic aminothiol protectors in the mouse. Br J Radiol 71:782–784
- 17. Shyamala AC, Devaki T (1996) Studies on peroxidation in rats ingesting copper sulphate and effect of subsequent treatment with *Ocimum sanctum*. J Clin Biochem Nutr 20:113–119
- Banerjee S, Prashar R, Kumar A, Rao AR (1996) Modulatory influence of alcoholic extract of Ocimum leaves on carcinogen-metabolizing enzyme activities and reduced glutathione levels in mouse. Nutr Cancer 25:205–217
- 19. Prakash J, Gupta SK (2000) Chemopreventive activity of *Ocimum sanctum* seed oil. J Ethnopharmacol 72:29–34
- Rajakrishnan V, Viswanathan P, Rajasekharan KN, Menon VP (1999) Neuroprotective role of curcumin from *Curcuma longa* on ethanol-induced brain damage. Phytother Res 13:571–574
- 21. Rao MNA (1994) Curcuminoids as potent inhibitors of lipid peroxidation. J Pharm Pharmacol 46:1013–1016
- 22. Nakayama R, Tamura Y, Yamanaka H, Kikuzaki H, Nakatani N (1993) Two curcuminoid pigments from *Curcuma domestica*. Phytochemistry 33:501–502
- Roth GN, Chandra A, Nair MG (1998) Novel bioactivities of *Curcuma longa* constituents. J Nat Prod 61:542–545
- Rege A, Juvekar P, Juvekar A (2012) *In vitro* antioxidant and anti-arthritic activities of Shilajit. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci 4:650–653
- Ghosal S, Lata S, Kumar Y, Gaur B, Misra N (1995) Interaction of Shilajit with biogenic free radicals. Indian J Chem 34B:596–602
- Tripathi YB, Shukla S, Chaurasia S, Chuturvedi S (1996) Antilipid peroxidative property of Shilajit. Phytother Res 10:269–270
- Bhattacharya SK, Satyan KS, Chakrabarti A (1997) Effect of Trasina, an Ayurvedic herbal formulation, on pancreatic islet superoxide dismutase activity in hyperglycaemic rats. Indian J Exp Biol 35:297–299
- Raghavan B, Kumari SK (2006) Effect of *Terminalia arjuna* stem bark on antioxidant status in liver and kidney of alloxan diabetic rats. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol 50:133–142
- Sivalokanathan S, Ilayaraja M, Balasubramanian MP (2006) Antioxidant activity of *Terminalia* arjuna bark extract on N-nitrosodiethylamine induced hepatocellular carcinoma in rats. Mol Cell Biochem 281:87–93
- Saha A, Pawar VM, Jayaraman S (2012) Characterization of polyphenols in *Terminalia arjuna* bark extract. Indian J Pharm Sci 74:339–347
- 31. Naik GH, Priyadarsini KI, Bhagirathi RG, Mishra B, Mishra KP, Banavalikar MM, Mohan H (2005) *In vitro* antioxidant studies and free radical reactions of triphala, an ayurvedic formulation and its constituents. Phytother Res 19:582–586
- 32. Vani T (1997) Antioxidant properties of the Ayurvedic formulation Triphala and its constituents. Int J Pharmacog 35:313–317
- 33. Mitra A, Chakraborty S, Auddy B, Tripathi P, Sen S, Saha AV, Mukherjee B (2002) Evaluation of chemical constituents and free radical scavenging activity of Swarnabhasma (gold ash), an Ayurvedic drug. J Ethnopharmacol 80:147
- 34. Shah ZA, Vohora SB (2002) Antioxidant/restorative effects calcined gold preparations used in Indian systems of medicine against global and focal models of ischaemia. Pharmacol Toxicol 90:254
- 35. Onkar P, Bangar J, Karodi R (2012) Evaluation of Antioxidant activity of traditional formulation Giloysatva and hydroalcoholic extract of the *Curculigo orchioides* Gaertn. J Appl Pharm Sci 2:209–213
- Sabu MC, Kuttan R (2009) Antidiabetic and antioxidant activity of *Terminalia belerica*. Roxb. Indian J Exp Biol 47:270–275
- Amresh G, Rao CV, Singh PN (2007) Antioxidant activity of *Cissampelos pareira* on benzo(a) pyrene-induced mucosal injury in mice. Nutr Res 27:625–632

- 19 Ayurvedic and Other Antioxidant Mimics
- Tripathi YB, Chaurasia S, Tripathi E, Upadhyay A, Dubey GP (1996) Bacopa monniera Linn. as an antioxidant: mechanism of action. Indian J Exp Biol 34:523–526
- 39. Nag G, De B (2008) Antioxidant and acetylcholinesterase inhibitory properties of the Indian medicinal plant "Shankhapushpi" used for enhancing memory function. J Complement Integr Med 5:1553–3840
- Bihari SW, Singh AP, Tiwari M (2011) In vivo investigation of the neuroprotective property of *Convolvulus pluricaulis* in scopolamine-induced cognitive impairments in Wistar rats. Indian J Pharmacol 43:520–525
- Deshpande SM, Srivastava DN (1969) Chemical studies of Convulvulus pluricaulis. J Indian Chem Soc 46:759–760
- 42. Deshpande SM, Srivastava DN (1975) Gas chromatographic identification of fatty acids, fatty alcohols, and hydrocarbons of *Convolvulus pluricaulis* (Chois). J Am Oil Chem Soc 52: 318–319
- 43. Singh GK, Bhandari A (2000) Text book of pharmacognosy. CBS, New Delhi, pp 193-194
- 44. Rajasekharan S, Sivagnanam K, Subramaniam S (2005) Antioxidant effect of Aloe vera gel extract in streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rats. Pharmacol Rep 57:90–96
- 45. Singh RP, Dhanlaksmi S, Rao AR (2000) Chemomodulatory action of Aloe vera gel on the profile of enzymes associated with carcinogenic metabolism and antioxidant status regulation in mice. Phytomedicine 7:209–219
- 46. Gindi S (2011) Evaluation of nootropic potential and *in vitro* antioxidant activity of aqueous extract of roots of *Aparagus racemosus* in rats. Int J Pharm Res Dev 3:184–191
- Parihar MS, Hemnani T (2004) Experimental excitotoxicity provokes oxidative damage in mice brain and attenuation by extract of *Asparagus racemosus*. J Neural Transm 111:1–12
- 48. Vimal S, Sissodia SS, Meena P et al (2010) Antioxidant effects of *Asparagus racemosus* Wild and *Withania somnifera* Dunal in rat brain. Ann Neurosci 12:67–70
- Bopana N, Saxena S (2007) Asparagus racemosus—ethnopharmacological evaluation and conservation needs. J Ethnopharmacol 110:1–15
- 50. Vijayakumar RS, Surya D, Nalini N (2004) Antioxidant efficacy of black pepper (*Piper nigrum* L.) and piperine in rats with high fat diet induced oxidative stress. Redox Rep 9: 105–110
- Godkar PB, Gordon RK, Ravindran A, Doctor BP (2006) *Celastrus paniculatus* seed oil and organic extracts attenuate hydrogen peroxide- and glutamate-induced injury in embryonic rat forebrain neuronal cells. Phytomedicine 13:29–36
- 52. Shukla PK, Khanna VK, Ali MM et al (2002) Protective effect of *Acorus calamus* against acrylamide induced neurotoxicity. Phytother Res 16:256–260
- 53. Manikandan S, Srikumar R, Parthasarathy JN, Devi RS (2005) Protective effect of *Acorus calamus* Linn. on free radical scavengers and lipid peroxidation in discrete regions of brain against noise stress exposed rat. Biol Pharm Bull 28:2327–2330
- 54. Zanoli P, Avallone R, Baraldi M (1998) Sedative and hypothermic effects induced by β -asarone, a main component of *Acorus calamus*. Phytother Res 12:S114–S116
- 55. Singh I, Singh PK, Bhansali S, Shafiq N, Malhotra S, Pandhi P, Singh AP (2010) Effects of three different doses of a fruit extract of *Terminalia chebula* on metabolic components of metabolic syndrome, in a rat model. Phytother Res 24:107–112
- 56. Bhansali S, Shafiq N, Pandhi P, Singh AP, Singh I, Singh PK, Sharma S, Malhotra S (2013) Effect of a deacylgymnemic acid on glucose homeostasis and metabolic parameters in a rat model of metabolic syndrome. Indian J Med Res 137:1174–1179
- 57. Sidhu S, Pandhi P, Malhotra S, Vaiphei K, Khanduja KL (2011) Beneficial effects of *Emblica officinalis* in L-arginine-induced acute pancreatitis in rats. J Med Food 14:147–155
- Anand P, Kunnumakkara AB, Newman RA, Aggarwal BB (2007) Bioavailability of curcumin: problems and promises. Mol Pharm 4:807–818
- Karan RS, Bhargava VK, Garg SK (1999) Effect of trikatu, an Ayurvedic prescription, on the pharmacokinetic profile of rifampicin in rabbits. J Ethnopharmacol 64:259–264

About the Editors

Professor Peter J. Barnes, D.M., D.Sc., F.R.C.P., F.C.C.P., F.Med.Sci., F.R.S., qualified at Cambridge and Oxford Universities (first class honors). He is Margaret-Turner Warwick Professor of Medicine at the National Heart and Lung Institute, Head of Respiratory Medicine at Imperial College and Honorary Consultant Physician at Royal Brompton Hospital, London. He has published more than 1,000 peer-review papers on asthma, COPD, and related topics and has written or edited more than 50 books. He is the seventh most highly cited researcher in the world, has been the most highly cited clinical scientist in Europe and the most highly cited respiratory researcher in the world over the last 20 years. His research is focused on cellular and molecular mechanisms of asthma and COPD, understanding and developing therapies and research into biomarkers for these diseases. He is involved in multidisciplinary translational research which integrates basic science with clinical studies, thereby providing novel insights into common airway diseases.

A Fellow of the Royal Society, Dr. Barnes is currently a member of the Scientific Committee of global guidelines on asthma and COPD. He also serves in the Editorial Board of more than 30 journals, is a NIHR Senior Investigator, a Master Fellow of the American College of Chest Physicians and a member of Academia Europaea.

Shyam Biswal, Ph.D., completed his Ph.D. in Biotechnology at Indian Institute of Technology, Bombay, and was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the University of Texas, Austin. He is a Professor of Environmental Health Sciences and Director of the Center for Global Clean Air at the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health and Professor of Pulmonary and Oncology at the Johns Hopkins School of Medicine. His laboratory is focused on discovering the novel mechanisms of host defense that determine immune-pathobiology of environmental lung diseases to develop experimental therapeutics and developing Nrf2 as a therapeutic target for COPD and other inflammatory lung diseases using small molecules. Dr. Biswal has published more than 120 papers and has extensive funding from NIH and other foundations. He serves as a member of the committee of the American Thoracic Society, the editorial board of the *American Journal of Physiology* and the *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*.

Nirmal K. Ganguly, M.D., is a Distinguished Biotechnology Research Professor, Government of India, a former Director General, Indian Council of Medical Research and Director, National Institute of Biologicals (Noida). In addition to earning a Doctorate of Science honoris causa from Bundelkhand University, Jhansi and Honorary Doctor from Yerevan State Medical University, he has achieved several other qualifications including F.N.A., F.N.A.S.C., F.A.S.C., F.R.C.Path., F.R.C.Trop., and F.A.M.S. His major research interest encompasses the disciplines of immunology, biotechnology and public health.

He is Fellow, Imperial College Faculty of Medicine, London; Royal College of Pathologists, London; International Academy of Cardiovascular Sciences, Canada, and several other bodies. He is also an Honorary Global Health Research Fellow and Adjunct Professor, Boston University, and of Environmental Health, School of Public Health, University of Minnesota, USA. He is also a Member of the Scientific Board, Grand Challenges, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. He has received numerous awards and has been honored with the prestigious Padma Bhushan Award by Her Excellency, the President of India, in the field of Medicine.

Dr. Surinder K. Jindal completed his medical education at Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India, and joined the faculty soon thereafter. Currently, he is a Professor and Chief of the Department of Pulmonary Medicine there; he was instrumental in establishing its fellowship program in pulmonary and critical care medicine, the first such program in India. He has received multiple awards and honors including the Outstanding Educator Award by the American Thoracic Society. He has conducted extensive research work, particularly related to epidemiology of respiratory diseases.

A former President of the Indian Chest Society, he is a Fellow of the National Academy of Medical Sciences. A prolific author for scientific papers, Dr. Jindal has conducted extensive research, particularly related to the epidemiology of respiratory diseases and the nation-wide Indian Study on Epidemiology of Asthma, Respiratory symptoms and Chronic bronchitis (INSEARCH). Dr Jindal has served as the Chief-Editor of Lung India, Chest (India Edition), Associate Editor of the Chest, International Journal of TB & Lung Diseases, and several other journals.

Professor Ruby Pawankar, M.D., Ph.D, F.R.C.P., F.A.A.A.A.I., is the President of the World Allergy Organization. In addition, she is the Professor of Allergy, Department of Pediatrics at Nippon Medical School in Tokyo, Japan, and Guest Professor at the Kyung Hee University School of Medicine in Seoul, South Korea, and Showa University School of Medicine in Tokyo, Japan. After graduating in medicine from the Armed Forces Medical College in Pune, India, Professor Pawankar did her residency and post-graduate studies from BJ Medical College, also in Pune. Thereafter, she trained in Allergy & Clinical Immunology at Nippon Medical School and Juntendo University School of Medicine in Tokyo, Japan, where she earned her doctorate. Professor Pawankar's research has been strongly translational in nature, applies to clinical allergy and focuses on the cellular and molecular mechanisms of allergy. Her work on mast cells in atopy has formed the basis of the successful biological therapeutic targeting. She is an Editor of several peer-reviewed journals, has edited books, is a Member/ Fellow of several academic societies in allergy, asthma, and rhinology, and is a member of the Collegium International Allergolocum and on the boards of several organizations. Professor Pawankar has widely published in the field of allergy, asthma and clinical immunology and has been a recipient of several national and international awards.

Index

A

Acorus calamus (sweet flag/Vacha), 375 Acute/chronic inflammation and fibrosis asbestos fibers ACE injury, 213 alveolar macrophages, 211 BrdU labeled cells, 211 epithelial cell apoptosis, 215-216 "lesser" and "greater" airborne exposure, 211 lymphatic circulation, 213 vs. mediators, 212 mitochondrial reactive oxygen species, 215 movement of, 213 p53 cellular response, 216 reactive oxygen species, 213-214 TGF- β and PDGF, 211 type I alveolar lining cells, 213 COPD, 116 Acute exacerbations (AE), 77-78 asthma, 13 COPD, 10, 11, 116, 296, 339 oxidative stress, biomarkers of, 14 Acute lung injury (ALI) albumin and furosemide therapy, 39 ECSOD, 177 Nrf2, 341-342 procysteine, 352 pulmonary oxidant stress, 86 Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), 330 albumin and furosemide therapy, 39 HO-1, 88, 108 morbidity and mortality, 341 VOCs. 76

Adenosine monophosphate (AMP), 59 AE. See Acute exacerbations (AE) Air pollution allergic airway diseases asthma exacerbation, 152 cellular level, 155-156 EBC biomarkers, 155 endotoxin. 152 gene-environmental interactions, 152 intracellular antioxidant enzymes, 154 NO₂ concentrations, 152 organic compounds, 152 ozone, 152 particulate matter, 152 toxic byproduct, 153 oxidative injury nitrogen oxides, 143 ozone, 142-143 particulate matter (PM) (see Air pollution particles) sulfur oxides, 143 Air pollution particles acellular systems, 137-138 anthropogenic and natural sources, 137 antioxidants depletion, 142 bacterial endotoxin, 139 bystander injury, 142 Fenton reaction, 141 flow cytometry, 138 human aortic endothelial cells, 138 lung and cardiac disease, 137-138 metal analysis, 140 oxidant generation direct redox-cycling, 140 ESR, 138, 141

N.K. Ganguly et al. (eds.), *Studies on Respiratory Disorders*, Oxidative Stress in Applied Basic Research and Clinical Practice, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-0497-6, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

Air pollution particles (cont.) hydroquinone/semiquinone structures, 139 - 140in vivo/in vitro oxidant production, 139 mitochondrial electron transfer, 140 thiol, depletion of, 140 time-and dose-dependent production, 139 ALI. See Acute lung injury (ALI) Allergic airway diseases air pollution and oxidative stress asthma exacerbation, 152 cellular level, 155-156 EBC biomarkers, 155 endotoxin, 152 gene-environmental interactions, 152 intracellular antioxidant enzymes, 154 NO₂ concentrations, 152 organic compounds, 152 ozone, 152 particulate matter, 152 toxic byproduct, 153 prevalence, 151 Allergic asthma. See Asthma Allergic rhinitis, 57 Aloe vera, 374–375 Alveolar epithelial cell (ACE), 92, 102, 156, 213, 350 Anti-NF-KB-based antioxidants BAY 11-7085, 360 for chronic inflammatory lung diseases, 350, 351 pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate (PDTC), 358-359 Antioxidant response element (ARE), 36, 89, 107, 154, 299, 335 ARDS. See Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) Asbestos fibers acute/chronic inflammation and fibrosis ACE injury, 213 alveolar macrophages, 211 BrdU labeled cells, 211 epithelial cell apoptosis, 215-216 fiber vs. mediator, 212 fiber, movement of, 213 "lesser" and "greater" airborne exposure, 211 lymphatic circulation, 213 mitochondrial reactive oxygen species, 215 p53 cellular response, 216 reactive oxygen species, 213-214 TGF- β and PDGF, 211 type I alveolar lining cells, 213

asbestos-related diseases, 203, 204, 207 biological and chemical mechanisms, 206 chrysotile fiber, 208-209 clinical features, 203 cross-sectional study, 205 definition, 209 elemental composition, 207 fiber exposure, 207 genotoxicity DNA damage and apoptosis, 218-219 lung cancer, 217 mesothelioma, 217 p53 expression, 219 tobacco smoking, 218 histologic examination, 209 leaching process, 208 metabolic processes, 210 microscopic techniques, 206 mortality rates, 204-205 Asparagus racemosus (Asparagus/ Shatavari), 375 Asthma exhaled breath condensate adenosine and adenosine monophosphate, 59 arachidonic acid, 55 EBC pH, 55 ROS/RNS. 57, 58 exhaled volatile biomarkers exhaled CO, 52 FeNO measurements, 52 VOCs, 53, 68, 76 Nrf2, 340-341 oxidative stress, biomarkers of, 11-13 Aswagandha/winter cherry, 372 Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), 42, 267.274 Ayurvedic and herbal antioxidants Acorus calamus (sweet flag/Vacha), 375 Aloe vera, 374-375 Asparagus racemosus (Asparagus/Shatavari), 375 Bacopa monniera (Indian pennywort/Nirbrahmi), 374 bioavailability, 376 Celastrus paniculatus (intellect tree/Malkangani), 375 Cissampelos pareira (patha), 374 convenience research, 376 Convulvulus plauricaulis (bindweed/ shankhpushpi), 374 Curculigo orchioides, 373 Curcuma longa (turmeric/haldi), 371 fruits and vegetables, 369

Index

Giloysatva/Tinospora cordifolia, 373 Ocimum sanctum (holy basil/tulsi), 371 phyto-antioxidants, 370 Piper nigrum (piperaceae/black pepper), 375 randomized controlled trial (RCT), 370 shilajit, 372 Swarnabhasma (gold ash), 373 Terminalia arjuna (Combretaceae), 372–373 Terminalia belerica (belleric myrobalan/ Vibhitaka), 374 triphala, 373 Withania somnifera (winter cherry/Aswagandha), 372

B

Bacopa monniera (Indian pennywort/ Nirbrahmi), 374 Belleric myrobalan/Vibhitaka, 374 Bindweed/shankhpushpi, 374 Black pepper/Piperaceae, 375 Bordetella pertussis, 88 Bronchial asthma, 9, 38, 40. See also Asthma Butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA), 90

С

Carbonyl stress, 118-119 Celastrus paniculatus (intellect tree/Malkangani), 375 Cell-mediated immunity (CMI), 4, 102 CF. See Cystic fibrosis (CF) CHD. See Congenital heart diseases (CHD) Chemotherapeutic agents, 248, 263 Chinese herbal medicine, 94-95 Chronic hemolytic anemia, 265, 266 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) antioxidant defensive strategies, 119-120 cigarette smoking, 135 exhaled breath condensate adenosine and adenosine monophosphate, 59 arachidonic acid, 57 EBC pH, 55 ROS/RNS, 57, 58 exhaled CO, 52 extra-pulmonary features, 233 indoor air pollution, 116 muscle dysfunction, 234-235 Nrf2

corticosteroid resistance, 340 emphysema and chronic bronchitis, 338 exacerbations, 339 N-acetylcvsteine, 339 pathological damage, 338 pharmacologic activation, 338 role of. 338 synthetic triterpenoid (CDDO-Im), 338 oxidative stress in, 235-237 accelerated ageing, 121 airway inflammation, 120 antioxidant therapy, 123-124 autoantibody, 122 autoimmunity, 122 biomarkers of, 9-11 carbonyl stress, 118-119 corticosteroid resistance, 120-121 and DNA damage, 122-123 effects on. 116 endogenous sources, 117, 118 environmental sources, 117 persistent lung inflammation, 116-117 VOCs, 53, 68, 76 Cigarette smoking cell and molecular mechanism, 135-136 complex aerosol, 131 create oxidative stress, 132 diseases, 134-135 humic-like substances, 136-137 inactivate defence mechanisms, 132 injury cells and tissue, 132 lung disease, 135 numerous and diverse smoking, 132-133 oxidant generation, 133-134 polyphenols and semiquinones, 131-132 tar and gas phase, 131 tissue injury, 136, 137 Cissampelos pareira (patha), 374 Combretaceae, 372-373 Congenital heart diseases (CHD), 260, 264-265 Controlled mechanical ventilation (CMV), 228 Convulvulus plauricaulis (bindweed/ shankhpushpi), 374 COPD. See Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) Cryptotanshinone (CT), 361 Curculigo orchioides, 373 Curcuma longa (turmeric/haldi), 371 Cystic fibrosis (CF) exhaled breath condensate adenosine and adenosine monophosphate, 59

Cystic fibrosis (CF) (cont.) arachidonic acid, in EBC, 57 EBC pH, 56 ROS/RNS, 57, 58 exhaled CO, 52 oxidative stress, biomarkers of acute exacerbation, 14 autophagy, 16–17 β-carotene supplementation, 16 CFTR protein, 13-14 fat-soluble antioxidants, 15 GSH, 14-15 8-isoprostane, 14 vitamin C, 15 pediatrics, 332 ROS and oxidative damage, 4 VOCs, 54, 68, 76

D

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), 153 Diesel exhaust particle (DEP), 138 Diffuse parenchymal lung diseases (DPLDs), 58, 191 Dioscorin, 94

Е

EBC. See Exhaled breath condensate (EBC) Ebselen, 297, 356 ECM. See Extracellular matrix (ECM) Electronic nose (eNose), 53, 54, 71 Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectroscopy, 41-42 Electron spin resonance (ESR) spectroscopy, 41-42, 138 European Respiratory Society (ERS), 261 European Society of Cardiology (ESC), 261 Exhaled breath condensate (EBC), 329 adenosine and adenosine monophosphate, 59 allergic airway diseases, 155 arachidonic acid, 56-57 cooling/freezing process, 54 cytokines, 58-59 EBC pH, 55-56 ROS/RNS, 42, 57-58 tidal breathing, 54 Exhaled volatile biomarkers exhaled CO, 50, 52 exhaled VOCs, 50, 52-54 FeNO, 50-52 Tedlar bags, 51

Extracellular matrix (ECM) architectural support, 172 components, 172 enzymatic/oxidative cleavage, 174 excessive matrix deposition, 172 heparan sulfate proteoglycans, 172 α -hydroxyalkyl radical, 175 matrilysin/MMP7, 174 neointima formation, 270 normal uninjured alveol, 172, 173 oxidative degradation, 181 oxidative fragmentation/shedding, 174 oxidative stress, role of, 174 protein backbone oxidation, 174 syndecans, 173–174

F

Fatty acid-binding proteins (FABPs), 93 Fawn-hooded rat (FHR) model, 286–287 Fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FeNO), 51–52, 134

G

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS), 42, 72-73 Genotoxicity, asbestos fibers DNA damage and apoptosis, 218-219 lung cancer, 217 mesothelioma, 217 p53 expression, 219 tobacco smoking, 218 Giloysatva/Tinospora cordifolia, 373 Glutathione (GSH) asthma, 328, 340 for chronic inflammatory lung diseases, 350, 351 cigarette smoke exposure, 134 COPD patients, 117 glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL), 355 glycine, 350 HIV patients, 89, 90, 92 idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, 342 L-cysteine, 350 L-glutamic acid, 350 lung cancer, 248 Mycobacterium tuberculosis, 87 N-acetylcysteine (NAC), 350 N-acetyl cysteine proline cysteine amide (CB3), 352, 355 nacystelyn (NAL), 350, 352 procysteine, 352-355 sarcoidosis, 196

Index

H

Haemophilus influenza, 89 Heme oxygenase-1 (HO1), 88, 138, 286, 331 Heme oxygenase (HO), 52, 108 Herbal medicine, 94-95 Hierarchical Cluster Analysis, 75 HIV. See Human immune-deficiency virus (HIV) Hochuekkito (TJ-41), 94 Human immune-deficiency virus (HIV) PDTC, 359 pulmonary arterial hypertension, 264 pulmonary infection anti-oxidants, 92 and oxidant injury, 89-90 tuberculosis, 101 Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) air pollution particles, 138, 141 asbestos fiber, 214 CF patients, 14 cigarette smoke exposure, 133 COPD, 117, 118 oxidant injury, 86 reactive species, 167-168, 218 sarcoidosis patients, 194 tuberculosis, 103, 104 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal (4HNE), 117, 118.236 Hydroxytyrosol (HT), 40 Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF), 35, 269, 352 Hypoxia response element (HRE), 35

I

Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) animal models, 170-172 antioxidant enzyme, 170 diagnosis, 164-165 lung, oxidative stress, 167 molecular targets antioxidants, 176-177 ECM (see Extracellular matrix (ECM)) matrix metalloproteinases, 175 nitrogen, 168-169 Nrf2, 342 pathophysiology, 165-167 progression, 180, 181 reactive species, 167-168 therapeutic approaches, 180 anti-fibrotic agents, 178 antioxidants, 179, 180 carnosine, 179 corticosteroids, 178

cyclophosphamide, 178 immunosuppressive/cytotoxic agents, 178 NAC therapy, 179 Indian pennywort/*Nirbrahmi*, 374 Inhaled corticosteroids (ICS), 12, 123, 236 Intellect tree/*Malkangani*, 375 Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1), 5, 91, 155, 359 Ion mobility spectrometry (IMS), 72 IPF. See Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF)

K

Kampo, 94

L

Lung cancer antioxidants, 248, 249, 251-252 asbestos fibers, 204, 207-208, 217 BAY 11-7085, 360 in COPD patients, 123 exhaled volatile biomarkers exhaled CO, 52 VOC, 53-54, 69, 75 free radicals sources, 245-246 types, 246-247 oxidative stress Akt. 247 asbestos exposure, 251 benzopyrene diol epoxide (BPDE), 250 chemotherapeutic agents, 248 cigarette smoking, 248, 250 DNA adducts formation, 250 environmental pollutants, 250 neoplastic transformation, 250 NF-kB transcription factor, 248, 251 ROS, 247, 248, 250 tumor promoters, 247

M

Magnolia officinalis, 95 Malkangani/intellect tree, 375 Malondialdehyde (MDA), 10, 42, 58, 117, 192, 288 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), 175, 236 Mechanical ventilation, 232–233, 341–342 Melatonin, 39, 41 Mitochondrial ROS (mROS), 86, 215, 269 Multivariate statistical analysis (MSA), 74–75 Muscle atrophy animal models, 227 antioxidant defense systems, 231 CMV, 228 inactive muscles, oxidant production, 230–231 limb immobilization model, 227 myofilaments, proteolytic degradation, 228–230 rat hindlimb suspension model, 227–228 *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb), 53, 87–88 *See also* Tuberculosis (TB) Mycothiol, 87, 106

N

Nano-particles, 350, 351, 361-362 National Institute for Occupational Health (NIOSH), 206 Neu-164 and Neu-107 polycyclic molecules, 92, 350, 351, 360-361 Nirbrahmi/Indian pennywort, 374 Nontypeable Haemophilus influenza (NTHI), 89 Nosocomial pneumonia, 331 Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2) transcription factor age-related oxidative stress, 337 ALI, 341-342 allergic asthma, 340-341 antioxidant defense pathways, 337 antioxidant response, 335, 337 cap'n'collar (CNC) domain, 335 COPD (see Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)) cytoprotective response, 336 IPF. 342 Keap1 inhibitor, 336 non-stressed conditions, 336 pleiotropic regulator, 337 primary function, 335 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 342-343

0

Ocimum sanctum (tulsi), 371 Oxidative injury air pollution nitrogen oxides, 143 ozone, 142–143 particulate matter (PM) (see Air pollution particles) sulfur oxides, 143 cigarette smoking cell and molecular mechanism, 135 - 136complex aerosol, 131 create oxidative stress, 132 diseases, 134-135 humic-like substances, 136-137 inactivate defence mechanisms, 132 injury cells and tissue, 132 lung disease, 135 numerous and diverse smoking, 132 - 133oxidant generation, 133-134 polyphenols and semiguinones, 131-132 systemic diseases, 135 tar and gas phase, 131 tissue injury, 136, 137 pulmonary infection bacterial infection, 85, 88-89 fungal infections, 85-86 microorganisms, 86-87 mROS, 86 Mycobacterium tuberculosis, 87-88 sepsis, 91 viral infections, 85, 89-91

P

PAEC. See Pulmonary arterial endothelial cells (PAEC) PAH. See Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) Patha, 374 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 153 Pediatric respiratory disorders allergy, 328 asthma, 328-330 cystic fibrosis, 332 EBC 8-isoprostane concentrations, 329 glutathione (GSH) redox buffer, 328 IL-17, 329 oxidative stress, 328 pediatric infections, 330-331 TB, 331-332 Pentraxin 3 (PTX3), 93 Peroxidase mimetics for chronic inflammatory lung diseases, 350.351 ebselen. 356 over-expression, 356 primary function, 355

Index

Phase contrast optical microscopy, 206 Phyto-antioxidants, 370 Piperaceae/black pepper, 375 Piper nigrum (Piperaceae/black pepper), 375 Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), 211, 214, 267 Polarized light microscopy, 206 Polyethylene glycol monomethyl ether (PEGrhCAT), 94 Polyherbal preparation, 373 Porto-pulmonary hypertension (POPH), 264 Principal Component Analysis, 75 Prooxidant-antioxidant balance (PAB), 193 Proton transfer-reaction mass spectrometry (PTR-MS), 71 Pseudomonas aeruginosa, 53, 88, 93, 342 Pulmonary arterial endothelial cells (PAEC), 267 - 270Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) antioxidants carbon monoxide, 296 carotenoids, 293–294 catalase, 292 enzyme mimetics, 297 flavonoids, 294 hydrogen sulfide, 295–296 iron chelators, 298-299 mitochondrial-activating therapies, 300-301 mitochondria-targeting antioxidants, 300 NADPH oxidase inhibitors, 298 nitric oxide, 295 Nrf2 activators, 299 resveratrol, 294-295 superoxide dismutase, 291 tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄), 299-300 tocopherols, 293 vitamin C, 292-293 xanthine oxidase inhibitors, 298 CHD, 264-265 chronic hemolytic anemia, 265, 266 connective tissue diseases, 264 Doppler echocardiogram, 261 drug and toxin-induced PAH, 263 electrocardiographic findings, 261 epidemiology, 260 heritable PAH, 263 HIV infection. 264 idiopathic PAH, 263 mean pulmonary arterial pressure (mPAP), 261 oxidative stress eNOS regulation, 276 eNOS uncoupling, 276-278 FHR, 286-287

genetic models, 287-288 human PAH, 288-289 hypoxia-induced PH model, 283-285 isoprostanes, 282 lipid peroxidation, 282 major oxidants, 273 mitochondria-derived ROS, 281-282 monocrotaline-induced PH model, 283.286 NADPH oxidases, 279-280 newborn model, 286 nitric oxide dysregulation, 274-276 reactive nitrogen species (RNS) formation, 278-279 reactive oxygen species (ROS), 273-274, 289-291 SU5416-hypoxia PH model, 286 xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR), 279 pathophysiology adventitia, 271 genes, 271 microRNAs, 272 neointima formation, 270 PAEC, 267-270 smooth muscle cells (SMC), 270 transcription factors, 271-272 POPH, 264 prognosis, 266 RHC, 261 schistosomiasis, 265 screening, 261, 263 signs and symptoms, 260 V/Q scan, 263 WHO clinical classification, 262 Pulmonary fibrosis. See Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) Pulmonary infection antioxidants enzymes, 91 and HIV infection, 92 ketamine, propofol, and ketofol, 92 natural products as, 94-95 Nrf2-mediated antioxidant system, 92 for respiratory viral infections, 93-94 types of, 91 oxidant injury and bacterial infection, 85, 88-89 fungal infections, 85-86 microorganisms, 86-87 mROS, 86 Mycobacterium tuberculosis, 87-88 sepsis, 91 viral infections, 85, 89-91 4-Pyridyl-1-oxide-N-tert-butylnitrone (4-POBN), 139

Q

Qing-Fei-Tang, 95

R

Radix isatidis, 94 Reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNIs) alveolar macrophages, 103 antioxidant strategies, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, 105-106 host antioxidant mechanisms, 107-108 macrophages, antimycobacterial effect of, 105 oxidative stress, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, 106 - 107Reactive nitrogen species (RNS) endogenous sources of, 29-30 enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidants, 34.35 generation of, 32 nitric oxide synthase, 32-33 pharmacological inhibitors, in experimental/clinical trials, 38-41 respiratory system, 37-38 signaling pathways MAPK and SAPKs, 36 Nrf2-Keap 1 axis, 36 PI3K/Akt pathways, 36 in tissue damage, 36-37 tuberculosis (see Tuberculosis (TB)) types of, 28-29 xanthine oxidase, 31-32 Reactive oxygen species (ROS) cellular functions, effects on, 28 cellular sources, 29 endogenous sources of, 29-30 enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidants, 34.35 enzymatic sources, 29 free radicals, 28 inflammation and fibrosis, asbestos fiber inhalation, 213-214 IPF. 167-168 NAD(P)H oxidase free radicals and radiation chemistry, 30 - 31Nox family of, 30 regulation of, 31 subunits, in neutrophils, 30 oxidative stress allergic asthma, 11-13 antioxidants and antioxidant therapy, 6 cellular ROS. 2 COPD, 9-11 cystic fibrosis (see Cystic fibrosis (CF))

definition of, 27 markers/metabolites, detection methods, 41-42 miRNAs, 6-8 oxidative damage, 4-5 oxygen-derived species/oxidants, 27 redox signaling pathways, 3-4 tissue reprogramming, adaptation, and repair, 5-6 toxicology studies, 1-2 pharmacological inhibitors, in experimental/clinical trials, 38-41 pulmonary arterial hypertension (see Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH)) reactive species, 28 respiratory system, 37-38 sarcoidosis, 195-196 signaling pathways MAPK and SAPKs, 36 Nrf2-Keap 1 axis, 36 PI3K/Akt pathways, 36 in tissue damage, 36-37 tuberculosis alveolar macrophages, 103-104 antibiotic resistance, 108 antioxidant therapy, 109 host antioxidant defence mechanism, 107 hydrogen peroxide, 104 oxidative burst, 103 SOD A and SOD C, 105 types of, 28-29 xanthine oxidoreductase, 31-32 Recombinant human catalase (rhCAT), 94 Respiratory muscle dysfunction bilateral disease, 226 causes of, 227 COPD extra-pulmonary features, 233 muscle dysfunction, 234-235 oxidative/nitrative stress, 235-237 diaphragm weakness/paralysis, 226 mechanical ventilation, 232-233 muscle atrophy animal models, 227 antioxidant defense systems, 231 CMV, 228 inactive muscles, oxidant production, 230 - 231limb immobilization model, 227 myofilaments, proteolytic degradation, 228 - 230rat hind limb suspension model, 227-228 unilateral diaphragm paralysis, 226

Index

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), 90 Respiratory viral infections causes, 85 characteristics, 85 HIV-1 infections (see Human immunedeficiency virus (HIV)) rhinovirus, 85, 91 RNA virus, 85 **RSV. 90** treatment of, 93-94 Rhinitis, 57, 157 Rhinovirus infection, 85, 91 Right heart catheterization (RHC), 261 RNIs. See Reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNIs) RNS. See Reactive nitrogen species (RNS) ROS. See Reactive oxygen species (ROS)

S

Sarcoidosis clinical applications, 197 exogenous antioxidants, 196-197 pathogenesis, 195-196 respiratory tract samples lipid and protein peroxidation products, 193-194 non-enzymatic low molecular weight antioxidants, 195 oxygen-free radicals and enzymatic oxidants/antioxidants, 195 serum markers lipid and protein peroxidation products, 192 non-enzymatic low molecular weight antioxidants, 192 oxygen-free radicals and enzymatic oxidants/antioxidants, 192 TAS/PAB values, 193 TOS, 193 Scanning electron microscopy, 206 Schistosomiasis, 265 Selected ion flow tube mass spectrometry (SIFT-MS), 72 Shankhpushpi/bindweed, 374 Shatavari/Asparagus, 375 Shilajit, 372 Spin traps, 350, 351, 360 Superoxide dismutase (SOD) asthma, 12-13 COPD, 10, 116, 117 cystic fibrosis, 15 tuberculosis, 105 Superoxide dismutase mimetic, 350, 351, 357-358

Swarnabhasma (gold ash), 373 Sweet flag/Vacha, 375

Т

Tanshinone IIA (TIIA), 350, 351, 361 TB. See Tuberculosis (TB) Tempol, 287, 297 Terminalia T. ariuna (Combretaceae), 372–373 T. belerica (belleric myrobalan/ Vibhitaka), 374 Thioredoxin pathway for chronic inflammatory lung diseases, 350.351 recombinant human thioredoxin-1. 356-357 redox status, 356 Tinospora cordifolia/Giloysatva, 373 Total antioxidant status (TAS), 193 Total oxidant status (TOS), 193 Transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α), 96 Transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), 119, 166, 196, 211, 269 Transmission electron microscopy, 206 Triphala, 373 Tuberculosis (TB) alveolar macrophages, role of, 103-104 antibiotic resistance, 108 antioxidant therapy, 109-110 cell-mediated immunity, 102 Chinese herbal medicine, 94 exhaled VOCs, 53, 69, 75 HIV positive patients, deaths in, 101 hydrogen peroxide, 104 innate and adaptive immunity, 102 oxidative stress in. 102-104 pathogenesis of, 102 pediatrics, 331-332 prevalence and death rate, 101 reactive nitrogen intermediates antioxidant strategies, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, 105-106 host antioxidant mechanisms, 107-108 macrophages, antimycobacterial effect of. 105 oxidative stress, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, 106-107 Tulsi/holy basil, 371 Turmeric/haldi, 371

U

Unilateral diaphragm paralysis, 226

V

Vacha/sweet flag, 375 Vibhitaka/belleric myrobalan, 374 Volatile organic compounds (VOCs), 50, 60 biomarkers, characteristics, 67-68 breathomics, 69 breath sampling breath tests, 70 e-nose, 53, 54, 71 GC-TOF-MS method, 72-73 ion mobility spectrometry, 72 lower airway collection, 70 mixed air collection, 70 online and offline sampling, 70 PTR-MS, 71 SIFT-MS. 72 upper airway collection, 70 data pre-processing and GC-MS data MSA, unsupervised and supervised algorithms, 73-74 normalization and scaling, 74 raw breathomics data, 73-74 and inflammation, 69 non-pulmonary diseases, 75-76 and oxidative stress, 69

pulmonary disorders asthma, 53, 68, 76 biochemical processes, 76–77 COPD, 53, 68, 76 cystic fibrosis, 54, 68, 76 diabetic patients, 54 end-stage renal disease, 54 lung cancer, 53–54, 69, 75 new testing techniques, development of, 77 respiratory tract infections, 77–78 substance abuse, 54 tuberculosis, 53, 69, 75 validation test, 76

W

Wen-Pi-Tang extract, 95 Winter cherry/Aswagandha, 372 Withania somnifera (winter cherry/ Aswagandha), 372

Х

Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR), 31-32, 279